

17 November 2014

(14-6644) Page: 1/129

Original: English

UNITED STATES – ANTI-DUMPING MEASURES ON CERTAIN SHRIMP FROM VIET NAM

REPORT OF THE PANEL

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	15
1.1 Complaint by Viet Nam	15
1.2 Panel establishment and composition	15
1.3 Panel proceedings	15
1.3.1 General	15
1.3.2 Preliminary ruling	16
2 FACTUAL ASPECTS	16
3 PARTIES' REQUESTS FOR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	19
4 ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES	. 20
5 ARGUMENTS OF THE THIRD PARTIES	20
6 INTERIM REVIEW	. 20
7 FINDINGS	. 21
7.1 Introduction	21
7.1.1 General principles of treaty interpretation, the applicable standard of review and burden of proof	21
7.1.1.1 Standard of review	21
7.1.1.2 Treaty interpretation	22
7.1.1.3 Burden of proof	23
7.2 Preliminary ruling	23
7.3 Viet Nam's claims with respect to zeroing	24
7.3.1 Introduction	24
7.3.2 Zeroing "as such"	25
7.3.2.1 Introduction	25
7.3.2.2 Whether Viet Nam has established the existence of the zeroing methodology as a measure which may be challenged as such	25
7.3.2.2.1 Main arguments of the parties	25
7.3.2.2.1.1 Viet Nam	25
7.3.2.2.1.2 United States	25
7.3.2.2.2 Main arguments of the third parties	26
7.3.2.2.3 Evaluation by the Panel	26
7.3.3 Zeroing "as applied" in the administrative reviews at issue	34
7.3.3.1 Introduction	34
7.3.3.2 Whether Viet Nam has established that the zeroing methodology was applied in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews	34
7.3.3.2.1 Main arguments of the parties	34
7.3.3.2.1.1 Viet Nam	34
7.3.3.2.1.2 United States	35
7.3.3.2.2 Evaluation by the Panel	35
7.3.3.3 Whether the application of zeroing in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994	36

7.3.3.3.1 Introduction	36
7.3.3.3.2 Main arguments of the parties	36
7.3.3.3.2.1 Viet Nam	36
7.3.3.3.2.2 United States	37
7.3.3.3 Main arguments of the third parties	37
7.3.3.3.4 Evaluation by the Panel	38
7.4 Viet Nam's claims regarding the "NME-wide entity" rate practice	39
7.4.1 Introduction	39
7.4.2 Claims with respect to the NME-wide entity rate practice "as such"	40
7.4.2.1 Introduction	40
7.4.2.2 Whether Viet Nam has established the existence of the NME-wide entity rate practice as a measure which may be challenged "as such"	41
7.4.2.2.1 Main arguments of the parties	41
7.4.2.2.1.1 Viet Nam	41
7.4.2.2.1.2 United States	41
7.4.2.2.2 Main arguments of the third parties	42
7.4.2.2.3 Evaluation by the Panel	42
7.4.2.3 Whether the NME-wide entity rate practice is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement	50
7.4.2.3.1 Main arguments of the parties	50
7.4.2.3.1.1 Viet Nam	50
7.4.2.3.1.2 United States	51
7.4.2.3.2 Main arguments of the third parties	53
7.4.2.3.3 Evaluation by the Panel	53
7.4.2.4 Whether the NME-wide entity rate practice is inconsistent with Articles 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement	66
7.4.3 Claims with respect to the application of the NME-wide entity rate practice in the administrative reviews at issue	67
7.4.3.1 Introduction	67
7.4.3.2 Factual background	67
7.4.3.3 Whether the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement	68
7.4.3.3.1 Main arguments of the parties	68
7.4.3.3.1.1 Viet Nam	68
7.4.3.3.1.2 United States	68
7.4.3.3.2 Evaluation by the Panel	69
7.4.3.4 Whether the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement	69
7.4.3.4.1 Main arguments of the parties	69
7.4.3.4.1.1 Viet Nam	69
7.4.3.4.1.2 United States	70
7.4.3.4.2 Main arguments of the third parties	71

7.4.3.4.3 Evaluation by the Panel	71
7.4.3.5 Whether the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement	74
7.4.3.5.1 Main arguments of the parties	74
7.4.3.5.1.1 Viet Nam	74
7.4.3.5.1.2 United States	75
7.4.3.5.2 Main arguments of the third parties	75
7.4.3.5.3 Evaluation by the Panel	75
7.5 Claims regarding Section 129(c)(1) of the US Uruguay Round Agreements Act	77
7.5.1 Introduction	77
7.5.2 Factual background	78
7.5.3 Main arguments of the parties	82
7.5.3.1 Viet Nam	82
7.5.3.2 United States	83
7.5.4 Main arguments of the third parties	83
7.5.5 Evaluation by the Panel	85
7.6 Claims with respect to the sunset review	91
7.6.1 Introduction	91
7.6.2 Factual background	91
7.6.3 Main arguments of the parties	94
7.6.3.1 Viet Nam	94
7.6.3.2 United States	95
7.6.4 Main arguments of the third parties	96
7.6.5 Evaluation by the Panel	97
7.7 Claims with respect to company-specific revocations	102
7.7.1 Introduction	102
7.7.2 Factual background	102
7.7.3 Main arguments of the parties	111
7.7.3.1 Viet Nam	111
7.7.3.2 United States	113
7.7.4 Main arguments of the third parties	114
7.7.5 Evaluation by the Panel	116
7.7.5.1 Introduction	116
7.7.5.2 Whether the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference	116
7.7.5.3 General considerations with respect to the interpretation of Articles 11.1 and 11.2	119
7.7.5.4 Whether the revocation requests submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters in the administrative reviews at issue satisfied the requirements of Articles 11.2	124
7.7.5.5 Whether the USDOC's treatment of requests for revocation by Vietnamese producers/exporters not individually examined is inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2	125

8 CON	ICLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION	128
dumping	g for these producers/exporters is inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2	127
Vietnam	lese producers/exporters on the basis that it had calculated a positive margin of	
7.7.5.6	Whether the USDOC's determination not to revoke the order for certain	

LIST OF ANNEXES

ANNEX A

WORKING PROCEDURES OF THE PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex A-1	Working Procedures for the Panel	A-2
Annex A-2	Additional Working Procedures on BCI	A-7
Annex A-3	Preliminary Ruling	A-9

ANNEX B

ARGUMENTS OF VIET NAM

	Contents	Page		
Annex B-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-2		
Annex B-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the First Panel B-9 Meeting			
Annex B-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-14		
Annex B-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the Second Panel Meeting B-24			
Annex B-5	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-29		
Annex B-6	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Reply for the Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-32		

ANNEX C

ARGUMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES

	Contents	Page
Annex C-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of the United States	C-2
Annex C-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the First Panel Meeting	C-10
Annex C-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of the United States	C-13
Annex C-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the Second Panel Meeting	C-21
Annex C-5	United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-26
Annex C-6	United States' Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-31

ANNEX D

ARGUMENTS OF THIRD PARTIES

Contents		Page
Annex D-1	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of China	D-2
Annex D-2	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of the European Union	D-7
Annex D-3	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Japan	D-12
Annex D-4	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Norway	D-17
Annex D-5	Thailand's Third Party Responses to Questions from the Panel	D-20
Annex D-6	China's Submission on the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	D-23
Annex D-7	European Union Comments on the US Request for a Preliminary Ruling	D-26

CASES CITED IN THIS REPORT

Short title	Full case title and citation
Argentina – Ceramic Tiles	Panel Report, Argentina – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Imports of Ceramic Floor Tiles from Italy, WT/DS189/R, adopted 5 November 2001, DSR 2001:XII, p. 6241
Brazil – Aircraft	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft</i> , WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999, DSR 1999:III, p. 1161
EC – Fasteners (China)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Certain Iron or Steel Fasteners from China, WT/DS397/AB/R, adopted 28 July 2011, DSR 2011:VII, p. 3995
EC – Hormones	Appellate Body Report, <i>EC Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products</i> (<i>Hormones</i>), WT/DS26/AB/R, WT/DS48/AB/R, adopted 13 February 1998, DSR 1998:1, p. 135
EC – Tube or Pipe Fittings	Panel Report, European Communities – Anti-Dumping Duties on Malleable Cast Iron Tube or Pipe Fittings from Brazil, WT/DS219/R, adopted 18 August 2003, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS219/AB/R, DSR 2003: VII, p. 2701
Egypt – Steel Rebar	Panel Report, <i>Egypt – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Steel Rebar from Turkey</i> , WT/DS211/R, adopted 1 October 2002, DSR 2002:VII, p. 2667
Guatemala – Cement I	Appellate Body Report, <i>Guatemala – Anti-Dumping Investigation Regarding Portland Cement from Mexico</i> , WT/DS60/AB/R, adopted 25 November 1998, DSR 1998:IX, p. 3767
Korea – Certain Paper	Panel Report, Korea – Anti-Dumping Duties on Imports of Certain Paper from Indonesia, WT/DS312/R, adopted 28 November 2005, DSR 2005:XXII, p. 10637
Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Beef and Rice, Complaint with Respect to Rice</i> , WT/DS295/AB/R, adopted 20 December 2005, DSR 2005:XXII, p. 10853
Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS) from the United States – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the United States</i> , WT/DS132/AB/RW, adopted 21 November 2001, DSR 2001:XIII, p. 6675
US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG) from Mexico</i> , WT/DS282/AB/R, adopted 28 November 2005, DSR 2005:XX, p. 10127
US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods	Panel Report, <i>United States – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG) from Mexico</i> , WT/DS282/R, adopted 28 November 2005, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS282/AB/R, DSR 2005:XXI, p. 10225
US – Continued Zeroing	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology</i> , WT/DS350/AB/R, adopted 19 February 2009, DSR 2009:III, p. 1291
US – Continued Zeroing	Panel Report, <i>United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology</i> , WT/DS350/R, adopted 19 February 2009, as modified as Appellate Body Report WT/DS350/AB/R, DSR 2009:III, p. 1481
US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Sunset Review of Anti-Dumping Duties on Corrosion-Resistant Carbon Steel Flat Products from Japan</i> , WT/DS244/AB/R, adopted 9 January 2004, DSR 2004:1, p. 3
US – Countervailing Duty Investigation on DRAMS	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Countervailing Duty Investigation on Dynamic Random Access Memory Semiconductors (DRAMS) from Korea</i> , WT/DS296/AB/R, adopted 20 July 2005, DSR 2005:XVI, p. 8131
US – DRAMS	Panel Report, <i>United States – Anti-Dumping Duty on Dynamic Random Access Memory Semiconductors (DRAMS) of One Megabit or Above from Korea</i> , WT/DS99/R, adopted 19 March 1999, DSR 1999:II, p. 521
US – Hot-Rolled Steel	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Anti-Dumping Measures on Certain Hot-Rolled Steel Products from Japan</i> , WT/DS184/AB/R, adopted 23 August 2001, DSR 2001:X, p. 4697

Short title	Full case title and citation
US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Sunset Reviews of Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods from Argentina</i> , WT/DS268/AB/R, adopted 17 December 2004, DSR 2004:VII, p. 3257
US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews	Panel Report, <i>United States – Sunset Reviews of Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods from Argentina</i> , WT/DS268/R and Corr.1, adopted 17 December 2004, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS268/AB/R, DSR 2004:VIII, p. 3421
US – Orange Juice (Brazil)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Anti-Dumping Administrative Reviews and Other Measures Related to Imports of Certain Orange Juice from Brazil</i> , WT/DS382/R, adopted 17 June 2011, DSR 2011:VII, p. 3753
US – Poultry (China)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Certain Measures Affecting Imports of Poultry from China</i> , WT/DS392/R, adopted 25 October 2010, DSR 2010:V, p. 1909
US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA	Panel Report, <i>United States – Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act</i> , WT/DS221/R, adopted 30 August 2002, DSR 2002:VII, p. 2581
US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Anti-Dumping Measures on Certain Shrimp from Viet Nam</i> , WT/DS404/R, adopted 2 September 2011, DSR 2011:X, p. 5301
US – Softwood Lumber V	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Final Dumping Determination on Softwood Lumber from Canada</i> , WT/DS264/AB/R, adopted 31 August 2004, DSR 2004:V, p. 1875
US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Final Dumping Determination on Softwood Lumber from Canada – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Canada</i> , WT/DS264/AB/RW, adopted 1 September 2006, DSR 2006:XII, p. 5087
US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)	Panel Report, United States – Final Dumping Determination on Softwood Lumber from Canada – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Canada, WT/DS264/RW, adopted 1 September 2006, as reversed by Appellate Body Report WT/DS264/AB/RW, DSR 2006:XII, p. 5147
US – Softwood Lumber VI (Article 21.5 – Canada)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Investigation of the International Trade Commission in Softwood Lumber from Canada – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Canada</i> , WT/DS277/AB/RW, adopted 9 May 2006, and Corr.1, DSR 2006:XI, p. 4865
US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Final Anti-Dumping Measures on Stainless Steel from Mexico</i> , WT/DS344/AB/R, adopted 20 May 2008, DSR 2008:II, p. 513
US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Final Anti-Dumping Measures on Stainless Steel from Mexico</i> , WT/DS344/R, adopted 20 May 2008, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS344/AB/R, DSR 2008:11, p. 599
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:1, p. 3
US – Wool Shirts and Blouses	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measure Affecting Imports of Woven Wool Shirts and Blouses from India</i> , WT/DS33/AB/R, adopted 23 May 1997, and Corr.1, DSR 1997:1, p. 323
US – Zeroing (EC)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Laws, Regulations and Methodology for Calculating Dumping Margins ("Zeroing")</i> , WT/DS294/AB/R, adopted 9 May 2006, and Corr.1, DSR 2006:II, p. 417
US – Zeroing (EC)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Laws, Regulations and Methodology for Calculating Dumping Margins ("Zeroing")</i> , WT/DS294/R, adopted 9 May 2006, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS294/AB/R, DSR 2006:11, p. 521
US – Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Laws, Regulations and Methodology for Calculating Dumping Margins ("Zeroing") – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the European Communities</i> , WT/DS294/AB/RW and Corr.1, adopted 11 June 2009, DSR 2009:VII, p. 2911
US – Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Laws, Regulations and Methodology for Calculating Dumping Margins ("Zeroing") – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the European Communities</i> , WT/DS294/RW, adopted 11 June 2009, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS294/AB/RW, DSR 2009:VII, p. 3117

Short title	Full case title and citation
US – Zeroing (Japan)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measures Relating to Zeroing and Sunset Reviews</i> , WT/DS322/AB/R, adopted 23 January 2007, DSR 2007:1, p. 3
US – Zeroing (Japan)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Measures Relating to Zeroing and Sunset Reviews</i> , WT/DS322/R, adopted 23 January 2007, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS322/AB/R, DSR 2007:1, p. 97
US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measures Relating to Zeroing and Sunset Reviews – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Japan</i> , WT/DS322/AB/RW, adopted 31 August 2009, DSR 2009:VIII, p. 3441
US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Measures Relating to Zeroing and Sunset Reviews – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Japan</i> , WT/DS322/RW, adopted 31 August 2009, upheld by Appellate Body Report WT/DS322/AB/RW, DSR 2009:VIII, p. 3553

EXHIBITS REFERRED TO IN THIS REPORT

Panel Exhibit	Title	
VN-04	USDOC Final Determination and accompanying Issues and Decision	
	Memorandum for Original Investigation (8 December 2004) ("final	
	determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in the original	
101.07	investigation")	
VN-06	USDOC Initiation Notice for Fourth Administrative Review (26 March 2009)	
VN-07	("notice of initiation for the fourth administrative review") USDOC Respondent Selection for Fourth Administrative Review (11 June 2009)	
VIV-07	("Respondent Selection Memorandum in the fourth administrative review")	
VN-08	USDOC Initiation of Five-Year Sunset Review (4 January 2010) ("notice of	
VII 00	initiation for the sunset review")	
VN-09	USDOC Preliminary Results for Fourth Administrative Review (15 March 2010)	
	("preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review")	
VN-10	USDOC Initiation Notice of Fifth Administrative Review (9 April 2010) ("notice of	
	initiation for the fifth administrative review")	
VN-11	USDOC Respondent Selection for Fifth Administrative Review (30 July 2010)	
	("Respondent Selection Memorandum in the fifth administrative review")	
VN-12	USDOC Preliminary Determination of Five-Year Sunset Review (6 August 2010)	
VN-13	("preliminary likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review") USDOC Final Results and accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for	
VIV- 1 3	Fourth Administrative Review (9 August 2010) ("final determination and Issues	
	and Decision Memorandum in the fourth administrative review")	
VN-14	USDOC Final Results of Five-Year Sunset Review (7 December 2010) ("final	
	likelihood-of-dumping determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in	
	the sunset review")	
VN-15	USDOC Preliminary Results for Fifth Administrative Review (4 March 2011)	
	("preliminary determination in the fifth administrative review")	
VN-16	USDOC Initiation Notice for Sixth Administrative Review (31 March 2011)	
VAL 4.7	("notice of initiation for the sixth administrative review")	
VN-17	USDOC Respondent Selection for Sixth Administrative Review (17 June 2011)	
VN-18	("Respondent Selection Memorandum in the sixth administrative review") USDOC Final Results and accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for	
VIV-10	Fifth Administrative Review (15 September 2009) ("final determination and	
	Issues and Decision Memorandum in the fifth administrative review")	
VN-19	USDOC Preliminary Results for Sixth Administrative Review (7 March 2012)	
	("preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review")	
VN-20	USDOC Final Results and accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for	
	Sixth Administrative Review (11 September 2012) ("final determination and	
	Issues and Decision Memorandum in the sixth administrative review")	
VN-22	USDOC Amended Final Results for Sixth Administrative Review	
	(18 October 2012) ("amended final determination in the sixth administrative	
VN-24	review") Chapter 10, Non-Market Economies (NME), Department of Commerce 2009	
VIV-24	Antidumping Manual ("USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10")	
VN-25	Affidavit of Anya Naschak and supporting documentation ("Naschak affidavit")	
VN-31	Section 129, 19 U.S.C. §3538	
VN-32	"Approval and entry into force of Uruguay Round Agreements", 19 U.S.C. §3511	
	("Section 101(a)(2) of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3511(a)(2)")	
VN-33	"Relationship of agreements to United States law and State law", 19 U.S.C.	
	§3512 ("Section 102(d) of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3512(d)")	
VN-34	Relevant Section 129 Excerpts of Uruguay Round Agreements, Statement of	
	Administrative Action, H.Doc 103-316(I), 103d Cong, 2d Sess.	
VN-36	(27 September 1994) ("Statement of Administrative Action") Corus Staal BV v. United States, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140 (Ct. Int'l	
VIV-30	Trade) (19 September 2007)	
VN-37	Tembec v. United States, 441 F. Supp. 2d 1302 (Ct. Int'l Trade, 2006)	
VN-42	USDOC Section 129 Compilation	
VN-47	"Administrative review of determinations", 19 U.S.C. §1675 ("Section 751 of the	
	Tariff Act of 1930")	
VN-55	Antidumping Proceedings: Calculation of the Weighted-Average Dumping Margin	
	and Assessment Rate in Certain Antidumping Duty Proceedings; Final	
	Modification, 77 Fed. Reg. 8101 (14 February 2012)	
VN-58	"Revocation of orders; termination of suspended investigations", 19 C.F.R.	
	§351.222 ("19 C.F.R. 351.222(b)")	

Panel Exhibit	Title
VN-59	Modification to Regulation Concerning the Revocation of Antidumping and
	Countervailing Duty Orders, 77 Fed. Reg. 29875 (21 May 2012)
VN-61	Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp From the Socialist Republic of Vietnam:
	Preliminary Results, Partial Rescission, and Request for Revocation, In Part, of
VN-62	the Third Administrative Review, 74 Fed. Reg. 10009 (9 March 2009)
VIN-02	USDOC Final Results and accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for First Administrative Review (12 September 2007) ("final determination and
	Issues and Decision Memorandum in the first administrative review")
VN-63	USDOC Final Results and accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for
	Second Administrative Review (9 September 2008) ("final determination and
	Issues and Decision Memorandum in the second administrative review")
VN-64	USDOC Final Results and accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for
	Third Administrative Review (15 September 2009) ("final determination and
VN-66	Issues and Decision Memorandum in the third administrative review") Import Administration Policy Bulletin Number 05.1 (5 April 2005) ("Policy
VIV-00	Bulletin 05.1")
VN-72	Federal Register Notices and Decision Memoranda of the Original Investigation
	and First, Second, and Third Administrative Reviews ("final determinations and
	Issues and Decision Memoranda in the original investigation and the first,
	second and third administrative reviews")
VN-79	Documentation on Individual Revocation Procedures of Australia, Brazil, and
VN-81	India Requests for Administrative Reviews Submitted by Domestic Interested
VIV-OI	Parties – Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Administrative Reviews
VN-82	Request for Revocation in the Third Administrative Review ("Fish One's request
	for revocation in the third administrative review")
VN-83	Requests for Revocation in the Fourth Administrative Review ("requests for
VIII. 0.4	revocation submitted in the fourth administrative review")
VN-84	Requests for Revocation in the Fifth Administrative Review ("requests for
US-04	revocation submitted in the fifth administrative review") Section 751 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1675)
03-04	("Section 751 of the Tariff Act of 1930")
US-08	Certain Frozen and Canned Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of
	Vietnam: Amended Final Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review,
	75 Fed. Reg. 61,122 (4 October 2010) ("amended final determination in the
110.00	fourth administrative review")
US-09	Certain Frozen and Canned Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam: Amended Final Results and Final Partial Rescission of Antidumping
	Duty Administrative Review, 76 Fed. Reg. 64,307 (18 October 2011) ("amended
	final determination in the fifth administrative review")
US-10	Section 123 of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3533
US-11	Order, Grobest & I Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., v. United States, Consol.
110.40	Court No. 10-00238 (13 September 2012)
US-12	Grobest & I Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., v. United States, 853 F.Supp.2d
US-13	1352 (Ct. Int'l Trade, 2012) Successor to Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., Withdrawal of
	Request for Voluntary Respondent Review and Revocation of Antidumping Duty
	Order in Part (12 December 2012)
US-14	Response to 15 January 2013 Supplemental Questionnaire in Reexamination of
	Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. Voluntary Responses
US-15	(29 January 2013) Response by Successor to Crobest & I Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., to.
03-10	Response by Successor to Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., to Department's Supplemental Questionnaire and Petitioners' Objection to
	Rescission (13 February 2013)
US-16	Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp From the Socialist Republic of Vietnam:
	Preliminary Results of Reconducted of Administrative Review of Grobest & I-Mei
	Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. and Intent Not to Revoke; 2008-2009, 78 Fed.
UC 10	Reg. 57,352 (18 September 2013)
US-18	Purified Carboxymethylcellulose from the Netherlands: Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review and Preliminary Intent to Rescind,
	77 Fed. Reg. 46,024 (2 August 2012)
US-19	Certain Pasta from Italy: Notice of Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty
	Administrative Review, Preliminary No Shipment Determination and Preliminary
	Intent to Revoke Order, in Part, 77 Fed. Reg. 46,377 (3 August 2012),
110,00	unchanged in 78 Fed. Reg. 9,364 (8 February 2013)
US-20	Purified Carboxymethylcellulose from Finland; Notice of Preliminary Results of
US-26	Antidumping Duty Administrative Review, 77 Fed. Reg. 47,036 (7 August 2012) 19 C.F.R. § 351.401
03-20	17 0.1 .10. 3 00 1.40 1

Panel Exhibit	Title			
US-27	Antidumping Manual, Chapter 1, Department of Commerce, p. 1 ("USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 1")			
US-29	Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam, Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review, 2011-2012, 78 Fed. Reg. 15,699 (12 March 2013) ("preliminary determination in the seventh administrative review)			
US-30	Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam, Final Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review, 2011-2012, 78 Fed. Reg. 56,211 (12 September 2013) ("final determination in the seventh administrative review")			
US-38	Antidumping Proceedings: Calculation of the Weighted-Average Dumping Margin During an Antidumping Investigation; Final Modification, 71 Fed. Reg. 77,722 (27 December 2006)			
US-39	Antidumping Proceedings: Calculation of the Weighted-Average Dumping Margin and Assessment Rate in Certain Antidumping Duty Proceedings; Final Modification, 77 Fed. Reg. 8,101 (14 February 2012) ("Final Modification")			
US-40	Stainless Steel Bar From India: Final Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review; 2011-2012, 78 Fed. Reg. 34,337 (7 June 2013)			
US-41	Ball Bearings and Parts Thereof From France, Germany, and Italy: Final Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Reviews; 2010-2011, 77 Fed. Reg. 73,415 (10 December 2012)			
US-42	Low Enriched Uranium From France: Final Results of the Expedited Second Sunset Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 78 Fed. Reg. 21,100 (9 April 2013)			
US-43	Certain Hot-Rolled Carbon Steel Flat Products From India, Indonesia, the People's Republic of China, Taiwan, Thailand, and Ukraine; Final Results of the Expedited Second Sunset Reviews of the Antidumping Duty Orders, 78 Fed. Reg. 15,703 (12 March 2013)			
US-44	Lemon Juice From Argentina: Final Results of the Expedited First Sunset Review of the Suspended Antidumping Duty Investigation, 77 Fed. Reg. 73,021 (7 December 2012)			
US-45	Steel Concrete Reinforcing Bars From Belarus, Indonesia, Latvia, Moldova, Poland, People's Republic of China and Ukraine: Final Results of the Expedited Second Sunset Reviews of the Antidumping Duty Orders, 77 Fed. Reg. 70,140 (23 November 2012)			
US-46	Honey From the People's Republic of China: Final Results of Expedited Sunset Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 77 Fed. Reg. 59,896 (1 October 2012)			
US-47	Certain Activated Carbon From the People's Republic of China: Final Results of Expedited Sunset Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 77 Fed. Reg. 33,420 (6 June 2012)			
US-64	Steel Wire Garment Hangers from the People's Republic of China: Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 73 Fed. Reg. 47,587 (14 August 2008)			
US-65	Steel Wire Garment Hangers from the People's Republic of China: Amended Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 73 Fed. Reg. 53,188 (15 September 2008)			
US-66	Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Carbon and Certain Alloy Steel Wire Rod from Ukraine, 67 Fed. Reg. 55,785 (30 August 2002)			
US-67	Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Urea Ammonium Nitrate Solutions from Belarus, 68 Fed. Reg. 9,055 (27 February 2003)			
US-68	Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Structural Steel Beams from the Russian Federation, 67 Fed. Reg. 35,490 (20 May 2002)			
US-69	Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Certain Small Diameter Carbon and Alloy Seamless Standard, Line and Pressure Pipe from Romania, 65 Fed. Reg. 39,125 (23 June 2000)			
US-73	Separate Rate Certification for Firms Previously Awarded Separate Rate Status			
US-81 US-84	Vietnam Constitution, Chapt. II, Art. 15 (partial document) N. Gregory Mankiw, Principles of Microeconomics (South-Western Centage			
US-85	Learning 2012) (partial document) Paul R. Gregory & Robert C. Stuart, Comparing Economic Systems in the Twenty-First Century (Houghton Mifflin Company 2004) (partial document)			
US-90	Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam; Final Results of Re-Conducted Administrative Review of Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd and Intent Not To Revoke; 2008-2009, 79 Fed. Reg. 15309 (19 March 2014)			
US-91	19 C.F.R. § 351.216			
US-95	19 U.S.C. § 1677m			

Panel Exhibit	Title
US-96	Letter from Counsel for Seaprodex Minh Hai to Secretary of Commerce (31 July 1999)
US-97	Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam: Notice of Reopening of the First Five-Year "Sunset" Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 79 Fed. Reg. 15310 (19 March 2014)

ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS REPORT

Abbreviation	Description		
Anti-Dumping Agreement	Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of GATT 1994		
BCI	Business Confidential Information		
DSB	Dispute Settlement Body		
DSU	Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes		
GATT 1994	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994		
NME	Non-Market Economy		
POI	Period of investigation		
POR	Period of review		
SCM Agreement	Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures		
SPB	Sunset Policy Bulletin		
URAA	Uruguay Round Agreements Act		
United States	United States of America		
USCBP	United States Customs and Border Protection		
USDOC	United States Department of Commerce		
USITC	United States International Trade Commission		
USTR	United States Trade Representative		
Vienna Convention	Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, Done at Vienna, 23 May 1969, 1155 UNTS 331; 8 International Legal Materials 679		
Viet Nam	Socialist Republic of Viet Nam		
Viet Nam's Protocol of	Protocol on the Accession of the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam, WT/L/662		
Accession	(15 November 2006)		
Viet Nam's Working Party	Report of the Working Party on the Accession of Viet Nam, WT/ACC/VNM/48		
Report	(27 October 2006)		
WTO	World Trade Organization		

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Complaint by Viet Nam

- 1.1. On 22 February 2012, Viet Nam requested consultations with the United States pursuant to Articles 1 and 4 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU"), Article XXII:1 of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994 ("GATT 1994"), and Articles 17.2 and 17.3 of the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of GATT 1994 ("Anti-Dumping Agreement") with respect to certain anti-dumping measures imposed by the United States in the context of the US anti-dumping proceedings on *Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from Vietnam* (hereinafter "*Shrimp*") as well as with respect to certain US laws and US Department of Commerce ("USDOC") methodologies and practices.¹
- 1.2. Consultations were held on 28 March 2012 but failed to resolve the dispute.

1.2 Panel establishment and composition

- 1.3. On 20 December 2012, Viet Nam requested the establishment of a panel pursuant to Article 6 of the DSU, with standard terms of reference.² At its meeting on 27 February 2013, the Dispute Settlement Body ("DSB") established a panel pursuant to the request of Viet Nam in document WT/DS429/2/Rev.1 and Corrigenda 1 & 2, in accordance with Article 6 of the DSU.³
- 1.4. The Panel's terms of reference are the following:

To examine, in the light of the relevant provisions of the covered agreements cited by the parties to the dispute, the matter referred to the DSB by Viet Nam in document WT/DS429/2/Rev.1 and Corrigenda 1^4 and 2^5 and to make such findings as will assist the DSB in making the recommendations or in giving the rulings provided for in those agreements.

1.5. On 12 July 2013, the parties agreed that the panel would be composed as follows:

Chairperson: Mr Simon Farbenbloom

Members: Mr Adrian Makuc

Mr Abd El Rahman Ezz El Din Fawzy

1.6. China, Ecuador, the European Union, Japan, Norway and Thailand notified their interest in participating in the Panel proceedings as third parties.⁶

1.3 Panel proceedings

1.3.1 General

- 1.7. After consultation with the parties, the Panel adopted its Working Procedures⁷ on 5 August 2013 and its timetable on 6 August 2013. On 9 August 2013, the Panel revised its Working Procedures and adopted Additional Working Procedures Concerning Business Confidential Information ("BCI").⁸ The Panel revised its timetable on 16 December 2013 and on 31 March 2014.
- 1.8. The Panel held a first substantive meeting with the parties on 10 and 11 December 2013. A session with the third parties took place on 11 December 2013. The Panel held a second

¹ WT/DS429/1 (hereafter "Viet Nam's consultations request").

 $^{^2}$ WT/DS429/2, revised on 17 January 2014 in WT/DS429/2/Rev.1 and Corr. 1 & 2 (hereafter "Viet Nam's panel request").

³ See WT/DSB/M/329.

⁴ In French only.

⁵ In English and Spanish only.

⁶ WT/DS429/3.

⁷ See Annex A-1.

⁸ See Annex A-2.

substantive meeting with the parties on 25-26 March 2014. On 6 May 2014, the Panel issued the descriptive part of its Report to the parties. The Panel issued its Interim Report to the parties on 16 July 2014. The Panel issued its Final Report to the parties on 4 September 2014.

1.3.2 Preliminary ruling

- 1.9. On 31 July 2013, the United States submitted to the Panel a request for preliminary rulings in which it asked that the Panel find that certain measures and claims referenced in Viet Nam's panel request were not properly within the Panel's terms of reference. Viet Nam responded to the United States' request on 5 August 2013. The United States replied to Viet Nam's response on 13 August 2013, and two third parties, the European Union and China, filed observations regarding the United States' request on 14 August 2013. On 16 August 2013, Viet Nam provided comments on the United States' reply. 12
- 1.10. On 26 September 2013, the Panel issued a Preliminary Ruling addressing the United States' request, and indicated that the Ruling would become an integral part of its Final Report, subject to any changes that may be necessary in light of comments received from the parties at the interim review stage. The Preliminary Ruling was circulated to the parties and to the third parties to the dispute and is included as Annex A-3 of this Report.

2 FACTUAL ASPECTS

- 2.1. This dispute concerns certain US laws, methodologies and practices with respect to the imposition of anti-dumping duties as well as certain USDOC actions and determinations in the *Shrimp* proceedings.
- 2.2. The United States operates a "retrospective" duty assessment system. Under this system, the USDOC determines whether the imposition of anti-dumping measures is justified by conducting an original investigation. In the investigation, the USDOC determines whether dumping exists during the period of investigation. The United States International Trade Commission ("USITC") concurrently determines whether the relevant US industry is injured by reason of the dumped imports. When the USDOC finds dumping and the USITC finds that dumped imports caused injury to the domestic industry, the USDOC issues an anti-dumping "order" imposing final measures. The anti-dumping order provides the United States Government with the authority to require cash deposits at a rate equivalent to the margin of dumping calculated for each known producer/exporter at the time of importation and, as described below, to subsequently assess anti-dumping duties on imports of the subject merchandise and eventually collect such duties ("liquidation"). 13
- 2.3. The definitive amount of anti-dumping duty liability is determined subsequently, after the importation of the merchandise, as a result of an annual "administrative review" which the USDOC initiates upon request from interested parties. In the administrative review, the USDOC calculates assessment rates with respect to the "entries" (imports) under review, and determines the cash deposit that will be required as a security on future entries, until subsequent administrative reviews are conducted with respect to those entries. At the conclusion of the administrative review process, the USDOC instructs US Customs and Border Protection ("USCBP") to liquidate the entries consistent with its determination; if the definitive duties owed are less than the level of the cash deposits, USCBP returns the excess with interest to the importer. If the definitive duty liability is greater than the cash deposits, the importer must pay the additional amount. In the event that no administrative review is requested, entries are liquidated at the cash deposit rate applicable at the time of importation. Moreover, final assessment or collection ("liquidation") may be delayed by

⁹ United States' request for preliminary rulings (Annex C-5).

¹⁰ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings (Annex B-5).

¹¹ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings (Annex C-6); China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings (Annex D-6); European Union's comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling (Annex D-7).

 ¹² Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings (Annex B-6).
 ¹³ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 30-33 and 215-216 (quoting from, and referring to,
 Panel Report, US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA, paras. 2.5-2.8 and footnotes 10 and 11); United States' first written submission, paras. 8-10. The US duty assessment system is also described in detail in Panel Report, US – Shrimp (Viet Nam), paras. 7.12-7.13.

challenges before US courts given that in such proceedings, parties may obtain an injunction against liquidation for the duration of the court proceeding. 14

- 2.4. The USDOC initiated its *Shrimp* investigation in January 2004 and issued an anti-dumping order in February 2005. At the time of these Panel proceedings, it had completed seven administrative reviews and conducted a first sunset review¹⁵ in which it determined that revocation of the anti-dumping duty order would be likely to lead to the continuation or recurrence of dumping.¹⁶
- 2.5. In the *Shrimp* proceedings, because Viet Nam has been designated by the USDOC as a non-market economy ("NME"), the USDOC applied a rebuttable presumption that all companies within Viet Nam are essentially operating units of a single government-wide entity and, thus, should receive a single anti-dumping duty rate (the "Viet Nam-wide entity rate"). Vietnamese producers/exporters had to pass a "separate rate test" to receive a rate that was separate from the Viet Nam-wide entity rate. Those producers/exporters that did not establish that they were separate from the Viet Nam-wide entity received the Viet Nam-wide entity rate.
- 2.6. In addition, in the original investigation and in each of the administrative reviews, in light of the large number of Vietnamese respondents involved, the USDOC limited its examination and determined individual dumping margins for a limited number of companies. The USDOC assigned the companies who were not selected for individual examination and who demonstrated sufficient independence from government control a "separate rate". In the original investigation, it assigned a single "Viet Nam-wide entity" rate to the Vietnamese respondents who did not demonstrate independence from government control. The Viet Nam-wide entity rate was determined on the basis of information contained in the petition. The USDOC continued to apply the same Viet Nam-wide entity rate in each of the administrative reviews.
- 2.7. Without prejudice to which segments of the *Shrimp* proceedings fall within the Panel's terms of reference, the following table summarizes the rates that were assigned by the USDOC to the Vietnamese producers/exporters involved:

Proceeding, date of final	Dumping margins ¹⁷		
determination, period of investigation or review	Mandatory and voluntary respondents	Separate-rate respondents	Viet Nam-wide entity
Original investigation	4 mandatory respondents,	4.57% (weighted-average of margins for mandatory	25.76%
8 December 2004 (amended 1 February 2005)	3 cooperated: • CAMIMEX: 5.24%	respondents)	(calculated on the basis of facts
POI: 1 April 2003 to 30 September 2003	· Minh Phu: 4.38% · Seaprodex Minh Hai: 4.30%		available)
First administrative review and first new shipper review	3 mandatory respondents, only one cooperated: Fish One: 0%	4.57% (the separate rate was based on the separate rate in the original investigation) Except:	25.76%
12 September 2007		· Grobest: 0.00% (new shipper review rate)	
<u>POR:</u> 16 July 2004 to 31 January 2006			

 $^{^{14}}$ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 30-33 and 215-216 (quoting from, and referring to, Panel Report, US – Section 129(C)(1) URAA, paras. 2.5-2.8 and footnotes 10 and 11; United States' written submission, paras. 8-10; response to Panel question No. 68.

¹⁵ The United States refers to these as "segments" of the *Shrimp* proceeding.

¹⁶ Final likelihood-of-dumping determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14. Viet Nam's claims only pertain to the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination. Although Viet Nam asserts that the order was continued, it only submits to the Panel the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination, and does not provide references to either the USITC's likelihood-of-injury determination or the continuation of the order by the USDOC as a result of the USDOC and USITC determinations.

¹⁷ The margins are those in the final determination or, where applicable, the amended final determination.

Second administrative	2 mandatory	4.57%	25.76%
review	respondents:	Except:	25.76%
Teview	· Minh Phu: 0.01%	· Grobest: 0.00%	
9 September 2008	· CAMIMEX: 0.00%	Fish One: 0.00%	
·		Seaprodex Min Hai: 4.30%	
POR:		(USDOC applied the same separate rate as	
4.5.1		in the investigation, except for separate rate	
1 February 2006 to		respondents which had previously received	
31 January 2007		an individual margin)	
Third administrative	3 mandatory	4.57%	25.76%
review	respondents:	Except:	
1E Contambor 2000	· Minh Phu: 0.43% · CAMIMEX: 0.08%	· Fish One: 0.00% · Grobest: 0.00%	
15 September 2009	· Phuong Nam:	Seaprodex Min Hai: 4.30%	
POR: 1 February 2007 to	0.21%	(USDOC applied the same separate rate as	
31 January 2008	0.2176	in the investigation, except for separate rate	
-		respondents which had previously received	
		an individual margin).	
Fourth administrative	2 mandatory	3.92%	
review	respondents:	(simple average of margin for mandatory	25.76%
	Minh Phu: 2.95%	respondents)	
9 August 2010	· Nha Trang: 4.89%		
(amended			
29 September 2010)			
POR:			
1 February 2008 to			
31 January 2009			
Fifth administrative review	3 mandatory	1.03%	25.76%
	respondents:	(weighted-average of margins for mandatory	
12 September 2011	· CAMIMEX: 0.80%	respondents, excluding <i>de minimis</i> margin)	
(amended 18 October 2011)	· Minh Phu: 1.15%	,	
POR:	· Nha Trang: <i>de</i>		
1 February 2009 to	minimis		
31 January 2010			
Sixth administrative	2 mandatory	0.88%	25.76%
review	respondents:	(simple average of margins for mandatory	25.7676
-	· Minh Phu: 0.53%	respondents)	
11 September 2012	Nha Trang: 1.23%		
(amended 18 October 2012)	_		
POR:			
1 February 2010 to			
31 January 2011			
Seventh administrative	2 mandatory	0.00%	25.76%
review	respondents and one	(weighted-average of margins for mandatory	
	voluntary	respondents)	
12 September 2013	respondent:		
DOD:	· Minh Phu: 0.00%		
POR: 1 February 2011 to	Nha Trang: 0.00%		
31 January 2012	· Quoc Viet		
31 January 2012	(voluntary		
	respondent): 0.00%		i

- 2.8. The relevant facts are described in more detail in our findings.
- 2.9. Viet Nam makes claims with respect to the USDOC's final determinations in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews. Viet Nam's claims regarding these three administrative reviews concern: (i) the use of zeroing in the calculation of dumping margins; (ii) the rate that was assigned to certain Vietnamese producers who did not demonstrate sufficient independence from government control and thus were deemed by the USDOC to be part of the so-called "Viet Nam-wide entity"; and (iii) the USDOC's failure to revoke the anti-dumping order with respect to certain respondent Vietnamese producers/exporters. ¹⁸ Moreover, Viet Nam also makes claims with respect to the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination in the context of the sunset review.
- 2.10. In addition, Viet Nam also makes "as such" claims with respect to the following measures:

¹⁸ With respect to the latter, Viet Nam also challenges the USDOC's treatment of a request for revocation in the context of the third administrative review. (Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 49). The United States argues that the third administrative review is not a measure at issue in this dispute (United States' second written submission, para. 34 and footnote 32.) The Panel addresses the United States' objection below, in paras. 7.356. -7.361.

- a. The USDOC's "simple zeroing methodology" ¹⁹ as applied in administrative reviews;
- b. The USDOC's practice with respect to the rate that is assigned to certain producers/exporters who do not demonstrate sufficient independence from government control (the "NME-wide entity rate") in anti-dumping proceedings involving imports from NMEs;
- c. Section 129(c)(1) of the US Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA").

3 PARTIES' REQUESTS FOR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- 3.1. Viet Nam requests that the Panel find as follows: 20
 - a. The USDOC's simple zeroing methodology, as it applies in administrative reviews is, as such, inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994;
 - b. The USDOC's application of the simple zeroing methodology in the calculation of dumping margins in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994;
 - c. The USDOC's practice, in anti-dumping proceedings involving imports from NMEs, with respect to the rate assigned to the "NME-wide entity" comprised of producers/exporters who do not demonstrate sufficient independence from government control is, as such, inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4 and 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - d. The rate assigned by the USDOC in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews to the "Viet Nam-wide entity" comprised of Vietnamese producers/exporters who did not demonstrate sufficient independence from government control is inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4 and 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - e. Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA is inconsistent, as such, with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - f. The USDOC's reliance on margins of dumping calculated with zeroing and failure to properly establish the facts and conduct an objective evaluation in the first sunset review is inconsistent with Articles 11.3 and 17.6 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - g. The USDOC's failure to revoke the anti-dumping duty order with respect to companies that have demonstrated the absence of dumping is inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.²¹
- 3.2. Viet Nam requests that the Panel exercise its discretion under Article 19.1 of the DSU to suggest that the United States revoke the anti-dumping duty order: (i) in its totality, to comply with all the Panel's findings, and (ii) with respect to Minh Phu and Camimex, should the Panel find

¹⁹ Viet Nam describes the "simple zeroing methodology" as the methodology by which the USDOC, when calculating dumping margins on the basis of a comparison of a weighted-average normal value to individual export transactions, disregards negative comparison results. (Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 54.)

²⁰ Viet Nam first written submission, para. 356; second written submission, para. 139.

²¹ In addition, Viet Nam included a number of other claims in its request for the establishment of a panel which it did not pursue in its submissions to the Panel. In particular, Viet Nam's panel request included claims with respect to the USDOC's limitation of the number of Vietnamese respondents selected for individual examination in the proceedings at issue (see Viet Nam's panel request, pp. 5-7), which Viet Nam did not pursue before the Panel. Moreover, while with respect to certain claims Viet Nam's panel request referred both to the USDOC's use of practices in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews and to "the continued application" or the application on a "continued and ongoing basis" of these practices "throughout the full course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceeding", Viet Nam did not pursue any claims with respect to the latter in its submissions. See also the Panel's Preliminary Ruling, in which the Panel notes Viet Nam's indication that it would not pursue certain other claims set forth in its panel request.

that the USDOC acted inconsistently with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 in its treatment of these companies' requests for revocation.²²

3.3. The United States requests that the Panel reject Viet Nam's claims that the United States has acted inconsistently with the covered agreements.²³

4 ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

4.1. The arguments of the parties are reflected in their executive summaries, provided to the Panel in accordance with paragraph 18 of the Working Procedures adopted by the Panel (see Annexes B-1, B-2, B-3 and B-4 and C-1, C-2, C-3 and C-4).

5 ARGUMENTS OF THE THIRD PARTIES

5.1. The arguments of China, the European Union, Japan, Norway and Thailand²⁴ are reflected in their executive summaries, provided in accordance with paragraph 19 of the Working Procedures adopted by the Panel (see Annexes D-1, D-2, D-3, D-4, and D-5). Ecuador did not submit written or oral arguments to the Panel.

6 INTERIM REVIEW

- 6.1. On 16 July 2014, the Panel submitted its Interim Report to the parties. On 28 July, the United States submitted a written request for the review of precise aspects of the Interim Report. Viet Nam did not submit any request for review and did not submit comments on the United States' request for review. No meeting with the Panel was requested.
- 6.2. In accordance with Article 15.3 of the DSU, this section of the Report sets out the Panel's response to the United States' request made at the interim review stage. The Panel modified aspects of its Report in the light of the United States' comments where it considered it appropriate, as explained below. As a result of the changes that we have made, the numbering of footnotes in the Final Report has changed from the Interim Report. References to footnotes in this section relate to this Report, except as otherwise noted.
- 6.3. The United States requested that the Panel revise the last sentence of paragraph 7.249 and the first sentence of footnote 399, and add language to paragraph 7.344 to more accurately reflect arguments it made before the Panel. The Panel amended the relevant paragraphs and footnote to more completely reflect the arguments made by the United States.
- 6.4. The United States noted that in footnote 334, the Panel briefly discusses the decision of the US Court of International Trade in *Tembec v. United States*. In light of the fact that the Panel addresses Viet Nam's arguments concerning this decision in more detail in two other footnotes and to avoid confusion, the United States requested that the Panel delete footnote 334 and rely on its more complete discussion of the case in these other footnotes. In light of the United States' comments, the Panel has moved footnote 334 and has reworded it to shorten it and to refer to the more complete discussion of the same issue in footnotes 373 and 398.
- 6.5. The United States requested that the Panel delete footnote 391 of the Interim Report because, it submits, this footnote appears to be based on an inaccurate characterization of its argument and, moreover, is superfluous to the Panel's reasoning and to the resolution of the dispute. Given that footnote 391 of the Interim Report was not necessary to the Panel's resolution of Viet Nam's claim, the Panel has deleted it as requested by the United States.

²² We note that Viet Nam included both requests under Article 19.1 of the DSU in its first written submission (Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 356). In its second written submission, Viet Nam only included the request that the Panel suggest the revocation of the order in its totality (Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 139), but did not indicate that it was abandoning its request with respect to Minh Phu and Camimex. Moreover, Viet Nam initially made the second request with respect to Minh Phu, Camimex and Nha Trang Seafood. However, Viet Nam subsequently indicated that the inclusion of Nha Trang Seafood in the request was an error. (See Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 73(e), para. 51.)

²³ United States' first written submission, para. 275; second written submission, para. 119.

 $^{^{24}}$ Thailand did not submit written or oral arguments to the Panel but submitted responses to questions from the Panel.

6.6. Finally, the Panel has made a number of changes of an editorial nature to improve the clarity and accuracy of the Report or to correct typographical errors, certain of which were suggested by the United States.

7 FINDINGS

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 General principles of treaty interpretation, the applicable standard of review and burden of proof

7.1.1.1 Standard of review

- 7.1. Pursuant to Article 11 of the DSU, a panel has to "make an objective assessment of the matter before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case and the applicability of and conformity with the relevant covered agreements, and make such other findings as will assist the DSB in making the recommendations or in giving the rulings provided for in the covered agreements". As to the establishment of the facts in a case, this "objective assessment" has been understood as mandating neither a *de novo* review (i.e. the complete repetition of the fact-finding conducted by national authorities) nor "total deference" to domestic authorities (i.e. the simple acceptance of their determination).²⁵
- 7.2. Although Article 11 of the DSU sets forth a general standard of review for all covered agreements, Article 17.6 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement sets forth a specific standard of review applicable to anti-dumping disputes, namely:
 - (i) in its assessment of the facts of the matter, the panel shall determine whether the authorities' establishment of the facts was proper and whether their evaluation of those facts was unbiased and objective. If the establishment of the facts was proper and the evaluation was unbiased and objective, even though the panel might have reached a different conclusion, the evaluation shall not be overturned;
 - (ii) the panel shall interpret the relevant provisions of the Agreement in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law. Where the panel finds that a relevant provision of the Agreement admits of more than one permissible interpretation, the panel shall find the authorities' measure to be in conformity with the Agreement if it rests upon one of those permissible interpretations.
- 7.3. Taken together, Article 11 of the DSU and Article 17.6 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement establish the standard of review this Panel must apply with respect to both the factual and the legal aspects of the present dispute.
- 7.4. Several panels and the Appellate Body have addressed the use of this standard of review in cases where a panel is assessing whether competent authorities have complied with obligations in agreements that require governments to set forth their reasoning and determinations in written reports.
- 7.5. In US Softwood Lumber VI ($Article\ 21.5$ Canada), the Appellate Body stressed that Article 11 requires panels to engage in a critical and searching analysis and that a panel must not limit itself to assessing whether the investigating authority's findings are not unreasonable. ²⁶ In this regard the Appellate Body mentioned:

The panel's scrutiny should test whether the reasoning of the authority is coherent and internally consistent. The panel must undertake an in-depth examination of whether the explanations given disclose how the investigating authority treated the facts and evidence in the record and whether there was positive evidence before it to support the inferences made and conclusions reached by it. The panel must examine whether the explanations provided demonstrate that the investigating authority took

²⁵ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Hormones*, para. 117.

²⁶ Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber VI (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, paras. 113-140.

proper account of the complexities of the data before it, and that it explained why it rejected or discounted alternative explanations and interpretations of the record evidence. A panel must be open to the possibility that the explanations given by the authority are not reasoned or adequate in the light of other plausible alternative explanations, and must take care not to assume itself the role of initial trier of facts, nor to be passive by "simply accept[ing] the conclusions of the competent authorities". 27

- 7.6. The Appellate Body also recalled its indication in US Countervailing Duty Investigation on DRAMS that a panel must "consider, in the context of the totality of the evidence, how the interaction of certain pieces of evidence may justify certain inferences that could not have been justified by a review of the individual pieces of evidence in isolation". 28
- 7.7. Moreover, Article 17.5(ii) of the Anti-Dumping Agreement makes clear that a panel is to examine the matter referred to it by the DSB "based upon ... the facts made available in conformity with appropriate domestic procedures to the authorities of the importing Member". Thus, the Panel must only consider evidence that was before the investigating authorities in reviewing the authorities' analysis and conclusions. The Appellate Body has explained that in doing such an analysis a panel should:

bear in mind its role as a reviewer of agency action, rather than as initial trier of fact. Thus, a panel, examining the evidentiary basis for a subsidy determination should, on the basis of the record evidence before the panel, inquire whether the evidence and explanation relied on by the investigating authority reasonably supports its conclusions.29

7.8. In sum, a panel reviewing the determination of the investigating authority must evaluate the determination being reviewed on the basis of what the investigating authorities knew at the time, and determine whether the investigating authority has provided a reasoned and adequate explanation of its conclusions, without conducting a de novo review or giving complete deference to the investigating authority.

7.1.1.2 Treaty interpretation

- 7.9. Article 3.2 of the DSU provides that the dispute settlement system serves to clarify the provisions of the covered agreements "in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law". It is generally accepted that the principles codified in Articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("Vienna Convention"), in particular, are such customary rules.
- 7.10. As mentioned above, Article 17.6(ii) of the Anti-Dumping Agreement also provides that if a panel finds that a provision of the Anti-Dumping Agreement admits of more than one permissible interpretation, it shall uphold a measure that rests upon one of those interpretations. According to the Appellate Body, Article 17.6(ii) contemplates a sequential analysis whereby the panel applies the customary rules of interpretation to the treaty and only after engaging in this exercise will a panel determine whether the second sentence of Article 17.6(ii) applies.30 The Appellate Body recognised that:

²⁷ Appellate Body Report, US - Softwood Lumber VI (Article 21.5 - Canada), para. 93. (emphasis original)

²⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US - Countervailing Duty Investigation on DRAMS*, para. 157.

⁽emphasis original)

²⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Countervailing Duty Investigation on DRAMS*, para. 188. (italics original) underline added; footnotes omitted)

³⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 271.

the application of the rules of the *Vienna Convention* may give rise to an interpretative range and, if it does, an interpretation falling within that range is permissible and must be given effect by holding the measure to be in conformity with the covered agreement. The function of the second sentence is thus to give effect to the interpretative range rather than to require the interpreter to pursue further the interpretative exercise to the point where only one interpretation within that range may prevail.³¹

7.11. However, the Appellate Body has considered that the permissible range of interpretations cannot include mutually contradictory results. In the Appellate Body's view "[i]t would be a subversion of the interpretative disciplines of the *Vienna Convention* if application of those disciplines yielded contradiction instead of coherence and harmony among, and effect to, all relevant treaty provisions".³²

7.1.1.3 Burden of proof

7.12. The general principles applicable to the allocation of the burden of proof in WTO dispute settlement require that a party claiming a violation of a provision of a WTO Agreement must assert and prove its claim.³³ Therefore, as the complaining party, Viet Nam bears the burden of demonstrating that the measures at issue taken by the United States are inconsistent with the provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and of the GATT 1994 invoked by Viet Nam. The Appellate Body has stated that a complaining party will satisfy its burden when it establishes a prima facie case, namely a case which, in the absence of effective refutation by the defending party, requires a panel, as a matter of law, to rule in favour of the complaining party.³⁴ Finally, it is generally for the party asserting a fact to provide proof for its assertions.³⁵

7.2 Preliminary ruling

7.13. On 31 July 2013, the United States submitted to the Panel a request for preliminary rulings objecting to the inclusion of certain claims and measures in Viet Nam's panel request. Specifically, the United States requested that the Panel find that the following measures and claims were not within the Panel's terms of reference: (i) the sixth administrative review, as it was not listed as a measure at issue in Viet Nam's request for consultations; ³⁶ (ii) the "use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews and changed circumstances reviews" as they were not listed in Viet Nam's request for consultations; (iii) the claim set forth in Viet Nam's panel request under Article 31 of the Vienna Convention, as the Vienna Convention is not a covered agreement; ³⁸ and (iv) the claim set forth in Viet Nam's panel request relating to the US Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, because the SAA does not have any legal effect independent of an applicable US statute or regulation and is thus not a measure susceptible to dispute resolution. ³⁹ The United States requested that the Panel issue preliminary rulings before the filing of the first written submissions of the parties. ⁴⁰

³¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 272.

³² Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 273.

³³ Appellate Body Report, *US – Wool Shirts and Blouses*, p. 14.

³⁴ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Hormones*, para. 104.

³⁵ Appellate Body Report, *US – Wool Shirts and Blouses*, p. 14.

³⁶ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

³⁷ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 7.

³⁸ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 9-10.

³⁹ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 11-16.

⁴⁰ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 21.

- 7.14. Viet Nam responded to the United States' request for preliminary rulings on 5 August 2013, and each party submitted further written comments to respond to each other's comments on the US request. ⁴¹ The Panel also invited the third parties to submit any written comments they might have in response to the views expressed by the parties. ⁴²
- 7.15. In its response to the United States' request and in its comments, Viet Nam asked the Panel to find that the sixth administrative review was within its terms of reference. With respect to the other objections raised by the United States, Viet Nam indicated that it was not pursuing the remaining claims cited in the US request for preliminary rulings, namely those with respect to the USDOC's use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews and changed circumstances reviews; the claim under Article 31 of the Vienna Convention; and the claim relating to the SAA.
- 7.16. The Panel issued its Preliminary Ruling to the parties and third parties on 26 September 2013 and indicated that, subject to comments that parties may submit at the interim review stage, the ruling would form an integral part of its Final Report. In its Preliminary Ruling, the Panel dismissed the US request that it find that the sixth administrative review is outside its terms of reference. The Panel declined to make any findings with respect to the three remaining objections raised by the United States, in light of Viet Nam's indication that it was not pursuing the corresponding claims. While the Panel reserved its right to revisit the decisions contained in the preliminary ruling during the course of proceedings, the parties have not asked it to do so. Accordingly, the Panel maintains its resolution of the United States' objections as contained in the preliminary ruling, which is attached as Annex C of this Report.

7.3 Viet Nam's claims with respect to zeroing

7.3.1 Introduction

7.17. Viet Nam's claims with respect to zeroing pertain to the "simple zeroing" methodology used by the USDOC in the context of administrative reviews. Viet Nam alleges that the USDOC, when calculating dumping margins on the basis of a comparison of a weighted-average normal value to individual export transactions, disregards negative comparison results (those for which the individual export transaction price exceeds the weighted-average normal value).⁴⁹

7.18. Viet Nam requests the Panel to find that: 50

- a. The USDOC's "simple zeroing" methodology in administrative reviews is "as such" inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994; and
- b. The application by the USDOC of the "simple zeroing" methodology in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. 51

⁴¹ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings (13 August 2013); Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings (16 August 2013). The Preliminary Ruling, at para. 1.2, incorrectly states that Viet Nam submitted its response to the United States' reply on 19 August 2013.

⁴² China and the European Union submitted comments on the United States' preliminary rulings request on 14 August 2013.

⁴³ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 9-10; response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, paras. 4-7.

⁴⁴ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 3.

⁴⁵ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 4.

⁴⁶ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁴⁷ Preliminary Ruling, Annex A-3, para. 6.1.

⁴⁸ Preliminary Ruling, Annex A-3, para. 6.2.

⁴⁹ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 54.

⁵⁰ Viet Nam's panel request included a challenge against the zeroing methodology "as such and as applied in a continued and ongoing basis" (Viet Nam's panel request, p. 3). However, Viet Nam has not developed or pursued a claim against the application of the zeroing methodology on a "continued and ongoing basis" in its submissions to the Panel. We therefore limit our analysis to the "as such" and "as applied" claims developed by Viet Nam.

7.19. We examine each claim in turn, starting with Viet Nam's "as such" claim.

7.3.2 Zeroing "as such"

7.3.2.1 Introduction

7.20. We start with Viet Nam's claim that the zeroing methodology used by the USDOC in administrative reviews is, "as such", inconsistent with 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. 52

7.21. In examining Viet Nam's claim, we shall first examine whether Viet Nam has established the existence of the zeroing methodology as a measure that may be challenged "as such". If we are satisfied that Viet Nam has properly established the existence of such a measure, we shall then evaluate the parties' arguments regarding the WTO-consistency of that measure.

7.3.2.2 Whether Viet Nam has established the existence of the zeroing methodology as a measure which may be challenged as such

7.3.2.2.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.3.2.2.1.1 Viet Nam

7.22. Viet Nam submits that various panel and Appellate Body reports have found that the zeroing methodology is an established norm which may be the subject of an "as such" claim and that the Appellate Body has concluded at least twice that the use of zeroing in administrative reviews is "as such" inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.⁵³ Viet Nam further argues that a measure found by the Appellate Body to be "as such" inconsistent with a covered agreement is not specific to the facts of any particular dispute; by their nature, "as such" claims are of general and prospective application and an Appellate Body finding of violation in respect of such a claim concerns the authority's on-going failure to bring the practice into conformity with clearly established obligations.⁵⁴

7.23. According to Viet Nam, the zeroing methodology still exists as a measure which may be challenged "as such" despite the fact that the USDOC modified its calculation methodology. Viet Nam contends that panels do make rulings on measures that have been modified or repealed and refers to the panel in *US – Poultry (China)* as an example of a panel making such a ruling. Viet Nam also argues that the USDOC could easily re-start applying the zeroing methodology in administrative reviews because it has the authority to do so under US law. Finally, Viet Nam contends that the United States continued to use the zeroing methodology after Viet Nam requested consultations with the United States in this dispute, in the final results of the sixth administrative review, published on 11 September 2012. 555

7.3.2.2.1.2 United States

7.24. The United States replies that Viet Nam has failed to demonstrate as a matter of fact that the United States maintains a measure of general and prospective application that requires the use of zeroing. According to the United States, Appellate Body and panel findings in prior disputes regarding the existence, "as such", and precise content of the zeroing measure cannot constitute conclusive evidence for the purpose of this dispute. Moreover, the facts underlying this dispute are different from the facts in prior disputes because the USDOC has changed its calculation methodology for determining dumping margins and now grants offsets for non-dumped comparisons. ⁵⁶ The United States submits that, by the time Viet Nam requested the establishment

⁵¹ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 356; second written submission, para. 139.

⁵² Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 91; second written submission, para. 4.

⁵³ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 67-68 (referring to Panel Reports, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 7.175; *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 7.58; *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, para. 7.97; Appellate Body Reports, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, paras. 88, 166, and 169; *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, paras. 133-136).

⁵⁴ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 69.

 $^{^{55}}$ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 4, paras. 10-15; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 19.

⁵⁶ United States' first written submission, paras. 205-209.

of this Panel, there was no "zeroing" measure as found in previous WTO reports and nothing that required the use of that methodology. According to the United States, the USDOC has, since April 2012, issued numerous determinations in which it has granted offsets equal to the amount by which normal value is less than export price on non-dumped sales, including in the most recent administrative review under the *Shrimp* order. ⁵⁷

7.25. The United States also contests Viet Nam's argument that the USDOC could easily reimpose the zeroing methodology. It notes that the USDOC's changes in methodology were made after extensive consultations with appropriate congressional committees, private sector advisory committees, and public comment regarding the proposed modifications. The United States adds that Viet Nam has not provided a single example of a USDOC practice that was found to be WTO-inconsistent and changed pursuant to section 123(g) being subsequently "easily re-imposed". The United States also submits that the situation before this Panel is different from the situation in US - Poultry (China) where the panel decided to rule on the repealed measure because it recognized that that measure could allow the repetition of potentially WTO-inconsistent conduct. 58

7.3.2.2.2 Main arguments of the third parties

7.26. The **European Union** submits that its experience indicates that the United States no longer systematically resorts to zeroing in all cases since April 2012, but considers that the Panel's resolution of this question will ultimately depend on a close analysis of all the evidence before the Panel.⁵⁹

7.27. **Japan** submits that the Panel should examine whether the modified calculation methodology also applies to remaining unliquidated entries. Japan also notes that in the Federal Register notice announcing the modification of its calculation methodology, the USDOC indicated that it "retains the discretion on a case-by-case basis, to apply an alternative methodology, as appropriate". ⁶⁰

7.28. **Thailand** submits that even if the zeroing methodology used prior to 2012 has changed and thus can no longer be challenged "as such" in dispute settlement proceedings, it is possible that the old methodology has now been replaced by a new zeroing methodology that could, in itself, be challenged "as such" in dispute settlement proceedings. The Panel may also wish to consider whether, if it finds that the old practice or methodology no longer exists, there is a new practice or methodology that would separately meet the test for being susceptible to challenge on an "as such" basis. ⁶¹

7.3.2.2.3 Evaluation by the Panel

7.29. Viet Nam's claim raises the issue of when, and under what conditions, an unwritten rule or norm may be challenged "as such". Neither the DSU nor the Anti-Dumping Agreement establishes criteria for determining when measures can be challenged "as such". However, we can find relevant guidance in previous WTO dispute settlement decisions where claims of this nature have been considered. Thus, we believe it is useful, before analysing whether the zeroing methodology can be challenged "as such" in the present dispute, to recall how "as such" challenges have been examined in previous WTO dispute settlement cases. The following summary will also be relevant for our subsequent consideration of Viet Nam's "as such" claims concerning the NME-wide entity rate practice and concerning Section 129(c)(1).

7.30. In *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, the Appellate Body concluded that, in principle, any act or omission attributable to a WTO Member can be a measure of that Member for purposes of dispute settlement, and noted that, in WTO dispute settlement, panels have examined not only particular acts applied in specific situations, but also "acts setting forth rules or norms

⁵⁷ United States' opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 39-41.

⁵⁸ United States' second written submission, paras. 102-104.

⁵⁹ European Union's response to Panel question No. 2, para. 12.

⁶⁰ Japan's response to Panel question No. 2, paras. 2-3. Japan refers to requests for the establishment of a panel submitted by Korea in WT/DS464/4, dated 6 December 2013; and by China in WT/DS471/5, dated 16 December 2013

⁶¹ Thailand's response to Panel question Nos. 1 and 2, p. 1.

that are intended to have general and prospective application". 62 The Appellate Body explained that, allowing claims against measures "as such" protects "the security and predictability needed to conduct future trade" and also "serves the purpose of preventing future disputes by allowing the root of WTO-inconsistent behaviour to be eliminated". 63 In the same dispute, the Appellate Body also considered whether there are any limitations as to the types of measures that may be the subject of an "as such" challenge under the DSU or the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Recalling its reasoning in US - 1916 Act that panels have jurisdiction to consider legislation "as such" under both agreements, the Appellate Body found that, although most of the measures subject "as such" to dispute settlement were legislation, a broad range of measures could be submitted "as such" to dispute settlement.⁶⁴ The Appellate Body considered that the language in Article 17.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement contains "no threshold requirement ... that the measure in question be of a certain type" and that the phrase "laws, regulations and administrative procedures" in Article 18.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement encompasses "the entire body of generally applicable rules, norms and standards adopted by Members in connection with the conduct of anti-dumping proceedings". 65 Following this analysis, the Appellate Body concluded that there is "no reason for concluding that, in principle, non-mandatory measures cannot be challenged 'as such'".66

7.31. Subsequently, in US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews, the Appellate Body further clarified that the relevant issue is not whether the measure subject to an "as such" challenge is a binding legal instrument within the domestic legal system of a Member, but, rather, whether it is "a measure that may be challenged within the WTO system". 67 In that dispute, the Appellate Body considered that the USDOC's Sunset Policy Bulletin (SPB) was a measure which could be challenged "as such" in spite of its non-binding character:

In our view, the SPB has normative value, as it provides administrative guidance and creates expectations among the public and among private actors. It is intended to have general application, as it is to apply to all sunset reviews conducted in the United States. It is also intended to have prospective application, as it is intended to apply to sunset reviews taking place after its issuance. Thus, we confirm - once again – that the SPB, as such, is subject to dispute settlement.⁶⁸

7.32. The Appellate Body further observed that:

By definition, an "as such" claim challenges laws, regulations, or other instruments of a Member that have general and prospective application, asserting that a Member's conduct - not only in a particular instance that has occurred, but in future situations as well - will necessarily be inconsistent with that Member's WTO obligations. In essence, complaining parties bringing "as such" challenges seek to prevent Members ex ante from engaging in certain conduct. The implications of such challenges are obviously more far-reaching than "as applied" claims. 69

7.33. In US - Zeroing (EC), the Appellate Body considered whether unwritten rules or norms could be challenged "as such". Recalling its findings in US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review and US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews regarding the types of measures that could be challenged "as such", the Appellate Body found that there is no basis to conclude that rules or norms can be challenged "as such" only if they are expressed in the form of a written instrument. 70 The Appellate Body cautioned, however, that "a panel must not lightly assume the existence of a "rule or norm" constituting a measure of general and prospective application,

⁶² Appellate Body Report, *US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, paras. 81-82.

⁶³ Appellate Body Report, US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 82.

⁶⁴ The Appellate Body recalled, in this respect, its statement in *Guatemala – Cement I* that, in the practice established under the GATT 1947, a "measure" may be "any act of a Member, whether or not legally binding, and it can include even non-binding administrative guidance by a government". (Appellate Body Report, US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 85, referring to Appellate Body Report, Guatemala - Cement I, footnote 47 to para. 69.)

Appellate Body Report, US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, paras. 86-87.

⁶⁶ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 88.

⁶⁷ Appellate Body Report, US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews, para. 187.

⁶⁸ Appellate Body Report, US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews, para. 187. (footnotes omitted)

69 Appellate Body Report, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 172.

⁷⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 193.

especially when it is not expressed in the form of a written document". 71 The Appellate Body explained that, when a challenge is brought against a rule or norm that is not expressed in the form of a written document, "the very existence of the challenged 'rule or norm' may be uncertain". 72 The Appellate Body indicated that the complainant must establish the following to meet the particularly high burden of establishing the existence of a rule or norm of general and prospective application that is not expressed in a written document:

In our view, when bringing a challenge against such a "rule or norm" that constitutes a measure of general and prospective application, a complaining party must clearly establish, through arguments and supporting evidence, at least that the alleged "rule or norm" is attributable to the responding Member; its precise content; and indeed, that it does have general and prospective application. It is only if the complaining party meets this high threshold, and puts forward sufficient evidence with respect to each of these elements, that a panel would be in a position to find that the "rule or norm" may be challenged, as such. This evidence may include proof of the systematic application of the challenged "rule or norm". Particular rigour is required on the part of a panel to support a conclusion as to the existence of a "rule or norm" that is not expressed in the form of a written document. A panel must carefully examine the concrete instrumentalities that evidence the existence of the purported "rule or norm" in order to conclude that such "rule or norm" can be challenged, as such. 73

- 7.34. This reasoning has been subsequently applied by panels considering "as such" challenges in US - Zeroing (Japan), US - Stainless Steel (Mexico) and US - Shrimp (Viet Nam). Those panels further observed that a measure may be found to have general and prospective application if it reflects a deliberate policy, going beyond the mere repetition of the application of that measure in specific instances.⁷⁵
- 7.35. In this dispute, following the guidance of those prior decisions, we shall consider whether Viet Nam has met its burden of proof with respect to the existence of the unwritten zeroing methodology as a rule or norm which can be challenged "as such". In particular, we shall consider whether Viet Nam has established: (i) that the zeroing methodology is "attributable" to the United States, (ii) the "precise content" of the zeroing methodology, and (iii) that the zeroing methodology does have "general and prospective application".
- 7.36. With respect to the precise content of the alleged norm or rule, and attribution to the United States, we recall that Viet Nam refers to the calculation of dumping margins in administrative reviews, whereby the USDOC, in aggregating intermediate comparison results to determine the numerator, "zeroes" or disregards all negative results where export price is higher than normal value. 76 Viet Nam also posits that the zeroing methodology is applied by the USDOC, which forms part of the United States Government. The United States does not contest that Viet Nam has established the content of the zeroing methodology, and that that methodology is attributable to the United States.
- 7.37. Turning to the issue of whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that the zeroing methodology has "general and prospective application", we note that Viet Nam refers to previous disputes in which panels or the Appellate Body found that the zeroing methodology in administrative reviews was a norm or practice that could be subject to an "as such" claim. 77 Viet Nam argues that "[a]n inconsistency found by the Appellate Body to be an as such violation relates to the authority's use of the practice itself and is not specific to the facts of any particular dispute". 78 Viet Nam also submits that the United States bears the burden of demonstrating that the panel's factual findings

⁷¹ Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (EC)*, para. 196.

Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC), para. 197.
 Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC), para. 198. (emphasis original)

⁷⁴ Panel Reports, US – Zeroing (Japan), paras. 7.47-7.59; US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), paras. 7.28-7.42 and 7.84-7.97; and *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, paras. 7.110-7.111.

⁷⁵ Panel Reports, *US - Zeroing (Japan*), para. 7.52; *US - Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, paras. 7.40 and 7.95; US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), para. 7.112.

⁷⁶ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 54.

⁷⁷ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 67-68 (referring to Appellate Body Reports, US - Zeroing (Japan), paras. 88, 166 and 169; US - Stainless Steel (Mexico), paras. 133-136; and Panel Reports, US -Zeroing (Japan), para. 7.175; and US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), para. 7.97).

⁸ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 69.

and conclusions in US – Shrimp (Viet Nam) with respect to the WTO-inconsistency of this methodology, which the United States did not appeal, are in error. ⁷⁹

- 7.38. As an initial matter, Viet Nam appears to be claiming that findings of panels and the Appellate Body in previous disputes are sufficient to establish, in the present dispute, the existence of the zeroing methodology as applied in administrative reviews as a norm of general and prospective application, and that the burden has now shifted to the United States, which should demonstrate that these previous factual findings are not applicable in the present dispute.
- 7.39. We are not persuaded by this argument. We recall that it is a well-established rule in WTO dispute settlement proceedings that "the party who asserts a fact, whether the claimant or the respondent, is responsible for providing proof thereof". 80 Hence, in our view, the factual findings in previous decisions do not relieve a complainant of the burden of establishing the facts in a subsequent dispute it initiated. We note that the Appellate Body reached a similar conclusion in a prior zeroing dispute, when it found that a complaining party may not discharge its burden of proof with respect to the establishment of the facts simply by referring to past decisions. The Appellate Body observed:

As an initial matter, we note the European Communities' reference to adopted panel and Appellate Body reports in which the existence of the United States' zeroing methodology, as an unwritten norm of general and prospective application, was found to exist in the context of both original investigations and periodic reviews. Factual findings made in prior disputes do not determine facts in another dispute. Evidence adduced in one proceeding, and admissions made in respect of the same factual question about the operation of an aspect of municipal law, may be submitted as evidence in another proceeding. The finders of fact are of course obliged to make their own determination afresh and on the basis of all the evidence before them. But if the critical evidence is the same and the factual question about the operation of domestic law is the same, it is likely that the finder of facts would reach similar findings in the two proceedings. Nonetheless, the factual findings adopted by the DSB in prior cases regarding the existence of the zeroing methodology, as a rule or norm, are not binding in another dispute. But the factual findings in another dispute.

- 7.40. We further note that the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) similarly considered that the factual findings of prior panels and the Appellate Body did not "alleviate Viet Nam's burden of establishing, before us, that the U.S. zeroing methodology is a norm of general and prospective application". 82
- 7.41. Viet Nam further argues that "the extent of [the burden of proof] and the party bearing this burden will vary based on the particular circumstances of a proceeding" and that it does not "bear[] the burden of establishing for a second time the facts on which the findings and conclusions of the panel in $[US-Shrimp\ (Viet\ Nam)]$ were based". According to Viet Nam, it is now up to the United States, which did not appeal the findings and conclusions of the panel in $US-Shrimp\ (Viet\ Nam)$, to demonstrate that those findings and conclusions "are not correct or are not applicable in the instant proceeding". ⁸³
- 7.42. We disagree with Viet Nam. In our view, the fact that the panel in *US Shrimp (Viet Nam)* found that Viet Nam had established the existence of the zeroing methodology as a measure of general and prospective application under the same anti-dumping order does not affect the fundamental rule regarding allocation of the burden of proof in the present dispute. Viet Nam is therefore bound to provide relevant evidence proving the facts it asserts in the present dispute and cannot rely on previous panel and Appellate Body decisions to establish, as a matter of fact, the existence of the zeroing methodology as a norm or rule of general and prospective application.

⁷⁹ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 2, para. 2.

⁸⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Wool Shirts and Blouses*, p. 14. See also above, Section 7.1.3, "Burden of Proof".

⁸¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 190. (emphasis added, footnote omitted)

⁸² Panel Report, *US - Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, footnote 163.

 $^{^{\}rm 83}$ Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 2-3.

7.43. In addition to relying on findings in previous disputes, Viet Nam also submits factual evidence in support of its allegation that the zeroing methodology applied by the USDOC in administrative reviews is a rule or norm of general and prospective application. First, Viet Nam provides the Panel with evidence that the zeroing methodology was used in administrative reviews one to six of the *Shrimp* order.⁸⁴ The United States does not contest that zeroing was used in the three administrative reviews at issue in the present dispute, reviews four to six.⁸⁵ Moreover, in response to a question by the Panel, the United States indicates that it "does not dispute that a number of the dumping margins derived in the original investigation and in the first three administrative reviews were calculated using the so-called 'zeroing' methodology".⁸⁶

7.44. Second, Viet Nam provides the Panel with evidence indicating that the USDOC applies zeroing in anti-dumping proceedings more generally. Some of the Issues and Decision Memoranda submitted by Viet Nam contain statements pointing to the general and prospective nature of the zeroing methodology. In addition, Viet Nam submits an affidavit from Ms Anya Naschak discussing the USDOC's use of zeroing in the three administrative reviews at issue. The affidavit also includes a general overview of the standard computer programme used by the USDOC in anti-dumping cases, indicating that the structure and language of this computer programme implement zeroing in original investigations and administrative reviews. The United States has not contested the description provided in the Naschak affidavit.

⁸⁵ United States' first written submission, paras. 210-211, and opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 42-44. As discussed below, the United States submits, however, that zeroing was not used in the seventh administrative review under the *Shrimp* order.

⁸⁸ Naschak affidavit, Exhibit VN-25, paras. 5-6. In her affidavit, Ms Naschak introduces herself as an International Trade Analyst employed at the law firm of Curtis, Mallet-Prevost, Colt, and Mosle LLP, and who was previously employed as an analyst in the USDOC. Under the heading "Overview of the Standard Computer Programming for Antidumping Cases", Ms Naschak notes:

The USDOC requires foreign respondents to provide extensive sales and factors of production information for the specific period under examination. Data must be provided for both the U.S. and the factors of production. The USDOC has in place standard computer programs that manipulate these databases to execute every aspect of the USDOC's margin calculation. The USDOC's computer programs are divided into specific 'sections' of programming code, each of which executes a specific aspect of the USDOC's dumping margin calculations. The USDOC computer programs are all written and executed using SAS, which is both a software application and a computer programming language. The SAS programming language works only in the SAS software application, and it is the tool by which the programmer communicates the calculations and procedures that he or she wants the SAS application to execute. The structure and language of the computer programming the USDOC uses to derive the overall weighted-average dumping margin are basically the sale in an original investigation and administrative

⁸⁴ Viet Nam submits the final determinations and Issues and Decision Memoranda in the original investigation and the first, second and third administrative reviews (Exhibit VN-72). The Issues and Decision Memoranda accompanying the final determinations in these three reviews indicate that the USDOC used zeroing to calculate margins of dumping (see first administrative review, Comment 3, pp. 14-15; second administrative review, Comment 5, pp. 12-13; and third administrative review, Comment 3, pp. 10-13). Finally, Viet Nam has put on the record the USDOC's final determinations in administrative reviews four to six, at issue in the present dispute, which confirm that the USDOC did not allow non-dumped sales to offset the amount of dumping found with respect to other sales (see Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, Comment 10, p. 33; Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18, Comment 3, p. 29; and Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-20, Comment 3, p. 26). Viet Nam also submits evidence demonstrating that the USDOC used model zeroing in the original investigation (Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the original investigation, Exhibit VN-04, p. 12).

⁸⁶ United States' response to Panel question No. 37, para. 123.

⁸⁷ For instance, in the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fourth administrative review, the USDOC observed that "consistent with the Department's interpretation of the Act described above, in the event that any of the export transactions examined in this review are found to exceed normal value, the amount by which the price exceeds normal value will not offset the dumping found in respect of other transactions", Exhibit VN-13, p. 35. In the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fifth administrative review, the USDOC states that "[b]ecause no dumping margins exist with respect to sales where NV is equal to or less than EP or CEP, the Department will not permit these non-dumped sales to offset the amount of dumping found with respect to other sales. The CAFC has held that this is a reasonable interpretation of Section 771(35) of the Act" (Exhibit VN-18, p. 29). In the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the sixth administrative review, the USDOC states, *inter alia*, that "the CIT recently sustained the Department's explanation for using zeroing in administrative reviews while not using zeroing in certain types of investigations" (Exhibit VN-20, p. 26).

7.45. The United States submits, however, that the facts in this dispute are different from the facts in the US-Shrimp ($Viet\ Nam$) dispute because, effective April 2012, the USDOC changed its practice for calculating dumping margins in administrative reviews in response to Appellate Body findings, and now "grants offsets for non-dumped comparisons (i.e., does calculations without the 'zeroing' methodology) in various types of proceedings", including administrative reviews.

89 As evidence in support of this assertion, the United States submits a Notice of Final Modification in which the USDOC announces that it is modifying its calculation methodology, which "was challenged as being inconsistent with the WTO ... GATT 1994 and the ... Anti-Dumping Agreement in several disputes".

90 The United States further submits that, consistent with the Final Modification, the USDOC granted offsets for non-dumped transactions in the seventh administrative review of the Shrimp order

91 and that, since April 2012, it has issued "numerous determinations" under other anti-dumping orders in which it has granted such offsets in various contexts, including original investigations, administrative reviews, and sunset reviews.

7.46. Viet Nam does not dispute that the USDOC modified its calculation methodology in administrative reviews. Nor does Viet Nam contest that the USDOC did not apply the zeroing methodology when calculating dumping margins in the seventh administrative review under the *Shrimp* order or in other administrative reviews under other orders. ⁹³

reviews, although minor differences in language occur. These differences do not, however, affect the language and procedures used to implement what is commonly referred to as "zeroing".

89 United States' first written submission, paras. 203, 206 and 208; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 39-41; second written submission, para. 99.

⁹⁰ Antidumping Proceedings: Calculation of the Weighted-Average Dumping Margin and Assessment Rate in Certain Antidumping Duty Proceedings; Final Modification (hereafter "Final Modification"), Exhibit US-39, p. 8101.

⁹¹ United States' first written submission, para. 208; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 41. In its preliminary and final determinations in the seventh administrative review, the USDOC indicated that it "applied the assessment rate calculation method adopted in *Final Modification for Reviews, i.e.*, on the basis of monthly average-to-average comparisons using only the transactions associated with that importer with offsets begin provided for non-dumped comparisons". (Preliminary determination in the seventh administrative review, Exhibit US-29, p. 15703; final determination in the seventh administrative review, Exhibit US-30, p. 56216.)

92 United States' first written submission, para. 208; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 40; response to Panel question No. 54, para. 4. The United States refers to a number of USDOC determinations in administrative reviews and sunset reviews which, it argues show that the USDOC acted consistently with the Final Modification by not zeroing in administrative reviews and by not relying on margins of dumping calculated with zeroing in likelihood-of-dumping determinations in the context of sunset reviews (United States' first written submission, footnote 274, referring to Stainless Steel Bar From India: Final Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review; 2011-2012, 78 Fed. Reg. 34,337 (7 June 2013), Exhibit US-40, p. 34337; Ball Bearings and Parts Thereof From France, Germany, and Italy: Final Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Reviews; 2010-2011, 77 Fed. Reg. 73,415 (10 Dec. 2012); Exhibit US-41; and United States' first written submission, footnote 275, referring to Low Enriched Uranium From France: Final Results of the Expedited Second Sunset Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 78 Fed. Reg. 21,100 (9 April 2013), Exhibit US-42; Certain Hot-Rolled Carbon Steel Flat Products From India, Indonesia, the People's Republic of China, Taiwan, Thailand, and Ukraine; Final Results of the Expedited Second Sunset Reviews of the Antidumping Duty Orders, 78 Fed. Reg. 15,703 (12 March 2013), Exhibit US-43; Lemon Juice From Argentina: Final Results of the Expedited First Sunset Review of the Suspended Antidumping Duty Investigation, 77 Fed. Reg. 73.021 (7 Dec. 2012), Exhibit US-44: Steel Concrete Reinforcing Bars From Belarus, Indonesia, Latvia, Moldova, Poland, People's Republic of China and Ukraine: Final Results of the Expedited Second Sunset Reviews of the Antidumping Duty Orders, 77 Fed. Reg. 70,140 (23 Nov. 2012), Exhibit US-45; Honey From the People's Republic of China: Final Results of Expedited Sunset Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 77 Fed. Reg. 59,896 (1 Oct. 2012), Exhibit US-46; and Certain Activated Carbon From the People's Republic of China: Final Results of Expedited Sunset Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 77 Fed. Reg. 33,420 (6 June 2012),

⁹³ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 52, paras. 1-2. In its response, Viet Nam submits, however, that, in the preliminary determination in the eighth administrative review, the USDOC resorted to the alternative average-to-transaction methodology provided for in Article 2.4.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and used zeroing, and notes that the Appellate Body has not ruled specifically on the application of zeroing in such a context. We note, however, that Viet Nam's claims are limited to the simple zeroing methodology and that Viet Nam does not challenge the use of zeroing in the context of the third methodology provided for under Article 2.4.2. Hence, we do not address the question of the consistency of zeroing in this context, and consider that even if Viet Nam demonstrated that the USDOC did use zeroing in applying the third methodology in the eight administrative review, this would be irrelevant to our consideration of whether the simple zeroing methodology as used in administrative reviews is a measure of general and prospective application.

- 7.47. Viet Nam contends, however, that, despite the Final Modification and the fact that zeroing was not used in the seventh administrative review of the *Shrimp* order, "the USDOC's zeroing methodology still exists as a measure that can be challenged 'as such'". ⁹⁴ Viet Nam also argues that panels routinely make rulings on measures that have been modified or repealed and submits that this dispute is similar to the *US Poultry (China)* case where the panel decided to rule on a measure which expired two days before the complainant's first written submission, because it considered that the respondent Member had not conceded the WTO-inconsistency of the measure and the repealed measure could be easily re-imposed. ⁹⁵ Viet Nam finally submits that the USDOC continued to use the zeroing methodology after the implementation of the Final Modification, since the final results of the sixth administrative review, published on 11 September 2012, utilized the zeroing methodology. ⁹⁶
- 7.48. In our view, Viet Nam's arguments are somewhat self-contradictory. On the one hand, Viet Nam argues that the measure "still exists as a measure that can be challenged 'as such'", thereby conveying that, in Viet Nam's view, zeroing in administrative reviews still exists as a measure of general and prospective application. On the other hand, Viet Nam contends that "[p]anels routinely make rulings on measures that have been modified or repealed", thus suggesting that the measure does not exist any longer, having been modified or repealed.
- 7.49. We note that in the Final Modification submitted as evidence by the United States, the USDOC indicates, *inter alia*, that:

In reviews, except where the Department determines that application of a different comparison method is more appropriate, the Department will compare monthly weighted-average export prices with monthly weighted-average normal values, and will grant an offset for all such comparisons that show export price exceeds normal value in the calculation of the weighted-average margin of dumping and antidumping duty assessment rate. 97

- 7.50. In the Final Modification, the USDOC also observes that the methodology which it modifies was found inconsistent, both "as such" and "as applied", with Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 and Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement by the Appellate Body in *US Zeroing (EC)*, *US Zeroing (Japan)*, *US Stainless Steel (Mexico)* and *US Continued Zeroing (EC)*. It indicates that, following these adverse rulings, the USTR informed the WTO Dispute Settlement Body that the United States intended to comply with its WTO obligations in these disputes. The USDOC also explains that "[i]n adopting this *Final Modification for Reviews*, the Department's intention is to apply a comparison methodology in reviews that parallels the WTO-consistent methodology the Department currently applies in original investigations". 98
- 7.51. In our view, Viet Nam's arguments fail to appreciate the significance of the Final Modification for its assertion that the zeroing methodology is a measure of general and prospective application. To us, the fact that the USDOC has modified its calculation methodology and ceased to apply the zeroing methodology in administrative reviews is a significant element to take into consideration because it speaks directly to the question of the very existence of this methodology as a measure of general and prospective application. The Final Modification indicates that the

⁹⁵ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 4, paras. 11-14. Viet Nam refers to the Panel Report in *US – Poultry (China)*, para. 7.55. Viet Nam also recalls that, while the *US – Poultry (China)* panel made findings concerning the WTO-inconsistency of the measure, it considered that it would not be appropriate to make recommendations.

⁹⁶ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 4, para. 15. In response to a question by the Panel, Viet Nam also indicates that the 2012 Final Modification did not apply to entries which remained unliquidated as of the date of its entry into force (i.e. 16 April 2012), as illustrated by the fact that it did not apply to entries subject to the sixth administrative review. (Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 53, para. 3; comments on the United States' response to Panel question No. 53, para. 1.)

⁹⁷ Final Modification, Exhibit US-39, p. 8102. The Final Modification also announces a modification of the USDOC practice in sunset reviews, indicating that in sunset review determinations, the USDOC will no longer rely on dumping margins that were calculated using zeroing.

⁹⁸ Final Modification, Exhibit US-39, p. 8102. The USDOC modified its calculation methodology in original investigations, to eliminate zeroing under the weighted-average to weighted-average methodology, in 2006; see *Antidumping Proceedings: Calculation of the Weighted-Average Dumping Margin During an Antidumping Investigation; Final Modification*, 71 Fed. Reg. 77,722 (27 December 2006), Exhibit US-38, referred to in United States' first written submission, footnote 273).

⁹⁴ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 4, para. 10.

USDOC decided to apply a modified methodology, except where it determines that application of a different comparison method is more appropriate. ⁹⁹ This decision took effect with respect to all reviews for which the preliminary determination is issued after 16 April 2012. ¹⁰⁰ Viet Nam requested the establishment of a panel on 20 December 2012 and the Panel was established on 27 February 2013. ¹⁰¹ Hence, in our view, as of the date of Viet Nam's panel request and as of now, the USDOC's simple zeroing methodology, as used by the USDOC in administrative reviews, does not exist as a measure of general and prospective application.

7.52. The United States does not contest that, as argued by Viet Nam, dumping margins in the sixth administrative review were calculated using the zeroing methodology. However, the fact that the USDOC used zeroing in the final results of the sixth administrative review, i.e. after the Final Modification, does not in our view establish that the measure continues to exist as a measure of general and prospective application. We observe that, pursuant to the Final Modification, the modifications to USDOC practice took effect with respect to administrative reviews in which the preliminary determinations were issued after 16 April 2012. Since the preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review was issued on 7 March 2012, the USDOC was still acting pursuant to its previous practice, consistent with the effective date established for its modified practice. We therefore remain of the view that, as of 16 April 2012, and, in any event, as of the present date, the USDOC's simple zeroing methodology, as used by the USDOC in administrative reviews, does not exist as a measure of general and prospective application.

7.53. Concerning Viet Nam's reference to US-Poultry (China), we note that the question at issue in that dispute was whether the panel should rule on the consistency with the covered agreements of the repealed measure. However, in that dispute, there was no controversy between the parties regarding the existence of the measure itself before it was repealed. In the present dispute, the parties disagree as to whether the measure claimed by Viet Nam to be WTO-inconsistent is a rule or norm of general and prospective application which can be challenged "as such". This Panel is not, therefore, in the same situation as the panel in US-Poultry (China): we are not trying to determine whether it would be appropriate for us to rule on the WTO-consistency of an expired measure, but rather, whether Viet Nam has established that this measure can be challenged "as such".

Prior to this Final Rule and Final Modification for Reviews, the Department typically has compared normal value and export price using the average-to-transaction ("A-T") method, which involved a comparison of the weighted-average normal value to the export price of individual transactions for comparable merchandise. When aggregating the results of these comparisons to determine the weighted average margin of dumping in a review, the Department did not offset the results of the comparisons for which export price was less than normal value by the results of comparisons for which export price exceeded normal value. When determining importer-specific assessment rates in a review, the Department similarly aggregated the results of importer-specific comparison results and did not offset the comparison results for which export price was less than normal value by the comparison results for which export price exceeded normal value.

After considering all of the comments submitted, the Department is adopting the proposed changes to its methodology for calculating weighted average margins of dumping and antidumping duty assessment rates to provide offsets for non-dumped comparisons when using monthly A–A comparisons in reviews, in a manner that parallels the WTO-consistent methodology the Department currently applies in original antidumping duty investigations. In reviews, except where the Department determines that application of a different comparison method is more appropriate, the Department will compare monthly weighted-average export prices with monthly weighted-average normal values, and will grant an offset for all such comparisons that show export price exceeds normal value in the calculation of the weighted-average margin of dumping and antidumping duty assessment rate. (footnotes omitted)

⁹⁹ See Final Modification, Exhibit US-39, pp. 8101-8102:

¹⁰⁰ Final Modification, Exhibit US-39, pp. 8101 and 8113.

 $^{^{101}}$ See above, para. 1.3.

¹⁰² Final Modification, Exhibit US-39, p. 8101.

¹⁰³ Moreover, we refer to our finding below that the USDOC's use of zeroing in the three administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent "as applied" with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. In our view, our findings of inconsistency with respect to the application of simple zeroing in the three administrative reviews at issue adequately address Viet Nam's concerns regarding the final results of the sixth administrative review.

¹⁰⁴ Panel Report, *US – Poultry (China)*, paras. 7.54-7.57.

7.54. In any event, we are not convinced that the zeroing methodology "can be easily reimposed" by the USDOC. Viet Nam provides no evidence indicating that the USDOC intends to revert to this methodology. Moreover, the Final Modification shows that, as argued by the United States, the USDOC's changes in methodology were made after extensive consultations with different stakeholders, and in order to implement prior DSB rulings and recommendations. This indicates to us that, contrary to what is argued by Viet Nam, such modifications are not easily made under the US system. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, we cannot assume that the United States will "easily re-impose" the use of simple zeroing in administrative reviews. Moreover, having modified its practice to comply with its WTO obligations, we must assume that the United States will continue to comply with its WTO obligations in good faith.

7.55. We conclude, therefore, that Viet Nam has failed to establish the existence of the alleged measure (simple zeroing methodology used by the USDOC in administrative reviews) as a rule or norm of general and prospective application. Consequently, we do not consider the parties' arguments concerning the consistency of the alleged measure with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

7.56. Therefore, we find that Viet Nam did not establish that the USDOC's simple zeroing methodology in administrative reviews is inconsistent "as such" with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

7.3.3 Zeroing "as applied" in the administrative reviews at issue

7.3.3.1 Introduction

7.57. Viet Nam requests the Panel to find that the application of the zeroing methodology to calculate dumping margins for the individually-examined respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. 106

7.58. We shall first consider whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that the USDOC applied zeroing in the three administrative reviews at issue. If we find that Viet Nam has met its burden of proof in this respect, we shall then consider whether the application of the zeroing methodology in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

7.3.3.2 Whether Viet Nam has established that the zeroing methodology was applied in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews

7.3.3.2.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.3.3.2.1.1 Viet Nam

7.59. Viet Nam submits that the USDOC applied the zeroing methodology when calculating the dumping margins of the mandatory respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews of the *Shrimp* order. Viet Nam indicates that the USDOC's final determinations in those reviews confirm that the zeroing methodology was applied. Viet Nam further argues that the affidavit prepared by Ms Naschak, provided by Viet Nam to the Panel, confirms the application of the zeroing methodology in those administrative reviews. Viet Nam notes that the United States does not appear to dispute that the USDOC used the zeroing methodology in the administrative reviews at issue.

 $^{^{105}}$ United States' second written submission, para. 102. See also Final Modification, Exhibit US-39, pp. 8103-8113.

¹⁰⁶ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 356; second written submission, para. 139.

¹⁰⁷ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 59-60.

¹⁰⁸ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 3.

7.3.3.2.1.2 United States

7.60. The United States does not contest Viet Nam's allegation that the USDOC applied the zeroing methodology when calculating dumping margins at issue. The United States contends, however, that the application of zeroing is not inconsistent with the covered agreements. 109

7.3.3.2.2 Evaluation by the Panel

7.61. We proceed to examine the evidence submitted by Viet Nam in support of its allegation that the USDOC applied the zeroing methodology in the calculation of dumping margins for mandatory respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews.

7.62. As noted in the preceding section of this Report, the Naschak affidavit submitted by Viet Nam discusses the USDOC's use of zeroing in the three administrative reviews at issue, when calculating the margins of dumping for the mandatory respondents in those reviews - Minh Phu, Nha Trang and Camimex. 110 The affidavit attaches relevant excerpts of the USDOC's computer "logs" (printouts of the computer programming instructions) and "outputs" (printouts of the dumping calculations and of the databases that were run through the programme) for two of these respondents. Nha Trang and Minh Phu in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews. The affidavit explains, inter alia, that the programming language used in calculating the margins for both Minh Phu and Nha Trang shows that only positive comparison results were used to calculate the overall margins and directs the Panel's attention to certain lines of computer code in the "logs" that implement the instruction to disregard NV (normal value) - EP (export price) comparisons where the EP exceeds the NV, in the calculation of Nha Trang and Minh Phu's margins of dumping. The affidavit also directs the Panel to the relevant parts of the "logs" confirming that the negative comparison results were excluded in calculating the dumping margins, concluding in this respect that "no U.S. sales where the export price exceeded normal value were included in the calculation of the overall margin [of dumping]".1

7.63. Viet Nam has also provided the Panel with the Issues and Decision Memoranda that accompany each of the USDOC's final determinations in the three administrative reviews at issue. This evidence confirms that the UDSOC applied the zeroing methodology in these reviews. In the Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination fourth administrative review, the USDOC states that "consistent with the Department's interpretation of the Act ... in the event that any of the export transactions examined in this review are found to exceed normal value, the amount by which the price exceeds normal value will not offset the dumping found in respect of other transactions". 112 Likewise, in the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fifth administrative review, the USDOC observes that "[b]ecause no dumping margins exist with respect to sales where NV is equal to or less than EP or CEP, the Department will not permit these non-dumped sales to offset the amount of dumping found with respect to other sales". 113 Finally, in the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the sixth administrative review, the USDOC refers to its "interpretations of section 771(35) of the Act to permit zeroing in average-to-transaction comparisons, as in the underlying administrative review", and indicated that "in the event that any of the U.S. sales transactions examined in this review are found to exceed NV, the amount by which the price exceeds NV will not offset the dumping found in respect of other transactions". 114

7.64. The United States does not challenge the evidence submitted by Viet Nam. We recall that, when a party adduces evidence sufficient to raise a presumption that what is claimed is true, the burden then shifts to the other party who must adduce sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption. 115 In the present dispute, Viet Nam has submitted sufficient evidence indicating that

¹⁰⁹ United States' first written submission, paras. 210-211; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 42-44.

¹⁰ Naschak affidavit, Exhibit VN-25, p. 1.

¹¹¹ Naschak affidavit, Exhibit VN-25, paras. 22, 34, and 46.

¹¹² Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, p. 35.

113 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fifth administrative

review, Exhibit VN-18, p. 29.

114 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-20, pp. 26-27.

115 Appellate Body Report, *US – Wool Shirts and Blouses*, p. 14.

the USDOC applied the zeroing methodology in the calculation of dumping margins of individually-examined respondents in the administrative reviews at issue. As the United States did not provide arguments or evidence to rebut the presumption raised by Viet Nam, we conclude that Viet Nam has demonstrated that the USDOC applied simple zeroing in the calculation of margins of dumping of individually-investigated respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews.

7.3.3.3 Whether the application of zeroing in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994

7.3.3.3.1 Introduction

7.65. We now examine whether the application by the USDOC of the zeroing methodology to calculate margins of dumping of individually-examined respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative review is inconsistent the United States' obligations under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

7.3.3.3.2 Main arguments of the parties

7.3.3.3.2.1 Viet Nam

7.66. Viet Nam submits that the Appellate Body has consistently found that the USDOC's use of zeroing in administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. 116 Viet Nam observes that the Appellate Body repeatedly rejected the same arguments that are again being made by the United States in this dispute and urges this Panel to follow the clear and consistent decisions by the Appellate Body. 117 Viet Nam argues that the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement both define the concepts of "dumping" and "margin of dumping" with regard to the product under investigation as a whole and do not allow for differentiation among sub-groups or categories. According to Viet Nam, Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, which defines dumping as when "products of one country are introduced into the commerce of another country at less than the normal value of the products", refers to the product as a whole. Furthermore, Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, which applies to the entire Agreement, defines dumping with clear reference to the "product" that is subject to the proceeding. Viet Nam recalls that, based on these provisions, the Appellate Body has repeatedly found that the concepts of "dumping" and "margin of dumping" are defined in relation to the product under investigation as a whole, and cannot be found to exist only for a type, model, or category of that product. 118

7.67. Viet Nam submits that Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 explicitly provide that margins of dumping may not be greater than the margin of dumping for the product as a whole. This, according to Viet Nam, means that when the administering authority makes use of multiple comparisons at an intermediate stage, it must aggregate the results of all intermediate comparisons, including negative comparison results, for purposes of calculating the final dumping margin. Viet Nam argues that, by systematically disregarding negative comparison results, the USDOC's simple zeroing practice necessarily results in dumping margins that are greater than the margins for the product as a whole. 119

¹¹⁶ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 79-91 and 93 (referring to Appellate Body Reports, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 133; *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, paras. 175-176; *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, paras. 103, 109, and 139; *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 312 and 316; *US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)*, paras. 195 and 197); second written submission, paras. 12-17. We note that, in its first written submission, Viet Nam discusses the consistency of the zeroing methodology with the covered agreements in the context of its argumentation with respect to its "as such" claim and refers to that discussion in its "as applied" claim (see Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 93). In its second written submission, Viet Nam jointly discusses the legal consistency "as such" and "as applied" of the zeroing methodology (see Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 12-17).

¹¹⁷ Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 27.

¹¹⁸ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 71-78. Viet Nam refers in particular to the Appellate Body Reports in *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 115 and *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 93 and 96.

Reports in *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 115 and *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 93 and 96.

119 Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 79-84; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 24-27; second written submission, paras. 12-17.

7.3.3.3.2.2 United States

7.68. The United States argues that the text and context of the relevant provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, interpreted in accordance with customary rules of interpretation, support its interpretation that the concepts of dumping and margins of dumping have meaning in relation to individual transactions and, therefore, there is no obligation to aggregate multiple comparison results in assessment proceedings to arrive at an aggregated margin of dumping for the product as a whole. The United States contends that it is permissible to interpret the terms of "dumping" and "margin of dumping" as referring to specific export transactions, and not only to the "product as a whole". The United States submits that Members' rights and obligations stem from the texts of the covered agreements, and not from panel or Appellate Body reports and urges the Panel to remain faithful to the text of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and to find that the US interpretation rests on a permissible interpretation of that Agreement.

7.69. The United States argues that Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994 do not require the provision of offsets in assessment proceedings and do not provide textual support for the concepts of "product as a whole" and "negative dumping". The United States submits that the terms upon which Viet Nam's interpretation rests are absent from the text of Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. The United States is of the view that, as recognized by several panels, averaging of export prices is not required to calculate a margin of dumping under Article 9.3 and, therefore, an interpretation that permits the existence of transaction-specific margins of dumping is supported by the text of that provision. The United States is of the view that, as long as the margin of dumping is properly understood as applying at the level of individual transactions, there is no tension between the exporter-specific concept of dumping as a pricing behaviour and the importer-specific remedy of payment of dumping duties. 124

7.3.3.3 Main arguments of the third parties

7.70. **China** submits that, in light of the consistent and well-founded decisions by the Appellate Body, to the extent that Viet Nam has established the use of the zeroing methodology in the three administrative reviews, the application of zeroing in those reviews is also inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994. 125

7.71. The **European Union** submits that the issue of zeroing has been extensively litigated in the WTO and does not warrant repeated scrutiny. The Panel should therefore deal with it in a summary manner and uphold Viet Nam's "as applied" claims. 126

7.72. Recalling previous Appellate Body jurisprudence with respect to zeroing in administrative reviews, **Japan** submits that the Panel should find that the zeroing methodology, as it relates to the use of simple zeroing in administrative reviews, is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:3 of the GATT 1994. 127

7.73. While not taking a position on the facts of this case, **Norway** agrees with Appellate Body rulings in previous cases that the use of all forms of zeroing in all forms of proceedings is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.¹²⁸

¹²⁰ United States' first written submission, para. 210.

¹²¹ United States' opening statement to the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 42-44. The United States refers in particular to Panel Reports, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5)*, and *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*. See United States' first written submission, paras. 210-241, notably at footnote 285.

¹²² United States' opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 44.

¹²³ United States' first written submission, paras. 219-232.

¹²⁴ United States' first written submission, paras. 234-240. The United States refers to Panel Reports, US – Zeroing (EC), paras. 7.201, 7.204-7.207, and 7.220-7.223; US – Zeroing (Japan), paras. 7.196, 7.198-7.199; and US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), para. 7.124.

¹²⁵ China's third-party submission, para. 5.

¹²⁶ European Union's third-party submission, para. 6.

¹²⁷ Japan's third-party submission, paras. 3-12.

¹²⁸ Norway's third-party submission, paras. 13-32.

7.3.3.3.4 Evaluation by the Panel

7.74. Our analysis begins with the text of the relevant provisions relied upon by Viet Nam in its claims. Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement reads, in relevant parts:

The amount of the anti-dumping duty shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established under Article 2.

7.75. Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 provides as follows:

In order to offset or prevent dumping, a contracting party may levy on any dumped product an anti-dumping duty not greater in amount than the margin of dumping in respect of such product. For the purposes of this Article, the margin of dumping is the price difference determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1.

7.76. Although formulated differently, Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 impose similar obligations, as they both provide that the amount of the antidumping duty shall not exceed the margin of dumping. The main question that the Panel needs to address is whether the term "margin of dumping" referred to in both provisions must be calculated for the "product as a whole", as argued by Viet Nam, or whether it may be calculated on a transaction-specific basis, as submitted by the United States. As observed by parties and third parties, this controversy is not novel.

7.77. In prior disputes, the Appellate Body has consistently held that the text of Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, as well as the text of Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994, indicate clearly that the term "dumping" is used in relation to the product as a whole, and not in relation to individual export transactions. The Appellate Body has also found that the "margin of dumping" is used in relation to the dumped "product as a whole" and must be determined on the basis of all export transactions of a given exporter or foreign producer. The Appellate Body also stressed on various occasions that the terms "dumping" and "margin of dumping" are exporter-specific concepts. 129 The Appellate Body has clarified that, while an investigating authority may choose to undertake multiple comparisons or multiple averaging at an intermediate stage to establish margins of dumping, it is only on the basis of aggregating all these intermediate values that the investigating authority can establish margins of dumping for the product as a whole. 130

7.78. We further note that, according to the Appellate Body, these definitions of "dumping" and of the "margin of dumping" apply throughout the Agreement, including under Article 9.3, and under Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. It therefore follows that the amount of anti-dumping duties assessed pursuant to those provisions cannot exceed the margin of dumping as established for the "product as a whole". In other words, the margin of dumping established for an exporter or foreign producer operates as a ceiling on the total amount of anti-dumping duties that can be levied on the entries of the product from that exporter or producer. 131 Accordingly, the Appellate Body found that the zeroing methodology applied by the USDOC in administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and with Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 because it results in the levy of an amount of anti-dumping duty that exceeds an exporter's margin of dumping. The Appellate Body observed that:

when applying "simple zeroing" in periodic reviews, the USDOC compares the prices of individual export transactions against monthly weighted average normal values, and disregards the amounts by which the export prices exceed the monthly weighted average normal values, when aggregating the results of the comparisons to calculate the going-forward cash deposit rate for the exporter and the duty assessment rate for the importer concerned. Simple zeroing thus results in the levy of an amount of antidumping duty that exceeds an exporter's margin of dumping, which, as we have

¹²⁹ Appellate Body Reports, US – Zeroing (EC), paras. 127-129; US – Zeroing (Japan), paras. 111-112

and 150; *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, paras. 83-95; and *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 282-283.

Appellate Body Reports, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 92-100; *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 126; US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada), para. 122; US – Zeroing (Japan), paras. 108-110, 115,

and 151; US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), paras. 97-99; and US – Continued Zeroing, paras. 276-287.

131 Appellate Body Reports, US – Zeroing (EC), para. 130; US – Zeroing (Japan), paras. 155-156; US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), paras. 96 and 102; and US - Continued Zeroing, paras. 286-287 and 314.

explained above, operates as the ceiling for the amount of anti-dumping duty that can be levied in respect of the sales made by an exporter. 132

7.79. The Appellate Body has also held that Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, when interpreted in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law, as required by Article 17.6(ii) of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, do not admit of another interpretation as far as the issue of zeroing is concerned and therefore that zeroing does not rest upon a "permissible interpretation" of the text of the relevant provisions. ¹³³

7.80. We have carefully considered and assessed the arguments made by the parties in the present dispute. We note that the very same arguments that the United States makes before us were rejected by the Appellate Body in prior disputes, in which it concluded that the very same measure which is now before us, namely the zeroing methodology as applied by the USDOC in administrative reviews, is inconsistent with Articles 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. We are also mindful of the Appellate Body's admonition that "following the Appellate Body's conclusions in earlier disputes is not only appropriate, but it is what would be expected from panels, especially where the issues are the same". In US – Stainless Steel (Mexico), the Appellate Body explained:

Dispute settlement practice demonstrates that WTO Members attach significance to reasoning provided in previous panel and Appellate Body reports. Adopted panel and Appellate Body reports are often cited by parties in support of legal arguments in dispute settlement proceedings, and are relied upon by panels and the Appellate Body in subsequent disputes. In addition, when enacting or modifying laws and national regulations pertaining to international trade matters, WTO Members take into account the legal interpretation of the covered agreements developed in adopted panel and Appellate Body reports. Thus, the legal interpretation embodied in adopted panel and Appellate Body reports becomes part and parcel of the *acquis* of the WTO dispute settlement system. Ensuring "security and predictability" in the dispute settlement system, as contemplated in Article 3.2 of the DSU, implies that, absent cogent reasons, an adjudicatory body will resolve the same legal question in the same way in a subsequent case. ¹³⁶

Following an objective assessment of the matter, and after a careful review of the findings discussed above, we see no reason not to rely on the interpretation of the relevant provisions and on the reasoning developed by the Appellate Body in relation to the issue of zeroing in these prior disputes.

7.81. We find, therefore, that the application by the USDOC of the simple zeroing methodology to calculate the dumping margins of mandatory respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews of the *Shrimp* order is inconsistent with United States' obligations under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

7.4 Viet Nam's claims regarding the "NME-wide entity" rate practice

7.4.1 Introduction

7.82. Viet Nam makes claims with respect to what it terms the USDOC's "NME-wide entity rate practice". Viet Nam includes within this practice: (i) the USDOC's presumption, in anti-dumping proceedings – including original investigations and administrative reviews – involving imports from NMEs, that all companies within the designated NME country are essentially operating units of a

¹³² Appellate Body Report, *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, para. 133. See also Appellate Body Reports, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, paras. 132-133; and *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 315-316.

¹³³ Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 189.
134 Appellate Body Reports, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 133; *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 176; *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, para. 139. Moreover, in two of those disputes, the Appellate Body also ruled that the zeroing methodology applied by the USDOC in administrative reviews was "as such" inconsistent with Articles 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. See Appellate Body Reports, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 166 and *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, paras. 133-134.

¹³⁵ Appellate Body Report, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 188.

¹³⁶ Appellate Body Report, *US – Stainless Steel (Mexico)*, para. 160.

single, government-wide entity and the assignment of a single anti-dumping duty rate to that entity; and (ii) the manner in which this anti-dumping rate is determined, distinct from the separate rate, on the basis of facts available. Viet Nam also challenges the application of this NMEwide entity rate practice in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. Specifically, Viet Nam claims that:

- a. the USDOC's "NME-wide entity rate practice" is inconsistent "as such" with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement; and
- b. the application by the USDOC of the "NME-wide entity rate practice" in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.83. In its request for the establishment of a panel, Viet Nam also included a challenge to "the treatment of the Vietnam-wide entity in the original investigation and the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, ... to the extent that these determinations demonstrate the USDOC's continued and ongoing use of this practice throughout the full course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceeding". 137 In its first written submission, Viet Nam claimed that "the United States' application of the Vietnam-wide entity practice on a continued and ongoing basis through the course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceedings is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement". 138 As Viet Nam has not further developed the claim regarding "continued and ongoing use" of the practice in question in its arguments to the Panel, we shall not consider it in this Report and make no findings in this respect.

7.84. The United States asks the Panel to reject all of Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency. 139

7.85. We shall start our analysis with Viet Nam's claims that the NME-wide entity rate practice is inconsistent "as such" with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. We shall then turn to Viet Nam's claims that the application of the NME-wide entity rate practice in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with those same provisions.

7.4.2 Claims with respect to the NME-wide entity rate practice "as such"

7.4.2.1 Introduction

7.86. Viet Nam claims that the "NME-wide entity rate practice" is a measure which may be challenged "as such" and which is inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 140 The United States submits that Viet Nam has failed to establish the existence of the NME-wide entity rate practice as a measure of general and prospective application that may be challenged "as such" under the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The United States also sales the Penel to reject Viet Nam's element of incorpsistency. The United States also asks the Panel to reject Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency.

7.87. In view of the parties' disagreement on this issue, we need to first determine whether Viet Nam has established that the "NME-wide entity rate practice" it has defined is a measure of general and prospective application which is susceptible to an "as such" challenge. If we are satisfied that Viet Nam has done so, we shall then turn to Viet Nam's claims that this rule or norm is, as such, inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

¹³⁸ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 42.

¹³⁹ United States' first written submission, para. 275; second written submission, para. 119.

¹³⁷ Viet Nam's panel request, p. 5.

 $^{^{140}}$ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 94 and 356; opening statement at the first meeting of the

Panel, paras. 8-9; second written submission, para. 19.

141 United States' first written submission, para. 145; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 22; second written submission, para. 66.

142 United States' first written submission, para. 145; second written submission, para. 68.

7.4.2.2 Whether Viet Nam has established the existence of the NME-wide entity rate practice as a measure which may be challenged "as such"

7.4.2.2.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.4.2.2.1.1 Viet Nam

7.88. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC's standard practice is articulated in its Antidumping Manual, which demonstrates that, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC starts with the rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country are essentially operating units of a single, government-wide entity and, thus, should receive a single anti-dumping duty rate, the NME-wide rate. According to Viet Nam, the USDOC retains broad discretion on the method for calculating the NME-wide entity rate, but in most investigations and administrative reviews, the USDOC finds that the NME-wide entity did not cooperate, thus justifying the use of adverse facts available. Firms seeking a "separate" (or "all others") rate, based on the weighted-average of the rates for the individually-investigated respondents, must pass a "separate rate test" whereby they must establish an absence of government control, both in law and in fact, with respect to exports. Hence, unlike cases involving market economy countries where all non-investigated firms receive the "all others" rate, non-investigated firms in NME may receive the "all others" rate only if they satisfy established criteria. According to Viet Nam, the Antidumping Manual makes it clear that the USDOC's NME-wide practice is applied on a generalized and prospective basis. 143

7.89. Viet Nam further submits that Policy Bulletin 05.1, on Separate-Rates Practices and Application of Combination Rates in Antidumping Investigations involving Non-Market Economy Countries, articulates the same presumption for NME countries as the Antidumping Manual and also sets forth a requirement that exporters affirmatively demonstrate independence from government control in order to be eligible for a rate that is separate from the NME-wide entity. Viet Nam submits that Policy Bulletin 05.1, which sets forth the USDOC's policy, is of general and prospective effect, as its purpose is to provide certainty and predictability to NME exporters on the requirements for a separate rate. 144 Viet Nam further argues that the determinations relevant to the Shrimp order, from the original investigation to the sixth review, also constitute relevant evidence because they describe the "long-standing policy" of presuming government ownership of all firms in NME investigations. 145 In Viet Nam's view, the evidence regarding the NME-wide entity policy is more compelling than in the zeroing disputes, because the Panel has before it multiple written documents explaining the exact nature of the policy, as well as its general and prospective effect. 146 Viet Nam clarifies that it is not challenging the Antidumping Manual and Policy Bulletin 05.1 as measures themselves, but considers that both documents serve as evidence that the practice or policy in question amounts to a measure of general and prospective application. 147

7.4.2.2.1.2 United States

7.90. The United States replies that Viet Nam has not established that the alleged NME-wide entity rate practice exists as a measure which can be challenged "as such". Viet Nam does not explain how a "practice" can set out a rule or norm of general and prospective application, and has not demonstrated that the USDOC invariably applies the alleged practice. According to the United States, the Antidumping Manual stipulates, *inter alia*, that it is "for the internal training and guidance of Import Administration (IA) personnel only" and that it "cannot be cited to establish DOC practice", which means that it cannot serve as a basis to argue that the USDOC has adopted an approach that must be followed for any particular future proceeding. The United States argues that the use of the Manual is not required under domestic law or under the WTO Agreements and, thus, Viet Nam is attacking a non-required step undertaken by the United States to promote transparency. The United States contends that Viet Nam has not pointed to a principle of US law

 ¹⁴³ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 95-106; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 9; response to Panel question No. 7(b), para. 22; second written submission, para. 19.
 144 Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 10; response to Panel question No. 7(b), para. 23.

question No. 7(b), para. 23.

145 Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 11; response to Panel question No. 7(b), para. 24.

 ¹⁴⁶ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 19; response to Panel question No. 7(b), paras. 20-24.
 ¹⁴⁷ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 7(b), para. 19; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 6.

that supports the conclusion that the Antidumping Manual requires the USDOC to do something; in fact, Viet Nam itself acknowledges that the USDOC retains broad discretion on the method for calculating the NME-wide entity rate. According to the United States, the Antidumping Manual does not require calculating that rate on the basis of facts available. The United States concludes that Viet Nam has failed to make a *prima facie* case that the so-called NME-wide entity rate is a measure that can be challenged "as such". 148

7.91. The United States further argues that, since Viet Nam has made clear that it is not alleging that either the Antidumping Manual or Policy Bulletin 05.1 are themselves measures that Viet Nam challenges "as such", the issue is solely whether Viet Nam has shown the existence of an *unwritten* measure that may be challenged "as such", based on an alleged practice adopted by the United States. According to the United States, Viet Nam has failed to establish the existence of such an unwritten norm. The United States also notes that Policy Bulletin 05.1 applies only to original investigations initiated on or after the date of publication of the notice announcing this policy (5 April 2005). As a consequence, the Bulletin did not require the USDOC to follow the approaches set forth therein during the covered reviews or generally during administrative reviews of products from NME countries. The solution of the notice and the products from NME countries.

7.4.2.2.2 Main arguments of the third parties

7.92. **China** submits that the form of the measure is not decisive when considering whether a measure may be subject to an "as such" challenge. In this dispute, the NME-wide entity rate practice is expressed in written documents, in particular in Policy Bulletin 05.1, which leaves no uncertainty as to the content of the NME-wide entity rate practice. Moreover, this document is identical in its material effects to the Sunset Policy Bulletin that the Appellate Body found to be a norm of general and prospective application in prior disputes. ¹⁵¹

7.93. The **European Union** submits that, in the light of the Appellate Body report in EC – Fasteners (China), the Panel will have to consider, in particular, whether Viet Nam has demonstrated the existence and precise content of the "as such" measure at issue, as well as the existence of a presumption. ¹⁵²

7.4.2.2.3 Evaluation by the Panel

7.94. Neither party contests, and it is well-established in WTO dispute settlement practice, that it is possible to challenge certain measures "as such", i.e. independently of their application in specific instances. The United States argues, however, that Viet Nam has not established that the alleged NME-wide entity rate practice exists as a measure of general and prospective application.

7.95. In the present dispute, Viet Nam challenges a "practice" or "policy" of the USDOC, an agency of the United States Government. According to the United States, an administrative practice standing alone is not itself a measure for the purpose of the DSU, but it may be relevant evidence in a dispute settlement proceeding. The United States also submits that the Appellate Body has not, to date, pronounced upon the issue of whether a "practice" may be challenged, as such, as a measure in WTO dispute settlement. 153

7.96. We note that the USDOC itself uses alternatively the words "practice" and "policy" when referring to the existence of an NME-wide entity and to the single rate assigned to that entity. ¹⁵⁴ In our view, however, the particular terms used to describe the alleged measure are not determinative ¹⁵⁵ and it does not matter whether the alleged measure is a "practice" or a "policy".

¹⁴⁸ United States' first written submission, paras. 140-145; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 24-27; second written submission, paras. 66 and 68.

¹⁴⁹ United States' second written submission, paras. 64-66.

¹⁵⁰ United States' second written submission, para. 67.

 $^{^{151}}$ China's third-party statement, paras. 3-7.

¹⁵² European Union's third-party written submission, para. 22.

¹⁵³ United States' response to Panel question No. 3, paras. 1 and 3.

¹⁵⁴ See, for instance, Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the original investigation, Exhibit VN-04, pp. 29-30. The USDOC also refers to the NME-wide entity rate as a "methodology" (see also USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24).

¹⁵⁵ The Appellate Body has observed that the scope of "laws, regulations and administrative procedures" challenged in WTO dispute settlement "must be determined for purposes of WTO law and not simply by

Rather, what we need to assess is whether Viet Nam has demonstrated, *in casu*, that the alleged measure is a norm or rule of general and prospective application that can be challenged "as such" in the WTO dispute settlement system.

- 7.97. As we observed above¹⁵⁶, neither the DSU nor the Anti-Dumping Agreement establishes criteria for determining when measures can be challenged "as such". However, this issue was considered in previous WTO dispute settlement cases, which have outlined criteria to assess whether a rule or norm amounts to a rule or norm of general and prospective application which can be challenged "as such". Thus, we recall that, while there is no threshold requirement that the measure challenged "as such" be of a certain type¹⁵⁷, the burden of establishing the existence of a rule or norm of general application which rests on the party alleging that such a measure exists may be different depending on the type of measure at issue. This burden will be more easily discharged when the measure at issue is set forth in a legislative act than in situations where the existence of the alleged measure is not expressed in a written document. The Appellate Body has explained that this burden is particularly high in the latter case.¹⁵⁸
- 7.98. Viet Nam challenges the NME-wide entity rate "practice" or "policy" as an unwritten rule or norm, rather than challenging a particular legislative or administrative act setting forth that practice or policy. Written documents referred to by Viet Nam as describing the NME-wide entity rate practice the Antidumping Manual and Policy Bulletin 05.1 are to be used as relevant evidence in assessing the existence of the alleged measure, but are not themselves being challenged as measures. This being the case, consistent with the standard set out above hall consider whether Viet Nam has established that: (i) this practice or policy is "attributable" to the United States, (ii) the "precise content" of this practice or policy, and (iii) that this practice or policy does have "general and prospective application".
- 7.99. With respect to the first criterion, i.e. attribution to the United States, we have already remarked above that the NME-wide entity rate is a practice or policy used by the USDOC, which is an agency of the United States Government. There appears to be no controversy between the parties that the practice or policy is "attributable" to the United States.
- 7.100. Viet Nam's arguments regarding the precise content of the NME-wide entity rate practice or policy pertain to two elements. The first element concerns the application by the USDOC in anti-dumping proceedings (e.g. original investigations and administrative reviews) involving NME countries of a rebuttable presumption that, in such countries, all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and the assignment of a single rate to that entity. The second element concerns the manner in which the rate assigned to the NME-wide entity is determined, in particular the use of facts available. We note that, in its arguments to the Panel, Viet Nam has put more emphasis on the former than on the latter. We shall examine these two elements separately.
- 7.101. With respect to the first element, turning to the evidence submitted by Viet Nam, we first consider Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual, entitled "Non-Market Economies". In Section III ("Separate Rates"), it provides that:

reference to the label given to various instruments under the domestic laws of each WTO Member. This determination must be based on the content and substance of the instrument, and not merely on its form or nomenclature". Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, footnote 87.

¹⁵⁶ See paras. 7.29. -7.34. of this Report.

¹⁵⁷ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 88. Moreover, the Appellate Body found, at para. 81 that, in principle, any act or omission attributable to a WTO Member can be a measure of that Member for purposes of dispute settlement.

¹⁵⁸ Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC), para. 198.

¹⁵⁹ We recall that Viet Nam clarified that it is not advancing claims against the Antidumping Manual or Policy Bulletin 05.1 *per se.* Viet Nam also suggests that the Panel should apply the legal standard used by the Appellate Body for determining when an unwritten rule or norm can be challenged "as such". (See Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 7(a)-(b), para. 19; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 8; and second written submission, para. 19.) We further note that the United States refers to the same standard in arguing that Viet Nam has failed to demonstrate the existence of a measure of general and prospective application. (United States' first written submission, paras. 141-145; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 23; second written submission, para. 65.)

¹⁶⁰ See paras. 7.29. -7.34. of this Report.

¹⁶¹ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24.

Individual dumping margins are automatically assigned to exporters in market-economy country cases. In NME cases, however, exporters must pass a separate rate test to receive a rate that is separate from the NME-wide rate. Those exporters that do not or cannot demonstrate that they are separate from the government-wide entity receive the NME-wide rate. 162

7.102. The Antidumping Manual further explains that "[i]n proceedings involving NME countries, the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country are essentially operating units of a single, government-wide entity and, thus, should receive a single antidumping duty rate (i.e., an NME-wide rate)". 163 Pursuant to the "separate rate test", exporters in NMEs are accorded separate, company-specific margins "if they can provide sufficient proof of an absence of government control, both in law and in fact, with respect to export activities". 164 In Section IV ("The NME-Wide Rate"), the Antidumping Manual states again that:

The Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the NME country are essentially operating units of a single, government-wide entity and should receive a single anti-dumping rate. 165

7.103. The description of the NME-wide entity rate and separate rates in Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual concerns anti-dumping "proceedings" or "cases". This suggests to us that this practice or policy applies to any of the various segments leading to an anti-dumping measure and subsequent implementation. Section IV describes the application of the rate in original investigations and administrative reviews. 166 Hence, pursuant to the Antidumping Manual, the NME-wide entity rate practice or policy applies throughout an anti-dumping proceeding.

7.104. In our view, Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual is evidence of the first element of the alleged NME-wide entity rate practice or policy, i.e. that in anti-dumping proceedings involving NMEs, the USDOC applies a rebuttable presumption that all exporters in the NME country are part of a single NME-wide entity and assigns a single anti-dumping duty rate to all exporters who do not rebut this presumption by establishing that they operate, *de jure* and *de facto*, independently from the government with respect to their export activities.

7.105. Turning to the question whether this element of the alleged measure has "general and prospective application", we first note that Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual uses the terms "practice" or "methodology" when referring to the treatment of NMEs in anti-dumping proceedings. Moreover, on its face, the Antidumping Manual appears to describe a generally applicable practice. Nothing in Chapter 10 suggests that there may be circumstances or situations in which the USDOC would not "start with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within a NME country" belong to a single, NME-wide entity and would not assign a single rate to that entity. The United States does not contest that the "practice" described in Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual is applied in all proceedings involving NME countries. Nor has the United States provided the Panel with a single example of an anti-dumping proceeding involving an NME where the USDOC did not start with the rebuttable presumption regarding the existence of an NME-wide entity and go on to assign to that entity a single anti-dumping duty rate. Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual suggests, in our view, that this "practice" or "methodology" has general and prospective application because it applies in all anti-dumping proceedings involving NMEs and makes it possible to anticipate the future conduct of the USDOC in such anti-dumping proceedings.

¹⁶² USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 3. (footnote omitted)

¹⁶³ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 3.

¹⁶⁴ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 4. In Section III, the Manual stipulates that evidence supporting, though not requiring, a finding of *de jure* absence of government control over export activities includes: (i) an absence of restrictive stipulations associated with an individual exporter's business and export licenses; (ii) any legislative enactments decentralizing control of companies; and (iii) any other formal measures by the central and/or local government decentralizing control of companies. Furthermore, four factors are considered when evaluating whether a respondent is subject to *de facto* government control over its export activities: (i) whether the export prices are set by, or subject to the approval of, a governmental authority; (ii) whether the respondent has authority to negotiate and sign contracts and other agreements; (iii) whether the respondent has autonomy from the government in making decisions regarding the selection of management; and (iv) whether the respondent retains the proceeds of its export sales and makes independent decisions regard disposition of profits or financing of losses.

¹⁶⁵ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 3.

¹⁶⁶ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 8.

7.106. Referring to Chapter I of the Antidumping Manual, the United States submits, however, that the Manual clearly states that it is "subject to change without notice" and "cannot be cited to establish DOC practice". 167 According to the United States, the USDOC has explicitly alerted petitioners and respondents that the Antidumping Manual cannot serve as a basis to argue that the USDOC has adopted an approach that must be followed for any particular, future proceeding. The United States also submits that neither domestic law nor the WTO Agreement require that the Antidumping Manual be used. The United States concludes on the basis of these considerations that the Antidumping Manual cannot therefore, be considered as having general and prospective application, adding that allowing an "as such" finding against the Manual would discourage the promotion of transparency. 168

7.107. We understand that, according to the United States, the Antidumping Manual is a nonmandatory instrument and, for this reason, cannot be challenged "as such". However, the status of the Antidumping Manual under domestic law is not determinative. Even assuming that the Antidumping Manual is not a mandatory instrument under US domestic law, this fact would not be dispositive of the issue of whether certain practices it describes, including the rebuttable presumption and assignment of a single rate, can be challenged "as such" in WTO dispute settlement proceedings.

7.108. We recall that, in US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review and US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews, the Appellate Body rejected the US argument that a measure of a non-mandatory character, the Sunset Policy Bulletin (SPB), was not susceptible to "as such" challenge. In US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, the Appellate Body indicated that there was "no reason for concluding that, in principle, non-mandatory measures cannot be challenged 'as such'". 169 In US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews, the Appellate Body observed that the relevant issue is not whether the measure subject to an "as such" challenge is a binding legal instrument within the domestic legal system of a Member, but, rather, whether it is a measure that may be challenged in WTO dispute settlement proceedings, i.e. whether is an "act[] setting forth rules or norms that are intended to have general and prospective application". The Appellate Body answered this question in the affirmative in that dispute, on the basis that the SPB: (i) had "normative value", as it provided administrative guidance and created expectations among the public and among private actors; (ii) was intended to have general application, as it was to apply to all the sunset reviews conducted in the United States; and (iii) was intended to have prospective application, as it was intended to apply to sunset reviews taking place after its issuance. 170

7.109. In the present dispute, Viet Nam refers to the Antidumping Manual as evidence that the unwritten practice or policy in question amounts to a measure of general and prospective application that can be challenged "as such". 171 Hence, the issue facing us is not whether the Antidumping Manual itself can be challenged "as such" as a rule or norm of general and prospective application, but whether it constitutes relevant evidence to establish the existence of a rule of norm of general and prospective application. In our view, the reasoning of the Appellate Body in US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review and in US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews is relevant in this regard. We believe that if a non-mandatory instrument can be found to be a measure of general and prospective application it can a fortiori constitute probative evidence of the existence of an unwritten measure of general and prospective application. Hence, we consider that the Antidumping Manual constitutes relevant and probative evidence of the existence of a norm of general and prospective application.

7.110. We turn now to the second piece of evidence submitted by Viet Nam, namely Policy Bulletin 05.1. 172 We observe that, in the "Statement of Issue", the Policy Bulletin explains that it "describes the Department's application process for separate rates status in non-market economy

¹⁶⁷ United States' first written submission, para. 143, citing USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 1, Exhibit US-27, p. 1. We note in this respect that the relevant paragraph reads as follows: "This manual is for the internal training and guidance of Import Administration (IA) personnel only, and the practise set out therein are subject to change without notice. This manual cannot be cited to establish DOC practice".

¹⁶⁸ United States' opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 24-25.

Appellate Body Report, US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 88.
 Appellate Body Report, US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews, para. 187.

¹⁷¹ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 7(b), para. 19.

¹⁷² Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66.

("NME") investigations".¹⁷³ It further states that "[i]n an NME antidumping investigation, the Department presumes that all companies within the NME country are subject to government control and should be assigned a single antidumping duty rate unless an exporter demonstrates the absence of both *de jure* and *de facto* governmental control over its export activities".¹⁷⁴ According to Policy Bulletin 05.1, the USDOC "assigns separate rate status in NME cases only if an exporter can demonstrate the absence of both *de jure* and *de facto* government control over its export activities".¹⁷⁵ In our view, Policy Bulletin 05.1 is further evidence confirming the first element of the alleged measure. It clearly indicates that, in investigations involving NME countries, the USDOC will presume that all companies within the NME country are subject to government control and will receive a single anti-dumping duty rate and that exporters wishing to receive a separate rate must demonstrate the absence of *de jure* and *de facto* government control over their export activities.

7.111. Moreover, in the "Statement of Policy", Policy Bulletin 05.1 "clarifies" the Department's practice with respect to the application for separate rates and indicates, *inter alia*, that "the separate rate application does not change the long-established standard for eligibility for receiving a separate rate ... which remains whether a firm can demonstrate an absence of both *de jure* and *de facto* governmental control over its export activities". The "Statement of Policy" section concludes by stating that "[the separate rate] practice will be effective for all NME antidumping investigations initiated on or after the date of publication in the Federal Register of the notice announcing this policy". The "Statement of Policy" section in the Federal Register of the notice announcing this policy".

7.112. The language used in Policy Bulletin 05.1 conveys that the "practice" or "policy" (both terms are used) whereby the USDOC presumes that all NME exporters belong to a single, NMEwide entity and apply a single rate to that entity is applied in all anti-dumping investigations involving NMEs. There is no mention of instances in which the USDOC would not use that presumption and would not apply the single rate. Policy Bulletin 05.1 plainly states that it will apply to "all" NME anti-dumping investigations initiated "on or after the date of publication" in the Federal Register, thus evidencing that it has "general" and "prospective" application. With respect to the nature of the instrument, we also note that this Policy Bulletin is similar to the SPB which was at issue in US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review and in US - Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews. In those two disputes, the Appellate Body concluded that the SPB could be challenged "as such" in WTO dispute settlement. 178 In the present dispute, Viet Nam does not challenge Policy Bulletin 05.1 itself "as such", but rather relies on it as evidence that the NME-wide entity rate practice amounts to a measure of general and prospective application that can be challenged "as such". Again, we consider that if the SPB could be found to constitute a measure of general and prospective application, Policy Bulletin 05.1 can a fortiori be considered to provide relevant and probative evidence of the existence of an unwritten measure of general and prospective application.

7.113. The United States submits that Policy Bulletin 05.1 applies only to original investigations, and moreover, only applies to investigations initiated after 5 April 2005. Consequently, the United States argues, the USDOC was not required to follow the approaches set forth in the Policy Bulletin in the covered reviews or generally during administrative reviews of products from NME countries. 179

7.114. The notice of initiation of the anti-dumping investigation for the *Shrimp* order is dated 27 January 2004, i.e. before the entry into force of Policy Bulletin 05.1, and thus we agree with the United States that the Policy Bulletin did not apply to the original investigation underlying the Shrimp order. However, this does not undermine the relevance and probative value of Policy Bulletin 05.1 with respect to the general and prospective nature of the first element, i.e. the application by the USDOC in anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries of a rebuttable presumption that, in such countries, all companies belong to a single, NME-wide, entity, and the

¹⁷³ Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, p. 1.

¹⁷⁴ Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, p. 1.

Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, p. 2. Policy Bulletin 05.1 also describes the test used to determine *de facto* and *de jure* absence of government control over export activities.

¹⁷⁶ Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, pp. 3-4.

Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, p. 6.

¹⁷⁸ See above, para. 7.108.

¹⁷⁹ United States' second written submission, para. 67 (referring to Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, pp. 6-7).

assignment of a single rate to that entity. Moreover, when it states that it "does not change the long-established standard for eligibility for receiving a separate rate", Policy Bulletin 05.1 supports the conclusion that essentially the same practice existed before its entry into force. 180

7.115. In our view, therefore, both the Antidumping Manual and Policy Bulletin 05.1 provide relevant and probative evidence of the content of the first element of the alleged unwritten measure, i.e. that, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country belong to a single, NME-wide entity and assigns a single rate to that entity. Furthermore, these two instruments also provide relevant and probative evidence of the general and prospective character of the alleged measure. Notwithstanding their non-binding nature, these two instruments create expectations among the public and among private actors that the USDOC will follow this practice and/or apply this policy.

7.116. In addition, evidence of the general and prospective nature of this element of the alleged unwritten measure can be found in a number of statements made by the USDOC in the Notices issued under the Shrimp order. For example, in the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the original investigation, the USDOC explains that:

The Department has a long-standing policy in antidumping proceedings of presuming that all firms within an NME country are subject to government control and thus should all be assigned a single, country-wide rate unless a Respondent can demonstrate an absence of both de jure and de facto control over its export activities. ... In accordance with the separate-rates criteria, the Department assigns separate rates in NME cases only if respondents can demonstrate the absence of both de jure and de facto government control over export activities. 181

In the same Issues and Decision Memorandum, the USDOC explains that the US Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit had "agreed that it was within Commerce's authority to employ a presumption of state control for exporters in a nonmarket economy, and to place the burden on the exporters to demonstrate an absence of government control". The USDOC further observes that "[t]he Department's longstanding practice of assigning a country-wide rate to NME companies that do not qualify for a separate rate is reasonable and has been repeatedly affirmed by the courts". 183

7.117. In the final determination in the fourth administrative review, the USDOC explains:

Because we begin with the presumption that all companies within a NME country are subject to government control, and because only the companies listed under the "Final Results of Review" section below have overcome that presumption, we are applying a single antidumping rate, i.e., the Vietnam-wide entity rate, to all other exporters of subject merchandise. 184

7.118. In the notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review, the USDOC explains:

In proceedings involving non-market economy ("NME") countries, the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country are subject to government control and thus, should be assigned a single antidumping duty deposit rate. It is the Department's policy to assign all exporters of merchandise

181 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the original investigation,

Exhibit VN-04, p. 30.

182 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the original investigation, Exhibit VN-04, pp. 30-31.

183 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the original investigation,

Exhibit VN-04, p. 31.

184 Final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, p. 47773. We further note the usual states in the same review the USDOC stated that: "[i]t is the Department's standard policy to assign all exporters ... in NME countries a single rate unless an exporter can affirmatively demonstrate an absence of government control". (Preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12210.)

¹⁸⁰ We also recall that Viet Nam's claim pertains to a practice or policy applicable in both original investigations and administrative reviews. Moreover, there appears to be no material difference in the content of the norm as it is applied in either type of proceeding.

subject to an administrative review in an NME country this single rate unless an exporter can demonstrate that it is sufficiently independent so as to be entitled to a separate rate. 185

7.119. In the preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review, the USDOC explains again:

In NME countries, the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country are subject to government control and thus should be assessed a single antidumping duty rate. However, a company in the NME applying for separate rate status may rebut that presumption by demonstrating an absence of both *de jure* and *de facto* government control over its export activities. ^{186, 187}

- 7.120. Viet Nam also contends that similar language can be found in every anti-dumping determination involving an NME country 188, but does not provide any evidence in other proceedings. We recall, however, that no example has been brought to our attention of an anti-dumping proceeding involving an NME in which the USDOC did not start with a rebuttable presumption that all companies belong to a single, government-wide entity. 189
- 7.121. In our view, the significance of the above statements by the USDOC goes beyond the proceedings under the *Shrimp* order. These statements provide further confirmation that the application by the USDOC in anti-dumping proceedings on imports from NMEs of a rebuttable presumption that all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and the assignment of a single rate to that entity amounts to a rule or norm of general and prospective application.
- 7.122. In light of the foregoing, we conclude that Viet Nam has established that, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC starts with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within that NME country belong to a single, NME-wide entity and that a single rate is assigned to that entity, and, thus, to companies deemed to belong to that entity.
- 7.123. The second element of Viet Nam's challenge to the NME-wide entity rate practice relates to the determination of the rate assigned to the NME-wide entity. Viet Nam submits that the USDOC applies a punitive rate based on adverse facts available to the producers/exporters deemed to be part of the NME-wide entity. 190
- 7.124. The United States replies that the only evidence cited by Viet Nam to support its allegation that the USDOC has a practice of determining the NME-wide rate based on facts available is two sentences from the Antidumping Manual, neither of which requires the USDOC to base the NME-wide rate on facts available. The United States observes that Viet Nam itself concedes that the USDOC "retains broad discretion on the method for calculating the NME-wide entity rate". Thus, according to the United States, even Viet Nam does not argue that this alleged practice exists and is invariably applied by the USDOC. 191

¹⁸⁵ Notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-10, p. 18154.

¹⁸⁶ Preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-19, pp. 13550-13551. (footnotes omitted)

¹⁸⁷ Viet Nam has also provided relevant evidence for the first administrative review (final determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in the first administrative review, Exhibit VN-62), second administrative review (final determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in the second administrative review, Exhibit VN-63) and third administrative review (final determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in the third administrative review, Exhibit VN-64). Evidence submitted by the United States shows that the NME-wide rate was also applied in the seventh administrative review (final determination in the seventh administrative review, Exhibit US-30).

¹⁸⁸ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 7(b), para. 24 (emphasis original). Nevertheless, we can glean from various documents related to the *Shrimp* order that exporters from China are subject to the same practice. For example, the notice of initiation in the fifth administrative review requires that all firms from China and Viet Nam – the two NMEs subject to the *Shrimp* order – demonstrate the absence of both *de jure* and *de facto* government control. (Notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-10, pp. 18155-18156).

¹⁸⁹ See para. 7.105. of this Report.

 $^{^{190}}$ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 104 (referring to USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, pp. 7-8.

¹⁹¹ United States' first written submission, para. 144; second written submission, para. 68.

7.125. Viet Nam presents only limited evidence as to how the NME-wide entity rate is calculated, and the evidence that it relies upon is inconclusive. In particular, Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual, referred to by Viet Nam, explains that the NME-wide rate:

may be based on adverse facts available if, for example, some exporters that are part of the NME-wide entity do not respond to the anti-dumping questionnaire. In many cases the Department concludes that some part of the NME-wide entity has not cooperated in the proceedings because those that have responded do not account for all imports of subject merchandise. ¹⁹²

- 7.126. In addition, Viet Nam does not refer to other NME investigations where NME-wide rates were determined using facts available, which could serve to establish the existence of a policy or practice in this respect. Moreover, as noted by the United States, Viet Nam itself casts some doubt on the consistency of USDOC's practice in determining a rate for an NME-wide entity when it asserts that "[t]he USDOC retains broad discretion on the method for calculating the NME-wide entity rate, but in most investigations and administrative reviews makes a finding that the generalized 'NME-wide entity' did not cooperate with the proceeding, justifying the use of facts available". 193
- 7.127. In response to a question from the Panel, the United States refers to cases where the NME-wide entity rate was based on the weighted-average margin calculated for the mandatory respondents and, thus, the NME-wide rate was not based on facts available. Yiet Nam argues that, in those examples, the individually investigated exporters represented the entire universe of imports of subject merchandise into the United States and, thus, the rate assigned to the NME-wide entity was irrelevant because it had no practical use. 195
- 7.128. In the first example cited by the United States, the USDOC applied a NME-wide rate corresponding to the "simple average" of (i) the weighted-average of the calculated rates for mandatory respondents, and (ii) "a simple average of petition rates based on US prices and normal values within the range of the U.S. prices and normal values calculated for [the two mandatory respondents]". It would thus appear that, contrary to the United States' representations, the NME-wide applied in that proceeding was largely based on facts available. As noted by Viet Nam, in the other proceedings cited by the United States, there were no other exporters of the subject merchandise than the mandatory respondent(s), and in each of these proceedings, the USDOC applied a NME-wide rate based on the mandatory respondents' rate, apparently on the basis that the mandatory respondents accounted for the totality of exports of subject merchandise to the United States. Moreover, in three cases, the USDOC specified that the NME-wide rate "applies to all entries of the subject merchandise" except for entries from the mandatory respondents. On the NME-wide rate was actually not

¹⁹² USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, pp. 7-8 (emphasis added). We note that Policy Bulletin 05.1 is silent as to the manner in which the USDOC determines the NME-wide entity rate in original investigations.

¹⁹³ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 104.

¹⁹⁴ United States' response to Panel question No. 15(a), para. 47 (referring to Steel Wire Garment Hangers from the People's Republic of China: Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 73 Fed. Reg. 47,587 (14 Aug. 2008), Exhibit US-64; Steel Wire Garment Hangers from the People's Republic of China: Amended Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 73 Fed. Reg. 53,188 (15 Sept. 2008), Exhibit US-65; Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Carbon and Certain Alloy Steel Wire Rod from Ukraine, 67 Fed. Reg. 55,785 (30 Aug. 2002), Exhibit US-66; Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Urea Ammonium Nitrate Solutions from Belarus, 68 Fed. Reg. 9,055 (27 Feb. 2003), Exhibit US-67; Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Structural Steel Beams from the Russian Federation, 67 Fed. Reg. 35,490 (20 May 2002), Exhibit US-68, p. 35490; and Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Certain Small Diameter Carbon and Alloy Seamless Standard, Line and Pressure Pipe from Romania, 65 Fed. Reg. 39,125 (23 June 2000), Exhibit US-69).

¹⁹⁵ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 26.

196 Information contained in the petition by definition constitutes facts available; moreover, the mandatory respondents' rates were partly based on facts available. (*Steel Wire Garment Hangers from the People's Republic of China: Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 73 Fed. Reg. 47,587* (14 Aug. 2008), Exhibit US-64; *Steel Wire Garment Hangers from the People's Republic of China: Amended Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 73 Fed. Reg. 53,188* (15 Sept. 2008), Exhibit US-65).

¹⁹⁷ Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Urea Ammonium Nitrate Solutions from Belarus, 68 Fed. Reg. 9,055 (27 Feb. 2003), Exhibit US-67; Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Structural Steel Beams from the Russian Federation, 67 Fed. Reg. 35,490 (20 May 2002), Exhibit US-68; Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Certain Small Diameter Carbon

applied with respect to any producer/exporter in these proceedings, we are not convinced that, for this reason, the NME-wide entity rate applied in these proceedings had "no practical use". In any event, the very nature of a rule or norm of general and prospective application is that it applies independently of the specific factual circumstances of a particular case. Hence, the fact that the USDOC may use a different method for determining a rate for the NME-wide entity depending on the circumstances suggests to us that the USDOC does not have a consistent practice of determining NME-wide rates using facts available.

- 7.129. We recall that a panel "must not lightly assume the existence of a rule or norm constituting a measure of general and prospective application, especially when it is not expressed in a written document". The Appellate Body also indicated that the party bringing a challenge against a rule or norm that allegedly constitutes a measure of general and prospective application must meet a "high threshold". The Appellate Body also indicated that the party bringing a challenge against a rule or norm that allegedly constitutes a measure of general and prospective application must meet a "high threshold".
- 7.130. Overall, taking into account the evidence cited by the United States, and Viet Nam's admission that the USDOC retains broad discretion concerning the method used to determine the NME-wide rate, we conclude that, while the evidence on the record does suggest that the USDOC often determines the rate for the NME-wide entity based on facts available, it does not establish that the USDOC consistently uses a certain defined methodology to determine the NME-wide entity rate or systematically bases that rate on facts available. We therefore conclude that, in relation to the second element of the alleged measure, Viet Nam has failed to establish the existence of any practice amounting to a rule or norm of general and prospective application.
- 7.131. In sum, we conclude that Viet Nam has established that the USDOC's policy or practice whereby, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NMEs, it presumes that all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and assigns a single rate to that entity amounts to a measure of general and prospective application which can be challenged "as such". However, we find that Viet Nam did not establish the existence of a USDOC practice with respect to the manner in which it determines the NME-wide entity rate, in particular concerning the use of facts available, amounting to a measure of general and prospective application, and which can therefore be challenged "as such".

7.4.2.3 Whether the NME-wide entity rate practice is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

7.4.2.3.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.4.2.3.1.1 Viet Nam

7.132. Viet Nam argues that the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, read in context, precludes application of a single anti-dumping margin to multiple entities where those companies have not been found by the authority to constitute a single entity. Viet Nam argues that the first sentence of Article 6.10 requires the authority to determine an individual dumping margin for each known exporter or producer. According to Viet Nam, the use of "sampling", provided for in the second sentence of Article 6.10, is the only exception to the rule contained in the first sentence. Viet Nam further argues that the requirement contained in the first sentence of Article 6.10 is further reinforced by Article 9.2, the first sentence of which requires that the anti-dumping duty "shall be collected in the appropriate amounts". Viet Nam asks that the Panel take special note of the Appellate Body's ruling in EC - Fasteners (China) because it addressed a nearly identical legal and factual scenario to the measure at issue in the present dispute. Viet Nam argues that, in that dispute, the Appellate Body found that, under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, an investigating authority is not permitted to presume that in NME countries the state and exporters constitute a single entity, but is required to make an affirmative determination to that effect. 200

7.133. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC's presumption of the existence of an NME-wide entity and application of an NME-wide entity rate does not comply with the requirement in Articles 6.10

and Alloy Seamless Standard, Line and Pressure Pipe from Romania, 65 Fed. Reg. 39,125 (23 June 2000), Exhibit US-69.

¹⁹⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 196.

¹⁹⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 198.

²⁰⁰ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 121-142 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*); second written submission, paras. 29-31.

and 9.2 that authorities determine individual dumping margins and duties. According to Viet Nam, the NME-wide entity is not an individual exporter or producer, but a collection of exporters that the USDOC collapses into a single entity, without performing the required analysis to that effect. Instead, the USDOC presumes that all entities within the NME country are, in fact, a single entity under the control of the government, but does not establish, as a matter of fact, the existence of the single entity. Viet Nam is also of the view that the USDOC's practice does not fit within the single, limited exception provided for in Articles 6.10 and 9.2. Viet Nam requests, therefore, that the Panel find that the USDOC's practice is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.²⁰¹

7.134. Viet Nam submits that the United States' reliance on Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession to the WTO and Working Party Report as a legal justification is unavailing. Viet Nam's Accession Protocol contains a single exception to the application of the disciplines of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, namely the use of an alternative methodology for the calculation of normal value. According to Viet Nam, the Working Party Report describes the prevailing economic conditions in Viet Nam at the time of the Report, but nowhere in the Report or the Accession Protocol does Viet Nam agree to generalised concessions based on those economic conditions. Thus, except for the determination of normal value, there is no language in Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession to the WTO which provides an investigating authority with the legal basis to treat Viet Nam, as an NME, differently from a market economy country. Viet Nam contends that the Appellate Body's reasoning in EC - Fasteners (China) with respect to China's Accession Protocol applies to the present dispute.

7.135. According to Viet Nam, the United States attempts to turn the question of the legal justification for the USDOC's presumption into a question of facts; however, as observed by the Appellate Body, an authority cannot use a presumption to apply a single rate to multiple entities, regardless of the "evidence" cited by that authority. In Viet Nam's view, there is a significant difference between, on the one hand, an investigating authority making a determination on a case-by-case basis that several exporters belong to a single entity (as discussed in the panel report *Korea – Certain Paper*) and, on the other hand, the investigating authority beginning with the presumption that all exporters in the NME country are under the control of the government and should be assigned a single rate. In the latter case, the presumption is not based on any analysis of the exporters actually under investigation, but on general information about the economy as a whole, and is, therefore, inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Viet Nam submits that the Panel does not need to discuss the criteria used by the USDOC to determine whether entities are sufficiently independent from the government because the starting point of the test, i.e. the presumption that all companies belong to a single NME-wide entity, is wrong.²⁰³

7.4.2.3.1.2 United States

7.136. The United States²⁰⁴ submits that Viet Nam has no basis for asserting that related entities, simply because they may be organized as a formal matter as separate companies, must be treated as individual exporters for the purpose of Article 6.10. To the contrary, context in the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in particular footnote 11 to Article 4.1(i) and Article 9.5, indicates that whether producers are related to each other affects the investigating authority's analysis of those firms. According to the United States, Article 6.10 uses similar language and, where exporters or producers are sufficiently related, they are not economically independent and would not have individual margins. For the United States, depending on the facts of a given situation, an investigating authority may determine that legally distinct companies should be treated as a single "exporter" or "producer" based on their activities and relationships. The United States concludes

²⁰¹ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 143-147.

 $^{^{202}}$ Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 35-37 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 290).

²⁰³ Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 38-41; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 7-11.

²⁰⁴ The United States made arguments regarding the consistency of the measure at issue with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement primarily in respect of Viet Nam's "as applied" claims (United States' first written submission, paras. 146-155; second written submission, paras. 85-88). Because we understand the United States to have made the arguments with respect to both Viet Nam's "as applied" and "as such" claims, we nevertheless refer as appropriate to those arguments in assessing Viet Nam's claims that the measure at issue is inconsistent "as such" with the provisions cited by Viet Nam.

on this basis that Article 6.10 does not preclude the USDOC from treating multiple companies as a single entity, including, where appropriate, a Viet Nam-government entity. The United States also argues that nothing in Article 9.2 prevents an authority from concluding that the relationship between multiple companies is sufficiently close to support treating them as a single entity and subject them to a single duty rate. According to the United States, an investigating authority must determine whether a group of companies are in a close enough relationship to support their treatment as a single entity before it can know how to calculate and apply duties to those companies' exports and Article 9.2 does not set out criteria for an investigating authority to examine before making that determination. The United States concludes that Article 9.2 does not preclude the USDOC from treating multiple companies as a single entity, including, where appropriate, a Viet Nam-government entity. According to the United States, the question raised by Viet Nam's claim does not involve a pure question of legal interpretation, but is a mixed question of fact and law, and Viet Nam cannot point to any provision of the Anti-Dumping Agreement that specifies exactly how an authority is to decide whether different sets of exports are considered to be from one exporter or multiple exporters.

7.137. According to the United States, Viet Nam's Working Party Report and Accession Protocol indicate that all Members were not convinced that market-economy conditions might prevail in Viet Nam. Viet Nam's Accession Protocol does not impose on Members any non-market economy characterization of Viet Nam, but allows Members to decide unilaterally on their understanding of Viet Nam's economy and the appropriate treatment for Vietnamese respondents on a case-by-case basis. The United States is of the view that the Accession Protocol provides important context in terms of deciding which entities in Viet Nam should be considered as a single entity for purposes of Article 6.10. The United States notes that paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report expressly provides importing Members the discretion to use an NME methodology when it is not clearly shown that market economy conditions prevail in Viet Nam. According to the United States, the understanding in Viet Nam's Accession Protocol that Viet Nam is not yet a market economy is in effect an understanding that prices for inputs and outputs are affected by the government which, in turn, is in effect an understanding that there remains government control over all firms. On the basis of this understanding, a single "government-controlled" rate is warranted, unless and until it is clearly demonstrated that market economy conditions prevail for the purpose of calculating dumping margins and assigning anti-dumping duty rates. For the United States, the 2002 USDOC determination that the Government of Viet Nam is legally or operationally in a position to control or materially influence the behaviour of firms is not in dispute; it is then logical for the USDOC to consider that the Government of Viet Nam simultaneously exerts control or material influence over these entities with respect to the pricing and output of identical or similar products destined for export. The United States submits that the presumption underlying the Working Party Report, as incorporated in the Accession Protocol, that NME conditions prevail in Viet Nam is an integral part of the WTO agreements and justifies placing the burden of proof on Vietnamese respondents to demonstrate the appropriateness of a separate rate. For the United States, by not challenging the use by the USDOC of an NME methodology to calculate normal value, Viet Nam does not challenge the underlying presumption in paragraph 255 of its Accession Protocol that market economy conditions do not clearly prevail, which, in turn, has implications extending beyond the calculation of normal value.²⁰⁸

7.138. According to the United States, Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement must be read in a manner consistent with paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report. The United States argues that the Appellate Body's conclusions in EC - Fasteners (China) that, underlying Article 6.10 is a presumption that every entity must first be recognized as an individual exporter or producer, lacks any support in the text of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and does not result in a reading of that provision that is consistent with paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report, especially where NME conditions prevail. According to the United States, where NME conditions do prevail, it is far more reasonable, as a starting point for an anti-dumping analysis, to

²⁰⁵ United States' first written submission, paras. 147-151.

²⁰⁶ United States' first written submission, paras. 152-155.

²⁰⁷ United States' second written submission, para. 69.

²⁰⁸ United States' first written submission, paras. 156-169; second written submission, paras. 71-84; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 14-30.

think of entities as operating subject to government control until otherwise demonstrated, than to think of them as operating independently from government control.²⁰⁹

7.139. The United States further argues that, even if this Panel were to follow the Appellate Body's reasoning in EC - Fasteners (China), the USDOC's determination regarding the Viet Nam-wide entity is consistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2. First, an important difference with EC - Fasteners (China) is that neither Viet Nam nor any Vietnamese exporter requested, at any time during the proceedings, that the USDOC reconsider Viet Nam's non-market economy status. Hence, unlike in EC - Fasteners (China), there is no question for the Panel to resolve as to whether Viet Nam is a non-market economy. The United States further argues that the USDOC's determination that a Viet Nam-government entity existed and that certain exporters, while legally separate, were in fact part of that entity, rested on adequate factual findings in the course of the relevant reviews. In EC - Fasteners (China), the Appellate Body did not preclude an investigating authority from collecting and offering evidence to justify a presumption that a single government entity exists. The United States submits that, in the challenged proceedings, the USDOC afforded companies the opportunity to submit information about their relationship with the Viet Namgovernment entity to demonstrate independence from the Government and the evidence sought by the USDOC is fully consistent with those factors that the Appellate Body in EC - Fasteners suggested should be probed to determine whether two or more exporters should be treated as a single entity. Finally, the United States argues that the USDOC's conclusion that multiple companies in Viet Nam are part of the Viet Nam-government entity is based on a permissible interpretation of Articles 6.10 and 9.2.210

7.4.2.3.2 Main arguments of the third parties

7.140. China submits that the USDOC's separate rate test is materially identical to the European Union individual treatment test at issue in EC – Fasteners (China), and requests that the Panel interpret Articles 6.10 and 9.2 in light of the Appellate Body's findings in that dispute. China observes that the question at stake is not whether authorities are allowed to treat two or more sufficiently related exporters as a single entity in certain situations, but whether authorities are allowed to presume that all the exporters in an NME country constitute a single entity.²¹¹

7.141. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by the clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in EC - Fasteners (China). In particular, the Panel will have to consider whether or not the test applied by the United States is capable of establishing whether the exporting State and one or more exporters should be deemed to be a single entity. In this respect, the European Union agrees with the United States that Members are entitled to make single entity determinations based on the type of criteria referred to by the United States.²¹²

7.142. Thailand agrees with the Appellate Body's ruling that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 do not preclude treating several companies as a single entity provided that it is not presumed, but based on available evidence.²¹³

7.4.2.3.3 Evaluation by the Panel

7.143. We recall our finding above that Viet Nam has successfully established that the USDOC's policy or practice whereby, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NMEs, it presumes that all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and assigns a single rate to that entity is a measure of general and prospective application which may be challenged "as such". We will now examine whether, as alleged by Viet Nam, this measure is inconsistent "as such" with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.144. We turn first to the text of the relevant legal provisions at issue. Article 6.10 provides that:

²⁰⁹ United States' first written submission, paras. 172-175; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 33-37; second written submission, paras. 86-87.

United States' first written submission, paras. 176-183;
 China's third-party submission, paras. 13-20; third-party statement, paras. 12-16.

²¹² European Union's third-party submission, para. 22.

 $^{^{\}rm 213}$ Thailand's response to Panel question No. 7.

The authorities shall, as a rule, determine an individual margin of dumping for each known exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation. In cases where the number of exporters, producers, importers or types of products involved is so large as to make such a determination impracticable, the authorities may limit their examination either to a reasonable number of interested parties or products by using samples which are statistically valid on the basis of information available to the authorities at the time of the selection, or to the largest percentage of the volume of the exports from the country in question which can reasonably be investigated.

7.145. In EC - Fasteners (China), the Appellate Body found that the use of the term "shall" in the first sentence of Article 6.10 indicates that this provision contains a mandatory rule to determine individual dumping margins for each known exporter or producer. In the Appellate Body's view, the term "as a rule" indicates that the obligation to determine individual dumping margins may be subject to derogations, such as the sampling exception in the second sentence of Article 6.10. The Appellate Body did not consider, however, that the "flexibility provided by the term 'as a rule' goes as far as providing Members with an open-ended possibility to create exceptions, which would erode the obligatory character of Article 6.10". ²¹⁴ The Appellate Body concluded that:

The general rule, that is, the obligation to determine individual margins of dumping for each known exporter or producer, applies, unless derogation from it is provided for in the covered agreements. 215

7.146. The Appellate Body "[did] not find any provision in the covered agreements that would allow importing Members to depart from the obligation to determine individual dumping margins only in respect of NMEs". 216 The Appellate Body concluded that Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement must be interpreted:

as expressing an obligation, rather than a preference, for authorities to determine individual margins of dumping. This obligation is qualified and is subject not only to the exception specified for sampling in the second sentence of Article 6.10, but also to other exceptions to the rule to determine individual dumping margins that are provided for in the covered agreements.²¹⁷

7.147. Turning to Article 9.2, we note that it provides as follows:

When an anti-dumping duty is imposed in respect of any product, such anti-dumping duty shall be collected in the appropriate amounts in each case, on a non-discriminatory basis on imports of such product from all sources found to be dumped and causing injury, except as to imports from those sources from which price undertakings under the terms of this Agreement have been accepted. The authorities shall name the supplier or suppliers of the product concerned. If, however, several suppliers from the same country are involved, and it is impracticable to name all these suppliers, the authorities may name the supplying country concerned. If several suppliers from more than one country are involved, the authorities may name either all the suppliers involved, or, if this is impracticable, all the supplying countries involved.

7.148. In EC – Fasteners (China), the Appellate Body observed that the first two sentences of Article 9.2 are of a mandatory nature. ²¹⁸ It also considered that the term "sources", which appears twice in the first sentence of Article 9.2, "has the same meaning and refers to the individual exporters or producers and not to the country as a whole". ²¹⁹ The Appellate Body noted the complementarity between Articles 6.10 and 9.2 and recalled that Article 6.10 contains an obligation to determine individual dumping margins for each exporter or producer, except when sampling is used or if a derogation is otherwise provided for in the covered agreements. Hence:

²¹⁴ Appellate Body Report, EC – Fasteners (China), para. 320.

²¹⁵ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 320.

Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 328.

217 Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 329.

218 Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 336.

²¹⁹ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 338.

where an individual margin of dumping has been determined [in accordance with Article 6.10], it flows from the obligation contained in the first sentence of Article 9.2 that the *appropriate* amount of anti-dumping duty that can be imposed also has to be an individual one. We do not see how an importing Member could comply with the obligation in the first sentence of Article 9.2 to collect duties in the *appropriate* amounts in each case if, having determined individual dumping margins, it lists suppliers by name, but imposes country-wide duties. In other words, unless sampling is used, the *appropriate* amount of an anti-dumping duty in each case is one that is specified by supplier, as further clarified and confirmed by the obligation to name suppliers in the second sentence of Article 9.2. 220

The Appellate Body considered that the obligation to "name" the supplier(s) of the product concerned, in the second sentence, when read in the light of the first sentence and in the overall context of Article 9 as a whole, "is closely related to the imposition of individual anti-dumping duties" and, thus, "should be interpreted as a requirement to specify duties for each supplier". The Appellate Body concluded that Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement "requires investigating authorities to specify an individual duty for each supplier, except where this is impracticable, when several suppliers are involved". The Appellate Body also observed that the third sentence of Article 9.2 provides for an exception to the obligations contained in the first and second sentences, which allows Members "to specify duties for the supplying country concerned, where specification of individual duties is 'impracticable'". 223

7.149. In our view, the reasoning of the Appellate Body highlighted above is highly persuasive as to the correct interpretation of these provisions and thus provides a proper legal standard for our examination of Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. We therefore adopt it as the basis for our analysis in this dispute.

7.150. The issue we need to resolve is whether, under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, the United States is entitled to presume that all exporters within an NME belong to a single, NME-wide entity under the control of the government, and assign a single rate to that entity.

7.151. We recall that, pursuant to Article 6.10, investigating authorities have an obligation to determine individual margins of dumping for each known exporter or producer. This obligation flows from the first sentence of Article 6.10 which provides that the authorities "shall" determine an individual dumping margin for each known exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation. The term "as a rule" in this same sentence indicates that this obligation may be subject to certain exceptions. It is subject, in particular, to the exception contained in the second sentence of Article 6.10 which applies in situations where the investigating authority decides to limit its examination to a reasonable number of interested parties or products (so-called "sampling"). Moreover, as stated by the Appellate Body, the obligation contained in the first sentence of Article 6.10 may be subject to other exceptions, as long as these exceptions are provided for in the covered agreements.²²⁴

7.152. We have found above that in proceedings involving NME-countries, the USDOC starts "with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the NME country are essentially operating units of a single, government-wide entity and should receive a single anti-dumping rate". Exporters must pass a "separate rate test" in order to receive a rate that is "separate from the NME-wide rate", which can be either an individual rate (for exporters who were individually examined) or, in cases in which the USDOC resorted to "sampling", the separate rate (for exporters not individually examined). Only exporters that have passed the separate rate test by demonstrating the absence of government control, both *de facto* and *de jure*, over their export activities will receive an individual rate or a rate that is generally based on the weighted-average of the rates individually calculated for the mandatory respondents, excluding zero and *de minimis* rates, as well as rates

²²⁰ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 339. (emphasis original)

²²¹ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, paras. 340-341.

²²² Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 354.

²²³ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 342. ²²⁴ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 329.

²²⁵ USDOC, Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 7.

based on facts available (i.e. a separate rate). ²²⁶ The USDOC calculates a single NME-wide antidumping margin and imposes a single NME-wide duty rate for all those exporters which are deemed to belong to the NME-wide entity because they failed – or did not attempt – to pass the separate rate test. In other words, the USDOC's practice at issue establishes a presumption that individual exporters in NME countries are <u>not</u> entitled to an individual rate, unless they successfully demonstrate independence from the government with respect to their export activities. Such a practice runs directly counter to the obligation contained in Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement whereby an investigating authority "shall, as a rule, determine an individual margin of dumping for each known exporter or producer concerned".

7.153. The United States argues that, depending on the facts of a given situation, an investigating authority may determine that legally distinct companies should be treated as a single exporter or producer based on their activities and relationships. 227 We agree that, under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, an investigating authority may treat separate entities as a single exporter or producer for the purpose of calculating dumping margins. We recall that the panel in *Korea – Certain Paper* found that, pursuant to Article 6.10, separate legal entities that were in a sufficiently close structural and commercial relationship could justifiably be treated as a single exporter or producer. That panel considered, however, that an investigating authority could not treat distinct legal entities as a single exporter or producer without justification, but had to "determine", on the basis of the record of the particular investigation, that entities are in such a close relationship. 229

7.154. In the EC – Fasteners (China) dispute, the Appellate Body also accepted that "in principle there may be situations where nominally distinct exporters may be considered as a single entity for the purpose of determining individual dumping margins and anti-dumping duties under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, due to [the] State's control or material influence in and coordination of these exporters' pricing and output". The Appellate Body explained that:

In our view, Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* do not preclude an investigating authority from determining a single dumping margin and a single antidumping duty for a number of exporters if it establishes that they constitute a single exporter for purposes of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement*. Whether determining a single dumping margin and a single anti-dumping duty for a number of exporters is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 will depend on the existence of a number of situations, which would signal that, albeit legally distinct, two or more exporters are in such a relationship that they should be treated as a single entity. These situations may include: (i) the existence of corporate and structural links between the exporters, such as common control, shareholding and management; (ii) the existence of corporate and structural links between the State and the exporters, such as common control, shareholding and management; and (iii) control or material influence by the State in respect of pricing and output.²³¹

²²⁶ The Antidumping Manual contrasts the situation of, respectively, market and non-market economy countries as follows: "Individual dumping margins are automatically assigned to exporters in market-economy country cases. In NME cases, exporters must pass a separate rate test to receive a rate that is separate from the NME-wide rate". (USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 3).

²²⁷ United States' first written submission, para. 150.

²²⁸ In *Korea – Certain Paper*, the panel found that Article 6.10 could be interpreted as allowing the treatment of separate legal entities as a single supplier "in circumstances where the structural and commercial relationship between the companies in question is sufficiently close to be considered as a single exporter or producer". (Panel Report, *Korea – Certain Paper*, paras. 7.162 and 168).

²²⁹ Panel Report, *Korea – Certain Paper*, para. 7.161: While Article 6.10 does not by its terms require that each separate legal entity be treated as a single "exporter" or "producer", neither does it allow a Member to treat distinct legal entities as a single exporter or producer without justification. Whether or not the circumstances of a given investigation justify such treatment must be determined on the basis of the record of that investigation. In our view, in order to properly treat multiple companies as a single exporter or producer in the context of its dumping determinations in an investigation, the IA has to determine that these companies are in a relationship close enough to support that treatment.
²³⁰ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 382. The Appellate Body also described three different situations in which such a single entity might be found to exist (ibid., para. 376).

²³¹ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 376.

7.155. The Appellate Body stressed however that, under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement:

it is the investigating authority that is called upon to make an objective affirmative determination, on the basis of the evidence that has been submitted or that it has gathered in the investigation, as to who is the known exporter or producer of the product concerned. It is, therefore, the investigating authority that will determine whether one or more exporters have a relationship with the State such that they can be considered a single entity and receive a single dumping margin and a single anti-dumping duty. ²³²

7.156. The separate rate test used by the USDOC in anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries operates differently, however. The USDOC *presumes* that all exporters and producers are not independent from the State and, therefore, belong to the NME-wide entity. Each exporter or producer must then rebut the presumption of affiliation with the State in order to be eligible for an individual dumping margin and an individual anti-dumping duty. In other words, in proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC does not make an "objective affirmative determination" as to who is the known exporter or producer, but presumes from the start the existence of this exporter or producer in the form of a NME-wide entity. Thus, pursuant to the separate rate test, not only does the USDOC place the burden on exporters to rebut the presumption that they are not independent from the State, but it then does not make a factual determination in that regard.

7.157. We also note that the USDOC makes "single entity determinations" (pursuant to a "single entity test") to determine whether legally distinct companies constitute a single entity for purposes of calculating a dumping margin in both market economy and NME investigations.²³³ Pursuant to the Antidumping Manual, a single entity determination "is specific to the facts presented in each review and is based on several considerations, including the structure of the affiliated entities, the level of control between/among affiliates, and the level of participation by each affiliates in the proceeding"; moreover, the single entity will obtain a single anti-dumping duty rate.²³⁴ The single entity determination is distinct from the separate rate test and in fact, both may be applied in the same anti-dumping proceeding. 235 In our view, the existence of the single entity test, as distinct from the separate rate test, shows that the USDOC's treatment of the NME-wide entity is a matter entirely separate from the question of determining whether different exporters are so closely related that they constitute a single entity. The fundamental difference between the two tests is that, under the single entity test, the USDOC presumes that all exporters are entitled to an individual rate and makes an affirmative finding, based on the facts of the case, that two or more legally distinct companies constitute a single entity, while under the separate rate test, the USDOC begins with the presumption that legally distinct companies (i.e. NME exporters) are part of a NME-wide entity, and, thus, should not be assigned an individual dumping margin and an individual anti-dumping rate.

7.158. We find, therefore, that the USDOC's policy or practice whereby it presumes, in antidumping investigations involving NMEs, that all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and assigns a single rate to that entity is inconsistent with the obligations contained in Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

²³² Appellate Body Report, EC – Fasteners (China), para. 363.

²³³ 19 C.F.R. § 351.401(f), Exhibit US-26, and USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Section V, Exhibit VN-24, p. 8.

²³⁴ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Section V, Exhibit VN-24, p. 10.

²³⁵ For instance, the USDOC made single entity determinations in the fifth and sixth administrative reviews. In the fifth review, the USDOC determined that Nha Trang and certain affiliates should be treated as a single entity. Similarly, in the sixth review, the USDOC treated Minh Phu and Hau Giang as a single entity. See United States' response to Panel question No. 10(b), paras. 20-22. The United States also argues that the two tests differ in focus, in the sense that the single entity determination examines possible relationships among private persons or enterprises, while the separate rate test examines possible relationships between private persons or enterprises and the State. (United States' response to Panel question No. 10(a), para. 17.) We are of the view that, as a matter of principle, nothing would prevent the United States from establishing different tests for determining relationships among private persons or enterprises vs. private persons/enterprises and the State. However, any such test must be consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.159. Our finding in this respect is consistent with the report of the Appellate Body in *EC – Fasteners (China)*, where it concluded that:

placing the burden on NME exporters to rebut a presumption that they are related to the State and to demonstrate that they are entitled to individual treatment <u>runs</u> counter to Article 6.10, which "as a rule" requires that individual dumping margins be determined for each known exporter or producer, and is inconsistent with Article 9.2 that requires that individual duties be specified by supplier. Even accepting in principle that there may be circumstances where exporters and producers from NMEs may be considered as a single entity for purposes of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, <u>such singularity cannot be presumed</u>; it has to be determined by the investigating authorities on the basis of facts and evidence submitted or gathered in the investigation. 236

7.160. The United States contends that the Appellate Body's reasoning in EC – Fasteners (China) is flawed. According to the United States, "[t]he presumption in EC – Fasteners that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 require Members to first recognize each entity as an individual exporter or producer ... was based on an improper interpretation because the Appellate Body created obligations that are not grounded in the text of these articles". The United States argues, inter alia, that context in the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in particular footnote 11 to Article 4.1(i) and Article 9.5, indicates that whether producers are related to each other affects the investigating authority's analysis of those firms. 238

7.161. Article 9.5 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement requires investigating authorities to determine individual dumping margins for exporters who have not exported the product during the period of investigation; those new exporters will receive an individual margin only if they can show that they are not related to any of the exporters that are subject to the anti-dumping duties. We noted, in paragraph 7.146. above that the obligation to determine individual dumping margins may be subject to certain exceptions, as long as these exceptions are provided for in the covered agreements. In our view, Article 9.5 sets out an exception to the general rule in Article 6.10 that individual dumping margins be specified for each known producer/exporter, and is, therefore, one of the possible departures from the general rule contained in Article 6.10.239 Hence, Article 9.5 does not undermine our understanding of Article 6.10. Second, Article 4.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement contains a definition of the term "domestic industry" and footnote 11, referred by the United States, describes the circumstances when "producers shall be deemed to be related to exporters or importers". We note that this provision does not deal with the determination of dumping margins for producers/exporters, but with the definition of the domestic industry; the "producers" referred to are domestic producers. In any event, we agree with the United States that whether producers are related to each other may justify treating them as a single producer/exporter under Articles 6.10 and 9.2; the tenor of our findings, and of the Appellate Body's findings in EC - Fasteners (China) is that such a "singularity" must be determined on the basis of positive evidence in the particular case, and cannot be presumed.

7.162. The United States also argues that this case is different from *EC – Fasteners (China)* because, according to the United States, the criteria underlying the "separate rate test" are different from those underlying the EU IT test at issue in that case. The United States submits that the USDOC's separate rate test "differs significantly from Article 9(5) of the EU's Basic

²³⁶ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 364 (italics original; underlining added). The Basic AD Regulation at issue in *EC – Fasteners (China)* provided that, where the normal value for NME suppliers was determined on the basis of market economy third-country prices (or another method set forth in the Regulation), a single duty rate was specified for the supplying country concerned – the so-called "country-wide" duty – which applied to all suppliers and imports from that country. NME suppliers could, however, avoid the country-wide rate and be granted an individual rate if they satisfied the criteria of the so-called "IT test". In such case, the NME supplier would receive an individual rate which was determined by comparing the normal value from the market economy third country with the exporter's actual export prices. (See Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, paras. 275-277).

²³⁷ United States' first written submission, para. 175.

²³⁸ United States' first written submission, paras. 147-151.

²³⁹ We note that, in *EC – Fasteners (China)*, the Appellate Body reached a similar conclusion. See Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, paras. 319 ("an exception permitting derogation from the rule requiring the determination of individual margins for new exporters is ... expressly provided for in Article 9.5") and 326.

AD Regulation", with respect to both the context in which the test is used as well as the criteria considered. In the view of the United States:

unlike the criteria that compose Article 9(5) ... the criteria that compose the "separate rate test" are effectively waived (and a separate rate assigned) when the exporter under investigation or review is owned wholly by entities located in market-economy countries or has been previously assigned a separate rate. And when they do apply, they focus, unlike the criteria of Article 9(5), strictly on exporter-specific activities.²⁴⁰

- 7.163. In the view of the United States, the evidence sought under the US test is consistent with the factors that, according to the Appellate Body, could signal that legally distinct entities are in such a relationship that they should be treated as a single entity.²⁴¹
- 7.164. According to Viet Nam, a discussion of the criteria used for the separate rate test is irrelevant for the Panel's analysis. Viet Nam submits that a practice whereby the USDOC would begin with the presumption that all exporters are assigned an individual rate and would apply the separate rate test to determine whether a single entity exists may be consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. However, the fact that the NME-wide entity policy is based on a reversal of that presumption makes it inconsistent with the Agreement. 242
- 7.165. We recall that, in order to be accorded a separate rate, exporters from NMEs must demonstrate absence of government control, both in law and in fact, with respect to export activities. Pursuant to Chapter 10 of the Antidumping Manual, the USDOC considers three factors in evaluating whether there *de jure* is absence of government control over export activities. The USDOC considers four factors in evaluating whether a respondent is subject to *de facto* governmental control over its export functions. The USDOC considers for a respondent is subject to the factor governmental control over its export functions.
- 7.166. We have carefully considered the criteria constituting the separate rate test, as well as the arguments of the United States. However, we are not persuaded that the alleged differences between the IT test at stake in EC Fasteners (China) and the separate rate test at issue in the present dispute are sufficient in themselves to make the US practice consistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 7.167. We observe, first, that exporters owned wholly by entities located in market economy countries are also required to fill out the separate rate application; although the certification process may be arguably "lighter", it still requires that the firm in question establish, although in a different way (i.e. through affiliation with a foreign-owned company), independence from the NME government in order to receive an individual rate. The second category referred to by the United States, exporters located in the NME country and which have been previously assigned a separate rate, refers to those exporters that have successfully rebutted the presumption (at least in the original investigation) that they are part of the NME-wide entity in order to be eligible for a

²⁴⁰ United States' response to Panel question No. 11, paras. 23-38 (the quoted extract is from para. 28). See also United States' first written submission, para. 181.

²⁴¹ United States' first written submission, para. 181 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 376). The criteria referred to by the United States are quoted above, in para. 7.154. See also United States' response to Panel question No. 11, paras. 28 and 32.

²⁴² Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 41. See also Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 11, paras. 34-36.

²⁴³ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 4. See also Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, p. 2. These three factors are: (i) an absence of restrictive stipulations associated with an individual exporter's business and export licences; (ii) any legislative enactments decentralizing control of companies; and (iii) any other formal measures by the central and/or local government decentralizing control of companies.

²⁴⁴ USDOC Antidumping Manual, Chapter 10, Exhibit VN-24, p. 4. See also Policy Bulletin 05.1, Exhibit VN-66, p. 2. The four factors are: (i) whether the export prices are set by, or subject to the approval of, a governmental authority; (ii) whether the respondent has authority to negotiate and sign contracts and other agreements; (iii) whether the respondent has autonomy from the government in making decisions regarding the selection of management; and (iv) whether the respondent retains the proceeds of its export sales and makes independent decisions regarding the disposition of profits or financing of losses. We note that, in the latter document, the third factor is worded slightly differently ("whether the respondent has autonomy from the central, provincial and local governments in making decisions regarding the selection of its management").

separate rate.²⁴⁵ Hence, in our view, the two examples provided by the United States do not support its argument that certain categories of exporters are not subject to the presumption.

7.168. Second, we do not believe that we need to pronounce on the relevance and/or consistency with the covered agreements of the criteria used by the USDOC, in the context of the separate rate test, in evaluating de jure and de facto absence of government control. Nor do we need to pronounce on whether these criteria are consistent with the factors identified by the Appellate Body in EC - Fasteners (China) and referred to by the United States. First, we recall that Viet Nam does not challenge the criteria composing the separate rate test. More importantly, these criteria are not used to establish whether several exporters are sufficiently integrated with each other or with the State so as to justify being treated as a single NME-wide entity. The purpose of this test is to determine whether exporters are sufficiently distinct from the State so as to overcome the presumption that they are part of the NME-wide entity. Thus, even if we were to find, arguendo, that some or all of the criteria used by the USDOC in its separate test are relevant or appropriate to effectively determine that the State controls or materially influences exporters such that they can be found to constitute a single entity, the very starting point of the separate rate test, the rebuttable presumption that a NME-wide entity exists, and the evidentiary burden placed on exporters to overcome that presumption, gives rise to an inconsistency with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.²⁴⁶ Therefore, the criteria used under the separate rate test cannot save the measure from being found inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2, even if, per se, they might be relevant or appropriate for determining that two or more exporters are sufficiently related among themselves or with the government so that they constitute a single entity.²⁴⁷

7.169. In light of the above, we maintain our conclusion that the policy or practice whereby in anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC applies a rebuttable presumption that, in such countries, all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity and assigns a single rate to that entity is inconsistent with the obligations contained in Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.170. However, before concluding our analysis of the consistency of the measure at issue with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, we turn to the question whether Viet Nam's Accession Protocol provides a legal basis for the rebuttable presumption that, in Viet Nam, all companies are part of a single, Viet Nam-wide entity and should be assigned a single rate. We discuss the role of Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession here for the sake of a complete discussion of Viet Nam's arguments in support of its "as such" claim. We note, however, that the role of Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession is equally, if not more, relevant in the context of Viet Nam's "as applied" claim. Therefore, any conclusions we reach with respect to Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession in this context will be applicable *mutatis mutandis* to our analysis of Viet Nam's "as applied" claims below.

7.171. The United States argues that Viet Nam's Working Party Report provides "legal (as well as factual) support" for treating multiple companies in Viet Nam as part of a Viet Nam-wide entity for the purpose of determining a margin of dumping. 248 Viet Nam submits that its Accession Protocol and Working Party Report provide that the provisions of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement "shall apply" in anti-dumping proceedings involving exports from Viet Nam, subject to

²⁴⁵ Separate Rate Certification for Firms Previously Awarded Separate Rate Status, Exhibit US-73. We also observe that the Separate Rate Certification indicates, *inter alia*, that "completion of this Certification does not guarantee separate rate status for this POR" and "companies who had changes to corporate structure, ownership, or to the official company name may not file a Separate Rate Certification but must instead file a Separate Rate Application" (Exhibit US-73, p. 2). We also note that, under the Separate Rate Certification, firms must also certify absence of *de jure* or *de facto* government control. While wholly foreign-owned entities are not requested to respond to most questions related to *de jure* control, they are required to respond to certain questions related to *de facto* government control. See Exhibit US-73, pp. 8-9.

²⁴⁶ Viet Nam does not contest the criteria relied upon by the USDOC. Viet Nam even concedes that "if ... the USDOC began with the presumption that all exporters are assigned individual rates and then applied the 'separate rate test', to exporters to determine if they are part of a single entity, the practice may be consistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2". (Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 41.)

²⁴⁷ We observe that, in *EC – Fasteners (China)*, the Appellate Body reached a similar conclusion with respect to the IT test under consideration in that dispute. See Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para 377

para. 377.

248 United States' second written submission, para. 70. The United States' arguments with respect to this issue are summarized above, paragraphs 7.137. - 7.138.

one special rule, namely the right for an investigating authority to use an alternate methodology when calculating normal value.²⁴⁹

- 7.172. China, as a third party, submits that paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report is similar in substance to Article 15 of China's Protocol of Accession. In China's view, the sole issue addressed by subparagraph (a) of each provision is the issue of whether to use domestic prices or costs in China/Viet Nam when determining price comparability in anti-dumping proceedings. According to China, it is clear that the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4 and 6.8, applies in anti-dumping proceedings against imports from China/Viet Nam with the only exceptions explicitly stated in the subparagraph (a) of each provision. Hence, other WTO Members are not allowed to discriminate against imports from China/Viet Nam in anti-dumping proceedings, for purposes other than the determination of normal value. China is of the view that this understanding has been confirmed by the Appellate Body in EC - Fasteners (China).²⁵⁰
- 7.173. Turning first to the relevant provisions of Viet Nam's Working Party Report, we observe that the Report indicates that, during Viet Nam's accession negotiations to the WTO, certain Members considered that the fact that Viet Nam had not yet transitioned to a full market economy might cause certain difficulties in anti-dumping proceedings involving imports from Viet Nam. This concern is reflected in paragraph 254 of the Working Party Report, which states that:

Several Members noted that Viet Nam was continuing the process of transition towards a full market economy. Those Members noted that under those circumstances, in the case of imports of Vietnamese origin into a WTO Member, special difficulties could exist in determining cost and price comparability in the context of anti-dumping investigations and countervailing duty investigations. Those Members stated that in such cases, the importing WTO Member might find it necessary to take into account the possibility that a strict comparison with domestic costs and prices in Viet Nam might not always be appropriate.²⁵¹

7.174. In light of such difficulties, paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report provides in relevant part:

The representative of Viet Nam confirmed that, upon accession, the following would apply - Article VI of the GATT 1994, the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994 ("Anti-Dumping Agreement") and the SCM Agreement shall apply in proceedings involving exports from Viet Nam into a WTO Member consistent with the following:

- In determining price comparability under Article VI of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement, the importing WTO Member shall use either Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation or a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam based on the following rules:
 - If the producers under investigation can clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing the like product with regard to the manufacture, production and sale of that product, the importing WTO Member shall use Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation in determining price comparability;
 - The importing WTO Member may use a methodology that is (ii) not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam if the producers under investigation cannot clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing

²⁴⁹ Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 36-37. Viet Nam's arguments with respect to this issue are summarized above, at paragraph 7.134.

 $^{^{250}}$ China's third-party written submission, paras. 36-36 (referring to Appellate Body Report, EC-Fasteners (China), para. 290).

²⁵¹ Viet Nam's Working Party Report, para. 254.

the like product with regard to manufacture, production and sale of that product.

...

- (d) Once Viet Nam has established, under the national law of the importing WTO Member, that it is a market economy, the provisions of subparagraph (a) shall be terminated provided that the importing Member's national law contains market economy criteria as of the date of accession. In any event, the provisions of subparagraph (a)(ii) shall expire on 31 December 2018. In addition, should Viet Nam establish, pursuant to the national law of the importing WTO Member, that market economy conditions prevail in a particular industry or sector, the non-market economy provisions of subparagraph (a) shall no longer apply to that industry or sector.
- 7.175. Provisions contained in Accession Protocols are binding upon the parties and are therefore treaty text to be interpreted pursuant to customary rules of interpretation, in particular Articles 31 and 32 of the Vienna Convention. By virtue of paragraph 2 of Viet Nam's Accession Protocol, the commitment contained in paragraph 255 of its Working Party Report is incorporated by reference into the Accession Protocol and is therefore treaty language. In contrast, paragraph 254 is not referred to in Viet Nam's Accession Protocol and, therefore, is not treaty text. ²⁵²
- 7.176. The introductory clause of paragraph 255 states, in relevant parts, that "Article VI of the GATT 1994, the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994 ("Anti-Dumping Agreement") ... shall apply ... consistent with the following". This introductory clause is then followed by four sub-paragraphs, two of which paragraphs (a) and (d) deal with the treatment of imports from Viet Nam in anti-dumping proceedings. Hence, we understand that paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report confirms that Article VI of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement apply in anti-dumping proceedings involving imports from Viet Nam, subject to the provisions contained in sub-paragraphs (a) and (d).
- 7.177. Pursuant to paragraph 255(a), other WTO Members may, if the producers under investigation cannot clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the relevant industry, determine the normal value on a basis other than domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam.²⁵⁴ Thus, the derogation provided for under paragraph 255(a) is a limited one, which only concerns the determination of normal value, and does not extend to the determination of export price.
- 7.178. We observe that the second *Ad* Note to Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994 contains a similar recognition of the difficulties which may exist in determining price comparability in the case of imports from a country which has a complete or substantially complete monopoly over its trade and where all domestic prices are fixed by the State.²⁵⁵ Like paragraph 255(a) of Viet Nam's

²⁵² Paragraph 2 of Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession states, in relevant parts, that "[t]his Protocol, which shall include the commitments referred to in paragraph 527 of the Working Party Report, shall be an integral part of the WTO Agreement". Paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report is listed in paragraph 527, unlike paragraph 254. See Viet Nam's Accession Protocol, para. 2 and Viet Nam's Working Party Report, para. 527.

²⁵³ Subparagraph (b) deals with proceedings under the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures and subparagraph (c) concerns notifications to the Committee on Anti-Dumping Practices and to the Committee on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures. These two provisions are not at stake in this dispute and we shall not address them further.

²⁵⁴ Paragraph 255(a) provides that, in determining price comparability, the importing WTO Member may use either of two methods to establish normal value, i.e. "Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation" or "a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam". Paragraph 255(d) sets forth different instances in which the special rule for the determination of price comparability in paragraph (a) will cease to apply: paragraph (a) shall terminate with respect to Viet Nam or particular sectors or industries in Viet Nam, once Viet Nam has established, under the national law of the importing country, that, respectively, "it is a market economy" or that "market economy conditions prevail in a particular industry or sector". Paragraph 255(d) indicates, moreover, that "the provisions of subparagraph (a)(ii) shall expire on 31 December 2018".

²⁵⁵ The second *Ad* Note to Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994 states:

It is recognized that, in the case of imports from a country which has a complete or substantially complete monopoly of its trade and where all domestic prices are fixed by the State, special difficulties may exist in determining price comparability for the purposes of paragraph 1, and in

Working Party Report, the Ad Note allows investigating authorities to depart from a "strict comparison with domestic prices", thus suggesting that this provision provides flexibility with respect to the determination of normal value. ²⁵⁶ In EC – Fasteners (China), the Appellate Body remarked that:

The recognition of special difficulties in determining price comparability in the second *Ad* Note to Article VI:1 does not mean that importing Members may depart from the provisions regarding the determination of export prices and the calculation of dumping margins and anti-dumping duties set forth in the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* and in the GATT 1994. While the second *Ad* Note to Article VI:1 refers to difficulties in determining price comparability in general, the text of this provision clarifies that these difficulties relate exclusively to the normal value side of the comparison. This is indicated by the operative part in the third sentence of this provision, which only allows importing Members to depart from a "strict comparison with *domestic* prices".²⁵⁷

- 7.179. In our view, neither the second Ad Note to Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994 nor paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report can be read as allowing WTO Members to treat Viet Nam differently for purposes other than the determination of normal value.
- 7.180. We further observe that, pursuant to subparagraph 255(a)(i), the importing WTO Member "shall use Vietnamese prices or costs" if the producers under investigation "clearly show" that market economy conditions prevail. If Vietnamese producers succeed in showing that market economy conditions prevail, the importing Member shall then use Vietnamese prices or costs when determining price comparability, i.e. in the determination of normal value. Conversely, when Vietnamese producers do not succeed in showing that market economy conditions prevail, the importing Member "may use a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices and costs in Viet Nam", pursuant to paragraph 255(a)(ii). In our view, a failure by Vietnamese producers to show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing the product under investigation only allows the importing Member to treat those producers differently with respect to the determination of normal value because the scope of the derogation conceded by Viet Nam in its Protocol of Accession concerns exclusively the determination of normal value. Hence, paragraph 255(a) of Viet Nam's Working Party Report does not authorize importing Members to treat Viet Nam differently for purposes other than the determination of normal value.
- 7.181. We find therefore that, in anti-dumping proceedings involving imports from Viet Nam, paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report, as incorporated in Viet Nam's Accession Protocol, authorizes WTO Members to treat Viet Nam differently from other Members with respect to the determination of price comparability in respect of domestic prices and costs in Viet Nam, that is, the determination of normal value. However, this provision does not provide for a general exception permitting different treatment of Vietnamese exporters for other purposes, such as the application of a presumption that, in Viet Nam, all companies belong to a single, Viet Nam-wide entity, and should receive a single rate.
- 7.182. Our reading of paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report comports with the Appellate Body's reading of virtually identical provisions contained in Section 15 of China's Protocol of Accession. ²⁵⁸ In *EC Fasteners (China)*, in assessing the European Union's arguments on appeal under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, the Appellate Body examined the extent to which China's Protocol of Accession allowed the European Union to apply different rules to China than to other Members in anti-dumping proceedings. The Appellate Body concluded:

In our view, therefore, Section 15 of China's Accession Protocol does not authorize WTO Members to treat China differently from other Members except for the

such cases importing Members may find it necessary to take into account the possibility that a strict comparison with domestic prices in such a country may not always be appropriate.

²⁵⁶ Article 2.7 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement provides that Article 2 "is without prejudice to the second Supplementary Provision in paragraph 1 to Article VI in Annex I to GATT 1994".

²⁵⁷ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, footnote 460 to para. 285. (italics original, underlining added)

²⁵⁸ The language of Section 15 of China's Accession Protocol is materially identical to that of paragraph 255.

determination of price comparability in respect of domestic prices and costs in China, which relates to the determination of normal value. We consider that, while Section 15 of China's Accession Protocol establishes special rules regarding the domestic price aspect of price comparability, it does not contain an open-ended exception that allows WTO Members to treat China differently for other purposes under the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* and the GATT 1994, such as the determination of export prices or individual versus country-wide margins and duties.²⁵⁹

7.183. The United States discusses in detail various provisions and Annexes of Viet Nam's Working Party Report, which, in its view, provide evidence that Viet Nam is an NME and, thus, justify USDOC's treatment of Vietnamese producers and exporters. 260 The United States describes the specificities of market vs. non-market economy conditions, and submits that, in the latter, the role of the government in controlling resource allocation justifies the concerns expressed in Viet Nam's Working Party Report and, in turn, the application of a single government-entity rate or of a presumption that all companies in Viet Nam are controlled by the Government. According to the United States, the issue presented in the dispute is a "mixed question of fact and law" and "there is no clear dividing line between what amounts to 'factual' versus 'legal' support". 261 The United States also points to Viet Nam's Constitution²⁶² and to "many other examples [in Viet Nam's Working Party Report] confirming that Vietnam had not yet shifted completely away from a centrally planned economy to a market-based economy". 263 The United States concludes that, given the presumption that, in NME countries, the government effectively controls resource allocations, "it would make no sense to automatically assign individual dumping margins to different sets of exports that are all associated with Vietnamese companies under the government's control". 264

7.184. Viet Nam submits that, while the Working Party Report describes the prevailing economic conditions present in Viet Nam at the time of the Report, nowhere in the Report or the Accession Protocol does Viet Nam make generalized concessions based on those economic conditions. Viet Nam argues that there is no textual basis in the Protocol which would allow Members to presume the existence of an NME-wide entity and that no legal basis can be assumed; hence, the Panel should conclude, like the Appellate Body in EC - Fasteners (China), that Viet Nam's Protocol does not contain an open-ended exception that allows WTO Members to treat Viet Nam differently from a market economy country. Viet Nam also submits that the United States' attempt to turn the issue into a question of facts is a distraction from the fundamental issue which is, as in EC - Fasteners (China), that an authority cannot use a presumption to apply a single rate to multiple entities because the covered agreements do not allow for the use of such a presumption.

7.185. We have examined the factual evidence submitted by the United States regarding the characteristics of NMEs' economic systems in general and Viet Nam's economy in particular, and the concerns that these characteristics may raise in the WTO system. We believe, however, that the factual evidence presented by the United States with the aim of showing that Viet Nam is an NME is not relevant to the resolution of the legal question we need to address, namely whether the

²⁵⁹ Appellate Body Report, EC – Fasteners (China), para. 290.

²⁶⁰ United States' second written submission, paras. 71-74 (referring to Viet Nam's Working Party Report, paras. 52, 56, 57, 60, and 253-255; Annex 2, Table 4, para. 83; Annex 2, Tables 1 and 2).

²⁶¹ United States' second written submission, para. 70.

²⁶² Viet Nam Constitution, Chapt. II, Art. 15 (partial document), Exhibit US-81, Article 15.

²⁶³ United States' second written submission, paras. 71-72. The United States refers in particular to certain paragraphs contained in the section of the Working Party Report discussing state-owned enterprises ("SOEs") and which show, according to the United States, that "the open-ended list of such enterprises ... is extensive and encompasses industries and sectors far beyond those normally considered national security-related or natural monopolies". See United States' second written submission, para. 72 (referring to Viet Nam's Working Party Report, paras. 52, 56, 57 and 60, and Annex 2, Table 4). The United States also points to "a long list of industries in which investment was prohibited, conditional or restricted" in Viet Nam. See United States' second written submission, para. 72, referring to Viet Nam's Working Party Report, Tables 1 and 2 in Annex 2. These tables contain a list of goods and services sectors where business is prohibited or subject to conditions. Viet Nam's Working Party Report, Annex 2, Tables 1 and 2.

²⁶⁴ United States' second written submission, paras. 75-76 (referring to N. Gregory Mankiw, Principles of Microeconomics (South-Western Centage Learning 2012) (partial document), Exhibit US-84, pp. 10-11 and 84; and Paul R. Gregory & Robert C. Stuart, Comparing Economic Systems in the Twenty-First Century (Houghton Mifflin Company 2004) (partial document), Exhibit US-85, pp. 25-31).

²⁶⁵ Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 36-38.

United States is entitled to presume that, in Viet Nam, all companies belong to a single, Viet Namwide entity, and should be assigned a single rate.

7.186. We recall that our task is to assess the legal question of whether the treatment of NMEs by the USDOC in anti-dumping investigations under the challenged measure is consistent with the requirements of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The factual information provided by the United States concerning the economic specificities of NME countries in general and of Viet Nam in particular must be distinguished from the legal question as to how, under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, an investigating authority may use that information in an anti-dumping proceeding. Whether an investigating authority is allowed, in an anti-dumping proceeding involving an NME, to presume that all exporters belong to a single, government-wide entity is a legal question. In our view, the factual evidence tabled by the United States, cannot, in and of itself, justify a WTO Member treating Vietnamese exporters differently from any other Member's exporters in the absence of a clear textual basis in Viet Nam's Accession Protocol. Hence, we also disagree with the United States' proposition that Viet Nam's Working Party Report contains an "underlying" presumption that NME conditions prevail in Viet Nam, which, in turn, would, according to the United States, justify the application of a single "government-entity" rate.²⁶⁶

7.187. We observe that, in EC - Fasteners (China), the Appellate Body drew a similar distinction, finding that:

the economic structure of a WTO Member may be used as evidence before an investigating authority to determine whether the State and a number of exporters or producers subject to an investigation are sufficiently related to constitute a single entity such that a single margin should be calculated and a single duty be imposed on them. It cannot, however, be used to imply a legal presumption that has not been written into the covered agreements.

... the evidence submitted by the European Union concerning NMEs in general and China in particular is not relevant to the *legal* question of whether the European Union is permitted to presume under Article 9(5) of the Basic AD Regulation that the State and the exporters are a single exporter for purposes of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The review of this evidence reveals that it is possible that in specific circumstances an investigating authority may reach the conclusion that the State and certain exporters are so closely related that they constitute a single entity. However, the evidence submitted by the European Union cannot establish that the economic structure in China justifies a general presumption that the State and all the exporters in all industries that might be subject to an anti-dumping investigation constitute a single legal entity, where no legal basis for such a presumption is provided for in the covered agreements. 267

7.188. We find that the evidence submitted by the United States regarding the economic characteristics of NMEs in general and Viet Nam in particular cannot justify a general presumption that, in NME countries (including in Viet Nam), all exporters belong to a single, government-wide entity, where no legal basis for such a presumption is provided for in the covered agreements. We conclude therefore, that the evidence submitted to the Panel regarding the operation of NMEs in general and Viet Nam in particular is not relevant to the legal question of whether the United States is entitled to presume the existence of an NME-wide entity and assign a single rate to that entity. 268

7.189. The United States also argues that "price comparability", referred to in paragraph 255, is a central tenet of a dumping analysis.²⁶⁹ The United States appears to derive two main inferences from the reference to "price comparability": (i) the term "price comparability" must be understood as making reference to both normal value and export price because both are necessary to ensure

²⁶⁶ United States' second written submission, paras. 74-76. See also United States' first written submission, para. 166.

²⁶⁷ Appellate Body Report, EC - Fasteners (China), paras. 367 and 369. (italics original, underline added)

268 Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 370.

²⁶⁹ United States' second written submission, para. 80; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 25.

appropriate price comparability; and (ii) the need to ensure appropriate comparability between normal value and export price, in turn, provides a reasonable basis for the USDOC to presume that Vietnamese companies belong to the Viet Nam-wide entity. The United States also argues that the presumption in paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report makes it "legally permissible" for the USDOC to presume government influence, which, in turn, also makes it legally permissible and in fact "the most logical step for purposes of price comparability", to presume that all companies belong to the Viet Nam-wide entity for purposes of the calculation of export price. ²⁷¹

7.190. Leaving aside the seemingly circular arguments and inferences made by the United States, our reading of the term "price comparability" in paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report is narrower than the reading proposed by the United States. We agree that "price comparability" for the purpose of a dumping analysis involves a comparison between normal value and export price. However, while paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report acknowledges that there may be certain difficulties in determining price comparability in respect of imports from Viet Nam, we have already found that the text of paragraph 255 clarifies that these difficulties can relate only to "Vietnamese prices or costs" (sub-paragraph 255(a)(i)) / "domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam" (sub-paragraph 255(a)(ii)). Hence, as we stated above, these difficulties can relate only to the determination of normal value. Therefore, the reference to "price comparability" in paragraph 255 cannot be interpreted to also include the right to resort to a different methodology with respect to the determination of export price.

7.191. The United States also submits that Viet Nam could have challenged, in the present dispute, the USDOC's decision to treat Viet Nam as an NME and/or the NME methodology used by the USDOC for calculating normal value, and the fact that it did not "supports the presumption" that each exporter is controlled by the government. In our view, the fact that Viet Nam did not challenge before the Panel the 2002 USDOC decision to treat it as an NME for the purpose of antidumping proceedings cannot imply any kind of acknowledgement, on the part of Viet Nam, regarding the existence of a "Viet Nam-wide entity" or regarding any right for the United States to presume the existence of such an entity under the covered agreements. Viet Nam had no reason to challenge before the Panel USDOC's decision to treat it as an NME and to use a different methodology to calculate normal value since this possibility is specifically provided for in paragraph 255(a) of its Working Party Report.

7.192. Therefore, we also disagree with the United States that paragraph 255 "modifies" the obligations contained in Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. As we stated above, paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report only allows importing Members to derogate from the disciplines of the Anti-Dumping Agreement with respect to the methodology used to calculate normal value. However, nothing in paragraph 255 indicates that this provision provides for a derogation from the obligations to assign an individual dumping margin pursuant to Article 6.10 and an individual anti-dumping duty rate pursuant to Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.193. We conclude, therefore, that the USDOC's policy or practice whereby, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NMEs, it presumes that all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and assigns a single rate to that entity is inconsistent "as such" with Article 6.10 and Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.4.2.4 Whether the NME-wide entity rate practice is inconsistent with Articles 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

7.194. We recall our finding above that, while the evidence on the record indicates that the USDOC often calculates the rate for the NME-wide entity based on facts available, it does not establish that the USDOC consistently uses a defined methodology to calculate the NME-wide entity rate or systematically bases that rate on facts available. Therefore, we concluded that Viet Nam had failed to establish that the USDOC's methodology used to calculate the NME-wide entity rate, in particular as it refers to the use of facts available, is a rule or norm that constitutes a measure of general and prospective application which can be challenged as such. This being the

²⁷⁰ United States' opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 27.

²⁷¹ United States' opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 28.

²⁷² United States' first written submission, para. 162; response to Panel question No. 14(a), para. 41.

²⁷³ United States' second written submission, para. 86.

case, we find that Viet Nam did not establish that the alleged measure is "as such" inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4, and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.4.3 Claims with respect to the application of the NME-wide entity rate practice in the administrative reviews at issue

7.4.3.1 Introduction

7.195. Viet Nam claims that the Viet Nam-wide rate applied in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews under the *Shrimp* order is inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4, 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The United States requests that we reject Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency.

7.196. Before addressing Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency, we set out the relevant facts concerning the three administrative reviews at issue. We will then examine whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that one or more of the measures at issue is inconsistent with the provisions it cites.

7.4.3.2 Factual background

7.197. In the fourth administrative review, the USDOC started with the rebuttable presumption that "all companies within the country are subject to government control and, thus, should be assigned a single antidumping duty deposit rate". ²⁷⁴ It selected two separate rate companies – Minh Phu and Nha Trang – for individual examination on the ground that they were "the largest exporters, by volume, of subject merchandise during the POR". ²⁷⁵ The rate assigned to the separate rate companies was based on the simple average of the individual margins calculated for the two mandatory respondents and amounted to 3.92%. ²⁷⁶ The USDOC further stated "we are applying a single antidumping rate, i.e. the Vietnam-wide entity rate, to all other exporters of subject merchandise from Vietnam" and set that rate at 25.76%. The USDOC did not explain how this rate was determined, other than to say that the rate assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity is "the entity's current rate and only rate ever determined for the entity in this proceeding". ²⁷⁷

7.198. In the fifth administrative review, the USDOC recalled that "[i]n proceedings involving non-market economy ("NME") countries, the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country are subject to government control and thus, should be assigned a single antidumping duty deposit rate". ²⁷⁸ It selected the three largest exporters as mandatory respondents, namely Camimex, Minh Phu and Nha Trang. ²⁷⁹ Twenty-seven companies successfully met the criteria for separate rate status and received a separate rate of 1.03%, calculated on the basis of the weighted-average margins determined for Camimex and Minh Phu. ²⁸⁰ With respect to non-separate rate companies, the USDOC observed that "no party has submitted evidence of the proceeding to demonstrate that ... government influence is no longer present or that our treatment of the NME entity is otherwise incorrect. Therefore, we are assigning the entity's current rate of 25.76%, the only rate ever determined for the Vietnam-wide entity in this proceeding". ²⁸¹

7.199. In the sixth administrative review, the USDOC again recalled that "[i]n NME countries, the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies within the country are

²⁷⁴ Notice of initiation for the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-06, p. 13178.

²⁷⁵ Preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12207. Minh Phu and Nha Trang received a final rate of, respectively, 2.95% and 4.89%. See amended final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit US-08, p. 61123.

²⁷⁶ Amended final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit US-08, p. 61123.

²⁷⁷ Final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, pp. 47773 and 47776; preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12211.

Notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-10, p. 18154.

²⁷⁹ Preliminary determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-15; final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18.

²⁸⁰ Amended final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit US-09, p. 64309. In the final determination, the USDOC explains that "[t]he separate rate is determined based on the estimated weighted-average anti-dumping margins established for exporters and producers individually investigated, excluding zeroing and *de minimis* margins or margins based entirely on facts available". (Final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18, p. 56160.)

²⁸¹ Preliminary determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-15, p. 12059. See also final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18.

subject to government control and thus should be assessed a single antidumping duty rate".²⁸² It selected the two largest exporters – Minh Phu and Nha Trang – as mandatory respondents.²⁸³ The USDOC calculated a separate rate of 0.88%, corresponding to the simple average of the margins for the two mandatory respondents.²⁸⁴ With respect to some 30 companies that did not demonstrate eligibility for a separate rate, the USDOC noted that "no party has submitted evidence of the proceeding to demonstrate that such government influence is no longer present or that our treatment of the NME entity is otherwise incorrect. Therefore, we are assigning the entity rate of 25.76%, the only rate ever determined for the Vietnam-wide entity in this proceeding".²⁸⁵ The Viet Nam-wide entity rate of 25.76% was confirmed in the final determination.²⁸⁶

7.200. To sum up, in each of the reviews at issue, the USDOC began with a rebuttable presumption that all shrimp exporters and producers in Viet Nam are operating units of a single, Viet Nam-wide entity. Exporters and producers that established sufficient independence from government control with respect to their export activities qualified for "separate rate status". In each review, the USDOC decided to limit the number of respondents for individual examination and selected the largest producers/exporters as mandatory respondents on the basis of USCPB data. Mandatory respondents were assigned an individual dumping margin calculated on the basis of a surrogate normal value that the USDOC determined for Viet Nam and each exporter's own export prices. Exporters with separate rate status which were not selected as mandatory respondents received the "separate rate", a rate based on the simple or weighted-average of the rate of the mandatory respondents in each review. Vietnamese companies which did not successfully establish independence from the Vietnamese Government, or which did not apply for separate rate status, were assigned the Viet Nam-wide rate of 25.76% in each review.

7.4.3.3 Whether the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

7.4.3.3.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.4.3.3.1.1 Viet Nam

7.201. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC's presumption of the existence of a Viet Nam-wide entity in the proceedings at issue does not comply with the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Viet Nam argues that, in the three administrative reviews at issue, the USDOC did not establish, as a factual matter, the existence of a single entity but, instead, relied on a presumption that all entities within Viet Nam belong to a single entity under the control of the government. Viet Nam refers to its arguments made in connection with its claim that the USDOC's practice of presuming that all exporters belong to a single, government-wide entity is, as such, inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. According to Viet Nam, the USDOC's practice of presuming a Viet Nam-wide entity and assigning a single rate to that entity, as applied in the proceedings at issue, resulted in violation of the obligation, contained in Articles 6.10 and 9.2, that investigating authorities determine individual dumping margins and anti-dumping duties for exporters and producers.²⁸⁷

7.4.3.3.1.2 United States

7.202. The United States argues that treating related companies in the covered reviews as a single exporter or producer for the purpose of determining a dumping margin is consistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. According to the United States, the USDOC's conclusion that multiple companies in Viet Nam are part of a Viet Nam-government entity is based on a permissible interpretation of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

²⁸² Preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-19, p. 13550.

²⁸³ Amended final determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-22, p. 64102.

²⁸⁴ Amended final determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-22, pp. 64102-64103.

 $^{^{\}rm 285}$ Preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-19, p. 13552.

²⁸⁶ Final determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-20.

²⁸⁷ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 148-153. Viet Nam's arguments with respect to the WTO-consistency of the NME-wide entity rate with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement are set out in more details in Section 7.4.2.3.1 above.

The United States requests, therefore, that the Panel find that the USDOC's conclusions in the three administrative reviews at issue are not inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.²⁸⁸

7.4.3.3.2 Evaluation by the Panel

7.203. The present claims raise the issue of whether, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, the application by the USDOC of a rebuttable presumption that all shrimp producers/exporters in Viet Nam are operating units of a single, Viet Nam-wide entity, and the determination of a single dumping margin for, and application of, a single anti-dumping rate to that entity, is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.204. We recall our finding above that, pursuant to Article 6.10, investigating authorities have an obligation to determine individual margins of dumping for each known producer/exporter. This obligation is subject to the exception contained in the second sentence of Article 6.10 and may be subject to other exceptions as well, as long as these exceptions are provided for in the covered agreements. We also found that, pursuant to Article 9.2, individual anti-dumping duties must be specified for each supplier, except where this is impracticable. 289

7.205. We further recall our factual finding that, in each administrative review at issue in the present dispute, the USDOC began with a rebuttable presumption that all shrimp exporters and producers in Viet Nam are part of a single, Viet Nam-wide entity, and determined a single dumping margin for and applied a single anti-dumping rate to that entity. We also found that, in order to be eligible for an individual rate, Vietnamese exporters and producers were required to pass the "separate rate test" by demonstrating independence from the Government of Viet Nam.

7.206. Having concluded that the USDOC's policy or practice whereby, in anti-dumping proceedings involving NMEs, it presumes that all companies belong to a single, NME-wide entity, and assigns a single rate to that entity is inconsistent "as such" with Articles 6.10 and 9.2^{290} , we do not see how the application of that practice in the three administrative reviews at issue could be found consistent with those same two provisions.

7.207. We also recall our finding above that nothing in paragraph 255 of Viet Nam's Working Party Report, as incorporated into Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession, indicates that this provision provides for a derogation from the obligations to assign an individual dumping margin pursuant to Article 6.10 and an individual anti-dumping duty rate pursuant to Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. These conclusions are applicable *mutatis mutandis* to our consideration of Viet Nam's "as applied" claims.

7.208. Therefore, we conclude that the application by the USDOC, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, of a presumption of the existence of a Viet Nam-wide entity and application of a single rate to that entity is inconsistent Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.4.3.4 Whether the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

7.4.3.4.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.4.3.4.1.1 Viet Nam

7.209. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC's failure to assign the Viet Nam-entity a rate calculated pursuant to the methodology provided for in Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement amounts

²⁸⁸ United States' first written submission, paras. 146 and 183. The United States' arguments with respect to the WTO-consistency of the NME-wide entity rate are set out in more details above in Section 7.4.2.3.1 . As noted above in footnote 204 of this Report, the United States argued more extensively with respect to the consistency with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 in its response to Viet Nam's "as applied" claims; however, because we first consider Viet Nam's "as such" claims, we considered it appropriate to provide a more complete summary of the United States' arguments in the section of the Report addressing those claims.

²⁸⁹ See above paras. 7.148. -7.149.

²⁹⁰ See above para. 7.193.

 $^{^{291}}$ See above paras. 7.170. -7.192.

to a violation of that provision. According to Viet Nam, in each of the three administrative reviews at issue, the USDOC limited the number of investigated companies, and then assigned two different rates to the companies not selected for individual examination, i.e. one rate to the so-called Viet Nam-wide entity, and a different rate to companies that qualified for a separate rate. Viet Nam submits that the difference between the two rates is substantial since the separate rate is based on a simple (in the fourth and sixth administrative reviews) or weighted (in the fifth administrative review) average of the rates the USDOC calculated for the mandatory respondents, whereas the Viet Nam-wide entity rate is based on facts available. According to Viet Nam, the text of Article 9.4 requires that, where an investigating authority has limited its examination, it must calculate an anti-dumping duty for all companies not individually investigated that is no greater than the weighted average margin of dumping of the selected companies, excluding rates that are zero, de minimis or based on facts available. Viet Nam agrees with the conclusions of the panel in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) which found that "there is nothing in Article 9.4 suggesting that authorities are entitled to render application of an 'all others' rate conditional on the fulfilment of some additional requirement". Viet Nam submits that the Viet Namwide entity should have received a rate calculated pursuant to Article 9.4.292

7.210. According to Viet Nam, the record before the Panel clearly shows that, in each administrative review at issue, the USDOC conducted a limited examination within the meaning of Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, and that the Viet Nam-wide entity was never selected for individual examination. Viet Nam contends that, since it was not individually examined, the Viet Nam-wide entity should have received an anti-dumping duty rate calculated in a manner consistent with Article 9.4. Viet Nam also submits that, contrary to what is asserted by the United States, requests for reviews were made in the three administrative reviews at issue for companies presumed to be part of the Viet Nam-wide entity. According to Viet Nam, by arguing that Article 9.4 does not apply to the Viet Nam-wide entity because the entity was assigned a rate in previous segments of the proceedings, the United States attempts to read into Article 9.4 exceptions that do not exist. Viet Nam initially argued that a Member may not apply more than one rate to producers/exporters which were not individually examined. Viet Nam later acknowledged that it may be possible for an authority to assign multiple different rates to companies not individually examined, but maintained that all such rates must comply with Article 9.4.293 Viet Nam concludes that the USDOC's failure to assign to the Viet Nam-wide entity a margin consistent with Article 9.4 constitutes a violation of Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 294

7.4.3.4.1.2 United States

7.211. The United States submits that the rate assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity is not an "all others" rate subject to the limit provided for in Article 9.4. In the United States' view, the Viet Nam-wide entity was not assigned a country-wide rate, but was individually examined and received its own rate, i.e. a rate based on facts available, after being included in the examination in the anti-dumping duty proceeding and failing to cooperate. This rate was assigned to the companies that had not claimed or established that they were free from government control and were thus properly considered to be parts of the single government entity that the UDSOC identified as an "exporter" or "producer" consistent with Article 6.10 of the Agreement. According to the United States, Article 9.4 does not obligate Members to replace an existing WTO-consistent rate that was individually determined for an entity that had failed to cooperate in the proceeding, with a different rate that is based on an average rate of producers/exporters that fully cooperated. The United States further submits that Article 9.4 does not impose an obligation to calculate a "single" anti-dumping duty for producers/exporters not individually examined, but, as explained by the Appellate Body in US - Hot Rolled Steel, this provision simply identifies a maximum limit, or ceiling, which authorities shall not exceed in establishing an "all others" rate. According to the United States, the Anti-Dumping Agreement does not require that a particular label be assigned to the rate in effect for the Viet Nam-wide entity. The rate applied to the Viet Nam-government entity is not inconsistent with the obligations in the Agreement because it was the rate in effect, and neither the Viet Nam-government entity nor any Vietnamese companies that were part of the

 $^{^{292}}$ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 158-174 (referring to Panel Report, US-Shrimp(Viet Nam), para. 7.245).

²⁹³ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 159; second written submission, para. 51.

²⁹⁴ Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 19-20; second written submission, paras. 51-53; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 15-17.

entity requested that the rate be changed. Because neither the Viet Nam-wide entity nor any constituent parts of the entity requested a change to the existing rate of the Viet Nam-wide entity, the USDOC's decision to apply that rate in the three administrative reviews at issue was not inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.²⁹⁵

7.4.3.4.2 Main arguments of the third parties

7.212. **China** concurs with the panel in US – Shrimp ($Viet\ Nam$) that nothing in Article 9.4 entitles authorities to render application of an "all others" rate conditional upon the fulfilment of some additional requirements, such as a separate rate test. ²⁹⁶ China opines that the Panel is not necessarily required to decide whether Article 9.4 requires a single "all others" rate, but will have to first determine whether the Viet Nam-wide entity was individually investigated. Should the answer be negative, the Panel could reach the conclusion that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 9.4 by assigning a rate based on facts available to the Viet Nam-wide entity.

7.213. The **European Union** is of the view that Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all others" rate. According to the European Union, Article 9.4 contains a ceiling on the amount of any rate applied, not on the number of different rates applied.²⁹⁷

7.214. **Thailand** submits that Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all others" rate provided that those rates are based on the different levels of cooperation established throughout the proceedings. ²⁹⁸

7.4.3.4.3 Evaluation by the Panel

7.215. Article 9.4 provides, in relevant part:

When the authorities have limited their examination in accordance with the second sentence of paragraph 10 of Article 6, any anti-dumping duty applied to imports from exporters or producers not included in the examination shall not exceed:

(i) the weighted average margin of dumping established with respect to the selected exporters or producers ...

provided that the authorities shall disregard for the purpose of this paragraph any zero and *de minimis* margins and margins established under the circumstances referred to in paragraph 8 of Article 6.

7.216. We note the link between Articles 6.10 and 9.4. Under the general rule set forth in Article 6.10, the investigating authorities must normally calculate an individual margin for "each known exporter or producer" (hereafter "producer/exporter") of the product at issue pursuant to Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. ²⁹⁹ If the number of producers/exporters is too large for individual examination of each producer/exporter to be practicable, Article 6.10 allows the investigating authorities to "limit their examination" to a group of producers/exporters selected in accordance with the methods set out in Article 6.10 itself. In cases where the authority limits its examination under Article 6.10, an anti-dumping duty may nonetheless be applied to the producers/exporters not individually examined. Article 9.4 specifies that the rate of any such duty (commonly referred to as an "all others" duty rate) may not exceed a ceiling calculated pursuant to Article 9.4, i.e. the weighted average margin of dumping established for the selected, individually-examined producers/exporters, excluding zero, *de minimis* and facts available margins. It is noteworthy that, as the Appellate Body concluded in *US – Hot Rolled Steel*,

²⁹⁵ United States' first written submission, paras. 189-200; second written submission, paras. 97-98; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 34.

²⁹⁶ China's third-party submission, paras. 21-24.

 $^{^{\}rm 297}$ European Union's response to Panel question No. 3, paras. 15-18.

²⁹⁸ Thailand's response to Panel question No. 3, p. 1.

²⁹⁹ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 329.

Article 9.4 does not provide for a method to calculate an "all others rate", but establishes a "ceiling" for any such rate that may be applied to unexamined producers/exporters.³⁰⁰

7.217. The text of Article 9.4 provides that, when an investigating authority conducts a "limited examination" pursuant to the second sentence of Article 6.10, "any" rate assigned to non-investigated producers/exporters "shall not exceed" the ceiling calculated pursuant to Article 9.4. While we need not decide the issue, we observe that the word "any" may be understood to mean that there can be more than one rate assigned to non-investigated producers/exporters, and the parties do not disagree. ³⁰¹ In addition, the use of the word "any" indicates that this limitation applies to all rates assigned to unexamined producers/exporters. Thus, in our view, Article 9.4 requires that the duty rate applied to all producers/exporters for which a dumping margin is not individually determined shall, without exception, not exceed the ceiling calculated pursuant to Article 9.4.

7.218. The main question we must address in order to resolve Viet Nam's claims under Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement is whether, in the three administrative reviews at issue, the United States was required by Article 9.4 to ensure that the duty rate applied to the Viet Namwide entity, and to any individual companies deemed to be part of that entity, did not exceed the ceiling calculated pursuant to that provision.

7.219. In each of the requests underlying the administrative reviews at issue, domestic producers listed companies which had been found to be part of the Viet Nam-wide entity in the previous administrative review. This shows, in our view, that, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, US domestic producers requested a review of the rates applied to producers/exporters under the *Shrimp* order, including those applied to companies deemed to be part of the Viet Namwide entity. In addition, the notices of initiations for the three administrative reviews at issue indicate that each review was initiated with respect to most, if not all, Vietnamese producers/exporters, including those deemed to be part of the Viet Nam-wide entity. The preliminary and final determinations show that each review was conducted with respect to the companies for which the review had been initiated, i.e. including companies deemed to be part of

³⁰⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Hot Rolled Steel*, para. 116.

³⁰¹ We note that Viet Nam's argumentation has evolved with respect to the number of rates that can potentially be assigned pursuant to Article 9.4. In its first written submission, Viet Nam argued that Article 9.4 "envisions the calculation of only a *single* anti-dumping duty for all producers/exporters not individually examined" (Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 159, emphasis original). The United States replied that Article 9.4 does not impose an obligation to calculate a "single" rate and that Viet Nam's interpretation would create a new obligation which is not present in that provision (United States' first written submission, para. 195). In its second written submission, Viet Nam concedes that "[i]t is possible for an authority to assign multiple duty rates to companies not individually investigated, but all rates must comply with the ceiling requirement of Article 9.4" (Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 51). We consider, therefore, that we do not need to rule on this issue.

³⁰² Requests for Administrative Reviews Submitted by Domestic Interested Parties – Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Administrative Reviews, Exhibit VN-81. Each request attaches an annex listing the Vietnamese producers/exporters for which the domestic producers request a review. A number of companies listed in these annexes are identified as belonging to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the final determination of the respective previous administrative review. Compare the requests for administrative review submitted by domestic interested parties in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews (Exhibit VN-81) with, respectively, the final determination in the third, fourth and fifth administrative reviews (Exhibits VN-72, footnote 19, p. 47197; VN-13, Appendix II, p. 47777; and VN-18, Issues and Decision Memorandum, Appendix II).

³⁰³ See notice of initiation for the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-06, footnote 6 ("[i]f one of the below named companies does not qualify for a separate rate, all other exporters of shrimp from Vietnam who have not qualified for a separate rate are deemed to be covered by this review as part of the single Vietnam-wide entity of which the named exporters are a part"). A similar footnote is contained in the notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review (see Exhibit VN-10, footnote 4) and in the notice of initiation for the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-16, footnote 11. Note that there seems to be an error in this latter footnote which refers to the "PRC" while it is attached to "Socialist Republic of Vietnam ..." (p. 17831). Compare also the lists of Vietnamese companies contained in, respectively, (i) final determination in third administrative review (Exhibit VN-72, p. 47197, footnote 19) with notice of initiation for the fourth administrative review (Exhibit VN-06, pp. 13179-13182); (ii) final determination in the fourth administrative review (Exhibit VN-13, Appendix II) with notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review (Exhibit VN-18, Issues and Decision Memorandum, Appendix II) with notice of initiation in the sixth administrative review (Exhibit VN-16, pp. 17381-17385).

the Viet Nam-wide entity.³⁰⁴ We note that, in the preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, the USDOC explicitly stated that "the Viet Nam-wide entity is now under review".³⁰⁵ Finally, in each review, the USDOC assigned a cash deposit rate to the Viet Nam-wide entity and to the companies deemed to be part of that entity, i.e. the Viet Nam-wide entity rate of 25.76%.³⁰⁶ Hence, it is clear to us that the three administrative reviews at issue covered the Viet Nam-wide entity *and* the companies deemed to be part of that entity.³⁰⁷

7.220. The evidence before the Panel further shows that in each review, the USDOC limited the number of producers/exporters for which it determined an individual margin, and that neither the Viet Nam-wide entity nor the companies deemed to be part of that entity were selected as mandatory respondents or otherwise individually examined under Article 6.10. In particular, the USDOC did not request information from the Viet Nam-wide entity or any of the companies deemed to be part of that entity in any of the reviews at issue. ³⁰⁸ Hence, the facts before us show that, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, the Viet Nam-wide entity and the companies deemed to constitute it were not individually examined and individual margins were not determined for them.

7.221. In light of the above, pursuant to Article 9.4, the Viet Nam-wide entity and the companies deemed to constitute that entity should have been assigned a rate not exceeding the ceiling calculated pursuant to this provision, namely a rate not exceeding the weighted-average margin of dumping established for the selected, individually-examined, exporters, excluding zero, *de minimis* and facts available margins.

7.222. We recall that, in each of the three administrative reviews at issue, unexamined Vietnamese exporters fell into two different categories. The first category, the "separate rate" companies, received a rate based on the simple or weighted average of the margins calculated for the mandatory respondents, excluding zero, *de minimis* or margins calculated using facts available. The separate rate was 3.92% in the fourth review, 1.03% in the fifth review and 0.88% in the sixth review. The separate rate applied in the fifth administrative review was equivalent to the ceiling calculated following the methodology set forth in Article 9.4,

³⁰⁸ Respondent selection memoranda in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, Exhibits VN-07, VN-11, and VN-17.

³⁰⁴ The USDOC explains, in particular, that all companies for which the review was initiated were provided the opportunity to complete either the separate rate application or certification. See Preliminary determinations in fourth administrative review (Exhibit VN-09, p. 12209), fifth administrative review (Exhibit VN-15, p. 12059) and sixth administrative review (Exhibit VN-19, p. 13552).

³⁰⁵ Preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12209.

³⁰⁶ In each review, the final determination reports this rate as the "Vietnam-wide Entity Rate". The final determination in the fourth administrative review indicates that "for all Vietnamese exporters of subject merchandise which have not been found to be entitled to a separate rate, the cash deposit rate will be the Vietnam-wide entity rate of 25.76 per cent" (Exhibit VN-13, p. 47777). A similar statement is found in the final determinations in the fifth and sixth administrative reviews (Exhibits VN-18, p. 56164 and VN-20, p. 55805, respectively). The final determinations in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews list the companies that constitute the Viet Nam-wide entity (Exhibits VN-13, Appendix II and VN-18, Issues and Decision Memorandum, Appendix II, respectively). The final determination in the sixth administrative review does not list the companies constituting the Viet Nam-wide entity, but indicates that 30 companies failed to demonstrate their eligibility for a separate rate and, therefore, were assigned the Viet Nam-wide entity rate of 25.76% (Exhibit VN-20, p. 55802).

³⁰⁷ The United States seeks to draw a distinction between the Viet Nam-wide entity and its constituent parts. The United States suggests that for the rate applicable to the entity to be under review, a request for review must refer to both the constituent parts and the entity itself. (United States' comments on Viet Nam's response to Panel Question No. 62, para. 4: "Vietnam's response to Question 62 fails to demonstrate that the domestic interested party requested that Commerce change the amount of duty applicable to the Vietnamgovernment entity.") We note that the United States' own arguments indicate that the Viet Nam-wide entity is under review when a constituent part of that entity is under review, thus suggesting that no distinction is to be drawn between the entity and its constituent parts. See e.g. United States' response to Panel question No. 17(a) ("[b]ecause a part [i.e. Kim Anh Company Ltd] of the NME-government entity was selected for individual examination, the NME-government entity as a whole was under individual examination"); United States' response to Panel question No. 17(d)(i) ("[a] mandatory respondent ... may be either the Vietnam-government entity (if, for example, a company that is part of the Vietnam-government entity was selected for individual examination) or a company that is separate from that entity"); and United States' response to Panel question No. 19(a), para. 69) ("[t]he Vietnam-government entity was not selected as a mandatory respondent during any of the covered reviews. Notably, neither the Vietnam-government entity nor any of its constituent parts requested a review of the rate applicable to the Vietnam-government entity during the fourth, fifth or sixth administrative reviews"). The United States cannot have it both ways.

given that it was calculated as the weighted average of the margins calculated for the mandatory respondents, excluding zero, de minimis or margins calculated using facts available.309 The separate rates applied in the fourth and sixth administrative reviews were calculated as the simple, and not weighted, average of the margin calculated for the mandatory respondents in each case. 310 However, given that in each case the Viet Nam-wide entity rate exceeds by far the highest of the individual margins determined for mandatory respondents, it follows that it necessarily exceeds a weighted average of those rates, and thus the ceiling calculated pursuant to Article 9.4. In each of the three administrative reviews at issue, the Viet Nam-wide entity (and all of the companies deemed to be part of that entity in each review) was assigned a rate of 25.76%. Thus, in our view it is undisputable that, in the three reviews at issue, the rate applied to the Viet Namwide entity and its constituent companies exceeds the ceiling applicable under Article 9.4.

7.223. We find, therefore, that the duty rate applied to the Viet Nam-wide entity and the companies deemed to be part of that entity in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.4.3.5 Whether the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the administrative reviews at issue is inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

7.4.3.5.1 Main arguments of the parties

7.4.3.5.1.1 Viet Nam

7.224. Viet Nam argues that, pursuant to Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, an investigating authority may make a determination on the basis of facts available only with respect to those interested parties from which necessary information was required. Viet Nam refers inter alia to the Appellate Body's statement that non-investigated exporters cannot, by definition, be "interested parties" pursuant to Article 6.8.311 Viet Nam further submits that the necessary or essential information referred to in Article 6.8 is the information necessary to calculate an antidumping margin pursuant to Article 2 and can only be requested from parties individually investigated or reviewed by the investigating authority. 312 According to Viet Nam, in the three administrative reviews at issue, the USDOC applied a rate based on facts available with an adverse inference to companies which were not individually investigated and from which no necessary information was requested, thus acting inconsistently with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 313

7.225. Viet Nam notes that the United States does not appear to dispute Viet Nam's legal interpretation of the obligations contained in Article 6.8, but reiterates the formalistic argument, rejected by the panel in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), that the rate applied to the Viet Nam-wide entity in subsequent reviews was not determined on the basis of facts available. Viet Nam asks the Panel to draw the same conclusion as the US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) panel and reject this argument because the USDOC had no factual basis to conclude that the Viet Nam-wide entity did not cooperate, since, as acknowledged by the United States, no information was requested from that entity. Second, the rate applied in each administrative review was the rate determined in the original investigation with adverse inference. Viet Nam also notes that the United States, while arguing that the Viet Nam-wide rate is not a facts available rate pursuant to Article 6.8, does not indicate pursuant to which provision that rate was calculated. 314

³⁰⁹ Final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18, p. 56160.

³¹⁰ Preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12211; preliminary determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-19, p. 13552.

³¹¹ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 175-178 (citing Appellate Body Report, US –

Zeroing (EC), para. 459).

312 Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 178-182 (referring to Panel Reports, Argentina – Ceramic Tiles, footnote 96 and Egypt – Steel Rebar, paras. 7.146 and 7.151).

³¹³ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 192-196.

³¹⁴ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 189; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 21-23; second written submission, paras. 58-61; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 12-13.

7.4.3.5.1.2 United States

7.226. The United States submits that Viet Nam's analysis is based on faulty facts because in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews the Viet Nam-wide entity was assigned the only rate it has ever received under this order. In the original investigation, the USDOC determined a Viet Nam-wide entity rate of 25.76% based on adverse facts available and continued to apply that rate to the entity in subsequent reviews. The United States argues that, as no party requested a review of the margin of dumping assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity, the exporters subject to the Viet Nam-wide entity rate in effect expressed the view that the duties were appropriate. Hence, according to the United States, the USDOC's final duty assessment rate for exports by companies that are part of the Viet Nam-wide entity cannot be a facts available rate because it is not based on the interested party's refusal to give access to, or otherwise provide, necessary information during the covered reviews. It was based, instead, on the fact that the Viet Nam-wide entity and those companies that would be subject to the Viet Nam-wide entity rate did not seek a different rate, but accepted the existing rate of the Viet Nam-wide entity. Accordingly, the USDOC applied the existing rate of the Viet Nam-wide entity during the administrative reviews at issue, and was under no obligation to change the existing rate for final assessment purposes. The United States further submits that the panel in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) misinterpreted Article 6.8 because this Article cannot apply when the USDOC did not make a finding based on facts available. According to the United States, the panel should have found that there was, in fact, no application of facts available. In the three reviews at issue in the present dispute, as in the third administrative review at issue in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), the USDOC made no findings on the basis of facts available, but it only applied to the Viet Nam-wide entity the only rate the entity had ever received. The United States submits that, when examination has been properly limited to fewer than all exporters, it is not inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement to apply a rate to unexamined exporters that is the only rate ever determined for those exporters.³¹⁵

7.227. The United States also argues that Article 6.8 refers to "any interested party" and Article 6.11 defines "interested parties" as including, inter alia, "the government of exporting the exporting Member". Articles 6.8 and 6.11 thus expressly contemplate that an anti-dumping determination may be based on facts available whenever the government of an exporting Member does not cooperate during an investigation. The United States further submits that information held by the Government of Viet Nam was necessary for the proceedings at issue and that nothing in the Anti-Dumping Agreement prevents a Member from sending questionnaires to the government of an exporting Member. It is therefore fully consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement to use facts available if an NME government does not cooperate. 316

7.4.3.5.2 Main arguments of the third parties

7.228. **China** argues that, as in *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, this Panel should reject the formalistic argument made by the United States that the Viet Nam-wide rate in the reviews at issue is not based on facts available, but is just the continuation of the rate assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the original investigation. 317

7.229. Referring to the Appellate Body report in Mexico - Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice, the European Union argues that the Appellate Body did not find that facts available could never be used in the calculation of an "all others" rate. According to the European Union, this remains possible, provided that the investigating authority makes some additional effort to notify the producers/exporters to whom it applies this rate of the information required and the consequences of not providing it. 318

7.4.3.5.3 Evaluation by the Panel

7.230. The parties disagree as to whether, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, the USDOC made a determination on the basis of facts available within the meaning of Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. We therefore address this guestion of fact first.

³¹⁵ United States' first written submission, paras. 184-188; second written submission, paras. 95-96; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 33. ³¹⁶ United States' second written submission, paras. 91-94.

³¹⁷ China's third-party submission, paras. 25-33.

³¹⁸ European Union's third-party submission, paras. 22-24.

7.231. We note, as recognized by both parties, that the Viet Nam-wide rate calculated during the original investigation was determined on the basis of facts available. In the original investigation, the USDOC indicated that "the use of adverse facts available for the Vietnam-wide rate is appropriate" and that "as adverse facts available, we have applied a rate of 25.76%, a rate calculated in the initiation stage of the investigation from information provided in the petition ...". Moreover, the rate calculated for the Viet Nam-wide entity during the second administrative review also appears to have been determined based on facts available. In contrast, the record from the subsequent reviews contains no indication that the USDOC considered whether to use facts available or made a finding to the effect that it would use facts available to determine the rate for the Viet Nam-wide entity. In the third administrative review, the USDOC did not find that it was appropriate to apply facts available, but decided that it would "continue to assign the entity's current rate of 25.76%, the only rate ever determined for the Vietnam-wide entity in this proceeding".

7.232. Similarly, the records of the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews contain no reference to the USDOC having made a finding that the Viet Nam-wide entity or any of its constituent parts failed to provide information or to USDOC determining a rate based on facts available. In the fourth and fifth reviews, the final determinations indicate in essence that, since "no additional information" was placed on the record with respect to certain entities which "did not demonstrate that they operate free of government control", the USDOC is "applying a single antidumping rate, i.e., the Vietnam-wide entity rate to all ... exporters of subject merchandise from Vietnam". In the final determination in the sixth administrative review, the USDOC also notes, with respect to the Viet Nam-wide entity, that 30 companies "failed to demonstrate their eligibility for a separate rate" and explains:

In NME proceedings, "'rates' may consist of a single dumping margin applicable to all exporters and producers". Therefore, we assigned the entity a rate of 25.76%, the only rate ever determined for the Vietnam-wide entity in this proceeding. We have not received any information since issuance of the *Preliminary Results* that provides a basis for reconsidering this determination, and will therefore continue to apply the entity rate of 25.76% to these 30 companies.³²⁴

7.233. Turning to the provision at issue in this claim, we note that Article 6.8 provides:

In cases in which any interested party refuses access to, or otherwise does not provide, necessary information within a reasonable period or significantly impedes the investigation, preliminary and final determinations, affirmative or negative, may be made on the basis of the facts available. The provisions of Annex II shall be observed in the application of this paragraph.

It follows from the language of Article 6.8 that it imposes disciplines with respect to when, and under what conditions, "preliminary and final determinations, affirmative or negative may be made on the basis of facts available". The evidence on the record shows that, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews, the USDOC did not resort to facts available, i.e. it did not make any

 ³¹⁹ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 109 and United States' first written submission, para. 185.
 320 Final determination and Issues and Decision Memorandum in the original investigation, Exhibit VN-04, p. 71008.

³²¹ In the notice from the second administrative review, the USDOC indicates that the Viet Nam-wide entity "did not cooperate to the best of its ability", and, therefore, the USDOC "continue[d] to find that it is appropriate to apply facts available with an adverse inference with respect to the Vietnam-Wide entity". (Final determination in the second administrative review, Exhibit VN-72, p. 52275.) In response to a question by the Panel, the United States clarifies that the rate in effect during the administrative reviews at issue "was based on the rate applied by Commerce to the Vietnam-government entity in the second review", i.e. the last review in which the USDOC made a finding of non-cooperation. (See United States' response to Panel question No. 56(a), para. 10.) The evidence on the record for the first administrative review does not allow us to determine whether the rate was calculated on the basis of facts available during that review. We make no judgment as to whether the rate assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the original investigation and second administrative review was calculated in a manner consistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

³²² Final determination in the third administrative review, Exhibit VN-72, p. 47195.

³²³ Final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, p. 47773; final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18, p. 56160.

³²⁴ Final determination in the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-20, p. 55802. (footnote omitted)

"determination[], affirmative or negative ... on the basis of the facts available". While the USDOC continued to apply to the Viet Nam-wide entity "the entity's current rate and only rate ever determined for the entity in this proceeding"325, which rate was initially determined on the basis of facts available, we cannot conclude that the USDOC's actions in the three administrative reviews at issue constitute "preliminary and final determinations, affirmative or negative ... made on the basis of facts available" within the meaning of Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. In our view, continuing to apply a rate determined in an earlier proceeding is not the same as making a determination in the later proceeding, and, therefore, does not give rise to a possible violation of Article 6.8.

7.234. We note that the panel in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) was faced with a similar issue and reached a different conclusion. In that dispute, the panel acknowledged that, in the third administrative review under the Shrimp order, the USDOC "did not explicitly apply a facts available rate". 326 Observing that the rate ultimately assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the third review was exactly the same as the rates that had previously been assigned in the original investigations and preceding administrative review, the panel considered, however, that "to fail to treat this rate as a facts available rate would elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances surrounding the assignment of the rate". 327

7.235. We respectfully disagree with the reasoning of the panel in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam). As explained above, in our view, the application of Article 6.8 is triggered by an investigating authority resorting to "facts available" in the making of a determination. Given our view that, in the administrative reviews at issue, the USDOC did not make a determination within the meaning of Article 6.8, we are unable to find that the USDOC made a determination on the basis of facts available in the three administrative reviews at issue.

7.236. For the reasons set out above, we find that Viet Nam has failed to establish that the rate applied to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative review is inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.5 Claims regarding Section 129(c)(1) of the US Uruguay Round Agreements Act

7.5.1 Introduction

7.237. Viet Nam claims that Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA is "as such" inconsistent with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 328 Viet Nam argues that, by limiting the application of new, WTO-consistent, determinations made to implement adverse DSB recommendations and rulings to "entries" (imports) of subject merchandise made on or after the "implementation date" of the new determination, Section 129 precludes US authorities from implementing DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to any entries made prior to that date and that remain "unliquidated", which Viet Nam refers to as "prior unliquidated entries". 329 Specifically, Viet Nam argues that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with:

a. Article 1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that Section 129(c)(1) results in the application of an anti-dumping measure despite the duty having been imposed pursuant to an investigation conducted in violation of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

³²⁵ See, for instance, preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12211. Similar language is found in the determinations for the fifth and sixth reviews.

³²⁶ Panel Report, *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, para. 7.277. ³²⁷ Panel Report, *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, para. 7.279.

³²⁸ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 15, 42, 211-266, and 356. Although Viet Nam cites the GATT 1994 in respect of this claim in paras. 42 and 212 of its first written submission, Viet Nam has presented no arguments with respect to any claim of violation, on an independent basis, under the GATT 1994. Moreover, although Section 129 applies to the United States' implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings under the Anti-Dumping, SCM and Safeguard Agreements, Viet Nam only makes claims under the Anti-Dumping

³²⁹ Viet Nam defines "prior unliquidated entries" as imports made prior to the date on which the Section 129 determination takes effect (date of implementation) and for which there is no definitive assessment of anti-dumping duty liability (the final duty rate and duty have not yet been established) as of that date.

- b. Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement to the extent that Section 129(c)(1) results in the continued collection of anti-dumping duties at a level in excess of the "appropriate amount" (i.e., an amount determined consistently with the terms of the Anti-Dumping Agreement) on prior unliquidated entries; 330
- c. Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement to the extent that Section 129(c)(1) results in the continued collection of anti-dumping duties at a level exceeding the margin of dumping established consistently with Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement on prior unliquidated entries; ³³¹
- d. Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement to the extent that Section 129(c)(1) results in the continued collection of anti-dumping duties with respect to prior unliquidated entries pursuant to anti-dumping duty orders that were revoked; 332
- e. Article 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that Section 129(c)(1) results in the continued collection of duties amounts pursuant to an action that is performed without the authority provided in the GATT 1994. 333

7.5.2 Factual background

7.238. Section 129 of the URAA (codified at 19 U.S.C. § 3538) sets forth a mechanism with respect to the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings concerning anti-dumping and countervailing duty actions. Section 129(c)(1), the specific sub-paragraph challenged by Viet Nam, addresses the question of when revised determinations made pursuant to that mechanism ("Section 129 determinations") take effect. It provides that Section 129 determinations apply to entries made *on or after* the date on which the USTR directs the USDOC to revoke the order in totality or in part (in the case of a USITC Section 129 determination) or the date on which the USTR directs the USDOC to implement a USDOC Section 129 determination.³³⁴ For ease of reference, we hereafter refer to these dates as the "implementation date".

7.239. Section 129 (codified at 19 U.S.C. § 3538) provides, in relevant part:

§ 3538 Administrative action following WTO panel reports

(a) Action by the United States International Trade Commission

(1) Advisory report

If a dispute settlement panel finds in an interim report under Article 15 of the Dispute Settlement Understanding, or the Appellate Body finds in a report under Article 17 of that Understanding, that an action by the International Trade Commission in connection with a particular proceeding is not in conformity with the obligations of the United States under the Antidumping Agreement, the Safeguards Agreement, or the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, the Trade Representative may request the Commission to issue an advisory report on whether title VII of the Tariff Act of 1930 or title II of the Trade Act of 1974, as the case may be, permits the Commission to take steps in connection with the particular proceeding that would render its action not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body

³³⁰ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 236-238.

³³¹ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 239-240.

³³² Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 241.

³³³ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 212, 242-243; second written submission para. 85; response to Panel question No. 70.

³³⁴ The USTR has authority to order implementation of all USDOC Section 129 determinations and to direct the USDOC to implement a revised USITC Section 129 determination by revoking the order in whole or in part. However, the USTR does not have authority to order implementation of a USITC Section 129 determination that does not result in at least partial revocation of the order. On the latter, see the discussion of the decision of the US Court of International Trade in *Tembec v. United States*, below in footnotes 373 and 398.

concerning those obligations. The Trade Representative shall notify the congressional committees of such request.

...

(3) Consultations on request for Commission determination

If a majority of the Commissioners issues an affirmative report under paragraph (1), the Trade Representative shall consult with the congressional committees concerning the matter.

(4) Commission determination

Notwithstanding any provision of the Tariff Act of 1930 ... or title II of the Trade Act of 1974... if a majority of the Commissioners issues an affirmative report under paragraph (1), the Commission, upon the written request of the Trade Representative, shall issue a determination in connection with the particular proceeding that would render the Commission's action described in paragraph (1) not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or Appellate Body. The Commission shall issue its determination not later than 120 days after the request from the Trade Representative is made.

(5) Consultations on implementation of Commission determination

The Trade Representative shall consult with the congressional committees before the Commission's determination under paragraph (4) is implemented.

(6) Revocation of order

If, by virtue of the Commission's determination under paragraph (4), an antidumping or countervailing duty order with respect to some or all of the imports that are subject to the action of the Commission described in paragraph (1) is no longer supported by an affirmative Commission determination under title VII of the Tariff Act of 1930 ... or this subsection, the Trade Representative may, after consulting with the congressional committees under paragraph (5), direct the administering authority to revoke the antidumping or countervailing duty order in whole or in part.

(b) Action by administering authority³³⁵

(1) Consultations with administering authority and congressional committees

Promptly after a report by a dispute settlement panel or the Appellate Body is issued that contains findings that an action by the administering authority in a proceeding under title VII of the Tariff Act of 1930 ... is not in conformity with the obligations of the United States under the Antidumping Agreement or the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, the Trade Representative shall consult with the administering authority and the congressional committees on the matter.

(2) Determination by administering authority

Notwithstanding any provision of the Tariff Act of 1930 ... the administering authority shall, within 180 days after receipt of a written

³³⁵ The USDOC is the "administering authority".

request from the Trade Representative, issue a determination in connection with the particular proceeding that would render the administering authority's action described in paragraph (1) not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body.

(3) Consultations before implementation

Before the administering authority implements any determination under paragraph (2), the Trade Representative shall consult with the administering authority and the congressional committees with respect to such determination.

(4) Implementation of determination

The Trade Representative may, after consulting with the administering authority and the congressional committees under paragraph (3), direct the administering authority to implement, in whole or in part, the determination made under paragraph (2).

(c) Effects of determinations; notice of implementation

(1) Effects of determinations

Determinations concerning title VII of the Tariff Act of 1930 [19 U.S.C. 1671 et seq.]... that are implemented under this section shall apply with respect to unliquidated entries of the subject merchandise (as defined in section 771 of that Act [19 U.S.C. 1677]) that are entered, or withdrawn from warehouse, for consumption on or after—

- (A) in the case of a determination by the Commission under subsection (a)(4), the date on which the Trade Representative directs the administering authority under subsection (a)(6) to revoke an order pursuant to that determination, and
- (B) in the case of a determination by the administering authority under subsection (b)(2), the date on which the Trade Representative directs the administering authority under subsection (b)(4) to implement that determination.

(2) Notice of Implementation

- (A) The administering authority shall publish in the Federal Register notice of the implementation of any determination made under this section with respect to title VII of the Tariff Act of 1930....
- (B) The Trade Representative shall publish in the Federal Register notice of the implementation of any determination made under this section with respect to title II of the Trade Act of 1974...

(d) Opportunity for comment by interested parties

Prior to issuing a determination under this section, the administering authority or the Commission, as the case may be, shall provide interested parties with an opportunity to submit written comments and, in appropriate cases, may hold a hearing, with respect to the determination. 336

7.240. In practice, the "implementation" of a Section 129 determination may result in: (i) the revocation of the order; or (ii) a change in the dumping calculation resulting in the USDOC

³³⁶ Section 129 of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3538, Exhibit VN-31.

modifying the cash deposit rates that apply to entries of the subject product from the date of implementation going forward. Viet Nam refers to the cases in the first situation as "revocation" cases and to cases in the second as "modification" cases.

7.241. Although not challenged by Viet Nam, Section 123 of the URAA is also relevant to our consideration of Viet Nam's claims.³³⁷ Section 123(g)(1) establishes a mechanism for US authorities to make changes in USDOC (or other agency) regulations or practice to render them consistent with DSB recommendations and rulings.³³⁸ Under that provision, the regulation or practice at issue may be amended, rescinded, or otherwise modified upon the fulfilment of a series of procedural steps, including consultations between the relevant agency, USTR, and the appropriate congressional committees. The changes go into effect no less than 60 days after the date on which the agency and USTR consult with the relevant congressional committees, unless the US President determines that an earlier date is in the national interest.

7.242. Also of relevance to Viet Nam's claims are the findings of the panel in an earlier dispute, $US - Section \ 129(c)(1) \ URAA.^{339}$ In that dispute, the panel considered and rejected claims by Canada that are similar to the claims of Viet Nam in the present dispute. Canada had claimed that Section 129(c)(1) was "as such" inconsistent with: (i) Articles VI:2, VI:3, and VI:6(a) of the GATT 1994; (ii) Articles 1, 9.3, 11.1, and 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement; (iii) Articles 10, 19.4, 21.1 and 32.1 of the SCM Agreement; and (iv) as a consequence of these violations, Article 18.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, Article 32.5 of the SCM Agreement, and Article XVI:4 of the WTO Agreement.³⁴⁰ In its analysis, the panel considered the text of Section 129(c)(1), the Statement of Administrative Action that accompanied the URAA ("SAA"), as well as the application of Section 129(c)(1) by the United States Government as of that date. The panel found that Section 129(c)(1), on its face, does not address prior unliquidated entries, and only speaks to entries that take place on or after the implementation date. On this basis, it was clear to the panel that Section 129(c)(1) does not, by its express terms, require or preclude any particular action with respect to "prior unliquidated entries". 341 The panel further rejected Canada's arguments that Section 129(c)(1) had the effect of requiring and/or precluding certain actions with respect to prior unliquidated entries. The panel considered, inter alia, that it could not be inferred from the mere fact that a Section 129 determination establishing a new dumping margin or a new countervailable subsidy rate was not applicable to prior unliquidated entries that the USDOC would be required to retain excessive cash deposits collected on such entries, would be precluded from refunding such cash deposits, would be required to make administrative review determinations and assess definitive duties with respect to prior unliquidated entries on the basis of the previous, WTO inconsistent methodology, or would be precluded from making administrative review determinations and assessing definitive duties with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" on the basis of the new, WTO-consistent methodology.342 The panel also reasoned that it could not be inferred from the mere fact that a revocation is not applicable to prior unliquidated entries that the

 $^{^{\}rm 337}$ Section 123 of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3533, Exhibit US-10.

³³⁸ The USITC is an independent agency of the United States Government; Section 123(g)(4) provides that Section 123(g) does not apply to any regulation or practice of the USITC.

³³⁹ Panel Report, *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA*.

³⁴⁰ Canada alleged that Section 129(c)(1) "required", or had the effect of "requiring", the USDOC to:

⁽a) conduct administrative reviews with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" after the implementation date pursuant to an anti-dumping or countervailing duty order found by the DSB to be WTO-inconsistent;

⁽b) make administrative review determinations regarding dumping or subsidization, with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" after the implementation date pursuant to an anti-dumping or countervailing duty order found by the DSB to be WTO-inconsistent;

⁽c) assess definitive duties with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" after the implementation date pursuant to an antidumping or countervailing duty order found by the DSB to be WTO-inconsistent; and

⁽d) retain cash deposits in respect of "prior unliquidated entries" after the implementation date at a level found by the DSB to be WTO-inconsistent.

Canada also alleged that section 129(c)(1) "precluded", or had the effect of "precluding", the USDOC from:

⁽a) making administrative review determinations regarding dumping or subsidization with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" after the implementation date in a manner that was consistent with an adverse DSB ruling;

⁽b) assessing definitive antidumping or countervailing duties with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" after the implementation date in a manner that was consistent with an adverse DSB ruling; and

⁽c) refunding, after the implementation date, cash deposits collected on "prior unliquidated entries" pursuant to an antidumping or countervailing duty order found by the DSB to be WTO inconsistent. (Panel Report, $US - Section\ 129(c)(1)\ URAA$, paras. 6.31-6.32).

Panel Report, US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA, paras. 6.54-6.55 and footnote 101.

³⁴² Panel Report, *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA*, paras. 6.68-6.69.

USDOC would be required to retain cash deposits collected on such entries on the basis of the WTO-inconsistent order, would be precluded from refunding such cash deposits, would be required to conduct administrative reviews for such entries, would be required to make determinations with respect to such entries on the basis of the WTO-inconsistent order, or would be precluded from making such determinations and assessing definitive duties with respect to such entries in a manner consistent with WTO requirements. On this basis, the panel concluded that Canada had failed to establish that Section 129(c)(1) "mandated", as a matter of WTO law, the United States to take any of those actions or mandated it not to take any of those actions. 343 In light of these findings, the panel did not did not reach the issue of whether the actions alleged by Canada were inconsistent with the United States' obligations under the covered agreements. 344

7.5.3 Main arguments of the parties

7.5.3.1 Viet Nam

7.243. Viet Nam argues that Section 129 is the exclusive authority³⁴⁵, or the first point of inquiry³⁴⁶, under US law, for implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings where implementation can be achieved by a new administrative determination without the need for statutory or regulatory amendment. Viet Nam notes that the Appellate Body has found that the date of liquidation, and not the date of entry, is the relevant parameter for assessing implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings.³⁴⁷ Viet Nam argues that by providing that the determination takes effect only with respect to unliquidated entries made on or after the implementation date, Section 129(c)(1) prohibits the refund of duties on prior unliquidated entries and thus prevents the United States from implementing DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to those prior unliquidated entries. 348

7.244. Viet Nam finds support for its interpretation of Section 129(c) as precluding implementation with respect to prior unliquidated entries in the SAA that accompanied the $URAA^{349}$ and in decisions of US courts – in particular the decision of the US Court of International Trade in Corus Staal BV v. United States. 350

7.245. Viet Nam argues that the US - Section 129(c)(1) URAA panel erred in its interpretation of Section 129 and that this Panel has the benefit of several years of application of Section 129 which the previous panel did not have. 351 Viet Nam argues that the USDOC's application of Section 129 over these years shows a systematic and constant refusal by the USDOC to issue liquidation instructions that would extend the result of Section 129 determinations to prior unliquidated entries every time that the opportunity to do so arose, for both "modification" and "revocation" cases.352

7.246. Viet Nam submits that Sections 123 and 129 are distinct, and that Section 123 does not address and is not a remedy to the narrow legal effect of Section 129 determinations. Viet Nam argues that while it is possible for Section 123 and Section 129 to operate in sequence where a regulation or practice is first amended under Section 123 before it is applied to correct a specific action under Section 129, that is a "fact specific scenario that is neither automatic nor in any way

 $^{^{343}}$ Panel Report, US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA, paras. 6.124-6.126. 344 Panel Report, US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA, paras. 6.127-6.128.

³⁴⁵ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 211, 224-225; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 28.

³⁴⁶ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 26.

³⁴⁷ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 232 (citing to Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (Japan)* (Article 21.5 – Japan), para. 261.

³⁴⁸ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 211-252. In para. 213 of its first written submission, Viet Nam argues that Section 129(c)(1) "serves as an absolute legal bar to any refund of duties as prior unliquidated entries". In para. 223 of its first written submission, Viet Nam characterizes Section 129(c)(1) as an "express prohibition against duty refunds for prior unliquidated entries" and a "rule with no discretion at all" established by Congress.

³⁴⁹ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 221-222 and 231 (referring to SAA, Exhibit VN-34).

³⁵⁰ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 223-245; second written submission, paras. 62-67 (referring to Corus Staal BV v. United States, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140 (Ct. Int'l Trade, 19 Sept. 2007), Exhibit VN-36).

351 Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 244.

³⁵² Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 264-266; response to Panel question No. 50; second written submission, paras. 68-69.

diminishes Viet Nam's claim regarding the legal effect given Section 129 determinations". In addition, Viet Nam takes issue with the fact that, even in cases where Section 123 may bring implementation with respect to prior unliquidated entries, the USDOC retains excessive cash deposits well after the expiration of the "reasonable period of time" to comply with the DSB recommendations and rulings. Likewise, Viet Nam considers that the fact that the United States might implement adverse DSB rulings and recommendations through future administrative reviews does not render Section 129 WTO-consistent. 354

7.5.3.2 United States

7.247. The United States submits that Viet Nam's claims are without merit. The United States argues that Viet Nam fails to establish that Section 129(c)(1) mandates actions that are inconsistent with WTO obligations. 355

7.248. Moreover, the United States contends that Viet Nam improperly assumes that implementation would necessarily be effectuated through Section 129, to the exclusion of other means of implementation, i.e. Section 123 or the adoption by Congress of a law having an impact on prior unliquidated entries. The United States argues that the US authorities have in the past assessed and liquidated prior unliquidated entries in a manner that is consistent with DSB recommendations and rulings by using these other mechanisms. 356 In addition, the United States argues that implementation could be effectuated through determinations in subsequent segments of the proceeding. 357 The United States explains that, for instance, the USDOC could change – and has in past instances changed - the methodology it applies in an administrative review conducted after the Section 129 implementation date (whether following action pursuant to Section 123 or not). 358 The United States argues that applying the mandatory/discretionary analytical approach to the facts at issue in this dispute, it is clear that nothing in Section 129(c)(1) mandates a breach of the US obligations under the covered agreements.³⁵⁹ The United States contends that the same arguments that Viet Nam makes in this proceeding – that Section 129 is the exclusive authority under US law for the United States to comply with adverse DSB rulings, and that Section 129 is a legal bar against refunds for any WTO-inconsistent duties applicable to entries made before the implementation date - were rejected by the US - Section 129(c)(1) URAA panel. 360

7.249. Finally, the United States submits that the provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement cited by Viet Nam do not impose any obligations with respect to the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings. The United States considers that, in the anti-dumping context, the DSU is the only WTO agreement that addresses the obligation to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. ³⁶¹

7.5.4 Main arguments of the third parties

7.250. **China** agrees with Viet Nam that Section 129 is the only vehicle by which the United States implements adverse DSB recommendations and rulings regarding individual administrative reviews and that Section 129 is WTO-inconsistent for the reasons advanced by Viet Nam. China submits that the possibility that the US Congress may adopt new legislation cannot preclude other Members from establishing the WTO-inconsistency of existing US laws, practices, or particular measures. China further argues that, while the USDOC may change its regulations or practices pursuant to Section 123, this provision does not apply with respect to particular anti-dumping measures, and the United States cannot rely on broad policy changes

³⁵³ Viet Nam's response to Panel question Nos. 26, 27, and 67.

 $^{^{354}}$ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 26 (referring, *inter alia*, to Appellate Body Report, US-1916 Act, paras. 91 and 155).

³⁵⁵ United States' first written submission, para. 104.

³⁵⁶ United States' first written submission, paras. 96-97 and 109-112.

³⁵⁷ United States' first written submission, para. 106.

³⁵⁸ United States' first written submission, para. 120; second written submission, para. 39.

³⁵⁹ United States' response to Panel question No. 30; second written submission, paras 47-52.

³⁶⁰ United States' first written submission, paras. 94-95; second written submission, paras. 35-36.

³⁶¹ United States' first written submission, paras. 98-103; closing statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 3; second written submission, paras. 41-44.

under Section 123 as a means of avoiding its obligation to comply with DSB rulings in individual reviews under Section 129.362

7.251. Concerning the provisions cited by Viet Nam, China argues that a Member simultaneously bears obligations: (i) to conform with the covered agreements; and (ii) under Articles 19.4 and 21.1 and 21.3 of the DSU, when the DSB adopts a finding of inconsistency, to comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. China argues that by failing to comply with the DSB rulings and recommendations, a Member not only violates the obligation under the provisions of DSU, but also remains in continued violation of the obligations under the relevant covered agreement.³⁶³

7.252. The **European Union** argues that the possibility of a municipal authority (e.g. the US Congress) revoking, modifying or countermanding the measure identified by the complaining Member exists in every case, and has no relevance to the WTO-consistency of the measure. The European Union considers that the possibility of US municipal authorities using another measure (Section 123) in order to ensure WTO-consistency may have some relevance to what the measure is. However, in the present dispute, the European Union is of the view that a consideration of Section 123 does not have any impact on the question of whether Section 129(c)(1) ensures compliance and is WTO-consistent. The European Union also submits that "as such" claims require a higher threshold of evidence than "as applied" claims and recalls the Appellate Body's indication that the "mandatory/discretionary" distinction is not to be mechanistically applied. The European Union argues that the more mandatory (or less discretionary) something is, the more likely it is that it will lead to the WTO-inconsistent behaviour complained of, and the more likely it is that it will lead to the WTO-inconsistent behaviour complained of, and the less likely it is that it will lead to the WTO-inconsistent behaviour complained of, and the less likely it is that the measure itself is WTO-inconsistent.

7.253. Regarding the legal bases cited by Viet Nam for its claims, the European Union notes that the essence of Viet Nam's complaint is that Section 129(c)(1) does not ensure conformity with DSB recommendations and rulings. While Viet Nam might have been expected to make claims under Article XVI:4 of the WTO Agreement and Article 18.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, or under Articles 3.7, 17.4, 21.1 or 21.3 of the DSU, the European Union considers that the type of claims made by Viet Nam can be framed differently, and the Panel has to consider whether or not the provisions cited by Viet Nam are adequate.³⁶⁷

7.254. **Japan** submits that Section 129 appears to be inconsistent "as such" with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Japan argues that the text of Section 129 as a whole suggests that a Section 129 proceeding is meant to be the exclusive avenue pursuant to which the USDOC and USITC may bring anti-dumping measures into compliance with adopted recommendations and rulings. Japan adds that this interpretation is supported by the SAA and by US Court of International Trade findings that Section 129 precludes any relief with respect to prior unliquidated entries, even in revocation cases. Japan argues that the United States' arguments regarding Section 123 and the possibility of Congressional action are unpersuasive. Japan argues that Section 123, by its terms, appears to apply only with respect to recommendations and rulings concerning a US regulation or practice and would not apply with respect to determinations in specific cases. Regarding the possibility that the US Congress could pass a new law that might have an impact on prior unliquidated entries, Japan submits that WTO Members always retain the ability to modify or abandon particular measures in the future. Japan contends, however, that that theoretical possibility does not preclude other Members from establishing that an existing law or practice is inconsistent with the covered agreements.

7.255. Japan argues that if, in certain specific circumstances, the statute pursuant to which a Member implements the recommendations and rulings of the DSB necessarily leads to a failure to comply after the expiration of the reasonable period of time, that statute would itself be

³⁶² China's third-party submission, paras. 39-46; response to Panel question No. 10.

³⁶³ China's response to Panel question No. 12.

³⁶⁴ European Union's response to Panel question No. 10.

³⁶⁵ European Union's third-party submission, paras. 25-36.

³⁶⁶ European Union's third-party submission, paras. 25-36; response to Panel question No. 11.

³⁶⁷ European Union's response to Panel question No. 12.

³⁶⁸ Japan's third-party submission, paras. 13-19 (referring to, *inter alia, Corus Staal BV v. United States*, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140 (Ct. Int'l Trade, 19 Sept. 2007), Exhibit VN-36).

inconsistent with the covered agreements. For this reason, Japan does not believe that Viet Nam must establish that Section 129(c)(1) necessarily leads to WTO-inconsistent action in all instances to succeed in its claim. Japan adds that the mandatory/discretionary distinction, which the Appellate Body cautioned should not be applied in a mechanistic fashion, does not come into play in the current dispute given that the United States only refers to the possibility that other, separate, measures (i.e. Section 123) may address prior unliquidated entries, rather than relying on the USDOC's possible discretion under Section 129 with respect to liquidation of prior unliquidated entries. Even if the Panel were to consider the "mandatory/discretionary" distinction relevant to Viet Nam's claim in this case, Japan believes that it would be sufficient for Viet Nam to demonstrate that the provision subject to challenge mandates, or leads to, WTO-inconsistent liquidation in certain specific circumstances. 369

7.256. **Norway** recalls that the Appellate Body clarified in US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan) that Members must comply with DSB rulings and recommendations no later than by the end of the reasonable period of time. Thus, for Norway, WTO-inconsistent measures affecting imports that entered an implementing Member's territory prior to the expiration of the reasonable period of time must be rectified by the end of that reasonable period of time. 370

7.5.5 Evaluation by the Panel

7.257. We consider it appropriate to first examine whether Viet Nam has established, as a factual matter, that Section 129(c)(1) acts as a legal bar – or precludes – implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries. If we find that Viet Nam has done so, we will consider whether this results in an inconsistency with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. With respect to the latter, we note that Viet Nam relies on the finding of the Appellate Body in *US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)* that the relevant date to assess implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings is the date on which the duty is assessed or collected, and that any action for the assessment or collection of duties after the expiry of the reasonable period of time must conform to the DSB's recommendations and rulings, irrespective of the date of importation. Viet Nam relies on this finding to argue that when a US anti-dumping determination is found to be WTO-inconsistent, the United States must implement the DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to any entries that remain unliquidated as of the expiration of the reasonable period of time.

7.258. Before we turn to our consideration of Viet Nam's factual allegations concerning the operation of Section 129, it is important to highlight the fact that Viet Nam's challenge is limited to Section 129(c)(1). Viet Nam does not challenge any other provision of US law. As a result, we are not asked to consider whether other provisions of US law, by themselves or in combination with Section 129(c)(1), preclude US authorities from taking actions to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries; we are only tasked with considering Viet Nam's contention that Section 129(c)(1) itself precludes such actions.

7.259. We begin our analysis of Viet Nam's claim with the text of Section 129(c)(1). Section 129(c)(1) sets out when revised determinations made pursuant to the Section 129 mechanism take effect. It defines the application of those determinations in terms of which entries are affected, providing that a Section 129 determination "shall apply with respect to unliquidated entries of the subject merchandise ... that are entered, or withdrawn from warehouse, for consumption on or after" the implementation date. As a result, Section 129 does not, on its face, have any effect with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Thus, it is clear to us, as it was to the US - Section 129(c)(1) URAA panel, that prior unliquidated entries are unaffected by a Section 129 determination. We agree with the conclusion reached by the US - Section 129(c)(1) URAA panel that Section 129(c)(1) "does not, by its express terms, require or preclude any particular action with respect to prior unliquidated entries". The necessarily follows that

³⁶⁹ Japan's third-party submission, paras. 13-19; third-party statement, paras. 3-8; response to Panel question Nos. 10-13.

question Nos. 10-13.

370 Norway's third-party statement, paras. 11-13 (citing Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*(Article 21.5 – Japan), paras. 160-161).

⁽Article 21.5 – Japan), paras. 160-161).

371 Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan), paras. 153-197. See also Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC), paras. 286-355; and Panel Reports, US – Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC), paras. 8.164-8.218; and US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan), paras. 7.139-7.155.

 $^{^{372}}$ Panel Report, $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)\ URAA$, para. 6.55.

Section 129(c)(1) cannot be found to preclude implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to such prior unliquidated entries. The fact that, as alleged by Viet Nam, Section 129 may be the only explicit statutory provision governing the effective date of US Government determinations to implement DSB recommendations and rulings in our view cannot justify an interpretation of the statute that is unsupported by its terms.³⁷³

7.260. We note the $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)\ URAA$ panel's view that it may well be the case that because Section 129(c)(1) limits the application of Section 129 determinations to entries that take place on or after the implementation date, prior unliquidated entries would remain subject to other provisions of US anti-dumping or countervailing duty laws which might, for instance, require the USDOC to assess definitive duties with respect to these prior unliquidated entries on the basis of an old, WTO-inconsistent methodology, or might preclude the USDOC from assessing duties with respect to such entries on the basis of the new, WTO-consistent methodology, but that, in such instances, it would not be because of Section 129(c)(1) that the USDOC would be required to take, or be precluded from taking, such actions, but because of those other provisions of US law. 374 We agree with this view, and recall once again that our mandate in this dispute is limited to examining the WTO-consistency of Section 129(c)(1).

7.261. Viet Nam also relies, in support of its interpretation of Section 129(c)(1), on the SAA, noting in particular the statement that "[u]nder 129(c)(1), if implementation of a WTO report should result in the revocation of an antidumping or countervailing duty order, entries made prior to the date of the USTR's direction would remain subject to potential duty liability". The SAA is an authoritative statement on the interpretation of the URAA, adopted by the US Congress at the time of the adoption of the latter. The indicates, in respect of Section 129(c)(1), inter alia, that:

Consistent with the principle that GATT panel recommendations apply only prospectively, subsection 129(c)(1) provides that where determinations by the ITC or Commerce are implemented under subsections (a) or (b), such determinations have prospective effect only. That is, they apply to unliquidated entries of merchandise entered, or withdrawn from warehouse, for consumption on or after the date on which the Trade Representative directs implementation. Thus, relief available under subsection 129(c)(1) is distinguishable from relief available in an action brought before a court or a NAFTA binational panel, where, depending on the circumstances of the case, retroactive relief may be available. Under 129(c)(1), if implementation of a WTO report should result in the revocation of an antidumping or countervailing duty

 $^{^{373}}$ Viet Nam further argues that the US Congress' failure to provide the USTR with authority to implement modified USITC affirmative injury determinations would be odd if Congress, in enacting Section 129, was truly leaving open the possibility under US law to extend the relief provided by adverse DSB recommendations and rulings. (Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 252-254.) Viet Nam argues in this respect that where an affirmative USITC determination is modified from a finding of present material injury to a finding of threat of material injury, it creates a situation where unliquidated provisional measure deposits should be refunded pursuant to US law and to Article 10.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Viet Nam submits that in the absence of any legal authority to implement the modified USITC determination, there is no basis under US law for the USDOC to instruct USCBP to make such refunds. Viet Nam argues that if Congress' intent was simply not to ensure compliance with respect to prior unliquidated entries, as opposed to precluding compliance, it would not have completely denied any authority to implement modified USITC injury determinations as it would otherwise be nonsensical to assume that Congress only created this limitation for USITC determinations and not USDOC determinations. (Viet Nam's first written submission, paras, 253-254). In making this argument, Viet Nam relies on a finding of the Court in Tembec v. United States that "section 129 cannot be read to imply authority for the USTR to order the implementation of a section 129(a) determination that does not result in at least partial revocation of a related AD, CVD, or safeguards order" However, as we discuss below in footnote 398, Viet Nam misreads this holding as implying that the USTR has no authority to order the refund of duties where a WTO-inconsistent finding of present injury is replaced, in a Section 129 determination, by a finding of threat of injury; the Court explicitly refrains from deciding this question. Even if Viet Nam's interpretation of Section 129 is correct, there is nothing in this argument by Viet Nam that addresses the basic shortcoming in its position identified above, namely that Section 129 has no effect with respect to prior unliquidated entries. While it may be that the United States fails to implement adverse DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries, such an outcome would presumably result from the operation of other provisions of US law; it does not result from the operation of Section 129(c).

 $^{^{374}}$ Panel Report, *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA*, footnotes 112, 123, and 126.

³⁷⁵ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 66 (referring to SAA, Exhibit VN-34).

³⁷⁶ Section 101(a)(2) of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3511(a)(2), Exhibit VN-32; Section 102(d) of the URAA, 19 U.S.C. § 3512(d), Exhibit VN-33.

order, entries made prior to the date of Trade Representative's direction would remain subject to potential duty liability.³⁷⁷

7.262. The SAA does not contradict our reading of Section 129(c)(1). Rather, it merely confirms that which is readily apparent from the text of Section 129(c)(1), i.e. that implementation through Section 129 determinations only has effects with respect to entries that are made after the implementation date. Nothing in the SAA suggests that Section 129(c)(1) concerns itself with in any way, or itself has any effect on, prior unliquidated entries. 378

7.263. Viet Nam also finds support for its interpretation of Section 129(c)(1) in USDOC practice since Section 129(c)(1) came into effect. 379 Viet Nam argues that this USDOC practice demonstrates that the US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA panel's interpretation of the provision was in error, as the US authorities' application of Section 129 to date "reveals a systematic and consistent refusal by the USDOC to issue liquidation instructions that would extend the results of its Section 129 determinations to prior unliquidated entries". 380 Viet Nam adds that in every single instance, whether in revocation or modification cases, where an opportunity (according to the United States' interpretation) presents itself for the USDOC to extend the benefit of a DSB ruling to prior unliquidated entries, the United States Government foregoes that opportunity.381 Specifically, Viet Nam argues that in every case in which a Section 129 determination resulted in a revocation, the USDOC continued to retain anti-dumping deposits after the implementation date and then conducted a subsequent administrative review covering prior unliquidated entries that resulted in the assessment of final duties on those entries, notwithstanding the revocation of the order as a result of the Section 129 determination. 382 Likewise, Viet Nam submits that, although in some instances one must "disentangle the normal operation of US trade remedy laws from the restrictions imposed by Section 129", in every modification case it is possible to identify a course of conduct that is consistent with an interpretation that Section 129(c)(1) prohibits extending the benefits of DSB rulings to prior unliquidated entries. Viet Nam adds that this is most often seen in the refusal to refund excessive deposits on entries prior to the implementation date, and in automatic liquidation instructions that call for assessments at the pre-Section 129 rate. 383

7.264. The application of Section 129(c)(1) to date does suggests that the United States Government, following a Section 129 proceeding resulting in a determination to revoke or modify an anti-dumping order, typically has not extended the effect of that decision to prior unliquidated entries. That said, we fail to see how the "pattern" alleged by Viet Nam would, in and of itself, demonstrate that the USDOC legally cannot "extend the benefits of implementation" (to use Viet Nam's formulation) to prior unliquidated entries. More importantly, it does not establish that the United States Government is precluded from doing so by Section 129(c)(1), which is the only provision of US law challenged by Viet Nam. 384 Hence, we cannot agree with Viet Nam's assertion that the "consistent pattern" of the US Government not extending the effect of Section 129

³⁷⁷ SAA, Exhibit VN-34

 $^{^{378}}$ Like the $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)\ URAA$ panel, we note that the SAA affirmatively states that "prior unliquidated entries" would remain subject to potential duty liability and that it is conceivable that administrative reviews would be conducted with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" and that administrative review determinations would be made with respect to such entries on the basis of a WTO-inconsistent determination. Also like that panel, we consider that such actions, if taken, would not be taken because they were required by section 129(c)(1), but because they were required or allowed under other provisions of US law. (Panel Report, $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)\ URAA$, para. 6.110.)

³⁷⁹ Viet Nam alleges that the USDOC alone has issued 21 Section 129 determinations affecting more than 40 distinct anti-dumping or countervailing duty orders. For the sake of clarity, we recall that Viet Nam challenges Section 129(c)(1) "as such", i.e. independently of any application of that provision in any particular case. Viet Nam relies on the USDOC practice as evidence supporting its interpretation of Section 129(c)(1), and that is how we consider this evidence.

³⁸⁰ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 257.

³⁸¹ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 264; second written submission, para. 68.

³⁸² Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 265; second written submission, para. 68.

³⁸³ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 266. Viet Nam adds that "even in cases where the Section 129 margin is higher, the USDOC never issues instructions that change the deposits or assessments for prior unliquidated entries". In Exhibit VN-42, Viet Nam provides the Panel with extensive examples of how the United State has applied Section 129 since 2001.

³⁸⁴ In fact, it would appear that the treatment of prior unliquidated entries is merely a result of other provisions of US law and of the prior determinations continuing to produce effects with respect to those entries.

determinations to prior unliquidated entries suggests "more than just a practice, but a recognition that Section 129 demands such treatment as a matter of U.S. law". 385

7.265. Moreover, we note that the United States asserts that the USDOC can "implement" DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries. According the United States:

- a. The US Congress may adopt new legislation or amend existing legislation in a manner that will mean that prior unliquidated entries are liquidated pursuant to a WTO-consistent methodology;
- b. The US Administration can use Section 123 to amend a WTO-inconsistent USDOC practice, and, in setting the effective date of the modification, can effectively implement with respect to prior unliquidated entries.
- c. The USDOC could adopt a WTO-consistent methodology in a subsequent administrative review, i.e. another segment of the proceeding, thus effectively "implementing" with respect to prior unliquidated entries. 386

7.266. In this regard, we note that the United States has identified instances in which the United States Government has used certain of these approaches. 387 The evidence submitted by the United States satisfies us that the United States Government is not precluded from implementing DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries. In particular, the United States effectively demonstrated that in a situation in which a Section 129 determination is implemented with respect to entries made after that determination, and an administrative review is conducted with respect to prior unliquidated entries, the relevant authority (USDOC or USITC) may, in that subsequent administrative review, act in accordance with the relevant DSB recommendations and rulings. This would be possible whenever a WTO-consistent approach suggested by the relevant DSB recommendations and rulings is permitted by the relevant applicable law or regulation, or where the United States Government modifies the regulation or practice pursuant to Section 123.388 The United States identifies instances in which a modification to USDOC practice (with respect to the USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology) was effected through a Section 129 determination as well as a Section 123 rule modification, which itself was applied in subsequent administrative reviews with respect to some prior unliquidated entries. 389

³⁸⁵ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 264; Viet Nam uses similar language in its opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 34.

³⁸⁶ United States' response to Panel question No. 29, paras. 100-106.

³⁸⁷ United States' first written submission, para. 120.

³⁸⁸ Again, we agree with the *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA* panel when it stated that: we find convincing the argument of the United States that a distinction is to be drawn between the section 129 determination, which, e.g., establishes a particular dumping margin or countervailable subsidy rate, and the methodologies developed and applied in a section 129 determination. As we understand the terms of section 129(c)(1), they limit the application of section 129 determinations to entries that take place on or after the implementation date. We see nothing in section 129(c)(1) which would similarly limit the use of methodologies developed and applied in a section 129 determination to such entries. Thus, section 129(c)(1) does not have the effect of precluding the application of methodologies developed in a section 129 determination in administrative reviews of "prior unliquidated entries". (Panel Report, *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA*, para. 6.72).

³⁸⁹ United States' first written submission, para. 120 (referring to USDOC Section 129 Compilation, Exhibit VN-42, Determination 19-1 (*Notice of Implementation of Determination Under Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act: Stainless Steel Plate in Coils From Belgium, Steel Concrete Reinforcing Bars From Latvia, Purified Carboxymethylcellulose From Finland, Certain Pasta From Italy, Purified Carboxymethylcellulose From the Netherlands, Stainless Steel Wire Rod From Spain, Granular Polytetrafluoroethylene Resin From Italy, Stainless Steel Sheet and Strip in Coils From Japan, 77 Fed. Reg. 36,257 (18 June 2012)), p. 36260; Antidumping Proceedings: Calculation of the Weighted-Average Dumping Margin and Assessment Rate in Certain Antidumping Duty Proceedings; Final Modification, 77 Fed. Reg. 8101 (14 February 2012), Exhibit VN-55; Purified Carboxymethylcellulose from the Netherlands: Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review and Preliminary Intent to Rescind, 77 Fed. Reg. 46,024 (2 Aug. 2012) (Exhibit US-18); Certain Pasta from Italy: Notice of Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review, Preliminary No Shipment Determination and Preliminary Intent to Revoke Order, in Part, 77 Fed. Reg. 46,377 (3 Aug. 2012), unchanged in 78 Fed. Reg. 9,364 (8 Feb. 2013), Exhibit US-19; and Purified Carboxymethylcellulose from Finland; Notice of Preliminary Results of Antidumping Duty Administrative Review, 77 Fed. Reg. 47,036 (7 Aug. 2012), Exhibit US-20).*

Viet Nam does not dispute the accuracy of the examples cited by the United States, but merely contests their relevance.³⁹⁰ That the United States authorities proceeded in this fashion in our view disproves Viet Nam's argument that the United States Government is in some general way precluded from "implementing" DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Moreover, it further confirms our view that Section 129 does not itself preclude the United States from implementing adverse DSB recommendations and rulings with respect to prior unliquidated entries.

7.267. Viet Nam also argues that decisions of US courts support its argument that Section 129 precludes implementation with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Although it suggests that there are a number of relevant US court decisions, Viet Nam only refers to the decisions of the US Court of International Trade in Corus Staal BV v. United States and - but only in passing - in Tembec v. United States. Viet Nam argues that the ruling of the Court in Corus Staal BV v. United States stands for the proposition that "the statutory language of Section 129 'explicitly' prevents any duty refunds prior to the USTR implementation date, and thus an importer who has any entries prior to the effective date 'cannot obtain relief under the current statutory scheme'". 391 Viet Nam also asserts that:

appeals before U.S. courts seeking to give legal effect to revocations issued as a result of Section 129 determinations to address prior unliquidated entries have been consistently swept aside. U.S. courts have repeatedly explained that, given the limited effective date of Section 129 determinations, there is no basis under U.S. law for finding an order invalid with respect to prior unliquidated entries. The order remains valid as a matter of U.S. law and such entries are subject to potential liability regardless of the adverse DSB rulings and recommendations. This is true even though, as a matter of U.S. law, under normal circumstances where an order is found invalid all deposits would be refunded. 392

7.268. We find it noteworthy that in this description of the US court rulings it purports to rely on, Viet Nam does not actually assert that Section 129 precludes refunds of duties with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Rather, the description of the rulings by Viet Nam suggests that they are consistent with our reading of Section 129(c) as having no effect on prior unliquidated entries. And indeed, in our view, they are. The gist of the US Court of International Trade's ruling in Corus $Staa\beta^{93}$ is that Section 129(c) does not *mandate* the refund of duties on prior unliquidated entries. In other words, the Court affirms that the effect of a revocation effectuated through the Section 129 mechanism is limited to entries made after the date of implementation. However nowhere does the Court suggest that Section 129 itself precludes the refund of prior unliquidated duties. In its opening statement at our first meeting, Viet Nam argued that the holding of the Court in Corus Staal is that "[b]ut for the explicit effective date under Section 129, one might find relief for prior unliquidated entries under the normal operation of U.S. trade law". 394 The statement of the Court of International Trade cited by Viet Nam does recognize a difference between the general operation of US law, where revocation of an order by a domestic court provides a legal basis to seek a refund with respect to prior unliquidated entries, and the operation of Section 129, which provides no legal basis for such action. 395 However, it does not follow from the fact that it

³⁹⁰ Viet Nam submits that the examples cited by the United States were "WTO-consistent action by coincidence" and only were a consequence of the normal operation of US law in that the rule had been changed through Section 123 action, and the USDOC only followed the modified rule in administrative reviews subsequent to the date of implementation of the Section 129 determination, thereby affecting prior unliquidated entries. Viet Nam argues that all that the examples cited by the United States show is that in some instances where a new regulation or practice is brought about by Section 123, that modification can be applied in some subsequent administrative review determination that may affect certain prior unliquidated entries. Viet Nam also argues that the United States' claims of WTO-consistent action in subsequent administrative reviews do not address the fact that the United States continues to hold on to excessive deposits between the period of the Section 129 determination and completion of the review. (Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 38-44; opening statement at the second meeting, para. 27.)

391 Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 250.

³⁹² Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 232. (emphasis added)

³⁹³ Corus Staal BV v. United States, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140 (Ct. Int'l Trade,

¹⁹ Sept. 2007), Exhibit VN-36.

394 Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting, para. 35.

³⁹⁵ In its findings, the Court indicates that:

does not provide for such refunds that Section 129(c)(1) precludes them, as Viet Nam alleges. In the absence of Section 129(c)(1), Section 129 would simply be without any definition of the temporal scope of application of Section 129 determinations. This would not, in our view, demonstrate that Section 129(c)(1) prohibits the refund of cash deposits on prior unliquidated entries.

7.269. The decision of the US Court of International Trade in *Tembec v United States*, which Viet Nam also refers to in passing³⁹⁷, also merely confirms that Section 129 has limited effects. It does not suggest that Section 129(c)(1) precludes the US authorities from "implementing" with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Hence in our view, this decision does not support Viet Nam's position.

As a general rule, [the USDOC] cannot impose antidumping duties without a valid determination of dumping. See §§ 1673 & 1673d(c); see also 19 C.F.R. § 351.212. However, the statute that governs implementation of a WTO panel report explicitly states that revocation of an antidumping order applies prospectively on a date specified by the USTR. See § 3538(c); Section 129 Determination, 72 Fed.Reg. at 25,261.

(*Corus Staal BV v. United States*, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140 (Ct. Int'l Trade 19 Sept. 2007), Exhibit VN-36, p. 5).

³⁹⁶ The *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA* panel rejected a similar argument by Canada as follows: if there were no section 129(c)(1), there would be no effective date for the application of section 129 determinations which the USTR directs to implement. ... Even disregarding the issue of the effective date and accepting that, in the absence of section 129(c)(1), a revocation would apply to "prior unliquidated entries" as well, we fail to see how this would demonstrate that section 129(c)(1) has the effect of precluding the Department of Commerce from returning cash deposits on "prior unliquidated entries", declining to hold administrative reviews for such entries and declining to assess duties with respect to such entries.

(Panel Report, *US – Section 129(c)(1) URAA*, paras. 6.86-6.87).

³⁹⁷ Tembec v. United States, 441 F. Supp. 2d 1302 (Ct. Int'l Trade, 2006), Exhibit VN-37. As we note above, footnote 373, in Viet Nam's view, *Tembec* illustrates that:

In situations where the USITC modified its affirmative injury determination, such as altering its theory from one of present material injury to threat of material injury, USTR has no authority to direct any action under Section 129.

Congress' failure to provide authority to USTR to direct implementation of modified USITC affirmative injury determinations would be odd if Congress, in enacting Section 129, was truly leaving open the possibility under U.S. law to extend the relief provided by adverse DSB rulings to prior unliquidated entries. Rather, this failure confirms the language "shall ... on or after" means what it says.

(Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 252-253; see also Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 67).

³⁹⁸ In its decision in *Tembec v. United States*, the Court of International Trade held that Section 129 does not grant the USTR the authority to order the USDOC to "implement" revised affirmative USITC injury determinations made pursuant to Section 129(a) unless it results in the revocation of the order, in whole or in part. In that case, the USTR had ordered the implementation of a Section 129 affirmative threat of injury determination to replace a prior threat of injury determination that had been found WTO-inconsistent. The Court found that the USTR's order to the USDOC to implement the Section 129 determination was ultra vires and void. In arriving at this conclusion, the Court distinguished between the narrower authority granted to the USTR under Section 129(a) with respect to USITC Section 129 determinations, pursuant to which the USTR can only order the USDOC to "revoke" the underlying order in whole or in part, and the broader authority granted to the USTR under Section 129(b), under which the USTR may order the USDOC to "implement" a revised determination. The Court considered that the United States Congress had used narrower "revocation" language in Section 129(a) to reflect the "yes-or-no" nature of USITC determinations, given that implementation of WTO recommendations and rulings with respect to a USITC determination would necessarily result in revoking all or part of an existing order, if implementation were necessary at all. Adoption of WTO recommendations with respect to an affirmative USDOC determination, in contrast, might lead to changes in the applicable antidumping or countervailing duty margins, thereby necessitating the broader "implementation" language contained in Section 129(b). The Court expressly avoided deciding the issue of whether relief in the form of refunds of cash deposits would be available following issuance of a Section 129 determination containing a finding of threat of material injury replacing a prior, WTO-inconsistent, finding of present injury. The reasoning of the Court however indicates that, assuming arguendo that such a relief would be permissible under US law (the Court posits that it might be construed as a form of retrospective relief unavailable under Section 129), the USTR's power to direct the USDOC to revoke an order "in part" could allow it to order such refunds: the Court reasons that the USDOC "could implement the determination by revoking the portion of the outstanding order requiring retention of cash deposits collected during the investigation period". Hence, the Court's decision does not support - and could even be read as contradicting - Viet Nam's argument that in situations where the USITC modified an affirmative injury determination, such as altering its theory from one of present material injury to threat of material injury, the USTR has no authority to direct any action under Section 129.

7.270. In light of the foregoing, having taken into consideration the text of Section 129(c)(1), the SAA, the United States Government's application of Section 129(c)(1) in the years since it was adopted, and the US Court of International Trade decisions cited by Viet Nam, we conclude that Viet Nam has failed to establish that Section 129(c)(1) precludes, or acts as a legal bar to, "extending the benefits of implementation" to prior unliquidated entries. We note that we have undertaken an independent examination of Viet Nam's claims and of Section 129(c)(1), but we have arrived at conclusions similar to those of the $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)\ URAA\ panel$.

7.271. Having concluded that Viet Nam has failed to establish its factual allegation that Section 129(c)(1) precludes implementation with respect to prior unliquidated entries, we need not, and do not, consider Viet Nam's arguments regarding the consistency of Section 129(c)(1) with the provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement cited by Viet Nam.³⁹⁹

7.272. In light of the foregoing, we find that Viet Nam has not established that Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA is "as such" inconsistent with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.6 Claims with respect to the sunset review

7.6.1 Introduction

7.273. Viet Nam claims that the USDOC's affirmative likelihood-of-dumping determination in the first sunset review is inconsistent with Articles 11.3 and 17.6 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Viet Nam's challenges:

- a. the USDOC's reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping, which Viet Nam argues was inconsistent with Article 11.3 and constituted an improper establishment of facts and prevented an unbiased and objective evaluation of the facts, inconsistent with that provision and Article 17.6; and
- b. the USDOC's reliance on a presumption with respect to the decline in import volumes, as opposed to other factors, in reaching its likelihood-of-dumping determination, which Viet Nam argues was not supported by the facts and is an improper evaluation of changes in volumes based on the facts of the review, inconsistent with Articles 11.3 and 17.6.
- 7.274. The United States asks the Panel to reject Viet Nam's claims.

7.6.2 Factual background

7.275. Before addressing Viet Nam's claims, we start by setting out the relevant facts pertaining to the first sunset review under the *Shrimp* order.

7.276. Under US law, five years after the publication of an anti-dumping duty order, the USDOC and the USITC conduct a "sunset review" to determine, respectively, whether revocation of the order would be likely to lead to a continuation or recurrence of dumping ("likelihood-of-dumping" determination) and the continuation or recurrence of material injury ("likelihood-of-injury" determination). The order is revoked unless both the USDOC and the USITC make affirmative "likelihood" determinations. 400

7.277. Viet Nam's claims concern the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination in the first sunset review under the *Shrimp* order.

³⁹⁹ Because we do not examine Viet Nam's arguments on the WTO-consistency of Section 129(c)(1), we do not consider it necessary to address the United States' argument that Viet Nam's claims are outside the Panel's terms of reference, because Viet Nam complains of the United States' failure to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, but fails to make claims under the DSU, where obligations with respect to the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings in the anti-dumping context are found. Moreover, we note that the parties have debated the issue of the continued relevance of the mandatory/discretionary distinction, but we do not find it necessary to pronounce ourselves on the continued relevance of this distinction or on its application to the facts before us.

 $^{^{400}}$ Sections 751 and 752 of the US Tariff Act of 1930, codified at 19 U.S.C. §1675, Exhibit US-04.

7.278. On 4 January 2010, the USDOC initiated a sunset review of the Shrimp order. 401 On 6 August 2010, the USDOC preliminarily determined that revocation of the Shrimp order was "likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping". 402 In the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the preliminary determination, the USDOC indicated that, when making a likelihood-of-dumping determination, it considers "the margins established in the investigations and/or reviews conducted during the sunset review period, as well as the volume of imports for the periods before and after the issuance of the order". It further stated that the USDOC "normally will determine" that revocation of the order is likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping if one of three scenarios occurs: (i) dumping continued at any level above de minimis after the issuance of the order; (ii) imports of the subject merchandise ceased after issuance of the order; or (iii) dumping was eliminated after the issuance of the order and import volumes for the subject merchandise declined significantly. 403 The USDOC then noted, with respect to the extent of dumping during the period following the issuance of the order (2005-2009) (the sunset review period), that it had "assigned positive rates for many Respondents during the four completed administrative reviews", adding that "[t]herefore, the Department has found dumping of the subject merchandise to exist after the issuance of the order, and that the revocation of the antidumping order is likely to lead to a continuation of dumping". 404

7.279. With respect to import volumes, the USDOC reviewed public US import data for 2003-2009 and found that imports of subject merchandise from Viet Nam during the relevant period, 2005 through 2009, were 42.1, 35.9, 37.9, 46.7, 40.1 million kilograms, respectively, while they totalled 56.3 million kilograms in 2003, the year preceding the year in which the original anti-dumping investigation was initiated. While acknowledging certain recoveries in import volumes following the issuance of the order, the USDOC concluded nevertheless that "with the discipline of the order, imports fell after the initiation of the original investigation, and did not return to pre-initiation levels in any of the individual years or as a whole (an average of 40.5 million kilograms during the sunset review period)". 405

7.280. The final determination, issued on 7 December 2010, confirmed the conclusions reached by the USDOC in its preliminary determination. In the final determination, after recalling its approach to determining likelihood-of-dumping, the USDOC found that:

both the positive dumping margins found for numerous companies reviewed, and the decline in import volume during the sunset review period following the initiation of the original investigation, consistent with the language of the statute and reflective of our practice as discussed in the statute and the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA"), are highly probative that dumping is likely to continue or recur".

7.281. The USDOC then addressed, and rejected, a number of arguments raised by Vietnamese interested parties concerning its assessment of dumping margins during the sunset review period. First, the USDOC indicated that contrary to the assertion of Vietnamese respondents, it had considered the zero and *de minimis* margins calculated for some of the mandatory respondents during the first three administrative reviews, adding however that because it determines likelihood-of-dumping on an order-wide basis, the existence of zero or *de minimis* margins does not by itself require it to reach a negative likelihood determination. The USDOC further noted that while Vietnamese respondents repeatedly claimed that dumping did not continue following the issuance of the order, they also "carefully qualif[ied] that claim by stating that only the 'vast majority' of the imports were not dumped". Therefore, in the USDOC's view, "by their own admission, Vietnamese Respondents [did] not dispute there was some dumping that occurred". The USDOC also faulted the Vietnamese interested parties for failing to address the fact that the two mandatory respondents in the first administrative review chose not to participate in that

⁴⁰¹ Notice of initiation for the sunset review, Exhibit VN-08.

⁴⁰² Preliminary likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-12.

⁴⁰³ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review. Exhibit VN-14, p. 4

sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 4.

404 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the preliminary likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-12, p. 5; Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 4.

⁴⁰⁵ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the preliminary likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-12, p. 6.

 $^{^{406}}$ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 4.

review and received an adverse facts available margin of 25.76%, as part of the Viet Nam-wide entity, as a result. The USDOC added that it had also found positive dumping margins for the mandatory respondents in the fourth administrative review, and that while Vietnamese respondents argued that the only reason these margins were positive was the application of the zeroing methodology, they had failed to provide any evidentiary support for this claim. The USDOC concluded by stating that zeroing is not contrary to US law and by rejecting arguments by the Vietnamese interested parties concerning the separate rates in the four administrative reviews, on the basis that these rates "are presumed to be correct". 407

7.282. The USDOC also reaffirmed its findings with respect to the evolution of import volumes during the 2003-2009 period. In its consideration of comments by interested parties, the USDOC first stated that the Vietnamese respondents had failed to articulate any rationale that would compel it to depart from its established practice to look at the full year prior to initiation of the investigation as the base year for comparison. It continued that while it acknowledged that there were certain recoveries in import volume following the issuance of the order, the record demonstrated, and it continued to find, that imports had fallen after the initiation of the original investigation, and "did not return to pre-investigation levels in any of the individual years, or as a whole".

7.283. With respect to arguments made by Vietnamese respondents concerning "other factors", the USDOC recalled that under its Regulations, the burden is on an interested party to provide information or evidence that would warrant consideration of the other factors in question. In the instant proceeding, the USDOC did not consider such other factors on the ground that Vietnamese respondents did not demonstrate their relevance. The USDOC indicated that the Vietnamese Respondents "did not make a timely good cause argument for other factors" and provided incomplete market share information as they failed to submit data for the last year of the sunset review period (2009). The USDOC stated that "[w]hile the Vietnamese Respondents speculate that import volume could have been higher, if not for the margins assigned to the separate rate companies or supply and demand issues, they have not demonstrated how these factors could have affected import volumes". Hence, it concluded, the "other factor arguments do not outweigh the likelihood analysis based on the existence of margins and decline of imports".

7.284. In light of its consideration of both dumping and import volumes, the USDOC:

continue[d] to find that the evidence on the record indicates that dumping of shrimp from Vietnam is likely to continue, or recur, absent the discipline of the antidumping order because dumping occurred after the issuance of the order, and import volumes fell and have not recovered to the levels prior to the initiation of the investigation. Moreover, we find that the other factors alleged by the Vietnamese Respondents do not affect this finding. 410

As in the preliminary determination, the USDOC concluded that, in the event the order were to be revoked, dumping was likely to continue or recur at the margins calculated during the original investigation. 411

⁴⁰⁷ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, pp. 4-5.

⁴⁰⁸ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 5.

⁴⁰⁹ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, pp. 4-5.

⁴¹⁰ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 6.

⁴¹¹ The USDOC reports the margins likely to prevail to the USITC. The rates calculated during the original investigation were as follows: mandatory respondents: CAMIMEX (5.24%), Seaprodex Min Hai (4.30%), and Min Phu (4.38%); separate rate respondents not individually examined: 4.57%; and Viet Namwide rate: 25.76%. (Final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14.)

7.6.3 Main arguments of the parties

7.6.3.1 Viet Nam

7.285. With respect to the USDOC's reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping, Viet Nam refers to prior decisions in which the Appellate Body found that reliance in an Article 11.3 sunset review on margins of dumping determined using a methodology inconsistent with Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement results in the likelihood-of-dumping determination also being inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 412 Viet Nam adds that the United States misrepresents the findings of the Appellate Body when it claims that only exclusive reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins renders the results of a sunset review inconsistent with Article 11.3. In Viet Nam's view, the mere fact that the USDOC relied on WTO-inconsistent margins is sufficient to find that the sunset review determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 413

7.286. Viet Nam argues that, in the sunset review determination at issue, the USDOC relied on margins of dumping which are inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in particular: (i) individual margins calculated with zeroing throughout the course of the Shrimp proceeding, as found by the US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) panel and as argued by Viet Nam in this dispute; (ii) a separate rate that was not supported by any facts relevant to the period of the review, was found contrary to US law by the US Court of International Trade in Amanda Foods, and is inconsistent with Article 9.4 for the reasons discussed by the US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) panel; and (iii) a Viet Nam-wide entity rate based on adverse facts available and applied to unknown and unidentified companies, and which was also found to be WTO-inconsistent in US - Shrimp (Viet Nam).414

7.287. Viet Nam admits that the USDOC relied on two properly calculated facts available rates in the first administrative review, but considers that these two rates must be evaluated in light of the particular circumstances of the first administrative review. Viet Nam explains in this regard that virtually all of the potential respondents for which petitioners had requested a review reached agreement with the petitioners for the petitioners to withdraw the request for a review in exchange for cash payments by each of the respondents. As a result, the USDOC was left to choose mandatory respondents from among marginal exporters which led to the selection of the two mandatory respondents which, because of their relative lack of interest in the proceeding or the US market, did not cooperate in the review. 415 Viet Nam contends that it demonstrated to the Panel that, except for these two respondents' positive margins, dumping ceased completely after the first review when dumping margins are calculated in a manner consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 416

7.288. In addition, Viet Nam argues that the United States misrepresents Viet Nam's position when it claims that the statement by Vietnamese respondents before the USDOC that the vast majority of sales were not dumped was an admission that some dumping continued to occur; one of the reasons Vietnamese respondents were not in a position to definitely claim that there were no dumped sales was that the USDOC limited the number of individually-examined respondents.⁴¹⁷

7.289. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC assumed that declining import volumes are an indication of the likelihood of continued dumping, and that this assumption is unsound for several reasons, related in particular to the inherent uncertainty affecting retrospective duty assessment systems, an uncertainty which is further compounded for NMEs. 418 Viet Nam acknowledges that the volume of dumped imports is, together with dumping margins, an important factor for determining the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring. However, import levels must be given context and a

⁴¹² Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 295-298 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US –

Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 128) and 303-307.

413 Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 90 and 99-113; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 37-38.

¹¹⁴ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 269-280; opening statement at the first meeting of the

Panel, para. 46, 48-49.

415 Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 276; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 54-55; second written submission, para. 106.

416 Viet Nam's opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 39.

⁴¹⁷ Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 58-60.

⁴¹⁸ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 281-289; second written submission, para. 93.

simple assumption that a decline in imports of virtually any magnitude can alone support a likelihood determination is neither objective nor unbiased; as stated by the Appellate Body, an authority cannot mechanically apply such an assumption, but must assess the role of other factors on a case-by-case basis.419

7.290. Viet Nam submits that, in the Shrimp sunset review, the decline in volumes before and after the imposition of anti-dumping duties becomes less relevant, and possibly irrelevant, when one considers that all of the cooperating individually-examined producers/exporter had substantial negative, or "safety" margins when their dumping margins are calculated in a WTO-consistent manner, a fact which supports a conclusion that the decline in overall volume was due to factors other than dumping duties. 420 According to Viet Nam, the USDOC would have reached the conclusion that dumping had ceased and that there had been a moderate decline in import levels if it had used WTO-consistent margins. In addition, reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins prevented Vietnamese exporters from making a critical argument, namely that throughout the sunset review period, the margin of sales above normal value was substantial for all individually-examined respondents. In Viet Nam's view, the real reason for any decline in exports is the chilling effect that the US retroactive duty assessment system has on imports subject to anti-dumping duties. 421

7.6.3.2 United States

7.291. The United States argues that Article 11.3 does not prescribe the exact methodologies that authorities must follow for purposes of the likelihood determination and that attempts to read into Article 11.3 substantive obligations contained in other provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement have been rejected in prior decisions. 422

7.292. The United States submits that Viet Nam contradicts itself when it claims that the USDOC relied "exclusively" on WTO-inconsistent margins, while claiming elsewhere that "almost all" of the margins were WTO-inconsistent. In addition, the United States argues that the USDOC noted in its determination that Vietnamese respondents themselves did not dispute that some dumping occurred. 423 In any event, the United States does not agree that the dumping margins the USDOC relied on in the sunset review are WTO-inconsistent. It submits that, in its determination, the USDOC relied on positive anti-dumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the four completed reviews, including two companies listed as among the largest exporters during the first administrative review who received facts available rates because they failed to cooperate, which, in the United States' view, alone provides sufficient support for the USDOC's conclusion that dumping continued during the sunset review period. 424 According to the United States, Viet Nam acknowledges that the margin applied to those two companies was calculated in a WTO-consistent manner and has provided no evidence supporting its assertions that these two companies were "small".425 Moreover, the United States submits that other margins also were not calculated with zeroing, in particular the rate assigned to an uncooperative company during the original investigation, the separate rate calculated in the second and third review, and the Viet Nam-wide entity rate in the second, third and fourth reviews. 426 The United States also argues that so-called "safety margins" are not relevant under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.293. The United States notes that the USDOC found that import volumes fell in the year preceding the final determination and did not return to pre-initiation levels, which suggests that the exporters were unable to sustain pre-investigation import levels without dumping. Moreover, contrary to what Viet Nam asserts, the change in import volumes was significant as it represented

 $^{^{419}}$ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 299-301 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US-Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, paras. 177-178 and 208-209); opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 62; second written submission, para. 94.

⁴²⁰ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 111. By "safety margins", Viet Nam means the amount by which the export price exceeded the normal value, expressed in percentage terms.

⁴²¹ Viet Nam's opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 40-43.

⁴²² United States' first written submission, paras. 244-246; second written submission, para. 106.

⁴²³ United States' first written submission, paras. 248-250; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, paras. 46-47; second written submission, paras. 107-109.

424 United States' first written submission, para. 251-261; second written submission, para. 110;

opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 49.

425 United States' second written submission, paras. 108-109 (referring to Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 32, paras. 98 and 101, and No. 35, para. 114).

426 United States' opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 47-50.

a decline of about 28% compared to the year preceding the investigation. In addition, the United States submits, declining import volumes were a part of the evidence relied upon by the USDOC, but not the exclusive basis for finding likelihood. The United States submits that the arguments that Viet Nam presents to the Panel with a view to explaining the decline in import volume are speculative and *post hoc* and in any case do not undermine the evidence relied on by the USDOC. Thus, in the United States' view, Viet Nam has failed to demonstrate that the decline in import volumes is due to factors other than the discipline of the anti-dumping duty order.

7.294. The United States finally contends that the Appellate Body report in *US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods* confirms that Article 11.3 allows for alternative ways of determining likelihood-of-dumping even where a WTO-inconsistent methodology has been used at some point in the calculation of a dumping margin. According to the United States, where an investigating authority has relied not only on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping, but also on other, sufficient evidentiary bases, such that the likelihood determination can stand on its own after any factors based on a WTO-inconsistent methodology have been removed, the likelihood finding should be considered consistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.⁴²⁹

7.6.4 Main arguments of the third parties

7.295. **China** refers to previous Appellate Body reports which have held that when investigating authorities choose to rely on dumping margins in making their sunset review determinations, the calculation of these margins must be consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. China notes that the United States itself admits that the USDOC "relied on" margins of dumping which were calculated in a WTO-inconsistent manner. In China's view, this fact necessarily invalidates the sunset determination. 430

7.296. The **European Union** argues that, consistent with the findings in prior disputes, a sunset review determination that relies on dumping margins that are WTO-inconsistent, notably because of the use of zeroing, is itself WTO-inconsistent. The European Union submits that the question of what the sunset determination would be absent reliance on such margins is not a matter for an original panel. Hence, the appropriate way forward is for the panel to make a finding of inconsistency, and for the defending Member to consider how it wishes to implement the rulings and recommendations in a WTO-consistent manner.⁴³¹

7.297. **Japan** recalls that the Appellate Body has determined that if an investigating authority relies on margins calculated with zeroing in its likelihood determination, that determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3. Regarding Viet Nam's claim that the USDOC's reliance on the decline in import volume was not unbiased and objective, Japan submits that the Panel should examine whether the USDOC engaged in a "case-specific analysis of the factors behind [the] decline in import volumes". According to Japan, it would be inappropriate for the Panel to try to determine, based on a counterfactual analysis, whether the USDOC would have reached the same conclusion had it relied only on WTO-consistent factors; such an exercise would amount to an impermissible *de novo* review of the evidence before the investigating authority. Assamble 1.

7.298. **Norway** argues that a margin calculated with zeroing can never be the foundation for an investigating authority's likelihood-of-dumping determination. Norway further submits that a panel's role is not to redo the investigation and make its own determination, but to assess whether the investigating authority relied upon WTO-inconsistent margins and not whether other factors may justify the determination.⁴³⁴

 ⁴²⁷ United States' first written submission, paras. 262-263; second written submission, paras. 113-114;
 opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 51.
 ⁴²⁸ United States' first written submission, paras. 264-268; second written submission, paras. 115-118.

⁴²⁹ United States' first written submission, paras. 264-268; second written submission, paras. 115-118.

⁴²⁹ United States' first written submission, paras. 269-270; opening statement at the first meeting of the Panel, para. 50; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 52.

⁴³⁰ China's third-party submission, paras. 49-51; response to Panel question No. 14, paras. 27-28.

⁴³¹ European Union's third-party submission, para. 39.

⁴³² Japan's third-party submission, paras. 22-26 (quoting from Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 177).

⁴³³ Japan's response to Panel question No. 14, para. 12.

⁴³⁴ Norway's response to Panel question No. 14, paras. 3-6.

7.299. **Thailand** submits that a likelihood-of-dumping determination can be found to be WTO-consistent when the investigating authority's consideration of relevant factors identified to support the determination is WTO-consistent.⁴³⁵

7.6.5 Evaluation by the Panel

7.300. In its requests for findings, Viet Nam claims that the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review at issue is inconsistent with Articles 11.3 and 17.6 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, suggesting that it is making an independent claim of violation under each provision. 436 Yet, at times, Viet Nam appears to only allege a violation of Article 11.3.437

7.301. Article 17.6 provides that:

In examining the matter referred to in paragraph 5:

(i) in its assessment of the facts of the matter, the panel shall determine whether the authorities' establishment of the facts was proper and whether their evaluation of those facts was unbiased and objective. If the establishment of the facts was proper and the evaluation was unbiased and objective, even though the panel might have reached a different conclusion, the evaluation shall not be overturned;

7.302. Article 17.6 sets forth the relevant standard of review applicable to a panel's examination of the consistency with the Agreement of a Member's anti-dumping measures. While it may inform the obligations set forth under other provisions of the Agreement, it does not, in itself, impose obligations upon investigating authorities. For this reason, insofar as Viet Nam may be making an independent claim of violation under that provision, we reject this claim.

7.303. Turning to Article 11.3, we note that this provision reads as follows:

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, any definitive anti-dumping duty shall be terminated on a date not later than five years from its imposition (or from the date of the most recent review under paragraph 2 if that review has covered both dumping and injury, or under this paragraph), unless the authorities determine, in a review initiated before that date on their own initiative or upon a duly substantiated request made by or on behalf of the domestic industry within a reasonable period of time prior to that date, that the expiry of the duty would be likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping and injury. The duty may remain in force pending the outcome of such a review.

7.304. In *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review,* the Appellate Body concluded that Article 11.3 lays down a mandatory rule with an exception:

Members are required to terminate an anti-dumping duty within five years of its imposition "unless" the following conditions are satisfied: first, that a review be

²² When the amount of the anti-dumping duty is assessed on a retrospective basis, a finding in the most recent assessment proceeding under subparagraph 3.1 of Article 9 that no duty is to be levied shall not by itself require the authorities to terminate the definitive duty.

⁴³⁵ Thailand's response to Panel question No. 14.

⁴³⁶ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 356; second written submission, para. 139.

⁴³⁷ For instance, Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 113:
Based on the above, Viet Nam believes that the panel must find that the Sunset Review conducted by the USDOC of the antidumping duty order on Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from Viet Nam was inconsistent with U.S. obligations under Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement in that; (1) it relied on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping which constituted an improper establishment of the facts and prevented an unbiased and objective evaluation of the proper facts; and (2) it relied on a volume presumption which itself is not supported by the facts and its improper evaluation of changes in volume based on the facts of the review.

initiated before the expiry of five years from the date of the imposition of the duty; second, that in the review the authorities determine that the expiry of the duty would be likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of *dumping*; and third, that in the review the authorities determine that the expiry of the duty would be likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of *injury*. If any one of these conditions is not satisfied, the duty must be terminated. 438

7.305. In the same dispute, the Appellate Body noted that Article 11.3 does not prescribe any specific methodology to be applied in making a "likelihood" determination, and that this provision does not identify any particular factors that authorities must take into account in making such a determination. 439 However, the Appellate Body did provide some guidance to authorities. In particular, it indicated that when making a determination pursuant to Article 11.3, investigating authorities "must undertake a forward-looking analysis and seek to resolve the issue of what would be likely to occur if the duty were terminated". 440 In addition, Article 11.3 assigns an active rather than a passive decision-making role to the authorities; according to the Appellate Body, the words "review" and "determine" in Article 11.3 suggest that authorities conducting a sunset review must act with an "appropriate degree of diligence" and arrive at a "reasoned conclusion on the basis of information gathered as part of a process of reconsideration and examination". Moreover, in view of the use of the word "likely" in Article 11.3, an affirmative likelihood determination may be made only if the evidence demonstrates that dumping would be probable if the duty were terminated — and not simply if the evidence suggests that such a result might be possible or plausible. 441 Finally, a firm evidentiary foundation is required in each case for a proper likelihood determination, and such a determination "cannot be based solely on the mechanistic application of presumptions".442

7.306. Of direct relevance to Viet Nam's claims in the present dispute is the conclusion of panels and the Appellate Body in prior disputes that, while there is no obligation under Article 11.3 for investigating authorities to calculate or rely on dumping margins in considering likelihood-of-dumping, should an investigating authority choose to rely upon dumping margins in making a likelihood-of-dumping determination, the calculation of those margins must conform to the disciplines of the relevant provisions of the covered agreements. Reliance on margins calculated in a manner inconsistent with relevant provisions of the covered agreements results in a violation not only of those provisions, but also of Article 11.3. We agree with this interpretation of Article 11.3.

7.307. It is undisputed in this case that the USDOC relied, in its likelihood-of-dumping determination, on certain margins that had been calculated with zeroing. ⁴⁴⁴ In particular, it is not disputed between the parties that the USDOC relied on the margins of dumping calculated for the mandatory respondents in the fourth administrative review. We have found above that the USDOC used zeroing in calculating these dumping margins and that for this reason, these margins are inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and VI:2 of the GATT 1994. Moreover, we note that the final determinations in the second and third administrative reviews indicate that the USDOC used zeroing in calculating the margins of dumping for mandatory respondents in these reviews. ⁴⁴⁵ However, the USDOC does not seem to have relied on these

⁴³⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 104. (emphasis original)

⁴³⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 123.

⁴⁴⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 105.

⁴⁴¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 111.

⁴⁴² Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 178

Appellate Body Reports, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 127, and *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 185; Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.195–7.196 (upheld in Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 394 and 395(v)).

444 The preliminary and final determinations do not list each of the margins of dumping which the

⁴⁴⁴ The preliminary and final determinations do not list each of the margins of dumping which the USDOC relied upon, but we read the USDOC's reference to the "positive rates for many respondents during the four completed administrative reviews" (Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the preliminary likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-12, p. 5) as indicating that the USDOC relied on all the non-zero and/or non-*de minimis* rates assigned in the first four administrative reviews. See also the USDOC's reference in its final determination to the "positive dumping margins found for many companies reviewed". (Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 5.)

⁴⁴⁵ See above, footnote 84, and final determinations in the second and third administrative reviews, Exhibit VN-72; final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13). The *US – Shrimp* (*Viet Nam*) panel reached a similar conclusion and found that the margins were inconsistent with Article 2.4 of

margins or on the margin calculated for Fish One in the first administrative review, as each of these margins was either zero or de minimis. 446

7.308. The USDOC also relied on the separate rate applied by the USDOC in the various proceedings. Viet Nam asserts that the separate rate applied in each of the proceedings is inconsistent with the United States' obligations. Viet Nam relies, in particular on the findings of the United States Court of International Trade in Amanda Foods and on the findings of the US -Shrimp (Viet Nam) panel, which found that the separate rates applied in the second and third administrative reviews were inconsistent with, respectively, US law and Article 9.4.447 However, a ruling by a domestic court of a Member, applying the domestic law of that Member, cannot establish an inconsistency with WTO obligations. Moreover, for reasons set out above 448, we are reluctant to incorporate, without more scrutiny of the facts and parties' arguments, the factual findings reached by a panel in a prior dispute.

7.309. Viet Nam does also attempt to establish the WTO-inconsistency of the separate rate applied in the first three administrative reviews independently. We note that the separate rate of 4.57% applied in the original investigation corresponded to the weighted average of the margins of dumping for the three mandatory respondents in the investigation, which themselves had been calculated with zeroing. 449 The same rate was then applied in the first, second and third administrative reviews.⁴⁵⁰ The separate rate of 3.92% applied in the fourth administrative review corresponded to the simple average of the margins for mandatory respondents, which were calculated with zeroing. We have sympathy for Viet Nam's argument that a separate rate calculated on the basis of margins calculated with zeroing would be WTO-inconsistent. 451 We note however that all margins for mandatory respondents in the first, second and third administrative reviews were either zero, de minimis, or based on facts available. In such a situation, Article 9.4 does not indicate how to calculate the relevant ceiling; the *lacuna* in Article 9.4 identified in prior panels and the Appellate Body reports arises. 452 In the absence of a more developed discussion by the parties as to the relevant disciplines applicable under Article 9.4 in such circumstances and as to whether the use of margins calculated with zeroing to derive a rate which is subject to the Article 9.4 ceiling results in an inconsistency with that provision, and because it is ultimately not necessary for us to determine the WTO-consistency of all the rates relied upon by the USDOC, we do not reach a final conclusion as to whether the separate rates applied in the four first administrative reviews were determined consistently with the provisions of the Agreement. 453

the Anti-Dumping Agreement. (Panel Report, US – Shrimp (Viet Nam), paras. 7.80, 7.97). The United States does not contest that the USDOC used zeroing in calculating the dumping margins for mandatory respondents in the original investigation and the first three administrative reviews (United States' response to Panel question No. 37, para. 123). Viet Nam admits that the margins of dumping for the two mandatory respondents in the first administrative review were established consistently with the disciplines of the Agreement.

446 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the

sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 4.

447 Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 272 (referring to *Amanda Foods (Vietnam) Ltd. v.* United States, Slip Op. 09-106 (Ct. In'tl Trade, 17 June 2010) and Amanda Foods (Vietnam) Ltd. v. United States, Slip Op. 10-69 (Ct. In'tl Trade, 29 September 2009); Amanda Foods (Vietnam) Ltd., et. al v. United States, Court No. 08-00301 Slip Op. 10-69 (Ct. In'tl Trade, 17 June 2010): Final Results of Redetermination Pursuant to Court Remand; Amanda Foods (Vietnam) Ltd. et. al v. United States, Consol. Court No. 09-00431, 807 F. Supp. 2d 1332 (Ct. In'tl Trade, 2011) Final Results of Redetermination Pursuant to Court Remand, Exhibits VN-52-54); Viet Nam' second written submission, para 106 (referring to Panel Report, US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), paras. 7.218-7.227).

- 448 See above, para. 7.39.
- ⁴⁴⁹ Final determination in the original investigation, Exhibit VN-04, p. 71009.
- ⁴⁵⁰ Final determination in the first administrative review, p. 52054, Exhibit VN-72; final determination in the second administrative review, p. 52275 and Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the second administrative review, Comment 6, Exhibit VN-72; and final determination in the third administrative review, p. 47195, Exhibit VN-72.
 - ⁴⁵¹ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 106.
- ⁴⁵² Appellate Body Reports, *US Hot Rolled Steel*, para. 126; *US Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 EC)*, para. 452. The margins calculated by the USDOC with zeroing in the first, second and third administrative review were all zero, de minimis, or based on facts available.
- ⁴⁵³ The panel in *US Shrimp (Viet Nam)* found that the separate rates applied in the second and third administrative reviews were inconsistent with Article 9.4 because in these reviews, the USDOC determined the maximum allowable "all others" rate, which it applied as "all others rate" (i.e. separate rate), on the basis of margins of dumping that themselves had been calculated with zeroing in the original investigation. (Panel Report, US – Shrimp (Viet Nam), paras. 7.217 and 7.227.)

- 7.310. Finally the USDOC relied on the rate of 25.76% assigned to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the first four administrative reviews. We have found that the Viet Nam-wide rate of 25.76% applied in the fourth administrative review was inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2, and 9.4. However, the parties have not engaged with the facts in the first, second and third administrative reviews and we are reluctant to conclude, without more, that the application of the same rate in those segments of the *Shrimp* proceedings was WTO-inconsistent.
- 7.311. In sum, in its likelihood-of-dumping determination, the USDOC relied on certain WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping or rates, in particular: (i) the margins of dumping for the mandatory respondents in the fourth administrative review which were calculated with zeroing and therefore inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and VI:2 of the GATT; and (ii) the Viet Nam-wide entity rate applied in the fourth administrative review, which is inconsistent with Articles 6.10, 9.2 and 9.4.
- 7.312. In light of our understanding of the obligations under Article 11.3 as described above, the USDOC's reliance on these WTO-inconsistent margins renders its likelihood-of-dumping determination inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 7.313. In addition to arguing that the margins calculated with zeroing and the NME-wide entity rate are WTO-consistent, arguments which we have rejected above 454 , the United States' response to Viet Nam's arguments focuses on the fact that the USDOC relied on certain margins those for the two mandatory respondents in the first administrative review the WTO-consistency of which is not contested. Moreover, the United States relies on the alleged admission by Vietnamese producers/exporters before the USDOC that some dumping existed after the issuance of the order. 455
- 7.314. In making this argument, the United States relies on the statement of the Appellate Body in *US Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods* that its finding in *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*:

does not stand for the proposition that a WTO-inconsistent methodology used for the calculation of a dumping margin will, in and of itself, taint a sunset review determination under Article 11.3. The only way the use of such a methodology would render a sunset review determination inconsistent with Article 11.3 is if the investigating authority *relied upon* that margin of dumping to support its likelihood-of-dumping or likelihood-of injury determination. 456

- 7.315. On its face, this statement merely confirms that it is the fact of relying on a WTO-inconsistent margin in the sunset review, rather than the mere calculation of a WTO-inconsistent margin in one of the underlying administrative reviews, that gives rise to a violation of Article 11.3. 457 We agree with this view.
- 7.316. We understand the United States to be arguing that the USDOC's reliance on certain WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping does not necessarily render its likelihood determination inconsistent with Article 11.3, and that we should uphold the determination if WTO-consistent factors relied upon by the USDOC in arriving at its determination "form an independent basis to demonstrate the continuing need for the discipline of the order". The United States considers that irrespective of the USDOC's reliance on dumping margins that Viet Nam alleges are WTO-inconsistent, the determination stands on the basis of: (i) the alleged admission before the USDOC that some dumping continued after the imposition of the order; (ii) the presumably WTO-

⁴⁵⁵ United States' first written submission, paras. 247-248; response to Panel question No. 35, para 119

para. 119.

456 Appellate Body Report, *US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods*, para. 181 (quoted in United States' first written submission, para. 270). (emphasis original)

457 In *US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods*, the panel found that, although the

"In *US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods*, the panel found that, although the USDOC reported to the USITC the dumping margins at issue as "margins likely to prevail" in the event that the order were revoked, *it did not rely* on those margins in its likelihood determination, but rather relied on import volumes. The panel's findings are described in Appellate Body Report, *US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods*, paras. 174-175.

Country Tubular Goods, paras. 174-175.

458 United States' first written submission, footnote 355; response to Panel question No. 34(a), para. 116.

⁴⁵⁴ See above paras. 7.81. and 7.208.

consistent margins for the two mandatory respondents in the first administrative review; and (iii) the USDOC's finding that import volumes fell after the initiation of the original investigation and did not return to pre-investigation levels.

7.317. We agree with the United States that an investigating authority's reliance on WTOinconsistent factors may not always be fatal to the consistency of a likelihood-of-dumping determination with Article 11.3. This may be the case, for instance, if there are separate independent bases for a determination, at least one of which is not inconsistent with WTO obligations, and a reviewing panel can conclude that the challenged determination rested on each of those multiple independent bases. Here, however, the determination contains no indication that the USDOC considered that the rate applied to two uncooperative companies and the declining import volumes constituted an independent basis or bases for the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination or that the determination rested on such basis or bases. To be sure, there is language (albeit qualified) in the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination suggesting that, in general, the USDOC would reach an affirmative likelihood-of-dumping determination where any dumping continues after the imposition of the order, which suggests that the first two factors referred to by the United States in this regard could form the basis for an affirmative determination. 459 It is, however, clear from the determination itself that the USDOC's consideration of the existence of dumping in this instance rests upon all the different margins of dumping margins for mandatory respondents, separate rate and Viet Nam-wide entity rate that - it had calculated in each of the reviews. The USDOC discusses these various dumping margins together, and does not consider the two margins for the uncooperative respondents separately, other than when rebutting an argument of Vietnamese interested parties. 460 Hence, we are unable to conclude in the present instance that the USDOC's determination rested upon WTO-consistent bases that were separate and independent from the WTO-inconsistent margins and rates upon which it relied.461

7.318. We arrive at a similar conclusion with respect to the United States' argument concerning the USDOC's evaluation of import volumes. The preliminary and final determinations indicate that the USDOC considered evolutions in import volumes together with dumping margins in an integrated manner. 462 There is no indication that the USDOC examined whether the changes in

⁴⁵⁹ The preliminary and final likelihood-of-dumping determinations indicate that: The Department normally will determine that revocation of an antidumping duty order is likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping where (a) dumping continued *at any level above de minimis after the issuance of the order*, (b) imports of the subject merchandise ceased after the issuance of the order, or (c) dumping was eliminated after the issuance of the order and import volumes for the subject merchandise declined significantly. *However* the SAA at 889-90, the House Report at 63, and the Senate Report at 52 state that, "*declining (or no) dumping margins, accompanied by steady or increasing imports may indicate that foreign companies do not have to dump* to maintain market share in the United States and that dumping is less likely to continue or recur if the order were revoked".

(Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the preliminary likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-12, p. 5; Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 2.) (italics added)

⁴⁶⁰ We note that Viet Nam submits a lengthy argumentation regarding, *inter alia*, the reasons why the two mandatory respondents did not cooperate in the first administrative review and the existence of "safety" margins for mandatory respondents showing, according to Viet Nam, that dumping was unlikely to recur. (Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 276-277, and opening statement at first substantive meeting, paras. 54-55.) In light of our findings, we do not consider it necessary to consider these arguments.

⁴⁶¹ We recall that our task is to determine whether the challenged likelihood-of-dumping determination is consistent with the Agreement; we are not to engage in speculation as to whether the USDOC could, or would, have reached the same result for different reasons.

 462 See Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review, Exhibit VN-14, p. 4:

The Department determines that both the positive dumping margins found for numerous companies reviewed, and the decline in import volume during the sunset review period following the initiation of the original investigation, consistent with the language of the statute and reflective of our practice as discussed in the statute and the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA"), are highly probative that dumping is likely to continue or recur.

See also p. 6 of Exhibit VN-14:

For these reasons, the Department continues to find that the evidence on the record indicates that dumping of shrimp from Vietnam is likely to continue, or recur, absent the discipline of the antidumping duty order because dumping occurred after the issuance of the order, and import volumes fell and have not recovered to the levels prior to the initiation of the investigation.

import volumes alone justified a determination of likelihood-of-dumping. For the same reasons as set out above, we cannot conclude that the USDOC's determination rested on its analysis of the evolution of import volumes independent of its consideration of dumping.

7.319. Given this conclusion, we do not consider it necessary or appropriate to address Viet Nam's argument that the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3 due to the USDOC's failure to carry out an unbiased and objective evaluation of the facts pertaining to the volume of imports, and for disregarding other factors in its analysis.⁴⁶³

7.320. In light of the foregoing, we find that the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination in the first sunset review is inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

7.7 Claims with respect to company-specific revocations

7.7.1 Introduction

7.321. Viet Nam's claims concerns the denial, in the third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews under the *Shrimp* order, of requests for company-specific revocations submitted by Vietnamese respondents. Viet Nam claims that the United States acted inconsistently with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement due to the USDOC's refusal to revoke the *Shrimp* antidumping order with respect to the Vietnamese producers/exporters that submitted these requests. Vietnamese

7.7.2 Factual background

7.322. Section 751(d) of the US Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (codified at 19 U.S.C. §1675 (d)), provides that the USDOC (which the statute refers to as the "administering authority") may "revoke, in whole or in part, a countervailing duty order or an antidumping duty order or finding, or terminate a suspended investigation, after review under subsection (a) or (b) of this section". 19 U.S.C. §1675 subsection (a) governs the conduct of administrative reviews, whereas subsection (b) provides authority for the USDOC to conduct changed circumstances reviews. 466

Moreover, we find that the other factors alleged by the Vietnamese Respondents do not affect this finding.

⁴⁶³ We note that the United States asserted in a comment on Viet Nam's closing statement at the second panel meeting made in the context of its comments on Viet Nam's responses to Panel questions after the second meeting of the Panel, that the USDOC has reopened the record of the sunset review based on new information of fraud that was not available at the time of the sunset review. (United States' comments on Viet Nam's responses to Panel questions after the second meeting, paras. 91-96 (referring to Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam: Notice of Reopening of the First Five-Year "Sunset" Review of the Antidumping Duty Order, 79 Fed. Reg. 15310 (19 March 2014), Exhibit US-97). The United States asserted that it was introducing this new factual information before the Panel "[g]iven that Viet Nam has chosen to make an issue of the conduct of Vietnamese shrimp exporters" (Viet Nam had asserted in the context of its closing statement at the second meeting of the Panel that Vietnamese shrimp exporters had "played by the rules"). Because we do not consider that they are relevant to our examination of the consistency with Article 11.3 of the USDOC's first sunset review determination, we do not consider it necessary to decide whether the United States properly introduced these new facts before the Panel, but nevertheless note that para. 8 of the Panel's Working Procedures provides that, with certain exceptions – e.g. for purposes of rebuttal, answers to questions or comments the other party's answers - the parties were to submit all factual evidence to the Panel no later than during the first substantive meeting.

464 Below, in paras. 7.356. -7.361. , we examine an objection raised by the United States to Viet Nam's claims with respect to the USDOC's actions in the third administrative review

claims with respect to the USDOC's actions in the third administrative review.

465 Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 356. In its first written submission, Viet Nam asserted that absent revocation, individually-examined producers/exporters "are being denied their rights under Articles 2.1, 2.4.2, 9.3". However Viet Nam clarified that it is only pursuing claims of violation under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 (Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 49, para. 168).

⁴⁶⁶ Section 751 of the Act; 19 U.S.C. § 1675, Exhibit VN-47. 19 U.S.C. § 1675(b) provides, *inter alia*, that:

- (b) Reviews based on changed circumstances
- (1) In general

Whenever the administering authority [i.e. the USDOC] or the Commission [i.e. the USITC] receives information concerning, or a request from an interested party for a review of—

- 7.323. 19 C.F.R. §351.222 of the USDOC Regulations sets forth rules and procedures for the revocation of anti-dumping duty orders by the USDOC. At the time of the administrative reviews at issue⁴⁶⁷, an exporter or producer could request revocation of an order with regard to itself under Section 751(a) of the Act and Section 351.222(b) of the USDOC Regulations.⁴⁶⁸ Section 351.222, "Revocation of orders; termination of suspended investigations", at the time provided as follows:
 - (a) *Introduction.* "Revocation" is a term of art that refers to the end of an antidumping or countervailing proceeding in which an order has been issued. "Termination" is the companion term for the end of a proceeding in which the investigation was suspended due to the acceptance of a suspension agreement. Generally, a revocation or termination may occur only after the Department or the Commission have conducted one or more reviews under section 751 of the Act. This section contains rules regarding requirements for a revocation or termination; and procedures that the Department will follow in determining whether to revoke an order or terminate a suspended investigation.
 - (b) Revocation or termination based on absence of dumping.
 - (1)(i) In determining whether to revoke an antidumping duty order or terminate a suspended antidumping investigation, the Secretary will consider:
 - (A) Whether all exporters and producers covered at the time of revocation by the order or the suspension agreement have sold the subject merchandise at not less than normal value for a period of at least three consecutive years; and
 - (B) Whether the continued application of the antidumping duty order is otherwise necessary to offset dumping.
 - (ii) If the Secretary determines, based upon the criteria in paragraphs (b)(1)(i)(A) and (B) of this section, that the antidumping duty order or suspension of the antidumping duty investigation is no longer warranted, the Secretary will revoke the order or terminate the investigation.
 - (2)(i) In determining whether to revoke an antidumping duty order in part, the Secretary will consider:
 - (A) Whether one or more exporters or producers covered by the order have sold the merchandise at not less than normal value for a period of at least three consecutive years;
 - (A) a final affirmative determination that resulted in an antidumping duty order under this subtitle or a finding under the Antidumping Act, 1921, or in a countervailing duty order under this subtitle or section 1303 of this title,
 - (B) a suspension agreement accepted under section 1671c or 1673c of this title, or
 - (C) a final affirmative determination resulting from an investigation continued pursuant to section 1671c(g) or 1673c(g) of this title,

which shows changed circumstances sufficient to warrant a review of such determination or agreement, the administering authority or the Commission (as the case may be) shall conduct a review of the determination or agreement after publishing notice of the review in the Federal Register.

(4) Limitation on period for review
In the absence of good cause shown—

(B) the administering authority may not review a determination made under section 1671d(a) or 1673d(a) of this title, or an investigation suspended under section 1671c or 1673c of this title, less than 24 months after the date of publication of notice of that determination or suspension.

⁴⁶⁷ As noted below, the USDOC subsequently amended its regulations. However, Viet Nam's claim pertains to the USDOC's application and interpretation of Section 351.222(b) as it existed prior to these modifications and we therefore consider the statutory and regulatory scheme as it existed at the time of the USDOC actions at issue.

 468 Section 751(a) of the Act; 19 U.S.C. § 1675(a) and (d), Exhibit VN-47, 19 C.F.R. 351.222(b), Exhibit VN-58.

- (B) Whether, for any exporter or producer that the Secretary previously has determined to have sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value, the exporter or producer agrees in writing to its immediate reinstatement in the order, as long as any exporter or producer is subject to the order, if the Secretary concludes that the exporter or producer, subsequent to the revocation, sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value; and
- (C) Whether the continued application of the antidumping duty order is otherwise necessary to offset dumping.
- (ii) If the Secretary determines, based upon the criteria in paragraphs (b)(2)(i)(A) through (C) of this section, that the antidumping duty order as to those producers or exporters is no longer warranted, the Secretary will revoke the order as to those producers or exporters.
- (3) Revocation of nonproducing exporter.

In the case of an exporter that is not the producer of subject merchandise, the Secretary normally will revoke an order in part under paragraph (b)(2) of this section only with respect to subject merchandise produced or supplied by those companies that supplied the exporter during the time-period that formed the basis for the revocation.

...

- (d) Treatment of unreviewed intervening years
- (1) In general. The Secretary will not revoke an order or terminate a suspended investigation under paragraphs (b) or (c) of this section unless the Secretary has conducted a review under this subpart of the first and third (or fifth) years of the three-and five-year consecutive time periods referred to in those paragraphs.

The Secretary need not have conducted a review of an intervening year (see paragraph (d)(2) of this section). However, except in the case of a revocation or termination under paragraph (c)(1) of this section (government abolition of countervailable subsidy programs), before revoking an order or terminating a suspended investigation, the Secretary must be satisfied that, during each of the three (or five) years, there were exports to the United States in commercial quantities of the subject merchandise to which a revocation or termination will apply.

- (2) *Intervening year.* "Intervening year" means any year between the first and final year of the consecutive period on which revocation or termination is conditioned.
- (e) Request for revocation or termination
- (1) Antidumping proceeding.

During the third and subsequent annual anniversary months of the publication of an antidumping order or suspension of an antidumping investigation, an exporter or producer may request in writing that the Secretary revoke an order or terminate a suspended investigation under paragraph (b) of this section with regard to that person if the person submits with the request:

- (i) The person's certification that the person sold the subject merchandise at not less than normal value during the period of review described in § 351.213(e)(1), and that in the future the person will not sell the merchandise at less than normal value;
- (ii) The person's certification that, during each of the consecutive years referred to in paragraph (b) of this section, the person sold the subject merchandise to the United States in commercial quantities; and

(iii) If applicable, the agreement regarding reinstatement in the order or suspended investigation described in paragraph (b)(2)(iii) of this section.

...

- (f) *Procedures.* (1) Upon receipt of a timely request for revocation or termination under paragraph (e) of this section, the Secretary will consider the request as including a request for an administrative review and will initiate and conduct a review under § 351.213.
- (2) In addition to the requirements of § 351.221 regarding the conduct of an administrative review, the Secretary will:
- (i) Publish with the notice of initiation under § 351.221(b)(1), notice of "Request for Revocation of Order (in part)" or "Request for Termination of Suspended Investigation" (whichever is applicable);
- (ii) Conduct a verification under § 351.307;
- (iii) Include in the preliminary results of review under § 351.221(b)(4) the Secretary's decision whether there is a reasonable basis to believe that the requirements for revocation or termination are met;
- (iv) If the Secretary decides that there is a reasonable basis to believe that the requirements for revocation or termination are met, publish with the notice of preliminary results of review under § 351.221(b)(4) notice of "Intent to Revoke Order (in Part)" or "Intent to Terminate Suspended Investigation" (whichever is applicable);
- (v) Include in the final results of review under §351.221(b)(5) the Secretary's final decision whether the requirements for revocation or termination are met; and
- (vi) If the Secretary determines that the requirements for revocation or termination are met, publish with the notice of final results of review under § 351.221(b)(5) notice of "Revocation of Order (in Part)" or "Termination of Suspended Investigation" (whichever is applicable).
- (3) If the Secretary revokes an order in whole or in part, the Secretary will order the suspension of liquidation terminated for the merchandise covered by the revocation on the first day after he period under review, and will instruct the Customs Service to release any cash deposit or bond.
- 7.324. In 2012, the USDOC amended its regulations to eliminate 351.222(b)(2).469
- 7.325. Sections 351.216 and 351.222(g) of the USDOC Regulations, which were not affected by the 2012 modification, govern the conduct of changed circumstances reviews. 470 Section 351.222(g) provides as follows:
 - (g) Revocation or termination based on changed circumstances.
 - (1) The Secretary may revoke an order, in whole or in part, or terminate a suspended investigation if the Secretary concludes that:
 - (i) Producers accounting for substantially all of the production of the domestic like product to which the order (or the part of the order to be revoked) or suspended investigation pertains have expressed a lack of interest in the order, in whole or in part, or suspended investigation (see section 782(h) of the Act); or

Modification to Regulation Concerning the Revocation of Antidumping and Countervailing Duty
 Orders, 77 Fed. Reg. 29875 (21 May 2012), Exhibit VN-59. The amendment took effect on 20 June 2012.
 470 19 C.F.R. 351.216, Exhibit US-91; 19 C.F.R. 351.222(g), Exhibit VN-58.

- (ii) Other changed circumstances sufficient to warrant revocation or termination exist.
- (2) If at any time the Secretary concludes from the available information that changed circumstances sufficient to warrant revocation or termination may exist, the Secretary will conduct a changed circumstances review under § 351.216. ...
- 7.326. Section 351.216 sets forth the procedures applicable in changed circumstances reviews. 471
- 7.327. For ease of reference, in our discussion below, we refer to revocation of the "duty" in its entirety (with respect to all foreign producers/exporters, including under Section 351.222(b)(1)) as an "order-wide" revocation and to revocation of a "duty" for an individual producer/exporter (including pursuant to Section 351.222(b)(2)) as a "company-specific" revocation.
- 7.328. In the third, fourth and fifth administrative reviews under the *Shrimp* order, a number of Vietnamese producers/exporters requested company-specific revocations pursuant to Section 751(a) of the Act and Section 351.222(b) of the USDOC Regulations. No requests for revocation under these provisions were made in the sixth administrative review. 472
- 7.329. Fish One requested revocation of the order, as it concerned that company, in the context of the third administrative review⁴⁷³, based on its "likely" three consecutive years of sales "at not less than normal value". Fish One had received an individual margin of zero in the first administrative review, and was not selected as mandatory respondent but received a rate of zero as separate rate in the second administrative review.⁴⁷⁴ Fish One's request stated that it was the USDOC's practice to treat companies that were not mandatory respondent in the interim period (here, the second review) the same as if they had obtained a zero margin for the period of review, and stated that it believed that it would again qualify for a zero margin in the third review.⁴⁷⁵
- 7.330. In its preliminary determination in the third administrative review, the USDOC determined not to revoke the order in respect of Fish One because Fish One had not been selected for individual examination. ⁴⁷⁶ The final determination confirmed the preliminary determination. In the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying its final determination, the USDOC stated that:

⁴⁷¹ Order-wide revocation is also authorized under 19 U.S.C. § 1677m(h)(2) if producers accounting for substantially all of the production of the domestic like product express a lack of interest in the order (Exhibit US-95). Such revocation requests are examined in changed circumstances reviews.

⁴⁷² Notice of initiation for the sixth administrative review, Exhibit VN-16.

⁴⁷³ Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review, Exhibit VN-82.

⁴⁷⁴ This is because in the first, second and third administrative reviews, all mandatory respondents received a margin of zero, *de minimis*, or based on facts available. Since US law provided that the USDOC could not base the separate rate on these types of margins, but provided that the USDOC could resort to an alternative methodology, the USDOC decided to assign the most recent margin calculated as separate rate. For most separate rate respondents, this was the separate rate of 4.57% calculated in the original investigation. For Fish One, in the third administrative review, this was a rate of zero that had been calculated for that company in the first administrative review.

⁴⁷⁵ Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review, Exhibit VN-82. Fish One's

request, as well as each of the other requests submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters, included a request to be included in the administrative review, and stated that they attached the certifications required by Section 351.222(e)(1) and, where relevant, the certifications required under the *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia* procedure discussed below. Viet Nam provided the Panel with the text of the requests but only included in the documents submitted to the Panel the certifications provided by Camimex, Phuong Nam and Grobest/I-Mei in support of their requests for revocation in the fifth administrative review (requests for revocation submitted in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-84).

⁴⁷⁶ Preliminary determination in the third administrative review, Exhibit VN-61, p. 10011. The USDOC reasoned that: (i) the Act affords it broad discretion to limit the number of respondents selected for individual review when individual examination of all companies under review is impracticable, and (ii) although the Regulations setting out rules and requirements for revocation of an order were silent on their applicability in situations in which the USDOC limited its examination, the USDOC did not interpret them as requiring it to conduct an individual examination of Fish One given that it had limited its examination and Fish One was not one of the companies selected for individual examination. The USDOC added that to interpret the Regulations as Fish One proposed would undermine its authority under the Act to limit its examination in cases involving a large number of producers/exporters, and would require it to conduct individual reviews for any company requesting revocation.

For the final results of the instant review, we continue to find that our preliminary determination with respect to Fish One's revocation request is not contrary to the statute or Department policy. Because Fish One was not selected for individual review pursuant to 777A(c)(2)(B) of the Act, it was treated as a cooperative separate-rate respondent, and has received a separate rate pursuant to the statute and the Department's policy. The statute does not require the Department to select exporters for revocation purposes within the context of section 777A(c)(2)(B) of the Act. Rather, pursuant to that statutory provision, because of the large number of companies with review requests, the Department selected respondents for individual examination that could reasonably be examined. That Fish One requested revocation pursuant to the Department's regulations does not require the Department to individually review Fish One for revocation purposes, when the Department, as it did here, limits the individually reviewed companies under the statute.

7.331. Seventeen Vietnamese respondents requested company-specific revocations in the context of the fourth administrative review:

- a. Fish One again requested a company-specific revocation of the order, based on its "likely four consecutive years of sales at not less than normal value". Fish One recalled that it had been selected for individual examination and had received a zero margin in the first administrative review, had not been selected for individual examination in the second and third administrative reviews, although it had received a margin of zero (as separate rate) in the second administrative review. In its request, Fish One stated that it was the USDOC's practice to treat companies that were not mandatory respondents in the interim period the same as if they had obtained a zero margin for the period of review, and indicated that it expected to receive again a zero margin in the third administrative review if selected for individual examination, and believed it would again qualify for a zero rate in the fourth administrative review.⁴⁷⁸
- b. Camimex and Minh Phu requested that the USDOC revoke the order with respect to them based on their likely three consecutive years of sales at not less than normal value. Their joint request stated that they both had been selected as mandatory respondents in the second and third administrative reviews, had received zero or *de minimis* margins in the second administrative review, and stated that they believed that they would again qualify to receive a zero or *de minimis* margin in the third administrative review, and if selected for individual examination in the fourth review, could demonstrate that they did not engage in dumping for three consecutive years. 479
- c. In the same submission to the USDOC, 13 companies that had never been selected as mandatory respondents but received the separate rate in both the second and third administrative reviews also requested revocation from the order. In their request, these companies referred to a procedure for addressing requests for revocation by companies not selected as mandatory respondents developed by the USDOC in its

 $^{^{477}}$ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the third administrative review, Exhibit VN-72, p. 62.

⁴⁷⁸ Requests for revocation submitted in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-83 (Fish One's request for revocation). Fish One's request stated that it attached certifications to the effect that it: (i) sold the subject merchandise in the United States at not less than normal value during the fourth review period; (ii) sold the subject merchandise in the United States in commercial quantities; and (iii) agreed to its immediate reinstatement in the anti-dumping order, should the USDOC conclude that it sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value subsequent to revocation.

⁴⁷⁹ Requests for revocation submitted in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-83 (request for revocation submitted by 15 respondents, including Minh Phu and Camimex). The request stated that it included certifications stating that Minh Phu and Camimex: (i) sold the subject merchandise in the United States at not less than normal value during the fourth review period; (ii) sold the subject merchandise in the United States in commercial quantities during the second, third and fourth review periods; and (iii) agreed to their immediate reinstatement in the anti-dumping order, should the USDOC conclude that they sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value subsequent to revocation.

proceeding on *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia*. The request asserted that these 13 companies met the criteria set forth by the USDOC in that proceeding.⁴⁸⁰

d. Grobest also requested revocation from the order, stating that it had requested to be reviewed but was not selected as a mandatory respondent in the second and third administrative reviews. Grobest also referred to the approach proposed by the USDOC in *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia* for considering revocation of companies not selected for individual examination and stated that it met each criterion set forth by the USDOC in that proceeding.⁴⁸¹

we have decided to adopt the following procedure for addressing requests for revocation by small companies in this proceeding. We believe this procedure addresses many of the concerns raised by the parties and, at the same time, meets the resource constraints faced by the Department.

Under this procedure, companies that were not selected for examination in prior reviews (because of the large number of companies for which a review was requested) will have a mechanism for obtaining revocation on the basis of three consecutive years of sales at not less than normal value. The first opportunity for such a procedure will occur in the review of the period March 1, 1997 to February 28, 1998 (the eleventh review period). Companies that request a review for that period may also request revocation if they meet the following criteria: (1) a review was requested for the company in each of the two years immediately preceding the period of review in which revocation is requested, but the company was not selected for examination in either of those two preceding reviews; and 2) with the request for revocation the company (a) certifies that it sold subject merchandise at not less than normal value during the period described in 19 C.F.R. 351.213(e)(1) and for two consecutive years immediately preceeding that period; (b) provides the certifications required under 19 C.F.R. 351.222(e)(ii) and (iii); and (c) submits a statement acknowledging that its entries are subject to assessment of AD duties at the non-selected respondent rate in one or both of the two preceding review periods. If a company meets these criteria, Commerce will examine the company's sales during the current period of review for purposes of determining a dumping margin in accordance with section 751(a) of the Act. In accordance with section 751(a)(2) of the Act, the results of that analysis will form the basis for any assessment of antidumping duties on entries during that period and for cash deposits. In addition, for the purposes of revocation only, Commerce will examine data for the two prior years to determine whether the company sold subject merchandise at not less than normal value. If Commerce determines that the company sold subject merchandise at not less than normal value in each of the three years examined and the other conditions of 19 CFR 351.222 are met, it will revoke the order with respect to that

The request states that the 13 companies requested reviews in each of the two years immediately preceding the period of review in which the revocation was requested (i.e. in the periods covered by the second and third administrative reviews). It attaches certifications for all 13 companies stating that they: (i) sold the subject merchandise in the United States at not less than normal value during the second, third and fourth review periods; (ii) sold the subject merchandise in the United States in commercial quantities during the second, third and fourth review periods; (iii) agreed to their immediate reinstatement in the anti-dumping order, should the USDOC conclude that they sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value subsequent to revocation; and (iv) acknowledged that their entries were subject to assessment of anti-dumping duties at the non-selected respondent rate set in the second and third administrative reviews. The request invited the USDOC to examine the companies' data for the two prior years to determine whether they companies sold subject merchandise at not less than the normal value. (Requests for revocation submitted in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-83 (request for revocation submitted by 15 companies, including Minh Phu and Camimex)).

⁴⁸¹ Requests for revocation submitted in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-83 (Grobest's request for revocation). The request stated that Grobest met each of the criteria set forth by the USDOC in *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia*, that it attached the certification required under that procedure, and invited the USDOC to examine its data for the two prior years to determine whether it sold subject merchandise at not less than the normal value. Following litigation, Grobest obtained a court ruling that the USDOC individually examine it as voluntary respondent in the fourth administrative review. During the court-ordered individual examination, Grobest's successor in interest, I-Mei Frozen Foods, withdrew its request for individual review, including its request for revocation of the order. (Order, *Grobest & I Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., v. United States*, Consol. Court No. 10-00238 (13 Sept. 2012), Exhibit US-11; *Grobest & I Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., v. United States*, 853 F.Supp.2d 1352 (Ct. Int'l Trade, 2012), Exhibit US-12; Successor to Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd., *Withdrawal of Request for Voluntary Respondent Review and Revocation of Antidumping Duty Order in Part* (12 Dec. 2012), Exhibit US-13; Response to 15 January 2013 Supplemental Questionnaire in Reexamination of Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. Voluntary Responses (29 Jan. 2013), Exhibit US-14; Response by Successor to Grobest & I-Mei Industrial

 $^{^{480}}$ The request cited the following language from the USDOC's final determination in *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia*:

7.332. The preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review indicated that of the Vietnamese respondents who initially requested revocation of the order, 13 subsequently withdrew their requests. The USDOC noted that of the companies that maintained their requests⁴⁸², only Minh Phu was selected for individual examination. The USDOC preliminarily determined not to revoke the order with respect to Minh Phu as it had calculated a non-de minimis positive margin for the company in the review. 483 The remaining three companies received the separate rate. The USDOC preliminarily determined not to revoke the order with respect to them, for the reason that they had not been selected for individual examination. 484 The final determination maintained these decisions. 485 The Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination further discussed the USDOC's determination not to revoke the order with respect to these respondents who were not selected for individual examination. 486 The USDOC explained that the procedure devised in Certain Cut Flowers from Colombia, through which non-individually-examined producers/exporters could obtain revocation, was actually never implemented in practice and was limited to that one proceeding and therefore was not applicable in the administrative review at issue. The USDOC also reiterated its interpretation of the Statute that its discretion to limit its examination was not limited by virtue of the provisions of the Regulations addressing revocations in the context of administrative reviews, adding:

That the non-selected revocation companies requested revocation pursuant to the Department's regulations does not require the Department to individually review these companies for revocation purposes, when the Department, as it did here, limits the individually reviewed companies under the statute. 487

7.333. In the fifth administrative review, three companies requested company-specific revocations:

(Vietnam) Co., Ltd., to Department's Supplemental Questionnaire and Petitioners' Objection to Rescission (13 Feb. 2013), Exhibit US-15). In its preliminary and final determinations in the re-conducted fourth administrative review, the USDOC rejected I-Mei's request for rescission of the individual examination, assigned a margin of 25.76% to I-Mei, found that the company did not meet the requirements of Section 351.222(b) and therefore determined not to revoke the order with respect to I-Mei. (Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp From the Socialist Republic of Vietnam: Preliminary Results of Reconducted of Administrative Review of Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. and Intent Not to Revoke; 2008-2009, 78 Fed. Reg. 57,352 (19 Sept. 2013) (Exhibit US-16); Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam; Final Results of Re-Conducted Administrative Review of Grobest & I-Mei Industrial (Vietnam) Co., Ltd and Intent Not To Revoke; 2008-2009, 79 Fed. Reg. 15309 (19 March 2014), Exhibit US-90). The United States, citing I-Mei's request for rescission of the administrative review and withdrawal of the request for revocation, argues that Grobest withdrew its request. However, we note that Viet Nam's challenge concerns the USDOC's initial rejection of Grobest's request for revocation; as discussed below, the USDOC determined not to revoke the order with respect to Grobest on the basis that it was not individually examining Grobest. Moreover, the USDOC's determination in the court-ordered individual examination proceeding - which is not challenged by Viet Nam and therefore does not fall within our terms of reference – shows that the USDOC did not accept I-Mei's withdrawal of the request for revocation. Instead, as indicated above, the USDOC preliminarily rejected the request on the basis that it calculated a positive, non de minimis, margin of dumping for the company. This is also Viet Nam's reading of the evidence on record. (Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 75.)

⁴⁸² In its determination, the USDOC indicated that five companies maintained their requests. However, only four companies actually maintained their request; Minh Phu Group, Camimex, Grobest, and Fish One. Seaprodex Minh Hai was listed as having maintained its revocation request in the preliminary and final determinations, but the Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination (which preceded the final determination), footnote 86, indicates that Seaprodex Minh Hai should not have been listed. The United States clarified, in response to a question from the Panel, that Seaprodex Minh Hai had withdrawn its request for revocation (United States' response to Panel question No. 74, referring to Letter from Counsel for Seaprodex Minh Hai to Secretary of Commerce (31 July 1999), Exhibit US-96).

Preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12209.

The USDOC's reasoning was essentially the same as in its decision rejecting Fish One's request in the third administrative review, namely that the USDOC is under no obligation to conduct individual examination of non-selected companies, or verify non-selected companies' data. (Preliminary determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-09, p. 12209.)

⁴⁸⁵ Final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, p. 47774.

⁴⁸⁶ Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fourth administrative

review, Exhibit VN-13, pp. 15-17.

487 Issues and Decision Memorandum accompanying the final determination in the fourth administrative review, Exhibit VN-13, pp. 16-17.

- a. In its request, Camimex stated that it had received a *de minimis* margin in the third administrative review but was not selected for individual examination in the fourth review. It referred to the USDOC's "policy and regulations" under 19 C.F.R. § 351.222(d) to treat companies that are not mandatory respondents in the interim period (in this case, the period of the fourth review) the same as if they had obtained a zero margin, and asserted its belief that it would obtain a zero or *de minimis* margin in the fifth review, in which case it would have demonstrated that it had sold the subject merchandise without dumping for at least three consecutive years.⁴⁸⁸
- b. In its request, Phuong Nam stated that it had been individually examined and received a de minimis margin in the third administrative review but was not selected for individual examination in the fourth review. Phuong Nam stated that it was the USDOC's policy to treat companies not selected for individual examination in the interim period (here, the fourth administrative review) the same as if they had obtained a zero margin, and that Phuong Nam believed that it would again qualify for a zero margin in the fifth review, in which case it would have demonstrated that it had sold the subject merchandise without dumping for at least three consecutive years. 489
- c. In its request, Grobest noted that it had requested to be reviewed and cooperated in the third and fourth administrative reviews, but was not selected for individual examination; it also recalled its request for revocation in the fourth review, which remained unanswered. Grobest again referred to the procedure proposed by the USDOC in *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia*, and asserted that it met the condition set forth by the USDOC in that proceeding. 490

7.334. In its preliminary determination in the fifth administrative review, the USDOC noted that of the three companies requesting revocation, only Camimex was a mandatory respondent. The USDOC preliminarily determined not to revoke the order with respect to that company on the ground that it had calculated a positive, non-*de minimis*, dumping margin for Camimex in the review. ⁴⁹¹ As in the third and fourth administrative reviews, the USDOC preliminarily determined not to revoke the order with respect to companies that it had not selected as mandatory respondents. ⁴⁹² The final determination maintains these decisions. ⁴⁹³

7.335. On the basis of the record before us, we understand that the USDOC determined not to revoke the order with respect to:

a. Minh Phu (fourth administrative review) and Camimex (fifth administrative review), on the basis that it calculated a positive, non *de minimis* margin for these companies in the corresponding administrative review; and

⁴⁸⁸ Requests for revocation submitted in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-84 (Camimex's request for revocation). Camimex's request included a certification stating that it: (i) sold the subject merchandise in the United States at not less than normal value during the fifth review period; (ii) sold the subject merchandise in the United States in commercial quantities during the third, fourth and fifth review periods; and (iii) agreed to its immediate reinstatement in the anti-dumping order, should the USDOC conclude that it sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value subsequent to revocation.

⁴⁸⁹ Requests for revocation submitted in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-84 (Phuong Nam's request for revocation). Phuong Nam's request attached certifications stating that it: (i) sold the subject merchandise in the United States at not less than normal value during the fifth review period; (ii) sold the subject merchandise in the United States in commercial quantities during the third, fourth and fifth review periods; and (iii) agreed to its immediate reinstatement in the anti-dumping order, should the USDOC conclude that it sold the subject merchandise at less than normal value subsequent to revocation.

⁴⁹⁰ Requests for revocation submitted in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-84 (Grobest's request for revocation). Grobest's request invited the USDOC to examine its data for the two prior years to determine whether it sold subject merchandise at not less than the normal value, consistent with the procedure developed by the USDOC in *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia*. The request stated that Grobest met each criterion set forth by the USDOC in *Certain Fresh Cut Flowers from Colombia* and attached a certification pursuant to that procedure, which certification is included in the documentation provided by Viet Nam.

⁴⁹¹ Notice of initiation for the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-10; preliminary determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-15, pp. 12057-12058; final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18.

⁴⁹² Preliminary determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-15, p. 12057.

⁴⁹³ Final determination in the fifth administrative review, Exhibit VN-18, pp. 56160-56161.

b. Fish One (third administrative review); Camimex, Grobest, and Fish One (fourth administrative review); and Grobest and Phuong Nam (fifth administrative review) on the basis that the requesting producer/exporter was not a mandatory respondent in the corresponding administrative review.⁴⁹⁴

7.7.3 Main arguments of the parties

7.7.3.1 Viet Nam

7.336. Viet Nam is challenging the USDOC's rejection of requests for company-specific revocations submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters in the administrative reviews at issue. Specifically, with respect to some of these company-specific requests, Viet Nam challenges the use of WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping in determining whether the producer/exporter at issue had ceased dumping for at least three consecutive years. With respect to others, Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's refusal to revoke the order in respect producers/exporters which it was not individually examining in the review at issue.

7.337. Viet Nam indicates that with respect to Minh Phu and Camimex, which were individually examined in at least three consecutive reviews and had their requests rejected on the basis of the margins calculated for them, its claims pertain to the USDOC's reliance on dumping margins calculated with zeroing in rejecting the requests for revocation. Viet Nam invites the Panel to adopt the reasoning of the Appellate Body in disputes involving sunset review determinations, and to find that the USDOC's reliance on margins of dumping calculated with zeroing as a basis for rejecting requests for revocation was inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. 496

7.338. Viet Nam's argumentation as it relates to the Vietnamese producers/exporters who were never individually examined or who were individually examined in fewer than three consecutive administrative reviews focuses on the fact that the USDOC refused to revoke the order in respect of these companies on the basis that they had not been selected for individual examination. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC's failure to revoke the anti-dumping order with respect to companies that were denied the opportunity to demonstrate the absence of dumping because they were not individually examined violates Articles 11.1 and 11.2. Viet Nam further argues that the USDOC imposed a requirement that respondents be individually examined in three consecutive reviews to qualify for consideration for revocation, notwithstanding its determination that each such respondent was subject to a zero or *de minimis* separate rate in each of the reviews. In addition, Viet Nam argues that these companies would have been able to demonstrate the absence of dumping in three consecutive years if: (i) zeroing had not been used when calculating their individual margins (if and when they were individually examined), and (ii) the USDOC had applied a WTO-consistent separate rate in the administrative reviews at issue, i.e. a separate rate of zero or *de minimis*.

⁴⁹⁴ Viet Nam confirms this understanding in its response to Panel question No. 73(c).

 $^{^{495}}$ Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 347; response to Panel question No. 50, para. 169; second written submission, para. 125.

⁴⁹⁶ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 348-349; response to Panel question No. 43; second written submission, paras. 114, 116. Viet Nam states that it assumes, for the purpose of its claim, that the standard applied by the USDOC for company-specific revocations (i.e. absence of dumping for three consecutive years) is the appropriate standard under Article 11.2 (Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 347).

⁴⁹⁷ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 117. Viet Nam initially presented a distinct argumentation for three categories of exporters which requested revocation, namely: (i) exporters that were individually examined in three or more reviews, who would not have been found to have dumped in the reviews but for zeroing; (ii) exporters that were individually examined in less than three reviews and which believed they could demonstrate the absence of dumping for a period of three consecutive years; and (iii) exporters which were never individually examined but which believed they could demonstrate the absence of dumping for a period of at least three years. (Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 325-327.) In its second submission, Viet Nam abandoned this categorization and as indicated above instead distinguished between Vietnamese producers/exporters whose requests were rejected on the basis that the USDOC calculated WTO-inconsistent positive margins for them and Vietnamese producers/exporters whose requests were rejected because they had not been individually examined.

7.339. In support of its claim, Viet Nam asserts that Article 11.2 imposes an obligation to revoke anti-dumping duties as to individual producers/exporters once the criteria set forth in that provision are met by those individual producers/exporters. Viet Nam argues in this respect that Article 11.1 seeks to limit the imposition of dumping duties both in terms of "time" ("only so long as") and scope ("to the extent necessary"), and notes that both Articles 11.2 and 11.3 address the time period during which anti-dumping duties may remain in effect. Viet Nam notes that Article 11.3, however, only addresses the issue of the "expiry" of duties and not "the extent" to which duties are continued. Viet Nam submits that "the extent" limitation not being addressed in Article 11.3, it must necessarily be addressed under Article 11.2. Viet Nam notes that this is contemplated by Article 11.2 in that it envisages duties not only being "removed" but also "varied". Viet Nam argues that, if they are to have meaning, both the terms "extent" and "varied" must be read as permitting changes in both the exporters and products subject to anti-dumping duties. 499 Viet Nam also argues that the reference to "any interested parties" in Article 11.2 supports its contention that Article 11.2 applies to individual producers/exporters. 500 In Viet Nam's view, the terms "any" and "varied" must both inform Article 11.2, so that the removal of the application of the duty with respect to any individual importers, exporters or foreign producers qualifies as "the duty" being varied. 501

7.340. Viet Nam believes that footnote 21 further confirms its interpretation of Article 11.2. Viet Nam submits that the difference in the language of footnotes 21 and 22 recognizes the authority to terminate duties in part under Article 11.2 in contrast to the requirement of termination of the anti-dumping duties as a whole under Article 11.3. 502

7.341. Viet Nam further argues that its interpretation of Article 11.2 is consistent with other provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement that address individual producers/exporters, in particular Article 5.8, which requires the immediate termination of the investigation in respect of exporters for which an individual margin of dumping of zero or *de minimis* is determined. Viet Nam argues that it would be nonsensical if a similar mechanism to avoid the application of anti-dumping duties did not exist for individual companies through revocation once the order is in place if they demonstrate that they are no longer dumping and that dumping is unlikely to recur. ⁵⁰³

7.342. Viet Nam submits that its interpretation of Article 11.2 is confirmed by the "subsequent practice" of certain Members, including the United States, in the sense of Article 31(3)(b) of the Vienna Convention.⁵⁰⁴

7.343. Viet Nam argues that the "limited examination" exception under Articles 6.10 and 9.4 applies only in the context of original investigations, and through Article 9.4, in administrative reviews, and consequently does not apply in the context of Article 11.2 reviews. ⁵⁰⁵ Alternatively, Viet Nam argues, Members must interpret and apply the provisions of the covered agreements in a manner which gives meaning to all provisions. Accordingly, even if the exception were applicable, it would have to be applied in a manner that reconciles the investigating authority's resource limitations with individual producers/exporters' right to obtain company-specific revocations. ⁵⁰⁶

⁴⁹⁹ Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 132-133.

⁵⁰⁰ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 41; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 48-51. (referring to Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, paras. 149-150, 152); response to Panel question No. 79, para. 59; comment on the United States' response to Panel question No. 79, para. 61.

⁵⁰¹ Viet Nam's opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 52.

⁵⁰² Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 40.

 $^{^{503}}$ Viet Nam's second written submission, paras. 134-135; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, para. 54.

⁵⁰⁴ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 38 (referring to Documentation on Individual Revocation Procedures of Australia, Brazil, and India, Exhibit VN-79).

⁵⁰⁵ Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 122. In its response to Panel question No. 44, para. 160, however, Viet Nam states that its "position is not that the USDOC cannot use sampling. Rather, if it does use sampling, it must do so in a manner which also allows it to take actions consistent with its obligations under Article 11".

⁵⁰⁶ Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 340, 350-355; second written submission, paras. 120-125. Viet Nam argues that the USDOC has turned the "limited examination" exception under the second sentence of Article 6.10 into a rule, uses the exception to undermine Article 11.2 and that the application of the "limited examination" exception in cases where there is a large number of respondents would render Article 11.2 a nullity. Viet Nam suggests, *inter alia*, that the United States could rely on the separate

Hence, Viet Nam submits, the determination of the existence of the conditions for the application of the Articles 6.10/9.4 exception would have to be determined separately for each type of review.507

7.7.3.2 United States

7.344. The United States argues that Article 11.2 imposes no obligation on investigating authorities to consider or to provide company-specific revocations. The United States notes in particular that the Appellate Body has interpreted the term "duty" as it is used in Article 11.3 as referring to duties imposed on a product from a country, and not to the specific anti-dumping duties imposed or collected with respect to imports from an individual company. The United States argues that the term is most logically interpreted as having the same meaning in both provisions since they both set forth mechanisms to ensure that, as per Article 11.1, the duty remains in place only as long as necessary to counteract injurious dumping. 508 The United States further notes that Article 11.3 contains a cross-reference to Article 11.2, as it provides that an Article 11.2 review restarts the "five-year clock" for conducting a five-year sunset review, which strongly suggests that both types of review contemplate examination of the "duty" on a product (i.e. order-wide) basis. According to the United States, when viewed in light of this language, Viet Nam's interpretation of Article 11.2 yields an absurd result. The United States submits that if an investigating authority considers a request for company-specific revocation covering both dumping and injury in the fourth year after the imposition of the duty, it would automatically extend the duration of the duty (as it applies to all producers/exporters) by an additional five years without any obligation to conduct a sunset review under Article 11.3. If such company-specific reviews are requested by interested parties and conducted at least once every five years, "the duty" would continue indefinitely. In addition, the United States argues that the title of Article 11 and Article 11.5 confirm that Article 11 also applies to price undertakings under Article 8, mutatis mutandis. The United States submits that when the raising of export prices under a price undertaking eliminates dumping, pursuant to Viet Nam's interpretation of Article 11.2, this would lead to automatic termination of the duty. Thus, there would be no basis for review under Article 11.3 (after five years), which again is an absurd result. The United States also relies on the fact that the text of Article 11.2 makes no distinction between the likelihood-of-dumping determination and the likelihood-of-injury determination, both of which can provide the basis for termination of "the duty", and that the likelihood-of-injury determination inherently relates to all of the imports subject to "the duty". For the United States, it therefore follows that the likelihood-ofdumping determination under Article 11.2 is also product-wide. 509

7.345. The United States argues that footnote 21 further demonstrates that the reviews provided for in Article 11.2 are with respect to the "duty" imposed on an order-wide basis. The United States notes that the footnote clarifies that Article 9.3 assessment reviews, do not, on their own, constitute Article 11.2-type of reviews, and in so doing contrasts the two types of reviews. The United States admits that the "by itself" language in footnote 21 implies that company-specific assessment reviews may play a role in product-wide reviews under Article 11.2, but argues that this role is as limited as in Article 11.3 sunset reviews: Members may take into account companyspecific dumping margins from assessment reviews when conducting product-wide Article 11.3 sunset reviews. 510

7.346. The United States takes issue with Viet Nam's argument concerning the "removed or varied" language in Article 11.2. The United States argues that this language pertains to injury, but not to dumping, and that in addition, the duty could be "varied" by decreasing the scope of products covered by an antidumping duty order, which would be product (not company)

rate in considering revocation for non-examined producers/exporters (Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 137).

507 Viet Nam's first written submission, para. 352.

⁵⁰⁸ United States' second written submission, paras. 12-13; opening statement at the second meeting of the Panel, paras. 54-56 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 150).

United States' first written submission, para. 77 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, paras. 140, 149, 150 and 154-155); opening statement at the first substantive meeting, paras. 53-55; response to Panel question 38; second written submission, paras. 8-11; comments on Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 79.

⁵¹⁰ United States' response to Panel question No. 40.

specific. 511 Further, in the United States' view, the reference to "interested parties" in Article 11.2 represents a procedural distinction from Article 11.3 that does not, contrary to Viet Nam assertion, inform the interpretation of "the duty"; rather, the term "interested parties" merely defines who can seek a review. The United States adds, in this regard, that neither Articles 11.2 nor 11.3 contain the term "margins" which, for the United States, might implicitly refer to individual exporters or producers. 512 The United States argues that had Members agreed to an obligation to examine company-specific revocation requests in Article 11.2, they would have included explicit language to that effect as they did in Articles 5.8 and 6.10. The United States also argues that to read "the duty" in the context of Article 11 as a company-specific reference would disregard the distinction between this term as used in Article 11 and the terms "individual duties" in Article 9.4 and "individual margin of dumping for each known exporter or producer" in Article 6.10.513

7.347. The United States further submits that its interpretation of Article 11.2 is confirmed by the preparatory work of Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The United States explains that during the negotiations, the Nordic countries proposed adding a company-specific reference to "dumping margins" in Article 11.2, but this proposed amendment was rejected. 514

7.348. The United States also argues that even accepting, arguendo, that Article 11.2 imposes an obligation to consider company-specific revocations, Article 11.2 does not require Members to adopt tests based on the absence of dumping for three years. Hence, the United States submits, the provisions of US law and regulations providing for company-specific revocations on the basis of, inter alia, an absence of dumping for three consecutive years go beyond the requirements of Articles 11.1 and 11.2 by establishing a presumption that operates in favour of foreign producers/exporters. For this reason, even if the USDOC had found that some of the Vietnamese producers/exporters had zero margins for three years, it would not have been required under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 to revoke the order with respect to these companies. 515

7.349. Moreover, the United States argues that, by virtue of Article 11.4, the limited examination exception under the second sentence of Article 6.10 would apply in the Article 11.2 context. The United States considers that the question of the individual examination of companies is governed by Article 6.10. It follows, argues the United States, that limiting the number of producers/exporters individually-examined consistently with Article 6.10 cannot provide a basis for a breach of Article 11.2 in the event that non-selected producers/exporters seek a companyspecific revocation. 516 The United States notes that Viet Nam has not alleged that the USDOC's limitation of its examination in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews was inconsistent with Article 6.10.517 In addition, the United States rejects as without basis in the Anti-Dumping Agreement Viet Nam's suggestion that investigating authorities must apply different standards, or must seek to balance individual producers/exporters' rights and the investigating authority's resource constraints if and when they limit their examination in a combined administrative review and Article 11.2 review proceeding. 518

7.7.4 Main arguments of the third parties

7.350. China considers that Article 11.2 provides individual producers/exporters the right to request reviews for the purpose of obtaining company-specific revocations and leaves the authorities no discretion to refuse to initiate an Article 11.2 review when an interested party has

⁵¹¹ United States' second written submission, paras. 14-16.

⁵¹² United States' response to Panel question No. 79, paras. 81-84 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review, paras. 149-150).

⁵¹³ United States' opening statement at the first meeting, para. 56; second written submission,

para. 18.

514 United States' response to Panel question 38, paras. 127-132 (quoting from Drafting Proposals of the Nordic Countries Regarding Amendments of the Anti-Dumping Code, MTN.GNG/NG8/W/76, p. 5).

United States' second written submission, para. 23; and response to Panel question No. 45, para. 147 (all referring to Panel Report, US – Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods, paras. 7.153, 7.159, 7.165-7.166, 7.174).

516 United States' first written submission, paras. 86-89; second written submission, para. 7;

response to Panel question No. 44, paras. 142-145 (quoting from Panel Report, US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), paras. 7.151-7.168).

⁵¹⁷ United States' first written submission, para. 87.

 $^{^{\}rm 518}$ United States' first written submission, para. 90.

met the conditions set out under that provision. 519 China argues that the term "duty" has a broader meaning under Article 11.2 than under Article 11.3 and refers to either the duty on a product-specific basis, or the duties on a company-specific basis, depending on the particular circumstances. China notes that the Appellate Body has concluded that Article 11.3 does not oblige investigating authorities to make company-specific likelihood determinations in a sunset review, partly on the basis that, in contrast to Article 11.2, Article 11.3 contains no express reference to "interested parties". 520 China also notes that unlike Article 11.3, which requires the authorities to review the likelihood of continuation or recurrence of both dumping and injury, Article 11.2 provides that interested parties may request authorities to review either dumping or injury, or both. Thus, it envisages that a duty may be terminated after a review only with respect to dumping, which is an exporter-specific concept. 521 Further, China submits that whereas Article 11.3 obliges the authorities to review only the likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping, Article 11.2 requires authorities to examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping, which requires determining individual dumping margins. 522 China argues that the distinction between "duty" and "duties" is not absolute and that there is no "fixed collocation" between the terms concerned. In this sense, while China agrees with the United States that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 is different from the term "individual duties" in Article 9.4, China argues that this does not preclude that the former could refer to duties on exports by individual companies, depending on the particular circumstances. 523 China submits that even if the "limited examination" exception under Article 6.10 applies to Article 11.2 reviews, it should not be applied in a manner that deprives interested parties of the right to request a review and to demonstrate the absence of dumping, rendering Article 11.2 a nullity. 524

7.351. The European Union argues that a request under Article 11.2 may relate only to dumping, only to injury, or to both, and the review must consider whether the need for the continued imposition of the duty at the various duty rates is necessary to offset dumping at these rates. The review may or not be conducted on a company-specific basis, but if it is, it may also take into account factors that relate to the industry as a whole in the exporting Member. The European Union adds that the fact that a firm has not been dumping for a particular period of time does not in itself require the termination of the duty with respect to that firm. 525 In addition, the European Union considers that the second sentence of Article 6.10 applies in the context of Article 11.2 reviews and therefore that limited examination may be used in such reviews. 526 The European Union considers that reliance on dumping margins calculated with zeroing in an Article 11.2 review violates Articles 11.1 and 11.2, and that the Panel could limit itself to finding that the determinations at issue are inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 on that basis.⁵²⁷

7.352. Japan argues that Article 11.2 affords a company-specific right to request a review, and eventually obtain revocation, of the order. Japan notes that the Appellate Body in US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review gave interpretive significance to the presence of the terms "any interested party" in Article 11.2, which it contrasted with the absence of any reference to individual exporters, producers or interested parties in Article 11.3. Japan argues that the reference to interested parties in Article 11.2 suggests that the drafters intended to impose obligations regarding individual producers/exporters under Article 11.2. Consequently, Japan argues, the term "duty" should be given a broader meaning under Article 11.2 than under Article 11.3 and also encompasses duties imposed on a company-specific basis. 528 Japan also

 $^{^{519}}$ China's third-party submission, para. 60 (quoting from Appellate Body Reports, US-Zeroing (Japan), paras, 108-112, 114; US - Stainless Steel (Mexico), paras, 87 and 94; and Mexico -Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice, paras. 308-316).

⁵²⁰ China's response to Panel question No. 15, paras. 31-32 (quoting from Appellate Body Report, US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 149).

⁵²¹ China's response to Panel question No. 15, paras. 33-34.

 $^{^{522}}$ China adds that the US-DRAMs panel found that Article 11.2 does not require immediate and automatic revocation as soon as an exporter is found to have ceased dumping, which China reads as implying that exporters are entitled to company-specific revocations under that provision. (China's response to Panel question No. 15, para. 34, referring to Panel Report, US - DRAMS, paras. 6.32-6.34.)

⁵²³ China's response to Panel question No. 15, para. 36.

⁵²⁴ China's third-party-submission, paras. 54-69; response to Panel question No. 15.

⁵²⁵ European Union's third-party submission, paras. 43-47; response to Panel questions No. 15 and 17.

⁵²⁶ European Union's third-party submission, paras. 46; European Union's response to Panel question No. 18, para. 56.

527 European Union's third-party submission, paras. 43-47.

Japan's response to Panel question Nos. 15 and 16, paras. 14-15 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, paras. 149, 152).

attaches significance to the fact that, unlike Article 11.3, Article 11.2 envisions that a duty may be terminated after a review of only the need for the duty to offset dumping.⁵²⁹ Japan adds that it is relevant that Article 11 applies mutatis mutandis to price undertakings, which are necessarily company-specific, and that it would be anomalous if individual exporters could seek the removal of a price undertaking, but not of a duty. 530 Moreover, Japan argues that the term "varied" in Article 11.2 presupposes that the investigating authority can recalculate individual dumping margins and impose "the duty" at a different rate, which assumes that the term "the duty" is used in a company-specific sense. ⁵³¹ Finally, Japan considers that, by virtue of Article 11.4, to the extent that it may be relevant in such a context, the limited examination exception in Article 6.10 applies in Article 11.2 reviews. 532

7.353. Norway considers that Article 11.2 gives any interested party a right to a review where the conditions set forth under that provision are met. Norway relies in part of the Appellate Body's statement in US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review that when the drafters of the Anti-Dumping Agreement intended to impose obligations regarding individual producers/exporters, they did so explicitly. 533 With respect to the application of the limited examination exception in the context of an Article 11.2 review, Norway considers that there can be no automatic rejection of a request for review, even if the Article 6.10 exception has been applied at a previous stage of the anti-dumping proceeding. 534

7.354. Thailand argues that Article 11.2 refers to a specific interested party as it addresses the issue of "partial reviews" whereas Article 11.3 governs the review of an overall proceeding covering both dumping and injuries involving all interested parties concerned. 535

7.7.5 Evaluation by the Panel

7.7.5.1 Introduction

7.355. Viet Nam's claims are two-fold: First, Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's refusal to grant company-specific revocation to Vietnamese producers/exporters who were not individually examined. Second, Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's reliance on dumping margins that were calculated inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement in its consideration and eventual rejection of the requests for revocation of certain Vietnamese producers/exporters. We examine each in turn. But before we turn to the substance of Viet Nam's claims, we consider the jurisdictional question of whether the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.

7.7.5.2 Whether the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference

7.356. In its first written submission, Viet Nam discussed the USDOC's treatment of requests for revocations in the third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews (no requests were made in the sixth review administrative review)⁵³⁶, and requested findings of inconsistency with respect to the USDOC's actions in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews.⁵³⁷ Subsequently, however, in response to a question from the Panel, Viet Nam indicated that it is was making claims in respect of the USDOC's rejection of requests for revocation in the context of the fourth and fifth reviews as well as with respect to "the claim made in the third review". 538 Hence we understand Viet Nam to include in its claims the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review. The United States takes issue with Viet Nam's formulation of a claim in

⁵²⁹ Japan's response to Panel question Nos. 15 and 16, para. 16 (referring to Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (Japan), para. 111).

⁵³⁰ Japan's response to Panel question Nos. 15 and 16, para. 18.

Japan's response to Panel question Nos. 15 and 16, para. 19.

Japan's response to Panel question No. 18.

⁵³³ Norway's response to Panel question Nos. 14 and 17, paras. 8-12 (quoting from Appellate Body

Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 152).

534 Norway's opening statement at the first meeting, paras. 8-10; response to Panel question Nos. 14 and 17.

535 Thailand's response to Panel question No. 17.

115-2 submission, paras

⁵³⁶ See Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 325 and 326.

⁵³⁷ See, *inter alia*, Viet Nam's first written submission, paras. 13 and 42.

⁵³⁸ Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 48, para. 167.

this respect, as it considers that the third administrative review was not included in either Viet Nam's request for consultations or its panel request. 539 In light of the United States' objection, we examine whether the USDOC's actions taken in the context of the third administrative review constitute a "measure at issue" in the present dispute, such that it falls within our terms of reference. 540

7.357. Viet Nam's panel request defines the outer limit of our terms of reference - our terms of reference require us to examine, in the light of the relevant provisions of the covered agreements, the matter referred to the DSB by Viet Nam in its panel request. Viet Nam's panel request indicates that it is made "in particular but not exclusively" with respect to: "the imposition of antidumping duties and cash deposit requirements pursuant to the final results" of the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews; the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews themselves insofar as they did not revoke the anti-dumping duty order with respect to certain respondents requesting or eligible for such revocation; the "continued application of the practices and conduct" described in the panel request in any other on-going or future administrative reviews and preliminary and final results thereof as well as any assessment instructions, cash deposits requirements, and revocation determinations issued pursuant to such reviews; the USDOC's likelihood-of-dumping determination in the sunset review; and, finally, Section 129 of the URAA.541 This language suggests that only the USDOC's treatment of requests for company-specific revocations in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews fall within the Panel's terms of reference. 542

7.358. Moreover, as we discuss below, we are of the view that Viet Nam could in any event not have raised a claim with respect to the USDOC's treatment of requests for revocation in the third administrative review in its panel request.

7.359. As we noted in our 25 September 2013 preliminary ruling⁵⁴³, pursuant to the terms of Article 4⁵⁴⁴ and of Article 6.2 of the DSU⁵⁴⁵, the request for consultations constitutes a prerequisite for the panel request and as a result circumscribes the scope of the panel request and, consequently, the panel's terms of reference. 546 As we also noted in our preliminary ruling:

The Appellate Body has indicated that Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU "set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be

⁵³⁹ United States' second written submission, para. 34 and footnote 32.

 $^{^{540}}$ The Panel asked Viet Nam to react to the United States' objection, but in its response, Viet Nam did not address the question of the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request in that determination. (Viet Nam's response to Panel question No. 81.)

⁵⁴¹ Viet Nam's panel request, WT/DS429/2/Rev.1, 18 January 2013, p. 2, point 2 ("Summary of facts and legal basis of complaint").

⁵⁴² The panel request further develops the factual and legal bases of Viet Nam's various claims. Two sections of the panel request are of relevance to Viet Nam's "revocation" claims, neither of which appear to place the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review within our terms of reference. Section (e) of the panel request, "Revocation in the absence of any evidence of dumping", states that "the anti-dumping duty order should be revoked in part with respect to individually investigated respondents having zero or de minimis margins of dumping in reviews two through five and two through six, when the sixth review is completed". (emphasis added) Section (c) of the panel request concerns the USDOC's limitation of the number of respondents selected for individual examination. Although Viet Nam has not pursued any claim in this respect, this section is of some relevance to Viet Nam's claims with respect to company-specific revocations. It states, in relevant part, that:

Viet Nam challenges the use of limited respondent selection in the original investigation and the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, (1) to the extent that this practice impacted the USDOC's revocation and five-year "sunset" review determinations in the measures at issue and (2) to the extent that these determinations demonstrate the USDOC's continued and ongoing use of this practice throughout the full course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceeding. (emphasis added)
543 Preliminary Ruling, Annex A-3, paras. 2.11-2.13.

⁵⁴⁴ Article 4.4 provides, in particular, that:

Any request for consultations shall be submitted in writing and shall give the reasons for the request, including identification of the measures at issue and an indication of the legal basis for the complaint.

⁵⁴⁵ Article 6.2 of the DSU provides, in relevant part:

The request for establishment of the panel ... shall indicate whether consultations were held, identify the specific measures at issue and provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly.

⁵⁴⁶ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico - Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 - US)*, para. 58.

held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel"547, and that "consultations provide the parties an opportunity to define and delimit the scope of the dispute between them". 548 The Appellate Body has also held that Articles 4 and 6 do not "require a precise and exact identity between the specific measures that were the subject of consultations and the specific measures identified in the request for the establishment of a panel". 549 Thus, the Appellate Body has indicated that:

As long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute, we hesitate to impose too rigid a standard for the "precise and exact identity" between the scope of consultations and the request for the establishment of a panel, as this would substitute the request for consultations for the panel request. 550, 551

7.360. Hence, with respect to the correspondence between the measures included in the panel request and those included in the request for consultations, the relevant question is whether the "scope of the dispute" is expanded as a result of the inclusion of an additional measure in the panel request. 552 In relevant part, Viet Nam's consultations request sought consultations with respect to essentially the same measures as it subsequently listed in its panel request, with the exception that the consultations request does not expressly refer to the sixth administrative review, instead referring to "[a]ny other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, ... as well as any assessment instructions, cash deposit requirements, and revocation determinations issued pursuant to such reviews". 553 This language makes it clear that only the USDOC's treatment of requests for company-specific revocations in the context of the fourth, fifth, and ongoing future administrative reviews were included in the request for consultations.⁵⁵⁴ More importantly, the consultations request concludes:

⁵⁴⁷ Appellate Body Report, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 131.

⁵⁴⁸ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 54.

⁵⁴⁹ Appellate Body Report, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 132. (original emphasis)

⁵⁵⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 293 (citing Appellate Body Report, *Brazil –* Aircraft, para. 132). (footnote omitted)

551 Preliminary Ruling, Annex A-3, para. 2.12

⁵⁵² Preliminary Ruling, Annex A-3, para. 2.13 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued* Zeroing, para. 224, referring in turn to Appellate Body Report, US - Upland Cotton, para. 293; and to Panel Report, *US — Orange Juice (Brazil)*, para. 7.18).

553 Viet Nam's consultations request, p. 1.

⁵⁵⁴ Moreover, nothing in the remainder of the consultations request directly pertains to the USDOC's treatment of Fish One's request for revocation in the third administrative review. See, in particular, the following paragraphs of Viet Nam's consultations request, which are relevant to its claims with respect to company-specific revocations, and in which it indicates its intention to request consultations with respect to:

⁽³⁾ in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews, the limited selection of respondents individually investigated, such that non-investigated companies are denied the opportunity to demonstrate the absence of dumping necessary to qualify for revocation of the anti-dumping duty order;

⁽⁶⁾ in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews, the USDOC's determination to not revoke the anti-dumping duty order with respect to three respondents: Minh Phu Group, CAMIMEX, and Grobest, despite evidence demonstrating the absence of dumping in the fourth administrative review and the absence of any evidence of dumping by these respondents in any of the prior reviews conducted by the USDOC;

⁽⁷⁾ the use of zeroing to calculate dumping margins and determine duty assessment in the final results of the original investigation and first, second, third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews, to the extent that the USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology in those determinations impermissibly inflated assessed anti-dumping duties and consequentially impacted the USDOC's revocation and five-year "sunset" review determinations in the measures at issue;

⁽⁹⁾ the use of limited respondent selection in the original investigation and first, second, third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews, to the extent that this practice denied respondents not selected for individual review the opportunity to obtain revocation of the anti-dumping duty order in the measures at issue and impacted the USDOC's five-year "sunset" review determination;

⁽¹³⁾ in all of the anti-dumping proceedings of Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam, the absence of any mechanism to provide individually investigated or non-individually investigated respondents the opportunity to establish the absence of dumping that is required for revocation of the antidumping duty order;

To avoid the apparent confusion that our inclusion of the original investigation caused the US in Vietnam's previous request for consultations and a panel involving Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam, we would like to clarify that while practices and determinations in the original investigation and the first, second, and third administrative reviews are referenced because they have had an effect on the fourth administrative review, the fifth administrative review, the five year "sunset review", and ongoing or future reviews, the practices and determinations are included in this request for consultations only to the extent that they have had or will have an effect on the fourth administrative review, the fifth administrative review, the five year sunset review, and subsequent reviews. The underlying determinations, decision memoranda, and other memoranda and record evidence in the original investigation and the three reviews are thus necessary and relevant to the proceeding for which these consultations are requested. 555

7.361. This last paragraph excludes, in our view, the possibility for Viet Nam to include within the panel request, and hence within our terms of reference, any claims regarding the USDOC's actions in the third administrative review. In light of this explicit exclusion, and notwithstanding the fact that the claims that Viet Nam seeks to make with respect to the USDOC's actions in the third administrative review pertain to USDOC actions that took place under the same overall anti-dumping proceeding and are of the same nature as actions challenged in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews, and that Viet Nam makes similar claims with respect to the USDOC's treatment of requests for revocation in each of these reviews, we conclude that a claim in its panel request in respect of such actions would have impermissibly expanded the scope of the dispute. This being the case, the USDOC's determination not to revoke the *Shrimp* order with respect to Fish One in the third administrative review does not fall within our terms of reference.

7.7.5.3 General considerations with respect to the interpretation of Articles 11.1 and 11.2

- 7.362. Article 11 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement concerns the "Duration and Review of Anti-Dumping Duties and Price Undertakings". Articles 11.1 to 11.5, which are directly relevant to Viet Nam's claims, provide as follows:
 - 11.1 An anti-dumping duty shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury.
 - 11.2 The authorities shall review the need for the continued imposition of the duty, where warranted, on their own initiative or, provided that a reasonable period of time has elapsed since the imposition of the definitive anti-dumping duty, upon request by any interested party which submits positive information substantiating the need for a review. Interested parties shall have the right to request the authorities to examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping, whether the injury would be likely to continue or recur if the duty were removed or varied, or both. If, as a result of the review under this paragraph, the authorities determine that the anti-dumping duty is no longer warranted, it shall be terminated immediately.
 - 11.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, any definitive anti-dumping duty shall be terminated on a date not later than five years from its imposition (or from the date of the most recent review under paragraph 2 if that review has covered both dumping and injury, or under this paragraph), unless the authorities determine, in a review initiated before that date on their own initiative or upon a duly substantiated request made by or on behalf of the domestic industry within a reasonable period of time prior to that date, that the expiry of the duty would be likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping and injury.²² The duty may remain in force pending the outcome of such a review.
 - 11.4 The provisions of Article 6 regarding evidence and procedure shall apply to any review carried out under this Article. Any such review shall be carried out

expeditiously and shall normally be concluded within 12 months of the date of initiation of the review.

11.5 The provisions of this Article shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to price undertakings accepted under Article 8.

7.363. Several prior panel decisions suggest that Article 11.1 does not impose independent obligations upon Members, but rather, establishes the general principle that duties may only continue to be imposed so long as they remain necessary, which principle is operationalized in Articles 11.2 and 11.3.556 In the present dispute, Viet Nam itself argues that Article 11.1 sets forth an obligation which is operationalized in Articles 11.2 and 11.3557, and we do not understand Viet Nam to be arguing that the challenged USDOC actions violate Article 11.1 independently of Article 11.2. This being the case, our evaluation of Viet Nam's claims focuses on the language of Article 11.2, drawing on the context provided by, *inter alia*, Article 11.1, where relevant.

7.364. As just noted, Articles 11.2 and 11.3 operationalize the general principle in Article 11.1 that the duty only remain in force for as long as and to the extent necessary in order to counteract dumping which is causing injury. Article 11.2 and Article 11.3 provide for related, yet distinct, mechanisms to operationalize this general principle. Article 11.3 conditions the continuation of anti-dumping measures beyond a five year period on a review of the continuing need for "the duty", based on a determination of likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping and of injury. Article 11.2 imposes upon an investigating authority the obligation to conduct a review of the continuing need for "the duty" in the interval between the imposition of the measure and the five-year, "sunset", review.⁵⁵⁸ Thus, each paragraph provides for a review of the continuing need for the duty, one at a specified point in time, on the investigating authority's own initiative or on the basis of a substantiated request by the domestic industry, in order to justify continuing the duty at all; the other available at any time, on the investigating authority's own initiative or on the basis of a substantiated request by an interested party (provided in the latter case that a reasonable period of time has elapsed since the imposition of the definitive duty) to examine the continued need for the duty.

7.365. In *Mexico – Anti Dumping Measures on Rice*, the Appellate Body concluded that Article 11.2 requires investigating authorities to conduct a review under that provision where the conditions set forth therein are met and that the authorities may not impose additional conditions in this respect.⁵⁵⁹ The Appellate Body explained that:

Article 11.2 *requires* an agency to conduct a review, *inter alia*, at the request of an interested party, and to terminate the anti-dumping duty where the agency determines that the duty "is no longer warranted". The interested party has the right to request the authority to examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is

²¹ A determination of final liability for payment of anti-dumping duties, as provided for in paragraph 3 of Article 9, does not by itself constitute a review within the meaning of this Article.

²² When the amount of the anti-dumping duty is assessed on a retrospective basis, a finding in the most recent assessment proceeding under subparagraph 3.1 of Article 9 that no duty is to be levied shall not by itself require the authorities to terminate the definitive duty.

⁵⁵⁶ Panel Reports, EC – Tube or Pipe Fittings, para. 7.113; and US – DRAMS, para. 6.41.

⁵⁵⁷ For instance, in its first written submission, para. 329, Viet Nam writes that: The relevant provisions related to the revocation of anti-dumping duties are provided in Article 11 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. ... Article 11 does not only provide for revocation of anti-dumping duties as a result of required five year reviews under Article 11.3, it also provides for reviews under Article 11.2 in order to give effect to the general principle articulated in Article 11.1.

⁵⁵⁸ As provided in Article 11.3, where the most recent Article 11.2 review covered both dumping and injury, the five year period runs from the date of that review.

⁵⁵⁹ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Anti Dumping Measures on Rice*, paras. 314-315. At issue in that dispute was a provision of Mexican law providing that interested parties, e.g. an exporter, seeking a changed circumstances review had to satisfy the authorities that the volume of their exports to Mexico during the review period were representative.

necessary to offset dumping, whether the injury would be likely to continue or recur if the duty were removed or varied, or both. Article 11.2 conditions this obligation on (i) the passage of a reasonable period of time since imposition of the definitive duty; and (ii) the submission by the interested party of "positive information" substantiating the need for a review. ... Where the conditions in Article 11.2 have been met, the plain words of the provision make it clear that the agency has no discretion to refuse to complete a review, including consideration of whether the duty should be terminated in the light of the results of the review. 560

7.366. With respect to the corresponding provision of the SCM Agreement (Article 21.2), in US -Carbon Steel, the Appellate Body noted that:

Article 21.2 differs from Article 21.3 in that the former identifies certain circumstances in which the authorities are under an obligation to review ("shall review") whether the continued imposition of the countervailing duty is necessary. In contrast, the principal obligation in Article 21.3 is not, per se, to conduct a review, but rather to terminate a countervailing duty unless a specific determination is made in a review. We note that Article 21.2 sets down an explicit evidentiary standard for requests by interested parties for a review under that provision. In order to trigger the authorities' obligation to conduct a review, such requests must, inter alia, include "positive information substantiating the need for review.561

7.367. Also of relevance, because Article 11.2 uses the same terms, in US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review, the Appellate Body interpreted the terms "review" and "determine" in Article 11.3 as follows:

This language in Article 11.3 makes clear that it envisages a process combining both investigatory and adjudicatory aspects. In other words, Article 11.3 assigns an active rather than a passive decision-making role to the authorities. The words "review" and "determine" in Article 11.3 suggest that authorities conducting a sunset review must act with an appropriate degree of diligence and arrive at a reasoned conclusion on the basis of information gathered as part of a process of reconsideration and examination. In view of the use of the word "likely" in Article 11.3, an affirmative likelihood determination may be made only if the evidence demonstrates that dumping would be probable if the duty were terminated—and not simply if the evidence suggests that such a result might be possible or plausible. 562

7.368. Having reviewed relevant findings by prior panels and the Appellate Body, we now examine the constitutive elements of Article 11.2 in relation to requests made by an interested party. 563 In broad terms, Article 11.2 provides that if an investigating authority: (i) receives a request from an interested party; (ii) after a reasonable period of time has elapsed; (iii) requesting it to examine one of the three matters specified in the second sentence of Article 11.2 (need for the continued imposition of the duty on the basis of dumping, injury, or both); and (iv) accompanied by positive information substantiating the need for a review, then the authority must undertake a review of the need for the continued imposition of the duty. While the authorities must undertake the review where these conditions are met, Article 11.2 does not specify whether the review must be of the duty as a whole (i.e. on an order-wide basis) or of the duty as it applies to an individual producer/exporter (i.e. on a company-specific basis).

7.369. In our view the term "duty" as it is used in Article 11.2 can be interpreted to mean either a company-specific duty or an order-wide duty. While the Appellate Body has interpreted the term "duty", as it is used in Article 11.3, to refer to the duty as a whole, on an order-wide basis⁵⁶⁴, the term "duty" in Article 11.2 need not, in our view, be understood identically as it is in Article 11.3.

⁵⁶⁰ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Anti Dumping Measures on Rice*, para. 314. (emphasis original, footnote omitted)

⁵⁶¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Carbon Steel*, para. 108. (emphasis original)

⁵⁶² Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 111. (emphasis original) See also above, para. 7.305.

relation to reviews undertaken by authorities on their own initiative.

564 Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, paras. 149-150.

The reasons for this are, as discussed in more detail below, first, the different purposes of the provisions; second, the reference to "interested parties" in Article 11.2, the fact that Article 11.2 refers to the term "dumping" on its own (independently of the concept of injury) and the three different kinds of examinations that may be requested by an interested party under the second sentence of Article 11.2; and third, the reference to price undertakings in Article 11.5 and in the title of Article 11.

7.370. With respect to the first point, we note that although Articles 11.2 and 11.3 both implement the general "necessity" requirement contained in Article 11.1, the two provisions serve different purposes, and establish different mechanisms to implement that requirement. Thus, Article 11.1 refers not only to the duty's duration in time, but also to its "extent", providing that the duty "shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". To us, this implies that Article 11.1 is concerned not only with the fact that an anti-dumping duty is in place with respect to imports from another Member generally, but also with the fact that duties are imposed on individual producers/exporters. Article 11.3 on the other hand, is concerned with the imposition of the measure with respect to imports from another Member as a whole and its duration in time. It makes no mention of the "extent" to which the measure is necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury, as provided for in Article 11.1, suggesting that this aspect of Article 11.1 is operationalized in Article 11.2. This, in our view, finds confirmation in the term "or varied" in Article 11.2, which indicates that the outcome of an Article 11.2 review may be a modification of the individual duty rates imposed on individual producers/exporters. ⁵⁶⁵

7.371. The reference to "interested parties" – which Article 6.11 makes clear includes foreign producers and exporters – and to "dumping" in Article 11.2 also in our view suggests that the drafters intended to impose obligations on the authorities with respect to individual producers/exporters. We note in this regard that in *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, the Appellate Body contrasted the texts of Articles 11.2 and 11.3, specifically with respect to the fact that the former referred to "interested parties", and the latter did not. This was one of the considerations that led the Appellate Body to conclude that the term "duty" in Article 11.3 refers to the duty as a whole, i.e. on an order-wide basis. ⁵⁶⁶ By the same reasoning, this difference suggests to us that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 can refer to the duty as applied to an individual producer/exporter.

7.372. With respect to the term "dumping", Article 11.2 gives an interested party the right to a review to examine "whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping, whether the injury would be likely to continue or recur if the duty were removed or varied, or

⁵⁶⁵ It could also refer, for instance, to modifications in the scope of the duty, in terms of products covered, because some product types are no longer produced in the importing country or in the exporting country, meaning that the duty is no longer necessary to prevent injury to the domestic industry with respect to these product types, or other partial modification of the duty.

Article 11.3 does not expressly state that investigating authorities must determine that the expiry of the duty would be likely to lead to dumping *by each known exporter or producer concerned*. In fact, Article 11.3 contains no express reference to individual exporters, producers, or interested parties. This contrasts with Article 11.2, which does refer to "any interested party" and "[i]nterested parties". We also note that Article 11.3 does not contain the word "margins", which might implicitly refer to individual exporters or producers. On its face, Article 11.3 therefore does not oblige investigating authorities in a sunset review to make "company-specific" likelihood determinations in the manner suggested by Japan.

In contrast to Article 11.3, several provisions of Article 6 refer expressly or by implication to individual exporters or producers. Article 6 requires all interested parties to have a full opportunity to defend their interests. In particular, Article 6.1 requires authorities to give all interested parties notice of the information required and ample opportunity to present in writing evidence that those parties consider relevant. Articles 6.2, 6.4, and 6.9 provide other examples of the kind of opportunities that investigating authorities must give each interested party. These references suggest that, when the drafters of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* intended to impose obligations on authorities regarding individual exporters or producers, they did so explicitly. These provisions of Article 6 apply to Article 11.3 by virtue of Article 11.4. They therefore confirm that investigating authorities have certain specific obligations towards each exporter or producer in a sunset review. However, these provisions of Article 6 are silent on whether the authorities must make a separate likelihood determination for each exporter or producer. (emphasis original)

both". Hence Article 11.2 allows an interested party to request an examination limited to the question whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping. Since dumping results from the pricing behaviour of private entities⁵⁶⁷ and is determined with respect to individual producers/exporters, it seems logical to understand Article 11.2 as providing for termination of the duty with respect to an individual producer/exporter if that duty is no longer necessary to offset dumping by that producer/exporter. This is in contrast to the situation under Article 11.3, which envisions a review of the need for the duty on the basis of both dumping and injury, and provides for termination unless both would continue or recur if the duty were removed. These considerations support the view that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 can be interpreted to refer either to the "duty" on an order-wide basis, or "the duty" on a company-specific basis. The fact that the term "duty" is used, rather than the more explicitly producer/exporter-specific term "dumping margins" used elsewhere in the Agreement is in our view not determinative; in numerous places – e.g. Articles 7.4, 9.1, 9.4, and 10.3 – the Agreement uses the term "duty" in the singular when referring to the duty in a company-specific sense.

7.373. Finally, we note that the title of Article 11 refers not only to anti-dumping duties, but also to price undertakings and that Article 11.5 states that Article 11.2 and the other paragraphs of Article 11 "shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to price undertakings accepted under Article 8". Because price undertakings are necessarily company-specific, this reference to price undertakings in Article 11.5 further supports our view that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 can be understood in either of the two senses. ⁵⁶⁸

7.374. Our conclusion that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 can be read in either a company-specific or an order-wide sense is based on the ordinary meaning of the terms of Article 11.2, read in their context. We note the United States' argument relying on the negotiating history of Article 11.2. We do not consider it either necessary or appropriate to resort to supplementary means of interpretation, as in our view there is no lack of clarity as to the meaning of the terms of Article 11.2. In any event, the information submitted by the United States concerning the negotiating history of Article 11.2 does not in our view conclusively establish an intention on the part of the drafters that the term "duty" under Article 11.2 can only be understood as a reference to the anti-dumping measures on an order-wide basis.

7.375. Turning to the nature and character of the obligation imposed on the investigating authority, we note that like Article 11.3^{569} , Article 11.2 does not prescribe any specific methodology for or criteria to be considered by the authority in determining whether there is a need for the "continued imposition of the duty". However, as noted above, the Appellate Body did indicate that Article 11.3 envisages a process combining both investigatory and adjudicatory aspects and assigns an active rather than a passive decision-making role to the authorities. The same considerations apply, in our view, to the review provided for in Article 11.2, and when the conditions set therein are met, Article 11.2 imposes an obligation on the authority to undertake a review of the need for the continued imposition of the duty and to make a determination in that respect.

7.376. In light of our understanding of the term "duty" in Article 11.2, we consider that an authority has some – but not unlimited – discretion in deciding whether to undertake a review on an order-wide or on a company-specific basis. This discretion is fettered by the right of an

⁵⁶⁷ See, for instance, Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (Japan)*, para. 111.

⁵⁶⁸ As Japan notes (Japan's response to Panel question Nos. 15 and 16, para. 19), the effect of Article 11.5 is to give the right to a producer/exporter party to a price undertaking to "request the authorities to examine whether the continued imposition of the [price undertaking] is necessary to offset dumping, whether the injury would be likely to continue or recur if the [price undertaking] were removed or varied, or both". We share Japan's view that it would be anomalous if individual exporters could seek the removal of a price undertaking, but not of a company-specific duty.

Article 11.3 does not expressly prescribe any specific methodology for investigating authorities to use in making a likelihood determination in a sunset review. Nor does Article 11.3 identify any particular factors that authorities must take into account in making such a determination. Thus, Article 11.3 neither explicitly requires authorities in a sunset review to calculate fresh dumping margins, nor explicitly prohibits them from relying on dumping margins calculated in the past. This silence in the text of Article 11.3 suggests that no obligation is imposed on investigating authorities to calculate or rely on dumping margins in a sunset review.

⁽Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 123, footnotes omitted). ⁵⁷⁰ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 111.

interested party to request an examination of certain matters pursuant to the second sentence of Article 11.2. The situation will be different in each case and will depend on both the specific request made by the interested party and the evidence submitted by that party substantiating the need for a review. For example, an investigating authority may decide, in response to a request to examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping, that it only needs to undertake a review on a company-specific basis. Equally, the authority may decide to undertake a review of the duty on an order-wide basis. By contrast, if the request made by the interested party is for the examination of the need for the continued imposition of the duty with respect to both dumping and injury, then the authority in our view is required to undertake a review of the order as a whole, as the consideration of all dumped imports would be a necessary element of determining whether injury is likely to continue or recur if the duty were removed or varied. In any event, while Article 11.2 does not specify in what circumstances an authority should undertake a review on a company-specific basis and in what circumstances it should undertake a review on an order-wide basis, it does impose an obligation on the authority to undertake a review of the need for the continued imposition of the duty and to make a determination when an interested party submits a request meeting the requirements set therein.

7.377. With these general considerations in mind, we examine the claims made by Viet Nam with respect to the revocation requests presented by Vietnamese producers/exporters in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews. We will first examine whether the requests satisfy the requirements of Article 11.2 before examining the USDOC's treatment of those requests.

7.7.5.4 Whether the revocation requests submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters in the administrative reviews at issue satisfied the requirements of Articles 11.2

7.378. As noted above, Article 11.2 imposes an obligation on an authority to conduct a review of the need for the continued imposition of the duty where the following conditions are met: 571

- a. a request is submitted by an interested party;
- b. after a reasonable period of time has elapsed;
- c. requesting that the investigating authority examine one of the three matters specified in the second sentence of Article 11.2; and
- d. the request is accompanied by positive information substantiating the need for a review.
- 7.379. As set out above in our description of the factual background to this claim, a number of Vietnamese producers/exporters submitted requests for revocation in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews. Each Vietnamese producer/exporter that requested revocation of the *Shrimp* order with respect to itself was, by virtue of the definition of that term in Article 6.11, an "interested party", satisfying the first element.
- 7.380. The requests were submitted with respect to the fourth and fifth review periods. Given that this means the requests were submitted after the anti-dumping measure had been in place for several years, in our view, they satisfy the second element, that is, a reasonable period of time had elapsed before they were submitted.
- 7.381. Moreover, each of these requests was submitted under Section 351.222(e) of the USDOC's Regulations and was a request for the revocation of the order with respect to the individual Vietnamese exporter that submitted the request, pursuant to Section 751(a) of the Act and Section 351.222(b) of the Regulations, which at the time of the proceedings at issue, established procedures for the "[r]evocation or termination based on absence of dumping". Each request argued that the exporter qualified for revocation under these provisions, and requested that the USDOC terminate, pursuant to these provisions, the order with respect to the requesting company on the ground that it had ceased dumping for the required number of years. Finally, we recall that, pursuant to Section 351.222(b)(2), in addition to considering whether the exporter requesting

⁵⁷¹ Article 11.2 also requires an authority to review the need for the continued imposition of the duty, where warranted, on their own initiative. As noted above at footnote 563, given the circumstances of this dispute, we do not need to consider the elements of Article 11.2 in relation to reviews undertaken by authorities on their own initiative.

revocation had ceased dumping for a period of three consecutive years and had made sales in commercial quantities, the USDOC was required to undertake a broader consideration of "whether the continued application of the antidumping duty order is otherwise necessary to offset dumping". This satisfies us that the requests that were submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews qualify as requests that the US authorities "examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping" i.e., the first type of examination which may be requested by an interested party under Article 11.2.

- 7.382. Finally, as required under Section 351.222 of the USDOC Regulations, each request asserted, and attached certifications to the effect that, the company no longer engaged in dumping. This is in our view suffices to meet the requirement that the request be accompanied by positive information substantiating the need for a review.
- 7.383. On the basis of the foregoing, we find that each of the requests submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters in the context of the fourth and fifth administrative reviews constituted a request to the USDOC for it to examine "whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to offset dumping" within the meaning of Article 11.2.

7.7.5.5 Whether the USDOC's treatment of requests for revocation by Vietnamese producers/exporters not individually examined is inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2

- 7.384. We now consider the USDOC's treatment, in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews, of the requests for company-specific revocation submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters who were not being individually examined in the review at issue. 572
- 7.385. We recall that in the two proceedings at issue, with respect to each of the producers/exporters that requested revocation, the USDOC made a determination not to revoke the order. In each case, the reason for the USDOC's decision was that the producer/exporter was not a mandatory respondent in the administrative review at issue, and was therefore not individually examined. It is clear from the preliminary and final determinations, as well as the Issues and Decision Memoranda accompanying the final determinations, that the USDOC did not undertake any consideration of the need for the continued imposition of the duty to offset dumping by any of the requesting companies. The evidence before us clearly indicates that the USDOC's decisions not to revoke the order with respect to any of the requesting companies was based solely on the fact that the producers/exporters at issue were not being individually examined.
- 7.386. The United States argues that the Article 6.10 "limited examination" exception applies in the context of Article 11.2 reviews, such that the USDOC was not obligated to conduct a review where it was requested to do so by a producer/exporter that was not being individually examined.
- 7.387. We recall that the first sentence of Article 6.10 sets forth the principle that the authorities shall, "as a rule", determine an individual margin of dumping for each known producer/exporter. The second sentence of Article 6.10 provides that "[i]n cases where the number of exporters, producers, importers or types of products involved is so large" as to make such a determination of an individual margin of dumping for each known producer/exporter impracticable, the authorities may limit their examination pursuant to one of two methods. Hence, the "limited examination" exception in Article 6.10 concerns the possibility for a Member to limit the number of producers/exporters for which it calculates an individual margin.
- 7.388. Article 11.4 provides that the provisions of Article 6 regarding evidence and procedure apply to reviews conducted under Article 11.2. However, the Appellate Body has indicated (in the context of interpreting Article 11.3) that Article 11.4 does not import the requirements under

⁵⁷² In its submissions, Viet Nam has made reference to a number of Vietnamese producers/exporters that did not submit a request for company-specific revocation, or that submitted such a request and subsequently withdrew their request. However, we do not understand Viet Nam to be pursuing any claim with respect to Vietnamese producers/exporters who did not submit and maintain a request for revocation. In any event, in the absence of a request for review, or in case such a request is withdrawn, there can in our view be no factual basis for a finding of inconsistency under Article 11.2, unless it is argued that the authority should have self-initiated a review. Viet Nam does not make the latter argument.

Article 6 into Article 11 wholesale.⁵⁷³ As noted above, Article 11.2 provides little or no guidance for the authorities as to the methodology or criteria for the conduct of a review under that provision. We consider that, for the same reasons as led the Appellate Body to its conclusion regarding the interpretation of Article 11.3 in light of Article 11.4, nothing requires the authorities to calculate individual margins of dumping in the context of an Article 11.2 review. Moreover, in our view the reference in Article 11.4 to the "limited examination" exception in Article 6.10 does not allow an authority to refuse to conduct a review under Article 11.2 when the conditions set forth in that provision are otherwise fulfilled, on the basis that the producer/exporter requesting revocation is not being individually examined or was not individually examined in prior reviews or proceedings.

7.389. Even assuming that Article 6.10 applies in Article 11.2 reviews in the same way as it does in original investigations, the USDOC's decision not to undertake the requested reviews in the proceedings at issue cannot be justified on the basis of that Article. There is no indication that the USDOC considered whether – or determined that – initiating the reviews sought by Vietnamese producers/exporters was impracticable; rather, it preconditioned the review on the requesting producer/exporter having been selected for individual examination in the corresponding administrative review. Moreover, by requiring that only companies selected for individual examination were eligible to obtain a company-specific revocation, the USDOC imposed an additional condition, not foreseen under Article 11.2, on the initiation of reviews under that provision.

7.390. We note the United States' argument that Viet Nam's claims pertain to the USDOC's treatment of requests made under one of two alternative mechanisms available under US law to seek the revocation (in both cases, on a company-specific and/or order-wide basis) of antidumping duty orders. As described above, at the time of the determinations at issue, US law and regulations provided for two distinct mechanisms through which the USDOC could consider revoking the order with respect to an individual producer, i.e. the changed circumstances review mechanism provided for under Section 751(b) of the Act and Section 351.222(g) of the Regulations, and the mechanism for revocation in the context of administrative reviews, set forth under Sections 751(a) of the Act and Section 351.222(b) of the Regulations. However, in our view, this argument of the United States is inapposite: the existence, under the Member's legal system, of an alternative mechanism is not determinative of the consistency with the WTO Agreement of the Member's treatment of requests for review under the first mechanism. 574 It is irrelevant that the domestic law of the importing Member provides for more than one provision or mechanism which could have been used by the interested party to submit its request; an authority cannot decline to conduct a review under one mechanism, and justify that refusal on the basis that the interested party requesting it could have used another mechanism but did not. What matters is whether the interested party made a request that satisfies the requirements of Article 11.2, and the actions taken by an authority in response to that request.

7.391. On the basis of the above, we find that in its treatment of the requests for revocation submitted by Vietnamese producers/exporters that were not being individually examined, the USDOC acted inconsistently with the United States' obligations under Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. This being the case, and in the light of Viet Nam's argument that

⁵⁷³ In *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, the Appellate Body considered that Article 11.4 does not import into Article 11.3 an obligation for investigating authorities to calculate dumping margins (on a company-specific basis or otherwise) in a sunset review. As a consequence, the Appellate Body agreed with the Panel's view that "[t]he provisions of Article 6.10 concerning the calculation of individual margins of dumping in investigations do not require that the determination of *likelihood* of continuation or recurrence of dumping under Article 11.3 be made on a company-specific basis". (Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, paras. 154-155, emphasis original.)

⁵⁷⁴ We note that our approach in this respect differs from that of two prior panels. The *US – DRAMS* and *US – Anti Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods* panels both considered, and rejected, claims under Article 11.2 challenging requirements under Section 351.222 of the USDOC Regulations and its predecessor. Both panels considered it relevant that US law provided a more general opportunity to request revocation through the changed circumstances review, which was not alleged to be inconsistent with Article 11.2 (Panel Reports, *US – Anti Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods*, paras. 7.162-7.169; and *US – DRAMS*, para. 6.53).

⁵⁷⁵ We note that Viet Nam also argues that the Vietnamese producers/exporters had demonstrated in repeated reviews that they were no longer dumping while maintaining a substantial level of exports, and thus had actually established that the continued imposition of the duty was no longer necessary to offset dumping by that producer/exporter (presumably independently of the requirement to demonstrate three years of no dumping under Section 351.222). (See, for instance, Viet Nam's opening statement at the first meeting of the

Article 11.2 operationalizes the general principle set forth under Article 11.1, we do not consider it necessary to make separate findings under Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

- 7.7.5.6 Whether the USDOC's determination not to revoke the order for certain Vietnamese producers/exporters on the basis that it had calculated a positive margin of dumping for these producers/exporters is inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2
- 7.392. We now address Viet Nam's claims with respect to the Vietnamese producers/exporters Minh Phu in the fourth administrative review and Camimex in the fifth administrative review for which the USDOC determined not to revoke the order in part on the ground that they had positive dumping margins. ⁵⁷⁶ With respect to these producers/exporters, the basis for Viet Nam's claim is that the USDOC's determination not to revoke the order was based on its reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping.
- 7.393. As discussed in more detail in the section of our findings addressing Viet Nam's claims concerning the sunset review⁵⁷⁷, we share the view of other panels and the Appellate Body that if an authority decides to rely on margins of dumping in conducting its analysis in an Article 11.3 sunset review, those margins of dumping must have been established consistently with the provisions of the Agreement. We see no reason to adopt a different approach with respect to a review conducted pursuant to Article 11.2. As we have noted above, Article 11.2 does not necessarily require an investigating authority to determine the continued need for the imposition of the duty on the basis of dumping margins calculated for respondents. However, if the investigating authority elects to rely on the existence of dumping margins in the determination foreseen under Article 11.2, then, the margins it relies upon must be margins determined consistently with the disciplines of the Agreement and with Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. As a consequence, to the extent that the USDOC relied on margins of dumping calculated inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement in its consideration of requests for revocation of certain companies, the USDOC acted inconsistently with the United States' obligations under Article 11.2.
- 7.394. The evidence before us establishes that, in the fourth administrative review, the USDOC determined not to revoke the *Shrimp* order with respect to Minh Phu on the basis that it had calculated a dumping margin for that producer/exporter. We have already determined that this dumping margin was calculated with simple zeroing, and for this reason, is inconsistent with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, as well as with Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. Consequently, the USDOC's determination not to revoke the order with respect to Minh Phu on the basis of the dumping margin in the fourth administrative review is inconsistent with Article 11.2.
- 7.395. The evidence before us also establishes that, in the fifth administrative review, the USDOC determined not to revoke the *Shrimp* order with respect to Camimex on the basis that it had calculated a dumping margin for that producer/exporter. As was the situation regarding Minh Phu, this dumping margin was calculated with simple zeroing, and for this reason, contrary to Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, as well as with Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. Consequently, the USDOC's determination not to revoke the order with respect to Camimex in the fifth administrative review is inconsistent with Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 7.396. On the basis of the foregoing, we find that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as a result of the USDOC's reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping in its determination, in the fourth administrative review, not to revoke the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order with respect to Minh Phu, and in its determination, in the

Panel, para. 64.) Viet Nam's argument invites us to engage in a *de novo* review of the evidence before the USDOC, to determine whether the evidence justified the revocation of the order. We recall that we are not to engage in any such *de novo* review of the evidence before the USDOC, and that our consideration of the WTO-consistency of the USDOC's determinations must proceed on the basis of the requests that were actually submitted to it, and of the reasons that it provided in its determinations. We also note that Viet Nam does not argue that the USDOC should have self-initiated a review (or reviews) under Article 11.2.

⁵⁷⁶ Viet Nam argues that the issue of whether or not a WTO-inconsistent margin of dumping can be relied upon in the context of an Article 11.2 review is also an issue with respect to other respondents, i.e. presumably those discussed in the preceding section. (See Viet Nam's second written submission, para. 117.) However, the record before us shows that the only two producers for which the USDOC determined not to revoke the order because it calculated positive dumping margins for them were Minh Phu in the fourth administrative review and Camimex in the fifth administrative review.

⁵⁷⁷ See above, para. 7.306.

fifth administrative review, not to revoke the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order with respect to Camimex. In light of these findings, and in the light of Viet Nam's argument that Article 11.2 operationalizes the general principle set forth under Article 11.1, we do not consider it necessary to make findings under Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

8 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

- 8.1. For the reasons set forth in this Report, the Panel concludes as follows:
 - a. Viet Nam has failed to establish that the simple zeroing methodology as used by the USDOC in administrative reviews is a measure of general and prospective application which can be challenged "as such". Therefore, we find that Viet Nam has not established that the USDOC's simple zeroing methodology in administrative reviews is inconsistent "as such" with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994;
 - b. The United States acted inconsistently with Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 as a result of the USDOC's application of the simple zeroing methodology to calculate the dumping margins of mandatory respondents in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews under the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order;
 - c. The practice or policy whereby, in NME proceedings, the USDOC presumes that all producers/exporters in the NME country belong to a single, NME-wide, entity and assigns a single rate to these producers/exporters, is "as such" inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - d. The United States acted inconsistently with its obligations under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as a result of the application by the USDOC, in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews under the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order, of a rebuttable presumption that all companies in Viet Nam belong to a single, Viet Namwide, entity and assignment of a single rate to that entity;
 - e. Viet Nam has failed to establish the existence of a measure with respect to the manner in which the USDOC determines the NME-wide entity rate, in particular concerning the use of facts available. Therefore, we find that Viet Nam has not established that the alleged measure is "as such" inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4, and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - f. The United States acted inconsistently with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as a result of the application to the Viet Nam-wide entity of a duty rate exceeding the ceiling applicable under that provision in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews under the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order;
 - g. Viet Nam has failed to establish that the rate applied to the Viet Nam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - h. Viet Nam has failed to establish that Section 129(c)(1) precludes implementation, with respect to prior unliquidated entries, of DSB recommendations and rulings. Therefore, we find that Viet Nam has not established that Section 129(c)(1) is "as such" inconsistent with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;
 - i. The United States acted inconsistently with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as a result of the USDOC's reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping or rates in its likelihood-of-dumping determination in the first sunset review;
 - j. The United States acted inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement in the fourth and fifth administrative reviews as a result of its treatment of requests for revocation made by certain Vietnamese producers/exporters that were not being individually examined. We do not make any findings with respect to Viet Nam's corresponding claim under Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement;

- k. The United States acted inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as a result of the USDOC's reliance on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping in its determination, in the fourth administrative review, not to revoke the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order with respect to Minh Phu, and with respect to its determination, in the fifth administrative review, not to revoke the *Shrimp* anti-dumping order with respect to Camimex. We do not make any findings with respect to Viet Nam's corresponding claim under Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 8.2. Under Article 3.8 of the DSU, in cases where there is an infringement of the obligations assumed under a covered agreement, the action is considered *prima facie* to constitute a case of nullification or impairment. We conclude that, to the extent that the measures at issue are inconsistent with the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement, they have nullified or impaired benefits accruing to Viet Nam under those Agreements.
- 8.3. Pursuant to Article 19.1 of the DSU, we recommend that the United States bring the relevant measures into conformity with its obligations under the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 8.4. Viet Nam requests that we exercise the discretion granted to WTO dispute settlement panels under Article 19.1 of the DSU to suggest that the United States implement this recommendation by revoking the anti-dumping duty order in its totality, and with respect to Minh Phu and Camimex, the latter as a consequence of eventual findings concerning the USDOC's treatment of these Vietnamese producers/exporters' requests for revocation. ⁵⁷⁸
- 8.5. Article 19.1 of the DSU provides as follows:

Where a panel or the Appellate Body concludes that a measure is inconsistent with a covered agreement, it shall recommend that the Member concerned bring the measure into conformity with that agreement. In addition to its recommendations, the panel or Appellate Body may suggest ways in which the Member concerned could implement the recommendations. (footnotes omitted)

8.6. Thus, while a panel must ("shall") recommend that a Member found to have acted inconsistently with a provision of a covered agreement bring the relevant measure into conformity, it has discretion to ("may") suggest ways in which the responding Member could implement that recommendation. Previous panels have emphasized that Article 21.3 of the DSU gives the authority to decide the means of implementation, in the first instance, to the Member found to be in violation. Although we have found that certain of the measures challenged by Viet Nam are inconsistent with the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement, and recommend that the United States bring the relevant measures into conformity with its obligations under these Agreements, we decline to exercise our discretion under the second sentence of Article 19.1 in the manner requested by Viet Nam.

⁵⁷⁸ See above, para. 3.2.

⁵⁷⁹ E.g. Panel Reports, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 8.8; and *US – Hot-Rolled Steel*, para. 8.11.



(14-6636)

17 November 2014

Original: English

Page: 1/118

UNITED STATES – ANTI-DUMPING MEASURES ON CERTAIN SHRIMP FROM VIET NAM

REPORT OF THE PANEL

Addendum

This addendum contains Annexes A to D to the Report of the Panel to be found in document WT/DS429/R.

LIST OF ANNEXES

ANNEX A

WORKING PROCEDURES OF THE PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex A-1	Working Procedures for the Panel	A-2
Annex A-2	Additional Working Procedures on BCI	A-7
Annex A-3	Preliminary Ruling	A-9

ANNEX B

ARGUMENTS OF VIET NAM

	Contents	Page
Annex B-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-2
Annex B-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the First Panel Meeting	B-9
Annex B-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-14
Annex B-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the Second Panel Meeting	B-24
Annex B-5	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-29
Annex B-6	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Reply for the Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-32

ANNEX C

ARGUMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES

	Contents	Page
Annex C-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of the United States	C-2
Annex C-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the First Panel Meeting	C-10
Annex C-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of the United States	C-13
Annex C-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the Second Panel Meeting	C-21
Annex C-5	United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-26
Annex C-6	United States' Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-31

ANNEX D

ARGUMENTS OF THIRD PARTIES

	Contents	Page
Annex D-1	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of China	D-2
Annex D-2	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of the European Union	D-7
Annex D-3	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Japan	D-12
Annex D-4	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Norway	D-17
Annex D-5	Thailand's Third Party Responses to Questions from the Panel	D-20
Annex D-6	China's Submission on the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	D-23
Annex D-7	European Union Comments on the US Request for a Preliminary Ruling	D-26

ANNEX A

WORKING PROCEDURES OF THE PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex A-1	Working Procedures for the Panel	A-2
Annex A-2	Additional Working Procedures on BCI	A-7
Annex A-3	Preliminary Ruling	A-9

ANNEX A-1

WORKING PROCEDURES FOR THE PANEL

UNITED STATES – ANTI-DUMPING MEASURES ON CERTAIN SHRIMP FROM VIET NAM (DS429)

WORKING PROCEDURES FOR THE PANEL

Revised 9 August 2013

1. In its proceedings, the Panel shall follow the relevant provisions of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes (DSU). In addition, the following Working Procedures shall apply.

General

- 2. The deliberations of the Panel and the documents submitted to it shall be kept confidential. Nothing in the DSU or in these Working Procedures shall preclude a party to the dispute (hereafter "party") from disclosing statements of its own positions to the public. Members shall treat as confidential information submitted to the Panel by another Member which the submitting Member has designated as confidential. Where a party submits a confidential version of its written submissions to the Panel, it shall also provide a non-confidential summary of the information contained in its submissions that could be disclosed to the public. Non-confidential summaries shall be submitted no later than ten days after the written submission is presented to the Panel, unless a different deadline is granted by the Panel upon showing of good cause.
- 3. The Panel shall meet in closed session. The parties, and Members having notified their interest in the dispute to the Dispute Settlement Body in accordance with Article 10 of the DSU (hereafter "third parties"), shall be present at the meetings only when invited by the Panel to appear before it.
- 4. The parties shall treat business confidential information in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Additional Working Procedures of the Panel Concerning Business Confidential Information, set out in Annex 1 to these Working Procedures.
- 5. Each party and third party has the right to determine the composition of its own delegation when meeting with the Panel. Each party and third party shall have the responsibility for all members of its own delegation and shall ensure that each member of such delegation acts in accordance with the DSU and these Working Procedures, particularly with regard to the confidentiality of the proceedings.

Submissions

- 6. Before the first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties, each party shall submit a written submission in which its presents the facts of the case and its arguments, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. Each party shall also submit to the Panel, prior to the second substantive meeting of the Panel, a written rebuttal, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel.
- 7. A party shall submit any request for a preliminary ruling at the earliest possible opportunity and in any event no later than in its first written submission to the Panel. If Vietnam requests such a ruling, the United States shall submit its response to the request in its first written submission. If the United States requests such a ruling, Vietnam shall submit its response to the request prior to the first substantive meeting of the Panel, at a time to be determined by the Panel in light of the request. Exceptions to this procedure shall be granted upon a showing of good cause.

- 8. Each party shall submit all factual evidence to the Panel no later than during the first substantive meeting, except with respect to evidence necessary for purposes of rebuttal, answers to questions or comments on answers provided by the other party. Exceptions to this procedure shall be granted upon a showing of good cause. Where such exception has been granted, the Panel shall accord the other party a period of time for comment, as appropriate, on any new factual evidence submitted after the first substantive meeting.
- 9. Where the original language of exhibits is not a WTO working language, the submitting party or third party shall submit a translation into the WTO working language of the submission at the same time. The Panel may grant reasonable extensions of time for the translation of such exhibits upon a showing of good cause. Any objection as to the accuracy of a translation should be raised in writing as promptly as possible, and in any case no later than the deadline for the next written filing by the objecting party or third party following the submission which contains the translation in question. In exceptional circumstances, the Panel may grant an extension to this deadline upon good cause shown. Any objection shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the grounds of objection and an alternative translation.
- 10. To facilitate the maintenance of the record of the dispute and maximize the clarity of submissions, each party and third party shall sequentially number its exhibits throughout the course of the dispute. For example, exhibits submitted by Vietnam could be numbered VNM-1, VNM-2, etc. If the last exhibit in connection with the first submission was numbered VNM-5, the first exhibit of the next submission thus would be numbered VNM-6.

Questions

11. The Panel may at any time pose questions to the parties and third parties, orally or in writing, including prior to each substantive meeting.

Substantive meetings

- 12. Each party shall provide to the Panel the list of members of its delegation in advance of each meeting with the Panel and no later than 5.00 p.m. the previous working day.
- 13. The first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties shall be conducted as follows:
 - a. The Panel shall invite Vietnam to make an opening statement to present its case first. Subsequently, the Panel shall invite the United States to present its point of view. Before each party takes the floor, it shall provide the Panel and other participants at the meeting with a provisional written version of its statement. In the event that interpretation is needed, each party shall provide additional copies for the interpreters, through the Panel Secretary. Each party shall make available to the Panel and the other party the final version of its statement, preferably at the end of the meeting, and in any event no later than 5.00 p.m. on the first working day following the meeting.
 - b. After the conclusion of the statements, the Panel shall give each party the opportunity to ask each other questions or make comments, through the Panel. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. Each party shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by the Panel, any questions to the other party to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to the other party's written questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - c. The Panel may subsequently pose questions to the parties. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. The Panel shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by it, any questions to the parties to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to such questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - d. Once the questioning has concluded, the Panel shall afford each party an opportunity to present a brief closing statement, with Vietnam presenting its statement first.

- 14. The second substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties shall be conducted as follows:
 - a. The Panel shall ask the United States if it wishes to avail itself of the right to present its case first. If so, the Panel shall invite the United States to present its opening statement, followed by Vietnam. If the respondent chooses not to avail itself of that right, the Panel shall invite Vietnam to present its opening statement first. Before each party takes the floor, it shall provide the Panel and other participants at the meeting with a provisional written version of its statement. In the event that interpretation is needed, each party shall provide additional copies for the interpreters, through the Panel Secretary. Each party shall make available to the Panel and the other party the final version of its statement, preferably at the end of the meeting, and in any event no later than 5.00 p.m. of the first working day following the meeting.
 - b. After the conclusion of the statements, the Panel shall give each party the opportunity to ask each other questions or make comments, through the Panel. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. Each party shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by the Panel, any questions to the other party to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to the other party's written questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - c. The Panel may subsequently pose questions to the parties. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. The Panel shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by it, any questions to the parties to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to such questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - d. Once the questioning has concluded, the Panel shall afford each party an opportunity to present a brief closing statement, with the party that presented its opening statement first, presenting its closing statement first.

Third parties

- 15. The Panel shall invite each third party to transmit to the Panel a written submission prior to the first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel.
- 16. Each third party shall also be invited to present its views orally during a session of this first substantive meeting, set aside for that purpose. Each third party shall provide to the Panel the list of members of its delegation in advance of this session and no later than 5.00 p.m. the previous working day.
- 17. The third-party session shall be conducted as follows:
 - a. All third parties may be present during the entirety of this session.
 - b. The Panel shall first hear the arguments of the third parties in alphabetical order. Third parties present at the third-party session and intending to present their views orally at that session, shall provide the Panel, the parties and other third-parties with provisional written versions of their statements before they take the floor. Third parties shall make available to the Panel, the parties and other third parties the final versions of their statements, preferably at the end of the session, and in any event no later than 5.00 p.m. of the first working day following the session.
 - c. After the third parties have made their statements, the parties may be given the opportunity, through the Panel, to ask the third parties questions for clarification on any matter raised in the third parties' submissions or statements. Each party shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by the Panel, any questions to a third party to which it wishes to receive a response in writing.

d. The Panel may subsequently pose questions to the third parties. Each third party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. The Panel shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by it, any questions to the third parties to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each third party shall be invited to respond in writing to such questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.

Descriptive part

- 18. The description of the arguments of the parties and third parties in the descriptive part of the Panel report shall consist of executive summaries provided by the parties and third parties, which shall be annexed as addenda to the report. These executive summaries shall not in any way serve as a substitute for the submissions of the parties and third parties in the Panel's examination of the case.
- 19. Each party shall submit executive summaries of the facts and arguments as presented to the Panel in its written submissions, other than responses to questions, and its oral statements, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. Each executive summary of a written submission shall be limited to no more than 10 pages, and each summary of statements presented at a substantive meeting shall be limited to no more than 5 pages. The Panel will not summarize in the descriptive part of its report, or annex to its report, the parties' responses to questions.
- 20. Each third party shall submit an executive summary of its arguments as presented in its written submission and statement in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. This summary may also include a summary of responses to questions, where relevant. The executive summary to be provided by each third party shall not exceed 6 pages.
- 21. The Panel reserves the right to request the parties and third parties to provide executive summaries of facts and arguments presented by a party or a third party in any other submissions to the Panel for which a deadline may not be specified in the timetable.

Interim review

- 22. Following issuance of the interim report, each party may submit a written request to review precise aspects of the interim report and request a further meeting with the Panel, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. The right to request such a meeting shall be exercised no later than at the time the written request for review is submitted.
- 23. In the event that no further meeting with the Panel is requested, each party may submit written comments on the other party's written request for review, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. Such comments shall be limited to commenting on the other party's written request for review.
- 24. The interim report, as well as the final report prior to its official circulation, shall be kept strictly confidential and shall not be disclosed.

Service of documents

- 25. The following procedures regarding service of documents shall apply:
 - a. Each party and third party shall submit all documents to the Panel by filing them with the DS Registry (office No. 2047).
 - b. Each party and third party shall file 7 paper copies of all documents it submits to the Panel. However, when exhibits are provided on CD-ROMS/DVDs, 6 CD-ROMS/DVDs and 6 paper copies of those exhibits shall be filed. The DS Registrar shall stamp the documents with the date and time of the filing. The paper version shall constitute the official version for the purposes of the record of the dispute.
 - c. Each party and third party shall also provide an electronic copy of all documents it submits to the Panel at the same time as the paper versions, preferably in Microsoft Word format, either on a CD-ROM, a DVD or as an e-mail attachment. If the electronic

copy is provided by e-mail, it should be addressed to DSRegistry@wto.org, with a copy to XXXX@wto.org, XXXX@wto.org and XXXXQwto.org. If a CD-ROM or DVD is provided, it shall be filed with the DS Registry.

- d. Each party shall serve any document submitted to the Panel directly on the other party. Each party shall, in addition, serve on all third parties its written submissions in advance of the first substantive meeting with the Panel. Each third party shall serve any document submitted to the Panel directly on the parties and all other third parties. Each party and third party shall confirm, in writing, that copies have been served as required at the time it provides each document to the Panel.
- e. Each party and third party shall file its documents with the DS Registry and serve copies on the other party (and third parties where appropriate) by 5.00 p.m. (Geneva time) on the due dates established by the Panel. A party or third party may submit its documents to another party or third party in electronic format only, subject to the recipient party or third party's prior written approval and provided that the Panel Secretary is notified.
- f. The Panel shall provide the parties with an electronic version of the descriptive part, the interim report and the final report, as well as of other documents as appropriate. When the Panel transmits to the parties or third parties both paper and electronic versions of a document, the paper version shall constitute the official version for the purposes of the record of the dispute.

ANNEX A-2

ADDITIONAL WORKING PROCEDURES ON BCI

(ANNEX 1 TO THE WORKING PROCEDURES FOR THE PANEL)

Adopted 9 August 2013

- 1. The following procedures apply to business confidential information as defined in paragraph 2 that is submitted in the course of the Panel proceedings. These procedures do not apply to information that is available in the public domain. In addition, these procedures do not apply to any such business confidential information if the person who provided the information in the course of the reviews referenced in paragraph 2 agrees in writing to make the information publicly available.
- 2. For the purposes of the Panel proceedings, "business confidential information" ("BCI") means information previously submitted to the U.S. Department of Commerce as confidential information protected by Administrative Protective Order ("APO") in the course of the anti-dumping duty reviews at issue (Investigation No. A-552-802) that is submitted to the Panel by the Viet Nam or the United States.
- 3. The first time that a party submits to the Panel BCI from an entity that submitted that information in the reviews at issue, the party shall also provide, with a copy to the other party, an authorizing letter from the entity. That letter shall authorize both Viet Nam and the United States to submit in this dispute, in accordance with these procedures, any confidential information submitted by that entity in the course of those reviews.
- 4. No person shall have access to BCI except a member of the WTO Secretariat or the Panel, an employee of a party or third party, or an outside advisor for the purposes of this dispute to a party or third party. However, an outside advisor is not permitted access to BCI if that advisor is an officer or employee of an enterprise engaged in the production, export, or import of the products that were the subject of the proceedings at issue. Where an outside advisor has received BCI under the relevant APO, nothing in these procedures alters that outside advisor's obligations under the APO.
- 5. A party or third party having access to BCI submitted in these Panel proceedings shall treat it as confidential and shall not disclose that information other than to those persons authorized to receive it pursuant to these procedures. Any information submitted as BCI under these procedures shall only be used for the purposes of this dispute and for no other purpose. Each party and third party is responsible for ensuring that its employees and its outside advisors, if any, comply with these procedures.
- 6. A party submitting BCI, or a party or third party referring to BCI, in any written submission (including in any exhibits) shall mark the cover and the top of each page of the document containing any such information with the words "Contains Business Confidential Information". The specific information in question shall be enclosed in double brackets (i.e., [[xx.xxx.xx]]). Exhibits containing BCI shall be numbered to reflect that fact by including "(BCI)" in the exhibit number (e.g., Exhibit US-1(BCI)). A non-confidential version, clearly marked as such, of any written submission (including any exhibits) containing BCI shall be submitted pursuant to paragraph 2 of the Working Procedures within ten working days after the submission of the confidential version containing the BCI. The non-confidential version shall exclude all BCI.
- 7. In the case of an oral statement containing BCI, the party or third party making such a statement shall inform the Panel before making it that the statement will contain BCI, and the Panel will ensure that only persons authorized to have access to BCI pursuant to these procedures are in the room to hear that statement. Each party or third party filing a written version of an oral statement containing BCI (a "written BCI oral statement") shall mark the document as set forth in paragraph 6, first and second sentences. A party or third party filing a written BCI oral statement

shall file a non-confidential version of its written BCI oral statement no later than two working days following the meeting where the statement was made. The non-confidential version shall exclude all BCI.

- 8. Any BCI information that is submitted in binary-encoded form shall be clearly marked with the statement "Business Confidential Information" on a label on the storage medium and clearly marked with the statement "Business Confidential Information" in the title of the binary-encoded files.
- 9. The Panel shall not disclose in its report, or in any other way, any BCI. The Panel may, however, make statements of conclusion based on such information. Before the Panel circulates its final report, the Panel will give each party an opportunity to review the report to ensure that it does not contain any BCI.
- 10. Submissions containing BCI will be included in the record forwarded to the Appellate Body in the event of any appeal of the Panel's report.

ANNEX A-3

PRELIMINARY RULING

1 INTRODUCTION

- 1.1. On 31 July 2013, prior to Viet Nam filing its first written submission, the United States submitted a request for preliminary rulings. The United States' request objects to the inclusion of certain claims and measures in Viet Nam's panel request. Specifically, the United States requests that the Panel find that:
 - a. the sixth administrative review is not within the panel's terms of reference because it was not listed as a measure at issue in Viet Nam's request for consultations;
 - b. the "use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews and changed circumstances reviews" are not measures within the panel's terms of reference because they were not listed as measures at issue in Viet Nam's request for consultations;
 - c. the claim set forth in Viet Nam's panel request under Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("Vienna Convention") is outside the Panel's terms of reference because the Vienna Convention is not a covered agreement; and
 - d. the claim set forth in Viet Nam's panel request regarding the US Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act is not within the Panel's terms of reference because the SAA is not a measure susceptible to dispute resolution.
- 1.2. Viet Nam responded to the United States' request on 5 August 2013. The United States replied to Viet Nam's response on 13 August 2013, and two third parties, the European Union and China, filed observations regarding the United States' request on 14 August 2013. On 19 August 2013, Viet Nam provided comments on the United States' reply. Finally, on 27 August 2013, Viet Nam filed its first written submission.
- 1.3. We consider each of the objections raised by the United States in turn.

2 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO THE SIXTH ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW

2.1 Arguments of the parties

2.1.1 United States

2.1. The United States submits that Viet Nam's panel request lays out claims with respect to the sixth administrative review, which was not mentioned in the consultations request. The United States acknowledges that there need not be a "precise and exact identity" of measures between a request for consultations and a panel request "provided that the 'essence' of the challenged measures had not changed" and "[a]s long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute." However, the United States submits that a comparison of the respective parameters of Viet Nam's consultations and panel requests shows that the latter expanded the

¹ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

² United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings; China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings; European Union comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling.

³ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings.

⁴ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 4-5 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Customs Bond Directive*, para. 293, in turn citing Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice*, para. 137).

scope and changed the essence of its consultations request by including measures – notably the sixth administrative review – that were not the subject of its consultations request.⁵

- 2.2. The United States further argues that the sixth administrative review did not constitute a measure pursuant to Article 4.4 of the DSU since it was not concluded at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations; the United States argues that a determination that is not final cannot be a measure under Article 4.4 of the DSU.⁶ Because it could not have been the subject of consultations, the United States submits, this measure is not within the panel's terms of reference.⁷
- 2.3. In response to Viet Nam's arguments, the United States argues that just because a complaining party makes the same claims regarding a different measure does not mean that the responding party's response to those claims will be the same for both measures.⁸ The United States also disagrees with the proposition that all administrative reviews involving the same product are of the "same essence", because the facts, record evidence, determinations and resulting anti-dumping rates may all differ. For the United States, each administrative review determination is a separate and discrete measure, a situation different from one in which a measure replaces or amends another measure after the panel is established without affecting the essence of the measure on which consultations were held.⁹
- 2.4. The United States submits that the reference to on-going administrative reviews in the consultations request does not constitute the identification of a "measure" subject to dispute settlement because this reference addresses an indeterminate number of potential future measures. The United States submits that Article 3.3 of the DSU makes reference to dispute settlement pertaining to situations in which benefits accruing to Members under the covered agreement are presently being impaired. Measures not yet in existence at the time of a request for consultations cannot be considered to be impairing benefits, and it would be impossible to consult on such measures. Moreover, it would be impossible for a non-existent measure to be "affecting" the operation of a covered agreement, as further required by Article 4.2 of the DSU.10 The United States relies, in this respect, on the statement of the Appellate Body in US – Upland Cotton, that "the present tense of the phrase 'affecting the operation of any covered agreement' denotes that the effects of such measures must relate to the present impact of those measures on the operation of a covered agreement". 11 In sum, the United States submits, a "supposed future measure" that does not yet - and may never - exist is not a "measure" at that point in time, may never be one, and cannot be a measure having a present impact on the operation of a covered agreement.

2.2 Viet Nam

- 2.5. Viet Nam asks the Panel to find that the sixth administrative review falls within its terms of reference. Viet Nam cites prior Appellate Body decisions in which the Appellate Body considered that there need not be a precise identity between the measures identified in the request for consultations and panel request and that the relevant question is whether the addition of a measure in the panel request changes the "essence" of the challenged measure. Viet Nam considers that its consultations request identified the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue through the reference to "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews" related to the Shrimp from Viet Nam anti-dumping investigation, and through the reference to the "continued use" of the practices identified in its request in subsequent reviews.
- 2.6. Viet Nam considers that the United States' reference to Article 3.3 of the DSU means that the United States would have Viet Nam file new consultations and panel requests and force the DSB to

⁵ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁶ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6; United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁷ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

⁸ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁹ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

¹⁰ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, paras. 2-4.

¹¹ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 4 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 261).

¹² Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 8.

¹³ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 9-10.

compose a new panel to examine its claims with respect to the sixth administrative review, concerning the same issues that are before this Panel. Viet Nam argues that this does not further that Article's objective of prompt settlement of disputes. ¹⁴ Viet Nam also submits that contrary to the United States' arguments, the sixth administrative review is not a measure "that may never exist". Rather it is a measure that does exist and is having a significant present impact on Viet Nam. Viet Nam adds that it is for this reason that it identified in its consultations request "any other ongoing or future administrative reviews", a clear reference to the sixth administrative review that was on-going at the time of the consultations request. ¹⁵ Viet Nam submits that the United States' reference to Article 4.4 of the DSU is equally misguided – the Appellate Body has explained that there need not be a precise and exact identity between the measures identified in the consultations request and panel request. ¹⁶

2.3 Arguments of the third parties

2.3.1 China

- 2.7. China does not take a position on whether the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference, but submits a number of observations to the Panel. First, China recalls that the Appellate Body has indicated that "measures enacted subsequent to the establishment of the panel may, in certain limited circumstances, fall within a panel's terms of reference". China submits that it would be inappropriate to a priori exclude that a review that is on-going at the time of a request for consultations could, in certain circumstances, also constitute a "measure" subject to consultations. China adds that panels and the Appellate Body have sometimes found that a review that is on-going at the time the matter was referred to a panel could be a "measure" within that panel's terms of reference.
- 2.8. China also notes that in *US Continued Zeroing*, the panel and the Appellate Body found that the inclusion in the panel request of certain administrative and sunset reviews pertaining to the same anti-dumping duties that had not been identified in the consultations request did not expand the scope or change the essence of the dispute, and further noted that the legal basis of the claims raised were the same. Hence, China submits, the fact that the sixth administrative review was not subject to consultations does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the panel request expands the scope or changes the essence of the dispute; rather, the Panel should examine whether the sixth administrative review relates to the same anti-dumping duty as other administrative reviews explicitly listed in the consultations request and whether the legal basis of the claims raised is the same.¹⁹

2.3.2 European Union

2.9. The European Union agrees with Viet Nam that the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference. The European Union recalls that the relevant question in determining whether an additional measure identified in the panel request falls within the Panel's terms of reference is whether the "scope of the dispute" was expanded as a result, not (as the United States posits) whether the measure existed in accordance with Article 4.4 of the DSU. The European Union argues that a measure that closely relates to measures explicitly identified in the consultations request may be in the process of being adopted when the request for consultations is submitted. The existence or adoption of the measure should not be an obstacle to requesting consultations on a matter whose scope is precisely delimited and then identifying such an additional measure in the panel request.²⁰

¹⁴ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

¹⁵ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

¹⁶ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, para. 7.¹⁷ China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 2-9.

¹⁸ China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)*, paras. 124–127; Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.11 and 7.28).

¹⁹ China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 7-9 (quoting, *inter alia*, Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.28; and Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 228 and 231)

 $^{^{20}}$ European Union's comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling, paras. 13-17.

2.10. The European Union submits that the language used by Viet Nam in its consultations request made it clear that it intended to include on-going and future anti-dumping administrative reviews in the Shrimp from Viet Nam anti-dumping investigation. Thus, the inclusion of the sixth administrative review did not extend the scope of the matter covered in the consultations request. The European Union notes the similar ruling by the Appellate Body in US - Continued Zeroing.²¹

2.4 Evaluation by the Panel

- 2.11. Pursuant to Article 7.1 of the DSU, a panel's terms of reference are normally defined on the basis of the panel request. Furthermore, the Appellate Body has clarified that pursuant to the terms of Article 4 of the DSU, which set forth the requirements applicable to consultations and consultations requests²², and those of Article 6.2 of the DSU, governing panel requests²³, the request for consultations constitutes a prerequisite for the panel request and as a result circumscribes the scope of the panel request and, therefore, the panel's terms of reference.²⁴
- 2.12. The Appellate Body has indicated that Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU "set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel"25, and that "consultations" provide the parties an opportunity to define and delimit the scope of the dispute between them".²⁶ The Appellate Body has also held that Articles 4 and 6 do not "require a precise and exact identity between the specific measures that were the subject of consultations and the specific measures identified in the request for the establishment of a panel". 27 Thus, the Appellate Body has indicated that:

As long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute, we hesitate to impose too rigid a standard for the "precise and exact identity" between the scope of consultations and the request for the establishment of a panel, as this would substitute the request for consultations for the panel request.²⁸

- 2.13. Thus, the relevant question before the Panel is not whether the measures at issue were included in the request for consultations but, rather, whether the "scope of the dispute" was expanded as a result of the inclusion of additional measures in the panel request.²⁹ There is no disagreement between the parties on this point. Rather, the parties disagree on the application of this principle to the case at hand with respect to the sixth administrative review.
- 2.14. In the present case, Viet Nam's request for consultations identifies as "measures at issue" not only the fourth and fifth administrative reviews, but also:

[a]ny other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warmwater shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802), as well as any assessment

²¹ European Union's comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling, paras. 18-22 (quoting Appellate Body Report, US – Continued Zeroing (EC), para. 231).

²² Article 4.4 provides, in particular, that:

Any request for consultations shall be submitted in writing and shall give the reasons for the request, including identification of the measures at issue and an indication of the legal basis for the complaint.

²³ Article 6.2 of the DSU provides, in relevant part:

The request for establishment of the panel ... shall indicate whether consultations were held, identify the specific measures at issue and provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly.

Appellate Body Report, Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US), para. 58.

²⁵ Appellate Body Report, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 131.

²⁶ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico - Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 - US)*, para. 54.

²⁷ Appellate Body, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 132. (original emphasis)

²⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US - Upland Cotton*, para. 293 (citing Appellate Body Report, *Brazil - Aircraft*,

para. 132). (footnote omitted)

²⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 224 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *US –* Upland Cotton, para. 293); see also Panel Report, US — Orange Juice (Brazil), para. 7.18.

instructions, cash deposit requirements, and revocation determinations issued pursuant to such reviews.30

The reference to "[a]ny other ongoing or future" administrative reviews in our view clearly reflects an intention on the part of Viet Nam to include additional, and future, related measures within the scope of the dispute.

2.15. We note that an objection similar to that raised by the United States in its request was rejected by the panel and the Appellate Body in US - Continued Zeroing. In that case, the United States objected to the addition in the panel request of 14 anti-dumping determinations (administrative reviews and sunset reviews) that had not been included in the consultations request. 31 The panel in that case considered that the European Communities' consultations request and panel request referred "to the same subject matter, the same dispute". 32 It reasoned that the 38 determinations that had been included in the request for consultations and the 14 determinations that were added in the panel request:

concern different determinations pertaining to the same products originating in the same countries. Furthermore, these two groups of measures entail the alleged use of the same methodology, zeroing, which is the gist of the EC's claims before us. ... the substantive similarity between the two sets of measures at issue, and the fact that they concern the same country and the same product outweigh the fact that they represent independent determinations under US law.³³

- 2.16. In reaching the conclusion that the additional measures fell within its terms of reference, the panel also attached importance to the fact that the EC's claims with respect to the additional measures were the same as those it made with respect to the measures set out in the request for consultations. The panel noted that "the legal nature of the EC's claims regarding the additional 14 measures does not in any way differ from that of the 38 measures identified in the EC's consultations request" and that "the 14 measures entailed the same types of zeroing methodology as the 38 measures."34
- 2.17. The panel's finding rejecting the US objection was upheld by the Appellate Body. The Appellate Body attached importance to the fact that the consultations request made clear that, in addition to the zeroing methodology, the European Communities challenged the "outcome of the administrative reviews", the "imposition of definitive duties", and "the continuation of the antidumping [duty]" resulting from the proceedings listed in the requests.³⁵ Thus, the Appellate Body concluded, the measures referred to in the consultations request included the duties imposed, or continued to be applied, as a result of the specific anti-dumping proceedings listed in the annexes. The Appellate Body noted that all of the 14 additional measures identified in the panel request pertained to the same anti-dumping duties that were included in the consultations request. Some were sunset review determinations continuing anti-dumping duties in relation to which successive administrative reviews were identified in the consultations request. Others were more recent administrative reviews (under the same anti-dumping order), than the ones listed in the consultations request, including two final determinations issued subsequent to preliminary determinations that were listed in the consultations request. Hence, the proceedings listed in the consultations request and the panel request were "successive stages subsequent to the issuance of the same anti-dumping duty orders". 36
- 2.18. The Appellate Body also noted that both the consultations request and the panel request made clear that the European Communities was challenging the proceedings at issue because of the USDOC's use of the WTO-inconsistent zeroing methodology which, it alleged, the USDOC "systematically" applied in all types of review proceedings. In sum, the Appellate Body concluded,

³⁰ WT/DS429/1, G/L/980, G/ADP/D91/1, p. 1, point (5).

³¹ Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.17-7.28; Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued* Zeroing, paras. 220-236.

Panel Report, US – Continued Zeroing, para. 7.28.

³³ Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 7.25. ³⁴ Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 7.28.

³⁵ Appellate Body Report, *US - Continued Zeroing*, para. 226. (emphasis added by the Appellate Body)

³⁶ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 228.

the 14 additional measures "relate to the same duties identified in the consultations request, and the legal basis of the claims raised is the same." ³⁷

- 2.19. As in US $Continued\ Zeroing$, the additional measure in the present case is one which constitutes a subsequent step in the imposition of anti-dumping duties under a single anti-dumping order. Moreover, as was the case in US $Continued\ Zeroing$, Viet Nam's challenge of the sixth administrative review proceeds under the same provisions of the covered agreement as its challenge to the two administrative reviews that had already been completed at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations, and which Viet Nam had explicitly identified therein. Finally, as noted above, Viet Nam's request for consultations specifically identified "[a]ny other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof" as part of the matter submitted to the dispute settlement in that request. In these circumstances, we cannot conclude that the inclusion of the sixth administrative review which was under way at the time of the request for consultations³⁸ has expanded the scope of the dispute.
- 2.20. The United States argues that the sixth administrative review is legally distinct from the two administrative reviews that were listed by name in the consultations request and for this reason, it cannot properly fall within the Panel's terms of reference. We do not consider that the inclusion in a panel request of a measure that is legally distinct from the measures included in the consultations request necessarily has the effect of expanding the scope of the dispute. In addition, as we have already noted, and as the Appellate Body found in *US Continued Zeroing* in rejecting the same argument, the determinations identified in both the consultations request and the panel request "derive from the same underlying legal basis, that is, the anti-dumping duty orders issued pursuant to the original investigation[] in which dumping, material injury, and the causal link between the two were determined."³⁹
- 2.21. We note that the United States relies on Articles 3.3, 4.2 and 4.4 of the DSU for the proposition that measures not yet in existence at the time of the request for consultations are not challengeable before a dispute settlement panel. 40 The United States relies, *inter alia*, on the Appellate Body's statement in $US-Upland\ Cotton$ that "the present tense of the phrase 'affecting the operation of any covered agreement' denotes that the effects of such measures must relate to the present impact of those measures on the operation of a covered agreement". 41 We note, however, that this statement was made in the context of the Appellate Body discussing whether a party may request consultations on expired measures. We do not read the statement as reflecting a conclusion by the Appellate Body that a complaining party is precluded from requesting consultations with respect to a matter comprised in part of measures not yet in existence at the time of the request. 42
- 2.22. In addition, the United States cites the report of the panel in *US Upland Cotton*, where the panel found that payments under a legislative act that was listed in the *panel request* but had not yet been adopted at the time of the submission of that request could not fall within the Panel's

³⁷ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 228.

³⁸ The sixth administrative review in the USDOC's anti-investigation concerning certain Shrimp from Viet Nam was initiated on 31 March 2011, the preliminary results of that administrative review were issued on 7 March 2012 and the final results on 11 September 2012 (USDOC, Initiation Notice for Sixth Administrative Review (31 March 2011), Exhibit VN-16; USDOC, Preliminary Results for Sixth Administrative Review (7 March 2012), Exhibit VN-19; USDOC, Final Results and Accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for Sixth Administrative Review (11 September 2012), Exhibit VN-20. The USDOC issued amended final results of the sixth administrative review on 18 October 2012 (USDOC, Amended Final Results for Sixth Administrative Review (18 October 2012), Exhibit VN-22). Viet Nam submitted its request for consultations on 22 February 2012 (WT/DS429/1, G/L/980, G/ADP/D91/1), and requested the establishment of a panel on 20 December 2012 (WT/DS429/2). Viet Nam submitted a revised request for the establishment of the panel on 17 January 2013 (WT/DS429/2/Rev.1).

³⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 231.

United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, paras. 2-4.

⁴¹ United States' Reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 4 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 261).

We note, in this regard, that the Appellate Body added that the fact that "the representations of the Member requesting consultations must indicate that the effects are occurring in the present" "does not exclude the possibility that the effects of a measure may occur in future". (Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, footnote 205).

terms of reference. 43 The United States also cites the report of the panel in *Indonesia – Autos*, asserting that the panel in that dispute "agree[d] with the responding party that a measure adopted after the establishment of the panel was not within the panel's terms of reference".44 However, the *Indonesia – Autos* panel found that the measure in question did not fall within its terms of reference because it was not identified in the panel request, not, as the United States describes, because it had not been adopted at the time of the panel request. In any event, even on the United States' reading, these two panel findings concern the question of whether measures adopted after the submission of the panel request or the establishment of the panel may fall within a panel's terms of reference. The question before us concerns measures that were adopted after the submission of the request for consultations, but before the submission of the panel request. The findings of prior panels and of the Appellate Body on this issue make it clear that a measure may fall within a panel's terms of reference even if it is adopted or issued after the request for consultations.

3 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO VIET NAM CLAIMS CONCERNING THE USDOC'S "USE OF ZEROING" IN ORIGINAL INVESTIGATIONS, NEW SHIPPER REVIEWS AND CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES REVIEWS

3.1. Viet Nam's panel request sets forth "as such" and "as applied" claims with respect to the USDOC's use of zeroing in, inter alia, original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews:

Viet Nam considers the above-mentioned laws and procedures by the USDOC to be, as such and as applied in a continued and ongoing basis, inconsistent with several provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, GATT 1994, and the Marrakesh Agreement. In original investigations, periodic reviews, new shipper reviews, sunset reviews, and certain changed circumstances reviews, USDOC's use of zeroing is inconsistent with ...

Moreover, Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology in the original investigation and the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, (1) to the extent that this practice impacted the USDOC's revocation and five-year "sunset" review determinations in the measures at issue and (2) to the extent that these determinations demonstrate the USDOC's continued and ongoing use of this practice throughout the full course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceeding.45

- 3.2. The United States submits that the request for consultations refers to only one original investigation, the original investigation on certain Shrimp from Viet Nam, and notes that Viet Nam's panel request makes it clear that that determination is being challenged only to the extent that it has an effect on subsequent reviews. The United States further submits that Viet Nam's consultations request does not otherwise include a challenge to the use of zeroing broadly in original investigations, and does not challenge the use of zeroing in new shipper reviews or certain changed circumstances reviews. Consequently, the United States argues, original investigations in general, and new shipper and changed circumstances reviews are not within the Panel's terms of reference.46
- 3.3. Viet Nam indicates in its response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, that it is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied, to these particular types of proceedings:

on the United States' concern regarding Viet Nam's reference to the use of zeroing in "original investigations," "new shipper reviews," and "certain changed circumstances reviews," Viet Nam is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied, to these particular types of proceedings. Viet Nam's panel request makes clear that the "zeroing" as applied claims are limited to the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative

⁴³ United States' Reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, footnote 13 (referring to Panel Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 7.158).

44 United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, footnote 13

⁽referring to Panel Report, *Indonesia – Autos*, para. 14.3).

45 WT/DS429/2/Rev.1, section 2(a)(ii).

⁴⁶ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 7.

reviews. The original investigation and the sunset review are relevant to the extent that zeroing affects the Panel's analysis on the claims that are particular to the sunset review.⁴⁷

Viet Nam adds that its consultations and panel requests also identify an "as such" claim with respect to the USDOC's "zeroing practice".

- 3.4. In its response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary ruling, Viet Nam further clarifies that it is not challenging, *inter alia*, the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews "as measures". According to Viet Nam, inclusion of these "items" in the panel request "was warranted because of their relevance to the measures that are being challenged".⁴⁸
- 3.5. We read these responses as indicating that Viet Nam does not intend to pursue any claim with respect to original investigations other than with respect to the original investigation in the USDOC's Shrimp proceedings, insofar as it affects the sunset review or with respect to new shipper reviews or changed circumstances reviews. We note that consistent with our understanding of Viet Nam's responses, Viet Nam formulates no arguments in support of any claim in respect of these types of proceedings in its first written submission. This being the case, we do not consider it necessary to rule on this aspect of the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

4 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO VIET NAM'S CLAIM UNDER ARTICLE 31 OF THE VIENNA CONVENTION

4.1. Viet Nam's panel request sets forth a claim with respect to the USDOC's limitation of the number of respondents selected for full investigation or review under, *inter alia*,

Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties because the USDOC's practice does not comport with the overall purpose and intent of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, namely, the fair and effective imposition of anti-dumping duties so as to prevent the sale of goods for less than fair value.⁴⁹

- 4.2. The United States requests that the Panel find that this claim does not fall within its terms of reference. The United States argues that the Vienna Convention is not a "covered agreement" as defined in the DSU. 50 Viet Nam indicates that it did not and does not intend to assert a claim under the Vienna Convention. 51
- 4.3. In light of this clarification, we do not consider it necessary to rule on this aspect of the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

5 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO THE STATEMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION (SAA) ACCOMPANYING THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT

- 5.1. Viet Nam's panel request indicates that it is made with respect to, *inter alia*, "Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA"), 19 U.S.C. §3538, as elaborated upon in the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the URAA and as implemented by the relevant United States authorities." ⁵²
- 5.2. In addition, in section 2(f)(i) of its panel request, Viet Nam challenges the temporal aspect of the United States' implementation of adverse DSB rulings and recommendations under Section 129. The request alleges that Viet Nam's reading of Section 129 as requiring that implementation only be made effective with respect to unliquidated entries entered or withdrawn from warehouse on or after the date on which the USTR directs implementation "is confirmed by

⁴⁷ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 3.

⁴⁸ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary ruling, paras. 2-3.

⁴⁹ WT/DS/429/2/Rev.1, point 2(c)(ii)6.

⁵⁰ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 9-10.

⁵¹ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 4.

the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA"), which has been properly recognized as a definitive statement on operation of the URAA", adding that "[t]he SAA is the most probative authority available for purposes of interpreting the language of the URAA." The request indicates that the US practice with respect to implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings:

is applied pursuant, in particular, to the following United States laws and measures:

- 1. Section 129 of the URAA, codified as 19 U.S.C. § 3538;
- 2. the United States Statement of Administrative Action that accompanied the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, H.R. Doc. No. 103-316, vol. 1.
- 5.3. The United States contends that Viet Nam's panel request appears to identify the SAA as a measure at issue in the dispute. The United States submits that the SAA is not a measure susceptible to dispute resolution because it does not have any legal effect independent of the relevant US statute or regulation. 53
- 5.4. Viet Nam indicates that it did not and does not intend to assert a claim with respect to the SAA 54
- 5.5. In light of this clarification, we do not consider it necessary to rule on this aspect of the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

6 CONCLUSION

- 6.1. On the basis of the foregoing, we find that the USDOC's final determination in the sixth administrative review in its anti-dumping investigation of certain Shrimp from Viet Nam, as well as the imposition of anti-dumping duties and cash deposit requirements pursuant to this determination, fall within our terms of reference.
- 6.2. In light of the clarifications provided by Viet Nam in its responses to the United States' request for preliminary rulings concerning the claims it is pursuing, we do not consider it necessary, at this time, to make any findings with respect to the other objections formulated by the United States in its request. However, the Panel reserves the right to revisit these issues, as well as any other issues pertaining to its terms of reference, as necessary, in its Final Report or at any other time during the dispute.
- 6.3. This preliminary ruling will become an integral part of the Panel's final report, subject to any changes that may be necessary in light of comments received from the parties at the interim review stage.

⁵³ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 11-16.

⁵⁴ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.



ANNEX B

ARGUMENTS OF VIET NAM

	Contents	Page
Annex B-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-2
Annex B-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the First Panel Meeting	
Annex B-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of Viet Nam B-	
Annex B-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the Second Panel Meeting B.	
Annex B-5	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-29
Annex B-6	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Reply for the Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-32

ANNEX B-1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF VIET NAM

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. Viet Nam's First Written Submission provides the factual context and legal arguments challenging certain practices used by the United States Department of Commerce ("USDOC") in a general and prospective manner and in the context of the ongoing anti-dumping proceedings involving certain shrimp products from Viet Nam. Each of these practices limits the ability of Vietnamese exporters and producers to prove the absence of dumping, resulting in the continuation of an anti-dumping duty order for companies that have gone to great lengths to alter their conduct to eliminate dumping.
- 2. The purpose of the *Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("Anti-Dumping Agreement") and *Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("GATT 1994") is to set the rules for the imposition of anti-dumping duties intended "to offset or prevent dumping". Administering authorities are required to adhere to the provisions therein so that anti-dumping duties are imposed only where a party is properly found to sell merchandise for less than fair value. The general principle contained in Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement is that following the imposition of anti-dumping duties, the duties should remain in effect "only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". Articles 11.2 and 11.3 specify the mechanisms provided to companies subject to anti-dumping duties in order to obtain revocation of those duties.
- Yet, the practices repeatedly adopted by the USDOC in the ongoing anti-dumping proceeding of shrimp from Viet Nam have frustrated achievement of the general principle of Article 11.1. This case contests several of the practices that have been used by the USDOC in this anti-dumping proceeding: (1) application of the zeroing methodology to determine the margins of dumping for individually investigated respondents and for calculation of the "all others" rate; (2) application of an NME-wide entity rate based on adverse facts available to non-investigated respondents that do not submit a separate rate application or certification; (3) issuance of an affirmative determination in the five year "sunset" review based on margins of dumping that were calculated using WTO- inconsistent practices, and ignoring factors other than changes in import volumes in determining the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring; and (4) repeated refusal by the USDOC to review individual respondents requesting a review or providing voluntary responses in order to demonstrate the absence of dumping. The combined effect of these practices has resulted in the continuation of anti-dumping duties beyond the duration allowed under Article 11.1. In addition, this case contests the U.S. law and practice of limiting implementation of adverse WTO decisions related to anti-dumping duties to those entries of subject merchandise made after the date the United States Trade Representative determines to implement.

II. MEASURES AT ISSUE

- 4. Viet Nam sets forth the claims raised in this dispute:
 - With respect to zeroing, Viet Nam claims that the United States' zeroing procedures are
 inconsistent, as such, with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994. Furthermore,
 Viet Nam claims that, through the application of the zeroing procedures in the fourth, fifth,
 and sixth administrative reviews, the United States acted inconsistently with the AntiDumping Agreement and the GATT 1994;
 - With respect to the NME-wide entity practice, Viet Nam claims that the United States' NME-wide entity practice is inconsistent, as such, with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Furthermore, Viet Nam claims that, through the application of the Vietnam-wide entity practice in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, the United States acted inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Additionally, Viet Nam claims that the United States' application of the Vietnam-wide entity practice on a continued and ongoing

basis through the course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceedings is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement;

- Viet Nam claims that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994;
- Viet Nam claims that the final sunset review determination in the shrimp from Viet Nam proceeding was inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement; and
- Viet Nam claims that, through the United States' failure to revoke the antidumping duty order with respect to certain companies in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, the United States acted inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

III. CLAIMS ON THE USE OF ZEROING IN PERIODIC REVIEWS

A. Factual Background

- 5. The USDOC calculates the margin of dumping based on a comparison of normal value and United States export price or constructed export price. Normal value in proceedings involving a nonmarket economy country is based on the producer's factors of production, which include individual inputs for raw materials, labor, and energy based on the actual production experience of the individual respondent. The resulting normal value is compared to the export price or constructed export, which is the price at which the product is first sold to an unaffiliated purchaser. The comparison of normal value and price is made between products of similar characteristics. That is, within the broad category of subject merchandise certain frozen and canned warmwater shrimp are many sub-categories with differing key characteristics, as determined by the USDOC. Each of these sub-categories, or "models" under USDOC terminology, is assigned a control number ("CONNUM") by the USDOC.
- 6. In administrative reviews, the USDOC engages in what is referred to as "simple zeroing," in which individual export transactions are compared with a contemporaneous weighted-average normal value; the amount by which normal value exceeds the export price is the dumping margin for that export transaction. These intermediate comparisons may produce either positive or negative dumping margins; with simple zeroing, comparisons that produce a negative dumping margin are ignored for purposes of calculating the overall dumping margin. Thus, the total amount of dumping reflected in the numerator is inflated by an amount equal to the excluded negative differences.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding Zeroing

- 7. Viet Nam challenges the zeroing procedures "as applied" and, with respect to its use in administrative reviews, "as such," as identified in the panel request. Including the present dispute, there have now been thirteen zeroing disputes brought against the United States, and in each one so far decided by the Appellate Body, zeroing has been found to be WTO-inconsistent. Repeated determinations on the inconsistency of a practice create obligations that Members should be entitled to rely upon. Viet Nam submits that the Panel should adhere to the fundamental principles of the dispute settlement process and adhere to the prior findings of the Appellate Body with regard to zeroing.
- 8. The GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement both define the concepts of "dumping" and "margin of dumping" with regard to the product under investigation as a whole, not models or categories that are subsets of the product. First, Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994 defines dumping as when "products of one country are introduced into the commerce of another country at less than the normal value of the products", referring to the product as a whole, not subsets.
- 9. Second, Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, which, based on the terms of the provision applies to the entire Anti-Dumping Agreement, defines "dumping" for purposes of the Anti-Dumping Agreement with clear reference to the "product" that is subject to the proceeding. The Appellate Body has repeatedly understood this definition to preclude a finding of dumping for any subcategory of the product under review. Additional articles of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and GATT 1994 provide contextual support for this interpretation: Article 9.2 discusses the imposition of an antidumping duty with respect to a "product"; Article 6.10 states that the

investigating authority shall calculate an "individual margin of dumping for each exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation"; and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 provides that "in order to offset or prevent dumping, a contracting party may levy on any dumped product an anti-dumping duty not greater in amount than the margin of dumping in respect of that product".

- 10. Thus, although an investigating authority may undertake multiple comparisons using averaging groups or models, the results of the multiple comparisons at the sub-level are not "margins of dumping". Rather, those results reflect only intermediate calculations made by an investigating authority in the context of establishing margins of dumping for the product under investigation.
- 11. Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement governs the assessment of final anti-dumping duties and thus bears on the USDOC's use of simple zeroing in administrative reviews. The Article does not mandate use of a particular methodology for calculation of final assessment, but does require that the "amount of the anti-dumping duty shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established under Article 2". Thus, the margin of dumping, calculated pursuant to Article 2, serves as a ceiling to the amount of antidumping duties that may be collected in the assessment phase. Additionally, as is clear from the reference to Article 2, the "margin of dumping" in Article 9.3 must likewise be calculated on the basis of all transactions for the product as a whole, not merely a subset of the transactions for that product.
- 12. The USDOC's zeroing methodology does not take into consideration all transactions for the product, treating as zero and disregarding those intermediate comparisons where export price of an individual transaction exceeds normal value. By doing so, the calculation necessarily results in dumping margins that are higher than would be true if all export transactions were taken into account, *i.e.*, higher than the dumping margins would be for the product as a whole.
- 13. The GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement require that where the administering authority makes multiple comparisons at an intermediate stage, *all* intermediate comparisons must be aggregated, including comparisons that produce both negative and positive dumping margins. As has been repeatedly construed by the Appellate Body and prior panels, this action violates Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 and Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

IV. CHALLENGES TO THE "NME-WIDE ENTITY" RATE

A. Factual Background

- 14. The USDOC's Anti-Dumping Manual identifies the USDOC's NME-wide entity rate practice, both on a generalized and prospective basis, and with respect to the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews of the shrimp proceeding. In the case of anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies are part of a single entity, called the NME-wide entity. To receive a separate rate that is, a rate separate from the NME-wide entity the burden falls on each individual company to rebut the presumption and satisfy the USDOC's separate rate criteria. Companies not individually reviewed must submit to the USDOC a "separate rate application" or a "separate rate certification" to establish the absence of government control, both in law and in fact, with respect to exports. Companies must present affirmative evidence to satisfy the criteria established by the USDOC to prove the absence of government control.
- 15. Companies that satisfy the criteria will typically receive a rate based on the weighted average of the rates individually calculated for the mandatory respondents, excluding rates that are zero, *de minimis*, or based on facts available. Companies that do not satisfy the USDOC's criteria receive the NME-wide rate, a punitive rate based on adverse facts available. The result of this practice is grossly inflated margins for companies that are unable to satisfy the unjustified criteria established by the USDOC.
- 16. For administrative reviews four, five, and six, the Vietnam-wide entity rate greatly exceeded the separate rate: 25.76 percent for the Vietnam-wide entity, compared to between 1.04 percent and 4.27 percent, as the Vietnam-wide entity rate was based on the adverse facts available rate of the original investigation.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding The "NME-Wide Entity" Rate

- 17. Viet Nam sets forth three independent legal bases under which the USDOC's practice, as such and as applied, creates an impermissible rate not allowed for under the WTO Agreements.
- 18. <u>First</u>, the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement require the calculation of individual anti-dumping margins and assessment of individual anti-dumping duties. As the Appellate Body clarified in *EC Fasteners (China) –* a dispute with facts nearly identical to the present dispute these articles require authorities to specify an individual duty for each supplier, except where doing so would be impracticable. The Appellate Body explained that an authority may not assume affiliation among several suppliers, as doing so is contrary to the general requirement that individual dumping margins and duties be determined for each known supplier. Rather, the authority must make an <u>affirmative</u> determination that a particular exporter and the state constitute a single entity.
- 19. Here, the USDOC's presumption of the existence of an NME-wide entity and application of a single, NME-wide entity rate does not comply with the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, which requires individual anti-dumping margins and duties for exporters and producers. The obligation is on the authority to make an affirmative finding on the existence of a single entity, and not on the company to establish entitlement to a separate rate.
- 20. <u>Second</u>, the USDOC's failure to assign a rate to companies not individually investigated consistent with Article 9.4 violates the plain terms of that Article. Article 9.4 governs situations where an authority limits the number of exporters individually investigated and identifies the maximum permissible anti-dumping rates to be applied. Specifically, as a general rule, the rate must be no greater than the weighted-average margin of dumping for the selected exporters. Here, the NME-wide entity has not been and can never be individually investigated. Accordingly, the NME-wide entity must be assigned an anti-dumping margin consistent with the requirements of Article 9.4. The USDOC's failure to do so violates the express requirements of the Article.
- 21. Third, the USDOC's application of a rate based on adverse inferences to the NME-wide entity is inconsistent with Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Article 6.8 and Annex II set forth the conditions that must be satisfied before an authority may apply facts available based on adverse inferences. An authority may apply adverse inferences only when an "interested party" refuses to provide "necessary information" or significantly impedes the investigation. The Appellate Body clarified that "interested party" refers only to investigated exporters, and does not extend to non-investigated exporters. As the Panel recalls, dumping margins of non-investigated exporters are governed exclusively by Article 9.4. The USDOC's application of a rate based on adverse facts available to an NME-wide entity is, as such and as applied to the reviews at-issue, inconsistent with the requirements of Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 22. Finally, we note that Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession does not allow for discriminatory treatment that is contrary to the plain language of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The Protocol identifies the entire universe of situations in which an authority may deviate from the terms of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. In anti-dumping proceedings, the <u>only</u> rights and obligations affected by the Protocol relate to the substitution of surrogate values for actual values in calculating normal value in anti-dumping proceedings. At the time of Viet Nam's accession, Members, with the full understanding of Viet Nam's economic development, determined that they would account for Viet Nam's non-market economy status with this alternative calculation methodology. Allowance for further discriminatory treatment cannot be read into the Protocol or the Working Party Report that accompanied the Protocol. The USDOC has no legal basis for applying the presumption of state ownership and control that underpins the NME-wide entity practice.

V. SECTION 129 OF THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT IS INCONSISTENT AS SUCH WITH NUMEROUS PROVISIONS OF THE WTO AD AGREEMENT AND GATT 1994

A. Factual Background

23. Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA") provides the legal authority under U.S. law for the United States to comply with adverse DSB rulings concerning its obligations under the WTO agreements where implementation can be achieved by a new administrative

determination without the need for statutory or regulatory amendment. By law, the effect of such implementation is strictly limited to entries of subject merchandise made on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination. Because of the U.S. retrospective system for assessing anti-dumping and countervailing duties, the implication of this legal prohibition is that "prior unliquidated entries" (*i.e.*, imports that entered the United States prior to the date on which USTR directs implementation for which there has been no definitive assessment of liability for anti-dumping or countervailing duties) are excluded from any U.S. measure to comply with an adverse DSB ruling.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA

- 24. The panel hearing the dispute in US Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act found that Canada in that dispute did not meet its burden to establish that Section 129(c)(1) was inconsistent as such with the United States' obligations under the WTO. But the panel in US Section 129(c)(1) erred in its interpretation of Section 129, and otherwise lacked critical factual context. At the time, the United States had implemented only one Section 129 determination and there seemed to be some confusion as to what that determination revealed. Moreover, U.S. courts had not yet had an opportunity to interpret the provision. The situation now is dramatically different. There have now been dozens of Section 129 determinations. There have now been opinions issued by the U.S. judiciary concerning the limits of Section 129. This context demonstrates that Section 129 serves as an absolute legal bar to any refunds of duties on prior unliquidated entries. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with the following provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994:
 - Article 1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that an anti-dumping measure is applied despite imposition of the duty pursuant to an investigation conducted in violation of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
 - Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the USDOC and other relevant United States agencies continue to collect anti-dumping duties at a level known to be in excess of the appropriate amount.
 - Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the USDOC and other relevant United States agencies continue to collect AD duties at a level that exceeds the margin of dumping as established under Article 2.
 - Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the AD order remains in effect, and anti-dumping duties continue to be collected, beyond the period necessary to counteract dumping.
 - Article 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the continued collection of duties amounts to an action that is performed without the authority provided in the GATT 1994.

VI. THE USDOC'S FINAL SUNSET REVIEW DETERMINATION IS INCONSISTENT WITH ARTICLE 11 OF THE ANTI-DUMPING AGREEMENT

A. Factual Background

- 25. The United States implements Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement through five-year sunset reviews under Section 751(c)(1) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1675a(a)). Consistent with its obligations under Article 11.3, on January 4, 2010, the USDOC published its notice of initiation of the "First Five-year 'Sunset' Review of the Antidumping Duty Order on Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam". Ultimately, the USDOC found that the revocation of the anti-dumping duty order on frozen warmwater shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam "would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping".
- 26. The USDOC's conclusion relied upon the margins of dumping determined in the original investigation and the four subsequent reviews, all of which were calculated using the WTO-

¹ Initiation of Five-Year ("Sunset") Review, 75 Fed. Reg. 103 (January 4, 2010). (Exhibit VN-08).

inconsistent zeroing methodology. First, for the rates of individually investigated exporters, the USDOC relied on rates calculated using the zeroing methodology. Second, for the "separate," or all others, rate, the rates were based on the weighted-average margin of the mandatory respondents, rates that were calculated using the zeroing methodology. Third, for the so-called Vietnam-wide entity, as already found by the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam), the USDOC's application of a rate based on adverse facts to this entity is inconsistent with several provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

27. In addition, the USDOC cited to a decline in imports, a conclusion that was not factually or analytically sound. The USDOC's analysis of the decline failed to fully consider the circumstances in which any decline may have occurred.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding the USDOC's Final Sunset Review

- 28. The Appellate Body has repeatedly explained that where an authority uses a methodology for the sunset review determination that relies on the margins of dumping in the original investigation or subsequent reviews, the margins of dumping relied upon must have been calculated in a WTO-consistent manner. The logic of the Appellate Body's interpretation rests on its finding that the only definition of dumping applicable to Article 11.3 is a definition that is consistent with the terms of Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The "likelihood" of dumping continuing or recurring must be based on a WTO-consistent definition of dumping, both in terms of future prospects of dumping and in terms of any reliance on past margins of dumping in determining the likelihood of future dumping. Reliance on dumping otherwise defined, as was the case here, is inconsistent with Article 11.3.
- 29. As explained above, each of the margins relied upon by the USDOC to determine the "likelihood" of a continuation or recurrence of dumping was affected, either directly or indirectly, by use of a WTO-inconsistent methodology. Use of zeroing produced a distortion with respect to the margins calculated for the individually examined companies and the separate rate margin, and the so-called Vietnam-wide entity should have received the separate rate margin. These WTO-inconsistencies essentially infected the sunset review determination, producing a separate and distinct WTO-inconsistency.
- VII. CONTINUATION OF THE ANTI-DUMPING DUTIES AGAINST RESPONDENTS REQUESTING REVOCATION BASED ON THE ABSENCE OF DUMPING OVER A PERIOD OF MORE THAN A SINGLE REVIEW IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES UNDER ARTICLES 11.1 AND 11.2

A. Factual Background

- The U.S. anti-dumping law provides for revocation of an anti-dumping duty, in whole or in part, under section 751(d)(1) of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. §1675). During the period covered by the reviews included in this proceeding and US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), the relevant USDOC regulation governing partial revocations was section 351.222 (19 CFR §351.222).² Section 351.222 (b)(B)(ii)(2)(i)(A) permits partial revocation (i.e. revocation of the anti-dumping duties as to one or more individual exporters) based on the absence of dumping "for a period of at least three consecutive years". Also relevant to this proceeding, because it is cited as the basis of the USDOC declining to undertake reviews on the necessity of continuing anti-dumping duties, is the issue of limiting the number of individually investigated companies. United States law requires, as a general rule, that each known producer or exporter of subject merchandise be individually examined. However, like Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, U.S. law provides for an exception where it would be "impracticable" to individually examine all exporters. While United States law is consistent with Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in practice the exception has become the rule. The USDOC has made no effort to balance its supposed resource constraints with the interests and rights of the Vietnamese exporters/producers to have duties assessed based on individual company margins of dumping and to obtain a company specific review in order to demonstrate the absence of dumping.
- 31. There are three categories of exporters that have sought revocation of the anti-dumping duties with respect to their exports to the United States: (1) exporters that have been mandatory

² 19 CFR § 351.222. (Exhibit VN-58).

respondents and have received or should have received zero or de minimis margins of dumping if the margins were determined in a manner consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and which have or should have received zero or de minimis margins in multiple reviews; (2) exporters that have been mandatory respondents in less than three reviews which believe they can demonstrate the absence of margins of dumping in all reviews for a period of three consecutive years; and (3) respondents that have not been mandatory respondents in any reviews which believe that they can demonstrate the absence of margins of dumping for a period of at least three years. Based on Section 751(d)(1) of the Tariff Act of 1930 and Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, requests for revocations were filed with the USDOC by various exporters in these categories beginning with the third administrative review, in accordance with the three year requirement stipulated by USDOC regulation section 351.222(b)(B)(ii)(2)(i)(A).

B. Claims Of Inconsistency Regarding The USDOC's Revocation Determinations

- 32. The relevant provisions related to the revocation of anti-dumping duties are provided in Article 11 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. It is clear that Article 11 attempts to effect the establishment of precise limits on the form, duration, and amount of any anti-dumping duties imposed on the exporters and producers in the Member country subject to the anti-dumping measures. Article 11.3 has already been addressed as it applies only to five-year or so-called sunset reviews. However, Article 11 does not only provide for revocation of anti-dumping duties as a result of required five-year reviews under Article 11.3; it also provides for reviews under Article 11.2 in order to give effect to the general principle articulated in Article 11.1. Article 11 specifically contemplates the possibility that exporters and producers subject to the anti-dumping measures will cease dumping, that dumping will not recur, and that anti-dumping duties will be revoked. This is clear from Article 11.1. The principles set out in Article 11.1 limiting the duration of anti-dumping duties is no less an object and purpose of the Anti-Dumping Agreement than is the protection provided by the Anti-Dumping Agreement against injurious dumping. Yet giving effect to this object and purpose of the Anti-Dumping Agreement through reviews under Article 11.2 has been rendered meaningless by the actions of the United States.
- 33. There is no ambiguity in the language of Article 11.1. Anti-dumping duties are to be imposed only as long as necessary to counteract dumping. Article 11.2, by using the phrase "shall review", indicates that the obligations imposed on the authority under Article 11.2 are mandatory, not discretionary. Furthermore, the review contemplated by Article 11.2 may be requested "by any interested party which submits positive information substantiating the need for a review". Consistent with the language in Article 11.1, if dumping is not continuing there would appear to be no need for anti-dumping duties to offset the dumping. Viet Nam would further note that permitting an authority to extend the application of the exception contained in Article 6.10 in a periodic review to Article 11.2 on the basis of the application of the exception has allowed the U.S. to avoid its obligations under Article 11.2. An interpretation of Article 11.4 which renders the rights and obligations under Article 11.2 a nullity is not acceptable under the normal terms of treaty interpretation.
- 34. The United States' failure to base its Article 11.1 and 11.2 revocation determination on margins of dumping calculated in a manner consistent with Article 2 was in violation of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Furthermore, the United States' failure to revoke the anti-dumping order with respect to companies that have been denied the opportunity to demonstrate the absence of dumping was in violation of Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. An interpretation of the exception in Article 6.10 that allows an authority, in this case the USDOC, to use the exception to undermine the disciplines governing duration of anti-dumping duties, and, in effect, prevent the revocation or termination of the anti-dumping measures other than in a sunset review under Article 11.3, must be considered inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

ANNEX B-2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE ORAL STATEMENTS OF VIET NAM AT THE FIRST PANEL MEETING

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Many of the claims Viet Nam raises in this dispute have been addressed, directly or indirectly, by the Appellate Body. The Appellate Body has provided substantial guidance on the appropriate legal interpretation of several provisions of the covered agreements implicated in this proceeding. It is incumbent on the Panel to closely review and follow the principles articulated by the Appellate Body in prior proceedings. In multiple reports, the Appellate Body has made clear this expectation that panels adhere to Appellate Body and prior panel guidance on issues of legal interpretation. The Appellate Body has explained that "following the Appellate Body's conclusions in earlier disputes is not only appropriate, it is what would be expected from panels, especially where the issues are the same." Specifically, Viet Nam believes that in this particular proceeding the reasoning of the panel in DS404 could usefully inform this Panel's deliberations.

II. COMMERCE'S NME-WIDE ENTITY POLICY

- 2. The United States contests Viet Nam's assertion that the USDOC's "NME-wide entity" policy constitutes a measure that may be challenged as such. As such claims serve important functions to the dispute settlement system: resolution of as such measures helps provide security and predictability in the conduct of future trade and prevents the need for duplicative litigation. To evaluate whether a measure may be challenged on an as such basis, the Appellate Body considers whether the rule or norm is attributable to the Member; the precise content of the rule or norm; and whether the rule or norm has general and prospective application. Overlaying these criteria is the understanding that non-mandatory measures can be challenged as such.
- 3. The record before the Panel demonstrates that the USDOC's adoption of its NME-wide entity policy constitutes an act "setting forth rules or norms that are intended to have general and prospective application," and therefore constitutes a measure subject to an as such challenge. First, the USDOC's Anti-Dumping Manual states that, in market-economy country proceedings, "individual dumping margins are automatically assigned". In the next sentence, the Manual explains that in NME cases, exporters must pass the so-called separate rate test to receive a rate independent from the NME-wide entity. In these cases, the Manual explains, "the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies" are part of a single, government-wide entity. The rules, including the separate rate test and the presumption of single ownership, are applicable in all anti-dumping cases involving NME countries. Second, the USDOC's policy bulletin sets forth the same presumption for NME countries as the Manual. The very purpose of the bulletin is to provide certainty and predictability to NME exporters on the expectations and requirements for a separate rate. Finally, the Panel has before it the final anti-dumping determinations relevant to this proceeding. These determinations illustrate the USDOC's continued and ongoing application of this policy.
- 4. Viet Nam's claim of inconsistency with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement is quite simple: the USDOC has no legal basis under either the Anti-Dumping Agreement or Viet Nam's Accession Protocol to presume the existence of a single, government-wide entity. Viet Nam does not claim that an authority may never make a finding of affiliation, which could permit application of a single rate to multiple entities. That ability is not in dispute. Rather, this claim concerns the USDOC's presumption of government ownership of all firms. The Appellate Body in EC-Fasteners and the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) rejected the exact arguments by the United States on this claim. The U.S. position reads into Viet Nam's Accession Protocol a concession that does not exist: that an authority may presume that every firm in an NME country is under the control of the government.

¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 188.

- 5. As explicitly provided for in the Accession Protocol, the <u>only</u> special rule to be applied in an anti-dumping proceeding is that an authority may substitute surrogate values for actual values in calculating normal value. Viet Nam did not commit nor does the Accession Protocol or Working Party Report contain any evidence of commitment to an understanding that all firms in Viet Nam may be presumed to be affiliated. The Appellate Body has made clear that this particular special rule an assumption of affiliation across all firms in an NME country cannot be read into a country's Accession Protocol. We urge the Panel to follow the plain language of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, Viet Nam's Accession Protocol, and the directly applicable instruction from the Appellate Body.
- 6. Viet Nam and the United States appear to agree with the basic legal obligations of Article 9.4: "As long as the antidumping duty for a non-examined exporter or producer does not exceed the ceiling and no zero or de minimis margins or margins based on facts available were used in determining the ceiling, there can be no violation of Article 9.4". As shown in the respondent selection memos of the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, the Vietnam-wide entity was never selected for individual examination. Because the Vietnam-wide entity was "not included in the examination," the USDOC's failure to assign a dumping margin consistent with Article 9.4 constitutes a violation of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 7. The United States also does not appear to dispute Viet Nam's legal interpretation of the obligations contained in Article 6.8. The USDOC never requested any information from the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, or sixth administrative reviews; thus, the USDOC has no factual basis to conclude that the Vietnam-wide entity did not cooperate with the investigation and therefore warrant a rate pursuant to Article 6.8. Instead, the rate applied in each administrative review was from the original investigation, where the USDOC confirmed that it would apply a rate based on adverse inferences. As the panel in DS404 concluded under identical circumstances "[t]o fail to treat this rate as a facts available rate would elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances surrounding the assignment of that rate". The only basis for applying the rate to the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews is Article 6.8. Because no necessary information was ever requested from the Vietnam-wide entity during those reviews, the USDOC had no justification for assigning a rate based on adverse inferences.

III. ZEROING

8. The issue of zeroing in the context of administrative reviews has been long settled by the DSB. Use of the zeroing methodology is inconsistent with Articles 2.1 and 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. The Appellate Body has adopted this interpretation on multiple occasions, and emphatically rejected the exact arguments that are again being made by the United States. We urge the Panel to follow the clear and consistent instruction of the Appellate Body.

IV. SECTION 129 OF THE URAA

- 9. Viet Nam's claims with respect to Section 129 center on the legal effect given new determinations issued under Section 129(c)(1). Focusing on determinations issued by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Section 129(c)(1) limits implementation of adverse WTO rulings to entries of subject merchandise made on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination by the U.S. Trade Representative. Section 129(c)(1) does not allow any refund of invalid duties applicable to entries made before the USTR implementation date.
- 10. Because of the U.S. retrospective system for assessing anti-dumping and countervailing duties, the implication of this prohibition against refunds is that "prior unliquidated entries" where there has been no definitive assessment of liability for anti-dumping or countervailing duties are excluded from any U.S. measure to comply with an adverse DSB ruling. Final liability is assessed on such entries, or they remain subject to excessive anti-dumping or countervailing duty deposit rates, regardless of the adverse DSB ruling or any U.S. measures to comply with that ruling. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with

² Panel Report, *US – Shrimp from Viet Nam*, para. 7.279.

various provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and Article 18.1.

- 11. The United States does not challenge Viet Nam's characterization of Section 129 and the fact that the legal effect of determinations issued under that provision extends only to entries made on or after the USTR implementation date. The United States also does not challenge what Viet Nam has carefully documented in relation to every relevant Section 129 determination issued to date, and specifically the systematic liquidation of entries made prior to the reasonable period of time to implement under circumstances the DSB found to be WTO-inconsistent. Finally, the United States does not dispute Appellate Body precedent set forth in Viet Nam's first written submission, namely that implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings should be immediate, and that prior unliquidated entries as of the close of the RPT are within the scope of the measure necessary to render complete and effective compliance with DSB rulings and recommendations.³
- 12. The pattern of conduct documented by Viet Nam can only flow from a statute that precludes implementation on a WTO-consistent basis. While the United States continues to claim that Section 129(c)(1) does not prevents WTO-consistent action on prior unliquidated entries,⁴ it remains incapable of providing any legitimate example. The fact that Congress could simply pass a law that might have an impact on prior unliquidated entries⁵ is an untenable defense as it would effectively render "as such" claims meaningless if the permitted. The only other example offered by the United States concerns Section 123 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act.⁶ But Viet Nam is not challenging Section 123. Beyond this fundamental point, a review of the U.S. examples that attempt to demonstrate what the United States claims are real world examples of Section 123 and Section 129 working in tandem to render WTO-consistent results makes clear the error in the U.S. claims.⁷
- 13. The Panel should ask itself two simple questions: Why is the United States assessing duties on entries under invalid AD/CVD orders even after it issues a Section 129 determination invalidating that order? Is it really true that the U.S. Congress created a limitation in Section 129(c)(1) merely to permit the temporary retention of cash deposits that would be returned at the end of a later administrative review? Any doubts as to the answers to these questions have long since been resolved. There is a long history here in terms of actual conduct and judicial interpretation that the panel hearing the dispute in DS221 simply did not have, all of which confirm an interpretation of U.S. law that denies relief for prior unliquidated entries when implementing adverse DSB rulings and recommendations.

V. THE SUNSET REVIEW

- 14. Viet Nam would like to provide the Panel with a simplified overview of the facts and the Appellate Body jurisprudence which conclusively demonstrates that the U.S. Department of Commerce's sunset determination was inconsistent with its obligations under Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement:
 - Section 752(c)(1)(A) and (B) of U.S. law provides that in making a sunset determination the Department "shall" consider the weighted-average dumping margins determined in the investigation and subsequent reviews.
 - The U.S. Department of Commerce Policy Bulletin, "Policies Governing the Conduct of Five Year (Sunset) Reviews of Antidumping and Countervailing Duty Orders", similarly requires the examination of the weighted-average dumping margins in the investigation and subsequent reviews in determining the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring.
 - The Decision Memoranda in the Sunset Review of *Shrimp from Viet Nam* specifically relies on the margins of dumping in the investigation and subsequent reviews in making the determination that dumping is likely to continue or recur.

 $^{^3}$ See, e.g., Viet Nam's First Written Submission at para. 279, citing Appellate Body Report, US-Zeroing (Japan), para. 161.

⁴ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 132.

 $^{^{5}}$ *Id*. at para. 112

⁶ Id., paras. 118-120.

⁷ *Id*.

- The Decision Memoranda and underlying computer calculations by the Department of Commerce indicate that in the original investigation and each subsequent review, including those reviews examined for purposes of the Department of Commerce's Sunset Review of Shrimp from Vietnam, relied on so-called zeroing in determining the margins of dumping.
- Beginning with its report in *US Zeroing (EC)*, the Appellate Body has repeatedly confirmed that the application of zeroing in determining the margins of dumping in reviews is "as such" inconsistent with Member's obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- The Panel in US Shrimp (Viet Nam) (DS404) found that "evidence submitted by Viet Nam
 the accuracy of which is not contested by the United States demonstrates that the
 USDOC applied 'simple zeroing' not only in the second and third administrative reviews,
 but also in each of the additional administrative reviews conducted under the Shrimp
 order".8
- The evidence on the record of this investigation similarly demonstrates the use of zeroing throughout the course of the *Shrimp* proceeding.
- In *US Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, the Appellate Body stated that while an authority has no obligation to rely on the margins of dumping found in the original investigation and review in making its determination under Article 11.3, "should investigating authorities choose to rely upon dumping margins in making their likelihood determination, the calculation of these margins must conform to the disciplines of Article 2.4".
- Finally, in *US-Zeroing (Japan)*, the Appellate Body stated that "as the likelihood-of-dumping determinations in the sunset reviews at issue in this appeal relied on margins of dumping calculated inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement, they are inconsistent with Article 11.3 of that Agreement". ¹⁰
- 15. Thus, the facts and jurisprudence above provide a sufficient basis for the Panel to determine that the sunset review was conducted in a manner inconsistent with the requirements of Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement because it relied on WTO inconsistent margins of dumping.
- 16. We will now address the U.S. arguments that it properly relied on positive margins of dumping in making its determination as to the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring. The only positive margins of dumping that should have been found and relied upon in the Sunset Review were in fact the margins of dumping based on "facts available" in the first review. The two adverse facts available rates continually cited by the U.S. must be evaluated in the proper context. Considering those rates in the context of the margins used by USDOC in the Sunset Review is very different than considering the rates in the context of a uniform and sustained pattern of no dumping over a period of years by each and every company investigated individually who cooperated in the review. Similarly, the relevance of the USDOC's volume analysis for determining whether dumping is likely to continue or recur is very different in the context of a pattern of sporadic dumping, as would be shown by using the WTO inconsistent margins on which the USDOC relied, than in the context of a uniform and sustained pattern of "safety margins". In other words, the use of WTO inconsistent margins of dumping infected every aspect of the Sunset Review.
- 17. The broader point is that the margins relied upon, other than the two adverse facts available findings in the first review, were established using a WTO inconsistent methodology and, therefore, were necessarily not established properly. Furthermore, by basing its likelihood determination on improperly established margins, the USDOC evaluation of the facts could not be unbiased or objective.

⁸ Panel Report, *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, para. 7.113.

⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 127.

VI. COMPANY SPECIFIC REVOCATION

- 18. It is Viet Nam's contention that Article 11.2 imposes an obligation on an authority to terminate antidumping duties as to individual producers or exporters who demonstrate that the continued imposition of antidumping duties is no longer necessary to offset dumping as to that individual producer or exporter. The starting point for analysis of Article 11.2 is the "general rule" provided in Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement which states that "An Anti-dumping duty shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". Articles 11.2 and 11.3 provide the rules governing the implementation of the general rule contained in Article 11.1. Article 11.1 limits both the duration of the application of anti-dumping duties in stating that duties shall remain in effect "only as long as ... necessary" and the scope of their application by using the language "only ... to the extent necessary".
- 19. The United States fails to acknowledge the distinction between Article 11.2 and 11.3. A review under Article 11.2 is triggered by a request from one or more interested parties submitting positive information substantiating the need for a review, while Article 11.3 is automatically triggered by the passage of time without any requirement that there be a request. This distinction should inform the interpretation of both Articles 11.2 and 11.3. The United States has provided no rational basis for a conclusion that different rules should apply to the original determination of dumping and the determination of the amount of the duties to be collected than are applied in reviews under Article 11.2.

ANNEX B-3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF VIET NAM

I. INTRODUCTION

1. In this submission, Viet Nam sets forth in a clear and straightforward manner the legal and factual basis for each of its claims, the legal and factual basis of the U.S. arguments, and analyzes both in the context of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and WTO jurisprudence.

II. CLAIMS REGARDING USE OF ZEROING TO CALCULATE MARGINS OF DUMPING IN ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWS

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

- 2. Articles 2 and 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in tandem, prohibit the USDOC's use of zeroing as such and as to Vietnamese exporters in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. A margin of dumping that does not take into consideration the result of all comparisons of normal value and export price does not meet the definition of dumping as articulated in Article 2. This failure to calculate a margin of dumping "in accordance with Article 2" renders the margins of dumping assigned to the individually investigated respondents and the separate rate respondents, whose margins of dumping were based on the margins of dumping calculated for the individually investigated respondents, inconsistent with Article 9.3 and Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 3. The United States does not appear to dispute that the USDOC used the zeroing methodology to calculate margins of dumping in the fourth, fifth, or sixth administrative reviews of the shrimp proceeding. Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology as such and as applied in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. The USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology affected the calculation of dumping margins assigned to the individually investigated respondents and the separate rate respondents, whose margins of dumping were based on the margins of dumping calculated for the individually investigated respondents.

B. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

4. The United States advances several arguments in response to Viet Nam's claims concerning the USDOC's use of zeroing in administrative reviews. First, the United States claims that "dumping" may occur at an individual, transaction-specific level, and is not limited to an aggregated analysis of all transactions. A second, related argument is that the authority is not required to calculate a margin of dumping for the product as a whole, but may instead calculate a dumping margin for each transaction of that product. The United States disagrees with consistent Appellate Body determinations that the term "product" has a collective meaning, such that the authority must determine a dumping margin based on all transactions for that product.

C. Analysis

5. Use of the zeroing methodology as such and as applied to the calculation of dumping margins assigned to the individually investigated respondents and the separate rate respondents – whose margins of dumping were based on the margins of dumping calculated for the individually investigated respondents – in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Articles 2.1 and 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. Article 9.3 requires that the margin of dumping "as established under Article 2" serve as the ceiling when determining the maximum antidumping duty to be applied to an exporter. Thus, prior to reaching the additional obligations regarding duty assessment contained in Article 9.3, the authority must calculate the margin of dumping in accordance with Article 2.

¹ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 223-225.

² Ibid. para. 226.

6. The USDOC failed to do so by systematically excluding certain transactions from the margin of dumping calculation: the USDOC did not calculate a dumping margin for the product as a whole. The Appellate Body has time and again concluded that only a single margin of dumping can be calculated for each exporter, refusing to accept the United States' position that each transaction can produce a dumping margin. To ensure predictability and security in the dispute settlement process, the Panel must recognize the now-settled definitions of these concepts that are so fundamental to the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

III. CLAIMS REGARDING THE USDOC'S NME-WIDE ENTITY POLICY

- 7. Viet Nam raises three independent claims with respect to the USDOC's NME-wide entity practice. In light of the extensive discussion already provided to the Panel on this issue, this submission contains only a brief summary of the arguments already set forth in greater detail. As an initial matter, however, Viet Nam makes the following comments.
- 8. <u>First</u>, Viet Nam believes that it has adduced sufficient evidence to support its assertion that the NME-wide entity policy establishing a rebuttable presumption that all companies are part of a single, government-wide entity, constitutes a rule or norm of general and prospective application.³ <u>Second</u>, the United States' attempts to retrofit the facts of the original investigation in order to fit within its claim that the USDOC investigated the Vietnam-wide entity in the original investigation in the form of both Kim Anh Company, Ltd. and the Government of Vietnam, and that the rate determined for the Vietnam-wide entity was based on adverse facts available because neither cooperated in the investigation, is contradicted by the facts.⁴

A. Claim of Inconsistency with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

(1) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

9. The plain text of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, as clarified by the Appellate Body, requires authorities to apply, as a general rule, individual dumping margins and assessment rates. Article 6.10 requires that "authorities shall, as a rule, determine an individual margin for each known exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation". Use of the verb "shall" conveys the mandatory nature of the obligation, subject to the defined, limited exceptions. Article 9.2 applies the principles of Article 6.10 – which govern the determination of dumping margins – to the actual imposition of antidumping duties. The Appellate Body recognized that these obligations are linked, together answering the <u>legal</u> question of whether an authority may use a presumption to assign a single antidumping margin to multiple entities. Significantly, Viet Nam's Accession Protocol does nothing to limit application of the general rule contained in Articles 6.10 and 9.2. The only special rule committed to by Viet Nam concerns the substitution of surrogate values for actual values in calculating normal value. Viet Nam did not commit to any other special rules deviating from the general rules of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, and the Appellate Body has explained that an authority may not read into an Accession Protocol special rules that are not enumerated.

(2) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

10. The United States advances multiple arguments in response to this claim. First, the U.S. argues that the Working Party Report justifies use of the rebuttable presumption. Second, the U.S. argues that the facts of the present dispute are sufficiently different from the EC-Fasteners (China) case that the Panel should deviate from the reasoning and conclusions reached in that report.

³ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 141-143; Viet Nam Answers to Questions, paras. 19-20.

⁴ U.S. Answers to Questions, Question 17.

⁵ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 320.

⁶ Ibid. para. 290.

⁷ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 163-167.

⁸ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 179; U.S. Answers, para. 23.

(3) Analysis

- 11. The Panel should conclude that the United States' application of a rebuttable presumption that all exporters are part of a single, government-wide entity is inconsistent as such and as applied in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The United States' reliance on Viet Nam's Accession Protocol and Working Party Report as a legal justification for the presumption is unavailing. Viet Nam's Accession Protocol contains only a single exception to the provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement: the use of surrogate values instead of actual values in the calculation of normal value. The Accession Protocol identifies the entire universe of commitments considered and made by Viet Nam in its accession to the WTO. Furthermore, the Appellate Body has confirmed that no legal basis be assumed from the Accession Protocol or Working Party Report based on the discussion on Viet Nam's economy contained in those documents. 9
- 12. Lacking any legal justification for its presumption, the U.S. attempts to turn the issue into a question of fact. This is a distraction from the fundamental issue, as described by the Appellate Body: an authority cannot use a presumption to apply a single rate to multiple entities; the covered agreements do not allow for use of a presumption, regardless of the "evidence" cited by an authority. As the Appellate Body explained in EC Fasteners (China), "the evidence submitted ... cannot establish that the economic structure in China {generally} justifies a general presumption that the State and all the exporters in all industries that might be subject to an anti-dumping investigation constitute a single legal entity, where no legal basis for such a presumption is provided for in the covered agreements". 10

B. Claim of Inconsistency with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

(1) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

13. Where an authority limits the number of exporters subject to individual examination pursuant to Article 6.10, Article 9.4 establishes the ceiling anti-dumping duty rate that may be applied to those exporters not selected for individual examination. As demonstrated in the respondent selection memoranda for the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews¹¹, the USDOC in each administrative review "limited {its} examination" ostensibly pursuant to Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Because the Vietnam-wide entity was not selected for individual examination in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews¹³, the Vietnam-wide entity, as an "exporter{} or producer{} not included in the examination," should have received an antidumping duty that did not exceed the weighted average margin of dumping of the selected exporters or producers, excluding rates that are zero, *de minimis*, or based on facts available.

(2) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

14. The United States argues that Article 9.4 is not applicable to the Vietnam-wide entity, explaining that "Article 9.4 does not obligate Members to replace an existing WTO-consistent rate that was individually determined for the entity, which had failed to cooperate in the proceeding, with a different rate that is based on an average rate of independent exporters or producers that fully cooperated". 14

(3) Analysis

- 15. The antidumping duty rate applied to the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with the plain language of Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 16. The United States attempts to read into the provision exceptions that do not exist. Under the United States' reading of Article 9.4, the provision would be applicable only under certain

⁹ Appellate Body Report, EC – Fasteners (China), para. 290 (emphasis added).

¹⁰ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 369.

¹¹ Exhibits VN-07, -11, -17.

¹² Ibid.

¹³ Ibid

¹⁴ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 50; U.S. First Written Submission, para. 193.

circumstances, including when an exporter has not been previously examined. Yet, the article does not contain this open-ended exception that the United States' interpretation would require.

17. The United States' factual claims similarly fail. The United States suggests that a rate was never requested for the Vietnam-wide entity and therefore the USDOC was required to apply the same rate. This argument is factually incorrect. In the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, a review was requested for constituent parts of the Vietnam-wide entity. The same rate was never that the same rate was never that the same rate was never the usual state.

C. Claim of Inconsistency with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

(1) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

18. The USDOC also failed to comply with Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement when it assigned a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity. The USDOC has no basis under Article 6.8 and Annex II to apply a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, as well as the first, second, and third administrative reviews, relevant to the extent that the USDOC relied on the rate for purposes of its Sunset Review determination. Because the USDOC did not request any information from the Vietnam-wide entity, it had no factual or legal basis to apply an antidumping duty rate based on adverse facts available.

(2) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

19. The United States argues that the rates applied in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews are <u>not</u> based on adverse facts available.¹⁷ Rather, the USDOC "based the final assessment for entries by the Vietnam-government entity during the review period on the 'rate in effect'".¹⁸

(3) Analysis

- 20. An authority may apply adverse facts available only where an "interested party" refuses to provide "necessary information" to the authority. As the United States acknowledges, no information was requested from the Vietnam-wide entity. The United States explains: "Commerce did not request information from, or send letters to, the Vietnam government entity (or the Government of Vietnam) during the covered reviews". ¹⁹ The USDOC therefore did not satisfy the requisite criteria, as set forth in Article 6.8, in order to apply a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity.
- 21. The panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) confronted this precise issue, concluding that "there is no basis for any valid finding of non-cooperation, and therefore no basis for any valid application of facts available in the sense of Article 6.8". Based on the evidence of this proceeding, we urge the Panel to adopt the reasoning of the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) and find that application of a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity is inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

IV. CLAIMS REGARDING SECTION 129 OF THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

22. Viet Nam's claims regarding Section 129 concern the legal effect given new determinations issued under Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA"), which limits implementation of adverse WTO rulings and recommendations to entries of subject merchandise, entered or withdrawn from warehouse for consumption on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination by the U.S. Trade

¹⁵ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 185.

¹⁶ Compare Third AR Final Results, 74 Fed. Reg. at 47197 at fn. 19 (Exhibit VN-72) with Notice of Initiation for Fourth AR, 74 Fed. Reg. at 13179.

¹⁷ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 187.

¹⁸ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 69.

¹⁹ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 70.

²⁰ Panel Report, US – Shrimp (Viet Nam), para. 7.280.

Representative. Section 129(c)(1) does not allow any refund of invalid duties applicable to entries made before the USTR implementation date. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with various provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and Article 18.1.

23. Viet Nam's claims are buttressed by a plain reading of Section 129(c)(1) and associated legislative history, accepted principles of statutory construction as applied under U.S. law, U.S. judicial precedent, and a long, consistent pattern of practice by the U.S. administering authority. All point to a statutory provision that precludes relief for prior unliquidated entries through mandated retention or liquidation of duties based on WTO-inconsistent practices.

B. Application WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

24. The United States advances two fundamental arguments in response to Viet Nam's claims that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with various provisions of the WTO Anti-Dumping Agreement. First, the United States contends that Viet Nam has failed to set forth a proper claim in respect of Section 129(c)(1) because Viet Nam did not claim that Section 129(c)(1) was inconsistent with any provisions of the WTO Understanding on the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU").²¹ Second, the United States claims that Viet Nam erroneously argues that Section 129(c)(1) is the exclusive mechanism under U.S. law by which the United States can bring itself into compliance with DSB recommendations and rulings.²² According to the United States, Viet Nam's claims are overly speculative and based on the flawed premise that the United States must have a pre-existing administrative mechanism to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, or an exclusive administrative mechanism that addresses all potential entries including "prior unliquidated entries".²³

C. Analysis

(1) Viet Nam's case is not dependent on claims raised under the DSU

25. Viet Nam's claims focus on the implications of Section 129(c)(1) with respect to the United States' substantive obligations under the WTO Anti-Dumping Agreement. No other party participating in this dispute that has offered views on this issue agrees with the U.S. contention that Viet Nam's claims are ineffective because they were not brought under provisions of the DSU. The U.S. argument finds no support in the text of the DSU. The DSU governs procedural aspects of dispute settlement and a Member's obligation to comply with dispute settlement findings. But whether conformance is assured must be based on consideration of other substantive violations. This is precisely why the examination under Article 21.5 of the DSU concerns "the existence or consistency with a covered agreement of measures taken to comply with the recommendations and rulings such dispute ... ".25 It is these other substantive violations that are the target of Viet Nam's claims and Viet Nam has articulated why the specific provisions under which its claims have been brought are relevant to the circumstances dictated by Section 129(c)(1).

(2) The presence of alternative mechanisms under U.S. law to implement DSB rulings and recommendations is not an affirmative defense to Viet Nam's claims

26. Viet Nam's claims relate to Section 129(c)(1). They do not involve any other mechanism that the United States might apply in implementing DSB rulings and recommendations, or any specific actual action taken pursuant to Section 129(c)(1). To this end, any act or omission attributable to a WTO Member may be the subject of dispute settlement proceedings. The Appellate Body has further clarified that the presence of discretion or alternative measures does not exempt a measure from being challenged as such. Indeed, there is no requirement that the measure identified by the complaining Member has been or is being applied. Section 129 need not apply in even a single specific instance for it to be found inconsistent "as such" with U.S.

²¹ See Executive Summary of U.S. Oral Statement at the First Substantive Meeting of the Panel, para. 5.

²² See U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 93.

 $^{^{23}}$ Ibid. paras. 90 and 95.

 $^{^{24}}$ Viet Nam Answers to Questions, para. 89.

²⁵ DSU Article 21.5 (emphasis added).

²⁶ Appellate Body Report, *Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 81.

obligations under the WTO.²⁷ Thus, the presence of other implementing mechanisms under U.S. law does not lead to the conclusion that Section 129(c)(1) is consistent, as such, with U.S. obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, contrary to U.S. claims. That determination must be based on the terms of the Section 129(c)(1) itself.

(3) The United States continues to mischaracterize both Viet Nam's description of Section 129 and that provision's purpose

- 27. The United States wrongly asserts that Viet Nam contends in this dispute that Section 129 is the exclusive mechanism for the United States to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. That is not Viet Nam's position. As stated in Viet Nam's First Written Submission, Section 129 provides the legal authority under U.S. law for the United States to comply with adverse DSB rulings concerning its obligations under the WTO agreements where implementation in a trade remedy context can be achieved by a new administrative determination. It provides the exclusive authority for the U.S. Department of Commerce to "issue a new determination in connection with a particular proceeding that would render" its action "not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body". The United States cites to no other authority that permits such action short of an act of Congress.
- The United States engages in further mischaracterization by effectively turning the subject 28. matter of Section 129 on its head. The purpose of Section 129 is not to address future entries, leaving prior unliquidated entries to other authority or potential mechanisms, as suggested by the United States. The purpose of Section 129 is to grant authority for the U.S. Department of Commerce to "issue a new determination in connection with a particular proceeding that would render" its action "not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body". 31 Likewise, the purpose of Section 123 is not to address "prior unliquidated entries". The purpose of Section 123 is to grant authority to amend agency practice or regulation "in a case in which a dispute settlement panel or the Appellate Body finds in its report that a regulation or practice of a department or agency of the United States is inconsistent with the any of the Uruguay Round Agreements ... ".32 Section 123 has no bearing on the effective date of any Section 129 determination, which is limited to entries after implementation, even where the practice or regulation applied in the Section 129 determination is derived from a Section 123 proceeding.³³ The fact that "the application of any new methodology developed pursuant to Section 123(g) can impact 'prior unliquidated entries'", as argued by the United States, does not mean Section 129(c)(1) is consistent as such with U.S. obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
 - (4) Viet Nam's claims are not premised on a requirement that Members must have a pre-existing administrative mechanism to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, but on the fact that a pre-existing inconsistent administrative mechanism exists in the United States
- 29. The United States wrongly asserts that Viet Nam's claims are premised on a requirement that Members must have a pre-existing administrative mechanism to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. That is not Viet Nam's position. Viet Nam recognizes that there is no requirement under the WTO for Members to have in place pre-existing administrative mechanism for implementation, or even more specifically a comprehensive mechanism addressing all potential entries including "prior unliquidated entries". Viet Nam's case is premised on the fact that the United States does have an administrative mechanism for implementation that grants the U.S. Department of Commerce authority to bring an action in a specific proceeding (i.e., the measure that is the target of the Section 129 proceeding) into conformity with the United States' obligations under the covered agreements through a new determination. As noted by the EU in its responses to the Panel's questions, "if a WTO Member decides to enact or maintain such a measure, such measure must be consistent with WTO law". "4 Viet Nam concurs."

²⁷ Ibid. paras. 75-78 and 93-95.

²⁸ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 93.

²⁹ Viet Nam's First Written Submission, para. 211.

³⁰ Exhibit VN-31.

³¹ Ibid.

³² Exhibit U.S.-10.

³³ See Viet Nam's Answers to Questions, paras. 82-86.

³⁴ EU Answers to Questions, para. 46.

- 30. The U.S. argument is merely an extension of other arguments it has made claiming that Section 129 is not the exclusive mechanism under U.S. law for implementing DSB rulings and recommendations and other mechanisms exist for addressing "prior unliquidated entries". As previously noted, this is not an affirmative defense to Viet Nam's claims. The issue is whether, by its own terms, Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with U.S. obligations. The presence of other mechanisms is irrelevant to the question presented by Viet Nam.
 - (5) The U.S. admission that Section 129(c)(1) is not designed to address every conceivable circumstance in which compliance action may be necessary is effectively a concession that it is WTO-inconsistent in specific circumstances and therefore is inconsistent as such with U.S. obligations under the AD Agreement
- 31. In its answers to the Panel's questions the United States concedes that "Section 129 is not designed to address every conceivable circumstance in which compliance action may be necessary". To the extent that compliance involves circumstances other than correcting prior administrative decisions Viet Nam can agree. But this says nothing about the specific circumstances Section 129 is intended to address, which Viet Nam has demonstrated does lead to WTO-inconsistent action. To this end, the United States has offered no response to the repeated application of Section 129 under specific circumstances that give rise to violations of its obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement. As Viet Nam has presented in detail, this is not a function of discretion under U.S. law, but a law that requires such outcomes.
- 32. Although the United States has attempted to show that Section 123 somehow ameliorates these circumstances, Viet Nam has rebutted every example the United States has attempted to advance. Given the U.S. inability to rebut Viet Nam's claims, the Panel should find for Viet Nam that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with U.S. obligations under the Ant-Dumping Agreement.

V. CLAIMS REGARDING THE SUNSET REVIEW DETERMINATION

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

- 33. The Appellate Body has determined that to the extent an investigating authority relies upon dumping margins in making a likelihood determination in a Sunset Review Determination, the calculation of the margins relied upon must be consistent with Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and that relying on margins calculated in a WTO inconsistent manner results in an inconsistency both with Article 2 and Article 11.3.³⁷ Evidence that "zeroing" was used in the original investigation and each subsequent review prior to the Sunset Review has been provided in this proceeding in the form of the USDOC *Decision Memoranda* from the original investigation and the first through fourth administrative reviews.³⁸
- 34. The USDOC refusal to rely on WTO consistent margins of dumping also affected the broader analysis of likelihood of dumping based on the presumption embedded in U.S. practice that a decline in volume after the imposition of dumping duties supports a finding of the likelihood of dumping in the future if the antidumping duties are terminated.³⁹ Given the negative or safety margins evident when the margins of dumping are calculated in a WTO consistent manner, the notion that Vietnamese Respondents would have to engage in dumping to recover market share is simply not an objective and unbiased evaluation of the facts. This evaluation could not be made by the USDOC based on the WTO inconsistent margins it relied upon in the Sunset Review Determination.

B. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

35. The United States offers multiple defenses of the Sunset Review Determination. First, that Viet Nam has not met its evidentiary burden of demonstrating that the margins relied upon were WTO inconsistent. Second, that the existence of any positive margins of dumping calculated in a

 $^{^{35}}$ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 92.

³⁶ See Exhibit VN-42.

 $^{^{37}}$ See Viet Nam First Written Submission, footnote 293 and accompanying text.

³⁸ Ibid., footnote 294, accompanying text and Exhibits VN-25 and VN-51.

³⁹ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 281-289.

WTO consistent manner justifies a finding of likelihood of continued or recurring dumping. Third, the USDOC argues that "the decline in import volumes suggests that exporters were unable to sustain pre-investigation import levels without dumping" and that Viet Nam failed to demonstrate that this decline in import volumes resulted from some other factor or factors other than the antidumping duties. 40

C. Analysis

- 36. The Sunset Review at issue in this panel proceeding was conducted pursuant to U.S. law and practice, not WTO law. Thus, whether arguments which might be appropriate and successful under WTO law but which are not plausible or likely to succeed under U.S. law were made in the underlying Sunset Review is not a relevant consideration.⁴¹
- 37. With the exception of the two facts available margins determined in the first review, all of the margins of dumping relied upon by the USDOC in the Sunset Review Determination were WTO inconsistent. These include the margins for the mandatory respondents, the margins for the "separate rate" respondents, and the margins for the Vietnam-wide entity.
- 38. In *US Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, the Appellate Body examined each of the scenarios provided for under the USDOC's *Sunset Policy Bulletin* and commented as follows:

In our view, "volume of dumped imports" and "dumping margins" before and after the issuance of anti-dumping duty orders, are highly important factors for any determination of likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping in sunset reviews, although other factors may also be important depending on the circumstances of the case. The three factual scenarios in Section II.A.3 of the SPB which describe how these factors will be considered in individual determinations thus have certain probative value, the degree of which may vary from case to case. For example, if, under scenario (a) of Section II.A.3 of the SPB, dumping continued with substantial margins despite the existence of the anti-dumping duty order, this would be highly probative of the likelihood that dumping would continue if the anti-dumping duty order were revoked. Conversely, if, under scenarios (b) and (c) of Section II.A.3 of the SPB, imports ceased after issuance of the anti-dumping duty order, or imports continued but without dumping margins, the probative value of the scenarios may be much less, and other relevant factors may have to be examined to determine whether imports with dumping margins would "recur" if the antidumping duty order were revoked. The importance of the two underlying factors (import volumes and dumping margins) for a likelihood-of-dumping determination cannot be questioned; however, our concern here is with the possible mechanistic application of the three scenarios based on these factors, such that other factors that may be of equal importance are disregarded.42

39. Given the above analysis suggested by the Appellate Body based on the *Sunset Policy Bulletin*, the need to consider other factors, including volume, varies depending on which factual scenario is being examined. In the Sunset Review at issue in this proceeding, USDOC was proceeding on the basis of scenario (a) in which dumping continued with substantial margins. In our view, the absence of dumping, except for two adverse facts available determinations in the first review, during the first, second and third reviews would seem to be comparable to scenario (c) rather than scenario (a). This, in turn, would seem to require more than a mechanistic application of the volume presumption. By relying on dumping margins which support scenario (a), Vietnamese Respondents were prevented from arguing that scenario (c) should apply and then placing the other factors, including volume, into the context of scenario (c). One such factor is temporal (i.e. that the only margins found were found only in the first review); another relates to the volume accounted for by the imports subject to adverse facts available in comparison with the volume of imports with no dumping margins based on a WTO consistent determination of the margins of dumping.

⁴⁰ Ibid. paras. 262-268.

⁴¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Lamb*, para. 113.

⁴² Appellate Body Report, *US – OCTG Sunset Review*, para. 208.

- 40. In addition, as recognized by the Appellate Body, the volume issue becomes more complicated and other factors more important under scenario (c). As such, the use of WTO inconsistent margins of dumping infected all aspects of the likelihood-of-dumping determination and, therefore, tainted the entire determination. While there may be situations in which the reliance on WTO inconsistent margins of dumping does not taint the entire investigation (e.g. when there are consistent positive margins of dumping throughout the investigation using both a WTO consistent and WTO inconsistent methodology), that is simply not the case here and the United States has not demonstrated it to be the case.
- 41. Based on the above, Viet Nam believes that the panel must find that the *Sunset Review* conducted by the USDOC of the antidumping duty order on *Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp* from Viet Nam was inconsistent with U.S. obligations under Article 11.3 of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* in that; (1) it relied on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping which constituted an improper establishment of the facts and prevented an unbiased and objective evaluation of the proper facts; and (2) it relied on a volume presumption which itself is not supported by the facts and its improper evaluation of changes in volume based on the facts of the review.

VI. CLAIMS REGARDING INDIVIDUAL COMPANY REVOCATION OF AN ANTIDUMPING DUTY ORDER PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 11.2

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

- 42. Viet Nam argues that Article 11.2 mandates the termination of antidumping duties as to individual respondents which have demonstrated that the continuation of the duties is not necessary to offset dumping. 43 Viet Nam is not contesting either the three year period which the USDOC examines under Regulation 351.222, the certification requirement of the Regulation, or the "not likely" standard used to determine whether to revoke antidumping duties as to individual respondents. Viet Nam for purposes of this proceeding accepts a three year period as providing a proper basis on which to determine whether the dumping has ceased and the likelihood that it would recur if the antidumping duties were terminated. With regard to specific exporters, we note the following:
 - In the case of Minh Phu, its request for revocation was rejected because Minh Phu was found to have a positive margin of dumping in the fourth administrative review based on the WTO inconsistent application of zeroing after having zero or *de minimis* margins in the second and third reviews. The legal issues before this Panel is whether or not an authority can rely on a WTO inconsistent margin of dumping in determining whether or not to terminate the antidumping duty as to individual respondents under Article 11.2.
 - In the case of the other respondents, the USDOC rejected their requests for revocation based on the absence of a sufficient number of individually calculated margins of dumping for each requesting respondent to qualify for consideration for revocation. ⁴⁴ The legal issue before the Panel is whether an authority's failure to review the margins of dumping for individual respondents under Article 9.4 can serve as a basis for the authority to void its obligations under Article 11.2

B. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

43. The United States has presented three arguments to counter Viet Nam's request for a finding that the denials of the revocation requests of individual respondents were WTO inconsistent. The first and principal argument is that Article 11.2 does not impose any obligation on authorities to terminate antidumping duties as to individual respondents. Second, it argues that the requirement of the absence of dumping margins for a period of three years is a U.S. law requirement and not a requirement of Articles 11.1 and 11.2. Finally, it argues that the USDOC did not breach Articles 11.1 and 11.2 by limiting its examination of individual respondents and using this limitation as a basis for rejecting proposals for revocation of the antidumping duties.

44 Ibid

⁴³ See Viet Nam Answers to Questions, paras. 150-154.

C. Analysis

- The threshold issue which the panel must address before addressing any other issues is whether or not Article 11.2 imposes upon a Member an obligation to revoke antidumping duties as to individual respondents once the criteria set forth in Article 11.2 are met by that individual respondent. Article 11.1 sets forth clearly the object and purpose of the balance of the provisions in Article 11 and, more specifically, of Articles 11.2 and 11.3. Article 11.1 seeks to limit the imposition of dumping duties both in terms of "time" ("only so long as") and scope ("to the extent necessary"). Both Articles 11.2 and 11.3 address the time period during which antidumping duties may remain in effect absent certain conditions. Article 11.3 states that antidumping duties can only remain in effect for five year periods absent certain conditions related to the continuation or recurrence of dumping and injury. Article 11.2 imposes an obligation to terminate antidumping duties earlier than the five year period under similar, although not identical, conditions as Article 11.3. Article 11.3, however, only addresses the issue of the "expiry" of duties and not "the extent" to which duties are continued. Since Article 11.3 does not address "the extent" limitation which is clearly a purpose of Article 11 as specified in Article 11.1, the "the extent" of the antidumping duties must be addressed under Article 11.2. Indeed, this is contemplated by Article 11.2 in that it contemplates duties not only being "removed" but also "varied." The "extent" to which antidumping duties continue to be "necessary" cannot be read to limit the examination to the "country-wide" "product specific" duties. Rather, to give the "extent" and "varied" meaning, Article 11.2 can only be read as permitting changes in both the exporters and products subject to antidumping duties.
- 45. Finally, the exception of Article 6.10 cannot be used as the basis for acting inconsistently with the obligations of Article 11.2. It is the obligation of the Member to interpret and apply the provisions of an agreement in a manner which gives meaning to all provisions and does not read some provisions fully or partially out of the same agreement.

ANNEX B-4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE STATEMENTS OF VIET NAM AT THE SECOND PANEL MEETING

I. COMMERCE'S NME-WIDE ENTITY POLICY

- 1. With respect to Viet Nam's Articles 6.10 and 9.2 claims, the U.S. has been persistent in its attempt to turn this issue into a question of fact, or even a mixed question of law and fact. As made clear by the Appellate Body, the Panel has no reason to consider whether the factual evidence cited by the United States justifies a presumption of government ownership of all companies in all industries, if the legal texts prohibit the presumption in the first place. The United States must first assert a legitimate legal basis for the presumption; a legal basis that overcomes the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, which requires assignment of individual dumping rates. The United States has failed to do so. The only concession made by Viet Nam with respect to antidumping measures concerned the substitution of surrogate for actual values when determining normal value. The U.S. cannot take what specifically identified concessions do exist in the Accession Protocol and Working Party Report, and unilaterally expand the scope of those concessions. Articles 6.10 and 9.2 require assignment of individual rates. The United States' presumption directly violates that requirement.
- 2. The U.S. also argues that Viet Nam's decision to not challenge the "nonmarket economy country" status makes the Appellate Body's guidance in *EC Fasteners (China)* inapplicable. Viet Nam is not challenging in this dispute the United States' ability to currently apply the concessions that do exist in Viet Nam's Accession Protocol. The issue is the U.S. adoption of a presumption that is contrary to the plain language of the Anti-Dumping Agreement for which Viet Nam made no concession. Lastly on this claim, the U.S. argument that the Working Party Report and a 2002 DOC determination from a different proceeding justify reliance on the presumption. As explained above, this argument is moot, as the United States cannot provide a legal basis for the existence of the presumption.
- 3. On Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency with Article 6.8, the United States and Viet Nam largely agree on the legal standard. With respect to the facts, as we have thoroughly discussed and documented, and as found by the panel in DS404, the U.S. position would require this Panel to "elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances surrounding the assignment of that rate". The United States acknowledged that it did not request information from the Vietnam-wide entity during the covered reviews. Accordingly, the United States had no legal basis under Article 6.8 to apply a dumping rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity. Viet Nam believes that this fact alone is determinative. Nevertheless, two factual issues require clarification. First, the DOC never requested information from the Vietnamese government. Second, the United States could not identify a single instance in which the DOC applied an Article 9.4-consistent rate to a producer that was presumed to be part of an NME-wide entity. The DOC applies a rate based on adverse facts available as a practice in all such circumstances.
- 4. Last, we address Viet Nam's Article 9.4 claim. The plain language of Article 9.4 makes clear its application where the authority has limited the examination. In the covered reviews, the DOC limited the examination, and its failure to apply a rate to the Vietnam-wide entity consistent with Article 9.4 amounts to a violation. Furthermore, as a factual matter, the U.S. suggests that a review was never requested for the constituent companies of the so-called Vietnam-wide entity, such that a new rate could not be assigned. In fact, as shown in Viet Nam's second written submission, requests were made for constituent companies.

II. ZEROING

5. The issue of zeroing is before the Panel in two contexts: first, as applied in the third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews; and second, as such. With respect to the applied claims, there is little dispute. The zeroing methodology, as found by several Appellate Body Reports to be

¹ Panel Report, *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, para. 7.279.

WTO-inconsistent, was as a matter of fact applied in the covered reviews. Accordingly, the United States' determined arguments notwithstanding, there is little question that the use of zeroing in the third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. With respect to the as such claims, Viet Nam has set forth a sufficient basis for the Panel to make a decision on the merits.

III.SECTION 129 OF THE URAA

- 6. Viet Nam's claims regarding Section 129 concern the legal effect given new determinations issued under Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, which limits implementation of adverse WTO rulings and recommendations to entries of subject merchandise, entered or withdrawn from warehouse for consumption on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination by the U.S. Trade Representative. Section 129(c)(1) does not allow any refund of invalid duties applicable to entries made before the USTR implementation date. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with various provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and Article 18.1.
- 7. Viet Nam's claims do not concern any other mechanism that the United States might apply in implementing DSB rulings and recommendations. As much as the United States would like to introduce other mechanisms into the debate, their existence does nothing to undercut Viet Nam's claims regarding Section 129(c)(1). Even if *some* prior unliquidated entries may be treated in a WTO-consistent manner in *some* situations over the course of administrative action under other provisions of U.S. law, that does not save Section 129(c)(1) and the effect it has on prior unliquidated entries. Section 129(c)(1) need not apply in even a single specific instance for it to be found inconsistent "as such" with U.S. obligations under the WTO.² We have in this instance a statutory provision that sets forth rules and norms for responding to adverse findings of the DSB, the effect of which has not been denied by the United States. Thus, the mere fact that the United States might apply a different mechanism to implement adverse DSB rulings and recommendations in the future does not resolve the question of whether the mechanism set forth in Section 129 is or is not inconsistent. When Section 129 is the mechanism for effecting implementation, that implementation is necessarily WTO inconsistent as it applies to unliquidated entries.
- 8. The U.S. arguments are simply an attempt to obfuscate and there is no better example of this fact than its efforts to present Section 123 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act as a kind of prior unliquidated entry analog to the purely prospective effect given Section 129(c)(1) determinations. The characterization is simply incorrect.
- 9. Section 129 provides the exclusive authority for the DOC to "issue a new determination in connection with a particular proceeding that would render" its action "not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body". Viet Nam again submits that the United States cites to no other authority that permits such action short of an act of Congress. It is abundantly clear from the statute that Section 129 is not intended to address future entries, per se, thereby leaving prior unliquidated entries to other authority, as suggested by the United States. Rather, the purpose of Section 129 is to grant authority for the DOC to issue a new, WTO-consistent determination. Section 123 does not alter these facts or otherwise save the U.S. argument. The purpose of Section 123 is not to address prior unliquidated entries, but to grant authority to amend agency practice or regulation "in a case in which a dispute settlement panel or the Appellate Body finds in its report that a regulation or practice of a department or agency of the United States is inconsistent with the any of the Uruguay Round Agreements ...". Unlike Section 129, Section 123 is not intended to bring a specific determination (i.e., the measure that is the target of the Section 129 proceeding) into conformity with the United States' obligations under the covered agreements.
- 10. The United States has yet to provide a single example in which prior unliquidated entries were in play and Section 129 provided the entitled relief for those entries. This is true even when paired with an action under Section 123. The Panel should therefore ask the United States to reconcile its position on Section 129(c)(1) and the "other mechanisms" it posits address prior liquidated entries with its actual practice as carefully documented by Viet Nam. It cannot and it

² See Appellate Body Report, United States – 1916 Act, para. 61.

has chosen not to address the numerous examples presented by Viet Nam. It does not address the effect of the Section 129 determination or the measure it is intended to correct. It does not address instances where Section 123 is not involved. And it does not address the reality that even where a regulation or practice modified pursuant to Section 123 is applied in a subsequent administrative review, the result is the continued retention of excessive deposits while that process plays out. On this last point we have come full circle: The WTO-inconsistent retention of excessive deposits is based on a determination the Section 129 determination is intended to correct and replace but only prospectively on entries made after the USTR implementation date.

The other main U.S. argument is that Viet Nam has not raised claims under the DSU and therefore its challenge is deficient. Contrary to U.S. arguments, the fact that Section 129(c)(1) deals with measures to implement DSB rulings and recommendations does not mean that the only recourse under the WTO is through provisions of the DSU. The question of compliance must be based on consideration of other substantive obligations. Viet Nam believes Japan framed the inquiry quite succinctly.3 As Japan noted in its responses to questions, the Appellate Body made clear in US - Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 - EC) and US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan) that a Member's obligation to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings covers actions or omissions subsequent to the reasonable period of time, even if they relate to imports that entered the territory of a WTO Member at an earlier date. Accordingly, the interpretive question in the current dispute is not whether "prior unliquidated entries" are subject to the recommendations and rulings of the DSB, or whether a Member violates the covered agreements by liquidating certain "prior unliquidated entries" in a WTO-inconsistent manner after the expiration of the reasonable period of time. The only issue in the current dispute is whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that, in certain circumstances, Section 129(c)(1) necessarily excludes the possibility of DOC to take WTO-consistent action with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Again, because of the limited effective date under Section 129(c)(1), numerous substantive violations of the Anti-Dumping Agreement necessarily arise as of the close of the RPT with respect to prior unliquidated entries. This is the focus of Viet Nam's claims, as explicitly set forth in its request for a panel and in its first written submission.

IV. THE SUNSET REVIEW

- 12. The United States relies essentially on three arguments to claim that the Sunset Review of Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from Vietnam was consistent with U.S. WTO obligations. First, that the DOC did not rely exclusively on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping. The Appellate Body has been clear that an authority must make a sunset review determination based on an evidentiary record that contains WTO-consistent margins of dumping. The Panel does not need to speculate on the bias inherent in the DOC's failure to rely on WTO consistent margins of dumping. On one side of the ledger is the table of margins determined consistent with U.S. WTO obligations and the U.S. Court of International Trade's findings in Amanda Foods, provided at paragraph 277 of Viet Nam's First Written Submission. The table demonstrates that dumping ceased entirely after the first review. On the other side of the ledger are two findings based on adverse facts available in the first review. It is clear that a WTO consistent evidentiary record for the sunset review would be very different than the record actually relied upon by the DOC.
- 13. The second U.S. argument concerns the question of volume. The DOC conducted its analysis based on the incorrect belief that the dumping had continued since the duty was imposed; WTO consistent margins of dumping would have given rise to the third scenario identified in Section II.A.3 of the DOC's Sunset Policy Bulletin, namely the dumping had ceased and there had been a moderate decline in import levels. The Appellate Body has indicated that the validity of the presumption of declining imports supporting a finding of "likelihood" (and, in turn, the analysis required) will be different depending on which scenario applies. Accordingly, the Appellate Body has stated that the scenario in which dumping has ceased and imports have continued requires a more detailed examination of the causes of the decline in imports than does the scenario in which the dumping has continued. The question of "likelihood" addressed by the DOC was in the context of continued dumping. In fact, the question of "likelihood" should have been addressed in the context of the cessation of dumping. It is difficult to see how a conclusion can be unbiased and objective when that conclusion is directed at an entirely different scenario than the one that would have existed if the DOC were relying on WTO consistent margins of dumping.

³ Japan's Responses to the Panel's Questions, para. 11.

- 14. The third U.S. argument, that Viet Nam should be barred from making arguments before this Panel that were not made in the underlying proceeding, has already been rejected in WTO jurisprudence.
- 15. The DOC's refusal to recognize WTO consistent margins of dumping for purposes of its "likelihood" analysis infected every aspect of the sunset review determination. The most effective factual argument related to volume (the existence of substantial safety margins) could not be made because the margins relied upon by the DOC were not WTO consistent. Moreover, any decline in imports must be evaluated in the context of the cessation of dumping, as would be the case using WTO consistent dumping margins. This evaluation did not take place in the sunset review.

V. COMPANY SPECIFIC REVOCATION

16. The U.S. relies primarily on one argument in suggesting that Article 11.2 imposes no obligations on a Member to revoke an antidumping duty as to an individual exporter that has demonstrated that dumping has ceased and is not likely to recur: the interpretation by the Appellate Body in *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review* that Article 11.3 addresses only an order-wide revocation and not a revocation of antidumping duties on individual exporters. In particular, the U.S. relies on use of the term "duty" in Article 11.3 and the reference in Article 9.2 to "an anti-dumping duty ... in respect of any product". Viet Nam, however, would note that the Appellate Body found that this phrasing "informs" the interpretation and not that it governs the interpretation. Indeed, the prior paragraph of the very same Appellate Body report states:

In fact, Article 11.3 contains no express reference to individual exporters, producers, or interested parties. This contrasts with Article 11.2 which does refer to "any interested party" and "interested parties." ⁵

17. Subsequently, the Appellate Body, referring to the term "interested parties" states:

These references suggest that, when the drafters of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* intended to impose obligations on authorities regarding individual exporters or producers, they did so explicitly.⁶

- 18. In other words, use of the term interested parties according to the Appellate Body is an explicit reference to individual importers, exporters, or foreign producers. Use of the term "interested party" in Article 11.2 in fact distinguishes it from Article 11.3. The Panel should be aware that the Appellate Body made this distinction in the very report relied upon by the United States and in the paragraphs immediately preceding and following the paragraph relied on primarily by the U.S. relating to the reference to "the duty".
- The U.S. then proceeds to claim that the distinction between Articles 11.2 and 11.3 is based on the fact that interested parties would have an interest in revocation under Article 11.2, while the domestic industry would have an interest in preventing the expiry of the duties under Article 11.3. Viet Nam would first note that the term "any interested party" is not limited to an interested party or parties which are importers, exporters, or foreign producers of the subject merchandise. Second, while the use of "any interested party" is necessary to define those parties which may request a review under Article 11.2, it also, as found by the Appellate Body, indicates an obligation with respect to individual importers, exporters or foreign producers. Third, while the word "varied" appears in reference to the injury aspect of Article 11.2, the variation must refer to variations in the "extent" of the duty and, therefore, makes clear the intention of the Anti-Dumping Agreement to address variations in the duty within the context of Article 11.2 reviews. Fourth, use of "any" indicates that individual importers, exporters, or foreign producers may request a review of either the need for continuation of the antidumping duties or injury. Given that any individual importer, exporter, or foreign producer would gain a competitive advantage vis-àvis other importers, exporters, or foreign producers by having the duty as applied to it removed while it continues to be applied to others, the use of the word "any" must inform the interpretation of Article 11.2.

⁴ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 150.

⁵ Ibid. para. 149.

20. Thus, the specific language of Article 11.2, and the contrast between the language of Articles 11.2 and 11.3, must inform the Panel's interpretation of Article 11.2. This, of course, brings us back to the object and purpose of Article 11 as articulated in Article 11.1. Article 11.1 addresses both the duration (only as long as) and coverage (the extent necessary) of antidumping duties. An interpretation of Article 11.2 which is consistent with limiting the extent of the application of antidumping duties to importers, exporters, and foreign producers who can demonstrate that dumping is not taking place and is unlikely to recur is consistent with the application of antidumping duties only to those importers, exporters, and foreign producers that are demonstrated to be dumping as provided in Article 5.8.

ANNEX B-5

VIET NAM'S RESPONSE TO THE UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF CASES

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation	
Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Beef and Rice, Complaint with Respect to Rice</i> , WT/DS295/AB/R, adopted 20 December 2005, DSR 2005: XXII, 10853	
US – Customs Bond Directive	Panel Report, <i>United States – Customs Bond Directive for Merchandise Subject to Anti-Dumping/Countervailing Duties</i> , WT/DS345/R, adopted 1 August 2008, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS343/AB/R, WT/DS345/AB/R	
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:1, 3	

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. With this submission, Viet Nam respectfully provides its response to the request for preliminary rulings asserted in the United States' submission received on July 31, 2013. Viet Nam believes that the United States' requests are premature in that many of the United States' concerns would have been alleviated upon receipt of Viet Nam's first written submission.
- 2. Viet Nam limits its discussion in this submission to a single argument raised in Section II of the United States' request for preliminary rulings. Specifically, Viet Nam addresses below the United States' claim that the sixth administrative review is not a measure at issue, nor is it within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 3. As an initial matter, Viet Nam addresses the additional points raised in the United States' request. First, on the United States' concern regarding Viet Nam's reference to the use of zeroing in "original investigations", "new shipper reviews", and "certain changed circumstances reviews", Viet Nam is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied, to these particular types of proceedings. Viet Nam's panel request makes clear that the "zeroing" as applied claims are limited to the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. The original investigation and the sunset review are relevant to the extent that zeroing affects the Panel's analysis on the claims that are particular to the sunset review. To be clear, Viet Nam's consultation and panel request also identify, however, an as such claim with respect to the USDOC's zeroing practice.
- 4. Second, on the United States' concern regarding a claim based on the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("VCLT"), Viet Nam did not intend before, and does not intend now, to assert its claim pursuant to the VCLT. Viet Nam simply included reference to the VCLT to make clear the importance of the object and purpose of the relevant agreement in the course of treaty interpretation.
- 5. Third, on the United States' concern regarding Viet Nam's supposed identification of the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") as a measure, Viet Nam did no such thing. Viet Nam's request does not identify the SAA as a measure within the Panel's terms of reference nor does Viet Nam intend to challenge the SAA as a measure.
- 6. Viet Nam addresses the remaining issue below.
- II. Viet Nam's Panel Request Did Not Expand the Scope of the Measures At Issue With Respect to the Sixth Administrative Review and the Panel Should Dismiss the United States' Request
- 7. The Panel should dismiss the request made by the United States concerning the sixth administrative review. The United States claims that Viet Nam's panel request "expanded the scope and changed the essence of its consultations request by including measures that were not the subject of its consultation request". Viet Nam has done no such thing, and the Panel should continue to find this measure within its terms of reference.
- 8. The Appellate Body has explained that there need not be a "precise and exact identity" between the measures identified in the consultation request and the panel request. The issue is whether or not the "essence" of the challenged measures has changed, a determination that can only be made on an individual, case-by-case basis. The purpose of the panel request is to narrow the focus of the inquiry from the consultation request and to identify with greater precision the issues before the Panel.
- 9. Viet Nam identified the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue in the request for consultations. First, page 1 of Viet Nam's Consultations Request states that the request is made with respect to the fourth administrative review, the fifth administrative review, and "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warm-water shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802)."
- 10. Second, page 3 of Viet Nam's Consultations Request states that Viet Nam would like to raise in the course of consultations the use of the identified practices in the fourth administrative

review, the fifth administrative review, and "the continued use of the practices described [] above in subsequent reviews".

11. Viet Nam conveyed to the United States, by way of the language included in the consultation request, the understanding that the sixth administrative review was a measure at issue. The United States was placed on notice of this fact through Viet Nam's identification of "ongoing" administrative reviews. The "essence" of the challenge has not changed from the consultation request to the panel request; rather, Viet Nam's panel request merely provides greater precision on the measures at issue.

III. CONCLUSION

- 12. On the basis of the above, Viet Nam submits as follows:
 - Viet Nam does not challenge the use of zeroing, as applied, to "original investigations", "new shipper reviews," and "certain changed circumstances reviews", other than the original investigation to the extent it has an effect on subsequent reviews and the sunset review;
 - Viet Nam does not assert any claims pursuant to the VCLT;
 - o Viet Nam does not claim that the SAA is within the Panel's terms of reference; and
 - Viet Nam did identify the sixth administrative review, as an ongoing administrative review, in the consultation request.
- 13. Accordingly, Viet Nam respectfully requests that the Panel deny the request made by the United States with respect to the sixth administrative review and proceed to consider the merits of the claims raised.

ANNEX B-6

VIET NAM'S RESPONSE TO THE UNITED STATES' REPLY FOR THE REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF CASES

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:I, 3

- 1. With this submission, Viet Nam respectfully provides its response to United States' "Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States of America" submission received on August 13, 2013. Viet Nam's focus here is on the request for a preliminary ruling concerning the final results of the sixth administrative review.
- 2. As the Panel recalls, the United States' request did identify three additional "measures":
 - The use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews;
 - The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties; and
 - The Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act.
- 3. Viet Nam has not challenged the items listed above as measures. Rather, inclusion of these three items in the request for establishment of a Panel was warranted because of their relevance to the measures that are being challenged.
- 4. The final result of the sixth administrative review, however, is a measure within the terms of reference of the panel. Viet Nam sets forth two points on this issue to supplement the submission made on August 5. The "fundamental flaws" identified in the United States' reply are not applicable and do not disqualify this measure as within the terms of reference of the Panel.
- 5. First, the United States' citation to Article 3.3 of the DSU does not support the United States' position. That article calls for the "prompt settlement" of situations in which a Member's benefits are impaired. Yet, under the United States' argument, the Panel should ignore the final results of the sixth administrative review, despite the fact that Viet Nam makes the same claims with respect to the sixth administrative review as it has with the fourth and fifth administrative. The fourth and fifth administrative reviews are unquestionably properly before the Panel. The United States would have Viet Nam file a new request for consultations and request for establishment of a panel and force the DSB to compose a new panel to review the same issues presently before this panel. This does not further Article 3.3's objective of prompt settlement.
- 6. Moreover, contrary to the United States' claim, the final results of the sixth administrative review are presently affecting Viet Nam's rights under the covered agreements. The sixth administrative review is not a measure "that may never exist". To the contrary, it is a measure that does exist and is having a significant present impact on Viet Nam. The United States' attempt to engage in hypothetical situations should be dismissed. Viet Nam is being adversely affected by the results of the sixth administrative review and seeks the prompt settlement of this situation. It is for this very reason that Viet Nam identified in the consultation request "any other ongoing or future administrative reviews", a clear reference to the sixth administrative review that was ongoing at the time of the consultation request.
- 7. Second, the United States' citation to Article 4.4 of the DSU is similarly misguided. The Appellate Body has explained that there need not be a "precise and exact identity" between the measures identified in the consultation request and the panel request. The panel request serves to narrow the inquiry, which is precisely what was done in this case. Viet Nam's panel request narrowed the scope of the dispute to, among other measures, the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. Far from expanding the scope, as claimed by the United States, the panel request clearly identified the specific administrative reviews before the panel.
- 8. Accordingly, Viet Nam respectfully requests that the Panel deny the request made by the United States with respect to the sixth administrative review and proceed to consider the merits of the claims raised.



ANNEX C

ARGUMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES

Contents		Page
Annex C-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of the United States	C-2
Annex C-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the First Panel Meeting	
Annex C-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of the United States	C-13
Annex C-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the Second Panel Meeting C-21	
Annex C-5	United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-26
Annex C-6	United States' Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-31

ANNEX C-1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES

I. Introduction

- 1. Vietnam requests that the Panel find that Commerce's application of its zeroing methodology "as such" and as applied in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews of the antidumping duty order on frozen warmwater shrimp from Vietnam was inconsistent with the AD Agreement and the GATT 1994. Vietnam's "as such" claim is without merit because the United States has already changed the practice for calculating dumping margins. Vietnam's "as applied" claims are without merit as there is no obligation under the text of the AD Agreement and the GATT 1994 requiring an investigating authority to grant offsets to reduce the amount of dumping duties levied on dumped entries to account for non-dumped entries priced above normal value.
- 2. Vietnam has also failed to establish that the alleged "NME-wide entity rate practice" is a measure that may be challenged "as such" as inconsistent with the AD Agreement given that it has not put forward evidence that what it describes as "practice" is a measure. Further, Commerce's decision to identify a Vietnam-government entity in the covered reviews and assign that entity an individual margin of dumping and an individual antidumping duty was not inconsistent with the obligations of the United States under the AD Agreement. In fact, the Working Party Report as incorporated into the Accession Protocol provides a basis for treating multiple enterprises in Vietnam as part of a Vietnam-government entity. Finally, although the United States would disagree with certain statements made by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners*, a close reading of that report indicates that Commerce's determination regarding the Vietnam-government entity was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement.
- 3. Vietnam's challenge to Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, which is one of the mechanisms by which the United States implements recommendations and rulings from the DSB, suffers from a number of fatal flaws that were identified by the panel in $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)$ when it rejected the nearly identical claims to those made by Vietnam in this dispute. Vietnam fails to demonstrate that the panel erred in that earlier dispute. Moreover, Vietnam's remaining arguments similarly fail to show that Section 129(c)(1) precludes the United States from taking WTO-consistent action.
- 4. Contrary to Vietnam's claims, Commerce permissibly concluded in the sunset review that revocation of the antidumping duty order would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping. Commerce conducted a thorough review of the history of the antidumping duty proceeding and relied on positive antidumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the four completed reviews, finding that Vietnam has failed to establish sufficient evidence in support of its allegations that Commerce's consideration of positive margins of dumping assigned to respondents was inappropriate. In addition, factors other than margins of dumping, in particular post-antidumping order import volumes, fully supported Commerce's finding.
- 5. Lastly, Vietnam requests that the Panel find that Commerce's failure to revoke the antidumping duty order with respect to certain companies during the challenged reviews was inconsistent with the AD Agreement. However, the provisions relied on by Vietnam, specifically Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the AD Agreement, do not provide for company-specific revocation from an antidumping duty order. As a result, Vietnam's argument fails.

II. Vietnam's "As Applied" Claims Regarding Company-Specific Revocation Have No Basis in the AD Agreement

6. Vietnam's argument concerning an alleged breach of Articles 11.1 and 11.2 does not rest on the text of these provisions. Article 11.1 of the AD Agreement states that "[a]n anti-dumping duty shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". With respect to Article 11.2, there is no obligation contained in the text

that requires a Member to partially terminate the antidumping duty with respect to individual companies.

- Articles 11.1 and 11.2 also do not require revocation based on an absence of dumping for three years. Under U.S. domestic law, individual companies are allowed to request revocation of an antidumping order either on an order-wide or company-specific basis. In this regard, the United States draws the Panel's attention to the report US - Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods, which discusses these domestic law provisions. In the face of a similar claim as presented by Vietnam here (including the use of the "zeroing" methodology), the panel found that, given revocation based on three years of no dumping operated "in favour of foreign producers and exporters, and that a more general opportunity to request review exists [through a CCR], we see no basis to conclude that [Commerce] acted inconsistently with Article 11.2 in the fourth administrative review when it concluded that the Mexican exporters were not entitled to revocation as their situation did not fit the required factual prerequisites". The panel also found that, "[b]y providing that, in certain circumstances, [Commerce] may revoke an antidumping duty order based in part on three years of no dumping, we consider the United States has gone beyond what is required by Article 11.2". For these reasons, even if certain Vietnamese companies had not had positive dumping margins for three years, nothing in Article 11.1 or Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement establishes that this fact would require terminating the application of the antidumping duty to such companies.
- 8. Finally, in its first written submission, Vietnam now asserts that "[a]bsent revocation, [individually investigated mandatory respondents] are being denied their rights under Articles 2.1, 2.4.2, 9.3 ...". However, Articles 2.1, 2.4.2 and 9.3 of the AD Agreement were not included as the relevant provisions of the covered agreements cited by Vietnam related to "Revocation in the absence of any evidence of dumping". Therefore, any claims regarding company-specific revocation under these additional articles are outside the terms of reference.

III. Section 129(c)(1) is Not Inconsistent, As Such, with the AD Agreement

- 9. In the US Section 129(c)(1) dispute, the panel observed "that section 129(c)(1) does not mandate or preclude any particular treatment of prior unliquidated entries or have the effect thereof". With respect to prior unliquidated entries, the panel in US Section 129(c)(1) found that Commerce could conduct segments (e.g., administrative reviews) that impact those entries in a WTO-inconsistent manner. "However, it is clear to us that such actions, if taken, would not be taken because they were required by section 129(c)(1), but because they were required or allowed under other provisions of US law." Thus, the panel correctly determined that section 129(c)(1) does not govern the treatment of unliquidated entries of subject merchandise that are the subject of other segments of the same proceeding, such as in administrative reviews under the relevant AD or CVD order.
- 10. As is clear from the panel report, Vietnam's argument fails due to a simple threshold issue. Vietnam's argument is based on a presumption of what means the United States will choose *in the future* to respond to any DSB recommendations and rulings. That is, Vietnam predicts that the United States will choose to undertake any implementation by means of section 129. Vietnam furthermore predicts that the United States will implement *only* by means of section 129 and will not utilize any other means under U.S. domestic law. And Vietnam further predicts how any U.S. measure taken to comply will address what Vietnam calls "prior unliquidated entries". It should be apparent on its face that a claim based on a prediction of how a Member will operate in the future in response to DSB recommendations and rulings is a claim that is based on speculation and, thus, fails.
- 11. In addition to Vietnam's attempt to challenge predicted future actions, Vietnam's argument suffers the basic and fundamental flaw that the provisions of the AD Agreement cited by Vietnam do not contain any affirmative obligations with respect to the implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings. Rather, in the antidumping context, the DSU is the only WTO agreement that addresses Members' obligations in regards to implementation. Vietnam has not pursued any claims under the DSU. For this reason alone, Vietnam's argument should be rejected.
- 12. In the course of its arguments, Vietnam also makes a number of incorrect assertions regarding the implications of U.S. domestic law and the prior panel report in US Section 129(c)(1). First, Vietnam argues that, because section 129(c)(1) "serves as an absolute

legal bar" to the WTO-consistent liquidation of prior unliquidated entries, section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with various provisions of the AD Agreement, specifically Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1. Section 129(c)(1) addresses the implementation of determinations made under section 129 in response to DSB recommendations and rulings to unliquidated entries of subject merchandise entered on or after the date USTR directs implementation. Vietnam has no support in the plain language of the statute for the additional assertion that section 129(c)(1) serves as a legal bar to WTO-consistent action on prior unliquidated entries in other administrative segments of the proceeding or through other means.

- 13. Second, Vietnam relies on the SAA to support its interpretation of section 129(c)(1), but Vietnam's reliance is misplaced because Vietnam fails to provide meaningful support under the SAA for the assertion that section 129(c)(1) bars any other acts (outside section 129) that would impact prior unliquidated entries. Vietnam is simply mistaken when it claims that section 129(c)(1) has precluded Commerce from making WTO-consistent determinations with respect to prior unliquidated entries.
- 14. Vietnam further argues that the general "nature" of section 129 supports its assertion that section 129 would be the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. This is incorrect, as Vietnam misconstrues the provisions of the URAA on which it relies, such as section 102. Nothing in section 102 of the URAA indicates that section 129 would be the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. In fact, section 102(a)(2)(B) supports the opposite position that "[n]othing in this Act shall be construed ... to limit any authority conferred under any law of the United States ... unless specifically provided for in this Act".
- 15. Vietnam also argues that section 129(c)(1) is the exclusive method by which DSB recommendations and rulings may be implemented because, in instances where the U.S. International Trade Commission implements DSB recommendations and rulings by changing its injury determination from affirmative to negative, the particular AD or CVD order at issue is revoked as of the implementation date. Again, Vietnam's argument is based on a fundamental misunderstanding. As the panel explained in $US Section \ 129(c)(1)$, "only determinations made and implemented under section 129 are within the scope of section 129(c)(1)" and that "section 129(c)(1) only addresses the application of section 129 determinations. It does not require or preclude any particular actions with respect to [other entries] in a separate segment of the same proceeding".
- 16. Finally, Vietnam suggests that the Panel not follow the panel report in US $Section\ 129(c)(1)$ because the argument advanced by Canada in that panel proceeding that section 129(c)(1) was an absolute bar to any refunds of duties on prior unliquidated entries has turned out to be correct. As the United States has explained, not only does section 129(c)(1) not preclude the implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings under other statutory authority, but Congress and the Executive Branch of the U.S. Government specifically contemplated that such implementation would occur. There have, in fact, been numerous instances in which Commerce has modified its treatment of prior unliquidated entries. For the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel reject Vietnam's claims that section 129(c)(1) is as such inconsistent with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and 18.1 of the AD Agreement.
- IV. The Treatment of Multiple Companies as a Single Vietnam-Government Exporter/ Producer was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- A. Vietnam Has Failed to Demonstrate the Existence of a Measure of General and Prospective Application That May Be Challenged "As Such" as Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- 17. Vietnam has not established that the alleged NME-wide entity rate "practice" exists and can be a measure. First, Vietnam does not explain how a "practice" can set out a rule or norm of general or prospective application. Second, in relation to the alleged "practice," Vietnam has not demonstrated that Commerce "invariably applies" the alleged "practice" that is subject to its various arguments. Vietnam cites several paragraphs from Commerce's antidumping manual; however, the manual itself clearly states that it "is for the internal training and guidance of Import

Administration (IA) personnel only, and the practices set out herein are <u>subject to change without</u> <u>notice. This manual cannot be cited to establish DOC practice</u>". In sum, given Vietnam has failed to establish existence of an alleged "practice" as a measure, Vietnam cannot establish a *prima facie* case for an "as such" inconsistency with the AD Agreement given that it has not brought forward evidence that what it describes as "practice" is a measure.

B. Treating Related Companies in the Covered Reviews as a Single Exporter or Producer for the Purpose of Determining a Dumping Margin is Consistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement

- 18. Article 6.10 provides that an investigating authority "shall, as a rule, determine an individual margin of dumping for each known exporter or producer of the product under investigation". Context in the AD Agreement indicates that whether producers are related to each other affects the investigating authority's analysis of those firms. Depending then on the facts of a given situation, an investigating authority may determine that legally distinct companies should be treated as a single "exporter" or "producer" based on their activities and relationships. As noted by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners*, this includes consideration of actual commercial activities and relationships of companies rather than merely their nominal status as legally distinct companies. Therefore, contrary to Vietnam's argument, Article 6.10 does not preclude Commerce from treating multiple companies as a single entity, including, where appropriate, a Vietnam-government entity.
- 19. Under Article 9.2, if an investigating authority concludes that the relationship between multiple companies is sufficiently close to support treating them as a single entity, an investigating authority may apply a single duty rate to all of those companies' exports. Nothing in Article 9.2 prohibits such treatment, nor does Article 9.2 set out criteria for an investigating authority to examine before concluding that a particular firm or group of firms constitutes a single entity. Therefore, contrary to Vietnam's argument, Article 9.2 does not preclude Commerce from treating multiple companies as a single entity, including, where appropriate, a Vietnam-government entity.

C. Vietnam's Protocol of Accession Supports Treating Multiple Companies in the Covered Reviews as Part of a Single Vietnam-Government Entity for the Purpose of Determining Dumping Margins

- 20. Vietnam's Accession Protocol reflects the rights and obligations of Vietnam upon accession to the WTO. During the accession process, Vietnam described its ongoing shift away from central planning. Members' concerns about the extent to which this shift had occurred are reflected in the Working Party Report. These concerns demonstrate that not all Members were convinced that market-economy conditions prevailed in Vietnam. The Protocol thus, by design, does not impose on Members any market or non-market characterization of Vietnam's economy, factual or otherwise, as a general rule. It simply permits a Member, as a starting point for further discussion, to find for purposes of its own antidumping proceedings that either market economy conditions prevail or non-market economy conditions prevail in the industry in question.
- 21. Specifically, Paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report provides that importing Members need not calculate normal value on the basis of Vietnamese prices or costs for an industry subject to an antidumping investigation. Paragraph 255(d) further provides, in part, that "the non-market economy provisions" of paragraph 255(a) no longer apply to a specific industry or sector in situations where Vietnam "establish[ed], pursuant to the national law of the importing WTO Member, that market economy conditions prevail in a particular industry or sector". Therefore, where Vietnam has not established under the national law of the importing Member that it is a market economy, or the Vietnamese producers under investigation have failed to "clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing the like product with regard to the manufacture, production and sale of that product," an importing Member can calculate normal value based on a NME methodology.
- 22. The Accession Protocol thus expressly provides support for Commerce's decision to calculate the normal value for the shrimp destined for consumption in Vietnam based on a NME methodology and its continued use of this methodology. In this regard, it is notable that Vietnam does not challenge before the Panel Commerce's decision to calculate the normal value for the shrimp destined for consumption in Vietnam based on a NME methodology, nor does Vietnam challenge the NME methodology that Commerce selected for its calculation of this normal value.

23. In permitting Members to determine normal value in Vietnam pursuant to a methodology not based on prices or costs in Vietnam, the Protocol also provides a basis for treating multiple companies in Vietnam as part of a Vietnam-government entity. In NME countries, the underlying supply and demand decisions, and the attendant resource allocations, are made or fundamentally distorted by the government. They are not made by independent economic actors. In such a situation, the government effectively controls resource allocations. But when the government controls resource allocations, it effectively controls resource allocators, i.e., firms. Thus the understanding in the Accession Protocol that Vietnam is not yet a market economy is, in effect, an understanding that prices for inputs and outputs are affected by the government which, in turn, is in effect an understanding that there remains government control over all firms. In the face of such an understanding, it would make no sense to automatically assign individual dumping margins to Vietnamese exporters. On the contrary, a single "government-controlled" rate is warranted, unless and until it is clearly demonstrated that market economy conditions prevail for margin calculation and antidumping duty rate assignment purposes.

D. *EC - Fasteners* Does Not Preclude Investigating Authorities from Finding that Multiple Companies in Vietnam Constitute a Single Vietnam-Government Entity for the Purpose of Determining Dumping Margins

- 24. In *EC Fasteners*, the Appellate Body recognized that Article 6.10 does not preclude the possibility that nominally or legally-independent entities may be treated as a single exporter or producer when that determination is based on evidence submitted in that investigation. According to the Appellate Body, "[w]hether determining a single dumping margin and a single anti-dumping duty for a number of exporters is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 will depend on the existence of a number of situations, which would signal that, albeit legally distinct, two or more exporters are in such a relationship that they should be treated as a single entity". Further, "the criteria used for determining whether a single entity exists from a corporate perspective, while certainly relevant, will not necessarily capture all situations where the State controls or materially influences several exporters such that they could be considered as a single entity for purposes of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* and be assigned a single dumping margin and anti-dumping duty". An investigating authority thus is permitted to determine whether a given entity constitutes an "exporter" or "producer" as a condition precedent to calculating an individual dumping margin for that entity.
- 25. In *EC Fasteners*, the Appellate Body determined that the EU's presumption that exporters in a NME are related to the Chinese Government was inconsistent with Article 6.10 because it contradicted the "rule" of Article 6.10 requiring investigating authorities to determine an individual dumping margin for "each known exporter or producer". The Appellate Body thus assumed that underlying Article 6.10 is a presumption that every entity must first be recognized as an individual exporter or producer. This presumption was based on an improper interpretation because the Appellate Body created obligations that are not grounded in the text of these articles.
- 26. However, even under the Appellate Body's flawed interpretive approach, Commerce's determination was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement. Unlike EC Fasteners, there is no dispute that Vietnam is a non-market economy. Thus, to the extent EC Fasteners relied on a finding that China was not necessarily a non-market economy, or that such status is irrelevant, Vietnam's status as a non-market economy in this case is relevant to an inquiry of the level of government involvement in Vietnam's economy.
- 27. Second, unlike *EC Fasteners*, Commerce's determination that a Vietnam-government entity existed and that certain exporters, while legally separate, were in fact part of that entity, rested on adequate factual findings in the course of the relevant reviews. *EC Fasteners* did not preclude an investigating authority from collecting and offering enough evidence to justify a presumption that a single government entity exists and, in the challenged reviews, Commerce has done so. In the reviews Vietnam challenges, Commerce afforded companies the opportunity to submit information about their relationship with the Vietnam-government entity to demonstrate independence from the government. The evidence that Commerce asks an entity to provide is fully consistent with those factors that the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners* suggests should be probed to ascertain situations "which would signal that, albeit legally distinct, two or more exporters are in such a relationship that they should be treated as a single entity".

28. In sum, Commerce's conclusion that multiple companies in Vietnam are part of the Vietnam-government entity is based on a permissible (indeed, eminently reasonable) interpretation of Articles 6.10 and 9.2.

E. Vietnam's Claims that Commerce Applied an Adverse Facts Available Rate in the Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Administrative Reviews Inconsistent with Article 6.8 of the AD Agreement Should be Rejected

29. Vietnam's analysis is based on faulty facts because in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews the Vietnam-government entity was assigned the only rate assigned to it since the initial investigation, which is the only rate it has ever received under this order. In each review, any party that is part of the Vietnam-government entity could have requested that Commerce review the Vietnam-government entity, but none did. As there was no such request, the exporters subject to the Vietnam-government entity rate in effect expressed that the duties were appropriate, and the duties were finally determined and collected in the amounts that had been deposited. Commerce's final duty assessments for the respective review periods for exports by companies that are part of the Vietnam-government entity was not based on facts available but rather based on the decision by the exporters not to seek a review of their duties owed, consistent with the AD Agreement. Therefore, when examination has been properly limited to fewer than all exporters, it is not inconsistent with the AD Agreement to apply a rate to unexamined exporters that is the only rate ever determined for those exporters.

F. The Vietnam-Government Entity's Rate in the Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Administrative Reviews is Not Inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement

- 30. Commerce did not assign a "country-wide" rate to the Vietnam-government entity. As explained below, the Vietnam-government entity had been individually examined in this antidumping duty proceeding and received its own rate. This rate was assigned to the companies that had not claimed or established that they are free from government control, particularly in their export activities, and thus are properly considered to be parts of the single government entity that Commerce identified as an "exporter" or "producer" consistent with Article 6.10.
- 31. Article 9.4 otherwise does not impose an obligation on Members to replace an existing WTO-consistent rate of a government-entity exporter or producer, which had failed to cooperate in this proceeding with a different rate that is based on an average rate of independent exporters or producers that fully cooperated, nor does it impose an obligation to calculate a single antidumping duty. Therefore, Article 9.4 does not require that an investigating authority assign an average rate of cooperating exporters, which are not controlled by the Government of Vietnam, to the Vietnam-government entity, which had been investigated, failed to cooperate, and received its own rate consistent with Article 6.8 of the AD Agreement.

V. Vietnam's Claim That the United States Maintains a Zeroing Measure That May Be Challenged "As Such" Under the AD Agreement is Without Merit

- 32. Vietnam claims that the United States maintains a measure that involves the use of the so-called "zeroing" methodology, and that this measure is "as such" inconsistent with the AD Agreement. This claim is without merit. The United States maintains no statute, regulation, or other measure that requires the use of a so-called "zeroing" methodology. To the contrary, the United States has modified its calculation methodology and grants offsets for non-dumped comparisons (i.e., does calculations without the 'zeroing' methodology) in various types of proceedings. Therefore, Vietnam has not demonstrated as a matter of fact that the United States maintains a measure of general and prospective application that requires the use of zeroing. As a result, Vietnam's claim that an alleged U.S. zeroing measure is "as such" inconsistent with the AD Agreement is in error and necessarily fails.
- VI. Vietnam's Claim that The Application of the Zeroing Methodology to Imports of Shrimp From Vietnam in the Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Administrative Reviews Is, "As Applied", Inconsistent with the AD Agreement Is Incorrect
- 33. The text and context of the relevant provisions of the AD Agreement, as properly interpreted in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law, support the interpretation of the United States that the concepts of dumping and margins of

dumping have meaning in relation to individual transactions and, therefore, there is no obligation to aggregate multiple comparison results in assessment proceedings to arrive at an aggregated margin of dumping for the product as a whole. The exclusive textual basis for an obligation to account for such non-dumping in calculating margins of dumping is found in Article 2.4.2 of the AD Agreement that "the existence of margins of dumping during the investigation phase shall normally be established on the basis of a comparison of a <u>weighted average normal value with a weighted average of prices of all comparable export transactions</u>...". This particular text of Article 2.4.2 does not impose any obligations outside the limited context of determining whether dumping exists in the investigation when using the average-to-average comparison methodology. Vietnam's argument, which seeks to extend an obligation to provide offsets beyond the specific context of investigations, finds no support in the text of the AD Agreement and must be rejected.

- 34. Article 2.1 of the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994 also do not require the provision of offsets in assessment proceedings. The product is always "introduced into the commerce of another country" through individual transactions, and thus "dumping," as defined in Article 2.1, is transaction-specific. The express terms of the GATT 1994 provide that the margin of dumping is the amount by which normal value "exceeds" export price, or alternatively the amount by which export price "falls short" of normal value. Consequently, there is no textual support in Article VI of the GATT 1994 or the AD Agreement for the concept of "product as a whole" and "negative dumping".
- 35. Vietnam also has not demonstrated any inconsistency with Article 9.3 of the AD Agreement nor Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. The United States notes that the terms upon which Vietnam's interpretation rests are conspicuously absent from the text of these provisions. Moreover, Vietnam's interpretation is not mandated by the definition of dumping contained in Article 2.1 of the AD Agreement. As the panel in US Zeroing (EC) correctly concluded, there is "no textual support in Article 9.3 for the view that the AD Agreement requires an exporter-oriented assessment of antidumping duties, whereby, if an average normal value is calculated for a particular review period, the amount of anti-dumping duty payable on a particular transaction is determined by whether the overall average of the export prices of all sales made by an exporter during that period is below the average normal value". Accordingly, an interpretation that permits the existence of transaction-specific margins of dumping is supported by Article 9.3.
- 36. Finally, Vietnam's argument that the United States acted inconsistently with Article VI:2 rests entirely upon its erroneous interpretation of the term "margin of dumping". In examining the text of Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, the panel in *US Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5)* saw "no reason why a Member may not ... establish the 'margin of dumping' on the basis of the total amount by which transaction specific export prices are <u>less</u> than the transaction-specific normal values". Although the panel examined dumping margin calculations in an investigation, its basic reasoning and textual interpretation of Article VI:2 are equally applicable to margins of dumping established on a transaction-specific basis in assessment proceedings.

VII. Commerce's Sunset Determination is Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 37. Article 11.3 requires that five years after an antidumping duty is imposed, the duty must be terminated unless the authorities determine following a timely review that termination "would be likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping and injury" ("likelihood determination"). Article 11.3 does not specify the exact methodologies or modes of analysis needed to satisfy the likelihood determination. Accordingly, aside from the obligations contained in Article 11.3, the AD Agreement leaves the conduct of sunset reviews to the discretion of the Member concerned.
- 38. Commerce permissibly concluded in the Sunset Determination, based on the evidence before it, that revocation of the antidumping duty order would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping. In its likelihood determination, Commerce relied on positive antidumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the four completed reviews. Commerce also noted: (1) the Vietnamese exporters' recognition as to the continuing existence of some dumping; (2) the appropriate application of adverse facts available to uncooperative mandatory respondents; and (3) the decline in shrimp import volumes following the original investigation.
- 39. Meanwhile, Vietnam has failed to establish sufficient evidence in support of its allegations that Commerce's consideration of positive margins of dumping assigned to respondents was

inappropriate. In WTO dispute settlement, the burden of proving that a measure is inconsistent with a covered agreement rests on the complaining party. First, the table that Vietnam presents is a misleading overview of the dumping rates considered by Commerce. This table is incomplete and inaccurate. Second, with respect to the first review, Vietnam acknowledges that two mandatory respondents failed to cooperate with Commerce and were assigned a margin of dumping based on adverse facts available. The rate applied to these companies alone provides sufficient support for Commerce's conclusion that dumping continued during the sunset review period, and along with the declining import volumes discussed below, sufficient evidence to support Commerce's likelihood determination. Finally, Vietnam failed to demonstrate that the decline in import volumes was solely the result of factors other than the discipline of the antidumping duty order.

- 40. None of Vietnam's arguments overcome, much less address, Vietnam's repeated acknowledgement of the fact that some level of dumping has persisted throughout the order's duration and that the volume of imports did, in fact, decline. Therefore, irrespective of Commerce's consideration of dumping margins that Vietnam alleges are WTO-inconsistent, these facts provide an ample evidentiary basis to support Commerce's conclusion that revocation of the antidumping duty order would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping.
- 41. Finally, the Appellate Body reports cited by Vietnam do not require a finding that Commerce's Sunset Determination is WTO-inconsistent. Vietnam relies on the Appellate Body reports in *US Zeroing (Japan)* and *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review* to argue that "reliance in an Article 11.3 review on margins of dumping determined using a methodology inconsistent with Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement results in that Article 11.3 review also being inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement". The evidence here demonstrates that Commerce's Sunset Determination is consistent with Article 11.3 since it is justified on the basis of factors other than WTO-inconsistent factors. Where the investigating authority has relied not only on that margin of dumping but other, sufficient evidentiary bases, such that the likelihood determination can stand on its own, after any factors based on a WTO-inconsistent methodology have been removed, the likelihood finding will be considered consistent with Article 11.3. Accordingly, even if the Panel were to find that certain dumping margins considered by Commerce were WTO inconsistent, the Panel can still consider and find that the Sunset Determination is not inconsistent with Article 11.3 based on the WTO consistent factors examined by Commerce.

VIII. Conclusion

42. The United States respectfully requests that the Panel reject Vietnam's claims that the United States has acted inconsistently with the covered agreements.

ANNEX C-2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE STATEMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES AT THE FIRST PANEL MEETING

1. Vietnam is asking the Panel to impose on the United States obligations found nowhere in the Agreement on Implementation of *Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("AD Agreement") or the *General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("GATT 1994") and asking the Panel to do so without foundation in facts.

A. Vietnam's Claim Regarding Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Rounds Agreement Act Lacks Merit

- 2. Vietnam's assertion that Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Rounds Agreement Act ("URAA") is inconsistent with the AD Agreement is plagued by a number of fundamental flaws, any one of which is fatal to Vietnam's claim, and provides a sufficient basis for this Panel to reject Vietnam's argument.
- 3. First, Vietnam asserts that Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA prevents the United States from properly implementing the recommendations and rulings by the DSB. However, Vietnam's panel request did not assert that Section 129(c)(1) was inconsistent with any provisions of the DSU rather, it was based solely on the claim that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with the AD Agreement.
- 4. Second, Vietnam's argument is based on a number of flawed premises that have no basis in the AD Agreement, the GATT 1994, or U.S. law. In particular, Vietnam's argument incorrectly assumes that Section 129 is the sole mechanism by which the United States can bring itself into compliance with the DSB recommendations and rulings.
- 5. Lastly, Vietnam asserts that this Panel should disregard the panel report in *US Section 129(c)(1)* as a result of subsequent events, most notably the decision by the U.S. Court of International Trade ("CIT") in *Corus Staal, BV v. United States ("Corus Staal")*. In particular, Vietnam misreads the effect of the CIT's decision in *Corus Staal*.

B. The Treatment of Multiple Companies in Vietnam as a Single Vietnam-Government Exporter/Producer was not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

1. Vietnam's "As Such" Claim is Without Merit

- 6. Vietnam contends that it is challenging Commerce's "NME-wide entity rate practices as set forth in [Commerce's] Anti-Dumping Manual ...". In the context of an unwritten measure that allegedly governs the administrative application of another measure (such as AD regulations or an AD statute), the Appellate Body has identified several criteria for evaluating whether a measure exists that can be challenged "as such," including whether the rule or norm has general and prospective applicability. Vietnam failed to put forth sufficient evidence in its first written submission and during this hearing showing that this alleged practice exists as a measure and is invariably applied by Commerce.
- 7. Commerce's AD Manual specifically sets forth that it "is for the internal training and guidance of ... personnel only, and the practices set out herein are subject to change without notice. This manual cannot be cited to establish [Commerce] practice." Commerce thus has explicitly circumscribed the relevance of its AD Manual and has alerted both petitioners and respondents that the Manual cannot serve as a basis to argue that Commerce has adopted an approach that must be followed for any particular, future proceeding. For these reasons, the Manual cannot be considered as having general or prospective application.
- 8. The United States also notes that Commerce was under no obligation to develop the Manual, that Commerce does not need the Manual to have sufficient legal foundation under domestic law for its actions, and that Commerce was not required under the U.S. Administrative

Procedure Act to publish the Manual in the *Federal Register*. In other words, use of the Manual, or the Policy Bulletin that Vietnam mentioned for the first time in its opening statement, are not required under domestic law or under the WTO Agreement. Vietnam thus is attacking the United States for taking a non-required step to promote transparency. Accordingly, an "as such" finding against the Manual accomplishes nothing except to discourage transparency.

9. Finally, Vietnam has not pointed to a principle of U.S. law that in any way supports the conclusion that the Manual or Policy Bulletin "requires" Commerce to do anything at all, or that following the same logic as that expressed in this non-binding document somehow makes the document binding. Indeed, Vietnam readily acknowledges that Commerce "retains broad discretion on the method for calculating the NME-wide entity rate ...".

2. Vietnam's "As Applied" Claim Also is Without Merit

- 10. Vietnam has also failed to establish that Commerce's decisions in the covered reviews regarding the assignment of an individual margin of dumping and an individual antidumping duty to the Vietnam-government entity were inconsistent with the obligations of the United States under the AD Agreement. As noted by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners*, Articles 6.10 and 9.2 definitely permit an investigating authority to treat multiple companies as a single entity where they are related operationally or legally.
- 11. Thus here, where unlike *EC Fasteners* Commerce has made a factual finding that non-market economy conditions in the export country a finding which, by the way, Vietnam does not challenge it was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement for Commerce to consider multiple companies as a single entity in light of the fact that paragraph 255 of Vietnam's Accession Protocol stipulates that the AD Agreement shall be applied in a manner consistent with the rules set forth in that paragraph. Contrary then to Vietnam's and China's statements, Commerce's methodology is not discriminatory because it flows from the Accession Protocol.
- 12. Commerce's treatment of the Vietnam-government entity was also fully consistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement. No party that is part of the Vietnam-government entity requested that Commerce review the entries of that entity during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews. As such, the exporters subject to the Vietnam-government entity rate effectively expressed that the rate in effect that Commerce had calculated for this entity was preferable to the possible rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review.
- 13. Thus Vietnam's claim that Commerce's decision to assigned this last rate to the Vietnam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the AD Agreement. This was the "rate in effect" at the time, not a "new" rate that was based on facts available. And contrary to Vietnam's claim, Commerce's decision to continue applying the rate in effect to the Vietnam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement. The rate in effect applies to the group of companies whose export activities were determined to be materially influenced by the Government of Vietnam.

C. The U.S. Application of its Zeroing Methodology "As Such" and "As Applied" Was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement and GATT 1994

- 14. Vietnam's "as such" claim with respect to the so-called "zeroing" methodology is without merit. The United States changed this practice in 2007 with respect to investigations and in 2012 with respect to administrative reviews. Thus by the time Vietnam requested the establishment of this Panel, there was no "zeroing" measure as found in previous WTO reports and nothing that required the use of that methodology.
- 15. To the contrary, as pointed out in paragraph 208 of the U.S. First Written Submission, Commerce has issued numerous determinations in which it has offset dumping margins on dumped sales by the amount equal to the amount by which normal value is less than export price on non-dumped sales.
- 16. In fact, Commerce granted offsets for non-dumped transactions in the most recent administrative review of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam. Vietnam's claim that an alleged U.S. zeroing measure is "as such" inconsistent with the AD Agreement thus is without any factual basis.

17. As to Vietnam's "as applied" claim, the United States continues to have serious concerns about past Appellate Body "zeroing" reports and continues to believe that they are incorrect. That said, the United States will not repeat today the detailed points regarding "zeroing" included in our First Written Submission, but will simply note that the rights and obligations of Members flow, not from panel or Appellate Body reports, but from the text of the covered agreements.

D. Commerce's Sunset Review Determination Was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 18. The Appellate Body has confirmed that "Article 11.3 does not prescribe any particular methodology to be used by investigating authorities in making a likelihood determination in a sunset review". No other provisions of the AD Agreement set forth rules regarding the methodologies or analysis to be employed by investigating authorities in making a determination in a sunset review of whether dumping and injury is likely to continue or recur. Accordingly, Vietnam's efforts to read into Article 11.3 substantive methodological obligations of Vietnam's own choosing must be rejected.
- 19. There is no question that Commerce, in arriving at its Sunset Determination, conducted a thorough review of the history of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam, from the original investigation through the last review relevant to that determination (the fourth review). There is also no question that Commerce, in arriving at its Sunset Determination, relied on positive antidumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the completed reviews. And there is no question that Commerce, in arriving at its Sunset Determination, relied on declining volumes of imports after the initiation of the original investigation that failed to return to pre-investigation levels in any of the individual years.
- 20. Thus the existence of dumping margins determined based on failures to cooperate and a significant decline in import volumes were expressly relied upon by Commerce to support its conclusion that dumping was likely to continue or recur. In light of these facts, and Commerce's analysis in this case, the Appellate Body decisions cited by Vietnam concerning reliance on WTO-inconsistent dumping margins simply do not compel the result Vietnam seeks here. The Panel may, and should, find this sunset determination to be WTO-consistent.

E. The AD Agreement Does Not Obligate the United States to Provide Company-Specific Revocation After Three Years of No Dumping

- 21. There is nothing in the AD Agreement that obligates the United States to provide for company-specific revocation, or to provide for such company-specific revocation based on the absence of dumping for three years.
- 22. Nothing in Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement imposes an obligation to review and revoke a duty on a company-specific basis. This is demonstrated, for example, by the use of the "duty" in both Articles 11.2 and 11.3. The term "duty" is most logically interpreted as having the same meaning in Articles 11.2 and 11.3, especially given the fact that these two Articles provide the mechanisms to ensure that, per Article 11.1, an antidumping duty remains in place only as long as necessary to counteract injurious dumping.
- 23. As the Appellate Body found in *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, "the duty" referenced in Article 11.3 is imposed on a product-specific or, in U.S. terminology, an "order-wide" basis, not a company-specific basis. The Appellate Body thus rejected Japan's argument that Article 11.3 imposed obligations on a company-specific basis. Vietnam has provided no reason, and cannot provide such a reason, as to why this Panel should find that "the duty" has a different meaning in Article 11.3 as opposed to Article 11.2. This was the finding of the Appellate Body in *US Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review* and it is persuasive based on the references to injury in Article 11.2 as well as the contrast between "the duty" and references to "individual duties" elsewhere in the AD Agreement.
- 24. Here, Vietnamese respondents did not make a request for order-wide revocation. Accordingly, the United States did not breach its obligations under Article 11.2.

ANNEX C-3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. Throughout this dispute, Viet Nam's arguments have consistently failed to meaningfully address the specific rights and obligations provided in the covered agreements and ignored relevant facts. The United States will not repeat all of its arguments related to these matters in this submission, but rather will focus on the flaws in arguments Viet Nam made in its oral statements at the first substantive Panel meeting and in its answers to the Panel's questions following that meeting.
- 2. First, Viet Nam's claim with respect to company-specific revocation based on the absence of dumping for three years fails because, as a threshold matter, there is no requirement for company-specific revocation in Article 11.2. Reference to "the duty" in Article 11 is an order-wide reference. This was the finding of the Appellate Body in *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review* and it is persuasive based on the references to injury in Article 11.2 as well as the contrast between "the duty" and references to "individual duties" elsewhere in the *Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("AD Agreement").
- 3. Next, Viet Nam's claim with respect to section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreement Act ("URAA") also fails. When Members wanted to place implementation obligations in WTO agreements, they clearly did so, as with Article 4.7 of the *Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures* ("SCM Agreement"). No such obligations are contained in the AD Agreement, which is the covered agreement relied on by Viet Nam to make its claim. In addition, Viet Nam's central premise that section 129(c)(1) is the exclusive mechanism by which the United States can implement DSB recommendations and rulings is simply false. That is what the panel found in $US Section \ 129(c)(1)$ and, simply put, nothing has changed, and the Panel here should make the same finding.
- 4. Viet Nam has also failed to demonstrate any of its claims with respect to Commerce's approach to the Viet Nam-government entity rate. First, Viet Nam still has failed to put forth sufficient evidence showing that this alleged practice exists as a measure and is invariably applied by Commerce. Second, Viet Nam has failed to demonstrate that Commerce's decision to treat related companies in the covered reviews as a single exporter or producer for the purpose of determining a dumping margin is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement. Finally, Commerce's treatment of the Viet Nam-government entity was fully consistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement. No party that is part of the Viet Nam-government entity requested that Commerce review the entries of that entity during the covered reviews. Thus the companies subject to the Viet Nam-government entity rate essentially expressed that the rate in effect was preferable to the rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review.
- 5. Viet Nam's "as such" claim with respect to Commerce's application of the so-called "zeroing" methodology is without merit because no such measure exists; the United States has already changed its approach for calculating dumping margins. Commerce has issued numerous determinations, including in the most recent administrative review of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Viet Nam, in which it has offset dumping margins on dumped sales by the amount equal to the amount by which normal value is less than export price on non-dumped sales. Commerce changed its approach to calculating dumping margins pursuant to section 123(g) of the URAA after extensive consultations with appropriate congressional committees, relevant private sector advisory committees, and public comment. Thus Viet Nam's assertion that Commerce can easily re-impose an alleged U.S. zeroing measure is without merit.
- 6. Finally, on the issue of the Sunset Determination, Commerce had a sufficient evidentiary basis to conclude that revocation of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Viet Nam would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping. The determination relied on multiple factors,

including dumping margins that Viet Nam does not dispute were calculated in a "WTO-consistent" way and declining import volumes. Thus the mere fact that this Panel may consider other dumping margins examined by Commerce as "WTO-inconsistent" does not undermine Commerce's likelihood-of-dumping determination. That determination continues to stand on its own, substantiated by evidence and fully consistent with Article 11.3 of the AD Agreement.

II. ARGUMENT

- A. The United States Did Not Act Inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement by Not Granting Company-Specific Revocation Based on the Absence of Company-Specific Dumping for Three Years
- 7. Viet Nam argues that the ordinary meaning of Article 11.2 as well as context provided by other provisions of the AD Agreement support its interpretation that Article 11.2, in contrast to Article 11.3, mandates company-specific revocation. For the reasons set forth in the U.S. First Written Submission, Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement does not obligate Members to consider, much less provide, company-specific revocation of an antidumping duty order. But even aside from the fact that Article 11.2 does not provide for company-specific revocation, Article 11.2 does not contain a requirement that a Member revoke an order based on the absence of company-specific dumping for three years.
 - Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement Does Not Contain Obligations Visà-vis Company-Specific Revocation
- 8. The ordinary meaning of Article 11.2, as well as context provided by other provisions of the AD Agreement, makes clear that company-specific revocation is not an obligation. First, Article 11.2 requires a review of the continuing need for "the duty." As the Appellate Body found in US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, "the duty" referenced in Article 11.3 is imposed on a product-specific (i.e., in U.S. terminology, "order-wide") basis, not a company-specific basis. The term "duty" is most logically interpreted as having the same meaning in Articles 11.2 and 11.3, especially given the fact that these two Articles provide the mechanisms to ensure that, per Article 11.1, an antidumping duty remains in place only as long as necessary to counteract injurious dumping.
 - 2. Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement Does Not Require Revocation Based on the Absence of Dumping for Three Years
- 9. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that company-specific revocation is an obligation under Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement, there is nothing in Article 11.2 that obligates a Member to adopt a standard that revocation must occur based on the absence of dumping for three years. This was the panel's observation in *US Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods* when it found that the standard of revocation based on three years of no dumping "operates in favour of foreign producers and exporters." As such, it goes "beyond what is required by Article 11.2" and, therefore, cannot serve as a basis for a breach of Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement by the United States.
 - 3. The United States Did Not Act Inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement in Limiting the Number of Exporters for Individual Examination, Including Requests for Revocation
- 10. Even if Article 11.2 could be read to provide for company-specific revocations, Article 11.2 cannot be read as requiring administering authorities to initiate separate reviews of any company that makes a request for revocation. Viet Nam's argument in this regard is based on the premise that the AD Agreement has an ambiguity in, and apparent conflict between, the limited examination provisions of Article 6.10 and the review contemplated under Article 11.2. However, Viet Nam has no basis for the premise of its argument. A proper reading of the terms of these provisions, in light of their plain meaning, and in context and in light of the object and purpose of the AD Agreement, demonstrates that Members may limit the examination of requests made under Article 11.2. And indeed, it is Viet Nam's proposed interpretation that would create a conflict between Articles 6.10 and 11.2.

B. Viet Nam Has Failed to Establish that Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA is Inconsistent, As Such, with the AD Agreement

11. As set forth in both the U.S. First Written Submission and the panel's report in $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)$, section 129(c)(1) of the URAA does not mandate or preclude any particular treatment of "prior unliquidated" entries nor does it have "the effect" thereof. Indeed, "only determinations made and implemented under section 129 are within the scope of section 129(c)(1)" and "section 129(c)(1)" only addresses the application of section 129 determinations. It does not require or preclude any particular actions with respect to {other entries} in a separate segment of the same proceeding." These DSB rulings remain as true today as they were when the panel examined the U.S. system for implementing DSB recommendations and rulings in $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)$. Section 129 remains the same and has not been amended. Viet Nam's arguments do not provide any reason for the Panel to make different findings from those previously adopted by the DSB.

1. The AD Agreement Does Not Address Implementation of DSB Recommendations and Rulings

12. As an initial matter, and as discussed in the U.S. First Written Submission, the DSU is the only WTO agreement that addresses Members' obligations in regards to implementation in the antidumping context. Viet Nam has not pursued any claims *vis-à-vis* section 129(c)(1) of the URAA under the DSU. For this reason alone, Viet Nam's claim as to section 129(c)(1) should be rejected.

2. The United States Implements DSB Recommendations and Rulings Through a Number of Mechanisms

- 13. At various points in its answers to Panel questions, Viet Nam asserts that while the United States may have a number of mechanisms besides section 129 to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, those mechanisms are "irrelevant" because implementation through other means is not "automatic." Viet Nam thus asks the Panel to ignore the existence of other avenues, both administrative and legislative, by which the United States can implement DSB recommendations and rulings to treat "prior unliquidated entries" in a WTO consistent manner.
- 14. These arguments should be rejected. Section 123 and congressional action are two mechanisms within a larger domestic scheme by which the United States maintains the discretion to bring itself into compliance with DSB recommendations and rulings. Viet Nam's attempts to have the Panel analyze section 129(c)(1) in a vacuum that is isolated from the other parts of this domestic scheme should be rejected.

3. Viet Nam Misconstrues the Statement of Administrative Action (SAA)

- 15. In an attempt to discredit the fact that the United States has used other administrative mechanisms (such as section 123) to accord WTO-consistent treatment to "prior unliquidated entries", Viet Nam asserts that such administrative mechanisms could only be used in "size of margin" cases but could not be used in "revocation" cases. In support of this argument, Viet Nam notes that the SAA states that section 129 determinations may not be necessary where the DSB recommendations and rulings "merely implicate[] the size of a dumping margin or countervailable subsidy rate [("size of margin")] (as opposed to whether a determination is affirmative or negative [("revocation")])."
- 16. The fact that the SAA distinguishes "size of margin" and "revocation" situations does not mean that prior unliquidated entries cannot be accorded WTO-consistent treatment pursuant to other mechanisms. The passage of the SAA relied upon by Viet Nam establishes only that the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings under section 129(c)(1) does not affect duties assessed on "prior unliquidated entries". To suggest that this passage, which pertains explicitly to section 129, dictates the application of other U.S. measures or the scope of potential congressional action is a conclusion unsupported by the text.

- C. The Treatment of Multiple Companies in Viet Nam as a Single Viet Nam-Government Exporter/Producer Was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
 - Viet Nam Still Has Failed to Demonstrate the Existence of a Measure that May be Challenged "As Such" as Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- 17. Viet Nam in its first written submission contended that it is challenging Commerce's "NME-wide entity rate practice as set forth in the USDOC's Anti-Dumping Manual, which confirms the practice is applied on a generalized and prospective basis." As discussed in the U.S. First Written Submission and elsewhere, Viet Nam has not demonstrated the existence of a measure based on an alleged "practice" that may be challenged "as such" under the AD Agreement.
 - 2. Commerce's Approach with Respect to the Government of Viet Nam's Control over Multiple Companies is based on the Undisputed NME Conditions in Viet Nam and is Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement
- 18. Viet Nam states that it contests in this dispute "whether the covered agreements provide a legal not a factual basis for the presumption of government control that is central to the NME-wide entity policy." As an initial matter, the United States notes that the question presented is a mixed question of fact and law; namely, whether the U.S. approach for deciding what sets of exports from an NME are considered to be from one exporter or from separate exporters. The matter at issue at least as Viet Nam has presented it does not involve a pure question of legal interpretation of any particular provision of the AD Agreement. Indeed, Viet Nam cannot point to any provision of the AD Agreement that specifies exactly how an authority is to decide whether different sets of exports are considered to be from one exporter or multiple exporters. Rather, the question is whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that the approach used by the United States to determine which exports from an NME are matched to particular exporters is inconsistent with the WTO Agreement.
 - a. Viet Nam's Working Party Report Provides the Basis for Commerce's Presumption that Viet Nam Controls Companies Involved in Exportation and Production of the Subject Merchandise until Demonstrated Otherwise
- 19. The Working Party Report reflects that Viet Nam, in the course of its accession process, presented a range of reforms to the Working Party about prices, the banking sector, the role of state-owned enterprises (SOEs) and commercial activity and trade generally, all of which were aimed at establishing a multi-sector economy. At the same time, Viet Nam also stated that its economy was still in the process of shifting from central planning to a market-based economy. Despite this statement, which itself indicates that Viet Nam considered its reforms incomplete, the description of Viet Nam's economy in the Working Party Report did not indicate a shift toward a true market-based economy. Rather, the description of Viet Nam's economy in the Working Party Report indicated that Viet Nam planned to develop a "socialist-oriented market economy" in which the state preserves a predominant role for SOEs.
- 20. In sum, the concerns expressed in the Working Party Report regarding the nature of Viet Nam's economy and the provisions on antidumping clearly indicate that Members were not convinced that market economy conditions prevailed in Viet Nam. Members thus insisted on, and received from Viet Nam, discretion in determining under their own national laws when market economy conditions prevailed in Viet Nam, with implications that necessarily extended beyond the calculation of normal value. The Working Party Report memorializes the concerns with the Viet Nam government's influence and provides the basis for Commerce's presumption that the government may control companies in various industries until otherwise demonstrated.

- b. Given the Working Party Report Provides a Basis for doing so, Commerce's Presumption that Companies in Viet Nam are Part of a Viet Nam-Government Entity Pending Contrary Evidence was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- 21. Paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report states that "an importing WTO Member shall use Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation in determining price comparability" where the producers "can clearly show that market economy conditions prevail." But where the producers do not make this showing, "[t]he importing WTO Member [in determining price comparability] may use a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam if the producers under investigation cannot clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing the like product with regard to manufacture, production and sale of that product".
- 22. Therefore, contrary to Viet Nam's argument, the introductory phrase to paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report "[i]n determining the price comparability under Article VI of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement" and the associated language that permits importing Members to use a methodology for price comparability "not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam" together provide a legal basis for Members to treat Viet Nam differently in antidumping proceedings with respect to the determination of a NME-government entity margin. Commerce's determination in the covered reviews that a Viet Nam-government entity existed and that certain companies, while legally separate, were in fact part of this entity for purposes of ensuring appropriate price comparability between the normal value and the export price thus were not inconsistent with the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994.
 - c. Commerce's Determination to Treat Related Companies in the Covered Reviews as a Single Exporter or Producer for the Purpose of Determining a Dumping Margin is Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement
- 23. As demonstrated in Section II.C.2.a., Commerce's presumption that all companies in the antidumping proceedings involving shrimp from Viet Nam are part of the Viet Nam-government entity until a company provides evidence to the contrary regarding its export activities is based on the Working Party Report (and Commerce's 2002 determination) that NME conditions prevail in Viet Nam. As further demonstrated in Section II.C.2.b., Commerce's presumption and eventual determination in the covered reviews that a Viet Nam-government entity existed because certain companies, while legally separate, were in fact part of the Viet Nam-government entity, was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994.
- 24. Finally, Viet Nam indicated in a written response to a question from the Panel that it "does not contest here the general question of whether, under the covered agreements, the State and exporters can be considered a single entity." Therefore, given Viet Nam's position plus the fact that Commerce's approach results in a reading of the AD Agreement that is consistent with paragraph 255, Commerce's conclusion in the covered reviews that multiple companies in Viet Nam were part of the Viet Nam-government entity and subsequent decision to assign that entity an individual margin of dumping and an individual antidumping duty were not inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement.
 - 3. The Rate Applied to the Viet Nam-Government Entity is Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement
- 25. Commerce's treatment of the Viet Nam-government entity was fully consistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement. No party that is part of the Viet Nam-government entity requested that Commerce review the entries of that entity during the covered reviews. The companies subject to the Viet Nam-government entity rate thus essentially expressed that the rate in effect that Commerce had calculated for this entity was preferable to the rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review. Thus Commerce's decision to assign this last rate to the Viet Nam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 because this last rate was neither a "new" rate based on facts available nor an "all others" rate, but the "rate in effect" at the time.

- a. Viet Nam's Argument that the Investigating Authority May Not Apply Facts Available if the Government of Viet Nam Refuses to Cooperate Is Unfounded
- 26. Although Commerce did not assign the Viet Nam-government entity a rate based on facts available in the covered reviews, Viet Nam nonetheless argues that facts available cannot be applied to this entity because the government of the exporting country plays a different role in antidumping cases than it does in countervailing duty cases. According to Viet Nam, in antidumping cases, it "cannot foresee a situation in which an authority could apply facts available in case of a failure to cooperate by a government".
- 27. Viet Nam's argument lacks any support in the text of the AD Agreement. The issue is not how AD proceedings compare to countervailing duty proceedings, or what Viet Nam can or cannot "foresee". Rather, the issue is what the AD Agreement provides. And in the circumstances of this case, Commerce's application of facts available following the government of Viet Nam's failure to cooperate is supported by the plain text of the AD Agreement. According to Article 6.8, preliminary and final determinations may be made on the basis of the facts available whenever "any interested party refuses access to, or otherwise does not provide, necessary information within a reasonable period or significantly impedes the investigation" (emphasis added). Article 6.11 explicitly defines "interested parties" as including, *inter alia*, "the government of the exporting Member." Articles 6.8 and 6.11 thus expressly contemplate that an antidumping determination may be based on facts available whenever the government of an exporting Member does not cooperate during an investigation.
 - b. Commerce's Application of the Rate in Effect during the Covered Reviews is Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- Although prior panel reports are not binding on panels considering other disputes, Viet Nam further argues that the Panel should look to the US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) (DS404) panel report for quidance as it considers whether the rate that Commerce's assigned to the Viet Namgovernment entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement. This panel report treated the rate applied to the Viet Nam-government entity in the third administrative review as a "facts available" rate. As explained in the U.S. First Written Submission, however, it would be incorrect to apply the DS404 panel finding to the covered reviews because Commerce did not apply facts available (substantively or otherwise) to the Viet Nam-government entity in those reviews. Again, the rate applied to the Viet Nam-government entity in the covered reviews is not, and cannot be, a facts available rate because it is not based on the interested party's refusal to give access to, or otherwise provide, necessary information during the covered reviews. Instead, it was based on the fact that the Viet Nam-government entity, and those Vietnamese parties who would be subject to the Viet Nam-government entity's rate, did not seek a different rate but accepted the existing rate of the Viet Nam-government entity. Accordingly, Commerce applied the existing rate of the Viet Nam-government entity during the covered reviews and was under no obligation to change the existing rate for final assessment purposes.
 - D. Viet Nam's Claim That the United States Maintains a Zeroing Measure That May Be Challenged "As Such" Under the AD Agreement is Without Merit
- 29. Commerce's so-called "zeroing" methodology does not exist today as a measure of general and prospective application. Commerce changed its approach for calculating dumping margins for investigations (effective early 2007) and for administrative reviews (effective early 2012) in response to the DSB's recommendations and rulings on this matter. The measure subject to the recommendations and rulings in prior disputes thus no longer exists.
- 30. In addition, it is wrong to conclude that Commerce can simply re-impose the so-called "zeroing" methodology that it changed in response to the DSB's recommendations and rulings just because it "is not explicitly required or prohibited by [U.S.] law". Commerce changed its approach for calculating dumping margins in both investigations and administrative reviews in accordance with U.S. law and, in particular, under the procedures outlined in section 123(g) of the URAA. Commerce's changes in methodology were made after extensive consultations with appropriate congressional committees, relevant private sector advisory committees, and public comment regarding its modifications. Viet Nam has not provided a single example of the agency practice,

which was found to be WTO inconsistent and changed pursuant to section 123(g), being subsequently "easily re-imposed."

E. Commerce's Sunset Review Determination is Not Inconsistent with Articles 11.3 of the AD Agreement

- 31. The AD Agreement does not prescribe specific methodologies that authorities must follow in determining whether to terminate definitive antidumping duties under Article 11.3. No other provisions of the AD Agreement set forth rules regarding the methodologies or analysis to be employed in making the determination of whether dumping and injury is likely to continue or recur. Accordingly, attempts to read into Article 11.3 substantive obligations allegedly contained in other provisions of the AD Agreement have been soundly rejected. Aside from the obligations contained in Article 11.3, the AD Agreement leaves the conduct of sunset reviews to the discretion of the Member concerned.
 - Notwithstanding its Statements to the Contrary, Viet Nam Continues to Acknowledge that Commerce Relied on WTO-Consistent Margins of Dumping in the Sunset Review
- 32. In its Sunset Determination, Commerce conducted a thorough review of the history of the antidumping duty proceeding from the original investigation through the fourth review. In its likelihood determination, Commerce relied on positive antidumping duty margins applied to numerous companies during the four completed reviews. Nonetheless, Viet Nam in its arguments elects to mischaracterize the margins relied on by Commerce in making its likelihood determination.

2. Viet Nam Misunderstands the Relevance of Declining Volumes as Part of Commerce's Analysis

- 33. Viet Nam in its arguments also elects to misread the U.S. position as arguing that Commerce either relied exclusively on WTO-inconsistent margins or exclusively on declining import volumes. Our first written submission and responses to Panel questions demonstrate that declining volumes were a part of the evidence relied on by Commerce and not the exclusive basis for finding likelihood. Specifically, in addition to evidence of continued dumping, Commerce also reviewed public U.S. import data as reported by the ITC Trade Database for 2003-2009 and found that import volumes fell from 56.3 million kilograms in the year preceding the investigation (2003) to 42.1, 35.9, 37.9, 46.7, 40.1 million kilograms in 2005-2009, respectively. As explained, this decline in import volumes suggests that the exporters were unable to sustain pre-investigation import levels without dumping. The Appellate Body has confirmed that the "volume of dumped imports' and 'dumping margins', before and after the issuance of anti-dumping duty orders, are highly important factors for any determination of likelihood" and that they have "certain probative value". Thus "[t]he importance of the two underlying factors (import volumes and dumping margins) for a likelihood-of-dumping determination cannot be questioned".
- 34. Finally, Viet Nam is incorrect in describing the change in import volumes as a "moderate" reduction. In fact, the average volume for years following the review was approximately 40.54 million kilograms a decline of about 28 percent compared to the 56.3 million kilograms imported in the year preceding the investigation.

3. Viet Nam's Remaining Arguments are Immaterial Because they Do Not Address the Facts at Issue in this Case

- 35. Viet Nam's answers to the Panel's questions further highlight that Viet Nam has no legitimate basis for questioning the outcome of the sunset review. Rather than responding to the Panel's questions regarding what evidence was submitted to Commerce, Viet Nam asserts that further argument regarding dumping margins and import volume would have been futile, and that arguments to Commerce during the sunset review regarding WTO-consistency is not required in order for Viet Nam to challenge the sunset determination.
- 36. To the extent Viet Nam's arguments are to be considered, they fail to rebut Commerce's likelihood determination. Viet Nam's arguments ignore indisputable evidence of dumping and fail to provide any viable reason why Commerce should not have taken into account declining import

volumes. In fact, a reduction in volume caused by application of an antidumping duty (pursuant to a permissible retrospective system) supports a conclusion that exporters were unable to maintain pre-order volumes without dumping. Viet Nam's arguments about the uncertainty resulting from the imposition of trade remedy measures do not explain the relevance of the observed decline in import volumes as part of Commerce's reasonable conclusion that dumping was likely to continue absent the discipline of the order. For these reasons, Viet Nam's remaining arguments are immaterial to the matter in dispute because they do not address the facts at issue before the Panel.

III. CONCLUSION

37. The United States respectfully requests that the Panel reject Viet Nam's claims that the United States has acted inconsistently with the covered agreements.

ANNEX C-4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE ORAL STATEMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES AT THE SECOND PANEL MEETING

1. The United States would like to thank once again the Panel, and the Secretariat assisting the Panel, for your on-going service in this dispute.

A. Vietnam Has Failed to Establish that Section 129(c)(1) is Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 2. Regarding section 129(c)(1) of the URAA, Vietnam has rewritten its legal theory on two occasions, submitting a total of three distinct approaches that purportedly demonstrate that section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent "as such" with various articles of the AD Agreement.
- 3. Vietnam's first theory was that section 129(c)(1) "serves as an absolute legal bar" to the WTO-consistent liquidation of "prior unliquidated entries" *i.e.*, subject merchandise that entered the United States prior to the date that the United States Trade Representative ("USTR") directs the U.S. Department of Commerce ("Commerce") to implement a section 129 determination.
- 4. The United States rebutted this theory in its first written submission by showing that section 129(c)(1) does not preclude WTO-consistent liquidation of prior unliquidated entries and that through other mechanisms, including section 123 of the URAA and legislative action by Congress, the United States can implement DSB recommendations and rulings as to prior unliquidated entries.
- 5. In its opening statement at the first Panel meeting, Vietnam admitted that section 129(c)(1) does not amount to an "absolute legal bar". Nevertheless, Vietnam avers that the liquidation of prior unliquidated entries by the United States is merely "WTO-consistent action by coincidence". Putting aside Vietnam's characterization of these facts, these so-called "coincidences" are fatal to Vietnam's assertion that section 129(c)(1) is an "absolute legal bar" and, consequently, its "as such" claim.
- 6. Then, in its answers to the Panel's questions, Vietnam abandoned its initial theory and tried a second one. Vietnam claimed that "section 129 of the URAA is the immediate point of inquiry under U.S. law" and that, consequently, the United States is obligated to implement all DSB recommendations and rulings exclusively through section 129. That argument fails for the reason, subsequently acknowledged in Vietnam's second written submission, that "there is no requirement under the WTO for Members to have in place a pre-existing administrative mechanism for implementation".
- 7. Having twice proposed unpersuasive theories, Vietnam changed course yet again in its second written submission. Under its latest version, Vietnam contends that, while the United States is under no obligation to have a pre-existing mechanism like section 129 to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, because the United States enacted the statute, it must cover all possible permutations of implementation that involve prior administrative determinations by Commerce. This new argument fares no better.
- 8. First, Vietnam's latest argument is built upon the faulty premise that, because the United States enacted section 129, this provision must cover all possible implementation permutations vis-à-vis prior administrative determinations by Commerce. Neither the AD Agreement (which Vietnam cites) nor the DSU (which it does not) contains any such obligation.
- 9. Second, Vietnam continues to misunderstand U.S. law in relation to the implementation of WTO rulings. Under U.S. law, the U.S. Executive Branch is not required to use section 129 of the URAA to implement DSB recommendations and rulings.
- 10. Indeed, Vietnam itself agrees that the United States need not have a pre-existing administrative mechanism for the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings.

Accordingly, the fact that the United States has the discretion simply not to use the pre-existing administrative mechanism that Vietnam alleges is WTO-inconsistent means that Vietnam's "as such" claim fails.

B. The Treatment of Multiple Companies in Vietnam as a Single Vietnam-Government Exporter/Producer Is Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 11. Commerce's decision to treat multiple companies in Vietnam as a single Vietnam-government exporter and producer is not inconsistent with the AD Agreement.
- 12. The Working Party Report that accompanies Vietnam's Accession Protocol and Commerce's 2002 inquiry of Vietnam's market economy status provide a basis for Commerce's presumption that Vietnam controls companies involved in the exportation and production of subject merchandise until demonstrated otherwise.
- 13. The hallmark of all market economies, of course, is a price system that allocates resources on the basis of the individual and collective supply and demand decisions of independent economic actors as reflected in prices that mirror true resource availability. Market economy conditions thus give rise to market-based prices for inputs and outputs.
- 14. In a contrasting non-market-based price system, however, these underlying supply and demand decisions, and the attendant resource allocations, are made or fundamentally distorted by the government. In non-market economies, the government effectively controls resource allocations, and when the government controls resource allocations, it necessarily has the ability to control resource allocators, *i.e.*, firms.
- 15. The points that we have made so far about government control over resource allocation and allocators in non-market economies have not been challenged by Vietnam in this matter, nor have the Commerce findings that emanate from these points. A firm basis thus existed for Commerce to have considered that Vietnam exercised restraint or direction over entities located in Vietnam generally, including with respect to the price or costs of the same or similar products destined for export to the United States.
- 16. Vietnam nonetheless continues to argue that the burden rests on the United States to demonstrate "whether the covered agreements provide a <u>legal</u> not a factual basis for the presumption of government control that is central to the NME-wide entity policy."
- 17. Vietnam's contention is incorrect. In any antidumping proceeding, the administering authority must make a factual determination with respect to which entities are included within the meaning of an "exporter" for the purposes of determining "an individual margin" under Article 6.10. The United States has used a particular approach for making this factual determination.
- 18. In a WTO dispute settlement, the burden of proving that a measure is inconsistent with a covered agreement is on the complaining party. Thus the question before this Panel is whether Vietnam has met its burden and demonstrated that the approach used by the United States is inconsistent with the WTO Agreement. Vietnam has failed to point to any provision of the AD Agreement that required Commerce to have automatically assigned individual dumping margins to Vietnamese companies operating under the government's control. Vietnam thus has failed to meet its burden.
- 19. That said, even though it was not necessary for the United States to do so, we have further demonstrated in our second written submission that it was not inconsistent with paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report, as well as Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement, for Commerce to have presumed in this matter, consistent with past findings, that all companies were part of a Vietnam-government entity until a company demonstrated otherwise with respect to its export activities.
- 20. Paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report states that "an importing WTO Member shall use Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation in determining price comparability", but only where producers in Vietnam "can clearly show that market economy

conditions prevail". Where these producers do not make this showing, "[t]he importing WTO Member [in determining price comparability] may use a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam ...".

- 21. "Price comparability" is a central tenet of every dumping analysis. It concerns and shapes all aspects of the dumping analysis under the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994, both with respect to the methodology used to derive normal value as well as the methodology used to derive export price and constructed export price.
- 22. The methodology that Commerce uses for determining price comparability with respect to "domestic prices or costs in Vietnam" routinely determines normal value using "factors of production". These factors are based on actual inputs consumed by a foreign entity to manufacture the exact product or model types sold to the United States. If a foreign entity manufactures these product or model types at more than one facility, it must report the factor use and output for each product or model type at each facility. Thus if Commerce cannot determine the actual inputs consumed by a foreign entity in the manufacture of a relevant product or model types, it cannot calculate normal value for purposes of price comparability.
- 23. Commerce, in its effort to ensure appropriate price comparability between normal value and export price, thus reasonably: (1) presumed for purposes of the antidumping proceedings involving shrimp from Vietnam that companies within Vietnam should initially be considered part of a Vietnam-government entity; and (2) required as a result that the Vietnam-government entity report all inputs consumed by those companies with respect to the manufacture of each product or model type sold to the U.S. market.
- 24. It was legally permissible under paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report for Commerce to presume that Vietnam is legally or operationally in a position to exercise restraint or direction over all companies located in Vietnam for purposes of the calculation of normal value. It thus also was legally permissible and indeed the most logical next step for purposes of price comparability for Commerce to presume that the same companies should, pending contrary evidence, be considered part of the Vietnam-government entity for purposes of the calculation of export price.
- 25. Paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report states that the Agreements, including the AD Agreement, "shall apply in proceedings involving exports from Vietnam into a WTO Member consistent with the following" subparagraphs (a) through (d). The plain language of paragraph 255 stipulates then that the AD Agreement, and thus Articles 6.10 and 9.2, must be read in a manner "consistent with" paragraph 255 and the exceptions provided therein when NME conditions prevail.
- 26. Therefore, contrary to Vietnam's argument, Vietnam's Accession Protocol and Working Party Report provide a basis factual and legal for Members to treat Vietnam differently in antidumping proceedings with respect to the determination of a NME-government entity margin. Commerce's determination in the covered reviews that a Vietnam-government entity existed and that certain companies, while legally separate, were in fact part of this entity for purposes of ensuring appropriate price comparability between the normal value and the export price, and the continued application to the entity of the rate in effect, thus were not inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement.
 - 2. The Rate Commerce Applied to the Vietnam-Government Entity Was Also Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement
- 27. Commerce's decision to assign the last available rate to the Vietnam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement.
- 28. No party that is part of the Vietnam-government entity requested that Commerce change the rate in effect for the entity during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews. The companies subject to the Vietnam-government entity rate, by not doing so, thus expressed the view that the last available rate that Commerce had calculated for this entity, the "rate in effect" at the time, was adequate (indeed perhaps preferable) to the rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review.

¹ Working Party Report, para. 255 (a)(i) (Exhibit US-23).

- 29. It is incorrect then to describe this rate as a "facts available" rate, as the panel report in DS404 mistakenly did, because it is not based on the interested party's refusal to give access to, or otherwise provide, necessary information during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews.
- 30. It is also incorrect to describe this rate as an "all others" rate because it is not based on an average rate of independent exporters or producers that fully cooperated during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews.
- 31. Rather, the "rate in effect" is simply the rate for a particular exporter that Commerce calculated in a previous time period consistent with the obligations of the AD Agreement based on information from that previous time period that no interested party has asked to be changed for the present review period.
- 32. The Ad note to GATT Article VI confirms that "a contracting party may require reasonable security (bond or cash deposit) for the payment of anti-dumping ... duty pending final determination of the facts in any case of suspect dumping ...". The AD Agreement otherwise does not require Members to change the rate on which this security is based and assess a duty at a different rate absent a request by an interested party to do so. Therefore, because neither the Vietnam-government entity nor any constituent parts of the entity requested a change to the existing rate of the Vietnam-government entity, Commerce's decision to apply that rate in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews was not inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement.

C. Vietnam's Claim That the United States Maintains a Zeroing Measure That May in Turn Be Challenged Under the AD Agreement is Without Merit

33. As discussed during the first Panel meeting and in our written submissions, Commerce's so-called "zeroing" methodology does not exist and therefore also cannot be "as such" inconsistent. The United States thus cannot breach a covered agreement "as such" given that Commerce changed its approach for calculating dumping margins for investigations and for administrative reviews in response to the DSB's recommendations and rulings on this matter.

D. Commerce's Sunset Review Determination is Not Inconsistent with Articles 11.3 of the AD Agreement

- 34. As the Panel considers Commerce's sunset determination, it is useful to recall that the determination as challenged by Vietnam relates only to the question of whether dumping, as opposed to material injury, is likely to continue or recur if the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam is revoked.
- 35. Thus as long as there is sufficient support for Commerce's determination that dumping is likely to continue or recur if the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam is revoked, there is no basis for Vietnam's claim that Commerce's sunset determination was inconsistent with obligations under the AD Agreement.
- 36. And as shown in our written submissions, there is sufficient support for Commerce's sunset determination.
- 37. Accordingly, even if the Panel were to find that certain dumping margins considered by Commerce were WTO inconsistent, the Panel can still consider and find that the sunset determination is not inconsistent with Article 11.3 based on the remaining WTO consistent factors examined by Commerce.

E. Company-Specific Revocation is Not an Obligation Under the AD Agreement

- 38. Regarding Vietnam's arguments under the AD Agreement, the United States agrees with Vietnam's acknowledgement that, to prevail on its claim, the Panel must find that Article 11.2 obligates Members to revoke an antidumping duty order on a company-specific basis.
- 39. However, Article 11.2 contains no such obligation. As discussed by the United States in its second written submission and elsewhere, Vietnam's assertion that Article 11.2 imposes an obligation to revoke antidumping duty orders on a company-specific basis is without any

foundation in the plain meaning of Article 11.2. As the Appellate Body found in *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, with respect to the same relevant language in Article 11.3, "the duty" is imposed on a product-specific basis, not a company-specific basis.

- 40. In addition to the fact that Article 11.2 does not provide for company-specific revocation, Vietnam's claim fails because Commerce's practice of revocation based in part on three years of no dumping "operates in favour of foreign producers and exporters" and, therefore, cannot serve as a basis for a breach of Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement by the United States.
- 41. In sum, the fact that the United States considered certain company-specific revocation requests went beyond what was required of it under the AD Agreement rather than being somehow contrary to it. Similarly, the fact that the United States would grant revocation based in part on the absence of dumping for three years also went beyond what was required.

ANNEX C-5

UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF REPORTS

Short Form	Full Citation
Australia – Apples (AB)	Appellate Body Report, Australia – Measures Affecting the Importation of Apples from New Zealand, WT/DS367/AB/R, adopted 17 December 2010
Brazil – Aircraft (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft,</i> WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999
China – Raw Materials (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>China – Measures Related to the Exportation of Various Raw Materials</i> , WT/DS394/AB/R, WT/DS395/AB/R, WTDS398/AB/R, adopted 22 February 2012
Dominican Republic – Cigarettes (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Dominican Republic – Measures Affecting the Importation and Internal Sale of Cigarettes</i> , WT/DS302/AB/R, adopted 19 May 2005
EC – Bananas III (AB)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities – Regime for the Importation, Sale and Distribution of Bananas, WT/DS27/AB/R, adopted 25 September 1997
EC – Hormones (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>EC Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products</i> (Hormones), WT/DS26/AB/R, WT/DS48/AB/R, adopted 13 February 1998
EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities and Certain Member States – Measures Affecting Trade in Large Civil Aircraft, WT/DS316/AB/R, adopted 1 June 2011
Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Beef and Rice, Complaint with Respect to Rice,</i> WT/DS295/AB/R, adopted 20 December 2005
Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US) (AB)	Appellate Body Report, Mexico – Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS) from the United States, Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the United States, WT/DS132/AB/RW, adopted 21 November 2001
Mexico –Taxes on Soft Drinks (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico - Tax Measures on Soft Drinks and Other Beverages</i> , WT/DS308/AB/R, adopted 24 March 2006
US – Carbon Steel (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Countervailing Duties on Certain Corrosion-Resistant Carbon Steel Flat Products from Germany</i> , WT/DS213/AB/R and Corr.1, adopted 19 December 2002
US – Certain EC Products (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Import Measures on Certain Products from the European Community</i> , WT/DS165/AB/R, adopted 10 January 2001
US – Customs Bond Directive (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Customs Bond Directive for Merchandise Subject to Anti-Dumping/Countervailing Duties</i> , WT/DS345/AB/R, adopted 1 August 2008
US – Export Restraints	Panel Report, <i>United States – Measures Treating Export Restraints as Subsidies</i> , WT/DS194/R, adopted 23 August 2001
US – Section 129(c)(1)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Section 129(c)(1)</i> of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, WT/DS221/R, adopted 30 August 2002

Introduction Ι.

- Viet Nam's request for the establishment of a panel ("panel request") raises a number of concerns, some of which the United States addresses in this request for preliminary rulings.² First, the panel request improperly includes measures that were not the subject of Viet Nam's consultation request ("consultations request"). Second, the panel request improperly includes a claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. Finally, the panel request's claim regarding the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("SAA") fails to satisfy the requirements of Article 6.2 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU") because it does not identify a "measure."
- It is appropriate for a panel to address issues concerning the terms of reference of the panel at the outset of a dispute.³ Therefore, as explained below, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find, before Viet Nam submits its first written submission, that certain measures and claims referenced in Viet Nam's panel request are not properly within the Panel's terms of reference, in particular: (1) certain measures that were not included in its request for consultations; (2) Viet Nam's claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties; and (3) Viet Nam's claim as to the SAA.

Viet Nam's Panel Request Improperly Included Certain Measures that Were Not 11. the Subject of Consultations.

Consultations play an important role in helping to resolve a dispute. Because of this, Members agreed in the DSU that a measure must be the subject of consultations prior to requesting a panel to review that measure.⁴ Article 4.7 of the DSU provides that a complaining party may request establishment of a panel only if "the consultations fail to settle a dispute." Article 4.4 of the DSU further provides that a request for consultations must state the reasons for the request, "including identification of the measure at issue and an indication of the legal basis for the complaint." As the Appellate Body stated in *Brazil – Aircraft*:

Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU ... set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel.⁵

- A panel request may neither expand the scope nor change the essence of a consultations request. "[A]s a general matter, consultations are a prerequisite to panel proceedings". 6 That said, there need not be a "precise and exact identity" of measures between a request for consultations and a panel request "provided that the 'essence' of the challenged measures had not changed" and "[a]s long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute".8 Accordingly, in determining the measures at issue, a panel should "compare the respective parameters of the consultations request and the panel request to determine whether an expansion of the scope or change in the essence of the dispute occurred through the addition of instruments in the panel request that were not identified in the consultations request".
- A comparison of the respective parameters of Viet Nam's consultations request and its panel request shows that Viet Nam's panel request both expanded the scope and changed the essence of its consultations request by including measures that were not the subject of its consultation request.

¹ WT/DS429/2/Rev.1 and WT/DS429/2/Rev.1/Corr.2 ("Panel Request").

² The fact that an aspect of the panel request is not addressed in this request for preliminary rulings does not indicate acceptance that the aspect is properly within the terms of reference of the Panel.

³ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 233.

⁴ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

⁵ Brazil – Aircraft (AB), para. 131.

⁶ Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US) (AB), para. 58; see also US – Certain EC Products (AB), paras. 70, 82 (upholding the panel's finding that a particular action taken by the United States was not part of the panel's terms of reference because the EC, while referring to that action in its panel request, had failed to request consultations upon it).

⁷ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293 (citing Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice (AB), para. 137). 8 *Id.*

⁹ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 294.

- 6. First, Viet Nam's panel request identifies the final results of the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue. These final results were published on September 11, 2012, well after Viet Nam's request for consultations, which is dated February 20, 2012. A determination that is not yet final cannot be a measure under Article 4.4 of the DSU. Therefore, at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations, the sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" within the meaning of Article 4.4 of the DSU. Because the sixth administrative review was not (and could not have been) subject to consultations¹⁰, this measure is not within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 7. Second, Viet Nam's panel request challenges "the use of zeroing," in part, in "original investigations", "new shipper reviews," and "certain [unspecified] change circumstances reviews". None of the named determinations are listed in Viet Nam's consultation request. Specifically, Viet Nam cites to only one original investigation in its consultation request, the original investigation involving certain shrimp from Viet Nam. Nam makes clear that it is challenging that investigation only to the extent it has an effect on subsequent reviews. Net Nam's consultation request does not otherwise include a challenge to "the use of zeroing" broadly in "original investigations." Viet Nam's consultation request also does not challenge the use of zeroing in new shipper reviews or certain changed circumstances reviews. Accordingly, Viet Nam's failure to request consultations on original investigations generally and on new shipper and certain changed circumstances reviews means that these measures are not within from the Panel's terms of reference.
- 8. In sum, Viet Nam's panel request identifies a number of measures that were not included in its consultation request. For this reason, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find that the following measures are not within its terms of reference:
 - the sixth administrative review; and
 - the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews.

III. Viet Nam's Claim Regarding the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties* Does Not Involve a Covered Agreement.

- 9. Viet Nam's panel request includes a claim that the United States acted in a manner inconsistent with Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties* ("VCLT"). ¹⁵ However, a claim under the VCLT is not permissible under the WTO dispute settlement system. The VCLT is not a "covered agreement" as defined in the DSU¹⁶ and so the DSU does not apply to it.
- 10. As explained by the Appellate Body in *Mexico Taxes on Soft Drinks*:

We see no basis in the DSU for panels and the Appellate Body to adjudicate non-WTO disputes. Article 3.2 of the DSU states that the WTO dispute settlement system "serves to preserve the rights and obligations of Members under the *covered agreements*, and to clarify the existing provisions of *those agreements*". (emphasis added) Accepting Mexico's interpretation would imply that the WTO dispute settlement system could be used to determine rights and obligations outside the covered agreements. ¹⁷

Accordingly, the claim under the VCLT is outside the terms of reference of the Panel.

¹² See Consultations Request, p. 4-5.

¹⁰ WT/DS429/1, pp.1-2 ("Consultation Request").

¹¹ Panel Request, p. 3.

¹³ *Id.* Indeed, that specific challenge is present in Viet Nam's panel request in a section separate from its identification of "original investigations". *See* Panel Request, p.4.

¹⁴ See Consultations Request, p. 2 (discussing only "five year sunset reviews" and specific administrative reviews).

¹⁵ Panel Request, p. 6.

¹⁶ DSU, Art. 1.1 and Appendix 1. In addition, even aside from the fact that the VCLT is not a covered agreement, the United States could not be in breach of the VCLT since the United States is not a party to the VCLT.

¹⁷ Mexico – Taxes on Soft Drinks (AB), para. 56.

IV. Viet Nam's Panel Request Regarding the SAA Incorrectly Identifies the SAA as a "Measure."

- 11. Viet Nam's panel request concerning the SAA appears to identify the SAA as a "measure", which is incorrect. 18
- 12. As noted above, Article 4.4 of the DSU provides that any request for consultations must include an "identification of the measures at issue". ¹⁹ To identify a measure at issue, there must first be a measure.
- 13. Similarly, Article 6.2 of the DSU provides that the panel request must identify "the specific measures at issue." A Member must satisfy the requirements of Article 6.2 on the face of the panel request at the outset of the proceeding. As such, Article 6.2 "serves a pivotal function in WTO dispute settlement" stating in relevant part that

[t]he request for the establishment of a panel shall be made in writing. It shall indicate whether consultations were held, identify the specific measures at issue and provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly.

Article 6.2 thus "sets out two key requirements that a complainant must satisfy in its panel request" (1) the requirement to Aidentify the specific measure at issue"; and (2) the requirement to "provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly." Together, these two elements comprise the "matter referred to the DSB," which serves as the basis for a panel's terms of reference under Article 7.1 of the DSU. [1] either of them is not properly identified, the matter would not be within the panel's terms of reference". Finally, panels "are inhibited from addressing legal claims falling outside their terms of reference".

- 14. Compliance with the two requirements of Article 6.2 of the DSU requires a case-by-case analysis, considering the request "as a whole, and in light of the attendant circumstances". ²⁷ "[I]t is incumbent upon a panel to examine the request for the establishment of the panel very carefully to ensure its compliance with both the letter and the spirit of Article 6.2 of the DSU". ²⁸ Such an examination "must be objectively determined on the basis of the panel request as it existed at the time of filing" and be "demonstrated on the face" of the panel request. ²⁹ Any deficiencies in the panel request cannot be "cured" in subsequent submissions ³⁰, and a deficient claim must be excluded from a panel's terms of reference. ³¹
- 15. Viet Nam's panel request fails to comply with the requirements of Articles 4.4 and 6.2 of the DSU because it incorrectly identifies the SAA as a measure susceptible to dispute resolution. As the Panel stated in US Export Restraints, the SAA does not have "an operational life or status independent of the statute such that it could, on its own, give rise to a violation of WTO rules.

¹⁸ Panel Request, pp. 11-12.

¹⁹ Article 4.2 of the DSU further provides that consultations must concern "measures affecting the operation of any covered agreements."

²⁰ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 230; see Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416 (the requirements of

²⁰ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 230; see Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416 (the requirements of Article 6.2 of the DSU are "not a mere formality").

²¹ Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416.

²² Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416; see also China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 219; EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB), para 786; US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 125.

²³ Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416; see also China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 219; EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB), para 786; US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 125.

²⁴ Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416.

²⁶ EC – Hormones (AB), para. 156. "[A] defective panel request may impair a panel's ability to perform its adjudicative function within the strict timeframes contemplated in the DSU and, thus, may have implications for the prompt settlement of a dispute in accordance with Article 3.3 of the DSU". China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 220.

²⁷ US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 127.

²⁸ EC – Bananas III (AB), para. 142.

²⁹ US - Carbon Steel (AB), para. 127.

³⁰ Id

³¹ China – Raw Materials (AB), para 171; Dominican Republic – Cigarettes (AB), para. 120.

Independent of the statute, the SAA does not *do* anything; rather, it interprets (i.e., informs the meaning of) the statute". ³² The SAA thus does not constitute a measure susceptible to dispute resolution because it does not have any legal effect independent of a U.S. statute or regulation.

16. In sum, Viet Nam's panel request concerning the SAA appears to identify the SAA incorrectly as a "measure". As a consequence, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel determine that Viet Nam's SAA claim is not within the Panel's terms of reference.

V. It is Appropriate to Clarify the Panel's Terms of Reference before the Parties Submit Their First Written Submissions.

- 17. The United States respectfully requests the Panel to make the findings requested before Viet Nam files its first written submission. Knowledge of the terms of reference, of course, is fundamental to the task of the Panel and to the parties' participation in this proceeding. Findings on this request for preliminary rulings will necessarily bring clarity to those terms of reference. It is thus important to resolve this request for preliminary rulings as a threshold issue.
- 18. Further, there is no need to delay a finding in order to obtain further information regarding the issues that are the subject of this request. As a general matter "compliance with the due process objective of Article 6.2 cannot be inferred from a respondent's response to arguments and claims found in a complaining party's first written submission" or can they be "cured" in subsequent submissions. A Rather, "[i]n every dispute, the panel's terms of reference must be objectively determined on the basis of the panel request as it existed at the time of filing".
- 19. Finally, findings by the Panel in response to this request would serve Viet Nam's interests. Early resolution of these procedural issues would give Viet Nam clarity on the options available to it and permit Viet Nam to act according to its interests, knowing the legal consequences of its choice.

VI. Conclusion

- 20. For the reasons set forth in this request for preliminary rulings, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find that the following measures and claims are outside the terms of reference of the Panel:
 - the sixth administrative review;
 - the practice of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews;
 - the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties; and
 - the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act (i.e., the SAA).
- 21. To save the time and resources of the Panel, the Secretariat, and the parties, and to avoid further prejudice to the United States, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel make findings on this request as a preliminary matter before Viet Nam files its first written submission.

³² *US – Export Restraints*, para. 8.99; *see also US – Section 129(c)(1)*, para. 6.38, n. 89

³³ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 233.

³⁴ US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 127.

³⁵ EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB), para. 642.

ANNEX C-6

UNITED STATES' REPLY TO VIET NAM'S RESPONSE TO THE UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF REPORTS

Short Form	Full Citation
China – Raw Materials (Panel)	Panel Report, China – Measures Relating to the Exportation of Various Raw Materials, WT/DS394/R WT/DS394/R, WT/DS398/R and Corr. 1, adopted 22 February 2012, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, WT/DS394/AB/R
Indonesia – Autos	Panel Report, <i>Indonesia – Certain Measures Affecting the Automobile Industry</i> , WT/DS54/R, WT/DS55/R, WT/DS59/R, WT/DS64/R and Corr. 1 and 2, adopted 23 July 1998, and Corr. 3 and 4
US – Upland Cotton (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005
US – Upland Cotton (Panel)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/R, adopted 21 March 2005, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, WT/DS267/AB/R

Ι. Introduction

- The request for preliminary rulings filed by the United States requested, in part, that the Panel find the following measures and claims as outside the terms of reference of the Panel:
 - the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews; 1
 - a claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("VCLT");² and
 - the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("SAA").3

Viet Nam's response to the first matter stipulates that it "does not challenge the use of zeroing, as applied, to 'original investigations,' 'new shipper reviews,' and 'certain changed circumstances reviews'."4 Viet Nam's response to the second matter stipulates that it "does not assert any claims pursuant to the VCLT". 5 Finally, Viet Nam's response to the third matter stipulates that it "does not claim that the SAA is within the Panel's terms of reference".6 Therefore, given Viet Nam's responses to these three matters, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find the above measures and claims as outside the terms of reference of the Panel.

11. The Final Results of the Sixth Administrative Review are Outside the Panel's Terms of Reference.

- The United States also requested that the Panel find that the final results of the sixth administrative review are not within the Panel's terms of reference. The United States demonstrated that, at the time of the consultations request, the results of the sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" within the meaning of Article 4.4 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU") because these results were published after Viet Nam's request for consultations. Because the sixth administrative review was not (and could not have been) subject to consultations, this measure cannot be within the Panel's terms of reference.7
- Viet Nam responded to this request by arguing that the Panel should find the final results of the sixth administrative review within its terms of reference because its consultations request mentioned "'any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warm-water shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-522-802)"8 and "the continued use of practices described [] above in subsequent reviews'."9 According to Viet Nam, these statements placed the United States "on notice that the sixth administrative review was a measure at issue ... through Viet Nam's identification [in its consultations request] of 'ongoing' administrative reviews". 10
- The United States disagrees. Viet Nam's statement about ongoing administrative reviews does not constitute the identification of a "measure" subject to WTO dispute settlement because the statement appears to address an indeterminate number of potential future measures. Article 3.3 of the DSU provides that:

[t]he prompt settlement of situations in which a Member considers that any benefits accruing to it directly or indirectly under the covered agreements are being impaired by measures taken by another Member is essential to the effective functioning of the

¹ Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States ("U.S. PRR"), paras. 3-8 (July 31, 2013).

² US PRR, paras. 9-10. ³ US PRR, paras. 11-16.

⁴ Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States ("VN Response to U.S. PRR"), para. 12 (Aug. 5, 2013); see id., para. 3. ⁵ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 12; see id., para. 4.

⁶ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 12; see id., para. 5.

⁷ U.S. PRR, para. 6.

⁸ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 9 (footnote omitted).

⁹ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 10 (footnote omitted).

 $^{^{\}rm 10}$ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 11.

WTO and the maintenance of a proper balance between the rights and obligations of Members. ¹¹

Measures not yet in existence at the time of the request for consultations cannot be considered as impairing benefits accruing to a Member directly or indirectly under the covered agreements. Not only would it be impossible to consult on such a measure, but it would also be impossible for the non-existent measure to be "affecting" the operation of a covered agreement as further required by Article 4.2 of the DSU. As the Appellate Body has recognized, "the present tense of the phrase 'affecting the operation of any covered agreement' denotes that the effects of such measures must relate to the present impact of those measures on the operation of a covered agreement". A supposed future measure that does not yet exist, and may never exist, is not only not a "measure" at that point in time (and may never be one), it also cannot be a measure having a present impact on the operation of a covered agreement. Therefore, indeterminate future measures that do not exist at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations (and may arguably never exist) cannot be within the Panel's term of reference under the DSU. 13

- 5. For this reason as well, Viet Nam errs in claiming that it had identified the sixth administrative review at the time of its consultations request when it referred to "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warm-water shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802)". Article 4.4 of the DSU requires Members to identify "the measures at issue". If a measure does not exist, it cannot be "identified" for purposes of Article 4.4. And it is critical for a responding party to know in this regard the particular measures at issue, especially since the facts for each measure could be very different as well as the legal response to the claims made. Just because a complaining party makes the same claims with respect to some other measures does not mean that the responding party's response to those claims will be the same for a different measure.
- 6. These fundamental flaws as they relate to Viet Nam's panel request cannot be cured by simply describing a potential future measure as being of the "same essence" as the measures that did exist and were identified. Article 4.4 of the DSU does not contain any exception where a measure is of the "same essence". Furthermore, Viet Nam is incorrect in asserting that all administrative reviews involving the same products are of the "same essence". The facts, record evidence, determinations and resulting antidumping duty may all differ. These are discrete measures. Furthermore, Viet Nam's approach would add more measures to the dispute, which would "change the essence" of the dispute. The results of the sixth administrative review are separate and discrete from the measures identified in Viet Nam's consultation request this is not a situation where one measure replaces or amends another measure after the panel is established without affecting the essence of the measure on which consultations were held.¹⁴
- 7. Therefore, for the reasons set forth in the request for preliminary rulings and this reply to Viet Nam's response to that request, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find that the following measures and claims are outside the terms of reference of the Panel:
 - the practice of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews;
 - the claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties;
 - the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act; and
 - the sixth administrative review.
- 8. To save the time and resources of the Panel, the Secretariat, and the parties, and to avoid further prejudice to the United States, the United States renews its request that the Panel make findings on this request for preliminary rulings before Viet Nam files its first written submission.

¹¹ Emphasis added.

¹² US – Upland Cotton (AB), para. 261.

¹³ See, e.g., US – Upland Cotton (Panel), para. 7.158 (finding that a measure that had not yet been adopted could not form a part of the Panel's terms of reference); Indonesia – Autos, para. 14.3 (agreeing with the responding party that a measure adopted after the establishment of a panel was not within the panel's terms of reference).

¹⁴ See, e.g., China – Raw Materials (Panel), paras. 7.15-7.16.



ARGUMENTS OF THIRD PARTIES

	Contents	Page
Annex D-1	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of China	D-2
Annex D-2	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of the European Union	D-7
Annex D-3	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Japan	D-12
Annex D-4	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Norway	D-17
Annex D-5	Thailand's Third Party Responses to Questions from the Panel	D-20
Annex D-6	China's Submission on the United States' Request For Preliminary Ruling	D-23
Annex D-7	European Union Comments on the US Request for a Preliminary Ruling	D-26

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF CHINA

I. Introduction

1. The People's Republic of China intervenes in this case because of its systemic interest in the correct interpretation of GATT 1994 and the AD Agreement. China does not address all the issues raised by Vietnam in this dispute, but discusses certain aspects of the following issues.

II. The Use of Zeroing in Periodic Reviews

2. The Appellate Body, in previous disputes, has repeatedly found that the zeroing methodology, including its use in the context of periodic reviews, is, as such and whenever it is applied, inconsistent with GATT 1994 and the AD Agreement. China anticipates the Panel will follow the consistent and well-founded decisions of the Appellate Body.

III. The NME-Wide Rate Practice

A. The "as such" claim

3. China agrees with Vietnam that the USDOC's NME-wide rate practice is a measure that may be challenged "as such". First, China notes that the NME-wide rate practice as such is not only set forth in the USDOC's Anti-dumping Manual, but also set out in the Import Administration Policy Bulletin Number 05.1. Second, the key test for whether a measure could be subject to an "as such" challenge is whether it is "generally applicable" or has "general and prospective application". From the plain texts of the Policy Bulletin, the NME-wide rate practice has general and prospective application and thus can be challenged "as such". Third, this Policy Bulletin is identical in its material effect to that of the Sunset Policy Bulletin, which, as found by the Appellate Body in other disputes, may be subject to WTO dispute settlement as a norm of general and prospective application.

B. The Claim under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement

- 4. China agrees with Vietnam that the NME-wide rate practice is, as such, inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement. As clarified by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners (China)*, Article 6.10 allows for limited exceptions for the general obligation to determine individual margins of dumping, but "such exceptions must be provided for in the covered agreements"; and Article 9.2 requires authorities to determine an individual anti-dumping duty for each exporter, with *only* one exception that it is impracticable to do so. Nothing in the covered agreements allows Members to depart from the obligation to determine individual dumping margins and anti-dumping duties only in respect of imports of NMEs.
- 5. The United States tries to shift the essence of the issue by arguing that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 allow authorities to treat sufficiently related exporters as an individual exporter. However, the real issue is whether Members are allowed to presume that all the exporters in an NME country constitute a single entity. As the Appellate Body found in EC Fasteners (China), there is no legal basis in the covered agreements for such a general presumption, and placing the burden on NME exporters to rebut the presumption is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2.
- 6. The United States argues that this case can be distinguished from *EC Fasteners (China)*. It appears to China that both cases are essentially the same with respect to both the measures at issue and the claims raised. The United States specifically argues that the USDOC's determination that certain exporters constitute a Vietnam-government entity rested on adequate factual findings. However, in the own words of the United States, the USDOC required Vietnamese companies to "demonstrate independence from the government". In other words, the USDOC presumed that companies in Vietnam were subject to government control and placed the burden on Vietnamese companies to rebut this presumption. The USDOC did not establish by itself that distinct Vietnamese companies are sufficiently integrated with each other or with the State.

C. The Claim under Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement

- 7. The text of Article 9.4 makes clear that there is only one requirement for its application, i.e. certain exporters or producers are not included in the examination. And as clarified by the panel in *US Shrimp (Vietnam)*, authorities are not allowed to render application of Article 9.4 conditional on the fulfilment of some additional requirement, such as the separate rate test. Therefore, even if an authority may determine that certain exporters within an NME constitute a single entity, the authority shall still determine the rate for the single entity consistently with Article 9.4, as long as the single entity is not included in the examination.
- 8. The United States and Vietnam disagree on the issue whether Article 9.4 requires a single "all others" rate or permits more than one rate. China first considers that the Panel is not required to decide this issue. The United States does not disagree with Vietnam that the determination of any anti-dumping rate for non-examined exporters shall be governed by Article 9.4, but focuses its rebuttal on a factual issue that "the Vietnam-government entity had been individually examined" and "received its own rate". The Panel thus need first evaluate this factual issue. If it finds that the Vietnam-government entity was not individually examined, the Panel could conclude that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 9.4 by assigning a rate based on facts available to the Vietnam-government entity, without deciding the above issue.
- 9. Secondly, although Article 9.4 does not explicitly require a single "all others" rate, it is questionable whether this provision permits multiple rates. Article 9.2 requires that anti-dumping duties must be collected in "appropriate" amounts and "on a non-discriminatory basis". It appears impracticable for an authority to comply with this requirement by applying different rates to the non-examined exporters which are similarly situated, to the extent that all of them are excluded from the examination and dumping margins are determined for none of them. Furthermore, the Appellate Body has consistently used the term "the 'all others' rate" or "the rate applied to 'all others'", which implies that Article 9.4 requires a single "all others" rate.

D. The Claim under Article 6.8 of the AD Agreement

- 10. Article 6.8 and Annex II set forth the conditions that must be satisfied before an authority may apply facts available. Logically, if the authority has never requested an interested party to supply necessary information, it has no basis to find that this party "refuse access to" or "does not provide" necessary information, and thus has no authority under Article 6.8 to make determinations based on facts available. As the Appellate Body found in US Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 EC), it is impermissible to apply facts available to determine the anti-dumping duty rates for exporters not individually investigated.
- 11. Article 6.8 and Annex II also apply to a single "exporter", including a so called country-wide entity, constituted of several distinct legal entities, and the application must take into account the special characteristics of the single "exporter", i.e., it is a *fictional and artificial* entity and constituted of distinct legal entities. First, the authority must request necessary information from all the distinct entities and inform all of them that the authority may resort to facts available if requested information is not supplied. Second, in assessing whether or not the fictional single "exporter" has cooperated, an authority must take into account the conduct of the single "exporter" as a whole. In case the authority requests information *only* from a mandatory respondent, which is a part of the single "exporter", a lack of cooperation by this mandatory respondent is not sufficient to conclude that the entire single "exporter" fails to cooperate, and nor the authority may determine the failure of cooperation on the ground that other exporters comprising the single "exporter" do not provide information.
- 12. The United States seeks to rebut the "as applied" claims by arguing that the rate for the Vietnam-wide entity in the covered reviews is just the continuation of the rate assigned in the original investigation. Following the finding of the panel in *US Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, China considers that this "formalistic" approach should be rejected. From the legal aspect, there are only three legal bases to determine rates under the AD Agreement: Articles 2, 9.4 and 6.8. Since the rate for the Vietnam-wide entity was not determined under Articles 2 or 9.4, the only other basis would be Article 6.8. As to the factual aspect, the rate ultimately assigned to the Vietnam-wide entity was expressly derived from the rate that had previously been assigned in the original investigation on the basis of facts available. "To fail to treat this rate as a facts available rate would elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances".

E. Vietnam's Protocol of Accession

13. China agrees with Vietnam that the NME-wide rate practice is not allowed under Vietnam's Protocol of Accession. First, with respect to the United States' argument that Vietnam does not challenge, in the present dispute, the USDOC's finding that Vietnam is a non-market economy, China considers that the label of non-market economy is not decisive for the dispute. What really matters is what Vietnam's Protocol does provide and what it does not provide. Second, out of the five paragraphs of Vietnam's Working Party Report relied upon by the United States to justify the NME-wide rate practice, only Paragraph 255 is incorporated into Vietnam's Protocol and therefore only this paragraph has binding force. In accordance with Paragraph 255, the AD Agreement, including Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4 and 6.8, shall apply in anti-dumping proceedings against imports from Vietnam, with the sole exception explicitly set out in the subparagraph (a), which concerns nothing other than the determination of normal value. No other departure is allowed under Vietnam's Protocol.

IV. Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreement Act

- 14. It appears to China that Section 129(c)(1) is WTO-inconsistent as it precludes prior unliquidated entries from the application of Section 129 determinations. First, it is the obligation of WTO Members to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings immediately or by the end of a reasonable period of time at the latest. As the Appellate Body stated in US Zeroing (Japan) ($Article\ 21.5$ Japan), all WTO-inconsistent conduct, including WTO-inconsistent assessment or liquidation of the duties, must cease completely, even if it is related to imports that entered the implementing Member's territory before the end of the reasonable period of time. Second, Section 129 is the applicable provision under the United States law governing the implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings. By precluding the application of Section 129 determinations to prior unliquidated entries, the WTO-inconsistent conduct, i.e. liquidation of the duties, does not cease completely.
- 15. China notes that the United States does not contest that Section 129(c)(1) precludes the application of Section 129 determinations to prior unliquidated entries, but concentrates its rebuttals on a "threshold" issue that Section 129(c)(1) does not preclude actions with respect to prior unliquidated entries under *other* "mechanism". With respect to the "threshold" issue, China first considers that, as a jurisdictional matter, Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA can be challenged "as such", as it is a rule of general and prospective application. When it comes to the assessment of the WTO-consistency, although whether Section 129(c)(1) is a mandatory measure may be relevant, the Appellate Body has cautioned that the "mandatory/discretionary" distinction shall not be applied in a mechanistic fashion and there is possibility that "a Member could violate its WTO obligations by enacting legislation granting discretion to its authorities to act in violation of its obligation".
- 16. China is not convinced by the two other "mechanism" identified by the United States. With respect to the adoption of new legislation by Congress, China submits that the mere possibility that the legislative authority of a Member may pass a new law in light of adverse DSB rulings in the future cannot cure the inconsistency of that Member's existing laws, practice or particular measures with the covered agreements. With respect to actions under Section 123, China notes that Section 123 only applies to the implementation of adverse DSB rulings with respect to "as such" claims against the United States' "regulation or practice". The United States may not rely on any broad policy change under Section 123 as a means of avoiding its mandatory obligation to comply with DSB rulings in individual reviews under Section 129.
- 17. The United States also argues that only provisions under the DSU would be implicated by a violation of the obligation to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings. China considers that there are two levels of obligations under the WTO legal system. First, each Member has the obligation, all the time, to ensure the conformity of its measures with covered agreements. Second, when the DSB recommends that the Member concerned bring its measures into conformity with certain agreements, the Member concerned has the obligation to comply with the recommendations. In other words, the Member concerned bears both obligations simultaneously. By failing to comply with the DSB recommendations, the Member concerned not only violates the obligation under DSU, but also is in continued violation of the obligation under the relevant covered agreements, such as the AD Agreement. And this has been confirmed by the Appellate Body in *US Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5-Japan)*.

V. The Sunset Review Determination

- 18. China recalls that the Appellate Body has stressed, in *US-Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, that "should investigating authorities choose to rely upon dumping margins in making their likelihood determination, the calculation of these margins must conform to the disciplines of Article 2.4." Otherwise, the sunset review determination will be inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the AD Agreement.
- 19. The United States makes an alternative argument, i.e. the USDOC relied not only on dumping margins, but on "multiple factors". China considers that it is possible for an investigating authority to base its likelihood-of-dumping determination on intermediate findings with respect to multiple factors, as Article 11.3 does not prescribe any specific methodology or identify any particular factors that authorities must use or take into account when making a likelihood determination. If an authority so did, the panel must evaluate the significance of the different factors considered by the authority. In the present case, the United States does not disagree that the USDOC did rely upon margins of dumping to support its likelihood determination. Thus, the factor of margins of dumping is not just one of multiple factors considered, but a factor which was "central" to the ultimate likelihood determination. And the errors relating to this factor may necessarily invalidate the final determination.

VI. The Review under Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement

20. China considers the claim of Vietnam raises important legal interpretation issues, particularly including: (1) the nature and subject matter of the review under Article 11.2, (2) the relation between Article 11.2 reviews and Article 9.3.1 assessment, and (3) whether and how the exception provided for under Article 6.10 applies to Article 11.2 reviews.

A. The Nature and Subject Matter of Article 11.2 Reviews

- 21. Article 11.2 is an "application of the general rule in Article 11.1", which provides that antidumping duties "shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary" to counteract injurious dumping. Thus Article 11.2 and the review thereunder are essentially about the necessity of the anti-dumping duty.
- 22. The United States argues that Article 11.2 does not provide a right to seek company-specific revocations, based on its interpretation of the term "duty" in Article 11.2, i.e. this term is a reference to the application of the antidumping duty on a product, not as it is applied to exports by individual companies. China is not convinced by this interpretation.
- 23. Unlike the United States, China considers that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 may have a broader meaning than the same term in Article 11.3, taking into account the material distinctions between the two provisions. First, the two provisions have different purposes. The finding that an duty can only be terminated or remain in force on an "order-wide" basis by the end of a five-year period does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the duties under the same "order" cannot be revoked partially with respect to certain exporters under Article 11.2.
- 24. Secondly, unlike Article 11.3, Article 11.2 provides "any interested party", including any individual exporter, the right to request a review. This distinction is significant for present purposes. In fact, the Appellate Body used this distinction as one of the elements supporting its conclusion that Article 11.3 does not oblige authorities to make "company-specific" determinations in sunset reviews.
- 25. More importantly, unlike Article 11.3, Article 11.2 provides that a duty may be terminated after a review only with respect to "dumping", which is an exporter-specific concept. Accordingly, an individual exporter is permitted to request an authority to review its own dumping status and thereafter to determine whether to terminate the duty imposed on it. In addition, unlike Article 11.3, which obliges authorities to review only the likelihood of dumping, Article 11.2 requires authorities to examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to *offset* dumping. The authorities thus have to assess the exact dumping status, which is company specific.

26. As to the second argument of the United States, i.e., the term "duty" in Article 11.2 must be different from the term "individual duties" in Article 9.4, China considers that this does not preclude that the former "duty" could refer to either of the duties on individual companies or the duty on a product. The first sentence of Article 9.5 reinforces that the distinction between "duty" and "duties" is not absolute. As the term "duties" may be used with respect to a product, the term "duty" may also refer to duties levied on companies.

B. The Relation between Article 11.2 Reviews and Article 9.3.1 Assessment

27. Article 11.2 reviews and Article 9.3.1 assessment are of different legal nature and have different functions. Unlike the former, Article 9.3.1 assessment concerns essentially the amount of the final duty liability, rather than the necessity of the continued imposition of duties. The distinction is confirmed by the footnote to Article 11.2. Article 11.2 reviews and Article 9.3.1 assessment need not take place simultaneously, as certain interested parties, particularly exporters, may request an Article 11.2 review in order to revoke the duty while other interested parties may request an Article 9.3.1 assessment procedure to assess the final duty amount. However, if an authority determines to conduct an Article 11.2 review in the context of an Article 9.3.1 assessment procedure, it must comply with the obligations under both provisions.

C. The Application of Article 6.10 to Article 11.2 Reviews

- 28. China notes that Article 11.4 provides that "the provisions of Article 6 regarding evidence and procedure" shall apply to any review carried out under Article 11, but considers that it is worthwhile for the Panel to clarify whether and how the exception provided for in the second sentence of Article 6.10 applies to Article 11.2 reviews.
- 29. The text of Article 11.2 indicates that authorities bear an obligation to review the need for the continued imposition of the duty and interested parties "shall have the right" to request the authorities to do so. As the Appellate Body held in *Mexico Anti Dumping Measures on Rice*, authorities have "no discretion to refuse" a request to initiate an Article 11.2 review, when an interested party has met the conditions, and Members may not impose further requirement upon the party requesting the review. The exception under Article 6.10 should not be applied in a manner, if applicable at all, whereby the right of interested parties to request a review is fundamentally deprived and Article 11.2 is rendered largely a nullity. Specifically, it appears inappropriate for authorities to reject a request for an Article 11.2 review by a company simply on the ground that this company was not selected for individual examination during the original investigation or assessment procedures.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

1. The European Union intervenes in this case because of its systemic interest in the correct and consistent interpretation and application of the covered agreements and other relevant documents, and the multilateral nature of the rights and obligations contained therein, in particular the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (the GATT 1994), the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the GATT 1994 (the Anti-Dumping Agreement) and the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes (the DSU).

II. ZEROING

- 2. The issue of "zeroing" has been exhaustively litigated in the WTO; the European Union does not see that the Panel should deal with it other than in a summary way.
- 3. Selecting a methodology that averages domestic prices, so that export prices oscillate above and below normal value, and that treats export transactions below the line as dumped whilst setting to zero the comparison results of export transactions above the line is obviously WTO inconsistent: the calculation is not made for the product as a whole; the comparison is unfair, particularly because the selection of the methodology pre-determines the outcome; unjustified adjustments are made to the export transactions above the line; and no regard is paid to the targeted dumping rules, which permit patterns of relatively low priced exports to be identified. A municipal law measure that states otherwise is WTO inconsistent. Therefore, the European Union anticipates that Viet Nam will be successful with the "as applied" claims.
- With respect to Viet Nam's "as such" claims, the European Union anticipates that the Panel 4. will need to consider whether or not the United States has in fact eliminated the US administrative review simple zeroing methodology; or in other words whether Viet Nam has demonstrated the existence and precise content of the measure that allegedly continues to exist. The European Union agrees with the United States that demonstrating the existence and precise content of an unwritten measure is a difficult task, which is not to be lightly assumed, and which requires particular rigour. The European Union understands that it is the position of the United States to have changed the US administrative review simple zeroing methodology so as to eliminate zeroing; the experience of the European Union has indeed been that the United States no longer systematically resorts to zeroing in all cases, in accordance with the provisions of its new methodology applied from April 2012. The European Union also observes that the United States frequently makes use of provisions in this methodology which allow it to depart from this general rule and to apply zeroing in certain original investigations and administrative reviews. The European Union considers that this question will ultimately depend on a close analysis of all the evidence before the Panel.

III. THE NME-WIDE ENTITY RATE

- 5. The Parties refer extensively to the Appellate Body Report in EC Fasteners (China). In that case the Panel found that Article 9(5) of the EU Basic Anti-Dumping Regulation, which set out a procedure for exporters from a non-market economy to demonstrate that they were separate from the State, thus receiving individual treatment and individual dumping margins, was inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 6. This was confirmed on appeal. The Appellate Body first observed that Section 15 of China's Accession Protocol, drafted in very similar terms to paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report concerning the accession of Viet Nam, contains a similar acknowledgement of the difficulties in determining price comparability as that contained in the second *Ad Note* to Article VI of the GATT 1994 with respect to countries where the State has a monopoly of trade and where domestic prices are fixed by the State. The Appellate Body found that Section 15 concerns solely the determination of normal value; it does not permit derogation regarding export price or country-

wide margins or duties. Next, the Appellate Body confirmed that the measure at issue concerned not only the imposition of anti-dumping duties but also the calculation of dumping margins. The Appellate Body found that Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement establishes an obligation to calculate individual margins of dumping; that the term "sources" in Article 9.2 refers to individual exporters and not to the exporting country as whole; that the requirement to "name" suppliers requires the specification of anti-dumping duties for individual suppliers; and that the concept of "impracticable" was not the same as the concept of ineffective, so it did not justify the measure at issue. Finally, the Appellate Body found that the measure at issue was inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 as it *presumed* the existence of a single entity and that the individual treatment test was not apt to establish whether the exporting State and one or more exporters should be deemed to be a single entity. According to the Appellate Body the economic structure of a WTO Member cannot be used to imply a presumption that has not been written into the covered agreements, thereby assessing the measure at issue on an "as such" basis, without reference to particular proceedings.

- 7. Contrary to what Viet Nam seems to suggest, the measure at issue in *EC Fasteners* (*China*) is no longer in force, the European Union having fully complied with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB by repealing the measure and replacing it with a single entity test that does not impose any presumption.
- 8. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by the clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners (China)*. In particular, the Panel will have to consider whether Viet Nam has demonstrated the existence and precise content of the measure, and the existence of a presumption. It will also have to consider whether the test applied by the United States is apt to establish whether the exporting State and one or more exporters should be deemed to be a single entity. The European Union agrees with the United States that a Member is free to make single entity determinations based on the type of criteria referred to by the United States, which differ from the ones contained in Article 9(5) of the EU Basic Anti-Dumping Regulation under scrutiny in *EC Fasteners (China)*.
- 9. With regard to Viet Nam's other claims, the European Union would recall that in *Mexico Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice* the Appellate Body confirmed that an investigating authority is not required to notify or provide an application to unknown firms; nor calculate an individual margin of dumping for them. The Appellate Body merely found that, in the particular factual circumstances of that case, and given the particular procedures followed by the investigating authority, facts available should not have been used in the calculation of the all others rate, because the others were not notified of the information required or the consequences of not providing it. Thus, the Appellate Body did not find that facts available could *never* be used in the calculation of an "all others" rate.
- 10. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by the clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in *Mexico Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice*. In particular, the European Union agrees with the United States that when an individual rate is determined for a single entity consisting of multiple firms and/or the State in the case of a non-market economy, that falls within the examination provided for in Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all-others" rate, which can be deduced from its text: The opening line of Article 9.4 does not state "the" antidumping duty, but "any" antidumping duty, Article 9.4 (ii) even mentioning explicitly "antidumping duties" in the plural. As to the purpose of Article 9.4, the key message of the first sentence is that any anti-dumping duty "shall not exceed" what has been calculated according to Article 9.4 (i) or (ii). Article 9.4 contains thus a ceiling on the *amount* of any rate applied, not a ceiling on the *number* of different rates applied.
- 11. It is the view of the European Union that the disciplines on the use of facts available under the Anti-Dumping Agreement with respect to an exporter constituted of a single legal entity do not differ from those applicable to an exporter constituted of two or more distinct legal entities; they are subject to the same rights and obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

IV. Section 129(c)(1) OF THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT

12. The European Union recalls that in US - Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC) and US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan) the Appellate Body clarified the relevant obligations of WTO

Members with respect to the final collection of anti-dumping duties after the end of the reasonable period of time for compliance.

- 13. The Appellate Body recalled that recommendations and rulings of the DSB give rise to a compliance obligation once the DSB has adopted a report. The Appellate Body noted that, although the term "withdrawal" in Article 3.7 of the DSU could be understood as requiring abrogation, alternative means of implementation may exist and that the choice belongs in principle to the Member (if however a WTO Member decides to enact or maintain a measure, such measure must be consistent with WTO law). The Appellate Body confirmed that compliance must be immediate; it rejected the proposition that the date of importation is the relevant parameter for determining compliance; WTO-inconsistencies must cease by the end of the reasonable period of time. The Appellate Body considered further that any delays resulting from domestic judicial proceedings could not excuse a Member from complying by the end of the reasonable period of time. The Appellate Body found no provision supporting such a conclusion. Referring to Article 27 of the Vienna Convention, the Appellate Body recalled that a Member bears responsibility for acts of all its departments of government, including its judiciary, even if requested by private parties.
- 14. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by these clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in US Zeroing (EC) ($Article\ 21.5 EC$) and US Zeroing (Japan) (Japan) (Japan) confirming that under WTO law, the relevant event is final liquidation. In the measure at issue the relevant event is import. Therefore, the question is whether or not, notwithstanding this discrepancy between WTO law and US municipal law, the measure at issue effectively ensures compliance. For that to be the case import would have to be a proxy for final liquidation; that is, there would have to be a relationship between import and final liquidation. However, there appears to be no such relationship, the period during which final liquidation may be delayed and/or suspended by municipal injunction being variable and uncertain. Therefore, it is the view of the European Union that the measure at issue does not ensure compliance.
- 15. With respect to an assessment of the "as such" consistency of the US measure, the European Union recalls that any act or omission attributable to a WTO Member may be the subject of dispute settlement proceedings; no requirement exists that the measure identified by the complaining Member has been or is being applied. If the United States refers to the possibility of a municipal authority revoking, modifying or countermanding the measure, this is of no relevance to the question of whether the measure may be the subject of dispute settlement proceedings and whether or not the measure is WTO consistent.
- 16. The issue before the Panel is whether Section 129(c)(1) *itself* is inconsistent with one or more obligations assumed by the United States pursuant to a provision of the covered agreements; it is not whether the measure *has led* to or *may lead* to WTO inconsistent *action* (that is, *some other measure* that is inconsistent): whether "necessarily" or by reference to some other causal test; or whether in "all instances" or less than all instances. How the measure is applied or may be applied may provide *evidence* as to the consistency of the measure itself; but this will not be determinative on the guestion of the WTO consistency of the measure itself.
- 17. The Appellate Body has clarified that the mandatory/discretionary distinction is a useful analytical tool, but not to be mechanistically applied. It is less in the nature of a distinction and more in the nature of two sides of the same coin. The more mandatory something is (that is, the less discretionary), then the more likely it is that it will lead to the WTO inconsistent behaviour complained of, and the more likely it is that the measure itself is WTO inconsistent. Conversely, the less mandatory something is (that is, the more discretionary), then the less likely it is that it will lead to the WTO inconsistent behaviour complained off, and the less likely it is that the measure itself is WTO inconsistent.
- 18. The Appellate Body has adopted a similarly flexible approach to other analytical tools, such as the as such/as applied distinction and the *de jure/de facto* distinction. Notably with respect to subsidies contingent upon export, the Appellate Body has explained that Article 3.1(a) of the SCM Agreement sets out a single legal standard. The difference between a *de jure* claim and a *de facto* claim is the evidence. In a *de jure* claim the evidence consists of the text of the measure. In a *de facto* claim the existence of a subsidy contingency in fact upon export must be inferred from the total configuration of facts constituting and surrounding the grant. In essence, the claim is that the measure is wholly or partially unwritten or undisclosed, and the complainant sets out to demonstrate its alleged existence and precise content. While there seems to be widespread

agreement that an unwritten measure can, in principle, be challenged as such, the Appellate Body has clarified in US-Zeroing (EC) that there is a high threshold to make such a claim, particular rigour is required, and a breach is not to be lightly assumed. The Appellate Body requires a complaining party to clearly establish at least three criteria: that the alleged "rule or norm" is attributable to the Member; its precise content; and its general and prospective application. These clarifications of the Appellate Body were particularly important and made clear that practice can indeed be challenged if it amounts to sufficient evidence of a "rule or norm" meeting the three criteria. Earlier panel reports should be read in the light of the later clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in US-Zeroing (EC) and may be only of limited guidance.

- 19. In light of this case law, the European Union anticipates that the Panel may need to consider whether the evidence presented by Viet Nam is sufficient to demonstrate the existence and precise content of the measure alleged to exist. Whilst the mandatory/discretionary distinction may provide a useful analytical tool for the Panel to approach that problem, it should not be applied mechanistically.
- It seems to the European Union that, in considering whether a dualist WTO Member is complying with its WTO obligations, it may be relevant to consider whether there is an interpretation in conformity rule, being applied in practice. We observe analogous problems in the EU jurisdiction where EU member States may be either monist or dualist, but there is a general obligation on national judges to interpret and apply their national legislation so as to render it in conformity with EU law. This interpretation in conformity rule is an essential part of the mechanics to ensure synchronisation between EU law and the national law of EU member States. Turning to WTO law, Article XVI:4 of the WTO Agreement merely provides that all WTO Members shall ensure the conformity of their laws, regulations and administrative procedures with their WTO obligations. If a Member is dualist, it can choose to transpose WTO law perfectly, or to have an interpretation in conformity rule in order to correct for any inadvertently imperfect transposition. In this context, the nature of the treaty obligation in question, particularly whether it is sufficiently clear, is important; clarifications of WTO law provided by the Appellate Body should be taken into account. For its part, the EU is in principle dualist vis-à-vis WTO law (there is no direct effect), but there is an interpretation in conformity rule, and direct reference to WTO law is permitted where the Union legislator provides for this, as it does in the area of anti-dumping.
- 21. The European Union understands that there is such an interpretation in conformity rule in the United States, that being the *Charming Betsy* doctrine. Yet, it is unclear how the existence of that doctrine can be squared with what the evidence seems to suggest about how Article 129(c)(1) is actually being applied in practice. If the doctrine is not being consistently applied, then we wonder what steps the United States may have taken in order to ensure compliance with its WTO obligations.

V. ARTICLE 11.3 OF THE ANTI-DUMPING AGREEMENT: THE SUNSET REVIEW

22. The European Union considers that a sunset review determination that relies on prior dumping determinations that are (partly, not necessarily all) WTO inconsistent, notably because of the use of zeroing, is itself WTO inconsistent. The question of what the sunset finding would be absent reliance on the prior WTO inconsistent measures is not a matter for an original panel deciding such a dispute.

VI. ARTICLE 11.2 OF THE ANTI-DUMPING AGREEMENT

- 23. The European Union understands that Viet Nam does not dispute the reasoning contained in the Panel Report in US-DRAMs to the effect that the absence of dumping in the most recent data period does not *automatically* mandate immediate termination under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Rather, Viet Nam appears to accept that the question of *necessity* under Article 11.2 is also *prospective* in nature. Nor does the European Union understand that Viet Nam seeks from the Panel a positive finding that the relevant anti-dumping duties should have been terminated, because it is the Panel's task to assess the WTO consistency of the measures at issue, and not to proactively direct defending Members as to measures they should have adopted or must adopt in the future.
- 24. Rather, the European Union understands that Viet Nam seeks a finding that the specified measures at issue are inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 insofar as they determine *not to*

terminate the duties. In this respect, Viet Nam claims that the dumping margins calculated in the past administrative reviews were calculated using zeroing. If this is correct, then applying the WTO case-law to the effect that, if a sunset review relies on a prior margin calculation that is WTO inconsistent, then the sunset review itself is WTO inconsistent, the Panel would have to reach the same conclusion regarding the reviews under Articles 11.1 and 11.2.

- 25. Similarly, if the US determinations pursuant to Articles 11.1 and 11.2 are WTO inconsistent because they rely on past zeroed margins, they will in any event have to be re-considered by the United States; that outcome can be achieved without deciding on whether sampling is possible in reviews under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. That being said, the European Union notes that Article 11.4 refers expressly to the provisions of Article 6 regarding "evidence" and "procedure", and this includes Article 6.10 providing for the possibility of sampling. The European Union is not aware of any case in which a provision of Article 6 has been held inapplicable to a review investigation conducted pursuant to Article 11.2. Thus, the European Union considers that sampling may be used in reviews conducted pursuant to Articles 11.1 and 11.2.
- 26. Finally, insofar as Viet Nam's claim is directed against a measure that determines not to conduct a review pursuant to Article 11.1 and 11.2, the European Union notes that Article 11.2 first sentence refers to a request "by any interested party". Article 11.2 second sentence also refers to "interested parties", which, in the light of the first sentence, does not refer only to all interested parties acting together, but rather to any interested party. Article 6.11 defines interested parties for the purposes of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as including an exporter or foreign producer. Therefore, the request referred to in Article 11.2 may be made by an individual company. Furthermore, by the express terms of that provision, a request under Article 11.2 may relate either to dumping or to injury; the request may relate only to the company-specific dumping margin calculated for that company and the duty imposed on that company. If such a request is made, then one of the conditions provided for in Article 11.2 is met. The obligation to conduct a review is subject to three other conditions: it must be warranted; a reasonable time must have elapsed since imposition; and positive information is submitted substantiating the need for such review. If all conditions are fulfilled, then the authority must review the need for the continued imposition of the duty and if the duty is no longer warranted, it must be terminated immediately. However, simply because such firm would demonstrate that for a particular period of time it has not been dumping, that would not in itself obligate the importing Member to terminate the duty. The very purpose of an anti-dumping duty is that it is supposed to counteract or offset dumping, by inducing the exporter to raise its export price. If this alone were to mean that the duty would have to be terminated, and only re-imposed if the firm started dumping again, then the system would have built into it an automatic on/off switch, in the sense that the duty would automatically alternate on and off. This would be inconsistent with the security and predictability in international trade sought by the WTO Agreement.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF JAPAN

A. The Consistency of the USDOC's Practice of Zeroing in Administrative Reviews

1. The disciplines for determining both the existence of "dumping" and the "margin of dumping" are set forth in Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Article 2.1 defines "dumping" as follows:

For the purpose of this Agreement, a product is to be considered as being dumped, i.e. introduced into the commerce of another country at less than its normal value, if the export price of the product exported from one country to another is less than the comparable price ... for the like product when destined for consumption in the exporting country.¹

This definition of "dumping", set forth in Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, reflects the definition of "dumping" in Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994. In both texts, "dumping" is defined in relation to the "product". The term "margin of dumping" in Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 is also understood by reference to the "product". The Appellate Body has concluded on the basis of these texts that "dumping" and the "margin of dumping" must be defined in relation to "the product under investigation as a whole". 4

- 2. Furthermore, Article 2.1 makes clear that the definition of "dumping" in that provision applies throughout the Anti-Dumping Agreement and for purposes of all anti-dumping proceedings. 5
- 3. Given that "dumping" must be defined "in relation to a product as a whole", the Appellate Body has explained that "while an investigating authority may choose to undertake multiple comparisons or multiple averaging at an intermediate stage to establish margins of dumping, it is only on the basis of aggregating *all* these 'intermediate values' that an investigating authority can establish margins of dumping for the product under investigation as a whole". The requirement under Article 2.1 to aggregate multiple comparisons would apply regardless of whether the investigating authority conducts multiple model-specific W-to-W comparisons; multiple transactions-specific W-to-T comparisons; or multiple transaction-specific T-to-T comparisons.

¹ Emphasis added.

² Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 92.

³ Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 93.

⁴ See Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 126, quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 92-93. See also Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, paras. 125, 127-129, 132.

⁵ Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para.109. See also Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 125 ("The Appellate Body stated, in *US – Softwood Lumber V*, that 'the opening phrase of Article 2.1—'[f]or the purpose of this Agreement'—indicates that the definition of 'dumping' as contained in Article 2.1 applies to the entire Agreement'."). The Appellate Body cited Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 93 and Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, paras. 108-109 and 126-127.

 $^{^6}$ Appellate Body Report, US-Zeroing (EC), para. 126 (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted).

⁷ Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 97-98 (W-to-W comparisons in original investigations); Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 132 (W-to-T comparisons in periodic reviews); and Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, paras. 89 and 122 (T-to-T comparisons in original investigations). For example, in *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, the Appellate Body held that the extension of the "product as a whole" requirement to T-to-T comparisons under Article 2.4.2 did not involve a "dramatic departure" from its earlier rulings on the product-wide definition of "dumping". Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, para. 114. The Appellate Body noted it had "referred generally to the use of zeroing in relation to the use of 'multiple comparisons' when it stated that, '[i]f an investigating authority has chosen to undertake <u>multiple</u>

- The U.S. practice of "zeroing" is inconsistent with Articles 2.1, 2.4 and 2.4.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, because the United States ignores the results of certain intermediate comparisons instead of properly aggregating all intermediate values. Japan agrees with Viet Nam that "zeroing" in administrative reviews is likewise prohibited under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.
- The chapeau of Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, which governs periodic reviews, states: "The amount of the anti-dumping duty shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established under Article 2". This requirement parallels the language in Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, which provides that, "[i]n order to offset or prevent dumping, a Member may levy on any dumped product an anti-dumping duty not greater in amount than the margin of dumping in respect of such product". It also reflects the statement in Article 9.1 that the amount of the antidumping duty must be less than or equal to the margin of dumping, and the idea that antidumping duties are collected in "appropriate" amounts when the amount does not exceed the margin of dumping.
- Pursuant to these provisions, it is evident that "the margin of dumping established for an exporter or foreign producer operates as a ceiling for the total amount of anti-dumping duties that can be levied on the entries of the subject product (from that exporter) covered by the duty assessment proceeding".8 Furthermore, because Article 9.3 explicitly references Article 2, the Appellate Body has explained that "under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, the amount of the assessed anti-dumping duties shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established 'for the product as a whole'."
- Accordingly, if the investigating authority chooses to undertake multiple comparisons at an intermediate stage, it is not allowed to take into account the results of only some multiple comparisons, while disregarding others. 10 For purposes of periodic reviews, the investigating authority must aggregate all multiple comparison results in order to properly establish a margin of dumping for the "product" under investigation as a whole. The investigating authority is required to compare the anti-dumping duties collected on all entries of the subject product from a given exporter or foreign producer with that exporter's or foreign producer's margin of dumping "for the product as a whole" to ensure that the total amount of the former does not exceed the latter. 11
- In US Zeroing (EC), the Appellate Body found that, because the USDOC "systematically disregarded" negative comparison results under its zeroing procedures, "the methodology applied by the USDOC in the administrative reviews at issue resulted in amounts of assessed anti-dumping duties that exceeded the foreign producers' or exporters' margins of dumping with which the antidumping duties had to be compared". 12 As noted by Viet Nam in its first written submission, the Appellate Body has, on several occasions, specifically affirmed its holding in US - Zeroing (EC) that the application of zeroing in administrative reviews to disregard or eliminate negative comparison results is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994.
- In light of the thorough and well-reasoned analysis by the Appellate Body with respect to the issue of zeroing in administrative reviews, Japan agrees with Viet Nam that the Panel should find the zeroing methodology, as it relates to the use of simple zeroing in administrative reviews, to be inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

comparisons, the investigating authority necessarily has to take into account the results of all those comparisons in order to establish margins of dumping for the product as a whole". Ibid. (emphasis in original).

⁸ Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (EC), para 130 (emphasis in original). See also Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (Japan) para.155.

Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (EC), para. 127, quoting Appellate Body Report, US - Softwood Lumber V, para. 99 (emphasis added).

Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (EC), para. 127, quoting Appellate Body Report, US - Softwood Lumber V, para. 99. See also ibid. para. 132 (making the same statement in the context of the United States' W-to-T comparisons in periodic reviews).

11 Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (EC)*, para. 132.
12 Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (EC)*, para. 133.

The Consistency of Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA with the Anti-Dumping В. Agreement

- Pursuant to Article 21.3 of DSU, "implementation of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB must be done 'immediately', unless it is 'practicable' to do so", and "the reasonable period of time is a limited exception from the obligation to comply immediately" 13. Thus "the obligation to comply with the recommendations and ruling of the DSB has to be fulfilled by the end of the reasonable period of time at the latest". 14 If, in certain circumstances, the statute pursuant to which a Member implements such recommendations and rulings necessarily leads to the failure to comply after the expiration of the reasonable period of time, that statute would itself be inconsistent with the covered agreements. Specifically, in the context of zeroing disputes, to the extent that the obligation to comply with the DSB recommendations and rulings would cover "prior unliquidated entries", if Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA necessarily excludes such entries from the scope of any U.S. measure taken to comply with the DSB's recommendations and rulings, Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with Articles 2.4, 9.3 18.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, Articles 17.14, 19.1, 21.1 and 21.3 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, and Article 16.4 of the Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization.
- Viet Nam explains that, in its view, the panel's finding in US Section 129(c)(1) URAA that 11. Section 129(c) of the URAA is not "as such" inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement should be revisited. In particular, Viet Nam notes that only one Section 129 determination had been issued when the panel reached its conclusion in US - Section 129(c)(1) URAA that Section 129(c) is not inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. By contrast, Viet Nam explains that there have now been 21 Section 129 determinations affecting more than 40 distinct anti-dumping or countervailing duty orders. In a period of more than ten years, there is no instance in which the USDOC has applied its Section 129 determination to prior unliquidated entries.
- Japan notes that the text of Section 129 as a whole suggests that a Section 129 proceeding is meant to be the exclusive avenue pursuant to which an administering authority of the United States may bring an anti-dumping measure into compliance with adopted panel or Appellate Body reports. This understanding follows from the text of Sections 129(a)(1) and (b)(1), which address those cases in which a panel or the Appellate Body determines that an action by the ITC or the USDOC in an anti-dumping proceeding is not in conformity with the obligations of the United States under the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The general wording in these provisions suggests that Section 129 is meant to address all instances in which an anti-dumping measure has been found WTO-inconsistent by a panel or the Appellate Body, and it further suggests that there are no other measures pursuant to which the ITC or the USDOC may bring a WTO-inconsistent measure into compliance with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- This understanding of the text is supported by the text of the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") accompanying the URAA, which explicitly outlines the limited prospective effect of Section 129 determinations. Furthermore, the U.S. Court of International Trade, which is the judicial body in the United States that is charged with interpreting the meaning of the statute, has confirmed that Section 129 expressly precludes any relief with respect to unliquidated entries made prior to the implementation date designated by USTR, even when the Section 129 determination has led to the complete revocation of the underlying anti-dumping duty order. 15 In sum, Japan is of the view that in those cases where "prior unliquidated entries" will be liquidated after the expiration of the reasonable period of time for compliance with an adverse panel or Appellate Body ruling, Section 129 will necessarily lead to the WTO-inconsistent liquidation of such entries. Accordingly, Section 129 appears to be inconsistent "as such" with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. In Japan's view, it is then incumbent upon the United States to explain what provisions of U.S. law other than Section 129 would allow it to liquidate "prior unliquidated entries" in a WTO-consistent manner.
- U.S. argues that Section 129 is not the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB, pointing to Section 123 of the URAA ("Section 123").

¹³ Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan), para. 157.

¹⁴ Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan), para. 157, quoting Appellate

Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC), para. 299.

¹⁵ Corus Staal BV v. United States, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140, pp. 17-18 (Ct. Int'l Trade Sept. 19, 2007) (Exhibit VN-36).

However, Section 123, by its terms, appears to apply only when a panel or the Appellate Body finds "that a regulation or practice of a department or agency of the United States is inconsistent with any of the Uruguay Round Agreements". In other words, it appears that on its face Section 123 is only relevant to the implementation of adverse DSB rulings with respect to a U.S. agency's "regulation or practice" itself and would not apply to rectification of WTO-inconsistent determinations of U.S. agencies in specific cases. Viet Nam claims that Section 129 provides the "exclusive authority" under U.S. law for the United States "to comply with adverse DSB rulings concerning its obligations under the WTO agreements where implementation can be achieved by a new administrative determination without the need for statutory or regulatory amendment". Accordingly, the existence of Section 123 does not seem to detract from the veracity of Viet Nam's claim. To the extent that the United States argues that Section 129 does not provide exclusive authority for it to comply with the DSB ruling on a particular administrative determination and Section 123 is available to rectify the deficiency of the determination not covered by Section 129, the United States must explain how Section 123 can address such deficiency in this case, the WTO inconsistency with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" that Viet Nam is concerned about.

15. Japan is also not fully convinced by the U.S. argument that Section 129 is not the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB because the U.S. Congress could always "pass a new law that might have an impact on prior unliquidated entries". Japan does not believe this type of speculation is relevant to the Panel's consideration of Viet Nam's claim. The Appellate Body has explained that "allowing claims against measures, as such, serves the purpose of preventing future disputes by allowing the root of WTO-inconsistent behaviour to be eliminated". WTO Members always retain the ability to modify or abandon particular measures in the future, but that theoretical possibility does not preclude other Members from establishing that an existing law or practice is inconsistent, as such, with the covered agreements. Taken to extremes, the US argument will lead to all measures by virtue of being amendable will be WTO consistent. The U.S. argument to the contrary is flatly inconsistent with prior Appellate Body jurisprudence in this regard.

C. The Consistency of the USDOC's Sunset Review Determination with the Anti-Dumping Agreement

- 16. First, in relation to Viet Nam's claims regarding the consistency of the sunset review determination with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, Japan believes that if the investigating authority relies on dumping margins that were calculated in a past investigation in order to determine the likelihood that dumping would continue or recur, those margins must be consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Accordingly, Japan agrees with the Appellate Body that if an investigating authority relies on margins calculated on the basis of zeroing in its likelihood of dumping determination, that determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 17. The United States suggests, however, that it was not necessary for the USDOC to "rely" on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping for its affirmative likelihood finding in this case because the USDOC's sunset review determination "is justified on the basis of factors other than WTO-inconsistent factors."
- 18. In relation to this argument, Japan agrees with the views expressed by the European Union in its third party submission. Namely, Japan believes that if the USDOC relied on margins calculated on the basis of zeroing in its likelihood of dumping determination, then this Panel should conclude that the sunset review determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement on that basis alone. Japan does not believe it would be appropriate for this Panel to try to determine, based on a counterfactual analysis, whether the USDOC would have reached the same conclusion in the sunset review determination had it relied only on other WTO-consistent factors. In Japan's view, such an exercise would amount to an impermissible *de novo* review of the evidence before the investigating authority.
- 19. Second, Viet Nam claims that the USDOC's reliance on the decline in import volume in its sunset review determination was not unbiased and objective. Viet Nam maintains that the USDOC "fail[ed] to adequately examine or evaluate other factors affecting import volume", and thus failed

¹⁶ See Appellate Body Report, *US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 128.

to recognize that "changes in the volume of imports from Viet Nam do not support a conclusion that dumping is likely to continue or recur".

- 20. Japan agrees with the Appellate Body that "a firm evidentiary foundation is required in each case for a proper determination under Article 11.3 of the likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping", and that "[s]uch a determination cannot be based solely on the mechanistic application of presumptions". In relation to import volume in particular, the Appellate Body explained in *US Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review* that a decline in import volume could be "caused or reinforced by changes in the competitive conditions of the market-place or strategies of exporters, rather than by the imposition of the duty alone", such that "a case-specific analysis of the factors behind a cessation of imports or a decline in import volumes (when dumping is eliminated) will be necessary to determine that dumping will recur if the duty is terminated". 19
- 21. In its evaluation of Viet Nam's claim that the USDOC did not consider the decline in import volume in a manner that was unbiased and objective, Japan believes that the Panel should examine whether the USDOC engaged in a "a case-specific analysis of the factors behind [the] decline in import volumes". Japan agrees that such an analysis is necessary in order for an investigating authority's reliance on a decline in import volumes to be considered unbiased and objective under Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

¹⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 178.

¹⁹ Appellate Body Report, US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 177.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF NORWAY

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

- 1. In its first written submission, the United States refers to Article 17.6(ii) of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement (the AD Agreement)* and asserts that the Panel should find the measures at issue WTO-consistent if they rest on a permissible interpretation of the *AD Agreement*.¹
- 2. The first sentence of 17.6(ii) of the *AD Agreement* contains the general rule for the interpretation of the *AD Agreement*, while the second sentence refers to the situation where there are more than one permissible interpretation of one of the provisions in the Agreement. It is important to always bear in mind that the first sentence of Article 17.6 (ii) requires a panel to apply the rules of treaty interpretation of customary international law. This means to apply the interpretative rules of the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (the Vienna Convention)*², codifying customary rules of treaty interpretation.³
- 3. The second sentence of Article 17.6 (ii) only takes effect *after* all the principles of treaty interpretation of public international law have been exhausted. In US $Continued\ Zeroing$, the Appellate Body gave a thorough interpretation of Article 17.6(ii) of the $AD\ Agreement$ and its relationship with the $Vienna\ Convention$. Norway fully shares the interpretation and the approach laid down by the Appellate Body in this case.

II. THE ROLE OF PRECEDENT

- 4. Appellate Body reports adopted by the Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) are binding on the parties. However, adopted panel and Appellate Body Reports also play an important role in subsequent cases.⁶ The Appellate Body has repeatedly submitted that "following the Appellate Body's conclusions in earlier disputes is not only appropriate, but is what would be expected from panels, especially where issues are the same".⁷ Norway would add that following previous reports also ensures fewer disputes and preserves both the system and the systemic function of the Appellate Body.
- 5. Norway further considers that if it were permissible to depart from previous legal interpretations in adopted Appellate Body reports, it would create a situation where all cases could be perpetually reargued. Such a result would be contrary to the object and purpose of the dispute settlement system, as well as the object and purpose of a rule based multilateral trading system ensuring security and predictability for all economic actors. Norway recalls the importance given to the security and predictability of the system, as set out in Article 3.2 of the *Dispute Settlement Understanding (DSU)*.

III. ZEROING IS PROHIBITED UNDER THE AD AGREEMENT AND THE GATT 1994

- 6. In line with the Appellate Body's ruling in previous cases, Norway finds that the use of all forms of zeroing in all forms of proceedings under the *AD Agreement* is prohibited.
- 7. The point of departure for Norway is that there is but one definition of "dumping" in the *AD Agreement*, and that this definition is applicable to all proceedings under the *AD Agreement*.⁸

¹ US First Written Submission, paras. 58-63.

² Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 23 May 1969.

³ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 267.

⁴ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, paras. 271 and 272.

⁵ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, paras. 265-275.

⁶ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 362.

⁷ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 362. US – OCTG Sunset Reviews, WT/DS268/AB/R, para. 188.

⁸ There are five such instances where the authorities calculate dumping margins, those being (i) original proceedings, (ii) "assessment reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 9.3), (iii) "new shipper reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 9.3), (iiii) "new shipper reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 9.3), (iiiii) "new

The definition applicable to all calculations of dumping margins throughout the agreement can be found in Article 2.1 of the *AD Agreement*.

- 8. It is clear from the interpretation of the relevant provisions of the *AD Agreement* and the GATT 1994 that the margin of dumping must be calculated for the product under investigation as a whole in all proceedings under the *AD Agreement*.
- 9. The Appellate Body has in several rulings pointed out that the use of zeroing distorts the process of establishing dumping margins and inflates the dumping margin for the product as a whole. Norway holds that zeroing procedures in all forms and in all proceedings under the *AD Agreement* is contrary to the principle that the margin of dumping must be established for the product as a whole.

IV. RELIANCE ON WTO-INCONSISTENT FACTORS IN SUNSET REVIEWS

- 10. The reliance on anti-dumping duties calculated by the use of zeroing in sunset reviews is inconsistent with WTO law. Accordingly, a margin calculated with zeroing cannot be the foundation for a determination of the likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping.
- 11. In its first written submission, the United States asserts that where the investigating authority has relied on WTO-consistent factors, a sunset determination may be WTO-consistent even if the authority also considered WTO-inconsistent factors.¹⁰
- 12. The Appellate Body has stated that it would render a sunset review inconsistent with Article 11.3 if the investigating authority relied upon a WTO-inconsistent margin of dumping. In accordance with this, the Panel must thus assess whether the investigation authority *did* rely upon WTO-inconsistent margins, for instance by the use of zeroing, and not whether other factors may justify the determination.

V. INDIVIDUAL REVIEWS IN CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES

- 13. Article 11.2 of the *AD Agreement* states that the relevant authorities shall review the need for a continued imposition of the duty where warranted or, on certain conditions, upon request by any interested party.
- 14. Article 6.10 states that dumping margins, as the main rule, should be determined individually for each known exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation. However, this provision also allows for derogations from the main rule where the number of exporters, producers, importers or type of products involved is so large as to make an individual determination impracticable. In these cases, the relevant authorities may limit their examination on certain conditions, so called "sampling".
- 15. When an interested party is in a position to submit positive information substantiating the need for a review and a reasonable period of time has passed since the imposition of the definitive anti-dumping duty, this party has a legitimate interest in a review. The language of Article 11.2 gives any interested party a right to a review, whether or not they have been individually investigated.
- 16. Thus, it is our view that there can be no automatic rejection of a request for review, even if the exception in Article 6.10 has been applied at a previous stage of the anti-dumping procedure. The cross-reference in Article 11.4 to Article 6 does not influence this interpretation. Furthermore, the overarching principle in Article 11.1 that anti-dumping duties shall not remain in force longer than necessary supports this view.

Article 9.5), (iv) "changed circumstances reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 11.2), and (v) "sunset reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 11.3).

⁹ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 199.

¹⁰ United States, First Written Submission, para. 270.

¹¹ Article 11.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement sets out that the provisions of Article 6 "regarding evidence and procedure" shall apply to reviews carried out under Article 11.

VI. WTO-INCONSISTENT CONDUCT MUST CEASE BY THE END OF THE REASONABLE PERIOD OF TIME

- 17. In its first written submission, Viet Nam argues that Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Acts is as such inconsistent with a number of provisions in the *AD Agreement* and the GATT 1994. Viet Nam maintains that due to the retrospective system for assessing anti-dumping duties, this provision prohibits the United States from complying with adverse rulings and recommendations of the DSB.¹²
- 18. In accordance with Article 21.3 of the *DSU*, Members shall comply with the rulings and recommendations of the DSB immediately. If immediate compliance is impracticable, the Member shall have a reasonable period of time in which to comply.
- 19. Norway recalls that the Appellate Body has clarified that Members have an obligation to comply with the rulings and recommendations of the DSB no later than by the end of the reasonable period of time. In *US Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 Japan)*, the Appellate Body explicitly addressed the obligation to implement recommendations and rulings of the DSB in respect of conduct relating to imports that entered a Members territory prior to the expiration of the reasonable period of time. In this case, the Appellate Body stated that WTO-inconsistent conduct must cease completely by the end of the reasonable period of time, irrespective of the date on which the imports entered the territory of the implementing Member.¹³ Thus, WTO-inconsistent measures affecting imports that entered the implementing Member's territory prior to the expiration of the reasonable period of time must be rectified by the end of the reasonable period of time.

¹² Viet Nam, First Written Submission, paras. 211-212.

¹³ US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan), WT/DS322/AB/RW, paras. 160-161.

THAILAND'S THIRD PARTY RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FROM THE PANEL

1 GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

1. Can you please elaborate on the concept of "practice" (as opposed to other concepts such as "method", "methodology", "procedure" or "policy") as a measure which can be challenged in WTO dispute settlement?

2 CLAIMS CONCERNING ZEROING

2. Does the USDOC's zeroing methodology still exist as a measure which can be challenged "as such" in light of the fact that the USDOC modified its calculation methodology in administrative reviews in April 2012?

Response to Questions 1 and 2:

The Government of Thailand (the "GOT") would like to remind the Panel of the legal standard to be applied to the evidence before it. In the past, the Appellate Body found that the zeroing methodology, as it then existed, could be challenged in WTO dispute settlement proceedings on an "as such" basis because, even though "zeroing" was not found in the US anti-dumping law, the USDOC applied, in effect, the same zeroing methodology in every anti-dumping determination. For example, in its report in US – Zeroing (EC), the Appellate Body stated that "we believe that, in the specific circumstances of this case, the evidence before the Panel was sufficient to identify the precise content of the zeroing methodology; that the zeroing methodology is attributable to the United States, and that it does have general and prospective application. This evidence consisted of considerably more than a string of cases, or repeat action, based on which the Panel would have simply divined the existence of a measure in the abstract. We therefore cannot agree with the United States that the Panel's approach, in this case, would mean that when a Member does something in a particular instance, the Member's action results in a separate measure that may be subject to an "as such" challenge, at least if the Member repeats the action with some indeterminate frequency" (Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC), para. 204).

The legal issue facing the current Panel here seems to be whether the USDOC's "practice" of zeroing remains in effect as a measure of general and prospective application "which consist[s] of considerably more than a string of cases, or repeat action". If the Panel so finds, Thailand considers that "practice" in this dispute is equivalent to other concepts such as "method", "methodology", "procedure" or "policy" as a measure which can be challenged in WTO dispute settlement.

The GOT further notes that even if the zeroing methodology used prior to 2012 has changed and thus can no longer be challenged "as such" in dispute settlement proceedings, it is possible that the old methodology has now replaced by a new zeroing methodology that could, in itself, be challenged "as such" in dispute settlement proceedings. The Panel may also wish to consider whether, if it finds that the old practice or methodology no longer exists, there is a new practice or methodology that would separately meet the test for being susceptible to challenge on an "as such" basis.

3 CLAIMS CONCERNING THE "NON-MARKET ECONOMY-WIDE ENTITY" RATE

3. Do you agree with the United States that Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all others" rate, but rather permits an investigating authority to impose more than one such rate under this provision?

Response to Question 3: The GOT considers that Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all others" rate provided that "all others" rates are based on the different levels of cooperation established throughout the proceedings.

- 4. The United States maintains that this case can be distinguished from *EC Fasteners (China)*. Do you agree or disagree? Please explain.
- 5. The United States submits that "[a]t no time during the challenged proceedings did Vietnam, or any Vietnamese exporter, request Commerce to reconsider Vietnam's nonmarket economy status. [footnote omitted] This is an important distinction between this dispute and *EC Fasteners*" (United States' first written submission, para. 176). Do you agree that this is a relevant distinction? If so, what effect does this distinction have on Viet Nam's claims?
- 6. The European Union argues that it is permissible to apply a rate determined on the basis of facts available to "unknown" producers/exporters provided that the investigating authority makes some additional effort to notify these producers/exporters of the information required and the consequence of not providing it (see European Union's third-party submission, para. 23). Do you agree?

Response to Question 6: The GOT agrees with the European Union that it is permissible to apply different rates for different producers/exporters on the basis of facts available. Thailand considers that it is sufficient for the investigating authority to inform exporting Members of the initiation of the proceedings and to contact all those producers that are known to the authority. In the meantime, the authority is to make reasonable effort to notify "unknown" producers/exporters of the information required and consequence of non-cooperation. The authority should also encourage Members concerned to provide all relevant information and inform them the consequence of non-cooperation. This is important because the onus should remain on exporting producers to make themselves known to the authority within prescribed deadlines.

7. Do you agree with the Appellate Body's ruling in *EC – Fasteners (China)* that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 do not preclude treating several companies as a single exporter but that it is not permissible under these provisions to <u>presume</u> that the companies form a single entity? (See Appellate Body Report in *EC – Fasteners (China)*, paras. 364 and 376).

Response to Question 7: The GOT agrees with the Appellate Body's Ruling that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 do not preclude treating several companies as a single entity provided that it is not presumed but based on evidence available on the record of the investigation or the best information available in the absence of cooperation.

- 8. Considering the criteria used by the USDOC to determine absence of government control, both *de jure* and *de facto*, with respect to export activities (see Exhibit VN-24, Chapter 10 of USDOC Anti-Dumping Manual, p. 4). To what extent are these criteria similar/different from the criteria contained in Article 9(5) of the Basic AD Regulation under consideration in *EC Fasteners (China)*?
- 9. Are there any limitations on the use of facts available to determine the dumping margin of a single "exporter" constituted of several distinct legal entities? Do the disciplines on the use of facts available under the Anti-Dumping Agreement with respect to such an exporter differ from those applicable to other individually-examined producers or exporters? If so, please explain.

4 CLAIMS CONCERNING SECTION 129(C)(1) OF THE URAA

- 10. Do you agree with Viet Nam that Section 129(c)(1) can be challenged "as such"? If so, what is the relevance (if any) for Viet Nam's case of the other avenues for implementation identified by the United States (adoption of new legislation by Congress and/or action under Section 123 of the URAA)?
- 11. What does Viet Nam need to establish in order to succeed in claiming that Section 129(c)(1) is "as such" inconsistent with the US obligations? For instance, must Viet Nam establish that Section 129(c)(1) necessarily leads to WTO-inconsistent action in all instances? In answering, please discuss the continued relevance, if any, of the "mandatory/discretionary" distinction.
- 12. The United States argues that only provisions under the DSU, and not provisions under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, would be implicated by a violation of the obligation to bring WTO-inconsistent measures into conformity with DSB recommendations and rulings. Do you agree?

13. What are the implications, if any, for Viet Nam's "as such" claims of the Appellate Body statements indicating that the date of the assessment or liquidation of the duties, and not the date of importation, is the relevant date to determine compliance with the obligation to bring measures into conformity with DSB recommendations and rulings? (See Appellate Body Reports, US - Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC), paras. 286-355; and US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan), paras. 153-197).

5 CLAIMS CONCERNING THE SUNSET REVIEW DETERMINATION

14. The United States argues that the USDOC relied not only on dumping margins that Viet Nam alleges were WTO-inconsistent, but on "multiple factors". Can a likelihood-of-dumping determination be found to be WTO-consistent in a case where part, but not all, of the investigating authority's analysis of relevant factors is found to be WTO-inconsistent?

Response to Question 14: The GOT is of the view that a likelihood-of-dumping determination can be found to be WTO-consistent when the investigating authority's consideration of relevant factors identified to support the determination is WTO-consistent.

6 CLAIMS CONCERNING COMPANY-SPECIFIC REVOCATIONS

- 15. Do you consider that, when interpreted in accordance with the Vienna Convention (including, as relevant, any preparatory work), Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement provides a right to seek company-specific revocations?
- 16. Please comment on the United States' argument (in, e.g., the United States' opening oral statement at the first substantive meeting, paras. 54-55) that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 should be interpreted, identically to the same term in Article 11.3, as a reference to the imposition of duties on an "product-specific", or "order-wider" basis.
- 17. What is the meaning to be given to the term "dumping" in Article 11.2? Does it refer to dumping by an interested party, for example an individual producer/exporter seeking a review, or does it have a broader meaning?

Response to Question 17: The GOT considers that Article 11.2 refers to a specific interested party as it addresses the issue of partial reviews whereas Article 11.3 governs the review of an overall proceeding covering both dumping and injuries involving all interested parties concerned.

- 18. In your view, to what extent do the detailed evidentiary and procedural requirements contained in Article 6, including but not limited to the limited examination exception under the second sentence of Article 6.10, apply in the context of Article 11.2 reviews?
- 19. To what extent is the US mechanism providing for revocation in the context of administrative reviews governed by the disciplines of Article 11.2?

CHINA'S SUBMISSION ON THE UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULING

TABLE OF CASES

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
Brazil – Aircraft(AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft,</i> WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999
US – Customs Bond Directive(AB)	Appellate Body Report, United States – Customs Bond Directive for Merchandise Subject to Anti-Dumping/Countervailing Duties, WT/DS345/AB/R, adopted 1 August 2008
EC – Chicken Cuts(AB)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities – Customs Classification of Frozen Boneless Chicken Cuts, WT/DS269/AB/R,WT/DS286/AB/R, adopted 27 September 2005
US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)(AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measures Relating to Zeroing and Sunset Reviews((Article 21.5 – Japan)</i> , WT/DS322/AB/RW, adopted 31 August 2009
US – Continued Zeroing	Panel Report, United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology, WT/DS350/R, adopted 19 February 2009
US – Continued Zeroing(AB)	Appellate Body Report, United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology, WT/DS350/AB/R, adopted 19 February 2009
US – Upland Cotton(AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005

I. INTRODUCTION

1. The People's Republic of China thanks the Panel for this opportunity to submit views on the Unite States' request for preliminary rulings. Whilst not taking a final position on the facts of this case, China would like to present views, in this third party submission, on a single issue raised in Section II of the US request for preliminary rulings, i.e. whether the sixth administrative review is within the Panel's terms of reference.

II. DISCUSSION

- 2. The United States argues that Viet Nam's panel request, by including the sixth administrative review, has both expanded the scope and changed the essence of its consultations request. In the US's view, the sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" under Article 4.4 of the *Dispute Settlement Understanding* (DSU) at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations, because its final results were concluded and published after the consultations request. Consequently, as the sixth administrative review was not (and could not have been) subject to consultations, it is not within the Panel's terms of reference.¹
- 3. Viet Nam replies that the "essence" of the dispute has not changed from the consultations request to the panel request. In its view, it did identify the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue in the consultations request, through its identification of "ongoing" administrative reviews and "subsequent" reviews in page 1 and 3 of the consultation request, and the panel request merely provides greater precision on the measures at issue.²
- 4. In respect of this disagreement between the parties, China recalls that Article 7.1 of the DSU provides that a panel's terms of reference are governed by the panel request, and that Article 4 and 6 of the DSU do not require a "precise and exact identity" between the measures that were the subject of consultations and those identified in the panel request. The basic issue is whether the "scope of the dispute" has been expanded or the "essence" of the dispute has been changed between the two requests, which must be determined on a case-by-case basis. 4
- 5. It appears that both parties do not disagree on the above principles. However, the parties have different reading on the facts of this case and thus make different conclusion. The Viet Nam emphasizes that it has identified in its consultations request "ongoing" administrative reviews and "subsequent" reviews, which is said to include the sixth administrative review, and so argues the essence of the dispute has not changed. In contrast, the US focuses on another factual allegation that the then-ongoing sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" at the time of request for consultations and thus could not have been subject to consultations. The underlying logic of the US argument is that a panel request will expand the scope and change the essence of the dispute if it includes something which was not subject to consultations.⁵
- 6. Accordingly, the first question is whether and under what circumstances an ongoing action at the time of the request for consultations could constitute a measure subject to consultations. In this regard, China recalls that the Appellate Body has clarified that "measures enacted subsequent to the establishment of the panel may, in certain limited circumstances, fall within a panel's terms of reference". Specifically, the Appellate Body has determined that a periodic review "initiated at the time the matter was referred to the Panel and was due to be completed during the Article 21.5 proceedings" was within the panel's terms of reference. A panel also found that three "thenongoing" sunset reviews and one "then-ongoing" periodic review were within its terms of reference. Since an ongoing review at the time the matter was referred to the Panel could be a "measure" within the panel's terms of reference, it appears inappropriate to priori exclude that an ongoing review at the time of the request for consultations may, in certain circumstances, also constitute a "measure" subject to consultations.

¹ Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States of America, paras. 5-6.

² Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings, paras. 9-11.

³ Brazil – Aircraft(AB), para. 132; US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

⁴ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

⁵ Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States of America, para. 5.

⁶ EC – Chicken Cuts (AB), para. 156.

⁷ US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5–Japan) (AB), paras. 124–127.

⁸ US – Continued Zeroing, para.7.11 and para.7.28.

- 7. And the second question is, assuming the then-ongoing sixth administrative review was indeed not subject to consultations as alleged by the US, whether this will lead to the conclusion that the six administrative review is not within the panel's terms of reference. This question concerns the significance that a consultations request may have on a panel's terms of reference. As a general rule, a panel's terms of reference can include measures not included in the consultations request, as long as a complaining party "does not expand the scope of the dispute" or change the "essence of the challenged measures". Specifically, the Appellate Body and the panel have addressed circumstances similar to this dispute in *US Continued Zeroing*.
- 8. In *US Continued Zeroing*, the European Communities added to the panel request 14 periodic reviews and sunset reviews that were not identified in the consultations request. The panel rejected the claim by the US that the EC had thereby expanded the scope of the dispute. The panel observed that the additional 14 measures and the original 38 measures "relate to the same products originating in the same countries" and "the legal nature of the EC's claims" regarding the two sets of measures "does not in any way differ". For this reason, the panel concluded that "the EC's consultations request and its panel request refer to the same subject matter, the same dispute." The Appellate Body upheld this finding of the panel, further confirming that the additional 14 measures and those explicitly listed in the consultations request are "successive stages subsequent to the issuance of the same anti-dumping duty orders", and "the legal basis of the claims raised is the same". 11
- 9. Following the above reasoning of the Appellate Body and the panel, it appears unconvincing to conclude that the panel request expands the scope or change the essence of the dispute simply on the ground that the sixth administrative review was not subject to consultations. Rather, it should be examined whether the sixth administrative review relates to the same anti-dumping duty as other administrative reviews explicitly listed in the consultations request and whether the legal basis of the claims raised is the same.

III. CONCLUSION

10. As a third party, China does not take any specific position on the issue whether the sixth administrative review is within the Panel's terms of reference. However, since this issue raises systemic questions, i.e. under what circumstances an ongoing action could constitute a measure subject to consultations and the significance that a consultations request has on a panel's terms of reference, China respectfully requests the Panel to examine carefully the issue in light of the observations made in this submission.

⁹ US – Upland Cotton (AB), para. 293; US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

¹⁰ US – Continued Zeroing, para. 7.28.

¹¹ US – Continued Zeroing (AB), para. 228 and para. 231.

EUROPEAN UNION COMMENTS ON THE US REQUEST FOR A PRELIMINARY RULING

TABLE OF CASES CITED

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
Brazil – Aircraft	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft</i> , WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999, DSR 1999:III, p. 1161
China – Raw Materials	Appellate Body Reports, <i>China – Measures Related to the Exportation of Various Raw Materials</i> , WT/DS394/AB/R / WT/DS395/AB/R / WT/DS398/AB/R, adopted 22 February 2012
Colombia – Ports of Entry	Panel Report, Colombia – Indicative Prices and Restrictions on Ports of Entry, WT/DS366/R and Corr.1, adopted 20 May 2009, DSR 2009:VI, p. 2535
Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US)	Appellate Body Report, Mexico – Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS) from the United States – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the United States, WT/DS132/AB/RW, adopted 21 November 2001, DSR 2001:XIII, p. 6675
US – Continued Zeroing	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology</i> , WT/DS350/AB/R, adopted 19 February 2009, DSR 2009:III, p. 1291
US – Gambling	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services</i> , WT/DS285/AB/R, adopted 20 April 2005, DSR 2005:XII, p. 5663 (Corr.1, DSR 2006:XII, p. 5475)
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:1, p. 3

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. The European Union refers to the Panel's communication of 6 August 2013, where the Panel invites the third parties to submit their views, if any, on the US request for preliminary rulings. The European Union welcomes and accepts such an invitation. In the European Union's view, panels should provide third parties with an opportunity to be heard on the preliminary issues before a communication (acceptance, rejection, deferral) is issued, in line with the requirements of Article 10 of the DSU. Otherwise, *de facto*, a third party would stand little if any chance of persuading a panel to change its mind. And, in any event, the panel would have lost the opportunity to reflect the views and arguments of third parties in perhaps more subtle ways in the reasoning of its preliminary ruling. This would inevitably mean that third party rights would, in effect, be diminished. In this respect, the European Union would point to the term "fully" in Article 10.1 of the DSU. The European Union considers that effectively diminishing third party rights (by hearing third parties only after a decision has been taken) would not be consistent with the requirement that the interests of third parties should be "fully" taken into account.
- 2. That being said, the European Union provides these comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling because of its systemic interest in the correct and consistent interpretation and application of the covered agreements and other relevant documents, and the multilateral nature of the obligations contained therein, in particular the *Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the GATT 1994* (the *Anti-Dumping Agreement*) and the *Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes* (the DSU).

II. SUMMARY OF THE US PRELIMINARY RULING REQUEST

- 3. The United States requests a preliminary ruling on several issues.
- 4. First, the United States argues that Viet Nam's Panel Request improperly includes measures that were not the subject of Viet Nam's Consultation Request. In particular, the United States maintains that Viet Nam's Panel Request identifies the final results of the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue. However, at the time of Viet Nam's Consultation Request, there was no such final determination. According to the United States, a determination that is not yet final cannot be a "measure" under Article 4.4 of the DSU and, thus, could not be subject to consultations. Moreover, the United States observes that Viet Nam's Consultation Request did not challenge the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews. Accordingly, these measures included in Viet Nam's Panel Request are not within the Panel's terms of reference.¹
- 5. Second, the United States maintains that Viet Nam's Panel Request improperly includes a claim under the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties* (VCLT). According to the United States, the VCLT is not a "covered agreement" as defined in the DSU and, thus, the DSU does not apply to it. The United States observes that, in any event, United States is not a party to the VCLT.²
- 6. Finally, the United States argues that Viet Nam's claim against the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("SAA") fails to satisfy the requirements of Article 6.2 of the DSU because it does not identify a "measure". The United States refers to the panel in *US Export Restraints* concluding that the SAA does not have any legal effect independent of a US statute or regulation. Consequently, the United States maintains that the SAA does not constitute a measure susceptible to dispute resolution.³
- 7. In view of the foregoing, the United States requests that the Panel find, before Viet Nam submits its first written submission, that certain measures and claims referenced in Viet Nam's Panel request are not properly within the Panel's terms of reference.⁴

III. SUMMARY OF VIET NAM'S RESPONSE

8. Viet Nam points out that the US request for a preliminary ruling is premature since many of the US concerns would have been alleviated upon receipt of Viet Nam's first written submission.

¹ US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 3 – 8.

² US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 9 – 10.

³ US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 11 – 16.

⁴ US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 17 – 19.

- 9. In this sense, first Viet Nam observes that Viet Nam is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied broadly in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and certain changed circumstances reviews. Viet Nam clarifies that its Panel Request includes as applied claims against the use of zeroing in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews. Furthermore, Viet Nam confirms that the original investigation and the sunset review are relevant to the extent that zeroing affects the Panel's analysis on the claims that are particular to the sunset review. Finally, Viet Nam states that both its Consultation and Panel requests identify an as such claim with respect to the USDOC's zeroing practice.⁵
- 10. Second, Viet Nam confirms that it did not intend before and does not intend now to assert its claim pursuant to the VCLT. Viet Nam simply included a reference to the VCLT to make clear the importance of the object and purpose of the relevant agreement in the course of treaty interpretation.⁶
- 11. Third, Viet Nam also confirms that Viet Nam's Panel Request does not identify the SAA as a measure and that Viet Nam does not intend to challenge the SAA as a measure.⁷
- 12. Finally, Viet Nam maintains that the sixth administrative review is within the Panel's terms of reference, contrary to what the United States posits. According to Viet Nam, Viet Nam conveyed to the United States, by way of the language included in the consultation request, the understanding that the sixth administrative review was a measure at issue. The United States was placed on notice of this fact through Viet Nam's identification of "ongoing" administrative reviews. Thus, according to Viet Nam, the "essence" of the challenge has not changed from its Consultation Request to the Panel Request; rather, Viet Nam's Panel Request provides greater precision on the measures at issue.⁸

IV. OBSERVATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

- 13. The European Union observes that Viet Nam appears to agree with most of the issues raised by the United States in its request for a preliminary ruling. In particular, Viet Nam confirms that (i) it is not challenging the use of zeroing broadly in several types of proceedings, but rather, the use of zeroing in the investigations involving certain shrimp from Viet Nam; (ii) it is not raising a claim under Article 31 of the VCLT; and (iii) it is not challenging the SAA as a measure. The only issue which appears to remain contested is whether the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 14. Before addressing whether the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference, the European Union notes that, notwithstanding the absence of disagreement between the parties, a panel has a basic obligation under Article 11 of the DSU to make an objective assessment of the matter before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case. Such assessment should include the facts, evidence and legal argument. A panel should therefore exercise particular care in this respect, particularly where, as in this case, the dispute touches on matters that the complaining party does not pursue. The Panel should particularly distinguish between finding that the Parties agree with respect to a particular fact, evidentiary matter or legal issue; and the Panel itself making such finding. Thus, the European Union invites the Panel to make an objective assessment of this matter by examining, in particular, Viet Nam's Consultation and Panel Requests.
- 15. That being said, the European Union considers that the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 16. The Appellate Body has found that Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU "set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel". ¹⁰ Moreover, the Appellate

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, para. 3.

⁶ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, para. 4.

⁷ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, para. 5.

⁸ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 7 – 11.

⁹ Panel Report, *Colombia – Indicative Prices*, para. 181; and Appellate Body Report, *US – Gambling*, para. 281 ("[W]hen a panel rules on a claim in the absence of evidence and supporting arguments, it acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article 11 of the *DSU*").

¹⁰ Appellate Body Report, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 131.

Body has held that "consultations provide the parties an opportunity to define and delimit the scope of the dispute between them". 11 At the same time, the Appellate Body has also explained that Articles 4 and 6 do not "require a precise and exact identity between the specific measures that were the subject of consultations and the specific measures identified in the request for the establishment of a panel". 12 Rather, "[a]s long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute", the Appellate Body has said it would "hesitate to impose too rigid a standard for the 'precise and exact identity' between the scope of consultations and the request for the establishment of a panel, as this would substitute the request for consultations for the panel request". 13

- As previously explained by the Appellate Body, the relevant question in determining whether any additional measure identified in a panel request (such as the sixth administrative review) falls within the Panel's terms of reference, is whether the "scope of the dispute" was expanded as a result of its addition. It is not, as the United States posits, whether the measure "existed" in accordance with Article 4.4 of the DSU. A measure that closely relates to measures explicitly identified in a request for consultations may be in the process of being adopted when the request for consultation is submitted. However, the "existence" or the adoption of the measure should not be an obstacle for requesting consultations on a matter whose scope is precisely delimited and then identifying such an additional measure in a panel request. Thus, in the European Union's view, the Panel needs to examine the texts of the Consultation Request and the Panel Request in order to determine whether the scope of the dispute has been broadened. 14
- In the present case, Viet Nam confirms that it did not identify the sixth administrative review by name in its Consultation Request. However, Viet Nam's Consultation Request dated 22 February 2012 explicitly identified the fourth and fifth administrative reviews involving certain shrimp from Viet Nam, "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warmwater shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802)" as well as the final results of the First Five-year "Sunset" Review in the same proceeding. 15 Viet Nam's Panel Request includes the sixth administrative review which was concluded on 11 September 2012.
- The European Union considers that the language used by Viet Nam in its Consultation Request made it clear that it intended to include any "ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews" concerning the same product originating in Viet Nam. Thus, the inclusion of the sixth administrative review, which took place between the date of Viet Nam's Consultation Request and Viet Nam's Panel Request, did not extend the scope of the matter.
- 20. The European Union observes that in US - Continued Zeroing, the Appellate Body ruled on a similar matter finding that 14 additional measures included in the EU's panel request (when compared to the EU's consultation request) fell within the panel's terms of reference:

As noted, the 14 additional measures and those explicitly listed in the consultations request relate to the same duties on the same products from the same countries imposed pursuant to the same authorities (that is, the relevant anti-dumping rules and regulations of the United States). In relation to each of the duties, the proceedings identified in both the consultations request and the panel request derive from the same underlying legal basis, that is, the anti-dumping duty orders issued pursuant to the original investigations in which dumping, material injury, and the causal link between the two were determined.¹⁶

In the case at hand, the sixth administrative review relates to the same anti-dumping duties on certain shrimp from Viet Nam, the case identified by number in Viet Nam's Consultation Request, and Viet Nam makes the same underlying legal claims.

¹¹ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 54.

¹² Appellate Body, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 132.

Appellate Body Report, US – Upland Cotton, para. 293.
 Appellate Body Report, US – Continued Zeroing (EC), para. 224.

¹⁵ Viet Nam's Consultation Request (WT/DS426/1), pp. 1 and 2.

¹⁶ Appellate Body Report, US – Continued Zeroing (EC), para. 231.

- 22. Consequently, the European Union considers that the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 23. Finally, in view of the exchange between the parties and third parties on this matter, the European Union invites the Panel to issue its preliminary ruling as early as possible, following the Appellate Body's guidance in $China Raw\ Materials$.

¹⁷ Appellate Body Report, *China – Raw Materials*, para. 233.



(14-6636)

17 November 2014

Original: English

Page: 1/118

UNITED STATES – ANTI-DUMPING MEASURES ON CERTAIN SHRIMP FROM VIET NAM

REPORT OF THE PANEL

Addendum

This addendum contains Annexes A to D to the Report of the Panel to be found in document WT/DS429/R.

LIST OF ANNEXES

ANNEX A

WORKING PROCEDURES OF THE PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex A-1	Working Procedures for the Panel	A-2
Annex A-2	Additional Working Procedures on BCI	A-7
Annex A-3	Preliminary Ruling	A-9

ANNEX B

ARGUMENTS OF VIET NAM

	Contents	Page
Annex B-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-2
Annex B-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the First Panel Meeting	B-9
Annex B-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-14
Annex B-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the Second Panel Meeting	B-24
Annex B-5	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-29
Annex B-6	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Reply for the Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-32

ANNEX C

ARGUMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES

	Contents	Page
Annex C-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of the United States	C-2
Annex C-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the First Panel Meeting	C-10
Annex C-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of the United States	C-13
Annex C-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the Second Panel Meeting	C-21
Annex C-5	United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-26
Annex C-6	United States' Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-31

ANNEX D

ARGUMENTS OF THIRD PARTIES

	Contents	Page
Annex D-1	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of China	D-2
Annex D-2	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of the European Union	D-7
Annex D-3	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Japan	D-12
Annex D-4	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Norway	D-17
Annex D-5	Thailand's Third Party Responses to Questions from the Panel	D-20
Annex D-6	China's Submission on the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	D-23
Annex D-7	European Union Comments on the US Request for a Preliminary Ruling	D-26

ANNEX A

WORKING PROCEDURES OF THE PANEL

	Contents	Page
Annex A-1	Working Procedures for the Panel	A-2
Annex A-2	Additional Working Procedures on BCI	A-7
Annex A-3	Preliminary Ruling	A-9

ANNEX A-1

WORKING PROCEDURES FOR THE PANEL

UNITED STATES – ANTI-DUMPING MEASURES ON CERTAIN SHRIMP FROM VIET NAM (DS429)

WORKING PROCEDURES FOR THE PANEL

Revised 9 August 2013

1. In its proceedings, the Panel shall follow the relevant provisions of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes (DSU). In addition, the following Working Procedures shall apply.

General

- 2. The deliberations of the Panel and the documents submitted to it shall be kept confidential. Nothing in the DSU or in these Working Procedures shall preclude a party to the dispute (hereafter "party") from disclosing statements of its own positions to the public. Members shall treat as confidential information submitted to the Panel by another Member which the submitting Member has designated as confidential. Where a party submits a confidential version of its written submissions to the Panel, it shall also provide a non-confidential summary of the information contained in its submissions that could be disclosed to the public. Non-confidential summaries shall be submitted no later than ten days after the written submission is presented to the Panel, unless a different deadline is granted by the Panel upon showing of good cause.
- 3. The Panel shall meet in closed session. The parties, and Members having notified their interest in the dispute to the Dispute Settlement Body in accordance with Article 10 of the DSU (hereafter "third parties"), shall be present at the meetings only when invited by the Panel to appear before it.
- 4. The parties shall treat business confidential information in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Additional Working Procedures of the Panel Concerning Business Confidential Information, set out in Annex 1 to these Working Procedures.
- 5. Each party and third party has the right to determine the composition of its own delegation when meeting with the Panel. Each party and third party shall have the responsibility for all members of its own delegation and shall ensure that each member of such delegation acts in accordance with the DSU and these Working Procedures, particularly with regard to the confidentiality of the proceedings.

Submissions

- 6. Before the first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties, each party shall submit a written submission in which its presents the facts of the case and its arguments, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. Each party shall also submit to the Panel, prior to the second substantive meeting of the Panel, a written rebuttal, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel.
- 7. A party shall submit any request for a preliminary ruling at the earliest possible opportunity and in any event no later than in its first written submission to the Panel. If Vietnam requests such a ruling, the United States shall submit its response to the request in its first written submission. If the United States requests such a ruling, Vietnam shall submit its response to the request prior to the first substantive meeting of the Panel, at a time to be determined by the Panel in light of the request. Exceptions to this procedure shall be granted upon a showing of good cause.

- 8. Each party shall submit all factual evidence to the Panel no later than during the first substantive meeting, except with respect to evidence necessary for purposes of rebuttal, answers to questions or comments on answers provided by the other party. Exceptions to this procedure shall be granted upon a showing of good cause. Where such exception has been granted, the Panel shall accord the other party a period of time for comment, as appropriate, on any new factual evidence submitted after the first substantive meeting.
- 9. Where the original language of exhibits is not a WTO working language, the submitting party or third party shall submit a translation into the WTO working language of the submission at the same time. The Panel may grant reasonable extensions of time for the translation of such exhibits upon a showing of good cause. Any objection as to the accuracy of a translation should be raised in writing as promptly as possible, and in any case no later than the deadline for the next written filing by the objecting party or third party following the submission which contains the translation in question. In exceptional circumstances, the Panel may grant an extension to this deadline upon good cause shown. Any objection shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the grounds of objection and an alternative translation.
- 10. To facilitate the maintenance of the record of the dispute and maximize the clarity of submissions, each party and third party shall sequentially number its exhibits throughout the course of the dispute. For example, exhibits submitted by Vietnam could be numbered VNM-1, VNM-2, etc. If the last exhibit in connection with the first submission was numbered VNM-5, the first exhibit of the next submission thus would be numbered VNM-6.

Questions

11. The Panel may at any time pose questions to the parties and third parties, orally or in writing, including prior to each substantive meeting.

Substantive meetings

- 12. Each party shall provide to the Panel the list of members of its delegation in advance of each meeting with the Panel and no later than 5.00 p.m. the previous working day.
- 13. The first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties shall be conducted as follows:
 - a. The Panel shall invite Vietnam to make an opening statement to present its case first. Subsequently, the Panel shall invite the United States to present its point of view. Before each party takes the floor, it shall provide the Panel and other participants at the meeting with a provisional written version of its statement. In the event that interpretation is needed, each party shall provide additional copies for the interpreters, through the Panel Secretary. Each party shall make available to the Panel and the other party the final version of its statement, preferably at the end of the meeting, and in any event no later than 5.00 p.m. on the first working day following the meeting.
 - b. After the conclusion of the statements, the Panel shall give each party the opportunity to ask each other questions or make comments, through the Panel. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. Each party shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by the Panel, any questions to the other party to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to the other party's written questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - c. The Panel may subsequently pose questions to the parties. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. The Panel shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by it, any questions to the parties to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to such questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - d. Once the questioning has concluded, the Panel shall afford each party an opportunity to present a brief closing statement, with Vietnam presenting its statement first.

- 14. The second substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties shall be conducted as follows:
 - a. The Panel shall ask the United States if it wishes to avail itself of the right to present its case first. If so, the Panel shall invite the United States to present its opening statement, followed by Vietnam. If the respondent chooses not to avail itself of that right, the Panel shall invite Vietnam to present its opening statement first. Before each party takes the floor, it shall provide the Panel and other participants at the meeting with a provisional written version of its statement. In the event that interpretation is needed, each party shall provide additional copies for the interpreters, through the Panel Secretary. Each party shall make available to the Panel and the other party the final version of its statement, preferably at the end of the meeting, and in any event no later than 5.00 p.m. of the first working day following the meeting.
 - b. After the conclusion of the statements, the Panel shall give each party the opportunity to ask each other questions or make comments, through the Panel. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. Each party shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by the Panel, any questions to the other party to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to the other party's written questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - c. The Panel may subsequently pose questions to the parties. Each party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. The Panel shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by it, any questions to the parties to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each party shall be invited to respond in writing to such questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.
 - d. Once the questioning has concluded, the Panel shall afford each party an opportunity to present a brief closing statement, with the party that presented its opening statement first, presenting its closing statement first.

Third parties

- 15. The Panel shall invite each third party to transmit to the Panel a written submission prior to the first substantive meeting of the Panel with the parties, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel.
- 16. Each third party shall also be invited to present its views orally during a session of this first substantive meeting, set aside for that purpose. Each third party shall provide to the Panel the list of members of its delegation in advance of this session and no later than 5.00 p.m. the previous working day.
- 17. The third-party session shall be conducted as follows:
 - a. All third parties may be present during the entirety of this session.
 - b. The Panel shall first hear the arguments of the third parties in alphabetical order. Third parties present at the third-party session and intending to present their views orally at that session, shall provide the Panel, the parties and other third-parties with provisional written versions of their statements before they take the floor. Third parties shall make available to the Panel, the parties and other third parties the final versions of their statements, preferably at the end of the session, and in any event no later than 5.00 p.m. of the first working day following the session.
 - c. After the third parties have made their statements, the parties may be given the opportunity, through the Panel, to ask the third parties questions for clarification on any matter raised in the third parties' submissions or statements. Each party shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by the Panel, any questions to a third party to which it wishes to receive a response in writing.

d. The Panel may subsequently pose questions to the third parties. Each third party shall then have an opportunity to answer these questions orally. The Panel shall send in writing, within a timeframe to be determined by it, any questions to the third parties to which it wishes to receive a response in writing. Each third party shall be invited to respond in writing to such questions within a deadline to be determined by the Panel.

Descriptive part

- 18. The description of the arguments of the parties and third parties in the descriptive part of the Panel report shall consist of executive summaries provided by the parties and third parties, which shall be annexed as addenda to the report. These executive summaries shall not in any way serve as a substitute for the submissions of the parties and third parties in the Panel's examination of the case.
- 19. Each party shall submit executive summaries of the facts and arguments as presented to the Panel in its written submissions, other than responses to questions, and its oral statements, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. Each executive summary of a written submission shall be limited to no more than 10 pages, and each summary of statements presented at a substantive meeting shall be limited to no more than 5 pages. The Panel will not summarize in the descriptive part of its report, or annex to its report, the parties' responses to questions.
- 20. Each third party shall submit an executive summary of its arguments as presented in its written submission and statement in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. This summary may also include a summary of responses to questions, where relevant. The executive summary to be provided by each third party shall not exceed 6 pages.
- 21. The Panel reserves the right to request the parties and third parties to provide executive summaries of facts and arguments presented by a party or a third party in any other submissions to the Panel for which a deadline may not be specified in the timetable.

Interim review

- 22. Following issuance of the interim report, each party may submit a written request to review precise aspects of the interim report and request a further meeting with the Panel, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. The right to request such a meeting shall be exercised no later than at the time the written request for review is submitted.
- 23. In the event that no further meeting with the Panel is requested, each party may submit written comments on the other party's written request for review, in accordance with the timetable adopted by the Panel. Such comments shall be limited to commenting on the other party's written request for review.
- 24. The interim report, as well as the final report prior to its official circulation, shall be kept strictly confidential and shall not be disclosed.

Service of documents

- 25. The following procedures regarding service of documents shall apply:
 - a. Each party and third party shall submit all documents to the Panel by filing them with the DS Registry (office No. 2047).
 - b. Each party and third party shall file 7 paper copies of all documents it submits to the Panel. However, when exhibits are provided on CD-ROMS/DVDs, 6 CD-ROMS/DVDs and 6 paper copies of those exhibits shall be filed. The DS Registrar shall stamp the documents with the date and time of the filing. The paper version shall constitute the official version for the purposes of the record of the dispute.
 - c. Each party and third party shall also provide an electronic copy of all documents it submits to the Panel at the same time as the paper versions, preferably in Microsoft Word format, either on a CD-ROM, a DVD or as an e-mail attachment. If the electronic

copy is provided by e-mail, it should be addressed to DSRegistry@wto.org, with a copy to XXXX@wto.org, XXXX@wto.org and XXXXQwto.org. If a CD-ROM or DVD is provided, it shall be filed with the DS Registry.

- d. Each party shall serve any document submitted to the Panel directly on the other party. Each party shall, in addition, serve on all third parties its written submissions in advance of the first substantive meeting with the Panel. Each third party shall serve any document submitted to the Panel directly on the parties and all other third parties. Each party and third party shall confirm, in writing, that copies have been served as required at the time it provides each document to the Panel.
- e. Each party and third party shall file its documents with the DS Registry and serve copies on the other party (and third parties where appropriate) by 5.00 p.m. (Geneva time) on the due dates established by the Panel. A party or third party may submit its documents to another party or third party in electronic format only, subject to the recipient party or third party's prior written approval and provided that the Panel Secretary is notified.
- f. The Panel shall provide the parties with an electronic version of the descriptive part, the interim report and the final report, as well as of other documents as appropriate. When the Panel transmits to the parties or third parties both paper and electronic versions of a document, the paper version shall constitute the official version for the purposes of the record of the dispute.

ANNEX A-2

ADDITIONAL WORKING PROCEDURES ON BCI

(ANNEX 1 TO THE WORKING PROCEDURES FOR THE PANEL)

Adopted 9 August 2013

- 1. The following procedures apply to business confidential information as defined in paragraph 2 that is submitted in the course of the Panel proceedings. These procedures do not apply to information that is available in the public domain. In addition, these procedures do not apply to any such business confidential information if the person who provided the information in the course of the reviews referenced in paragraph 2 agrees in writing to make the information publicly available.
- 2. For the purposes of the Panel proceedings, "business confidential information" ("BCI") means information previously submitted to the U.S. Department of Commerce as confidential information protected by Administrative Protective Order ("APO") in the course of the anti-dumping duty reviews at issue (Investigation No. A-552-802) that is submitted to the Panel by the Viet Nam or the United States.
- 3. The first time that a party submits to the Panel BCI from an entity that submitted that information in the reviews at issue, the party shall also provide, with a copy to the other party, an authorizing letter from the entity. That letter shall authorize both Viet Nam and the United States to submit in this dispute, in accordance with these procedures, any confidential information submitted by that entity in the course of those reviews.
- 4. No person shall have access to BCI except a member of the WTO Secretariat or the Panel, an employee of a party or third party, or an outside advisor for the purposes of this dispute to a party or third party. However, an outside advisor is not permitted access to BCI if that advisor is an officer or employee of an enterprise engaged in the production, export, or import of the products that were the subject of the proceedings at issue. Where an outside advisor has received BCI under the relevant APO, nothing in these procedures alters that outside advisor's obligations under the APO.
- 5. A party or third party having access to BCI submitted in these Panel proceedings shall treat it as confidential and shall not disclose that information other than to those persons authorized to receive it pursuant to these procedures. Any information submitted as BCI under these procedures shall only be used for the purposes of this dispute and for no other purpose. Each party and third party is responsible for ensuring that its employees and its outside advisors, if any, comply with these procedures.
- 6. A party submitting BCI, or a party or third party referring to BCI, in any written submission (including in any exhibits) shall mark the cover and the top of each page of the document containing any such information with the words "Contains Business Confidential Information". The specific information in question shall be enclosed in double brackets (i.e., [[xx.xxx.xx]]). Exhibits containing BCI shall be numbered to reflect that fact by including "(BCI)" in the exhibit number (e.g., Exhibit US-1(BCI)). A non-confidential version, clearly marked as such, of any written submission (including any exhibits) containing BCI shall be submitted pursuant to paragraph 2 of the Working Procedures within ten working days after the submission of the confidential version containing the BCI. The non-confidential version shall exclude all BCI.
- 7. In the case of an oral statement containing BCI, the party or third party making such a statement shall inform the Panel before making it that the statement will contain BCI, and the Panel will ensure that only persons authorized to have access to BCI pursuant to these procedures are in the room to hear that statement. Each party or third party filing a written version of an oral statement containing BCI (a "written BCI oral statement") shall mark the document as set forth in paragraph 6, first and second sentences. A party or third party filing a written BCI oral statement

shall file a non-confidential version of its written BCI oral statement no later than two working days following the meeting where the statement was made. The non-confidential version shall exclude all BCI.

- 8. Any BCI information that is submitted in binary-encoded form shall be clearly marked with the statement "Business Confidential Information" on a label on the storage medium and clearly marked with the statement "Business Confidential Information" in the title of the binary-encoded files.
- 9. The Panel shall not disclose in its report, or in any other way, any BCI. The Panel may, however, make statements of conclusion based on such information. Before the Panel circulates its final report, the Panel will give each party an opportunity to review the report to ensure that it does not contain any BCI.
- 10. Submissions containing BCI will be included in the record forwarded to the Appellate Body in the event of any appeal of the Panel's report.

ANNEX A-3

PRELIMINARY RULING

1 INTRODUCTION

- 1.1. On 31 July 2013, prior to Viet Nam filing its first written submission, the United States submitted a request for preliminary rulings. The United States' request objects to the inclusion of certain claims and measures in Viet Nam's panel request. Specifically, the United States requests that the Panel find that:
 - a. the sixth administrative review is not within the panel's terms of reference because it was not listed as a measure at issue in Viet Nam's request for consultations;
 - b. the "use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews and changed circumstances reviews" are not measures within the panel's terms of reference because they were not listed as measures at issue in Viet Nam's request for consultations;
 - c. the claim set forth in Viet Nam's panel request under Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("Vienna Convention") is outside the Panel's terms of reference because the Vienna Convention is not a covered agreement; and
 - d. the claim set forth in Viet Nam's panel request regarding the US Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act is not within the Panel's terms of reference because the SAA is not a measure susceptible to dispute resolution.
- 1.2. Viet Nam responded to the United States' request on 5 August 2013. The United States replied to Viet Nam's response on 13 August 2013, and two third parties, the European Union and China, filed observations regarding the United States' request on 14 August 2013. On 19 August 2013, Viet Nam provided comments on the United States' reply. Finally, on 27 August 2013, Viet Nam filed its first written submission.
- 1.3. We consider each of the objections raised by the United States in turn.

2 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO THE SIXTH ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW

2.1 Arguments of the parties

2.1.1 United States

2.1. The United States submits that Viet Nam's panel request lays out claims with respect to the sixth administrative review, which was not mentioned in the consultations request. The United States acknowledges that there need not be a "precise and exact identity" of measures between a request for consultations and a panel request "provided that the 'essence' of the challenged measures had not changed" and "[a]s long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute." However, the United States submits that a comparison of the respective parameters of Viet Nam's consultations and panel requests shows that the latter expanded the

¹ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

² United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings; China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings; European Union comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling.

³ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings.

⁴ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 4-5 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Customs Bond Directive*, para. 293, in turn citing Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice*, para. 137).

scope and changed the essence of its consultations request by including measures – notably the sixth administrative review – that were not the subject of its consultations request.⁵

- 2.2. The United States further argues that the sixth administrative review did not constitute a measure pursuant to Article 4.4 of the DSU since it was not concluded at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations; the United States argues that a determination that is not final cannot be a measure under Article 4.4 of the DSU.⁶ Because it could not have been the subject of consultations, the United States submits, this measure is not within the panel's terms of reference.⁷
- 2.3. In response to Viet Nam's arguments, the United States argues that just because a complaining party makes the same claims regarding a different measure does not mean that the responding party's response to those claims will be the same for both measures.⁸ The United States also disagrees with the proposition that all administrative reviews involving the same product are of the "same essence", because the facts, record evidence, determinations and resulting anti-dumping rates may all differ. For the United States, each administrative review determination is a separate and discrete measure, a situation different from one in which a measure replaces or amends another measure after the panel is established without affecting the essence of the measure on which consultations were held.⁹
- 2.4. The United States submits that the reference to on-going administrative reviews in the consultations request does not constitute the identification of a "measure" subject to dispute settlement because this reference addresses an indeterminate number of potential future measures. The United States submits that Article 3.3 of the DSU makes reference to dispute settlement pertaining to situations in which benefits accruing to Members under the covered agreement are presently being impaired. Measures not yet in existence at the time of a request for consultations cannot be considered to be impairing benefits, and it would be impossible to consult on such measures. Moreover, it would be impossible for a non-existent measure to be "affecting" the operation of a covered agreement, as further required by Article 4.2 of the DSU.10 The United States relies, in this respect, on the statement of the Appellate Body in US – Upland Cotton, that "the present tense of the phrase 'affecting the operation of any covered agreement' denotes that the effects of such measures must relate to the present impact of those measures on the operation of a covered agreement". 11 In sum, the United States submits, a "supposed future measure" that does not yet - and may never - exist is not a "measure" at that point in time, may never be one, and cannot be a measure having a present impact on the operation of a covered agreement.

2.2 Viet Nam

- 2.5. Viet Nam asks the Panel to find that the sixth administrative review falls within its terms of reference. Viet Nam cites prior Appellate Body decisions in which the Appellate Body considered that there need not be a precise identity between the measures identified in the request for consultations and panel request and that the relevant question is whether the addition of a measure in the panel request changes the "essence" of the challenged measure. Viet Nam considers that its consultations request identified the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue through the reference to "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews" related to the Shrimp from Viet Nam anti-dumping investigation, and through the reference to the "continued use" of the practices identified in its request in subsequent reviews.
- 2.6. Viet Nam considers that the United States' reference to Article 3.3 of the DSU means that the United States would have Viet Nam file new consultations and panel requests and force the DSB to

⁵ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁶ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6; United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁷ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

⁸ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

⁹ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

¹⁰ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, paras. 2-4.

¹¹ United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 4 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 261).

¹² Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 8.

¹³ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 9-10.

compose a new panel to examine its claims with respect to the sixth administrative review, concerning the same issues that are before this Panel. Viet Nam argues that this does not further that Article's objective of prompt settlement of disputes. ¹⁴ Viet Nam also submits that contrary to the United States' arguments, the sixth administrative review is not a measure "that may never exist". Rather it is a measure that does exist and is having a significant present impact on Viet Nam. Viet Nam adds that it is for this reason that it identified in its consultations request "any other ongoing or future administrative reviews", a clear reference to the sixth administrative review that was on-going at the time of the consultations request. ¹⁵ Viet Nam submits that the United States' reference to Article 4.4 of the DSU is equally misguided – the Appellate Body has explained that there need not be a precise and exact identity between the measures identified in the consultations request and panel request. ¹⁶

2.3 Arguments of the third parties

2.3.1 China

- 2.7. China does not take a position on whether the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference, but submits a number of observations to the Panel. First, China recalls that the Appellate Body has indicated that "measures enacted subsequent to the establishment of the panel may, in certain limited circumstances, fall within a panel's terms of reference". China submits that it would be inappropriate to a priori exclude that a review that is on-going at the time of a request for consultations could, in certain circumstances, also constitute a "measure" subject to consultations. China adds that panels and the Appellate Body have sometimes found that a review that is on-going at the time the matter was referred to a panel could be a "measure" within that panel's terms of reference.
- 2.8. China also notes that in *US Continued Zeroing*, the panel and the Appellate Body found that the inclusion in the panel request of certain administrative and sunset reviews pertaining to the same anti-dumping duties that had not been identified in the consultations request did not expand the scope or change the essence of the dispute, and further noted that the legal basis of the claims raised were the same. Hence, China submits, the fact that the sixth administrative review was not subject to consultations does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the panel request expands the scope or changes the essence of the dispute; rather, the Panel should examine whether the sixth administrative review relates to the same anti-dumping duty as other administrative reviews explicitly listed in the consultations request and whether the legal basis of the claims raised is the same.¹⁹

2.3.2 European Union

2.9. The European Union agrees with Viet Nam that the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference. The European Union recalls that the relevant question in determining whether an additional measure identified in the panel request falls within the Panel's terms of reference is whether the "scope of the dispute" was expanded as a result, not (as the United States posits) whether the measure existed in accordance with Article 4.4 of the DSU. The European Union argues that a measure that closely relates to measures explicitly identified in the consultations request may be in the process of being adopted when the request for consultations is submitted. The existence or adoption of the measure should not be an obstacle to requesting consultations on a matter whose scope is precisely delimited and then identifying such an additional measure in the panel request.²⁰

¹⁴ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.

¹⁵ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, para. 6.

¹⁶ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary rulings, para. 7.¹⁷ China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 2-9.

¹⁸ China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 6 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)*, paras. 124–127; Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.11 and 7.28).

¹⁹ China's submission on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 7-9 (quoting, *inter alia*, Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.28; and Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 228 and 231)

 $^{^{20}}$ European Union's comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling, paras. 13-17.

2.10. The European Union submits that the language used by Viet Nam in its consultations request made it clear that it intended to include on-going and future anti-dumping administrative reviews in the Shrimp from Viet Nam anti-dumping investigation. Thus, the inclusion of the sixth administrative review did not extend the scope of the matter covered in the consultations request. The European Union notes the similar ruling by the Appellate Body in US - Continued Zeroing.²¹

2.4 Evaluation by the Panel

- 2.11. Pursuant to Article 7.1 of the DSU, a panel's terms of reference are normally defined on the basis of the panel request. Furthermore, the Appellate Body has clarified that pursuant to the terms of Article 4 of the DSU, which set forth the requirements applicable to consultations and consultations requests²², and those of Article 6.2 of the DSU, governing panel requests²³, the request for consultations constitutes a prerequisite for the panel request and as a result circumscribes the scope of the panel request and, therefore, the panel's terms of reference.²⁴
- 2.12. The Appellate Body has indicated that Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU "set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel"25, and that "consultations" provide the parties an opportunity to define and delimit the scope of the dispute between them".²⁶ The Appellate Body has also held that Articles 4 and 6 do not "require a precise and exact identity between the specific measures that were the subject of consultations and the specific measures identified in the request for the establishment of a panel". 27 Thus, the Appellate Body has indicated that:

As long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute, we hesitate to impose too rigid a standard for the "precise and exact identity" between the scope of consultations and the request for the establishment of a panel, as this would substitute the request for consultations for the panel request.²⁸

- 2.13. Thus, the relevant question before the Panel is not whether the measures at issue were included in the request for consultations but, rather, whether the "scope of the dispute" was expanded as a result of the inclusion of additional measures in the panel request.²⁹ There is no disagreement between the parties on this point. Rather, the parties disagree on the application of this principle to the case at hand with respect to the sixth administrative review.
- 2.14. In the present case, Viet Nam's request for consultations identifies as "measures at issue" not only the fourth and fifth administrative reviews, but also:

[a]ny other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warmwater shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802), as well as any assessment

²¹ European Union's comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling, paras. 18-22 (quoting Appellate Body Report, US – Continued Zeroing (EC), para. 231).

²² Article 4.4 provides, in particular, that:

Any request for consultations shall be submitted in writing and shall give the reasons for the request, including identification of the measures at issue and an indication of the legal basis for the complaint.

²³ Article 6.2 of the DSU provides, in relevant part:

The request for establishment of the panel ... shall indicate whether consultations were held, identify the specific measures at issue and provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly.

Appellate Body Report, Mexico - Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 - US), para. 58.

²⁵ Appellate Body Report, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 131.

²⁶ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico - Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 - US)*, para. 54.

²⁷ Appellate Body, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 132. (original emphasis)

²⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US - Upland Cotton*, para. 293 (citing Appellate Body Report, *Brazil - Aircraft*,

para. 132). (footnote omitted)

²⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 224 (referring to Appellate Body Report, *US –* Upland Cotton, para. 293); see also Panel Report, US — Orange Juice (Brazil), para. 7.18.

instructions, cash deposit requirements, and revocation determinations issued pursuant to such reviews.30

The reference to "[a]ny other ongoing or future" administrative reviews in our view clearly reflects an intention on the part of Viet Nam to include additional, and future, related measures within the scope of the dispute.

2.15. We note that an objection similar to that raised by the United States in its request was rejected by the panel and the Appellate Body in US - Continued Zeroing. In that case, the United States objected to the addition in the panel request of 14 anti-dumping determinations (administrative reviews and sunset reviews) that had not been included in the consultations request. 31 The panel in that case considered that the European Communities' consultations request and panel request referred "to the same subject matter, the same dispute". 32 It reasoned that the 38 determinations that had been included in the request for consultations and the 14 determinations that were added in the panel request:

concern different determinations pertaining to the same products originating in the same countries. Furthermore, these two groups of measures entail the alleged use of the same methodology, zeroing, which is the gist of the EC's claims before us. ... the substantive similarity between the two sets of measures at issue, and the fact that they concern the same country and the same product outweigh the fact that they represent independent determinations under US law.³³

- 2.16. In reaching the conclusion that the additional measures fell within its terms of reference, the panel also attached importance to the fact that the EC's claims with respect to the additional measures were the same as those it made with respect to the measures set out in the request for consultations. The panel noted that "the legal nature of the EC's claims regarding the additional 14 measures does not in any way differ from that of the 38 measures identified in the EC's consultations request" and that "the 14 measures entailed the same types of zeroing methodology as the 38 measures."34
- 2.17. The panel's finding rejecting the US objection was upheld by the Appellate Body. The Appellate Body attached importance to the fact that the consultations request made clear that, in addition to the zeroing methodology, the European Communities challenged the "outcome of the administrative reviews", the "imposition of definitive duties", and "the continuation of the antidumping [duty]" resulting from the proceedings listed in the requests.³⁵ Thus, the Appellate Body concluded, the measures referred to in the consultations request included the duties imposed, or continued to be applied, as a result of the specific anti-dumping proceedings listed in the annexes. The Appellate Body noted that all of the 14 additional measures identified in the panel request pertained to the same anti-dumping duties that were included in the consultations request. Some were sunset review determinations continuing anti-dumping duties in relation to which successive administrative reviews were identified in the consultations request. Others were more recent administrative reviews (under the same anti-dumping order), than the ones listed in the consultations request, including two final determinations issued subsequent to preliminary determinations that were listed in the consultations request. Hence, the proceedings listed in the consultations request and the panel request were "successive stages subsequent to the issuance of the same anti-dumping duty orders". 36
- 2.18. The Appellate Body also noted that both the consultations request and the panel request made clear that the European Communities was challenging the proceedings at issue because of the USDOC's use of the WTO-inconsistent zeroing methodology which, it alleged, the USDOC "systematically" applied in all types of review proceedings. In sum, the Appellate Body concluded,

³⁰ WT/DS429/1, G/L/980, G/ADP/D91/1, p. 1, point (5).

³¹ Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, paras. 7.17-7.28; Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued* Zeroing, paras. 220-236.

Panel Report, US – Continued Zeroing, para. 7.28.

³³ Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 7.25. ³⁴ Panel Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 7.28.

³⁵ Appellate Body Report, *US - Continued Zeroing*, para. 226. (emphasis added by the Appellate Body)

³⁶ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 228.

the 14 additional measures "relate to the same duties identified in the consultations request, and the legal basis of the claims raised is the same." ³⁷

- 2.19. As in US $Continued\ Zeroing$, the additional measure in the present case is one which constitutes a subsequent step in the imposition of anti-dumping duties under a single anti-dumping order. Moreover, as was the case in US $Continued\ Zeroing$, Viet Nam's challenge of the sixth administrative review proceeds under the same provisions of the covered agreement as its challenge to the two administrative reviews that had already been completed at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations, and which Viet Nam had explicitly identified therein. Finally, as noted above, Viet Nam's request for consultations specifically identified "[a]ny other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof" as part of the matter submitted to the dispute settlement in that request. In these circumstances, we cannot conclude that the inclusion of the sixth administrative review which was under way at the time of the request for consultations³⁸ has expanded the scope of the dispute.
- 2.20. The United States argues that the sixth administrative review is legally distinct from the two administrative reviews that were listed by name in the consultations request and for this reason, it cannot properly fall within the Panel's terms of reference. We do not consider that the inclusion in a panel request of a measure that is legally distinct from the measures included in the consultations request necessarily has the effect of expanding the scope of the dispute. In addition, as we have already noted, and as the Appellate Body found in *US Continued Zeroing* in rejecting the same argument, the determinations identified in both the consultations request and the panel request "derive from the same underlying legal basis, that is, the anti-dumping duty orders issued pursuant to the original investigation[] in which dumping, material injury, and the causal link between the two were determined."³⁹
- 2.21. We note that the United States relies on Articles 3.3, 4.2 and 4.4 of the DSU for the proposition that measures not yet in existence at the time of the request for consultations are not challengeable before a dispute settlement panel. 40 The United States relies, *inter alia*, on the Appellate Body's statement in $US-Upland\ Cotton$ that "the present tense of the phrase 'affecting the operation of any covered agreement' denotes that the effects of such measures must relate to the present impact of those measures on the operation of a covered agreement". 41 We note, however, that this statement was made in the context of the Appellate Body discussing whether a party may request consultations on expired measures. We do not read the statement as reflecting a conclusion by the Appellate Body that a complaining party is precluded from requesting consultations with respect to a matter comprised in part of measures not yet in existence at the time of the request. 42
- 2.22. In addition, the United States cites the report of the panel in *US Upland Cotton*, where the panel found that payments under a legislative act that was listed in the *panel request* but had not yet been adopted at the time of the submission of that request could not fall within the Panel's

³⁷ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 228.

³⁸ The sixth administrative review in the USDOC's anti-investigation concerning certain Shrimp from Viet Nam was initiated on 31 March 2011, the preliminary results of that administrative review were issued on 7 March 2012 and the final results on 11 September 2012 (USDOC, Initiation Notice for Sixth Administrative Review (31 March 2011), Exhibit VN-16; USDOC, Preliminary Results for Sixth Administrative Review (7 March 2012), Exhibit VN-19; USDOC, Final Results and Accompanying Issues and Decision Memorandum for Sixth Administrative Review (11 September 2012), Exhibit VN-20. The USDOC issued amended final results of the sixth administrative review on 18 October 2012 (USDOC, Amended Final Results for Sixth Administrative Review (18 October 2012), Exhibit VN-22). Viet Nam submitted its request for consultations on 22 February 2012 (WT/DS429/1, G/L/980, G/ADP/D91/1), and requested the establishment of a panel on 20 December 2012 (WT/DS429/2). Viet Nam submitted a revised request for the establishment of the panel on 17 January 2013 (WT/DS429/2/Rev.1).

³⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Continued Zeroing*, para. 231.

United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, paras. 2-4.

⁴¹ United States' Reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, para. 4 (quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 261).

We note, in this regard, that the Appellate Body added that the fact that "the representations of the Member requesting consultations must indicate that the effects are occurring in the present" "does not exclude the possibility that the effects of a measure may occur in future". (Appellate Body Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, footnote 205).

terms of reference. 43 The United States also cites the report of the panel in *Indonesia – Autos*, asserting that the panel in that dispute "agree[d] with the responding party that a measure adopted after the establishment of the panel was not within the panel's terms of reference".44 However, the *Indonesia – Autos* panel found that the measure in question did not fall within its terms of reference because it was not identified in the panel request, not, as the United States describes, because it had not been adopted at the time of the panel request. In any event, even on the United States' reading, these two panel findings concern the question of whether measures adopted after the submission of the panel request or the establishment of the panel may fall within a panel's terms of reference. The question before us concerns measures that were adopted after the submission of the request for consultations, but before the submission of the panel request. The findings of prior panels and of the Appellate Body on this issue make it clear that a measure may fall within a panel's terms of reference even if it is adopted or issued after the request for consultations.

3 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO VIET NAM CLAIMS CONCERNING THE USDOC'S "USE OF ZEROING" IN ORIGINAL INVESTIGATIONS, NEW SHIPPER REVIEWS AND CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES REVIEWS

3.1. Viet Nam's panel request sets forth "as such" and "as applied" claims with respect to the USDOC's use of zeroing in, inter alia, original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews:

Viet Nam considers the above-mentioned laws and procedures by the USDOC to be, as such and as applied in a continued and ongoing basis, inconsistent with several provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, GATT 1994, and the Marrakesh Agreement. In original investigations, periodic reviews, new shipper reviews, sunset reviews, and certain changed circumstances reviews, USDOC's use of zeroing is inconsistent with ...

Moreover, Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology in the original investigation and the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, (1) to the extent that this practice impacted the USDOC's revocation and five-year "sunset" review determinations in the measures at issue and (2) to the extent that these determinations demonstrate the USDOC's continued and ongoing use of this practice throughout the full course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceeding.45

- 3.2. The United States submits that the request for consultations refers to only one original investigation, the original investigation on certain Shrimp from Viet Nam, and notes that Viet Nam's panel request makes it clear that that determination is being challenged only to the extent that it has an effect on subsequent reviews. The United States further submits that Viet Nam's consultations request does not otherwise include a challenge to the use of zeroing broadly in original investigations, and does not challenge the use of zeroing in new shipper reviews or certain changed circumstances reviews. Consequently, the United States argues, original investigations in general, and new shipper and changed circumstances reviews are not within the Panel's terms of reference.46
- 3.3. Viet Nam indicates in its response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, that it is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied, to these particular types of proceedings:

on the United States' concern regarding Viet Nam's reference to the use of zeroing in "original investigations," "new shipper reviews," and "certain changed circumstances reviews," Viet Nam is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied, to these particular types of proceedings. Viet Nam's panel request makes clear that the "zeroing" as applied claims are limited to the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative

⁴³ United States' Reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, footnote 13 (referring to Panel Report, *US – Upland Cotton*, para. 7.158).

44 United States' reply to Viet Nam's response to the US request for preliminary rulings, footnote 13

⁽referring to Panel Report, *Indonesia – Autos*, para. 14.3).

45 WT/DS429/2/Rev.1, section 2(a)(ii).

⁴⁶ United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 7.

reviews. The original investigation and the sunset review are relevant to the extent that zeroing affects the Panel's analysis on the claims that are particular to the sunset review.⁴⁷

Viet Nam adds that its consultations and panel requests also identify an "as such" claim with respect to the USDOC's "zeroing practice".

- 3.4. In its response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary ruling, Viet Nam further clarifies that it is not challenging, *inter alia*, the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews "as measures". According to Viet Nam, inclusion of these "items" in the panel request "was warranted because of their relevance to the measures that are being challenged".⁴⁸
- 3.5. We read these responses as indicating that Viet Nam does not intend to pursue any claim with respect to original investigations other than with respect to the original investigation in the USDOC's Shrimp proceedings, insofar as it affects the sunset review or with respect to new shipper reviews or changed circumstances reviews. We note that consistent with our understanding of Viet Nam's responses, Viet Nam formulates no arguments in support of any claim in respect of these types of proceedings in its first written submission. This being the case, we do not consider it necessary to rule on this aspect of the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

4 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO VIET NAM'S CLAIM UNDER ARTICLE 31 OF THE VIENNA CONVENTION

4.1. Viet Nam's panel request sets forth a claim with respect to the USDOC's limitation of the number of respondents selected for full investigation or review under, *inter alia*,

Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties because the USDOC's practice does not comport with the overall purpose and intent of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, namely, the fair and effective imposition of anti-dumping duties so as to prevent the sale of goods for less than fair value.⁴⁹

- 4.2. The United States requests that the Panel find that this claim does not fall within its terms of reference. The United States argues that the Vienna Convention is not a "covered agreement" as defined in the DSU.⁵⁰ Viet Nam indicates that it did not and does not intend to assert a claim under the Vienna Convention.⁵¹
- 4.3. In light of this clarification, we do not consider it necessary to rule on this aspect of the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

5 US PRELIMINARY OBJECTION WITH RESPECT TO THE STATEMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION (SAA) ACCOMPANYING THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT

- 5.1. Viet Nam's panel request indicates that it is made with respect to, *inter alia*, "Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA"), 19 U.S.C. §3538, as elaborated upon in the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the URAA and as implemented by the relevant United States authorities."⁵²
- 5.2. In addition, in section 2(f)(i) of its panel request, Viet Nam challenges the temporal aspect of the United States' implementation of adverse DSB rulings and recommendations under Section 129. The request alleges that Viet Nam's reading of Section 129 as requiring that implementation only be made effective with respect to unliquidated entries entered or withdrawn from warehouse on or after the date on which the USTR directs implementation "is confirmed by

⁴⁷ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 3.

⁴⁸ Viet Nam's response to the United States' reply for the request for preliminary ruling, paras. 2-3.

⁴⁹ WT/DS/429/2/Rev.1, point 2(c)(ii)6.

⁵⁰ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 9-10.

⁵¹ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 4.

the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA"), which has been properly recognized as a definitive statement on operation of the URAA", adding that "[t]he SAA is the most probative authority available for purposes of interpreting the language of the URAA." The request indicates that the US practice with respect to implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings:

is applied pursuant, in particular, to the following United States laws and measures:

- 1. Section 129 of the URAA, codified as 19 U.S.C. § 3538;
- 2. the United States Statement of Administrative Action that accompanied the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, H.R. Doc. No. 103-316, vol. 1.
- 5.3. The United States contends that Viet Nam's panel request appears to identify the SAA as a measure at issue in the dispute. The United States submits that the SAA is not a measure susceptible to dispute resolution because it does not have any legal effect independent of the relevant US statute or regulation. 53
- 5.4. Viet Nam indicates that it did not and does not intend to assert a claim with respect to the SAA 54
- 5.5. In light of this clarification, we do not consider it necessary to rule on this aspect of the United States' request for preliminary rulings.

6 CONCLUSION

- 6.1. On the basis of the foregoing, we find that the USDOC's final determination in the sixth administrative review in its anti-dumping investigation of certain Shrimp from Viet Nam, as well as the imposition of anti-dumping duties and cash deposit requirements pursuant to this determination, fall within our terms of reference.
- 6.2. In light of the clarifications provided by Viet Nam in its responses to the United States' request for preliminary rulings concerning the claims it is pursuing, we do not consider it necessary, at this time, to make any findings with respect to the other objections formulated by the United States in its request. However, the Panel reserves the right to revisit these issues, as well as any other issues pertaining to its terms of reference, as necessary, in its Final Report or at any other time during the dispute.
- 6.3. This preliminary ruling will become an integral part of the Panel's final report, subject to any changes that may be necessary in light of comments received from the parties at the interim review stage.

⁵³ United States' request for preliminary rulings, paras. 11-16.

⁵⁴ Viet Nam's response to the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 5.



ANNEX B

ARGUMENTS OF VIET NAM

	Contents	Page
Annex B-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-2
Annex B-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the First Panel Meeting	B-9
Annex B-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of Viet Nam	B-14
Annex B-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of Viet Nam at the Second Panel Meeting	B-24
Annex B-5	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-29
Annex B-6	Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Reply for the Request for Preliminary Rulings	B-32

ANNEX B-1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF VIET NAM

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. Viet Nam's First Written Submission provides the factual context and legal arguments challenging certain practices used by the United States Department of Commerce ("USDOC") in a general and prospective manner and in the context of the ongoing anti-dumping proceedings involving certain shrimp products from Viet Nam. Each of these practices limits the ability of Vietnamese exporters and producers to prove the absence of dumping, resulting in the continuation of an anti-dumping duty order for companies that have gone to great lengths to alter their conduct to eliminate dumping.
- 2. The purpose of the *Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("Anti-Dumping Agreement") and *Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("GATT 1994") is to set the rules for the imposition of anti-dumping duties intended "to offset or prevent dumping". Administering authorities are required to adhere to the provisions therein so that anti-dumping duties are imposed only where a party is properly found to sell merchandise for less than fair value. The general principle contained in Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement is that following the imposition of anti-dumping duties, the duties should remain in effect "only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". Articles 11.2 and 11.3 specify the mechanisms provided to companies subject to anti-dumping duties in order to obtain revocation of those duties.
- Yet, the practices repeatedly adopted by the USDOC in the ongoing anti-dumping proceeding of shrimp from Viet Nam have frustrated achievement of the general principle of Article 11.1. This case contests several of the practices that have been used by the USDOC in this anti-dumping proceeding: (1) application of the zeroing methodology to determine the margins of dumping for individually investigated respondents and for calculation of the "all others" rate; (2) application of an NME-wide entity rate based on adverse facts available to non-investigated respondents that do not submit a separate rate application or certification; (3) issuance of an affirmative determination in the five year "sunset" review based on margins of dumping that were calculated using WTO- inconsistent practices, and ignoring factors other than changes in import volumes in determining the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring; and (4) repeated refusal by the USDOC to review individual respondents requesting a review or providing voluntary responses in order to demonstrate the absence of dumping. The combined effect of these practices has resulted in the continuation of anti-dumping duties beyond the duration allowed under Article 11.1. In addition, this case contests the U.S. law and practice of limiting implementation of adverse WTO decisions related to anti-dumping duties to those entries of subject merchandise made after the date the United States Trade Representative determines to implement.

II. MEASURES AT ISSUE

- 4. Viet Nam sets forth the claims raised in this dispute:
 - With respect to zeroing, Viet Nam claims that the United States' zeroing procedures are
 inconsistent, as such, with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994. Furthermore,
 Viet Nam claims that, through the application of the zeroing procedures in the fourth, fifth,
 and sixth administrative reviews, the United States acted inconsistently with the AntiDumping Agreement and the GATT 1994;
 - With respect to the NME-wide entity practice, Viet Nam claims that the United States' NME-wide entity practice is inconsistent, as such, with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Furthermore, Viet Nam claims that, through the application of the Vietnam-wide entity practice in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, the United States acted inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Additionally, Viet Nam claims that the United States' application of the Vietnam-wide entity practice on a continued and ongoing

basis through the course of the shrimp anti-dumping proceedings is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement;

- Viet Nam claims that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994;
- Viet Nam claims that the final sunset review determination in the shrimp from Viet Nam proceeding was inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement; and
- Viet Nam claims that, through the United States' failure to revoke the antidumping duty order with respect to certain companies in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, the United States acted inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

III. CLAIMS ON THE USE OF ZEROING IN PERIODIC REVIEWS

A. Factual Background

- 5. The USDOC calculates the margin of dumping based on a comparison of normal value and United States export price or constructed export price. Normal value in proceedings involving a nonmarket economy country is based on the producer's factors of production, which include individual inputs for raw materials, labor, and energy based on the actual production experience of the individual respondent. The resulting normal value is compared to the export price or constructed export, which is the price at which the product is first sold to an unaffiliated purchaser. The comparison of normal value and price is made between products of similar characteristics. That is, within the broad category of subject merchandise certain frozen and canned warmwater shrimp are many sub-categories with differing key characteristics, as determined by the USDOC. Each of these sub-categories, or "models" under USDOC terminology, is assigned a control number ("CONNUM") by the USDOC.
- 6. In administrative reviews, the USDOC engages in what is referred to as "simple zeroing," in which individual export transactions are compared with a contemporaneous weighted-average normal value; the amount by which normal value exceeds the export price is the dumping margin for that export transaction. These intermediate comparisons may produce either positive or negative dumping margins; with simple zeroing, comparisons that produce a negative dumping margin are ignored for purposes of calculating the overall dumping margin. Thus, the total amount of dumping reflected in the numerator is inflated by an amount equal to the excluded negative differences.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding Zeroing

- 7. Viet Nam challenges the zeroing procedures "as applied" and, with respect to its use in administrative reviews, "as such," as identified in the panel request. Including the present dispute, there have now been thirteen zeroing disputes brought against the United States, and in each one so far decided by the Appellate Body, zeroing has been found to be WTO-inconsistent. Repeated determinations on the inconsistency of a practice create obligations that Members should be entitled to rely upon. Viet Nam submits that the Panel should adhere to the fundamental principles of the dispute settlement process and adhere to the prior findings of the Appellate Body with regard to zeroing.
- 8. The GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement both define the concepts of "dumping" and "margin of dumping" with regard to the product under investigation as a whole, not models or categories that are subsets of the product. First, Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994 defines dumping as when "products of one country are introduced into the commerce of another country at less than the normal value of the products", referring to the product as a whole, not subsets.
- 9. Second, Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, which, based on the terms of the provision applies to the entire Anti-Dumping Agreement, defines "dumping" for purposes of the Anti-Dumping Agreement with clear reference to the "product" that is subject to the proceeding. The Appellate Body has repeatedly understood this definition to preclude a finding of dumping for any subcategory of the product under review. Additional articles of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and GATT 1994 provide contextual support for this interpretation: Article 9.2 discusses the imposition of an antidumping duty with respect to a "product"; Article 6.10 states that the

investigating authority shall calculate an "individual margin of dumping for each exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation"; and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 provides that "in order to offset or prevent dumping, a contracting party may levy on any dumped product an anti-dumping duty not greater in amount than the margin of dumping in respect of that product".

- 10. Thus, although an investigating authority may undertake multiple comparisons using averaging groups or models, the results of the multiple comparisons at the sub-level are not "margins of dumping". Rather, those results reflect only intermediate calculations made by an investigating authority in the context of establishing margins of dumping for the product under investigation.
- 11. Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement governs the assessment of final anti-dumping duties and thus bears on the USDOC's use of simple zeroing in administrative reviews. The Article does not mandate use of a particular methodology for calculation of final assessment, but does require that the "amount of the anti-dumping duty shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established under Article 2". Thus, the margin of dumping, calculated pursuant to Article 2, serves as a ceiling to the amount of antidumping duties that may be collected in the assessment phase. Additionally, as is clear from the reference to Article 2, the "margin of dumping" in Article 9.3 must likewise be calculated on the basis of all transactions for the product as a whole, not merely a subset of the transactions for that product.
- 12. The USDOC's zeroing methodology does not take into consideration all transactions for the product, treating as zero and disregarding those intermediate comparisons where export price of an individual transaction exceeds normal value. By doing so, the calculation necessarily results in dumping margins that are higher than would be true if all export transactions were taken into account, *i.e.*, higher than the dumping margins would be for the product as a whole.
- 13. The GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement require that where the administering authority makes multiple comparisons at an intermediate stage, *all* intermediate comparisons must be aggregated, including comparisons that produce both negative and positive dumping margins. As has been repeatedly construed by the Appellate Body and prior panels, this action violates Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 and Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

IV. CHALLENGES TO THE "NME-WIDE ENTITY" RATE

A. Factual Background

- 14. The USDOC's Anti-Dumping Manual identifies the USDOC's NME-wide entity rate practice, both on a generalized and prospective basis, and with respect to the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews of the shrimp proceeding. In the case of anti-dumping proceedings involving NME countries, the USDOC begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies are part of a single entity, called the NME-wide entity. To receive a separate rate that is, a rate separate from the NME-wide entity the burden falls on each individual company to rebut the presumption and satisfy the USDOC's separate rate criteria. Companies not individually reviewed must submit to the USDOC a "separate rate application" or a "separate rate certification" to establish the absence of government control, both in law and in fact, with respect to exports. Companies must present affirmative evidence to satisfy the criteria established by the USDOC to prove the absence of government control.
- 15. Companies that satisfy the criteria will typically receive a rate based on the weighted average of the rates individually calculated for the mandatory respondents, excluding rates that are zero, *de minimis*, or based on facts available. Companies that do not satisfy the USDOC's criteria receive the NME-wide rate, a punitive rate based on adverse facts available. The result of this practice is grossly inflated margins for companies that are unable to satisfy the unjustified criteria established by the USDOC.
- 16. For administrative reviews four, five, and six, the Vietnam-wide entity rate greatly exceeded the separate rate: 25.76 percent for the Vietnam-wide entity, compared to between 1.04 percent and 4.27 percent, as the Vietnam-wide entity rate was based on the adverse facts available rate of the original investigation.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding The "NME-Wide Entity" Rate

- 17. Viet Nam sets forth three independent legal bases under which the USDOC's practice, as such and as applied, creates an impermissible rate not allowed for under the WTO Agreements.
- 18. <u>First</u>, the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement require the calculation of individual anti-dumping margins and assessment of individual anti-dumping duties. As the Appellate Body clarified in *EC Fasteners (China) –* a dispute with facts nearly identical to the present dispute these articles require authorities to specify an individual duty for each supplier, except where doing so would be impracticable. The Appellate Body explained that an authority may not assume affiliation among several suppliers, as doing so is contrary to the general requirement that individual dumping margins and duties be determined for each known supplier. Rather, the authority must make an <u>affirmative</u> determination that a particular exporter and the state constitute a single entity.
- 19. Here, the USDOC's presumption of the existence of an NME-wide entity and application of a single, NME-wide entity rate does not comply with the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, which requires individual anti-dumping margins and duties for exporters and producers. The obligation is on the authority to make an affirmative finding on the existence of a single entity, and not on the company to establish entitlement to a separate rate.
- 20. <u>Second</u>, the USDOC's failure to assign a rate to companies not individually investigated consistent with Article 9.4 violates the plain terms of that Article. Article 9.4 governs situations where an authority limits the number of exporters individually investigated and identifies the maximum permissible anti-dumping rates to be applied. Specifically, as a general rule, the rate must be no greater than the weighted-average margin of dumping for the selected exporters. Here, the NME-wide entity has not been and can never be individually investigated. Accordingly, the NME-wide entity must be assigned an anti-dumping margin consistent with the requirements of Article 9.4. The USDOC's failure to do so violates the express requirements of the Article.
- 21. Third, the USDOC's application of a rate based on adverse inferences to the NME-wide entity is inconsistent with Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Article 6.8 and Annex II set forth the conditions that must be satisfied before an authority may apply facts available based on adverse inferences. An authority may apply adverse inferences only when an "interested party" refuses to provide "necessary information" or significantly impedes the investigation. The Appellate Body clarified that "interested party" refers only to investigated exporters, and does not extend to non-investigated exporters. As the Panel recalls, dumping margins of non-investigated exporters are governed exclusively by Article 9.4. The USDOC's application of a rate based on adverse facts available to an NME-wide entity is, as such and as applied to the reviews at-issue, inconsistent with the requirements of Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 22. Finally, we note that Viet Nam's Protocol of Accession does not allow for discriminatory treatment that is contrary to the plain language of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The Protocol identifies the entire universe of situations in which an authority may deviate from the terms of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. In anti-dumping proceedings, the only rights and obligations affected by the Protocol relate to the substitution of surrogate values for actual values in calculating normal value in anti-dumping proceedings. At the time of Viet Nam's accession, Members, with the full understanding of Viet Nam's economic development, determined that they would account for Viet Nam's non-market economy status with this alternative calculation methodology. Allowance for further discriminatory treatment cannot be read into the Protocol or the Working Party Report that accompanied the Protocol. The USDOC has no legal basis for applying the presumption of state ownership and control that underpins the NME-wide entity practice.

V. SECTION 129 OF THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT IS INCONSISTENT AS SUCH WITH NUMEROUS PROVISIONS OF THE WTO AD AGREEMENT AND GATT 1994

A. Factual Background

23. Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA") provides the legal authority under U.S. law for the United States to comply with adverse DSB rulings concerning its obligations under the WTO agreements where implementation can be achieved by a new administrative

determination without the need for statutory or regulatory amendment. By law, the effect of such implementation is strictly limited to entries of subject merchandise made on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination. Because of the U.S. retrospective system for assessing anti-dumping and countervailing duties, the implication of this legal prohibition is that "prior unliquidated entries" (*i.e.*, imports that entered the United States prior to the date on which USTR directs implementation for which there has been no definitive assessment of liability for anti-dumping or countervailing duties) are excluded from any U.S. measure to comply with an adverse DSB ruling.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA

- 24. The panel hearing the dispute in US Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act found that Canada in that dispute did not meet its burden to establish that Section 129(c)(1) was inconsistent as such with the United States' obligations under the WTO. But the panel in US Section 129(c)(1) erred in its interpretation of Section 129, and otherwise lacked critical factual context. At the time, the United States had implemented only one Section 129 determination and there seemed to be some confusion as to what that determination revealed. Moreover, U.S. courts had not yet had an opportunity to interpret the provision. The situation now is dramatically different. There have now been dozens of Section 129 determinations. There have now been opinions issued by the U.S. judiciary concerning the limits of Section 129. This context demonstrates that Section 129 serves as an absolute legal bar to any refunds of duties on prior unliquidated entries. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with the following provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994:
 - Article 1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that an anti-dumping measure is applied despite imposition of the duty pursuant to an investigation conducted in violation of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
 - Article 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the USDOC and other relevant United States agencies continue to collect anti-dumping duties at a level known to be in excess of the appropriate amount.
 - Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the USDOC and other relevant United States agencies continue to collect AD duties at a level that exceeds the margin of dumping as established under Article 2.
 - Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the AD order remains in effect, and anti-dumping duties continue to be collected, beyond the period necessary to counteract dumping.
 - Article 18.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, to the extent that the continued collection of duties amounts to an action that is performed without the authority provided in the GATT 1994.

VI. THE USDOC'S FINAL SUNSET REVIEW DETERMINATION IS INCONSISTENT WITH ARTICLE 11 OF THE ANTI-DUMPING AGREEMENT

A. Factual Background

- 25. The United States implements Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement through five-year sunset reviews under Section 751(c)(1) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1675a(a)). Consistent with its obligations under Article 11.3, on January 4, 2010, the USDOC published its notice of initiation of the "First Five-year 'Sunset' Review of the Antidumping Duty Order on Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam". Ultimately, the USDOC found that the revocation of the anti-dumping duty order on frozen warmwater shrimp from the Socialist Republic of Vietnam "would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping".
- 26. The USDOC's conclusion relied upon the margins of dumping determined in the original investigation and the four subsequent reviews, all of which were calculated using the WTO-

¹ Initiation of Five-Year ("Sunset") Review, 75 Fed. Reg. 103 (January 4, 2010). (Exhibit VN-08).

inconsistent zeroing methodology. First, for the rates of individually investigated exporters, the USDOC relied on rates calculated using the zeroing methodology. Second, for the "separate," or all others, rate, the rates were based on the weighted-average margin of the mandatory respondents, rates that were calculated using the zeroing methodology. Third, for the so-called Vietnam-wide entity, as already found by the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam), the USDOC's application of a rate based on adverse facts to this entity is inconsistent with several provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

27. In addition, the USDOC cited to a decline in imports, a conclusion that was not factually or analytically sound. The USDOC's analysis of the decline failed to fully consider the circumstances in which any decline may have occurred.

B. Claims of Inconsistency Regarding the USDOC's Final Sunset Review

- 28. The Appellate Body has repeatedly explained that where an authority uses a methodology for the sunset review determination that relies on the margins of dumping in the original investigation or subsequent reviews, the margins of dumping relied upon must have been calculated in a WTO-consistent manner. The logic of the Appellate Body's interpretation rests on its finding that the only definition of dumping applicable to Article 11.3 is a definition that is consistent with the terms of Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The "likelihood" of dumping continuing or recurring must be based on a WTO-consistent definition of dumping, both in terms of future prospects of dumping and in terms of any reliance on past margins of dumping in determining the likelihood of future dumping. Reliance on dumping otherwise defined, as was the case here, is inconsistent with Article 11.3.
- 29. As explained above, each of the margins relied upon by the USDOC to determine the "likelihood" of a continuation or recurrence of dumping was affected, either directly or indirectly, by use of a WTO-inconsistent methodology. Use of zeroing produced a distortion with respect to the margins calculated for the individually examined companies and the separate rate margin, and the so-called Vietnam-wide entity should have received the separate rate margin. These WTO-inconsistencies essentially infected the sunset review determination, producing a separate and distinct WTO-inconsistency.
- VII. CONTINUATION OF THE ANTI-DUMPING DUTIES AGAINST RESPONDENTS REQUESTING REVOCATION BASED ON THE ABSENCE OF DUMPING OVER A PERIOD OF MORE THAN A SINGLE REVIEW IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES UNDER ARTICLES 11.1 AND 11.2

A. Factual Background

- The U.S. anti-dumping law provides for revocation of an anti-dumping duty, in whole or in part, under section 751(d)(1) of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. §1675). During the period covered by the reviews included in this proceeding and US - Shrimp (Viet Nam), the relevant USDOC regulation governing partial revocations was section 351.222 (19 CFR §351.222).² Section 351.222 (b)(B)(ii)(2)(i)(A) permits partial revocation (i.e. revocation of the anti-dumping duties as to one or more individual exporters) based on the absence of dumping "for a period of at least three consecutive years". Also relevant to this proceeding, because it is cited as the basis of the USDOC declining to undertake reviews on the necessity of continuing anti-dumping duties, is the issue of limiting the number of individually investigated companies. United States law requires, as a general rule, that each known producer or exporter of subject merchandise be individually examined. However, like Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, U.S. law provides for an exception where it would be "impracticable" to individually examine all exporters. While United States law is consistent with Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in practice the exception has become the rule. The USDOC has made no effort to balance its supposed resource constraints with the interests and rights of the Vietnamese exporters/producers to have duties assessed based on individual company margins of dumping and to obtain a company specific review in order to demonstrate the absence of dumping.
- 31. There are three categories of exporters that have sought revocation of the anti-dumping duties with respect to their exports to the United States: (1) exporters that have been mandatory

² 19 CFR § 351.222. (Exhibit VN-58).

respondents and have received or should have received zero or de minimis margins of dumping if the margins were determined in a manner consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and which have or should have received zero or de minimis margins in multiple reviews; (2) exporters that have been mandatory respondents in less than three reviews which believe they can demonstrate the absence of margins of dumping in all reviews for a period of three consecutive years; and (3) respondents that have not been mandatory respondents in any reviews which believe that they can demonstrate the absence of margins of dumping for a period of at least three years. Based on Section 751(d)(1) of the Tariff Act of 1930 and Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, requests for revocations were filed with the USDOC by various exporters in these categories beginning with the third administrative review, in accordance with the three year requirement stipulated by USDOC regulation section 351.222(b)(B)(ii)(2)(i)(A).

B. Claims Of Inconsistency Regarding The USDOC's Revocation Determinations

- 32. The relevant provisions related to the revocation of anti-dumping duties are provided in Article 11 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. It is clear that Article 11 attempts to effect the establishment of precise limits on the form, duration, and amount of any anti-dumping duties imposed on the exporters and producers in the Member country subject to the anti-dumping measures. Article 11.3 has already been addressed as it applies only to five-year or so-called sunset reviews. However, Article 11 does not only provide for revocation of anti-dumping duties as a result of required five-year reviews under Article 11.3; it also provides for reviews under Article 11.2 in order to give effect to the general principle articulated in Article 11.1. Article 11 specifically contemplates the possibility that exporters and producers subject to the anti-dumping measures will cease dumping, that dumping will not recur, and that anti-dumping duties will be revoked. This is clear from Article 11.1. The principles set out in Article 11.1 limiting the duration of anti-dumping duties is no less an object and purpose of the Anti-Dumping Agreement than is the protection provided by the Anti-Dumping Agreement against injurious dumping. Yet giving effect to this object and purpose of the Anti-Dumping Agreement through reviews under Article 11.2 has been rendered meaningless by the actions of the United States.
- 33. There is no ambiguity in the language of Article 11.1. Anti-dumping duties are to be imposed only as long as necessary to counteract dumping. Article 11.2, by using the phrase "shall review", indicates that the obligations imposed on the authority under Article 11.2 are mandatory, not discretionary. Furthermore, the review contemplated by Article 11.2 may be requested "by any interested party which submits positive information substantiating the need for a review". Consistent with the language in Article 11.1, if dumping is not continuing there would appear to be no need for anti-dumping duties to offset the dumping. Viet Nam would further note that permitting an authority to extend the application of the exception contained in Article 6.10 in a periodic review to Article 11.2 on the basis of the application of the exception has allowed the U.S. to avoid its obligations under Article 11.2. An interpretation of Article 11.4 which renders the rights and obligations under Article 11.2 a nullity is not acceptable under the normal terms of treaty interpretation.
- 34. The United States' failure to base its Article 11.1 and 11.2 revocation determination on margins of dumping calculated in a manner consistent with Article 2 was in violation of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Furthermore, the United States' failure to revoke the anti-dumping order with respect to companies that have been denied the opportunity to demonstrate the absence of dumping was in violation of Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. An interpretation of the exception in Article 6.10 that allows an authority, in this case the USDOC, to use the exception to undermine the disciplines governing duration of anti-dumping duties, and, in effect, prevent the revocation or termination of the anti-dumping measures other than in a sunset review under Article 11.3, must be considered inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

ANNEX B-2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE ORAL STATEMENTS OF VIET NAM AT THE FIRST PANEL MEETING

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Many of the claims Viet Nam raises in this dispute have been addressed, directly or indirectly, by the Appellate Body. The Appellate Body has provided substantial guidance on the appropriate legal interpretation of several provisions of the covered agreements implicated in this proceeding. It is incumbent on the Panel to closely review and follow the principles articulated by the Appellate Body in prior proceedings. In multiple reports, the Appellate Body has made clear this expectation that panels adhere to Appellate Body and prior panel guidance on issues of legal interpretation. The Appellate Body has explained that "following the Appellate Body's conclusions in earlier disputes is not only appropriate, it is what would be expected from panels, especially where the issues are the same." Specifically, Viet Nam believes that in this particular proceeding the reasoning of the panel in DS404 could usefully inform this Panel's deliberations.

II. COMMERCE'S NME-WIDE ENTITY POLICY

- 2. The United States contests Viet Nam's assertion that the USDOC's "NME-wide entity" policy constitutes a measure that may be challenged as such. As such claims serve important functions to the dispute settlement system: resolution of as such measures helps provide security and predictability in the conduct of future trade and prevents the need for duplicative litigation. To evaluate whether a measure may be challenged on an as such basis, the Appellate Body considers whether the rule or norm is attributable to the Member; the precise content of the rule or norm; and whether the rule or norm has general and prospective application. Overlaying these criteria is the understanding that non-mandatory measures can be challenged as such.
- 3. The record before the Panel demonstrates that the USDOC's adoption of its NME-wide entity policy constitutes an act "setting forth rules or norms that are intended to have general and prospective application," and therefore constitutes a measure subject to an as such challenge. First, the USDOC's Anti-Dumping Manual states that, in market-economy country proceedings, "individual dumping margins are automatically assigned". In the next sentence, the Manual explains that in NME cases, exporters must pass the so-called separate rate test to receive a rate independent from the NME-wide entity. In these cases, the Manual explains, "the Department begins with a rebuttable presumption that all companies" are part of a single, government-wide entity. The rules, including the separate rate test and the presumption of single ownership, are applicable in all anti-dumping cases involving NME countries. Second, the USDOC's policy bulletin sets forth the same presumption for NME countries as the Manual. The very purpose of the bulletin is to provide certainty and predictability to NME exporters on the expectations and requirements for a separate rate. Finally, the Panel has before it the final anti-dumping determinations relevant to this proceeding. These determinations illustrate the USDOC's continued and ongoing application of this policy.
- 4. Viet Nam's claim of inconsistency with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement is quite simple: the USDOC has no legal basis under either the Anti-Dumping Agreement or Viet Nam's Accession Protocol to presume the existence of a single, government-wide entity. Viet Nam does not claim that an authority may never make a finding of affiliation, which could permit application of a single rate to multiple entities. That ability is not in dispute. Rather, this claim concerns the USDOC's presumption of government ownership of all firms. The Appellate Body in EC-Fasteners and the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) rejected the exact arguments by the United States on this claim. The U.S. position reads into Viet Nam's Accession Protocol a concession that does not exist: that an authority may presume that every firm in an NME country is under the control of the government.

¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 188.

- 5. As explicitly provided for in the Accession Protocol, the <u>only</u> special rule to be applied in an anti-dumping proceeding is that an authority may substitute surrogate values for actual values in calculating normal value. Viet Nam did not commit nor does the Accession Protocol or Working Party Report contain any evidence of commitment to an understanding that all firms in Viet Nam may be presumed to be affiliated. The Appellate Body has made clear that this particular special rule an assumption of affiliation across all firms in an NME country cannot be read into a country's Accession Protocol. We urge the Panel to follow the plain language of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, Viet Nam's Accession Protocol, and the directly applicable instruction from the Appellate Body.
- 6. Viet Nam and the United States appear to agree with the basic legal obligations of Article 9.4: "As long as the antidumping duty for a non-examined exporter or producer does not exceed the ceiling and no zero or de minimis margins or margins based on facts available were used in determining the ceiling, there can be no violation of Article 9.4". As shown in the respondent selection memos of the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, the Vietnam-wide entity was never selected for individual examination. Because the Vietnam-wide entity was "not included in the examination," the USDOC's failure to assign a dumping margin consistent with Article 9.4 constitutes a violation of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 7. The United States also does not appear to dispute Viet Nam's legal interpretation of the obligations contained in Article 6.8. The USDOC never requested any information from the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, or sixth administrative reviews; thus, the USDOC has no factual basis to conclude that the Vietnam-wide entity did not cooperate with the investigation and therefore warrant a rate pursuant to Article 6.8. Instead, the rate applied in each administrative review was from the original investigation, where the USDOC confirmed that it would apply a rate based on adverse inferences. As the panel in DS404 concluded under identical circumstances "[t]o fail to treat this rate as a facts available rate would elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances surrounding the assignment of that rate". The only basis for applying the rate to the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews is Article 6.8. Because no necessary information was ever requested from the Vietnam-wide entity during those reviews, the USDOC had no justification for assigning a rate based on adverse inferences.

III. ZEROING

8. The issue of zeroing in the context of administrative reviews has been long settled by the DSB. Use of the zeroing methodology is inconsistent with Articles 2.1 and 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. The Appellate Body has adopted this interpretation on multiple occasions, and emphatically rejected the exact arguments that are again being made by the United States. We urge the Panel to follow the clear and consistent instruction of the Appellate Body.

IV. SECTION 129 OF THE URAA

- 9. Viet Nam's claims with respect to Section 129 center on the legal effect given new determinations issued under Section 129(c)(1). Focusing on determinations issued by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Section 129(c)(1) limits implementation of adverse WTO rulings to entries of subject merchandise made on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination by the U.S. Trade Representative. Section 129(c)(1) does not allow any refund of invalid duties applicable to entries made before the USTR implementation date.
- 10. Because of the U.S. retrospective system for assessing anti-dumping and countervailing duties, the implication of this prohibition against refunds is that "prior unliquidated entries" where there has been no definitive assessment of liability for anti-dumping or countervailing duties are excluded from any U.S. measure to comply with an adverse DSB ruling. Final liability is assessed on such entries, or they remain subject to excessive anti-dumping or countervailing duty deposit rates, regardless of the adverse DSB ruling or any U.S. measures to comply with that ruling. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with

² Panel Report, *US – Shrimp from Viet Nam*, para. 7.279.

various provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and Article 18.1.

- 11. The United States does not challenge Viet Nam's characterization of Section 129 and the fact that the legal effect of determinations issued under that provision extends only to entries made on or after the USTR implementation date. The United States also does not challenge what Viet Nam has carefully documented in relation to every relevant Section 129 determination issued to date, and specifically the systematic liquidation of entries made prior to the reasonable period of time to implement under circumstances the DSB found to be WTO-inconsistent. Finally, the United States does not dispute Appellate Body precedent set forth in Viet Nam's first written submission, namely that implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings should be immediate, and that prior unliquidated entries as of the close of the RPT are within the scope of the measure necessary to render complete and effective compliance with DSB rulings and recommendations.³
- 12. The pattern of conduct documented by Viet Nam can only flow from a statute that precludes implementation on a WTO-consistent basis. While the United States continues to claim that Section 129(c)(1) does not prevents WTO-consistent action on prior unliquidated entries,⁴ it remains incapable of providing any legitimate example. The fact that Congress could simply pass a law that might have an impact on prior unliquidated entries⁵ is an untenable defense as it would effectively render "as such" claims meaningless if the permitted. The only other example offered by the United States concerns Section 123 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act.⁶ But Viet Nam is not challenging Section 123. Beyond this fundamental point, a review of the U.S. examples that attempt to demonstrate what the United States claims are real world examples of Section 123 and Section 129 working in tandem to render WTO-consistent results makes clear the error in the U.S. claims.⁷
- 13. The Panel should ask itself two simple questions: Why is the United States assessing duties on entries under invalid AD/CVD orders even after it issues a Section 129 determination invalidating that order? Is it really true that the U.S. Congress created a limitation in Section 129(c)(1) merely to permit the temporary retention of cash deposits that would be returned at the end of a later administrative review? Any doubts as to the answers to these questions have long since been resolved. There is a long history here in terms of actual conduct and judicial interpretation that the panel hearing the dispute in DS221 simply did not have, all of which confirm an interpretation of U.S. law that denies relief for prior unliquidated entries when implementing adverse DSB rulings and recommendations.

V. THE SUNSET REVIEW

- 14. Viet Nam would like to provide the Panel with a simplified overview of the facts and the Appellate Body jurisprudence which conclusively demonstrates that the U.S. Department of Commerce's sunset determination was inconsistent with its obligations under Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement:
 - Section 752(c)(1)(A) and (B) of U.S. law provides that in making a sunset determination the Department "shall" consider the weighted-average dumping margins determined in the investigation and subsequent reviews.
 - The U.S. Department of Commerce Policy Bulletin, "Policies Governing the Conduct of Five Year (Sunset) Reviews of Antidumping and Countervailing Duty Orders", similarly requires the examination of the weighted-average dumping margins in the investigation and subsequent reviews in determining the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring.
 - The Decision Memoranda in the Sunset Review of *Shrimp from Viet Nam* specifically relies on the margins of dumping in the investigation and subsequent reviews in making the determination that dumping is likely to continue or recur.

 $^{^3}$ See, e.g., Viet Nam's First Written Submission at para. 279, citing Appellate Body Report, US-Zeroing (Japan), para. 161.

⁴ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 132.

 $^{^{5}}$ *Id*. at para. 112

⁶ Id., paras. 118-120.

⁷ *Id*.

- The Decision Memoranda and underlying computer calculations by the Department of Commerce indicate that in the original investigation and each subsequent review, including those reviews examined for purposes of the Department of Commerce's Sunset Review of Shrimp from Vietnam, relied on so-called zeroing in determining the margins of dumping.
- Beginning with its report in *US Zeroing (EC)*, the Appellate Body has repeatedly confirmed that the application of zeroing in determining the margins of dumping in reviews is "as such" inconsistent with Member's obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- The Panel in US Shrimp (Viet Nam) (DS404) found that "evidence submitted by Viet Nam
 the accuracy of which is not contested by the United States demonstrates that the
 USDOC applied 'simple zeroing' not only in the second and third administrative reviews,
 but also in each of the additional administrative reviews conducted under the Shrimp
 order".8
- The evidence on the record of this investigation similarly demonstrates the use of zeroing throughout the course of the *Shrimp* proceeding.
- In *US Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, the Appellate Body stated that while an authority has no obligation to rely on the margins of dumping found in the original investigation and review in making its determination under Article 11.3, "should investigating authorities choose to rely upon dumping margins in making their likelihood determination, the calculation of these margins must conform to the disciplines of Article 2.4".
- Finally, in *US-Zeroing (Japan)*, the Appellate Body stated that "as the likelihood-of-dumping determinations in the sunset reviews at issue in this appeal relied on margins of dumping calculated inconsistently with the Anti-Dumping Agreement, they are inconsistent with Article 11.3 of that Agreement". ¹⁰
- 15. Thus, the facts and jurisprudence above provide a sufficient basis for the Panel to determine that the sunset review was conducted in a manner inconsistent with the requirements of Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement because it relied on WTO inconsistent margins of dumping.
- 16. We will now address the U.S. arguments that it properly relied on positive margins of dumping in making its determination as to the likelihood of dumping continuing or recurring. The only positive margins of dumping that should have been found and relied upon in the Sunset Review were in fact the margins of dumping based on "facts available" in the first review. The two adverse facts available rates continually cited by the U.S. must be evaluated in the proper context. Considering those rates in the context of the margins used by USDOC in the Sunset Review is very different than considering the rates in the context of a uniform and sustained pattern of no dumping over a period of years by each and every company investigated individually who cooperated in the review. Similarly, the relevance of the USDOC's volume analysis for determining whether dumping is likely to continue or recur is very different in the context of a pattern of sporadic dumping, as would be shown by using the WTO inconsistent margins on which the USDOC relied, than in the context of a uniform and sustained pattern of "safety margins". In other words, the use of WTO inconsistent margins of dumping infected every aspect of the Sunset Review.
- 17. The broader point is that the margins relied upon, other than the two adverse facts available findings in the first review, were established using a WTO inconsistent methodology and, therefore, were necessarily not established properly. Furthermore, by basing its likelihood determination on improperly established margins, the USDOC evaluation of the facts could not be unbiased or objective.

⁸ Panel Report, *US – Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, para. 7.113.

⁹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 127.

VI. COMPANY SPECIFIC REVOCATION

- 18. It is Viet Nam's contention that Article 11.2 imposes an obligation on an authority to terminate antidumping duties as to individual producers or exporters who demonstrate that the continued imposition of antidumping duties is no longer necessary to offset dumping as to that individual producer or exporter. The starting point for analysis of Article 11.2 is the "general rule" provided in Article 11.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement which states that "An Anti-dumping duty shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". Articles 11.2 and 11.3 provide the rules governing the implementation of the general rule contained in Article 11.1. Article 11.1 limits both the duration of the application of anti-dumping duties in stating that duties shall remain in effect "only as long as ... necessary" and the scope of their application by using the language "only ... to the extent necessary".
- 19. The United States fails to acknowledge the distinction between Article 11.2 and 11.3. A review under Article 11.2 is triggered by a request from one or more interested parties submitting positive information substantiating the need for a review, while Article 11.3 is automatically triggered by the passage of time without any requirement that there be a request. This distinction should inform the interpretation of both Articles 11.2 and 11.3. The United States has provided no rational basis for a conclusion that different rules should apply to the original determination of dumping and the determination of the amount of the duties to be collected than are applied in reviews under Article 11.2.

ANNEX B-3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF VIET NAM

I. INTRODUCTION

1. In this submission, Viet Nam sets forth in a clear and straightforward manner the legal and factual basis for each of its claims, the legal and factual basis of the U.S. arguments, and analyzes both in the context of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and WTO jurisprudence.

II. CLAIMS REGARDING USE OF ZEROING TO CALCULATE MARGINS OF DUMPING IN ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWS

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

- 2. Articles 2 and 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, in tandem, prohibit the USDOC's use of zeroing as such and as to Vietnamese exporters in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. A margin of dumping that does not take into consideration the result of all comparisons of normal value and export price does not meet the definition of dumping as articulated in Article 2. This failure to calculate a margin of dumping "in accordance with Article 2" renders the margins of dumping assigned to the individually investigated respondents and the separate rate respondents, whose margins of dumping were based on the margins of dumping calculated for the individually investigated respondents, inconsistent with Article 9.3 and Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 3. The United States does not appear to dispute that the USDOC used the zeroing methodology to calculate margins of dumping in the fourth, fifth, or sixth administrative reviews of the shrimp proceeding. Viet Nam challenges the USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology as such and as applied in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. The USDOC's use of the zeroing methodology affected the calculation of dumping margins assigned to the individually investigated respondents and the separate rate respondents, whose margins of dumping were based on the margins of dumping calculated for the individually investigated respondents.

B. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

4. The United States advances several arguments in response to Viet Nam's claims concerning the USDOC's use of zeroing in administrative reviews. First, the United States claims that "dumping" may occur at an individual, transaction-specific level, and is not limited to an aggregated analysis of all transactions. A second, related argument is that the authority is not required to calculate a margin of dumping for the product as a whole, but may instead calculate a dumping margin for each transaction of that product. The United States disagrees with consistent Appellate Body determinations that the term "product" has a collective meaning, such that the authority must determine a dumping margin based on all transactions for that product.

C. Analysis

5. Use of the zeroing methodology as such and as applied to the calculation of dumping margins assigned to the individually investigated respondents and the separate rate respondents – whose margins of dumping were based on the margins of dumping calculated for the individually investigated respondents – in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with Articles 2.1 and 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. Article 9.3 requires that the margin of dumping "as established under Article 2" serve as the ceiling when determining the maximum antidumping duty to be applied to an exporter. Thus, prior to reaching the additional obligations regarding duty assessment contained in Article 9.3, the authority must calculate the margin of dumping in accordance with Article 2.

¹ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 223-225.

² Ibid. para. 226.

6. The USDOC failed to do so by systematically excluding certain transactions from the margin of dumping calculation: the USDOC did not calculate a dumping margin for the product as a whole. The Appellate Body has time and again concluded that only a single margin of dumping can be calculated for each exporter, refusing to accept the United States' position that each transaction can produce a dumping margin. To ensure predictability and security in the dispute settlement process, the Panel must recognize the now-settled definitions of these concepts that are so fundamental to the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

III. CLAIMS REGARDING THE USDOC'S NME-WIDE ENTITY POLICY

- 7. Viet Nam raises three independent claims with respect to the USDOC's NME-wide entity practice. In light of the extensive discussion already provided to the Panel on this issue, this submission contains only a brief summary of the arguments already set forth in greater detail. As an initial matter, however, Viet Nam makes the following comments.
- 8. <u>First</u>, Viet Nam believes that it has adduced sufficient evidence to support its assertion that the NME-wide entity policy establishing a rebuttable presumption that all companies are part of a single, government-wide entity, constitutes a rule or norm of general and prospective application.³ <u>Second</u>, the United States' attempts to retrofit the facts of the original investigation in order to fit within its claim that the USDOC investigated the Vietnam-wide entity in the original investigation in the form of both Kim Anh Company, Ltd. and the Government of Vietnam, and that the rate determined for the Vietnam-wide entity was based on adverse facts available because neither cooperated in the investigation, is contradicted by the facts.⁴

A. Claim of Inconsistency with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

(1) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

9. The plain text of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, as clarified by the Appellate Body, requires authorities to apply, as a general rule, individual dumping margins and assessment rates. Article 6.10 requires that "authorities shall, as a rule, determine an individual margin for each known exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation". Use of the verb "shall" conveys the mandatory nature of the obligation, subject to the defined, limited exceptions. Article 9.2 applies the principles of Article 6.10 – which govern the determination of dumping margins – to the actual imposition of antidumping duties. The Appellate Body recognized that these obligations are linked, together answering the <u>legal</u> question of whether an authority may use a presumption to assign a single antidumping margin to multiple entities. Significantly, Viet Nam's Accession Protocol does nothing to limit application of the general rule contained in Articles 6.10 and 9.2. The only special rule committed to by Viet Nam concerns the substitution of surrogate values for actual values in calculating normal value. Viet Nam did not commit to any other special rules deviating from the general rules of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, and the Appellate Body has explained that an authority may not read into an Accession Protocol special rules that are not enumerated.

(2) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

10. The United States advances multiple arguments in response to this claim. First, the U.S. argues that the Working Party Report justifies use of the rebuttable presumption. Second, the U.S. argues that the facts of the present dispute are sufficiently different from the EC-Fasteners (China) case that the Panel should deviate from the reasoning and conclusions reached in that report.

³ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 141-143; Viet Nam Answers to Questions, paras. 19-20.

⁴ U.S. Answers to Questions, Question 17.

⁵ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 320.

⁶ Ibid. para. 290.

⁷ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 163-167.

⁸ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 179; U.S. Answers, para. 23.

(3) Analysis

- 11. The Panel should conclude that the United States' application of a rebuttable presumption that all exporters are part of a single, government-wide entity is inconsistent as such and as applied in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The United States' reliance on Viet Nam's Accession Protocol and Working Party Report as a legal justification for the presumption is unavailing. Viet Nam's Accession Protocol contains only a single exception to the provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement: the use of surrogate values instead of actual values in the calculation of normal value. The Accession Protocol identifies the entire universe of commitments considered and made by Viet Nam in its accession to the WTO. Furthermore, the Appellate Body has confirmed that no legal basis be assumed from the Accession Protocol or Working Party Report based on the discussion on Viet Nam's economy contained in those documents. 9
- 12. Lacking any legal justification for its presumption, the U.S. attempts to turn the issue into a question of fact. This is a distraction from the fundamental issue, as described by the Appellate Body: an authority cannot use a presumption to apply a single rate to multiple entities; the covered agreements do not allow for use of a presumption, regardless of the "evidence" cited by an authority. As the Appellate Body explained in EC Fasteners (China), "the evidence submitted ... cannot establish that the economic structure in China {generally} justifies a general presumption that the State and all the exporters in all industries that might be subject to an anti-dumping investigation constitute a single legal entity, where no legal basis for such a presumption is provided for in the covered agreements". 10

B. Claim of Inconsistency with Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

(1) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

13. Where an authority limits the number of exporters subject to individual examination pursuant to Article 6.10, Article 9.4 establishes the ceiling anti-dumping duty rate that may be applied to those exporters not selected for individual examination. As demonstrated in the respondent selection memoranda for the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews¹¹, the USDOC in each administrative review "limited {its} examination" ostensibly pursuant to Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Because the Vietnam-wide entity was not selected for individual examination in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews¹³, the Vietnam-wide entity, as an "exporter{} or producer{} not included in the examination," should have received an antidumping duty that did not exceed the weighted average margin of dumping of the selected exporters or producers, excluding rates that are zero, *de minimis*, or based on facts available.

(2) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

14. The United States argues that Article 9.4 is not applicable to the Vietnam-wide entity, explaining that "Article 9.4 does not obligate Members to replace an existing WTO-consistent rate that was individually determined for the entity, which had failed to cooperate in the proceeding, with a different rate that is based on an average rate of independent exporters or producers that fully cooperated". 14

(3) Analysis

- 15. The antidumping duty rate applied to the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews is inconsistent with the plain language of Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 16. The United States attempts to read into the provision exceptions that do not exist. Under the United States' reading of Article 9.4, the provision would be applicable only under certain

⁹ Appellate Body Report, EC – Fasteners (China), para. 290 (emphasis added).

¹⁰ Appellate Body Report, *EC – Fasteners (China)*, para. 369.

¹¹ Exhibits VN-07, -11, -17.

¹² Ibid.

¹³ Ibid

¹⁴ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 50; U.S. First Written Submission, para. 193.

circumstances, including when an exporter has not been previously examined. Yet, the article does not contain this open-ended exception that the United States' interpretation would require.

17. The United States' factual claims similarly fail. The United States suggests that a rate was never requested for the Vietnam-wide entity and therefore the USDOC was required to apply the same rate. This argument is factually incorrect. In the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, a review was requested for constituent parts of the Vietnam-wide entity. The same rate was never that the same rate. The same rate was never requested for constituent parts of the Vietnam-wide entity.

C. Claim of Inconsistency with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement

(1) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

18. The USDOC also failed to comply with Article 6.8 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement when it assigned a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity. The USDOC has no basis under Article 6.8 and Annex II to apply a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews, as well as the first, second, and third administrative reviews, relevant to the extent that the USDOC relied on the rate for purposes of its Sunset Review determination. Because the USDOC did not request any information from the Vietnam-wide entity, it had no factual or legal basis to apply an antidumping duty rate based on adverse facts available.

(2) Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

19. The United States argues that the rates applied in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews are <u>not</u> based on adverse facts available.¹⁷ Rather, the USDOC "based the final assessment for entries by the Vietnam-government entity during the review period on the 'rate in effect'".¹⁸

(3) Analysis

- 20. An authority may apply adverse facts available only where an "interested party" refuses to provide "necessary information" to the authority. As the United States acknowledges, no information was requested from the Vietnam-wide entity. The United States explains: "Commerce did not request information from, or send letters to, the Vietnam government entity (or the Government of Vietnam) during the covered reviews". ¹⁹ The USDOC therefore did not satisfy the requisite criteria, as set forth in Article 6.8, in order to apply a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity.
- 21. The panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) confronted this precise issue, concluding that "there is no basis for any valid finding of non-cooperation, and therefore no basis for any valid application of facts available in the sense of Article 6.8". Based on the evidence of this proceeding, we urge the Panel to adopt the reasoning of the panel in US-Shrimp (Viet Nam) and find that application of a rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity is inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

IV. CLAIMS REGARDING SECTION 129 OF THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

22. Viet Nam's claims regarding Section 129 concern the legal effect given new determinations issued under Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("URAA"), which limits implementation of adverse WTO rulings and recommendations to entries of subject merchandise, entered or withdrawn from warehouse for consumption on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination by the U.S. Trade

¹⁵ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 185.

¹⁶ Compare Third AR Final Results, 74 Fed. Reg. at 47197 at fn. 19 (Exhibit VN-72) with Notice of Initiation for Fourth AR, 74 Fed. Reg. at 13179.

¹⁷ U.S. First Written Submission, para. 187.

¹⁸ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 69.

¹⁹ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 70.

²⁰ Panel Report, US – Shrimp (Viet Nam), para. 7.280.

Representative. Section 129(c)(1) does not allow any refund of invalid duties applicable to entries made before the USTR implementation date. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with various provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and Article 18.1.

23. Viet Nam's claims are buttressed by a plain reading of Section 129(c)(1) and associated legislative history, accepted principles of statutory construction as applied under U.S. law, U.S. judicial precedent, and a long, consistent pattern of practice by the U.S. administering authority. All point to a statutory provision that precludes relief for prior unliquidated entries through mandated retention or liquidation of duties based on WTO-inconsistent practices.

B. Application WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

24. The United States advances two fundamental arguments in response to Viet Nam's claims that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with various provisions of the WTO Anti-Dumping Agreement. First, the United States contends that Viet Nam has failed to set forth a proper claim in respect of Section 129(c)(1) because Viet Nam did not claim that Section 129(c)(1) was inconsistent with any provisions of the WTO Understanding on the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU").²¹ Second, the United States claims that Viet Nam erroneously argues that Section 129(c)(1) is the exclusive mechanism under U.S. law by which the United States can bring itself into compliance with DSB recommendations and rulings.²² According to the United States, Viet Nam's claims are overly speculative and based on the flawed premise that the United States must have a pre-existing administrative mechanism to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, or an exclusive administrative mechanism that addresses all potential entries including "prior unliquidated entries".²³

C. Analysis

(1) Viet Nam's case is not dependent on claims raised under the DSU

25. Viet Nam's claims focus on the implications of Section 129(c)(1) with respect to the United States' substantive obligations under the WTO Anti-Dumping Agreement. No other party participating in this dispute that has offered views on this issue agrees with the U.S. contention that Viet Nam's claims are ineffective because they were not brought under provisions of the DSU. The U.S. argument finds no support in the text of the DSU. The DSU governs procedural aspects of dispute settlement and a Member's obligation to comply with dispute settlement findings. But whether conformance is assured must be based on consideration of other substantive violations. This is precisely why the examination under Article 21.5 of the DSU concerns "the existence or consistency with a covered agreement of measures taken to comply with the recommendations and rulings such dispute ... ".25 It is these other substantive violations that are the target of Viet Nam's claims and Viet Nam has articulated why the specific provisions under which its claims have been brought are relevant to the circumstances dictated by Section 129(c)(1).

(2) The presence of alternative mechanisms under U.S. law to implement DSB rulings and recommendations is not an affirmative defense to Viet Nam's claims

26. Viet Nam's claims relate to Section 129(c)(1). They do not involve any other mechanism that the United States might apply in implementing DSB rulings and recommendations, or any specific actual action taken pursuant to Section 129(c)(1). To this end, any act or omission attributable to a WTO Member may be the subject of dispute settlement proceedings. The Appellate Body has further clarified that the presence of discretion or alternative measures does not exempt a measure from being challenged as such. Indeed, there is no requirement that the measure identified by the complaining Member has been or is being applied. Section 129 need not apply in even a single specific instance for it to be found inconsistent "as such" with U.S.

²¹ See Executive Summary of U.S. Oral Statement at the First Substantive Meeting of the Panel, para. 5.

²² See U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 93.

 $^{^{23}}$ Ibid. paras. 90 and 95.

 $^{^{24}}$ Viet Nam Answers to Questions, para. 89.

²⁵ DSU Article 21.5 (emphasis added).

²⁶ Appellate Body Report, *Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 81.

obligations under the WTO.²⁷ Thus, the presence of other implementing mechanisms under U.S. law does not lead to the conclusion that Section 129(c)(1) is consistent, as such, with U.S. obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, contrary to U.S. claims. That determination must be based on the terms of the Section 129(c)(1) itself.

(3) The United States continues to mischaracterize both Viet Nam's description of Section 129 and that provision's purpose

- 27. The United States wrongly asserts that Viet Nam contends in this dispute that Section 129 is the exclusive mechanism for the United States to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. That is not Viet Nam's position. As stated in Viet Nam's First Written Submission, Section 129 provides the legal authority under U.S. law for the United States to comply with adverse DSB rulings concerning its obligations under the WTO agreements where implementation in a trade remedy context can be achieved by a new administrative determination. It provides the exclusive authority for the U.S. Department of Commerce to "issue a new determination in connection with a particular proceeding that would render" its action "not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body". The United States cites to no other authority that permits such action short of an act of Congress.
- The United States engages in further mischaracterization by effectively turning the subject 28. matter of Section 129 on its head. The purpose of Section 129 is not to address future entries, leaving prior unliquidated entries to other authority or potential mechanisms, as suggested by the United States. The purpose of Section 129 is to grant authority for the U.S. Department of Commerce to "issue a new determination in connection with a particular proceeding that would render" its action "not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body". 31 Likewise, the purpose of Section 123 is not to address "prior unliquidated entries". The purpose of Section 123 is to grant authority to amend agency practice or regulation "in a case in which a dispute settlement panel or the Appellate Body finds in its report that a regulation or practice of a department or agency of the United States is inconsistent with the any of the Uruguay Round Agreements ... ".32 Section 123 has no bearing on the effective date of any Section 129 determination, which is limited to entries after implementation, even where the practice or regulation applied in the Section 129 determination is derived from a Section 123 proceeding.³³ The fact that "the application of any new methodology developed pursuant to Section 123(g) can impact 'prior unliquidated entries'", as argued by the United States, does not mean Section 129(c)(1) is consistent as such with U.S. obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
 - (4) Viet Nam's claims are not premised on a requirement that Members must have a pre-existing administrative mechanism to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, but on the fact that a pre-existing inconsistent administrative mechanism exists in the United States
- 29. The United States wrongly asserts that Viet Nam's claims are premised on a requirement that Members must have a pre-existing administrative mechanism to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. That is not Viet Nam's position. Viet Nam recognizes that there is no requirement under the WTO for Members to have in place pre-existing administrative mechanism for implementation, or even more specifically a comprehensive mechanism addressing all potential entries including "prior unliquidated entries". Viet Nam's case is premised on the fact that the United States does have an administrative mechanism for implementation that grants the U.S. Department of Commerce authority to bring an action in a specific proceeding (i.e., the measure that is the target of the Section 129 proceeding) into conformity with the United States' obligations under the covered agreements through a new determination. As noted by the EU in its responses to the Panel's questions, "if a WTO Member decides to enact or maintain such a measure, such measure must be consistent with WTO law". "4 Viet Nam concurs."

²⁷ Ibid. paras. 75-78 and 93-95.

²⁸ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 93.

²⁹ Viet Nam's First Written Submission, para. 211.

³⁰ Exhibit VN-31.

³¹ Ibid.

³² Exhibit U.S.-10.

³³ See Viet Nam's Answers to Questions, paras. 82-86.

³⁴ EU Answers to Questions, para. 46.

- 30. The U.S. argument is merely an extension of other arguments it has made claiming that Section 129 is not the exclusive mechanism under U.S. law for implementing DSB rulings and recommendations and other mechanisms exist for addressing "prior unliquidated entries". As previously noted, this is not an affirmative defense to Viet Nam's claims. The issue is whether, by its own terms, Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with U.S. obligations. The presence of other mechanisms is irrelevant to the question presented by Viet Nam.
 - (5) The U.S. admission that Section 129(c)(1) is not designed to address every conceivable circumstance in which compliance action may be necessary is effectively a concession that it is WTO-inconsistent in specific circumstances and therefore is inconsistent as such with U.S. obligations under the AD Agreement
- 31. In its answers to the Panel's questions the United States concedes that "Section 129 is not designed to address every conceivable circumstance in which compliance action may be necessary". To the extent that compliance involves circumstances other than correcting prior administrative decisions Viet Nam can agree. But this says nothing about the specific circumstances Section 129 is intended to address, which Viet Nam has demonstrated does lead to WTO-inconsistent action. To this end, the United States has offered no response to the repeated application of Section 129 under specific circumstances that give rise to violations of its obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement. As Viet Nam has presented in detail, this is not a function of discretion under U.S. law, but a law that requires such outcomes.
- 32. Although the United States has attempted to show that Section 123 somehow ameliorates these circumstances, Viet Nam has rebutted every example the United States has attempted to advance. Given the U.S. inability to rebut Viet Nam's claims, the Panel should find for Viet Nam that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with U.S. obligations under the Ant-Dumping Agreement.

V. CLAIMS REGARDING THE SUNSET REVIEW DETERMINATION

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

- 33. The Appellate Body has determined that to the extent an investigating authority relies upon dumping margins in making a likelihood determination in a Sunset Review Determination, the calculation of the margins relied upon must be consistent with Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and that relying on margins calculated in a WTO inconsistent manner results in an inconsistency both with Article 2 and Article 11.3.³⁷ Evidence that "zeroing" was used in the original investigation and each subsequent review prior to the Sunset Review has been provided in this proceeding in the form of the USDOC *Decision Memoranda* from the original investigation and the first through fourth administrative reviews.³⁸
- 34. The USDOC refusal to rely on WTO consistent margins of dumping also affected the broader analysis of likelihood of dumping based on the presumption embedded in U.S. practice that a decline in volume after the imposition of dumping duties supports a finding of the likelihood of dumping in the future if the antidumping duties are terminated.³⁹ Given the negative or safety margins evident when the margins of dumping are calculated in a WTO consistent manner, the notion that Vietnamese Respondents would have to engage in dumping to recover market share is simply not an objective and unbiased evaluation of the facts. This evaluation could not be made by the USDOC based on the WTO inconsistent margins it relied upon in the Sunset Review Determination.

B. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

35. The United States offers multiple defenses of the Sunset Review Determination. First, that Viet Nam has not met its evidentiary burden of demonstrating that the margins relied upon were WTO inconsistent. Second, that the existence of any positive margins of dumping calculated in a

 $^{^{35}}$ U.S. Answers to Questions, para. 92.

³⁶ See Exhibit VN-42.

 $^{^{37}}$ See Viet Nam First Written Submission, footnote 293 and accompanying text.

³⁸ Ibid., footnote 294, accompanying text and Exhibits VN-25 and VN-51.

³⁹ U.S. First Written Submission, paras. 281-289.

WTO consistent manner justifies a finding of likelihood of continued or recurring dumping. Third, the USDOC argues that "the decline in import volumes suggests that exporters were unable to sustain pre-investigation import levels without dumping" and that Viet Nam failed to demonstrate that this decline in import volumes resulted from some other factor or factors other than the antidumping duties. 40

C. Analysis

- 36. The Sunset Review at issue in this panel proceeding was conducted pursuant to U.S. law and practice, not WTO law. Thus, whether arguments which might be appropriate and successful under WTO law but which are not plausible or likely to succeed under U.S. law were made in the underlying Sunset Review is not a relevant consideration.⁴¹
- 37. With the exception of the two facts available margins determined in the first review, all of the margins of dumping relied upon by the USDOC in the Sunset Review Determination were WTO inconsistent. These include the margins for the mandatory respondents, the margins for the "separate rate" respondents, and the margins for the Vietnam-wide entity.
- 38. In *US Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, the Appellate Body examined each of the scenarios provided for under the USDOC's *Sunset Policy Bulletin* and commented as follows:

In our view, "volume of dumped imports" and "dumping margins" before and after the issuance of anti-dumping duty orders, are highly important factors for any determination of likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping in sunset reviews, although other factors may also be important depending on the circumstances of the case. The three factual scenarios in Section II.A.3 of the SPB which describe how these factors will be considered in individual determinations thus have certain probative value, the degree of which may vary from case to case. For example, if, under scenario (a) of Section II.A.3 of the SPB, dumping continued with substantial margins despite the existence of the anti-dumping duty order, this would be highly probative of the likelihood that dumping would continue if the anti-dumping duty order were revoked. Conversely, if, under scenarios (b) and (c) of Section II.A.3 of the SPB, imports ceased after issuance of the anti-dumping duty order, or imports continued but without dumping margins, the probative value of the scenarios may be much less, and other relevant factors may have to be examined to determine whether imports with dumping margins would "recur" if the antidumping duty order were revoked. The importance of the two underlying factors (import volumes and dumping margins) for a likelihood-of-dumping determination cannot be questioned; however, our concern here is with the possible mechanistic application of the three scenarios based on these factors, such that other factors that may be of equal importance are disregarded.42

39. Given the above analysis suggested by the Appellate Body based on the *Sunset Policy Bulletin*, the need to consider other factors, including volume, varies depending on which factual scenario is being examined. In the Sunset Review at issue in this proceeding, USDOC was proceeding on the basis of scenario (a) in which dumping continued with substantial margins. In our view, the absence of dumping, except for two adverse facts available determinations in the first review, during the first, second and third reviews would seem to be comparable to scenario (c) rather than scenario (a). This, in turn, would seem to require more than a mechanistic application of the volume presumption. By relying on dumping margins which support scenario (a), Vietnamese Respondents were prevented from arguing that scenario (c) should apply and then placing the other factors, including volume, into the context of scenario (c). One such factor is temporal (i.e. that the only margins found were found only in the first review); another relates to the volume accounted for by the imports subject to adverse facts available in comparison with the volume of imports with no dumping margins based on a WTO consistent determination of the margins of dumping.

⁴⁰ Ibid. paras. 262-268.

⁴¹ Appellate Body Report, *US – Lamb*, para. 113.

⁴² Appellate Body Report, *US – OCTG Sunset Review*, para. 208.

- 40. In addition, as recognized by the Appellate Body, the volume issue becomes more complicated and other factors more important under scenario (c). As such, the use of WTO inconsistent margins of dumping infected all aspects of the likelihood-of-dumping determination and, therefore, tainted the entire determination. While there may be situations in which the reliance on WTO inconsistent margins of dumping does not taint the entire investigation (e.g. when there are consistent positive margins of dumping throughout the investigation using both a WTO consistent and WTO inconsistent methodology), that is simply not the case here and the United States has not demonstrated it to be the case.
- 41. Based on the above, Viet Nam believes that the panel must find that the *Sunset Review* conducted by the USDOC of the antidumping duty order on *Certain Frozen Warmwater Shrimp* from Viet Nam was inconsistent with U.S. obligations under Article 11.3 of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* in that; (1) it relied on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping which constituted an improper establishment of the facts and prevented an unbiased and objective evaluation of the proper facts; and (2) it relied on a volume presumption which itself is not supported by the facts and its improper evaluation of changes in volume based on the facts of the review.

VI. CLAIMS REGARDING INDIVIDUAL COMPANY REVOCATION OF AN ANTIDUMPING DUTY ORDER PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 11.2

A. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of Viet Nam

- 42. Viet Nam argues that Article 11.2 mandates the termination of antidumping duties as to individual respondents which have demonstrated that the continuation of the duties is not necessary to offset dumping. 43 Viet Nam is not contesting either the three year period which the USDOC examines under Regulation 351.222, the certification requirement of the Regulation, or the "not likely" standard used to determine whether to revoke antidumping duties as to individual respondents. Viet Nam for purposes of this proceeding accepts a three year period as providing a proper basis on which to determine whether the dumping has ceased and the likelihood that it would recur if the antidumping duties were terminated. With regard to specific exporters, we note the following:
 - In the case of Minh Phu, its request for revocation was rejected because Minh Phu was found to have a positive margin of dumping in the fourth administrative review based on the WTO inconsistent application of zeroing after having zero or *de minimis* margins in the second and third reviews. The legal issues before this Panel is whether or not an authority can rely on a WTO inconsistent margin of dumping in determining whether or not to terminate the antidumping duty as to individual respondents under Article 11.2.
 - In the case of the other respondents, the USDOC rejected their requests for revocation based on the absence of a sufficient number of individually calculated margins of dumping for each requesting respondent to qualify for consideration for revocation. ⁴⁴ The legal issue before the Panel is whether an authority's failure to review the margins of dumping for individual respondents under Article 9.4 can serve as a basis for the authority to void its obligations under Article 11.2

B. Applicable WTO Obligations: Arguments of the United States

43. The United States has presented three arguments to counter Viet Nam's request for a finding that the denials of the revocation requests of individual respondents were WTO inconsistent. The first and principal argument is that Article 11.2 does not impose any obligation on authorities to terminate antidumping duties as to individual respondents. Second, it argues that the requirement of the absence of dumping margins for a period of three years is a U.S. law requirement and not a requirement of Articles 11.1 and 11.2. Finally, it argues that the USDOC did not breach Articles 11.1 and 11.2 by limiting its examination of individual respondents and using this limitation as a basis for rejecting proposals for revocation of the antidumping duties.

44 Ibid

⁴³ See Viet Nam Answers to Questions, paras. 150-154.

C. Analysis

- The threshold issue which the panel must address before addressing any other issues is whether or not Article 11.2 imposes upon a Member an obligation to revoke antidumping duties as to individual respondents once the criteria set forth in Article 11.2 are met by that individual respondent. Article 11.1 sets forth clearly the object and purpose of the balance of the provisions in Article 11 and, more specifically, of Articles 11.2 and 11.3. Article 11.1 seeks to limit the imposition of dumping duties both in terms of "time" ("only so long as") and scope ("to the extent necessary"). Both Articles 11.2 and 11.3 address the time period during which antidumping duties may remain in effect absent certain conditions. Article 11.3 states that antidumping duties can only remain in effect for five year periods absent certain conditions related to the continuation or recurrence of dumping and injury. Article 11.2 imposes an obligation to terminate antidumping duties earlier than the five year period under similar, although not identical, conditions as Article 11.3. Article 11.3, however, only addresses the issue of the "expiry" of duties and not "the extent" to which duties are continued. Since Article 11.3 does not address "the extent" limitation which is clearly a purpose of Article 11 as specified in Article 11.1, the "the extent" of the antidumping duties must be addressed under Article 11.2. Indeed, this is contemplated by Article 11.2 in that it contemplates duties not only being "removed" but also "varied." The "extent" to which antidumping duties continue to be "necessary" cannot be read to limit the examination to the "country-wide" "product specific" duties. Rather, to give the "extent" and "varied" meaning, Article 11.2 can only be read as permitting changes in both the exporters and products subject to antidumping duties.
- 45. Finally, the exception of Article 6.10 cannot be used as the basis for acting inconsistently with the obligations of Article 11.2. It is the obligation of the Member to interpret and apply the provisions of an agreement in a manner which gives meaning to all provisions and does not read some provisions fully or partially out of the same agreement.

ANNEX B-4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE STATEMENTS OF VIET NAM AT THE SECOND PANEL MEETING

I. COMMERCE'S NME-WIDE ENTITY POLICY

- 1. With respect to Viet Nam's Articles 6.10 and 9.2 claims, the U.S. has been persistent in its attempt to turn this issue into a question of fact, or even a mixed question of law and fact. As made clear by the Appellate Body, the Panel has no reason to consider whether the factual evidence cited by the United States justifies a presumption of government ownership of all companies in all industries, if the legal texts prohibit the presumption in the first place. The United States must first assert a legitimate legal basis for the presumption; a legal basis that overcomes the plain language of Articles 6.10 and 9.2, which requires assignment of individual dumping rates. The United States has failed to do so. The only concession made by Viet Nam with respect to antidumping measures concerned the substitution of surrogate for actual values when determining normal value. The U.S. cannot take what specifically identified concessions do exist in the Accession Protocol and Working Party Report, and unilaterally expand the scope of those concessions. Articles 6.10 and 9.2 require assignment of individual rates. The United States' presumption directly violates that requirement.
- 2. The U.S. also argues that Viet Nam's decision to not challenge the "nonmarket economy country" status makes the Appellate Body's guidance in *EC Fasteners (China)* inapplicable. Viet Nam is not challenging in this dispute the United States' ability to currently apply the concessions that do exist in Viet Nam's Accession Protocol. The issue is the U.S. adoption of a presumption that is contrary to the plain language of the Anti-Dumping Agreement for which Viet Nam made no concession. Lastly on this claim, the U.S. argument that the Working Party Report and a 2002 DOC determination from a different proceeding justify reliance on the presumption. As explained above, this argument is moot, as the United States cannot provide a legal basis for the existence of the presumption.
- 3. On Viet Nam's claims of inconsistency with Article 6.8, the United States and Viet Nam largely agree on the legal standard. With respect to the facts, as we have thoroughly discussed and documented, and as found by the panel in DS404, the U.S. position would require this Panel to "elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances surrounding the assignment of that rate". The United States acknowledged that it did not request information from the Vietnam-wide entity during the covered reviews. Accordingly, the United States had no legal basis under Article 6.8 to apply a dumping rate based on adverse facts available to the Vietnam-wide entity. Viet Nam believes that this fact alone is determinative. Nevertheless, two factual issues require clarification. First, the DOC never requested information from the Vietnamese government. Second, the United States could not identify a single instance in which the DOC applied an Article 9.4-consistent rate to a producer that was presumed to be part of an NME-wide entity. The DOC applies a rate based on adverse facts available as a practice in all such circumstances.
- 4. Last, we address Viet Nam's Article 9.4 claim. The plain language of Article 9.4 makes clear its application where the authority has limited the examination. In the covered reviews, the DOC limited the examination, and its failure to apply a rate to the Vietnam-wide entity consistent with Article 9.4 amounts to a violation. Furthermore, as a factual matter, the U.S. suggests that a review was never requested for the constituent companies of the so-called Vietnam-wide entity, such that a new rate could not be assigned. In fact, as shown in Viet Nam's second written submission, requests were made for constituent companies.

II. ZEROING

5. The issue of zeroing is before the Panel in two contexts: first, as applied in the third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews; and second, as such. With respect to the applied claims, there is little dispute. The zeroing methodology, as found by several Appellate Body Reports to be

¹ Panel Report, US – Shrimp (Viet Nam), para. 7.279.

WTO-inconsistent, was as a matter of fact applied in the covered reviews. Accordingly, the United States' determined arguments notwithstanding, there is little question that the use of zeroing in the third, fourth, and fifth administrative reviews is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. With respect to the as such claims, Viet Nam has set forth a sufficient basis for the Panel to make a decision on the merits.

III.SECTION 129 OF THE URAA

- 6. Viet Nam's claims regarding Section 129 concern the legal effect given new determinations issued under Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, which limits implementation of adverse WTO rulings and recommendations to entries of subject merchandise, entered or withdrawn from warehouse for consumption on or after the date on which the administering authority is directed to implement the new determination by the U.S. Trade Representative. Section 129(c)(1) does not allow any refund of invalid duties applicable to entries made before the USTR implementation date. As a consequence, Section 129(c)(1) and its prohibition against refunds is inconsistent, as such, with various provisions of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, including Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and Article 18.1.
- 7. Viet Nam's claims do not concern any other mechanism that the United States might apply in implementing DSB rulings and recommendations. As much as the United States would like to introduce other mechanisms into the debate, their existence does nothing to undercut Viet Nam's claims regarding Section 129(c)(1). Even if *some* prior unliquidated entries may be treated in a WTO-consistent manner in *some* situations over the course of administrative action under other provisions of U.S. law, that does not save Section 129(c)(1) and the effect it has on prior unliquidated entries. Section 129(c)(1) need not apply in even a single specific instance for it to be found inconsistent "as such" with U.S. obligations under the WTO.² We have in this instance a statutory provision that sets forth rules and norms for responding to adverse findings of the DSB, the effect of which has not been denied by the United States. Thus, the mere fact that the United States might apply a different mechanism to implement adverse DSB rulings and recommendations in the future does not resolve the question of whether the mechanism set forth in Section 129 is or is not inconsistent. When Section 129 is the mechanism for effecting implementation, that implementation is necessarily WTO inconsistent as it applies to unliquidated entries.
- 8. The U.S. arguments are simply an attempt to obfuscate and there is no better example of this fact than its efforts to present Section 123 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act as a kind of prior unliquidated entry analog to the purely prospective effect given Section 129(c)(1) determinations. The characterization is simply incorrect.
- 9. Section 129 provides the exclusive authority for the DOC to "issue a new determination in connection with a particular proceeding that would render" its action "not inconsistent with the findings of the panel or the Appellate Body". Viet Nam again submits that the United States cites to no other authority that permits such action short of an act of Congress. It is abundantly clear from the statute that Section 129 is not intended to address future entries, per se, thereby leaving prior unliquidated entries to other authority, as suggested by the United States. Rather, the purpose of Section 129 is to grant authority for the DOC to issue a new, WTO-consistent determination. Section 123 does not alter these facts or otherwise save the U.S. argument. The purpose of Section 123 is not to address prior unliquidated entries, but to grant authority to amend agency practice or regulation "in a case in which a dispute settlement panel or the Appellate Body finds in its report that a regulation or practice of a department or agency of the United States is inconsistent with the any of the Uruguay Round Agreements ...". Unlike Section 129, Section 123 is not intended to bring a specific determination (i.e., the measure that is the target of the Section 129 proceeding) into conformity with the United States' obligations under the covered agreements.
- 10. The United States has yet to provide a single example in which prior unliquidated entries were in play and Section 129 provided the entitled relief for those entries. This is true even when paired with an action under Section 123. The Panel should therefore ask the United States to reconcile its position on Section 129(c)(1) and the "other mechanisms" it posits address prior liquidated entries with its actual practice as carefully documented by Viet Nam. It cannot and it

² See Appellate Body Report, United States – 1916 Act, para. 61.

has chosen not to address the numerous examples presented by Viet Nam. It does not address the effect of the Section 129 determination or the measure it is intended to correct. It does not address instances where Section 123 is not involved. And it does not address the reality that even where a regulation or practice modified pursuant to Section 123 is applied in a subsequent administrative review, the result is the continued retention of excessive deposits while that process plays out. On this last point we have come full circle: The WTO-inconsistent retention of excessive deposits is based on a determination the Section 129 determination is intended to correct and replace but only prospectively on entries made after the USTR implementation date.

The other main U.S. argument is that Viet Nam has not raised claims under the DSU and therefore its challenge is deficient. Contrary to U.S. arguments, the fact that Section 129(c)(1) deals with measures to implement DSB rulings and recommendations does not mean that the only recourse under the WTO is through provisions of the DSU. The question of compliance must be based on consideration of other substantive obligations. Viet Nam believes Japan framed the inquiry quite succinctly.³ As Japan noted in its responses to questions, the Appellate Body made clear in US - Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 - EC) and US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan) that a Member's obligation to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings covers actions or omissions subsequent to the reasonable period of time, even if they relate to imports that entered the territory of a WTO Member at an earlier date. Accordingly, the interpretive question in the current dispute is not whether "prior unliquidated entries" are subject to the recommendations and rulings of the DSB, or whether a Member violates the covered agreements by liquidating certain "prior unliquidated entries" in a WTO-inconsistent manner after the expiration of the reasonable period of time. The only issue in the current dispute is whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that, in certain circumstances, Section 129(c)(1) necessarily excludes the possibility of DOC to take WTO-consistent action with respect to prior unliquidated entries. Again, because of the limited effective date under Section 129(c)(1), numerous substantive violations of the Anti-Dumping Agreement necessarily arise as of the close of the RPT with respect to prior unliquidated entries. This is the focus of Viet Nam's claims, as explicitly set forth in its request for a panel and in its first written submission.

IV. THE SUNSET REVIEW

- 12. The United States relies essentially on three arguments to claim that the Sunset Review of Frozen Warmwater Shrimp from Vietnam was consistent with U.S. WTO obligations. First, that the DOC did not rely exclusively on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping. The Appellate Body has been clear that an authority must make a sunset review determination based on an evidentiary record that contains WTO-consistent margins of dumping. The Panel does not need to speculate on the bias inherent in the DOC's failure to rely on WTO consistent margins of dumping. On one side of the ledger is the table of margins determined consistent with U.S. WTO obligations and the U.S. Court of International Trade's findings in Amanda Foods, provided at paragraph 277 of Viet Nam's First Written Submission. The table demonstrates that dumping ceased entirely after the first review. On the other side of the ledger are two findings based on adverse facts available in the first review. It is clear that a WTO consistent evidentiary record for the sunset review would be very different than the record actually relied upon by the DOC.
- 13. The second U.S. argument concerns the question of volume. The DOC conducted its analysis based on the incorrect belief that the dumping had continued since the duty was imposed; WTO consistent margins of dumping would have given rise to the third scenario identified in Section II.A.3 of the DOC's Sunset Policy Bulletin, namely the dumping had ceased and there had been a moderate decline in import levels. The Appellate Body has indicated that the validity of the presumption of declining imports supporting a finding of "likelihood" (and, in turn, the analysis required) will be different depending on which scenario applies. Accordingly, the Appellate Body has stated that the scenario in which dumping has ceased and imports have continued requires a more detailed examination of the causes of the decline in imports than does the scenario in which the dumping has continued. The question of "likelihood" addressed by the DOC was in the context of continued dumping. In fact, the question of "likelihood" should have been addressed in the context of the cessation of dumping. It is difficult to see how a conclusion can be unbiased and objective when that conclusion is directed at an entirely different scenario than the one that would have existed if the DOC were relying on WTO consistent margins of dumping.

³ Japan's Responses to the Panel's Questions, para. 11.

- 14. The third U.S. argument, that Viet Nam should be barred from making arguments before this Panel that were not made in the underlying proceeding, has already been rejected in WTO jurisprudence.
- 15. The DOC's refusal to recognize WTO consistent margins of dumping for purposes of its "likelihood" analysis infected every aspect of the sunset review determination. The most effective factual argument related to volume (the existence of substantial safety margins) could not be made because the margins relied upon by the DOC were not WTO consistent. Moreover, any decline in imports must be evaluated in the context of the cessation of dumping, as would be the case using WTO consistent dumping margins. This evaluation did not take place in the sunset review.

V. COMPANY SPECIFIC REVOCATION

16. The U.S. relies primarily on one argument in suggesting that Article 11.2 imposes no obligations on a Member to revoke an antidumping duty as to an individual exporter that has demonstrated that dumping has ceased and is not likely to recur: the interpretation by the Appellate Body in *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review* that Article 11.3 addresses only an order-wide revocation and not a revocation of antidumping duties on individual exporters. In particular, the U.S. relies on use of the term "duty" in Article 11.3 and the reference in Article 9.2 to "an anti-dumping duty ... in respect of any product". Viet Nam, however, would note that the Appellate Body found that this phrasing "informs" the interpretation and not that it governs the interpretation. Indeed, the prior paragraph of the very same Appellate Body report states:

In fact, Article 11.3 contains no express reference to individual exporters, producers, or interested parties. This contrasts with Article 11.2 which does refer to "any interested party" and "interested parties." ⁵

17. Subsequently, the Appellate Body, referring to the term "interested parties" states:

These references suggest that, when the drafters of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* intended to impose obligations on authorities regarding individual exporters or producers, they did so explicitly.⁶

- 18. In other words, use of the term interested parties according to the Appellate Body is an explicit reference to individual importers, exporters, or foreign producers. Use of the term "interested party" in Article 11.2 in fact distinguishes it from Article 11.3. The Panel should be aware that the Appellate Body made this distinction in the very report relied upon by the United States and in the paragraphs immediately preceding and following the paragraph relied on primarily by the U.S. relating to the reference to "the duty".
- The U.S. then proceeds to claim that the distinction between Articles 11.2 and 11.3 is based on the fact that interested parties would have an interest in revocation under Article 11.2, while the domestic industry would have an interest in preventing the expiry of the duties under Article 11.3. Viet Nam would first note that the term "any interested party" is not limited to an interested party or parties which are importers, exporters, or foreign producers of the subject merchandise. Second, while the use of "any interested party" is necessary to define those parties which may request a review under Article 11.2, it also, as found by the Appellate Body, indicates an obligation with respect to individual importers, exporters or foreign producers. Third, while the word "varied" appears in reference to the injury aspect of Article 11.2, the variation must refer to variations in the "extent" of the duty and, therefore, makes clear the intention of the Anti-Dumping Agreement to address variations in the duty within the context of Article 11.2 reviews. Fourth, use of "any" indicates that individual importers, exporters, or foreign producers may request a review of either the need for continuation of the antidumping duties or injury. Given that any individual importer, exporter, or foreign producer would gain a competitive advantage vis-àvis other importers, exporters, or foreign producers by having the duty as applied to it removed while it continues to be applied to others, the use of the word "any" must inform the interpretation of Article 11.2.

⁴ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 150.

⁵ Ibid. para. 149.

20. Thus, the specific language of Article 11.2, and the contrast between the language of Articles 11.2 and 11.3, must inform the Panel's interpretation of Article 11.2. This, of course, brings us back to the object and purpose of Article 11 as articulated in Article 11.1. Article 11.1 addresses both the duration (only as long as) and coverage (the extent necessary) of antidumping duties. An interpretation of Article 11.2 which is consistent with limiting the extent of the application of antidumping duties to importers, exporters, and foreign producers who can demonstrate that dumping is not taking place and is unlikely to recur is consistent with the application of antidumping duties only to those importers, exporters, and foreign producers that are demonstrated to be dumping as provided in Article 5.8.

ANNEX B-5

VIET NAM'S RESPONSE TO THE UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF CASES

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation	
Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Beef and Rice, Complaint with Respect to Rice</i> , WT/DS295/AB/R, adopted 20 December 2005, DSR 2005:XXII, 10853	
US – Customs Bond Directive	Panel Report, <i>United States – Customs Bond Directive for Merchandise Subject to Anti-Dumping/Countervailing Duties</i> , WT/DS345/R, adopted 1 August 2008, as modified by Appellate Body Report WT/DS343/AB/R, WT/DS345/AB/R	
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:1, 3	

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. With this submission, Viet Nam respectfully provides its response to the request for preliminary rulings asserted in the United States' submission received on July 31, 2013. Viet Nam believes that the United States' requests are premature in that many of the United States' concerns would have been alleviated upon receipt of Viet Nam's first written submission.
- 2. Viet Nam limits its discussion in this submission to a single argument raised in Section II of the United States' request for preliminary rulings. Specifically, Viet Nam addresses below the United States' claim that the sixth administrative review is not a measure at issue, nor is it within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 3. As an initial matter, Viet Nam addresses the additional points raised in the United States' request. First, on the United States' concern regarding Viet Nam's reference to the use of zeroing in "original investigations", "new shipper reviews", and "certain changed circumstances reviews", Viet Nam is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied, to these particular types of proceedings. Viet Nam's panel request makes clear that the "zeroing" as applied claims are limited to the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. The original investigation and the sunset review are relevant to the extent that zeroing affects the Panel's analysis on the claims that are particular to the sunset review. To be clear, Viet Nam's consultation and panel request also identify, however, an as such claim with respect to the USDOC's zeroing practice.
- 4. Second, on the United States' concern regarding a claim based on the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("VCLT"), Viet Nam did not intend before, and does not intend now, to assert its claim pursuant to the VCLT. Viet Nam simply included reference to the VCLT to make clear the importance of the object and purpose of the relevant agreement in the course of treaty interpretation.
- 5. Third, on the United States' concern regarding Viet Nam's supposed identification of the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") as a measure, Viet Nam did no such thing. Viet Nam's request does not identify the SAA as a measure within the Panel's terms of reference nor does Viet Nam intend to challenge the SAA as a measure.
- 6. Viet Nam addresses the remaining issue below.
- II. Viet Nam's Panel Request Did Not Expand the Scope of the Measures At Issue With Respect to the Sixth Administrative Review and the Panel Should Dismiss the United States' Request
- 7. The Panel should dismiss the request made by the United States concerning the sixth administrative review. The United States claims that Viet Nam's panel request "expanded the scope and changed the essence of its consultations request by including measures that were not the subject of its consultation request". Viet Nam has done no such thing, and the Panel should continue to find this measure within its terms of reference.
- 8. The Appellate Body has explained that there need not be a "precise and exact identity" between the measures identified in the consultation request and the panel request. The issue is whether or not the "essence" of the challenged measures has changed, a determination that can only be made on an individual, case-by-case basis. The purpose of the panel request is to narrow the focus of the inquiry from the consultation request and to identify with greater precision the issues before the Panel.
- 9. Viet Nam identified the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue in the request for consultations. First, page 1 of Viet Nam's Consultations Request states that the request is made with respect to the fourth administrative review, the fifth administrative review, and "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warm-water shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802)."
- 10. Second, page 3 of Viet Nam's Consultations Request states that Viet Nam would like to raise in the course of consultations the use of the identified practices in the fourth administrative

review, the fifth administrative review, and "the continued use of the practices described [] above in subsequent reviews".

11. Viet Nam conveyed to the United States, by way of the language included in the consultation request, the understanding that the sixth administrative review was a measure at issue. The United States was placed on notice of this fact through Viet Nam's identification of "ongoing" administrative reviews. The "essence" of the challenge has not changed from the consultation request to the panel request; rather, Viet Nam's panel request merely provides greater precision on the measures at issue.

III. CONCLUSION

- 12. On the basis of the above, Viet Nam submits as follows:
 - Viet Nam does not challenge the use of zeroing, as applied, to "original investigations", "new shipper reviews," and "certain changed circumstances reviews", other than the original investigation to the extent it has an effect on subsequent reviews and the sunset review;
 - Viet Nam does not assert any claims pursuant to the VCLT;
 - o Viet Nam does not claim that the SAA is within the Panel's terms of reference; and
 - Viet Nam did identify the sixth administrative review, as an ongoing administrative review, in the consultation request.
- 13. Accordingly, Viet Nam respectfully requests that the Panel deny the request made by the United States with respect to the sixth administrative review and proceed to consider the merits of the claims raised.

ANNEX B-6

VIET NAM'S RESPONSE TO THE UNITED STATES' REPLY FOR THE REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF CASES

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:I, 3

- 1. With this submission, Viet Nam respectfully provides its response to United States' "Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States of America" submission received on August 13, 2013. Viet Nam's focus here is on the request for a preliminary ruling concerning the final results of the sixth administrative review.
- 2. As the Panel recalls, the United States' request did identify three additional "measures":
 - The use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews;
 - The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties; and
 - The Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act.
- 3. Viet Nam has not challenged the items listed above as measures. Rather, inclusion of these three items in the request for establishment of a Panel was warranted because of their relevance to the measures that are being challenged.
- 4. The final result of the sixth administrative review, however, is a measure within the terms of reference of the panel. Viet Nam sets forth two points on this issue to supplement the submission made on August 5. The "fundamental flaws" identified in the United States' reply are not applicable and do not disqualify this measure as within the terms of reference of the Panel.
- 5. First, the United States' citation to Article 3.3 of the DSU does not support the United States' position. That article calls for the "prompt settlement" of situations in which a Member's benefits are impaired. Yet, under the United States' argument, the Panel should ignore the final results of the sixth administrative review, despite the fact that Viet Nam makes the same claims with respect to the sixth administrative review as it has with the fourth and fifth administrative. The fourth and fifth administrative reviews are unquestionably properly before the Panel. The United States would have Viet Nam file a new request for consultations and request for establishment of a panel and force the DSB to compose a new panel to review the same issues presently before this panel. This does not further Article 3.3's objective of prompt settlement.
- 6. Moreover, contrary to the United States' claim, the final results of the sixth administrative review are presently affecting Viet Nam's rights under the covered agreements. The sixth administrative review is not a measure "that may never exist". To the contrary, it is a measure that does exist and is having a significant present impact on Viet Nam. The United States' attempt to engage in hypothetical situations should be dismissed. Viet Nam is being adversely affected by the results of the sixth administrative review and seeks the prompt settlement of this situation. It is for this very reason that Viet Nam identified in the consultation request "any other ongoing or future administrative reviews", a clear reference to the sixth administrative review that was ongoing at the time of the consultation request.
- 7. Second, the United States' citation to Article 4.4 of the DSU is similarly misguided. The Appellate Body has explained that there need not be a "precise and exact identity" between the measures identified in the consultation request and the panel request. The panel request serves to narrow the inquiry, which is precisely what was done in this case. Viet Nam's panel request narrowed the scope of the dispute to, among other measures, the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews. Far from expanding the scope, as claimed by the United States, the panel request clearly identified the specific administrative reviews before the panel.
- 8. Accordingly, Viet Nam respectfully requests that the Panel deny the request made by the United States with respect to the sixth administrative review and proceed to consider the merits of the claims raised.



ANNEX C

ARGUMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES

Contents		Page
Annex C-1	Executive Summary of the First Written Submission of the United States	C-2
Annex C-2	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the First Panel Meeting	C-10
Annex C-3	Executive Summary of the Second Written Submission of the United States	C-13
Annex C-4	Executive Summary of the Oral Statements of the United States at the Second Panel Meeting	C-21
Annex C-5	United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-26
Annex C-6	United States' Reply to Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings	C-31

ANNEX C-1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE FIRST WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES

I. Introduction

- 1. Vietnam requests that the Panel find that Commerce's application of its zeroing methodology "as such" and as applied in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews of the antidumping duty order on frozen warmwater shrimp from Vietnam was inconsistent with the AD Agreement and the GATT 1994. Vietnam's "as such" claim is without merit because the United States has already changed the practice for calculating dumping margins. Vietnam's "as applied" claims are without merit as there is no obligation under the text of the AD Agreement and the GATT 1994 requiring an investigating authority to grant offsets to reduce the amount of dumping duties levied on dumped entries to account for non-dumped entries priced above normal value.
- 2. Vietnam has also failed to establish that the alleged "NME-wide entity rate practice" is a measure that may be challenged "as such" as inconsistent with the AD Agreement given that it has not put forward evidence that what it describes as "practice" is a measure. Further, Commerce's decision to identify a Vietnam-government entity in the covered reviews and assign that entity an individual margin of dumping and an individual antidumping duty was not inconsistent with the obligations of the United States under the AD Agreement. In fact, the Working Party Report as incorporated into the Accession Protocol provides a basis for treating multiple enterprises in Vietnam as part of a Vietnam-government entity. Finally, although the United States would disagree with certain statements made by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners*, a close reading of that report indicates that Commerce's determination regarding the Vietnam-government entity was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement.
- 3. Vietnam's challenge to Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, which is one of the mechanisms by which the United States implements recommendations and rulings from the DSB, suffers from a number of fatal flaws that were identified by the panel in $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)$ when it rejected the nearly identical claims to those made by Vietnam in this dispute. Vietnam fails to demonstrate that the panel erred in that earlier dispute. Moreover, Vietnam's remaining arguments similarly fail to show that Section 129(c)(1) precludes the United States from taking WTO-consistent action.
- 4. Contrary to Vietnam's claims, Commerce permissibly concluded in the sunset review that revocation of the antidumping duty order would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping. Commerce conducted a thorough review of the history of the antidumping duty proceeding and relied on positive antidumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the four completed reviews, finding that Vietnam has failed to establish sufficient evidence in support of its allegations that Commerce's consideration of positive margins of dumping assigned to respondents was inappropriate. In addition, factors other than margins of dumping, in particular post-antidumping order import volumes, fully supported Commerce's finding.
- 5. Lastly, Vietnam requests that the Panel find that Commerce's failure to revoke the antidumping duty order with respect to certain companies during the challenged reviews was inconsistent with the AD Agreement. However, the provisions relied on by Vietnam, specifically Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the AD Agreement, do not provide for company-specific revocation from an antidumping duty order. As a result, Vietnam's argument fails.

II. Vietnam's "As Applied" Claims Regarding Company-Specific Revocation Have No Basis in the AD Agreement

6. Vietnam's argument concerning an alleged breach of Articles 11.1 and 11.2 does not rest on the text of these provisions. Article 11.1 of the AD Agreement states that "[a]n anti-dumping duty shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary to counteract dumping which is causing injury". With respect to Article 11.2, there is no obligation contained in the text

that requires a Member to partially terminate the antidumping duty with respect to individual companies.

- Articles 11.1 and 11.2 also do not require revocation based on an absence of dumping for three years. Under U.S. domestic law, individual companies are allowed to request revocation of an antidumping order either on an order-wide or company-specific basis. In this regard, the United States draws the Panel's attention to the report US - Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods, which discusses these domestic law provisions. In the face of a similar claim as presented by Vietnam here (including the use of the "zeroing" methodology), the panel found that, given revocation based on three years of no dumping operated "in favour of foreign producers and exporters, and that a more general opportunity to request review exists [through a CCR], we see no basis to conclude that [Commerce] acted inconsistently with Article 11.2 in the fourth administrative review when it concluded that the Mexican exporters were not entitled to revocation as their situation did not fit the required factual prerequisites". The panel also found that, "[b]y providing that, in certain circumstances, [Commerce] may revoke an antidumping duty order based in part on three years of no dumping, we consider the United States has gone beyond what is required by Article 11.2". For these reasons, even if certain Vietnamese companies had not had positive dumping margins for three years, nothing in Article 11.1 or Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement establishes that this fact would require terminating the application of the antidumping duty to such companies.
- 8. Finally, in its first written submission, Vietnam now asserts that "[a]bsent revocation, [individually investigated mandatory respondents] are being denied their rights under Articles 2.1, 2.4.2, 9.3 ...". However, Articles 2.1, 2.4.2 and 9.3 of the AD Agreement were not included as the relevant provisions of the covered agreements cited by Vietnam related to "Revocation in the absence of any evidence of dumping". Therefore, any claims regarding company-specific revocation under these additional articles are outside the terms of reference.

III. Section 129(c)(1) is Not Inconsistent, As Such, with the AD Agreement

- 9. In the US Section 129(c)(1) dispute, the panel observed "that section 129(c)(1) does not mandate or preclude any particular treatment of prior unliquidated entries or have the effect thereof". With respect to prior unliquidated entries, the panel in US Section 129(c)(1) found that Commerce could conduct segments (e.g., administrative reviews) that impact those entries in a WTO-inconsistent manner. "However, it is clear to us that such actions, if taken, would not be taken because they were required by section 129(c)(1), but because they were required or allowed under other provisions of US law." Thus, the panel correctly determined that section 129(c)(1) does not govern the treatment of unliquidated entries of subject merchandise that are the subject of other segments of the same proceeding, such as in administrative reviews under the relevant AD or CVD order.
- 10. As is clear from the panel report, Vietnam's argument fails due to a simple threshold issue. Vietnam's argument is based on a presumption of what means the United States will choose *in the future* to respond to any DSB recommendations and rulings. That is, Vietnam predicts that the United States will choose to undertake any implementation by means of section 129. Vietnam furthermore predicts that the United States will implement *only* by means of section 129 and will not utilize any other means under U.S. domestic law. And Vietnam further predicts how any U.S. measure taken to comply will address what Vietnam calls "prior unliquidated entries". It should be apparent on its face that a claim based on a prediction of how a Member will operate in the future in response to DSB recommendations and rulings is a claim that is based on speculation and, thus, fails.
- 11. In addition to Vietnam's attempt to challenge predicted future actions, Vietnam's argument suffers the basic and fundamental flaw that the provisions of the AD Agreement cited by Vietnam do not contain any affirmative obligations with respect to the implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings. Rather, in the antidumping context, the DSU is the only WTO agreement that addresses Members' obligations in regards to implementation. Vietnam has not pursued any claims under the DSU. For this reason alone, Vietnam's argument should be rejected.
- 12. In the course of its arguments, Vietnam also makes a number of incorrect assertions regarding the implications of U.S. domestic law and the prior panel report in US Section 129(c)(1). First, Vietnam argues that, because section 129(c)(1) "serves as an absolute

legal bar" to the WTO-consistent liquidation of prior unliquidated entries, section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with various provisions of the AD Agreement, specifically Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1 and 18.1. Section 129(c)(1) addresses the implementation of determinations made under section 129 in response to DSB recommendations and rulings to unliquidated entries of subject merchandise entered on or after the date USTR directs implementation. Vietnam has no support in the plain language of the statute for the additional assertion that section 129(c)(1) serves as a legal bar to WTO-consistent action on prior unliquidated entries in other administrative segments of the proceeding or through other means.

- 13. Second, Vietnam relies on the SAA to support its interpretation of section 129(c)(1), but Vietnam's reliance is misplaced because Vietnam fails to provide meaningful support under the SAA for the assertion that section 129(c)(1) bars any other acts (outside section 129) that would impact prior unliquidated entries. Vietnam is simply mistaken when it claims that section 129(c)(1) has precluded Commerce from making WTO-consistent determinations with respect to prior unliquidated entries.
- 14. Vietnam further argues that the general "nature" of section 129 supports its assertion that section 129 would be the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. This is incorrect, as Vietnam misconstrues the provisions of the URAA on which it relies, such as section 102. Nothing in section 102 of the URAA indicates that section 129 would be the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement DSB recommendations and rulings. In fact, section 102(a)(2)(B) supports the opposite position that "[n]othing in this Act shall be construed ... to limit any authority conferred under any law of the United States ... unless specifically provided for in this Act".
- 15. Vietnam also argues that section 129(c)(1) is the exclusive method by which DSB recommendations and rulings may be implemented because, in instances where the U.S. International Trade Commission implements DSB recommendations and rulings by changing its injury determination from affirmative to negative, the particular AD or CVD order at issue is revoked as of the implementation date. Again, Vietnam's argument is based on a fundamental misunderstanding. As the panel explained in $US Section \ 129(c)(1)$, "only determinations made and implemented under section 129 are within the scope of section 129(c)(1)" and that "section 129(c)(1) only addresses the application of section 129 determinations. It does not require or preclude any particular actions with respect to [other entries] in a separate segment of the same proceeding".
- 16. Finally, Vietnam suggests that the Panel not follow the panel report in US $Section\ 129(c)(1)$ because the argument advanced by Canada in that panel proceeding that section 129(c)(1) was an absolute bar to any refunds of duties on prior unliquidated entries has turned out to be correct. As the United States has explained, not only does section 129(c)(1) not preclude the implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings under other statutory authority, but Congress and the Executive Branch of the U.S. Government specifically contemplated that such implementation would occur. There have, in fact, been numerous instances in which Commerce has modified its treatment of prior unliquidated entries. For the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel reject Vietnam's claims that section 129(c)(1) is as such inconsistent with Articles 1, 9.2, 9.3, 11.1, and 18.1 of the AD Agreement.
- IV. The Treatment of Multiple Companies as a Single Vietnam-Government Exporter/ Producer was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- A. Vietnam Has Failed to Demonstrate the Existence of a Measure of General and Prospective Application That May Be Challenged "As Such" as Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- 17. Vietnam has not established that the alleged NME-wide entity rate "practice" exists and can be a measure. First, Vietnam does not explain how a "practice" can set out a rule or norm of general or prospective application. Second, in relation to the alleged "practice," Vietnam has not demonstrated that Commerce "invariably applies" the alleged "practice" that is subject to its various arguments. Vietnam cites several paragraphs from Commerce's antidumping manual; however, the manual itself clearly states that it "is for the internal training and guidance of Import

Administration (IA) personnel only, and the practices set out herein are <u>subject to change without</u> <u>notice. This manual cannot be cited to establish DOC practice</u>". In sum, given Vietnam has failed to establish existence of an alleged "practice" as a measure, Vietnam cannot establish a *prima facie* case for an "as such" inconsistency with the AD Agreement given that it has not brought forward evidence that what it describes as "practice" is a measure.

B. Treating Related Companies in the Covered Reviews as a Single Exporter or Producer for the Purpose of Determining a Dumping Margin is Consistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement

- 18. Article 6.10 provides that an investigating authority "shall, as a rule, determine an individual margin of dumping for each known exporter or producer of the product under investigation". Context in the AD Agreement indicates that whether producers are related to each other affects the investigating authority's analysis of those firms. Depending then on the facts of a given situation, an investigating authority may determine that legally distinct companies should be treated as a single "exporter" or "producer" based on their activities and relationships. As noted by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners*, this includes consideration of actual commercial activities and relationships of companies rather than merely their nominal status as legally distinct companies. Therefore, contrary to Vietnam's argument, Article 6.10 does not preclude Commerce from treating multiple companies as a single entity, including, where appropriate, a Vietnam-government entity.
- 19. Under Article 9.2, if an investigating authority concludes that the relationship between multiple companies is sufficiently close to support treating them as a single entity, an investigating authority may apply a single duty rate to all of those companies' exports. Nothing in Article 9.2 prohibits such treatment, nor does Article 9.2 set out criteria for an investigating authority to examine before concluding that a particular firm or group of firms constitutes a single entity. Therefore, contrary to Vietnam's argument, Article 9.2 does not preclude Commerce from treating multiple companies as a single entity, including, where appropriate, a Vietnam-government entity.

C. Vietnam's Protocol of Accession Supports Treating Multiple Companies in the Covered Reviews as Part of a Single Vietnam-Government Entity for the Purpose of Determining Dumping Margins

- 20. Vietnam's Accession Protocol reflects the rights and obligations of Vietnam upon accession to the WTO. During the accession process, Vietnam described its ongoing shift away from central planning. Members' concerns about the extent to which this shift had occurred are reflected in the Working Party Report. These concerns demonstrate that not all Members were convinced that market-economy conditions prevailed in Vietnam. The Protocol thus, by design, does not impose on Members any market or non-market characterization of Vietnam's economy, factual or otherwise, as a general rule. It simply permits a Member, as a starting point for further discussion, to find for purposes of its own antidumping proceedings that either market economy conditions prevail or non-market economy conditions prevail in the industry in question.
- 21. Specifically, Paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report provides that importing Members need not calculate normal value on the basis of Vietnamese prices or costs for an industry subject to an antidumping investigation. Paragraph 255(d) further provides, in part, that "the non-market economy provisions" of paragraph 255(a) no longer apply to a specific industry or sector in situations where Vietnam "establish[ed], pursuant to the national law of the importing WTO Member, that market economy conditions prevail in a particular industry or sector". Therefore, where Vietnam has not established under the national law of the importing Member that it is a market economy, or the Vietnamese producers under investigation have failed to "clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing the like product with regard to the manufacture, production and sale of that product," an importing Member can calculate normal value based on a NME methodology.
- 22. The Accession Protocol thus expressly provides support for Commerce's decision to calculate the normal value for the shrimp destined for consumption in Vietnam based on a NME methodology and its continued use of this methodology. In this regard, it is notable that Vietnam does not challenge before the Panel Commerce's decision to calculate the normal value for the shrimp destined for consumption in Vietnam based on a NME methodology, nor does Vietnam challenge the NME methodology that Commerce selected for its calculation of this normal value.

23. In permitting Members to determine normal value in Vietnam pursuant to a methodology not based on prices or costs in Vietnam, the Protocol also provides a basis for treating multiple companies in Vietnam as part of a Vietnam-government entity. In NME countries, the underlying supply and demand decisions, and the attendant resource allocations, are made or fundamentally distorted by the government. They are not made by independent economic actors. In such a situation, the government effectively controls resource allocations. But when the government controls resource allocations, it effectively controls resource allocators, i.e., firms. Thus the understanding in the Accession Protocol that Vietnam is not yet a market economy is, in effect, an understanding that prices for inputs and outputs are affected by the government which, in turn, is in effect an understanding that there remains government control over all firms. In the face of such an understanding, it would make no sense to automatically assign individual dumping margins to Vietnamese exporters. On the contrary, a single "government-controlled" rate is warranted, unless and until it is clearly demonstrated that market economy conditions prevail for margin calculation and antidumping duty rate assignment purposes.

D. *EC - Fasteners* Does Not Preclude Investigating Authorities from Finding that Multiple Companies in Vietnam Constitute a Single Vietnam-Government Entity for the Purpose of Determining Dumping Margins

- 24. In *EC Fasteners*, the Appellate Body recognized that Article 6.10 does not preclude the possibility that nominally or legally-independent entities may be treated as a single exporter or producer when that determination is based on evidence submitted in that investigation. According to the Appellate Body, "[w]hether determining a single dumping margin and a single anti-dumping duty for a number of exporters is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 will depend on the existence of a number of situations, which would signal that, albeit legally distinct, two or more exporters are in such a relationship that they should be treated as a single entity". Further, "the criteria used for determining whether a single entity exists from a corporate perspective, while certainly relevant, will not necessarily capture all situations where the State controls or materially influences several exporters such that they could be considered as a single entity for purposes of Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement* and be assigned a single dumping margin and anti-dumping duty". An investigating authority thus is permitted to determine whether a given entity constitutes an "exporter" or "producer" as a condition precedent to calculating an individual dumping margin for that entity.
- 25. In *EC Fasteners*, the Appellate Body determined that the EU's presumption that exporters in a NME are related to the Chinese Government was inconsistent with Article 6.10 because it contradicted the "rule" of Article 6.10 requiring investigating authorities to determine an individual dumping margin for "each known exporter or producer". The Appellate Body thus assumed that underlying Article 6.10 is a presumption that every entity must first be recognized as an individual exporter or producer. This presumption was based on an improper interpretation because the Appellate Body created obligations that are not grounded in the text of these articles.
- 26. However, even under the Appellate Body's flawed interpretive approach, Commerce's determination was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement. Unlike EC Fasteners, there is no dispute that Vietnam is a non-market economy. Thus, to the extent EC Fasteners relied on a finding that China was not necessarily a non-market economy, or that such status is irrelevant, Vietnam's status as a non-market economy in this case is relevant to an inquiry of the level of government involvement in Vietnam's economy.
- 27. Second, unlike *EC Fasteners*, Commerce's determination that a Vietnam-government entity existed and that certain exporters, while legally separate, were in fact part of that entity, rested on adequate factual findings in the course of the relevant reviews. *EC Fasteners* did not preclude an investigating authority from collecting and offering enough evidence to justify a presumption that a single government entity exists and, in the challenged reviews, Commerce has done so. In the reviews Vietnam challenges, Commerce afforded companies the opportunity to submit information about their relationship with the Vietnam-government entity to demonstrate independence from the government. The evidence that Commerce asks an entity to provide is fully consistent with those factors that the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners* suggests should be probed to ascertain situations "which would signal that, albeit legally distinct, two or more exporters are in such a relationship that they should be treated as a single entity".

28. In sum, Commerce's conclusion that multiple companies in Vietnam are part of the Vietnam-government entity is based on a permissible (indeed, eminently reasonable) interpretation of Articles 6.10 and 9.2.

E. Vietnam's Claims that Commerce Applied an Adverse Facts Available Rate in the Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Administrative Reviews Inconsistent with Article 6.8 of the AD Agreement Should be Rejected

29. Vietnam's analysis is based on faulty facts because in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews the Vietnam-government entity was assigned the only rate assigned to it since the initial investigation, which is the only rate it has ever received under this order. In each review, any party that is part of the Vietnam-government entity could have requested that Commerce review the Vietnam-government entity, but none did. As there was no such request, the exporters subject to the Vietnam-government entity rate in effect expressed that the duties were appropriate, and the duties were finally determined and collected in the amounts that had been deposited. Commerce's final duty assessments for the respective review periods for exports by companies that are part of the Vietnam-government entity was not based on facts available but rather based on the decision by the exporters not to seek a review of their duties owed, consistent with the AD Agreement. Therefore, when examination has been properly limited to fewer than all exporters, it is not inconsistent with the AD Agreement to apply a rate to unexamined exporters that is the only rate ever determined for those exporters.

F. The Vietnam-Government Entity's Rate in the Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Administrative Reviews is Not Inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement

- 30. Commerce did not assign a "country-wide" rate to the Vietnam-government entity. As explained below, the Vietnam-government entity had been individually examined in this antidumping duty proceeding and received its own rate. This rate was assigned to the companies that had not claimed or established that they are free from government control, particularly in their export activities, and thus are properly considered to be parts of the single government entity that Commerce identified as an "exporter" or "producer" consistent with Article 6.10.
- 31. Article 9.4 otherwise does not impose an obligation on Members to replace an existing WTO-consistent rate of a government-entity exporter or producer, which had failed to cooperate in this proceeding with a different rate that is based on an average rate of independent exporters or producers that fully cooperated, nor does it impose an obligation to calculate a single antidumping duty. Therefore, Article 9.4 does not require that an investigating authority assign an average rate of cooperating exporters, which are not controlled by the Government of Vietnam, to the Vietnam-government entity, which had been investigated, failed to cooperate, and received its own rate consistent with Article 6.8 of the AD Agreement.

V. Vietnam's Claim That the United States Maintains a Zeroing Measure That May Be Challenged "As Such" Under the AD Agreement is Without Merit

- 32. Vietnam claims that the United States maintains a measure that involves the use of the so-called "zeroing" methodology, and that this measure is "as such" inconsistent with the AD Agreement. This claim is without merit. The United States maintains no statute, regulation, or other measure that requires the use of a so-called "zeroing" methodology. To the contrary, the United States has modified its calculation methodology and grants offsets for non-dumped comparisons (i.e., does calculations without the 'zeroing' methodology) in various types of proceedings. Therefore, Vietnam has not demonstrated as a matter of fact that the United States maintains a measure of general and prospective application that requires the use of zeroing. As a result, Vietnam's claim that an alleged U.S. zeroing measure is "as such" inconsistent with the AD Agreement is in error and necessarily fails.
- VI. Vietnam's Claim that The Application of the Zeroing Methodology to Imports of Shrimp From Vietnam in the Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Administrative Reviews Is, "As Applied", Inconsistent with the AD Agreement Is Incorrect
- 33. The text and context of the relevant provisions of the AD Agreement, as properly interpreted in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law, support the interpretation of the United States that the concepts of dumping and margins of

dumping have meaning in relation to individual transactions and, therefore, there is no obligation to aggregate multiple comparison results in assessment proceedings to arrive at an aggregated margin of dumping for the product as a whole. The exclusive textual basis for an obligation to account for such non-dumping in calculating margins of dumping is found in Article 2.4.2 of the AD Agreement that "the existence of margins of dumping during the investigation phase shall normally be established on the basis of a comparison of a <u>weighted average normal value with a weighted average of prices of all comparable export transactions</u>...". This particular text of Article 2.4.2 does not impose any obligations outside the limited context of determining whether dumping exists in the investigation when using the average-to-average comparison methodology. Vietnam's argument, which seeks to extend an obligation to provide offsets beyond the specific context of investigations, finds no support in the text of the AD Agreement and must be rejected.

- 34. Article 2.1 of the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994 also do not require the provision of offsets in assessment proceedings. The product is always "introduced into the commerce of another country" through individual transactions, and thus "dumping," as defined in Article 2.1, is transaction-specific. The express terms of the GATT 1994 provide that the margin of dumping is the amount by which normal value "exceeds" export price, or alternatively the amount by which export price "falls short" of normal value. Consequently, there is no textual support in Article VI of the GATT 1994 or the AD Agreement for the concept of "product as a whole" and "negative dumping".
- 35. Vietnam also has not demonstrated any inconsistency with Article 9.3 of the AD Agreement nor Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994. The United States notes that the terms upon which Vietnam's interpretation rests are conspicuously absent from the text of these provisions. Moreover, Vietnam's interpretation is not mandated by the definition of dumping contained in Article 2.1 of the AD Agreement. As the panel in US Zeroing (EC) correctly concluded, there is "no textual support in Article 9.3 for the view that the AD Agreement requires an exporter-oriented assessment of antidumping duties, whereby, if an average normal value is calculated for a particular review period, the amount of anti-dumping duty payable on a particular transaction is determined by whether the overall average of the export prices of all sales made by an exporter during that period is below the average normal value". Accordingly, an interpretation that permits the existence of transaction-specific margins of dumping is supported by Article 9.3.
- 36. Finally, Vietnam's argument that the United States acted inconsistently with Article VI:2 rests entirely upon its erroneous interpretation of the term "margin of dumping". In examining the text of Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, the panel in *US Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5)* saw "no reason why a Member may not ... establish the 'margin of dumping' on the basis of the total amount by which transaction specific export prices are <u>less</u> than the transaction-specific normal values". Although the panel examined dumping margin calculations in an investigation, its basic reasoning and textual interpretation of Article VI:2 are equally applicable to margins of dumping established on a transaction-specific basis in assessment proceedings.

VII. Commerce's Sunset Determination is Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 37. Article 11.3 requires that five years after an antidumping duty is imposed, the duty must be terminated unless the authorities determine following a timely review that termination "would be likely to lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping and injury" ("likelihood determination"). Article 11.3 does not specify the exact methodologies or modes of analysis needed to satisfy the likelihood determination. Accordingly, aside from the obligations contained in Article 11.3, the AD Agreement leaves the conduct of sunset reviews to the discretion of the Member concerned.
- 38. Commerce permissibly concluded in the Sunset Determination, based on the evidence before it, that revocation of the antidumping duty order would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping. In its likelihood determination, Commerce relied on positive antidumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the four completed reviews. Commerce also noted: (1) the Vietnamese exporters' recognition as to the continuing existence of some dumping; (2) the appropriate application of adverse facts available to uncooperative mandatory respondents; and (3) the decline in shrimp import volumes following the original investigation.
- 39. Meanwhile, Vietnam has failed to establish sufficient evidence in support of its allegations that Commerce's consideration of positive margins of dumping assigned to respondents was

inappropriate. In WTO dispute settlement, the burden of proving that a measure is inconsistent with a covered agreement rests on the complaining party. First, the table that Vietnam presents is a misleading overview of the dumping rates considered by Commerce. This table is incomplete and inaccurate. Second, with respect to the first review, Vietnam acknowledges that two mandatory respondents failed to cooperate with Commerce and were assigned a margin of dumping based on adverse facts available. The rate applied to these companies alone provides sufficient support for Commerce's conclusion that dumping continued during the sunset review period, and along with the declining import volumes discussed below, sufficient evidence to support Commerce's likelihood determination. Finally, Vietnam failed to demonstrate that the decline in import volumes was solely the result of factors other than the discipline of the antidumping duty order.

- 40. None of Vietnam's arguments overcome, much less address, Vietnam's repeated acknowledgement of the fact that some level of dumping has persisted throughout the order's duration and that the volume of imports did, in fact, decline. Therefore, irrespective of Commerce's consideration of dumping margins that Vietnam alleges are WTO-inconsistent, these facts provide an ample evidentiary basis to support Commerce's conclusion that revocation of the antidumping duty order would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping.
- 41. Finally, the Appellate Body reports cited by Vietnam do not require a finding that Commerce's Sunset Determination is WTO-inconsistent. Vietnam relies on the Appellate Body reports in *US Zeroing (Japan)* and *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review* to argue that "reliance in an Article 11.3 review on margins of dumping determined using a methodology inconsistent with Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement results in that Article 11.3 review also being inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement". The evidence here demonstrates that Commerce's Sunset Determination is consistent with Article 11.3 since it is justified on the basis of factors other than WTO-inconsistent factors. Where the investigating authority has relied not only on that margin of dumping but other, sufficient evidentiary bases, such that the likelihood determination can stand on its own, after any factors based on a WTO-inconsistent methodology have been removed, the likelihood finding will be considered consistent with Article 11.3. Accordingly, even if the Panel were to find that certain dumping margins considered by Commerce were WTO inconsistent, the Panel can still consider and find that the Sunset Determination is not inconsistent with Article 11.3 based on the WTO consistent factors examined by Commerce.

VIII. Conclusion

42. The United States respectfully requests that the Panel reject Vietnam's claims that the United States has acted inconsistently with the covered agreements.

ANNEX C-2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE STATEMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES AT THE FIRST PANEL MEETING

1. Vietnam is asking the Panel to impose on the United States obligations found nowhere in the Agreement on Implementation of *Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("AD Agreement") or the *General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("GATT 1994") and asking the Panel to do so without foundation in facts.

A. Vietnam's Claim Regarding Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Rounds Agreement Act Lacks Merit

- 2. Vietnam's assertion that Section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Rounds Agreement Act ("URAA") is inconsistent with the AD Agreement is plagued by a number of fundamental flaws, any one of which is fatal to Vietnam's claim, and provides a sufficient basis for this Panel to reject Vietnam's argument.
- 3. First, Vietnam asserts that Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA prevents the United States from properly implementing the recommendations and rulings by the DSB. However, Vietnam's panel request did not assert that Section 129(c)(1) was inconsistent with any provisions of the DSU rather, it was based solely on the claim that Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent with the AD Agreement.
- 4. Second, Vietnam's argument is based on a number of flawed premises that have no basis in the AD Agreement, the GATT 1994, or U.S. law. In particular, Vietnam's argument incorrectly assumes that Section 129 is the sole mechanism by which the United States can bring itself into compliance with the DSB recommendations and rulings.
- 5. Lastly, Vietnam asserts that this Panel should disregard the panel report in *US Section 129(c)(1)* as a result of subsequent events, most notably the decision by the U.S. Court of International Trade ("CIT") in *Corus Staal, BV v. United States ("Corus Staal")*. In particular, Vietnam misreads the effect of the CIT's decision in *Corus Staal*.

B. The Treatment of Multiple Companies in Vietnam as a Single Vietnam-Government Exporter/Producer was not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

1. Vietnam's "As Such" Claim is Without Merit

- 6. Vietnam contends that it is challenging Commerce's "NME-wide entity rate practices as set forth in [Commerce's] Anti-Dumping Manual ...". In the context of an unwritten measure that allegedly governs the administrative application of another measure (such as AD regulations or an AD statute), the Appellate Body has identified several criteria for evaluating whether a measure exists that can be challenged "as such," including whether the rule or norm has general and prospective applicability. Vietnam failed to put forth sufficient evidence in its first written submission and during this hearing showing that this alleged practice exists as a measure and is invariably applied by Commerce.
- 7. Commerce's AD Manual specifically sets forth that it "is for the internal training and guidance of ... personnel only, and the practices set out herein are subject to change without notice. This manual cannot be cited to establish [Commerce] practice." Commerce thus has explicitly circumscribed the relevance of its AD Manual and has alerted both petitioners and respondents that the Manual cannot serve as a basis to argue that Commerce has adopted an approach that must be followed for any particular, future proceeding. For these reasons, the Manual cannot be considered as having general or prospective application.
- 8. The United States also notes that Commerce was under no obligation to develop the Manual, that Commerce does not need the Manual to have sufficient legal foundation under domestic law for its actions, and that Commerce was not required under the U.S. Administrative

Procedure Act to publish the Manual in the *Federal Register*. In other words, use of the Manual, or the Policy Bulletin that Vietnam mentioned for the first time in its opening statement, are not required under domestic law or under the WTO Agreement. Vietnam thus is attacking the United States for taking a non-required step to promote transparency. Accordingly, an "as such" finding against the Manual accomplishes nothing except to discourage transparency.

9. Finally, Vietnam has not pointed to a principle of U.S. law that in any way supports the conclusion that the Manual or Policy Bulletin "requires" Commerce to do anything at all, or that following the same logic as that expressed in this non-binding document somehow makes the document binding. Indeed, Vietnam readily acknowledges that Commerce "retains broad discretion on the method for calculating the NME-wide entity rate ...".

2. Vietnam's "As Applied" Claim Also is Without Merit

- 10. Vietnam has also failed to establish that Commerce's decisions in the covered reviews regarding the assignment of an individual margin of dumping and an individual antidumping duty to the Vietnam-government entity were inconsistent with the obligations of the United States under the AD Agreement. As noted by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners*, Articles 6.10 and 9.2 definitely permit an investigating authority to treat multiple companies as a single entity where they are related operationally or legally.
- 11. Thus here, where unlike *EC Fasteners* Commerce has made a factual finding that non-market economy conditions in the export country a finding which, by the way, Vietnam does not challenge it was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement for Commerce to consider multiple companies as a single entity in light of the fact that paragraph 255 of Vietnam's Accession Protocol stipulates that the AD Agreement shall be applied in a manner consistent with the rules set forth in that paragraph. Contrary then to Vietnam's and China's statements, Commerce's methodology is not discriminatory because it flows from the Accession Protocol.
- 12. Commerce's treatment of the Vietnam-government entity was also fully consistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement. No party that is part of the Vietnam-government entity requested that Commerce review the entries of that entity during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews. As such, the exporters subject to the Vietnam-government entity rate effectively expressed that the rate in effect that Commerce had calculated for this entity was preferable to the possible rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review.
- 13. Thus Vietnam's claim that Commerce's decision to assigned this last rate to the Vietnam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Article 6.8 and Annex II of the AD Agreement. This was the "rate in effect" at the time, not a "new" rate that was based on facts available. And contrary to Vietnam's claim, Commerce's decision to continue applying the rate in effect to the Vietnam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement. The rate in effect applies to the group of companies whose export activities were determined to be materially influenced by the Government of Vietnam.

C. The U.S. Application of its Zeroing Methodology "As Such" and "As Applied" Was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement and GATT 1994

- 14. Vietnam's "as such" claim with respect to the so-called "zeroing" methodology is without merit. The United States changed this practice in 2007 with respect to investigations and in 2012 with respect to administrative reviews. Thus by the time Vietnam requested the establishment of this Panel, there was no "zeroing" measure as found in previous WTO reports and nothing that required the use of that methodology.
- 15. To the contrary, as pointed out in paragraph 208 of the U.S. First Written Submission, Commerce has issued numerous determinations in which it has offset dumping margins on dumped sales by the amount equal to the amount by which normal value is less than export price on non-dumped sales.
- 16. In fact, Commerce granted offsets for non-dumped transactions in the most recent administrative review of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam. Vietnam's claim that an alleged U.S. zeroing measure is "as such" inconsistent with the AD Agreement thus is without any factual basis.

17. As to Vietnam's "as applied" claim, the United States continues to have serious concerns about past Appellate Body "zeroing" reports and continues to believe that they are incorrect. That said, the United States will not repeat today the detailed points regarding "zeroing" included in our First Written Submission, but will simply note that the rights and obligations of Members flow, not from panel or Appellate Body reports, but from the text of the covered agreements.

D. Commerce's Sunset Review Determination Was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 18. The Appellate Body has confirmed that "Article 11.3 does not prescribe any particular methodology to be used by investigating authorities in making a likelihood determination in a sunset review". No other provisions of the AD Agreement set forth rules regarding the methodologies or analysis to be employed by investigating authorities in making a determination in a sunset review of whether dumping and injury is likely to continue or recur. Accordingly, Vietnam's efforts to read into Article 11.3 substantive methodological obligations of Vietnam's own choosing must be rejected.
- 19. There is no question that Commerce, in arriving at its Sunset Determination, conducted a thorough review of the history of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam, from the original investigation through the last review relevant to that determination (the fourth review). There is also no question that Commerce, in arriving at its Sunset Determination, relied on positive antidumping duty rates applied to numerous exporters during the completed reviews. And there is no question that Commerce, in arriving at its Sunset Determination, relied on declining volumes of imports after the initiation of the original investigation that failed to return to pre-investigation levels in any of the individual years.
- 20. Thus the existence of dumping margins determined based on failures to cooperate and a significant decline in import volumes were expressly relied upon by Commerce to support its conclusion that dumping was likely to continue or recur. In light of these facts, and Commerce's analysis in this case, the Appellate Body decisions cited by Vietnam concerning reliance on WTO-inconsistent dumping margins simply do not compel the result Vietnam seeks here. The Panel may, and should, find this sunset determination to be WTO-consistent.

E. The AD Agreement Does Not Obligate the United States to Provide Company-Specific Revocation After Three Years of No Dumping

- 21. There is nothing in the AD Agreement that obligates the United States to provide for company-specific revocation, or to provide for such company-specific revocation based on the absence of dumping for three years.
- 22. Nothing in Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement imposes an obligation to review and revoke a duty on a company-specific basis. This is demonstrated, for example, by the use of the "duty" in both Articles 11.2 and 11.3. The term "duty" is most logically interpreted as having the same meaning in Articles 11.2 and 11.3, especially given the fact that these two Articles provide the mechanisms to ensure that, per Article 11.1, an antidumping duty remains in place only as long as necessary to counteract injurious dumping.
- 23. As the Appellate Body found in *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, "the duty" referenced in Article 11.3 is imposed on a product-specific or, in U.S. terminology, an "order-wide" basis, not a company-specific basis. The Appellate Body thus rejected Japan's argument that Article 11.3 imposed obligations on a company-specific basis. Vietnam has provided no reason, and cannot provide such a reason, as to why this Panel should find that "the duty" has a different meaning in Article 11.3 as opposed to Article 11.2. This was the finding of the Appellate Body in *US Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review* and it is persuasive based on the references to injury in Article 11.2 as well as the contrast between "the duty" and references to "individual duties" elsewhere in the AD Agreement.
- 24. Here, Vietnamese respondents did not make a request for order-wide revocation. Accordingly, the United States did not breach its obligations under Article 11.2.

ANNEX C-3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE SECOND WRITTEN SUBMISSION OF THE UNITED STATES

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. Throughout this dispute, Viet Nam's arguments have consistently failed to meaningfully address the specific rights and obligations provided in the covered agreements and ignored relevant facts. The United States will not repeat all of its arguments related to these matters in this submission, but rather will focus on the flaws in arguments Viet Nam made in its oral statements at the first substantive Panel meeting and in its answers to the Panel's questions following that meeting.
- 2. First, Viet Nam's claim with respect to company-specific revocation based on the absence of dumping for three years fails because, as a threshold matter, there is no requirement for company-specific revocation in Article 11.2. Reference to "the duty" in Article 11 is an order-wide reference. This was the finding of the Appellate Body in *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review* and it is persuasive based on the references to injury in Article 11.2 as well as the contrast between "the duty" and references to "individual duties" elsewhere in the *Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994* ("AD Agreement").
- 3. Next, Viet Nam's claim with respect to section 129(c)(1) of the Uruguay Round Agreement Act ("URAA") also fails. When Members wanted to place implementation obligations in WTO agreements, they clearly did so, as with Article 4.7 of the *Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures* ("SCM Agreement"). No such obligations are contained in the AD Agreement, which is the covered agreement relied on by Viet Nam to make its claim. In addition, Viet Nam's central premise that section 129(c)(1) is the exclusive mechanism by which the United States can implement DSB recommendations and rulings is simply false. That is what the panel found in $US Section \ 129(c)(1)$ and, simply put, nothing has changed, and the Panel here should make the same finding.
- 4. Viet Nam has also failed to demonstrate any of its claims with respect to Commerce's approach to the Viet Nam-government entity rate. First, Viet Nam still has failed to put forth sufficient evidence showing that this alleged practice exists as a measure and is invariably applied by Commerce. Second, Viet Nam has failed to demonstrate that Commerce's decision to treat related companies in the covered reviews as a single exporter or producer for the purpose of determining a dumping margin is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement. Finally, Commerce's treatment of the Viet Nam-government entity was fully consistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement. No party that is part of the Viet Nam-government entity requested that Commerce review the entries of that entity during the covered reviews. Thus the companies subject to the Viet Nam-government entity rate essentially expressed that the rate in effect was preferable to the rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review.
- 5. Viet Nam's "as such" claim with respect to Commerce's application of the so-called "zeroing" methodology is without merit because no such measure exists; the United States has already changed its approach for calculating dumping margins. Commerce has issued numerous determinations, including in the most recent administrative review of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Viet Nam, in which it has offset dumping margins on dumped sales by the amount equal to the amount by which normal value is less than export price on non-dumped sales. Commerce changed its approach to calculating dumping margins pursuant to section 123(g) of the URAA after extensive consultations with appropriate congressional committees, relevant private sector advisory committees, and public comment. Thus Viet Nam's assertion that Commerce can easily re-impose an alleged U.S. zeroing measure is without merit.
- 6. Finally, on the issue of the Sunset Determination, Commerce had a sufficient evidentiary basis to conclude that revocation of the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Viet Nam would likely lead to continuation or recurrence of dumping. The determination relied on multiple factors,

including dumping margins that Viet Nam does not dispute were calculated in a "WTO-consistent" way and declining import volumes. Thus the mere fact that this Panel may consider other dumping margins examined by Commerce as "WTO-inconsistent" does not undermine Commerce's likelihood-of-dumping determination. That determination continues to stand on its own, substantiated by evidence and fully consistent with Article 11.3 of the AD Agreement.

II. ARGUMENT

- A. The United States Did Not Act Inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement by Not Granting Company-Specific Revocation Based on the Absence of Company-Specific Dumping for Three Years
- 7. Viet Nam argues that the ordinary meaning of Article 11.2 as well as context provided by other provisions of the AD Agreement support its interpretation that Article 11.2, in contrast to Article 11.3, mandates company-specific revocation. For the reasons set forth in the U.S. First Written Submission, Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement does not obligate Members to consider, much less provide, company-specific revocation of an antidumping duty order. But even aside from the fact that Article 11.2 does not provide for company-specific revocation, Article 11.2 does not contain a requirement that a Member revoke an order based on the absence of company-specific dumping for three years.
 - Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement Does Not Contain Obligations Visà-vis Company-Specific Revocation
- 8. The ordinary meaning of Article 11.2, as well as context provided by other provisions of the AD Agreement, makes clear that company-specific revocation is not an obligation. First, Article 11.2 requires a review of the continuing need for "the duty." As the Appellate Body found in US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review, "the duty" referenced in Article 11.3 is imposed on a product-specific (i.e., in U.S. terminology, "order-wide") basis, not a company-specific basis. The term "duty" is most logically interpreted as having the same meaning in Articles 11.2 and 11.3, especially given the fact that these two Articles provide the mechanisms to ensure that, per Article 11.1, an antidumping duty remains in place only as long as necessary to counteract injurious dumping.
 - 2. Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement Does Not Require Revocation Based on the Absence of Dumping for Three Years
- 9. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that company-specific revocation is an obligation under Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement, there is nothing in Article 11.2 that obligates a Member to adopt a standard that revocation must occur based on the absence of dumping for three years. This was the panel's observation in *US Anti-Dumping Measures on Oil Country Tubular Goods* when it found that the standard of revocation based on three years of no dumping "operates in favour of foreign producers and exporters." As such, it goes "beyond what is required by Article 11.2" and, therefore, cannot serve as a basis for a breach of Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement by the United States.
 - 3. The United States Did Not Act Inconsistently with Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement in Limiting the Number of Exporters for Individual Examination, Including Requests for Revocation
- 10. Even if Article 11.2 could be read to provide for company-specific revocations, Article 11.2 cannot be read as requiring administering authorities to initiate separate reviews of any company that makes a request for revocation. Viet Nam's argument in this regard is based on the premise that the AD Agreement has an ambiguity in, and apparent conflict between, the limited examination provisions of Article 6.10 and the review contemplated under Article 11.2. However, Viet Nam has no basis for the premise of its argument. A proper reading of the terms of these provisions, in light of their plain meaning, and in context and in light of the object and purpose of the AD Agreement, demonstrates that Members may limit the examination of requests made under Article 11.2. And indeed, it is Viet Nam's proposed interpretation that would create a conflict between Articles 6.10 and 11.2.

B. Viet Nam Has Failed to Establish that Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA is Inconsistent, As Such, with the AD Agreement

11. As set forth in both the U.S. First Written Submission and the panel's report in $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)$, section 129(c)(1) of the URAA does not mandate or preclude any particular treatment of "prior unliquidated" entries nor does it have "the effect" thereof. Indeed, "only determinations made and implemented under section 129 are within the scope of section 129(c)(1)" and "section 129(c)(1)" only addresses the application of section 129 determinations. It does not require or preclude any particular actions with respect to {other entries} in a separate segment of the same proceeding." These DSB rulings remain as true today as they were when the panel examined the U.S. system for implementing DSB recommendations and rulings in $US-Section\ 129(c)(1)$. Section 129 remains the same and has not been amended. Viet Nam's arguments do not provide any reason for the Panel to make different findings from those previously adopted by the DSB.

1. The AD Agreement Does Not Address Implementation of DSB Recommendations and Rulings

12. As an initial matter, and as discussed in the U.S. First Written Submission, the DSU is the only WTO agreement that addresses Members' obligations in regards to implementation in the antidumping context. Viet Nam has not pursued any claims *vis-à-vis* section 129(c)(1) of the URAA under the DSU. For this reason alone, Viet Nam's claim as to section 129(c)(1) should be rejected.

2. The United States Implements DSB Recommendations and Rulings Through a Number of Mechanisms

- 13. At various points in its answers to Panel questions, Viet Nam asserts that while the United States may have a number of mechanisms besides section 129 to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, those mechanisms are "irrelevant" because implementation through other means is not "automatic." Viet Nam thus asks the Panel to ignore the existence of other avenues, both administrative and legislative, by which the United States can implement DSB recommendations and rulings to treat "prior unliquidated entries" in a WTO consistent manner.
- 14. These arguments should be rejected. Section 123 and congressional action are two mechanisms within a larger domestic scheme by which the United States maintains the discretion to bring itself into compliance with DSB recommendations and rulings. Viet Nam's attempts to have the Panel analyze section 129(c)(1) in a vacuum that is isolated from the other parts of this domestic scheme should be rejected.

3. Viet Nam Misconstrues the Statement of Administrative Action (SAA)

- 15. In an attempt to discredit the fact that the United States has used other administrative mechanisms (such as section 123) to accord WTO-consistent treatment to "prior unliquidated entries", Viet Nam asserts that such administrative mechanisms could only be used in "size of margin" cases but could not be used in "revocation" cases. In support of this argument, Viet Nam notes that the SAA states that section 129 determinations may not be necessary where the DSB recommendations and rulings "merely implicate[] the size of a dumping margin or countervailable subsidy rate [("size of margin")] (as opposed to whether a determination is affirmative or negative [("revocation")])."
- 16. The fact that the SAA distinguishes "size of margin" and "revocation" situations does not mean that prior unliquidated entries cannot be accorded WTO-consistent treatment pursuant to other mechanisms. The passage of the SAA relied upon by Viet Nam establishes only that the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings under section 129(c)(1) does not affect duties assessed on "prior unliquidated entries". To suggest that this passage, which pertains explicitly to section 129, dictates the application of other U.S. measures or the scope of potential congressional action is a conclusion unsupported by the text.

- C. The Treatment of Multiple Companies in Viet Nam as a Single Viet Nam-Government Exporter/Producer Was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
 - Viet Nam Still Has Failed to Demonstrate the Existence of a Measure that May be Challenged "As Such" as Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- 17. Viet Nam in its first written submission contended that it is challenging Commerce's "NME-wide entity rate practice as set forth in the USDOC's Anti-Dumping Manual, which confirms the practice is applied on a generalized and prospective basis." As discussed in the U.S. First Written Submission and elsewhere, Viet Nam has not demonstrated the existence of a measure based on an alleged "practice" that may be challenged "as such" under the AD Agreement.
 - 2. Commerce's Approach with Respect to the Government of Viet Nam's Control over Multiple Companies is based on the Undisputed NME Conditions in Viet Nam and is Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement
- 18. Viet Nam states that it contests in this dispute "whether the covered agreements provide a legal not a factual basis for the presumption of government control that is central to the NME-wide entity policy." As an initial matter, the United States notes that the question presented is a mixed question of fact and law; namely, whether the U.S. approach for deciding what sets of exports from an NME are considered to be from one exporter or from separate exporters. The matter at issue at least as Viet Nam has presented it does not involve a pure question of legal interpretation of any particular provision of the AD Agreement. Indeed, Viet Nam cannot point to any provision of the AD Agreement that specifies exactly how an authority is to decide whether different sets of exports are considered to be from one exporter or multiple exporters. Rather, the question is whether Viet Nam has demonstrated that the approach used by the United States to determine which exports from an NME are matched to particular exporters is inconsistent with the WTO Agreement.
 - a. Viet Nam's Working Party Report Provides the Basis for Commerce's Presumption that Viet Nam Controls Companies Involved in Exportation and Production of the Subject Merchandise until Demonstrated Otherwise
- 19. The Working Party Report reflects that Viet Nam, in the course of its accession process, presented a range of reforms to the Working Party about prices, the banking sector, the role of state-owned enterprises (SOEs) and commercial activity and trade generally, all of which were aimed at establishing a multi-sector economy. At the same time, Viet Nam also stated that its economy was still in the process of shifting from central planning to a market-based economy. Despite this statement, which itself indicates that Viet Nam considered its reforms incomplete, the description of Viet Nam's economy in the Working Party Report did not indicate a shift toward a true market-based economy. Rather, the description of Viet Nam's economy in the Working Party Report indicated that Viet Nam planned to develop a "socialist-oriented market economy" in which the state preserves a predominant role for SOEs.
- 20. In sum, the concerns expressed in the Working Party Report regarding the nature of Viet Nam's economy and the provisions on antidumping clearly indicate that Members were not convinced that market economy conditions prevailed in Viet Nam. Members thus insisted on, and received from Viet Nam, discretion in determining under their own national laws when market economy conditions prevailed in Viet Nam, with implications that necessarily extended beyond the calculation of normal value. The Working Party Report memorializes the concerns with the Viet Nam government's influence and provides the basis for Commerce's presumption that the government may control companies in various industries until otherwise demonstrated.

- b. Given the Working Party Report Provides a Basis for doing so, Commerce's Presumption that Companies in Viet Nam are Part of a Viet Nam-Government Entity Pending Contrary Evidence was Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- 21. Paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report states that "an importing WTO Member shall use Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation in determining price comparability" where the producers "can clearly show that market economy conditions prevail." But where the producers do not make this showing, "[t]he importing WTO Member [in determining price comparability] may use a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam if the producers under investigation cannot clearly show that market economy conditions prevail in the industry producing the like product with regard to manufacture, production and sale of that product".
- 22. Therefore, contrary to Viet Nam's argument, the introductory phrase to paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report "[i]n determining the price comparability under Article VI of the GATT 1994 and the Anti-Dumping Agreement" and the associated language that permits importing Members to use a methodology for price comparability "not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam" together provide a legal basis for Members to treat Viet Nam differently in antidumping proceedings with respect to the determination of a NME-government entity margin. Commerce's determination in the covered reviews that a Viet Nam-government entity existed and that certain companies, while legally separate, were in fact part of this entity for purposes of ensuring appropriate price comparability between the normal value and the export price thus were not inconsistent with the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994.
 - c. Commerce's Determination to Treat Related Companies in the Covered Reviews as a Single Exporter or Producer for the Purpose of Determining a Dumping Margin is Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement
- 23. As demonstrated in Section II.C.2.a., Commerce's presumption that all companies in the antidumping proceedings involving shrimp from Viet Nam are part of the Viet Nam-government entity until a company provides evidence to the contrary regarding its export activities is based on the Working Party Report (and Commerce's 2002 determination) that NME conditions prevail in Viet Nam. As further demonstrated in Section II.C.2.b., Commerce's presumption and eventual determination in the covered reviews that a Viet Nam-government entity existed because certain companies, while legally separate, were in fact part of the Viet Nam-government entity, was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994.
- 24. Finally, Viet Nam indicated in a written response to a question from the Panel that it "does not contest here the general question of whether, under the covered agreements, the State and exporters can be considered a single entity." Therefore, given Viet Nam's position plus the fact that Commerce's approach results in a reading of the AD Agreement that is consistent with paragraph 255, Commerce's conclusion in the covered reviews that multiple companies in Viet Nam were part of the Viet Nam-government entity and subsequent decision to assign that entity an individual margin of dumping and an individual antidumping duty were not inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement.
 - 3. The Rate Applied to the Viet Nam-Government Entity is Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement
- 25. Commerce's treatment of the Viet Nam-government entity was fully consistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement. No party that is part of the Viet Nam-government entity requested that Commerce review the entries of that entity during the covered reviews. The companies subject to the Viet Nam-government entity rate thus essentially expressed that the rate in effect that Commerce had calculated for this entity was preferable to the rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review. Thus Commerce's decision to assign this last rate to the Viet Nam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 because this last rate was neither a "new" rate based on facts available nor an "all others" rate, but the "rate in effect" at the time.

- a. Viet Nam's Argument that the Investigating Authority May Not Apply Facts Available if the Government of Viet Nam Refuses to Cooperate Is Unfounded
- 26. Although Commerce did not assign the Viet Nam-government entity a rate based on facts available in the covered reviews, Viet Nam nonetheless argues that facts available cannot be applied to this entity because the government of the exporting country plays a different role in antidumping cases than it does in countervailing duty cases. According to Viet Nam, in antidumping cases, it "cannot foresee a situation in which an authority could apply facts available in case of a failure to cooperate by a government".
- 27. Viet Nam's argument lacks any support in the text of the AD Agreement. The issue is not how AD proceedings compare to countervailing duty proceedings, or what Viet Nam can or cannot "foresee". Rather, the issue is what the AD Agreement provides. And in the circumstances of this case, Commerce's application of facts available following the government of Viet Nam's failure to cooperate is supported by the plain text of the AD Agreement. According to Article 6.8, preliminary and final determinations may be made on the basis of the facts available whenever "any interested party refuses access to, or otherwise does not provide, necessary information within a reasonable period or significantly impedes the investigation" (emphasis added). Article 6.11 explicitly defines "interested parties" as including, *inter alia*, "the government of the exporting Member." Articles 6.8 and 6.11 thus expressly contemplate that an antidumping determination may be based on facts available whenever the government of an exporting Member does not cooperate during an investigation.
 - b. Commerce's Application of the Rate in Effect during the Covered Reviews is Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement
- Although prior panel reports are not binding on panels considering other disputes, Viet Nam further argues that the Panel should look to the US - Shrimp (Viet Nam) (DS404) panel report for quidance as it considers whether the rate that Commerce's assigned to the Viet Namgovernment entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with the AD Agreement. This panel report treated the rate applied to the Viet Nam-government entity in the third administrative review as a "facts available" rate. As explained in the U.S. First Written Submission, however, it would be incorrect to apply the DS404 panel finding to the covered reviews because Commerce did not apply facts available (substantively or otherwise) to the Viet Nam-government entity in those reviews. Again, the rate applied to the Viet Nam-government entity in the covered reviews is not, and cannot be, a facts available rate because it is not based on the interested party's refusal to give access to, or otherwise provide, necessary information during the covered reviews. Instead, it was based on the fact that the Viet Nam-government entity, and those Vietnamese parties who would be subject to the Viet Nam-government entity's rate, did not seek a different rate but accepted the existing rate of the Viet Nam-government entity. Accordingly, Commerce applied the existing rate of the Viet Nam-government entity during the covered reviews and was under no obligation to change the existing rate for final assessment purposes.
 - D. Viet Nam's Claim That the United States Maintains a Zeroing Measure That May Be Challenged "As Such" Under the AD Agreement is Without Merit
- 29. Commerce's so-called "zeroing" methodology does not exist today as a measure of general and prospective application. Commerce changed its approach for calculating dumping margins for investigations (effective early 2007) and for administrative reviews (effective early 2012) in response to the DSB's recommendations and rulings on this matter. The measure subject to the recommendations and rulings in prior disputes thus no longer exists.
- 30. In addition, it is wrong to conclude that Commerce can simply re-impose the so-called "zeroing" methodology that it changed in response to the DSB's recommendations and rulings just because it "is not explicitly required or prohibited by [U.S.] law". Commerce changed its approach for calculating dumping margins in both investigations and administrative reviews in accordance with U.S. law and, in particular, under the procedures outlined in section 123(g) of the URAA. Commerce's changes in methodology were made after extensive consultations with appropriate congressional committees, relevant private sector advisory committees, and public comment regarding its modifications. Viet Nam has not provided a single example of the agency practice,

which was found to be WTO inconsistent and changed pursuant to section 123(g), being subsequently "easily re-imposed."

E. Commerce's Sunset Review Determination is Not Inconsistent with Articles 11.3 of the AD Agreement

- 31. The AD Agreement does not prescribe specific methodologies that authorities must follow in determining whether to terminate definitive antidumping duties under Article 11.3. No other provisions of the AD Agreement set forth rules regarding the methodologies or analysis to be employed in making the determination of whether dumping and injury is likely to continue or recur. Accordingly, attempts to read into Article 11.3 substantive obligations allegedly contained in other provisions of the AD Agreement have been soundly rejected. Aside from the obligations contained in Article 11.3, the AD Agreement leaves the conduct of sunset reviews to the discretion of the Member concerned.
 - Notwithstanding its Statements to the Contrary, Viet Nam Continues to Acknowledge that Commerce Relied on WTO-Consistent Margins of Dumping in the Sunset Review
- 32. In its Sunset Determination, Commerce conducted a thorough review of the history of the antidumping duty proceeding from the original investigation through the fourth review. In its likelihood determination, Commerce relied on positive antidumping duty margins applied to numerous companies during the four completed reviews. Nonetheless, Viet Nam in its arguments elects to mischaracterize the margins relied on by Commerce in making its likelihood determination.

2. Viet Nam Misunderstands the Relevance of Declining Volumes as Part of Commerce's Analysis

- 33. Viet Nam in its arguments also elects to misread the U.S. position as arguing that Commerce either relied exclusively on WTO-inconsistent margins or exclusively on declining import volumes. Our first written submission and responses to Panel questions demonstrate that declining volumes were a part of the evidence relied on by Commerce and not the exclusive basis for finding likelihood. Specifically, in addition to evidence of continued dumping, Commerce also reviewed public U.S. import data as reported by the ITC Trade Database for 2003-2009 and found that import volumes fell from 56.3 million kilograms in the year preceding the investigation (2003) to 42.1, 35.9, 37.9, 46.7, 40.1 million kilograms in 2005-2009, respectively. As explained, this decline in import volumes suggests that the exporters were unable to sustain pre-investigation import levels without dumping. The Appellate Body has confirmed that the "volume of dumped imports' and 'dumping margins', before and after the issuance of anti-dumping duty orders, are highly important factors for any determination of likelihood" and that they have "certain probative value". Thus "[t]he importance of the two underlying factors (import volumes and dumping margins) for a likelihood-of-dumping determination cannot be questioned".
- 34. Finally, Viet Nam is incorrect in describing the change in import volumes as a "moderate" reduction. In fact, the average volume for years following the review was approximately 40.54 million kilograms a decline of about 28 percent compared to the 56.3 million kilograms imported in the year preceding the investigation.

3. Viet Nam's Remaining Arguments are Immaterial Because they Do Not Address the Facts at Issue in this Case

- 35. Viet Nam's answers to the Panel's questions further highlight that Viet Nam has no legitimate basis for questioning the outcome of the sunset review. Rather than responding to the Panel's questions regarding what evidence was submitted to Commerce, Viet Nam asserts that further argument regarding dumping margins and import volume would have been futile, and that arguments to Commerce during the sunset review regarding WTO-consistency is not required in order for Viet Nam to challenge the sunset determination.
- 36. To the extent Viet Nam's arguments are to be considered, they fail to rebut Commerce's likelihood determination. Viet Nam's arguments ignore indisputable evidence of dumping and fail to provide any viable reason why Commerce should not have taken into account declining import

volumes. In fact, a reduction in volume caused by application of an antidumping duty (pursuant to a permissible retrospective system) supports a conclusion that exporters were unable to maintain pre-order volumes without dumping. Viet Nam's arguments about the uncertainty resulting from the imposition of trade remedy measures do not explain the relevance of the observed decline in import volumes as part of Commerce's reasonable conclusion that dumping was likely to continue absent the discipline of the order. For these reasons, Viet Nam's remaining arguments are immaterial to the matter in dispute because they do not address the facts at issue before the Panel.

III. CONCLUSION

37. The United States respectfully requests that the Panel reject Viet Nam's claims that the United States has acted inconsistently with the covered agreements.

ANNEX C-4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE ORAL STATEMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES AT THE SECOND PANEL MEETING

1. The United States would like to thank once again the Panel, and the Secretariat assisting the Panel, for your on-going service in this dispute.

A. Vietnam Has Failed to Establish that Section 129(c)(1) is Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 2. Regarding section 129(c)(1) of the URAA, Vietnam has rewritten its legal theory on two occasions, submitting a total of three distinct approaches that purportedly demonstrate that section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent "as such" with various articles of the AD Agreement.
- 3. Vietnam's first theory was that section 129(c)(1) "serves as an absolute legal bar" to the WTO-consistent liquidation of "prior unliquidated entries" *i.e.*, subject merchandise that entered the United States prior to the date that the United States Trade Representative ("USTR") directs the U.S. Department of Commerce ("Commerce") to implement a section 129 determination.
- 4. The United States rebutted this theory in its first written submission by showing that section 129(c)(1) does not preclude WTO-consistent liquidation of prior unliquidated entries and that through other mechanisms, including section 123 of the URAA and legislative action by Congress, the United States can implement DSB recommendations and rulings as to prior unliquidated entries.
- 5. In its opening statement at the first Panel meeting, Vietnam admitted that section 129(c)(1) does not amount to an "absolute legal bar". Nevertheless, Vietnam avers that the liquidation of prior unliquidated entries by the United States is merely "WTO-consistent action by coincidence". Putting aside Vietnam's characterization of these facts, these so-called "coincidences" are fatal to Vietnam's assertion that section 129(c)(1) is an "absolute legal bar" and, consequently, its "as such" claim.
- 6. Then, in its answers to the Panel's questions, Vietnam abandoned its initial theory and tried a second one. Vietnam claimed that "section 129 of the URAA is the immediate point of inquiry under U.S. law" and that, consequently, the United States is obligated to implement all DSB recommendations and rulings exclusively through section 129. That argument fails for the reason, subsequently acknowledged in Vietnam's second written submission, that "there is no requirement under the WTO for Members to have in place a pre-existing administrative mechanism for implementation".
- 7. Having twice proposed unpersuasive theories, Vietnam changed course yet again in its second written submission. Under its latest version, Vietnam contends that, while the United States is under no obligation to have a pre-existing mechanism like section 129 to implement DSB recommendations and rulings, because the United States enacted the statute, it must cover all possible permutations of implementation that involve prior administrative determinations by Commerce. This new argument fares no better.
- 8. First, Vietnam's latest argument is built upon the faulty premise that, because the United States enacted section 129, this provision must cover all possible implementation permutations vis-à-vis prior administrative determinations by Commerce. Neither the AD Agreement (which Vietnam cites) nor the DSU (which it does not) contains any such obligation.
- 9. Second, Vietnam continues to misunderstand U.S. law in relation to the implementation of WTO rulings. Under U.S. law, the U.S. Executive Branch is not required to use section 129 of the URAA to implement DSB recommendations and rulings.
- 10. Indeed, Vietnam itself agrees that the United States need not have a pre-existing administrative mechanism for the implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings.

Accordingly, the fact that the United States has the discretion simply not to use the pre-existing administrative mechanism that Vietnam alleges is WTO-inconsistent means that Vietnam's "as such" claim fails.

B. The Treatment of Multiple Companies in Vietnam as a Single Vietnam-Government Exporter/Producer Is Not Inconsistent with the AD Agreement

- 11. Commerce's decision to treat multiple companies in Vietnam as a single Vietnam-government exporter and producer is not inconsistent with the AD Agreement.
- 12. The Working Party Report that accompanies Vietnam's Accession Protocol and Commerce's 2002 inquiry of Vietnam's market economy status provide a basis for Commerce's presumption that Vietnam controls companies involved in the exportation and production of subject merchandise until demonstrated otherwise.
- 13. The hallmark of all market economies, of course, is a price system that allocates resources on the basis of the individual and collective supply and demand decisions of independent economic actors as reflected in prices that mirror true resource availability. Market economy conditions thus give rise to market-based prices for inputs and outputs.
- 14. In a contrasting non-market-based price system, however, these underlying supply and demand decisions, and the attendant resource allocations, are made or fundamentally distorted by the government. In non-market economies, the government effectively controls resource allocations, and when the government controls resource allocations, it necessarily has the ability to control resource allocators, *i.e.*, firms.
- 15. The points that we have made so far about government control over resource allocation and allocators in non-market economies have not been challenged by Vietnam in this matter, nor have the Commerce findings that emanate from these points. A firm basis thus existed for Commerce to have considered that Vietnam exercised restraint or direction over entities located in Vietnam generally, including with respect to the price or costs of the same or similar products destined for export to the United States.
- 16. Vietnam nonetheless continues to argue that the burden rests on the United States to demonstrate "whether the covered agreements provide a <u>legal</u> not a factual basis for the presumption of government control that is central to the NME-wide entity policy."
- 17. Vietnam's contention is incorrect. In any antidumping proceeding, the administering authority must make a factual determination with respect to which entities are included within the meaning of an "exporter" for the purposes of determining "an individual margin" under Article 6.10. The United States has used a particular approach for making this factual determination.
- 18. In a WTO dispute settlement, the burden of proving that a measure is inconsistent with a covered agreement is on the complaining party. Thus the question before this Panel is whether Vietnam has met its burden and demonstrated that the approach used by the United States is inconsistent with the WTO Agreement. Vietnam has failed to point to any provision of the AD Agreement that required Commerce to have automatically assigned individual dumping margins to Vietnamese companies operating under the government's control. Vietnam thus has failed to meet its burden.
- 19. That said, even though it was not necessary for the United States to do so, we have further demonstrated in our second written submission that it was not inconsistent with paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report, as well as Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement, for Commerce to have presumed in this matter, consistent with past findings, that all companies were part of a Vietnam-government entity until a company demonstrated otherwise with respect to its export activities.
- 20. Paragraph 255(a) of the Working Party Report states that "an importing WTO Member shall use Vietnamese prices or costs for the industry under investigation in determining price comparability", but only where producers in Vietnam "can clearly show that market economy

conditions prevail". Where these producers do not make this showing, "[t]he importing WTO Member [in determining price comparability] may use a methodology that is not based on a strict comparison with domestic prices or costs in Viet Nam ...".

- 21. "Price comparability" is a central tenet of every dumping analysis. It concerns and shapes all aspects of the dumping analysis under the AD Agreement and Article VI of the GATT 1994, both with respect to the methodology used to derive normal value as well as the methodology used to derive export price and constructed export price.
- 22. The methodology that Commerce uses for determining price comparability with respect to "domestic prices or costs in Vietnam" routinely determines normal value using "factors of production". These factors are based on actual inputs consumed by a foreign entity to manufacture the exact product or model types sold to the United States. If a foreign entity manufactures these product or model types at more than one facility, it must report the factor use and output for each product or model type at each facility. Thus if Commerce cannot determine the actual inputs consumed by a foreign entity in the manufacture of a relevant product or model types, it cannot calculate normal value for purposes of price comparability.
- 23. Commerce, in its effort to ensure appropriate price comparability between normal value and export price, thus reasonably: (1) presumed for purposes of the antidumping proceedings involving shrimp from Vietnam that companies within Vietnam should initially be considered part of a Vietnam-government entity; and (2) required as a result that the Vietnam-government entity report all inputs consumed by those companies with respect to the manufacture of each product or model type sold to the U.S. market.
- 24. It was legally permissible under paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report for Commerce to presume that Vietnam is legally or operationally in a position to exercise restraint or direction over all companies located in Vietnam for purposes of the calculation of normal value. It thus also was legally permissible and indeed the most logical next step for purposes of price comparability for Commerce to presume that the same companies should, pending contrary evidence, be considered part of the Vietnam-government entity for purposes of the calculation of export price.
- 25. Paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report states that the Agreements, including the AD Agreement, "shall apply in proceedings involving exports from Vietnam into a WTO Member consistent with the following" subparagraphs (a) through (d). The plain language of paragraph 255 stipulates then that the AD Agreement, and thus Articles 6.10 and 9.2, must be read in a manner "consistent with" paragraph 255 and the exceptions provided therein when NME conditions prevail.
- 26. Therefore, contrary to Vietnam's argument, Vietnam's Accession Protocol and Working Party Report provide a basis factual and legal for Members to treat Vietnam differently in antidumping proceedings with respect to the determination of a NME-government entity margin. Commerce's determination in the covered reviews that a Vietnam-government entity existed and that certain companies, while legally separate, were in fact part of this entity for purposes of ensuring appropriate price comparability between the normal value and the export price, and the continued application to the entity of the rate in effect, thus were not inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement.
 - 2. The Rate Commerce Applied to the Vietnam-Government Entity Was Also Not Inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement
- 27. Commerce's decision to assign the last available rate to the Vietnam-government entity during the covered reviews was not inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement.
- 28. No party that is part of the Vietnam-government entity requested that Commerce change the rate in effect for the entity during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews. The companies subject to the Vietnam-government entity rate, by not doing so, thus expressed the view that the last available rate that Commerce had calculated for this entity, the "rate in effect" at the time, was adequate (indeed perhaps preferable) to the rate that might be calculated if Commerce were to conduct a review.

¹ Working Party Report, para. 255 (a)(i) (Exhibit US-23).

- 29. It is incorrect then to describe this rate as a "facts available" rate, as the panel report in DS404 mistakenly did, because it is not based on the interested party's refusal to give access to, or otherwise provide, necessary information during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews.
- 30. It is also incorrect to describe this rate as an "all others" rate because it is not based on an average rate of independent exporters or producers that fully cooperated during the fourth, fifth or sixth reviews.
- 31. Rather, the "rate in effect" is simply the rate for a particular exporter that Commerce calculated in a previous time period consistent with the obligations of the AD Agreement based on information from that previous time period that no interested party has asked to be changed for the present review period.
- 32. The Ad note to GATT Article VI confirms that "a contracting party may require reasonable security (bond or cash deposit) for the payment of anti-dumping ... duty pending final determination of the facts in any case of suspect dumping ...". The AD Agreement otherwise does not require Members to change the rate on which this security is based and assess a duty at a different rate absent a request by an interested party to do so. Therefore, because neither the Vietnam-government entity nor any constituent parts of the entity requested a change to the existing rate of the Vietnam-government entity, Commerce's decision to apply that rate in the fourth, fifth, and sixth administrative reviews was not inconsistent with Articles 6.8 and 9.4 of the AD Agreement.

C. Vietnam's Claim That the United States Maintains a Zeroing Measure That May in Turn Be Challenged Under the AD Agreement is Without Merit

33. As discussed during the first Panel meeting and in our written submissions, Commerce's so-called "zeroing" methodology does not exist and therefore also cannot be "as such" inconsistent. The United States thus cannot breach a covered agreement "as such" given that Commerce changed its approach for calculating dumping margins for investigations and for administrative reviews in response to the DSB's recommendations and rulings on this matter.

D. Commerce's Sunset Review Determination is Not Inconsistent with Articles 11.3 of the AD Agreement

- 34. As the Panel considers Commerce's sunset determination, it is useful to recall that the determination as challenged by Vietnam relates only to the question of whether dumping, as opposed to material injury, is likely to continue or recur if the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam is revoked.
- 35. Thus as long as there is sufficient support for Commerce's determination that dumping is likely to continue or recur if the antidumping duty order on shrimp from Vietnam is revoked, there is no basis for Vietnam's claim that Commerce's sunset determination was inconsistent with obligations under the AD Agreement.
- 36. And as shown in our written submissions, there is sufficient support for Commerce's sunset determination.
- 37. Accordingly, even if the Panel were to find that certain dumping margins considered by Commerce were WTO inconsistent, the Panel can still consider and find that the sunset determination is not inconsistent with Article 11.3 based on the remaining WTO consistent factors examined by Commerce.

E. Company-Specific Revocation is Not an Obligation Under the AD Agreement

- 38. Regarding Vietnam's arguments under the AD Agreement, the United States agrees with Vietnam's acknowledgement that, to prevail on its claim, the Panel must find that Article 11.2 obligates Members to revoke an antidumping duty order on a company-specific basis.
- 39. However, Article 11.2 contains no such obligation. As discussed by the United States in its second written submission and elsewhere, Vietnam's assertion that Article 11.2 imposes an obligation to revoke antidumping duty orders on a company-specific basis is without any

foundation in the plain meaning of Article 11.2. As the Appellate Body found in *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, with respect to the same relevant language in Article 11.3, "the duty" is imposed on a product-specific basis, not a company-specific basis.

- 40. In addition to the fact that Article 11.2 does not provide for company-specific revocation, Vietnam's claim fails because Commerce's practice of revocation based in part on three years of no dumping "operates in favour of foreign producers and exporters" and, therefore, cannot serve as a basis for a breach of Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement by the United States.
- 41. In sum, the fact that the United States considered certain company-specific revocation requests went beyond what was required of it under the AD Agreement rather than being somehow contrary to it. Similarly, the fact that the United States would grant revocation based in part on the absence of dumping for three years also went beyond what was required.

ANNEX C-5

UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF REPORTS

Short Form	Full Citation
Australia – Apples (AB)	Appellate Body Report, Australia – Measures Affecting the Importation of Apples from New Zealand, WT/DS367/AB/R, adopted 17 December 2010
Brazil – Aircraft (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft,</i> WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999
China – Raw Materials (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>China – Measures Related to the Exportation of Various Raw Materials</i> , WT/DS394/AB/R, WT/DS395/AB/R, WTDS398/AB/R, adopted 22 February 2012
Dominican Republic – Cigarettes (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Dominican Republic – Measures Affecting the Importation and Internal Sale of Cigarettes</i> , WT/DS302/AB/R, adopted 19 May 2005
EC – Bananas III (AB)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities – Regime for the Importation, Sale and Distribution of Bananas, WT/DS27/AB/R, adopted 25 September 1997
EC – Hormones (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>EC Measures Concerning Meat and Meat Products</i> (Hormones), WT/DS26/AB/R, WT/DS48/AB/R, adopted 13 February 1998
EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities and Certain Member States – Measures Affecting Trade in Large Civil Aircraft, WT/DS316/AB/R, adopted 1 June 2011
Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico – Definitive Anti-Dumping Measures on Beef and Rice, Complaint with Respect to Rice,</i> WT/DS295/AB/R, adopted 20 December 2005
Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US) (AB)	Appellate Body Report, Mexico – Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS) from the United States, Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the United States, WT/DS132/AB/RW, adopted 21 November 2001
Mexico –Taxes on Soft Drinks (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Mexico - Tax Measures on Soft Drinks and Other Beverages</i> , WT/DS308/AB/R, adopted 24 March 2006
US – Carbon Steel (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Countervailing Duties on Certain Corrosion-Resistant Carbon Steel Flat Products from Germany</i> , WT/DS213/AB/R and Corr.1, adopted 19 December 2002
US – Certain EC Products (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Import Measures on Certain Products from the European Community</i> , WT/DS165/AB/R, adopted 10 January 2001
US – Customs Bond Directive (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Customs Bond Directive for Merchandise Subject to Anti-Dumping/Countervailing Duties</i> , WT/DS345/AB/R, adopted 1 August 2008
US – Export Restraints	Panel Report, <i>United States – Measures Treating Export Restraints as Subsidies</i> , WT/DS194/R, adopted 23 August 2001
US – Section 129(c)(1)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Section 129(c)(1)</i> of the Uruguay Round Agreements Act, WT/DS221/R, adopted 30 August 2002

Introduction Ι.

- Viet Nam's request for the establishment of a panel ("panel request") raises a number of concerns, some of which the United States addresses in this request for preliminary rulings.² First, the panel request improperly includes measures that were not the subject of Viet Nam's consultation request ("consultations request"). Second, the panel request improperly includes a claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. Finally, the panel request's claim regarding the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("SAA") fails to satisfy the requirements of Article 6.2 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU") because it does not identify a "measure."
- It is appropriate for a panel to address issues concerning the terms of reference of the panel at the outset of a dispute.³ Therefore, as explained below, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find, before Viet Nam submits its first written submission, that certain measures and claims referenced in Viet Nam's panel request are not properly within the Panel's terms of reference, in particular: (1) certain measures that were not included in its request for consultations; (2) Viet Nam's claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties; and (3) Viet Nam's claim as to the SAA.

Viet Nam's Panel Request Improperly Included Certain Measures that Were Not 11. the Subject of Consultations.

Consultations play an important role in helping to resolve a dispute. Because of this, Members agreed in the DSU that a measure must be the subject of consultations prior to requesting a panel to review that measure.⁴ Article 4.7 of the DSU provides that a complaining party may request establishment of a panel only if "the consultations fail to settle a dispute." Article 4.4 of the DSU further provides that a request for consultations must state the reasons for the request, "including identification of the measure at issue and an indication of the legal basis for the complaint." As the Appellate Body stated in *Brazil – Aircraft*:

Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU ... set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel.⁵

- A panel request may neither expand the scope nor change the essence of a consultations request. "[A]s a general matter, consultations are a prerequisite to panel proceedings". 6 That said, there need not be a "precise and exact identity" of measures between a request for consultations and a panel request "provided that the 'essence' of the challenged measures had not changed" and "[a]s long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute".8 Accordingly, in determining the measures at issue, a panel should "compare the respective parameters of the consultations request and the panel request to determine whether an expansion of the scope or change in the essence of the dispute occurred through the addition of instruments in the panel request that were not identified in the consultations request".
- A comparison of the respective parameters of Viet Nam's consultations request and its panel request shows that Viet Nam's panel request both expanded the scope and changed the essence of its consultations request by including measures that were not the subject of its consultation request.

¹ WT/DS429/2/Rev.1 and WT/DS429/2/Rev.1/Corr.2 ("Panel Request").

² The fact that an aspect of the panel request is not addressed in this request for preliminary rulings does not indicate acceptance that the aspect is properly within the terms of reference of the Panel.

³ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 233.

⁴ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

⁵ Brazil – Aircraft (AB), para. 131.

⁶ Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US) (AB), para. 58; see also US – Certain EC Products (AB), paras. 70, 82 (upholding the panel's finding that a particular action taken by the United States was not part of the panel's terms of reference because the EC, while referring to that action in its panel request, had failed to request consultations upon it).

⁷ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293 (citing Mexico – Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice (AB), para. 137). 8 *Id.*

⁹ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 294.

- 6. First, Viet Nam's panel request identifies the final results of the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue. These final results were published on September 11, 2012, well after Viet Nam's request for consultations, which is dated February 20, 2012. A determination that is not yet final cannot be a measure under Article 4.4 of the DSU. Therefore, at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations, the sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" within the meaning of Article 4.4 of the DSU. Because the sixth administrative review was not (and could not have been) subject to consultations¹⁰, this measure is not within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 7. Second, Viet Nam's panel request challenges "the use of zeroing," in part, in "original investigations", "new shipper reviews," and "certain [unspecified] change circumstances reviews". None of the named determinations are listed in Viet Nam's consultation request. Specifically, Viet Nam cites to only one original investigation in its consultation request, the original investigation involving certain shrimp from Viet Nam. Nam makes clear that it is challenging that investigation only to the extent it has an effect on subsequent reviews. Net Nam's consultation request does not otherwise include a challenge to "the use of zeroing" broadly in "original investigations." Viet Nam's consultation request also does not challenge the use of zeroing in new shipper reviews or certain changed circumstances reviews. Accordingly, Viet Nam's failure to request consultations on original investigations generally and on new shipper and certain changed circumstances reviews means that these measures are not within from the Panel's terms of reference.
- 8. In sum, Viet Nam's panel request identifies a number of measures that were not included in its consultation request. For this reason, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find that the following measures are not within its terms of reference:
 - the sixth administrative review; and
 - the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews.

III. Viet Nam's Claim Regarding the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties* Does Not Involve a Covered Agreement.

- 9. Viet Nam's panel request includes a claim that the United States acted in a manner inconsistent with Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties* ("VCLT"). ¹⁵ However, a claim under the VCLT is not permissible under the WTO dispute settlement system. The VCLT is not a "covered agreement" as defined in the DSU¹⁶ and so the DSU does not apply to it.
- 10. As explained by the Appellate Body in *Mexico Taxes on Soft Drinks*:

We see no basis in the DSU for panels and the Appellate Body to adjudicate non-WTO disputes. Article 3.2 of the DSU states that the WTO dispute settlement system "serves to preserve the rights and obligations of Members under the *covered agreements*, and to clarify the existing provisions of *those agreements*". (emphasis added) Accepting Mexico's interpretation would imply that the WTO dispute settlement system could be used to determine rights and obligations outside the covered agreements. ¹⁷

Accordingly, the claim under the VCLT is outside the terms of reference of the Panel.

¹² See Consultations Request, p. 4-5.

¹⁰ WT/DS429/1, pp.1-2 ("Consultation Request").

¹¹ Panel Request, p. 3.

¹³ *Id.* Indeed, that specific challenge is present in Viet Nam's panel request in a section separate from its identification of "original investigations". *See* Panel Request, p.4.

¹⁴ See Consultations Request, p. 2 (discussing only "five year sunset reviews" and specific administrative reviews).

¹⁵ Panel Request, p. 6.

¹⁶ DSU, Art. 1.1 and Appendix 1. In addition, even aside from the fact that the VCLT is not a covered agreement, the United States could not be in breach of the VCLT since the United States is not a party to the VCLT.

¹⁷ Mexico – Taxes on Soft Drinks (AB), para. 56.

IV. Viet Nam's Panel Request Regarding the SAA Incorrectly Identifies the SAA as a "Measure."

- 11. Viet Nam's panel request concerning the SAA appears to identify the SAA as a "measure", which is incorrect. 18
- 12. As noted above, Article 4.4 of the DSU provides that any request for consultations must include an "identification of the measures at issue". ¹⁹ To identify a measure at issue, there must first be a measure.
- 13. Similarly, Article 6.2 of the DSU provides that the panel request must identify "the specific measures at issue." A Member must satisfy the requirements of Article 6.2 on the face of the panel request at the outset of the proceeding. As such, Article 6.2 "serves a pivotal function in WTO dispute settlement" stating in relevant part that

[t]he request for the establishment of a panel shall be made in writing. It shall indicate whether consultations were held, identify the specific measures at issue and provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly.

Article 6.2 thus "sets out two key requirements that a complainant must satisfy in its panel request" (1) the requirement to Aidentify the specific measure at issue"; and (2) the requirement to "provide a brief summary of the legal basis of the complaint sufficient to present the problem clearly." Together, these two elements comprise the "matter referred to the DSB," which serves as the basis for a panel's terms of reference under Article 7.1 of the DSU. [1] either of them is not properly identified, the matter would not be within the panel's terms of reference". Finally, panels "are inhibited from addressing legal claims falling outside their terms of reference".

- 14. Compliance with the two requirements of Article 6.2 of the DSU requires a case-by-case analysis, considering the request "as a whole, and in light of the attendant circumstances". ²⁷ "[I]t is incumbent upon a panel to examine the request for the establishment of the panel very carefully to ensure its compliance with both the letter and the spirit of Article 6.2 of the DSU". ²⁸ Such an examination "must be objectively determined on the basis of the panel request as it existed at the time of filing" and be "demonstrated on the face" of the panel request. ²⁹ Any deficiencies in the panel request cannot be "cured" in subsequent submissions ³⁰, and a deficient claim must be excluded from a panel's terms of reference. ³¹
- 15. Viet Nam's panel request fails to comply with the requirements of Articles 4.4 and 6.2 of the DSU because it incorrectly identifies the SAA as a measure susceptible to dispute resolution. As the Panel stated in US Export Restraints, the SAA does not have "an operational life or status independent of the statute such that it could, on its own, give rise to a violation of WTO rules.

¹⁸ Panel Request, pp. 11-12.

¹⁹ Article 4.2 of the DSU further provides that consultations must concern "measures affecting the operation of any covered agreements."

²⁰ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 230; see Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416 (the requirements of

²⁰ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 230; see Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416 (the requirements of Article 6.2 of the DSU are "not a mere formality").

²¹ Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416.

²² Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416; see also China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 219; EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB), para 786; US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 125.

²³ Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416; see also China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 219; EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB), para 786; US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 125.

²⁴ Australia – Apples (AB), para. 416.

²⁶ EC – Hormones (AB), para. 156. "[A] defective panel request may impair a panel's ability to perform its adjudicative function within the strict timeframes contemplated in the DSU and, thus, may have implications for the prompt settlement of a dispute in accordance with Article 3.3 of the DSU". China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 220.

²⁷ US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 127.

²⁸ EC – Bananas III (AB), para. 142.

²⁹ US - Carbon Steel (AB), para. 127.

³⁰ Id

³¹ China – Raw Materials (AB), para 171; Dominican Republic – Cigarettes (AB), para. 120.

Independent of the statute, the SAA does not *do* anything; rather, it interprets (i.e., informs the meaning of) the statute". ³² The SAA thus does not constitute a measure susceptible to dispute resolution because it does not have any legal effect independent of a U.S. statute or regulation.

16. In sum, Viet Nam's panel request concerning the SAA appears to identify the SAA incorrectly as a "measure". As a consequence, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel determine that Viet Nam's SAA claim is not within the Panel's terms of reference.

V. It is Appropriate to Clarify the Panel's Terms of Reference before the Parties Submit Their First Written Submissions.

- 17. The United States respectfully requests the Panel to make the findings requested before Viet Nam files its first written submission. Knowledge of the terms of reference, of course, is fundamental to the task of the Panel and to the parties' participation in this proceeding. Findings on this request for preliminary rulings will necessarily bring clarity to those terms of reference. It is thus important to resolve this request for preliminary rulings as a threshold issue.
- 18. Further, there is no need to delay a finding in order to obtain further information regarding the issues that are the subject of this request. As a general matter "compliance with the due process objective of Article 6.2 cannot be inferred from a respondent's response to arguments and claims found in a complaining party's first written submission" or can they be "cured" in subsequent submissions. A Rather, "[i]n every dispute, the panel's terms of reference must be objectively determined on the basis of the panel request as it existed at the time of filing".
- 19. Finally, findings by the Panel in response to this request would serve Viet Nam's interests. Early resolution of these procedural issues would give Viet Nam clarity on the options available to it and permit Viet Nam to act according to its interests, knowing the legal consequences of its choice.

VI. Conclusion

- 20. For the reasons set forth in this request for preliminary rulings, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find that the following measures and claims are outside the terms of reference of the Panel:
 - the sixth administrative review;
 - the practice of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews;
 - the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties; and
 - the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act (i.e., the SAA).
- 21. To save the time and resources of the Panel, the Secretariat, and the parties, and to avoid further prejudice to the United States, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel make findings on this request as a preliminary matter before Viet Nam files its first written submission.

³² *US – Export Restraints*, para. 8.99; *see also US – Section 129(c)(1)*, para. 6.38, n. 89

³³ China – Raw Materials (AB), para. 233.

³⁴ US – Carbon Steel (AB), para. 127.

³⁵ EC – Large Civil Aircraft (AB), para. 642.

ANNEX C-6

UNITED STATES' REPLY TO VIET NAM'S RESPONSE TO THE UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULINGS

TABLE OF REPORTS

Short Form	Full Citation
China – Raw Materials (Panel)	Panel Report, China – Measures Relating to the Exportation of Various Raw Materials, WT/DS394/R WT/DS394/R, WT/DS398/R and Corr. 1, adopted 22 February 2012, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, WT/DS394/AB/R
Indonesia – Autos	Panel Report, <i>Indonesia – Certain Measures Affecting the Automobile Industry</i> , WT/DS54/R, WT/DS55/R, WT/DS59/R, WT/DS64/R and Corr. 1 and 2, adopted 23 July 1998, and Corr. 3 and 4
US – Upland Cotton (AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005
US – Upland Cotton (Panel)	Panel Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/R, adopted 21 March 2005, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, WT/DS267/AB/R

Ι. Introduction

- The request for preliminary rulings filed by the United States requested, in part, that the Panel find the following measures and claims as outside the terms of reference of the Panel:
 - the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews; 1
 - a claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("VCLT");² and
 - the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("SAA").3

Viet Nam's response to the first matter stipulates that it "does not challenge the use of zeroing, as applied, to 'original investigations,' 'new shipper reviews,' and 'certain changed circumstances reviews'."4 Viet Nam's response to the second matter stipulates that it "does not assert any claims pursuant to the VCLT". 5 Finally, Viet Nam's response to the third matter stipulates that it "does not claim that the SAA is within the Panel's terms of reference".6 Therefore, given Viet Nam's responses to these three matters, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find the above measures and claims as outside the terms of reference of the Panel.

11. The Final Results of the Sixth Administrative Review are Outside the Panel's Terms of Reference.

- The United States also requested that the Panel find that the final results of the sixth administrative review are not within the Panel's terms of reference. The United States demonstrated that, at the time of the consultations request, the results of the sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" within the meaning of Article 4.4 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU") because these results were published after Viet Nam's request for consultations. Because the sixth administrative review was not (and could not have been) subject to consultations, this measure cannot be within the Panel's terms of reference.7
- Viet Nam responded to this request by arguing that the Panel should find the final results of the sixth administrative review within its terms of reference because its consultations request mentioned "'any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warm-water shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-522-802)"8 and "the continued use of practices described [] above in subsequent reviews'."9 According to Viet Nam, these statements placed the United States "on notice that the sixth administrative review was a measure at issue ... through Viet Nam's identification [in its consultations request] of 'ongoing' administrative reviews". 10
- The United States disagrees. Viet Nam's statement about ongoing administrative reviews does not constitute the identification of a "measure" subject to WTO dispute settlement because the statement appears to address an indeterminate number of potential future measures. Article 3.3 of the DSU provides that:

[t]he prompt settlement of situations in which a Member considers that any benefits accruing to it directly or indirectly under the covered agreements are being impaired by measures taken by another Member is essential to the effective functioning of the

¹ Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States ("U.S. PRR"), paras. 3-8 (July 31, 2013).

² US PRR, paras. 9-10. ³ US PRR, paras. 11-16.

⁴ Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States ("VN Response to U.S. PRR"), para. 12 (Aug. 5, 2013); see id., para. 3. ⁵ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 12; see id., para. 4.

⁶ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 12; see id., para. 5.

⁷ U.S. PRR, para. 6.

⁸ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 9 (footnote omitted).

⁹ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 10 (footnote omitted).

 $^{^{\}rm 10}$ VN Response to U.S. PRR, para. 11.

WTO and the maintenance of a proper balance between the rights and obligations of Members. ¹¹

Measures not yet in existence at the time of the request for consultations cannot be considered as impairing benefits accruing to a Member directly or indirectly under the covered agreements. Not only would it be impossible to consult on such a measure, but it would also be impossible for the non-existent measure to be "affecting" the operation of a covered agreement as further required by Article 4.2 of the DSU. As the Appellate Body has recognized, "the present tense of the phrase 'affecting the operation of any covered agreement' denotes that the effects of such measures must relate to the present impact of those measures on the operation of a covered agreement". A supposed future measure that does not yet exist, and may never exist, is not only not a "measure" at that point in time (and may never be one), it also cannot be a measure having a present impact on the operation of a covered agreement. Therefore, indeterminate future measures that do not exist at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations (and may arguably never exist) cannot be within the Panel's term of reference under the DSU. 13

- 5. For this reason as well, Viet Nam errs in claiming that it had identified the sixth administrative review at the time of its consultations request when it referred to "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warm-water shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802)". Article 4.4 of the DSU requires Members to identify "the measures at issue". If a measure does not exist, it cannot be "identified" for purposes of Article 4.4. And it is critical for a responding party to know in this regard the particular measures at issue, especially since the facts for each measure could be very different as well as the legal response to the claims made. Just because a complaining party makes the same claims with respect to some other measures does not mean that the responding party's response to those claims will be the same for a different measure.
- 6. These fundamental flaws as they relate to Viet Nam's panel request cannot be cured by simply describing a potential future measure as being of the "same essence" as the measures that did exist and were identified. Article 4.4 of the DSU does not contain any exception where a measure is of the "same essence". Furthermore, Viet Nam is incorrect in asserting that all administrative reviews involving the same products are of the "same essence". The facts, record evidence, determinations and resulting antidumping duty may all differ. These are discrete measures. Furthermore, Viet Nam's approach would add more measures to the dispute, which would "change the essence" of the dispute. The results of the sixth administrative review are separate and discrete from the measures identified in Viet Nam's consultation request this is not a situation where one measure replaces or amends another measure after the panel is established without affecting the essence of the measure on which consultations were held.¹⁴
- 7. Therefore, for the reasons set forth in the request for preliminary rulings and this reply to Viet Nam's response to that request, the United States respectfully requests that the Panel find that the following measures and claims are outside the terms of reference of the Panel:
 - the practice of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews;
 - the claim under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties;
 - the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act; and
 - the sixth administrative review.
- 8. To save the time and resources of the Panel, the Secretariat, and the parties, and to avoid further prejudice to the United States, the United States renews its request that the Panel make findings on this request for preliminary rulings before Viet Nam files its first written submission.

¹¹ Emphasis added.

¹² US – Upland Cotton (AB), para. 261.

¹³ See, e.g., US – Upland Cotton (Panel), para. 7.158 (finding that a measure that had not yet been adopted could not form a part of the Panel's terms of reference); Indonesia – Autos, para. 14.3 (agreeing with the responding party that a measure adopted after the establishment of a panel was not within the panel's terms of reference).

¹⁴ See, e.g., China – Raw Materials (Panel), paras. 7.15-7.16.



ANNEX D

ARGUMENTS OF THIRD PARTIES

	Contents	Page
Annex D-1	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of China	D-2
Annex D-2	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of the European Union	D-7
Annex D-3	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Japan	D-12
Annex D-4	Executive Summary of the Third Party Arguments of Norway	D-17
Annex D-5	Thailand's Third Party Responses to Questions from the Panel	D-20
Annex D-6	China's Submission on the United States' Request For Preliminary Ruling	D-23
Annex D-7	European Union Comments on the US Request for a Preliminary Ruling	D-26

ANNEX D-1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF CHINA

I. Introduction

1. The People's Republic of China intervenes in this case because of its systemic interest in the correct interpretation of GATT 1994 and the AD Agreement. China does not address all the issues raised by Vietnam in this dispute, but discusses certain aspects of the following issues.

II. The Use of Zeroing in Periodic Reviews

2. The Appellate Body, in previous disputes, has repeatedly found that the zeroing methodology, including its use in the context of periodic reviews, is, as such and whenever it is applied, inconsistent with GATT 1994 and the AD Agreement. China anticipates the Panel will follow the consistent and well-founded decisions of the Appellate Body.

III. The NME-Wide Rate Practice

A. The "as such" claim

3. China agrees with Vietnam that the USDOC's NME-wide rate practice is a measure that may be challenged "as such". First, China notes that the NME-wide rate practice as such is not only set forth in the USDOC's Anti-dumping Manual, but also set out in the Import Administration Policy Bulletin Number 05.1. Second, the key test for whether a measure could be subject to an "as such" challenge is whether it is "generally applicable" or has "general and prospective application". From the plain texts of the Policy Bulletin, the NME-wide rate practice has general and prospective application and thus can be challenged "as such". Third, this Policy Bulletin is identical in its material effect to that of the Sunset Policy Bulletin, which, as found by the Appellate Body in other disputes, may be subject to WTO dispute settlement as a norm of general and prospective application.

B. The Claim under Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement

- 4. China agrees with Vietnam that the NME-wide rate practice is, as such, inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the AD Agreement. As clarified by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners (China)*, Article 6.10 allows for limited exceptions for the general obligation to determine individual margins of dumping, but "such exceptions must be provided for in the covered agreements"; and Article 9.2 requires authorities to determine an individual anti-dumping duty for each exporter, with *only* one exception that it is impracticable to do so. Nothing in the covered agreements allows Members to depart from the obligation to determine individual dumping margins and anti-dumping duties only in respect of imports of NMEs.
- 5. The United States tries to shift the essence of the issue by arguing that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 allow authorities to treat sufficiently related exporters as an individual exporter. However, the real issue is whether Members are allowed to presume that all the exporters in an NME country constitute a single entity. As the Appellate Body found in EC Fasteners (China), there is no legal basis in the covered agreements for such a general presumption, and placing the burden on NME exporters to rebut the presumption is inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2.
- 6. The United States argues that this case can be distinguished from *EC Fasteners (China)*. It appears to China that both cases are essentially the same with respect to both the measures at issue and the claims raised. The United States specifically argues that the USDOC's determination that certain exporters constitute a Vietnam-government entity rested on adequate factual findings. However, in the own words of the United States, the USDOC required Vietnamese companies to "demonstrate independence from the government". In other words, the USDOC presumed that companies in Vietnam were subject to government control and placed the burden on Vietnamese companies to rebut this presumption. The USDOC did not establish by itself that distinct Vietnamese companies are sufficiently integrated with each other or with the State.

C. The Claim under Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement

- 7. The text of Article 9.4 makes clear that there is only one requirement for its application, i.e. certain exporters or producers are not included in the examination. And as clarified by the panel in *US Shrimp (Vietnam)*, authorities are not allowed to render application of Article 9.4 conditional on the fulfilment of some additional requirement, such as the separate rate test. Therefore, even if an authority may determine that certain exporters within an NME constitute a single entity, the authority shall still determine the rate for the single entity consistently with Article 9.4, as long as the single entity is not included in the examination.
- 8. The United States and Vietnam disagree on the issue whether Article 9.4 requires a single "all others" rate or permits more than one rate. China first considers that the Panel is not required to decide this issue. The United States does not disagree with Vietnam that the determination of any anti-dumping rate for non-examined exporters shall be governed by Article 9.4, but focuses its rebuttal on a factual issue that "the Vietnam-government entity had been individually examined" and "received its own rate". The Panel thus need first evaluate this factual issue. If it finds that the Vietnam-government entity was not individually examined, the Panel could conclude that the United States acted inconsistently with Article 9.4 by assigning a rate based on facts available to the Vietnam-government entity, without deciding the above issue.
- 9. Secondly, although Article 9.4 does not explicitly require a single "all others" rate, it is questionable whether this provision permits multiple rates. Article 9.2 requires that anti-dumping duties must be collected in "appropriate" amounts and "on a non-discriminatory basis". It appears impracticable for an authority to comply with this requirement by applying different rates to the non-examined exporters which are similarly situated, to the extent that all of them are excluded from the examination and dumping margins are determined for none of them. Furthermore, the Appellate Body has consistently used the term "the 'all others' rate" or "the rate applied to 'all others'", which implies that Article 9.4 requires a single "all others" rate.

D. The Claim under Article 6.8 of the AD Agreement

- 10. Article 6.8 and Annex II set forth the conditions that must be satisfied before an authority may apply facts available. Logically, if the authority has never requested an interested party to supply necessary information, it has no basis to find that this party "refuse access to" or "does not provide" necessary information, and thus has no authority under Article 6.8 to make determinations based on facts available. As the Appellate Body found in US Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 EC), it is impermissible to apply facts available to determine the anti-dumping duty rates for exporters not individually investigated.
- 11. Article 6.8 and Annex II also apply to a single "exporter", including a so called country-wide entity, constituted of several distinct legal entities, and the application must take into account the special characteristics of the single "exporter", i.e., it is a *fictional and artificial* entity and constituted of distinct legal entities. First, the authority must request necessary information from all the distinct entities and inform all of them that the authority may resort to facts available if requested information is not supplied. Second, in assessing whether or not the fictional single "exporter" has cooperated, an authority must take into account the conduct of the single "exporter" as a whole. In case the authority requests information *only* from a mandatory respondent, which is a part of the single "exporter", a lack of cooperation by this mandatory respondent is not sufficient to conclude that the entire single "exporter" fails to cooperate, and nor the authority may determine the failure of cooperation on the ground that other exporters comprising the single "exporter" do not provide information.
- 12. The United States seeks to rebut the "as applied" claims by arguing that the rate for the Vietnam-wide entity in the covered reviews is just the continuation of the rate assigned in the original investigation. Following the finding of the panel in *US Shrimp (Viet Nam)*, China considers that this "formalistic" approach should be rejected. From the legal aspect, there are only three legal bases to determine rates under the AD Agreement: Articles 2, 9.4 and 6.8. Since the rate for the Vietnam-wide entity was not determined under Articles 2 or 9.4, the only other basis would be Article 6.8. As to the factual aspect, the rate ultimately assigned to the Vietnam-wide entity was expressly derived from the rate that had previously been assigned in the original investigation on the basis of facts available. "To fail to treat this rate as a facts available rate would elevate form over substance, and ignore the true factual circumstances".

E. Vietnam's Protocol of Accession

13. China agrees with Vietnam that the NME-wide rate practice is not allowed under Vietnam's Protocol of Accession. First, with respect to the United States' argument that Vietnam does not challenge, in the present dispute, the USDOC's finding that Vietnam is a non-market economy, China considers that the label of non-market economy is not decisive for the dispute. What really matters is what Vietnam's Protocol does provide and what it does not provide. Second, out of the five paragraphs of Vietnam's Working Party Report relied upon by the United States to justify the NME-wide rate practice, only Paragraph 255 is incorporated into Vietnam's Protocol and therefore only this paragraph has binding force. In accordance with Paragraph 255, the AD Agreement, including Articles 6.10, 9.2, 9.4 and 6.8, shall apply in anti-dumping proceedings against imports from Vietnam, with the sole exception explicitly set out in the subparagraph (a), which concerns nothing other than the determination of normal value. No other departure is allowed under Vietnam's Protocol.

IV. Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreement Act

- 14. It appears to China that Section 129(c)(1) is WTO-inconsistent as it precludes prior unliquidated entries from the application of Section 129 determinations. First, it is the obligation of WTO Members to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings immediately or by the end of a reasonable period of time at the latest. As the Appellate Body stated in US Zeroing (Japan) ($Article\ 21.5$ Japan), all WTO-inconsistent conduct, including WTO-inconsistent assessment or liquidation of the duties, must cease completely, even if it is related to imports that entered the implementing Member's territory before the end of the reasonable period of time. Second, Section 129 is the applicable provision under the United States law governing the implementation of adverse DSB recommendations and rulings. By precluding the application of Section 129 determinations to prior unliquidated entries, the WTO-inconsistent conduct, i.e. liquidation of the duties, does not cease completely.
- 15. China notes that the United States does not contest that Section 129(c)(1) precludes the application of Section 129 determinations to prior unliquidated entries, but concentrates its rebuttals on a "threshold" issue that Section 129(c)(1) does not preclude actions with respect to prior unliquidated entries under *other* "mechanism". With respect to the "threshold" issue, China first considers that, as a jurisdictional matter, Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA can be challenged "as such", as it is a rule of general and prospective application. When it comes to the assessment of the WTO-consistency, although whether Section 129(c)(1) is a mandatory measure may be relevant, the Appellate Body has cautioned that the "mandatory/discretionary" distinction shall not be applied in a mechanistic fashion and there is possibility that "a Member could violate its WTO obligations by enacting legislation granting discretion to its authorities to act in violation of its obligation".
- 16. China is not convinced by the two other "mechanism" identified by the United States. With respect to the adoption of new legislation by Congress, China submits that the mere possibility that the legislative authority of a Member may pass a new law in light of adverse DSB rulings in the future cannot cure the inconsistency of that Member's existing laws, practice or particular measures with the covered agreements. With respect to actions under Section 123, China notes that Section 123 only applies to the implementation of adverse DSB rulings with respect to "as such" claims against the United States' "regulation or practice". The United States may not rely on any broad policy change under Section 123 as a means of avoiding its mandatory obligation to comply with DSB rulings in individual reviews under Section 129.
- 17. The United States also argues that only provisions under the DSU would be implicated by a violation of the obligation to comply with DSB recommendations and rulings. China considers that there are two levels of obligations under the WTO legal system. First, each Member has the obligation, all the time, to ensure the conformity of its measures with covered agreements. Second, when the DSB recommends that the Member concerned bring its measures into conformity with certain agreements, the Member concerned has the obligation to comply with the recommendations. In other words, the Member concerned bears both obligations simultaneously. By failing to comply with the DSB recommendations, the Member concerned not only violates the obligation under DSU, but also is in continued violation of the obligation under the relevant covered agreements, such as the AD Agreement. And this has been confirmed by the Appellate Body in *US Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5-Japan)*.

V. The Sunset Review Determination

- 18. China recalls that the Appellate Body has stressed, in *US-Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, that "should investigating authorities choose to rely upon dumping margins in making their likelihood determination, the calculation of these margins must conform to the disciplines of Article 2.4." Otherwise, the sunset review determination will be inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the AD Agreement.
- 19. The United States makes an alternative argument, i.e. the USDOC relied not only on dumping margins, but on "multiple factors". China considers that it is possible for an investigating authority to base its likelihood-of-dumping determination on intermediate findings with respect to multiple factors, as Article 11.3 does not prescribe any specific methodology or identify any particular factors that authorities must use or take into account when making a likelihood determination. If an authority so did, the panel must evaluate the significance of the different factors considered by the authority. In the present case, the United States does not disagree that the USDOC did rely upon margins of dumping to support its likelihood determination. Thus, the factor of margins of dumping is not just one of multiple factors considered, but a factor which was "central" to the ultimate likelihood determination. And the errors relating to this factor may necessarily invalidate the final determination.

VI. The Review under Article 11.2 of the AD Agreement

20. China considers the claim of Vietnam raises important legal interpretation issues, particularly including: (1) the nature and subject matter of the review under Article 11.2, (2) the relation between Article 11.2 reviews and Article 9.3.1 assessment, and (3) whether and how the exception provided for under Article 6.10 applies to Article 11.2 reviews.

A. The Nature and Subject Matter of Article 11.2 Reviews

- 21. Article 11.2 is an "application of the general rule in Article 11.1", which provides that antidumping duties "shall remain in force only as long as and to the extent necessary" to counteract injurious dumping. Thus Article 11.2 and the review thereunder are essentially about the necessity of the anti-dumping duty.
- 22. The United States argues that Article 11.2 does not provide a right to seek company-specific revocations, based on its interpretation of the term "duty" in Article 11.2, i.e. this term is a reference to the application of the antidumping duty on a product, not as it is applied to exports by individual companies. China is not convinced by this interpretation.
- 23. Unlike the United States, China considers that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 may have a broader meaning than the same term in Article 11.3, taking into account the material distinctions between the two provisions. First, the two provisions have different purposes. The finding that an duty can only be terminated or remain in force on an "order-wide" basis by the end of a five-year period does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the duties under the same "order" cannot be revoked partially with respect to certain exporters under Article 11.2.
- 24. Secondly, unlike Article 11.3, Article 11.2 provides "any interested party", including any individual exporter, the right to request a review. This distinction is significant for present purposes. In fact, the Appellate Body used this distinction as one of the elements supporting its conclusion that Article 11.3 does not oblige authorities to make "company-specific" determinations in sunset reviews.
- 25. More importantly, unlike Article 11.3, Article 11.2 provides that a duty may be terminated after a review only with respect to "dumping", which is an exporter-specific concept. Accordingly, an individual exporter is permitted to request an authority to review its own dumping status and thereafter to determine whether to terminate the duty imposed on it. In addition, unlike Article 11.3, which obliges authorities to review only the likelihood of dumping, Article 11.2 requires authorities to examine whether the continued imposition of the duty is necessary to *offset* dumping. The authorities thus have to assess the exact dumping status, which is company specific.

26. As to the second argument of the United States, i.e., the term "duty" in Article 11.2 must be different from the term "individual duties" in Article 9.4, China considers that this does not preclude that the former "duty" could refer to either of the duties on individual companies or the duty on a product. The first sentence of Article 9.5 reinforces that the distinction between "duty" and "duties" is not absolute. As the term "duties" may be used with respect to a product, the term "duty" may also refer to duties levied on companies.

B. The Relation between Article 11.2 Reviews and Article 9.3.1 Assessment

27. Article 11.2 reviews and Article 9.3.1 assessment are of different legal nature and have different functions. Unlike the former, Article 9.3.1 assessment concerns essentially the amount of the final duty liability, rather than the necessity of the continued imposition of duties. The distinction is confirmed by the footnote to Article 11.2. Article 11.2 reviews and Article 9.3.1 assessment need not take place simultaneously, as certain interested parties, particularly exporters, may request an Article 11.2 review in order to revoke the duty while other interested parties may request an Article 9.3.1 assessment procedure to assess the final duty amount. However, if an authority determines to conduct an Article 11.2 review in the context of an Article 9.3.1 assessment procedure, it must comply with the obligations under both provisions.

C. The Application of Article 6.10 to Article 11.2 Reviews

- 28. China notes that Article 11.4 provides that "the provisions of Article 6 regarding evidence and procedure" shall apply to any review carried out under Article 11, but considers that it is worthwhile for the Panel to clarify whether and how the exception provided for in the second sentence of Article 6.10 applies to Article 11.2 reviews.
- 29. The text of Article 11.2 indicates that authorities bear an obligation to review the need for the continued imposition of the duty and interested parties "shall have the right" to request the authorities to do so. As the Appellate Body held in *Mexico Anti Dumping Measures on Rice*, authorities have "no discretion to refuse" a request to initiate an Article 11.2 review, when an interested party has met the conditions, and Members may not impose further requirement upon the party requesting the review. The exception under Article 6.10 should not be applied in a manner, if applicable at all, whereby the right of interested parties to request a review is fundamentally deprived and Article 11.2 is rendered largely a nullity. Specifically, it appears inappropriate for authorities to reject a request for an Article 11.2 review by a company simply on the ground that this company was not selected for individual examination during the original investigation or assessment procedures.

ANNEX D-2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

1. The European Union intervenes in this case because of its systemic interest in the correct and consistent interpretation and application of the covered agreements and other relevant documents, and the multilateral nature of the rights and obligations contained therein, in particular the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (the GATT 1994), the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the GATT 1994 (the Anti-Dumping Agreement) and the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes (the DSU).

II. ZEROING

- 2. The issue of "zeroing" has been exhaustively litigated in the WTO; the European Union does not see that the Panel should deal with it other than in a summary way.
- 3. Selecting a methodology that averages domestic prices, so that export prices oscillate above and below normal value, and that treats export transactions below the line as dumped whilst setting to zero the comparison results of export transactions above the line is obviously WTO inconsistent: the calculation is not made for the product as a whole; the comparison is unfair, particularly because the selection of the methodology pre-determines the outcome; unjustified adjustments are made to the export transactions above the line; and no regard is paid to the targeted dumping rules, which permit patterns of relatively low priced exports to be identified. A municipal law measure that states otherwise is WTO inconsistent. Therefore, the European Union anticipates that Viet Nam will be successful with the "as applied" claims.
- With respect to Viet Nam's "as such" claims, the European Union anticipates that the Panel 4. will need to consider whether or not the United States has in fact eliminated the US administrative review simple zeroing methodology; or in other words whether Viet Nam has demonstrated the existence and precise content of the measure that allegedly continues to exist. The European Union agrees with the United States that demonstrating the existence and precise content of an unwritten measure is a difficult task, which is not to be lightly assumed, and which requires particular rigour. The European Union understands that it is the position of the United States to have changed the US administrative review simple zeroing methodology so as to eliminate zeroing; the experience of the European Union has indeed been that the United States no longer systematically resorts to zeroing in all cases, in accordance with the provisions of its new methodology applied from April 2012. The European Union also observes that the United States frequently makes use of provisions in this methodology which allow it to depart from this general rule and to apply zeroing in certain original investigations and administrative reviews. The European Union considers that this question will ultimately depend on a close analysis of all the evidence before the Panel.

III. THE NME-WIDE ENTITY RATE

- 5. The Parties refer extensively to the Appellate Body Report in EC Fasteners (China). In that case the Panel found that Article 9(5) of the EU Basic Anti-Dumping Regulation, which set out a procedure for exporters from a non-market economy to demonstrate that they were separate from the State, thus receiving individual treatment and individual dumping margins, was inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 6. This was confirmed on appeal. The Appellate Body first observed that Section 15 of China's Accession Protocol, drafted in very similar terms to paragraph 255 of the Working Party Report concerning the accession of Viet Nam, contains a similar acknowledgement of the difficulties in determining price comparability as that contained in the second *Ad Note* to Article VI of the GATT 1994 with respect to countries where the State has a monopoly of trade and where domestic prices are fixed by the State. The Appellate Body found that Section 15 concerns solely the determination of normal value; it does not permit derogation regarding export price or country-

wide margins or duties. Next, the Appellate Body confirmed that the measure at issue concerned not only the imposition of anti-dumping duties but also the calculation of dumping margins. The Appellate Body found that Article 6.10 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement establishes an obligation to calculate individual margins of dumping; that the term "sources" in Article 9.2 refers to individual exporters and not to the exporting country as whole; that the requirement to "name" suppliers requires the specification of anti-dumping duties for individual suppliers; and that the concept of "impracticable" was not the same as the concept of ineffective, so it did not justify the measure at issue. Finally, the Appellate Body found that the measure at issue was inconsistent with Articles 6.10 and 9.2 as it *presumed* the existence of a single entity and that the individual treatment test was not apt to establish whether the exporting State and one or more exporters should be deemed to be a single entity. According to the Appellate Body the economic structure of a WTO Member cannot be used to imply a presumption that has not been written into the covered agreements, thereby assessing the measure at issue on an "as such" basis, without reference to particular proceedings.

- 7. Contrary to what Viet Nam seems to suggest, the measure at issue in *EC Fasteners* (*China*) is no longer in force, the European Union having fully complied with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB by repealing the measure and replacing it with a single entity test that does not impose any presumption.
- 8. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by the clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in *EC Fasteners (China)*. In particular, the Panel will have to consider whether Viet Nam has demonstrated the existence and precise content of the measure, and the existence of a presumption. It will also have to consider whether the test applied by the United States is apt to establish whether the exporting State and one or more exporters should be deemed to be a single entity. The European Union agrees with the United States that a Member is free to make single entity determinations based on the type of criteria referred to by the United States, which differ from the ones contained in Article 9(5) of the EU Basic Anti-Dumping Regulation under scrutiny in *EC Fasteners (China)*.
- 9. With regard to Viet Nam's other claims, the European Union would recall that in *Mexico Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice* the Appellate Body confirmed that an investigating authority is not required to notify or provide an application to unknown firms; nor calculate an individual margin of dumping for them. The Appellate Body merely found that, in the particular factual circumstances of that case, and given the particular procedures followed by the investigating authority, facts available should not have been used in the calculation of the all others rate, because the others were not notified of the information required or the consequences of not providing it. Thus, the Appellate Body did not find that facts available could *never* be used in the calculation of an "all others" rate.
- 10. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by the clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in *Mexico Anti-Dumping Measures on Rice*. In particular, the European Union agrees with the United States that when an individual rate is determined for a single entity consisting of multiple firms and/or the State in the case of a non-market economy, that falls within the examination provided for in Article 9.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all-others" rate, which can be deduced from its text: The opening line of Article 9.4 does not state "the" antidumping duty, but "any" antidumping duty, Article 9.4 (ii) even mentioning explicitly "antidumping duties" in the plural. As to the purpose of Article 9.4, the key message of the first sentence is that any anti-dumping duty "shall not exceed" what has been calculated according to Article 9.4 (i) or (ii). Article 9.4 contains thus a ceiling on the *amount* of any rate applied, not a ceiling on the *number* of different rates applied.
- 11. It is the view of the European Union that the disciplines on the use of facts available under the Anti-Dumping Agreement with respect to an exporter constituted of a single legal entity do not differ from those applicable to an exporter constituted of two or more distinct legal entities; they are subject to the same rights and obligations under the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

IV. Section 129(c)(1) OF THE URUGUAY ROUND AGREEMENTS ACT

12. The European Union recalls that in US - Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 - EC) and US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan) the Appellate Body clarified the relevant obligations of WTO

Members with respect to the final collection of anti-dumping duties after the end of the reasonable period of time for compliance.

- 13. The Appellate Body recalled that recommendations and rulings of the DSB give rise to a compliance obligation once the DSB has adopted a report. The Appellate Body noted that, although the term "withdrawal" in Article 3.7 of the DSU could be understood as requiring abrogation, alternative means of implementation may exist and that the choice belongs in principle to the Member (if however a WTO Member decides to enact or maintain a measure, such measure must be consistent with WTO law). The Appellate Body confirmed that compliance must be immediate; it rejected the proposition that the date of importation is the relevant parameter for determining compliance; WTO-inconsistencies must cease by the end of the reasonable period of time. The Appellate Body considered further that any delays resulting from domestic judicial proceedings could not excuse a Member from complying by the end of the reasonable period of time. The Appellate Body found no provision supporting such a conclusion. Referring to Article 27 of the Vienna Convention, the Appellate Body recalled that a Member bears responsibility for acts of all its departments of government, including its judiciary, even if requested by private parties.
- 14. The European Union anticipates that the Panel will be guided by these clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in US Zeroing (EC) ($Article\ 21.5 EC$) and US Zeroing (Japan) (Japan) (Japan) confirming that under WTO law, the relevant event is final liquidation. In the measure at issue the relevant event is import. Therefore, the question is whether or not, notwithstanding this discrepancy between WTO law and US municipal law, the measure at issue effectively ensures compliance. For that to be the case import would have to be a proxy for final liquidation; that is, there would have to be a relationship between import and final liquidation. However, there appears to be no such relationship, the period during which final liquidation may be delayed and/or suspended by municipal injunction being variable and uncertain. Therefore, it is the view of the European Union that the measure at issue does not ensure compliance.
- 15. With respect to an assessment of the "as such" consistency of the US measure, the European Union recalls that any act or omission attributable to a WTO Member may be the subject of dispute settlement proceedings; no requirement exists that the measure identified by the complaining Member has been or is being applied. If the United States refers to the possibility of a municipal authority revoking, modifying or countermanding the measure, this is of no relevance to the question of whether the measure may be the subject of dispute settlement proceedings and whether or not the measure is WTO consistent.
- 16. The issue before the Panel is whether Section 129(c)(1) *itself* is inconsistent with one or more obligations assumed by the United States pursuant to a provision of the covered agreements; it is not whether the measure *has led* to or *may lead* to WTO inconsistent *action* (that is, *some other measure* that is inconsistent): whether "necessarily" or by reference to some other causal test; or whether in "all instances" or less than all instances. How the measure is applied or may be applied may provide *evidence* as to the consistency of the measure itself; but this will not be determinative on the guestion of the WTO consistency of the measure itself.
- 17. The Appellate Body has clarified that the mandatory/discretionary distinction is a useful analytical tool, but not to be mechanistically applied. It is less in the nature of a distinction and more in the nature of two sides of the same coin. The more mandatory something is (that is, the less discretionary), then the more likely it is that it will lead to the WTO inconsistent behaviour complained of, and the more likely it is that the measure itself is WTO inconsistent. Conversely, the less mandatory something is (that is, the more discretionary), then the less likely it is that it will lead to the WTO inconsistent behaviour complained off, and the less likely it is that the measure itself is WTO inconsistent.
- 18. The Appellate Body has adopted a similarly flexible approach to other analytical tools, such as the as such/as applied distinction and the *de jure/de facto* distinction. Notably with respect to subsidies contingent upon export, the Appellate Body has explained that Article 3.1(a) of the SCM Agreement sets out a single legal standard. The difference between a *de jure* claim and a *de facto* claim is the evidence. In a *de jure* claim the evidence consists of the text of the measure. In a *de facto* claim the existence of a subsidy contingency in fact upon export must be inferred from the total configuration of facts constituting and surrounding the grant. In essence, the claim is that the measure is wholly or partially unwritten or undisclosed, and the complainant sets out to demonstrate its alleged existence and precise content. While there seems to be widespread

agreement that an unwritten measure can, in principle, be challenged as such, the Appellate Body has clarified in US-Zeroing (EC) that there is a high threshold to make such a claim, particular rigour is required, and a breach is not to be lightly assumed. The Appellate Body requires a complaining party to clearly establish at least three criteria: that the alleged "rule or norm" is attributable to the Member; its precise content; and its general and prospective application. These clarifications of the Appellate Body were particularly important and made clear that practice can indeed be challenged if it amounts to sufficient evidence of a "rule or norm" meeting the three criteria. Earlier panel reports should be read in the light of the later clarifications provided by the Appellate Body in US-Zeroing (EC) and may be only of limited guidance.

- 19. In light of this case law, the European Union anticipates that the Panel may need to consider whether the evidence presented by Viet Nam is sufficient to demonstrate the existence and precise content of the measure alleged to exist. Whilst the mandatory/discretionary distinction may provide a useful analytical tool for the Panel to approach that problem, it should not be applied mechanistically.
- It seems to the European Union that, in considering whether a dualist WTO Member is complying with its WTO obligations, it may be relevant to consider whether there is an interpretation in conformity rule, being applied in practice. We observe analogous problems in the EU jurisdiction where EU member States may be either monist or dualist, but there is a general obligation on national judges to interpret and apply their national legislation so as to render it in conformity with EU law. This interpretation in conformity rule is an essential part of the mechanics to ensure synchronisation between EU law and the national law of EU member States. Turning to WTO law, Article XVI:4 of the WTO Agreement merely provides that all WTO Members shall ensure the conformity of their laws, regulations and administrative procedures with their WTO obligations. If a Member is dualist, it can choose to transpose WTO law perfectly, or to have an interpretation in conformity rule in order to correct for any inadvertently imperfect transposition. In this context, the nature of the treaty obligation in question, particularly whether it is sufficiently clear, is important; clarifications of WTO law provided by the Appellate Body should be taken into account. For its part, the EU is in principle dualist vis-à-vis WTO law (there is no direct effect), but there is an interpretation in conformity rule, and direct reference to WTO law is permitted where the Union legislator provides for this, as it does in the area of anti-dumping.
- 21. The European Union understands that there is such an interpretation in conformity rule in the United States, that being the *Charming Betsy* doctrine. Yet, it is unclear how the existence of that doctrine can be squared with what the evidence seems to suggest about how Article 129(c)(1) is actually being applied in practice. If the doctrine is not being consistently applied, then we wonder what steps the United States may have taken in order to ensure compliance with its WTO obligations.

V. ARTICLE 11.3 OF THE ANTI-DUMPING AGREEMENT: THE SUNSET REVIEW

22. The European Union considers that a sunset review determination that relies on prior dumping determinations that are (partly, not necessarily all) WTO inconsistent, notably because of the use of zeroing, is itself WTO inconsistent. The question of what the sunset finding would be absent reliance on the prior WTO inconsistent measures is not a matter for an original panel deciding such a dispute.

VI. ARTICLE 11.2 OF THE ANTI-DUMPING AGREEMENT

- 23. The European Union understands that Viet Nam does not dispute the reasoning contained in the Panel Report in US-DRAMs to the effect that the absence of dumping in the most recent data period does not *automatically* mandate immediate termination under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Rather, Viet Nam appears to accept that the question of *necessity* under Article 11.2 is also *prospective* in nature. Nor does the European Union understand that Viet Nam seeks from the Panel a positive finding that the relevant anti-dumping duties should have been terminated, because it is the Panel's task to assess the WTO consistency of the measures at issue, and not to proactively direct defending Members as to measures they should have adopted or must adopt in the future.
- 24. Rather, the European Union understands that Viet Nam seeks a finding that the specified measures at issue are inconsistent with Articles 11.1 and 11.2 insofar as they determine *not to*

terminate the duties. In this respect, Viet Nam claims that the dumping margins calculated in the past administrative reviews were calculated using zeroing. If this is correct, then applying the WTO case-law to the effect that, if a sunset review relies on a prior margin calculation that is WTO inconsistent, then the sunset review itself is WTO inconsistent, the Panel would have to reach the same conclusion regarding the reviews under Articles 11.1 and 11.2.

- 25. Similarly, if the US determinations pursuant to Articles 11.1 and 11.2 are WTO inconsistent because they rely on past zeroed margins, they will in any event have to be re-considered by the United States; that outcome can be achieved without deciding on whether sampling is possible in reviews under Articles 11.1 and 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. That being said, the European Union notes that Article 11.4 refers expressly to the provisions of Article 6 regarding "evidence" and "procedure", and this includes Article 6.10 providing for the possibility of sampling. The European Union is not aware of any case in which a provision of Article 6 has been held inapplicable to a review investigation conducted pursuant to Article 11.2. Thus, the European Union considers that sampling may be used in reviews conducted pursuant to Articles 11.1 and 11.2.
- 26. Finally, insofar as Viet Nam's claim is directed against a measure that determines not to conduct a review pursuant to Article 11.1 and 11.2, the European Union notes that Article 11.2 first sentence refers to a request "by any interested party". Article 11.2 second sentence also refers to "interested parties", which, in the light of the first sentence, does not refer only to all interested parties acting together, but rather to any interested party. Article 6.11 defines interested parties for the purposes of the Anti-Dumping Agreement as including an exporter or foreign producer. Therefore, the request referred to in Article 11.2 may be made by an individual company. Furthermore, by the express terms of that provision, a request under Article 11.2 may relate either to dumping or to injury; the request may relate only to the company-specific dumping margin calculated for that company and the duty imposed on that company. If such a request is made, then one of the conditions provided for in Article 11.2 is met. The obligation to conduct a review is subject to three other conditions: it must be warranted; a reasonable time must have elapsed since imposition; and positive information is submitted substantiating the need for such review. If all conditions are fulfilled, then the authority must review the need for the continued imposition of the duty and if the duty is no longer warranted, it must be terminated immediately. However, simply because such firm would demonstrate that for a particular period of time it has not been dumping, that would not in itself obligate the importing Member to terminate the duty. The very purpose of an anti-dumping duty is that it is supposed to counteract or offset dumping, by inducing the exporter to raise its export price. If this alone were to mean that the duty would have to be terminated, and only re-imposed if the firm started dumping again, then the system would have built into it an automatic on/off switch, in the sense that the duty would automatically alternate on and off. This would be inconsistent with the security and predictability in international trade sought by the WTO Agreement.

ANNEX D-3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF JAPAN

A. The Consistency of the USDOC's Practice of Zeroing in Administrative Reviews

1. The disciplines for determining both the existence of "dumping" and the "margin of dumping" are set forth in Article 2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Article 2.1 defines "dumping" as follows:

For the purpose of this Agreement, a product is to be considered as being dumped, i.e. introduced into the commerce of another country at less than its normal value, if the export price of the product exported from one country to another is less than the comparable price ... for the like product when destined for consumption in the exporting country.¹

This definition of "dumping", set forth in Article 2.1 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, reflects the definition of "dumping" in Article VI:1 of the GATT 1994. In both texts, "dumping" is defined in relation to the "product". The term "margin of dumping" in Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994 is also understood by reference to the "product". The Appellate Body has concluded on the basis of these texts that "dumping" and the "margin of dumping" must be defined in relation to "the product under investigation as a whole". 4

- 2. Furthermore, Article 2.1 makes clear that the definition of "dumping" in that provision applies throughout the Anti-Dumping Agreement and for purposes of all anti-dumping proceedings. 5
- 3. Given that "dumping" must be defined "in relation to a product as a whole", the Appellate Body has explained that "while an investigating authority may choose to undertake multiple comparisons or multiple averaging at an intermediate stage to establish margins of dumping, it is only on the basis of aggregating *all* these 'intermediate values' that an investigating authority can establish margins of dumping for the product under investigation as a whole". The requirement under Article 2.1 to aggregate multiple comparisons would apply regardless of whether the investigating authority conducts multiple model-specific W-to-W comparisons; multiple transactions-specific W-to-T comparisons; or multiple transaction-specific T-to-T comparisons.

¹ Emphasis added.

² Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 92.

³ Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 93.

⁴ See Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 126, quoting Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 92-93. See also Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, paras. 125, 127-129, 132.

⁵ Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (Japan)*, para.109. See also Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 125 ("The Appellate Body stated, in *US – Softwood Lumber V*, that 'the opening phrase of Article 2.1—'[f]or the purpose of this Agreement'—indicates that the definition of 'dumping' as contained in Article 2.1 applies to the entire Agreement'."). The Appellate Body cited Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 93 and Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, paras. 108-109 and 126-127.

 $^{^6}$ Appellate Body Report, US-Zeroing (EC), para. 126 (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted).

⁷ Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V*, paras. 97-98 (W-to-W comparisons in original investigations); Appellate Body Report, *US – Zeroing (EC)*, para. 132 (W-to-T comparisons in periodic reviews); and Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, paras. 89 and 122 (T-to-T comparisons in original investigations). For example, in *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, the Appellate Body held that the extension of the "product as a whole" requirement to T-to-T comparisons under Article 2.4.2 did not involve a "dramatic departure" from its earlier rulings on the product-wide definition of "dumping". Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber V (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, para. 114. The Appellate Body noted it had "referred generally to the use of zeroing in relation to the use of 'multiple comparisons' when it stated that, '[i]f an investigating authority has chosen to undertake <u>multiple</u>

- The U.S. practice of "zeroing" is inconsistent with Articles 2.1, 2.4 and 2.4.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, because the United States ignores the results of certain intermediate comparisons instead of properly aggregating all intermediate values. Japan agrees with Viet Nam that "zeroing" in administrative reviews is likewise prohibited under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.
- The chapeau of Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, which governs periodic reviews, states: "The amount of the anti-dumping duty shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established under Article 2". This requirement parallels the language in Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, which provides that, "[i]n order to offset or prevent dumping, a Member may levy on any dumped product an anti-dumping duty not greater in amount than the margin of dumping in respect of such product". It also reflects the statement in Article 9.1 that the amount of the antidumping duty must be less than or equal to the margin of dumping, and the idea that antidumping duties are collected in "appropriate" amounts when the amount does not exceed the margin of dumping.
- Pursuant to these provisions, it is evident that "the margin of dumping established for an exporter or foreign producer operates as a ceiling for the total amount of anti-dumping duties that can be levied on the entries of the subject product (from that exporter) covered by the duty assessment proceeding".8 Furthermore, because Article 9.3 explicitly references Article 2, the Appellate Body has explained that "under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, the amount of the assessed anti-dumping duties shall not exceed the margin of dumping as established 'for the product as a whole'."
- Accordingly, if the investigating authority chooses to undertake multiple comparisons at an intermediate stage, it is not allowed to take into account the results of only some multiple comparisons, while disregarding others. 10 For purposes of periodic reviews, the investigating authority must aggregate all multiple comparison results in order to properly establish a margin of dumping for the "product" under investigation as a whole. The investigating authority is required to compare the anti-dumping duties collected on all entries of the subject product from a given exporter or foreign producer with that exporter's or foreign producer's margin of dumping "for the product as a whole" to ensure that the total amount of the former does not exceed the latter. 11
- In US Zeroing (EC), the Appellate Body found that, because the USDOC "systematically disregarded" negative comparison results under its zeroing procedures, "the methodology applied by the USDOC in the administrative reviews at issue resulted in amounts of assessed anti-dumping duties that exceeded the foreign producers' or exporters' margins of dumping with which the antidumping duties had to be compared". 12 As noted by Viet Nam in its first written submission, the Appellate Body has, on several occasions, specifically affirmed its holding in US - Zeroing (EC) that the application of zeroing in administrative reviews to disregard or eliminate negative comparison results is inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement and the GATT 1994.
- In light of the thorough and well-reasoned analysis by the Appellate Body with respect to the issue of zeroing in administrative reviews, Japan agrees with Viet Nam that the Panel should find the zeroing methodology, as it relates to the use of simple zeroing in administrative reviews, to be inconsistent with the United States' obligations under Article 9.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994.

comparisons, the investigating authority necessarily has to take into account the results of all those comparisons in order to establish margins of dumping for the product as a whole". Ibid. (emphasis in original).

⁸ Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC), para 130 (emphasis in original). See also Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (Japan) para.155.

Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (EC), para. 127, quoting Appellate Body Report, US - Softwood Lumber V, para. 99 (emphasis added).

Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (EC), para. 127, quoting Appellate Body Report, US - Softwood Lumber V, para. 99. See also ibid. para. 132 (making the same statement in the context of the United States' W-to-T comparisons in periodic reviews).

11 Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (EC)*, para. 132.
12 Appellate Body Report, *US - Zeroing (EC)*, para. 133.

The Consistency of Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA with the Anti-Dumping В. **Agreement**

- Pursuant to Article 21.3 of DSU, "implementation of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB must be done 'immediately', unless it is 'practicable' to do so", and "the reasonable period of time is a limited exception from the obligation to comply immediately" 13. Thus "the obligation to comply with the recommendations and ruling of the DSB has to be fulfilled by the end of the reasonable period of time at the latest". 14 If, in certain circumstances, the statute pursuant to which a Member implements such recommendations and rulings necessarily leads to the failure to comply after the expiration of the reasonable period of time, that statute would itself be inconsistent with the covered agreements. Specifically, in the context of zeroing disputes, to the extent that the obligation to comply with the DSB recommendations and rulings would cover "prior unliquidated entries", if Section 129(c)(1) of the URAA necessarily excludes such entries from the scope of any U.S. measure taken to comply with the DSB's recommendations and rulings, Section 129(c)(1) is inconsistent, as such, with Articles 2.4, 9.3 18.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement and Article VI:2 of the GATT 1994, Articles 17.14, 19.1, 21.1 and 21.3 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, and Article 16.4 of the Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization.
- Viet Nam explains that, in its view, the panel's finding in US Section 129(c)(1) URAA that 11. Section 129(c) of the URAA is not "as such" inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement should be revisited. In particular, Viet Nam notes that only one Section 129 determination had been issued when the panel reached its conclusion in US - Section 129(c)(1) URAA that Section 129(c) is not inconsistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. By contrast, Viet Nam explains that there have now been 21 Section 129 determinations affecting more than 40 distinct anti-dumping or countervailing duty orders. In a period of more than ten years, there is no instance in which the USDOC has applied its Section 129 determination to prior unliquidated entries.
- Japan notes that the text of Section 129 as a whole suggests that a Section 129 proceeding is meant to be the exclusive avenue pursuant to which an administering authority of the United States may bring an anti-dumping measure into compliance with adopted panel or Appellate Body reports. This understanding follows from the text of Sections 129(a)(1) and (b)(1), which address those cases in which a panel or the Appellate Body determines that an action by the ITC or the USDOC in an anti-dumping proceeding is not in conformity with the obligations of the United States under the Anti-Dumping Agreement. The general wording in these provisions suggests that Section 129 is meant to address all instances in which an anti-dumping measure has been found WTO-inconsistent by a panel or the Appellate Body, and it further suggests that there are no other measures pursuant to which the ITC or the USDOC may bring a WTO-inconsistent measure into compliance with the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- This understanding of the text is supported by the text of the Statement of Administrative Action ("SAA") accompanying the URAA, which explicitly outlines the limited prospective effect of Section 129 determinations. Furthermore, the U.S. Court of International Trade, which is the judicial body in the United States that is charged with interpreting the meaning of the statute, has confirmed that Section 129 expressly precludes any relief with respect to unliquidated entries made prior to the implementation date designated by USTR, even when the Section 129 determination has led to the complete revocation of the underlying anti-dumping duty order. 15 In sum, Japan is of the view that in those cases where "prior unliquidated entries" will be liquidated after the expiration of the reasonable period of time for compliance with an adverse panel or Appellate Body ruling, Section 129 will necessarily lead to the WTO-inconsistent liquidation of such entries. Accordingly, Section 129 appears to be inconsistent "as such" with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. In Japan's view, it is then incumbent upon the United States to explain what provisions of U.S. law other than Section 129 would allow it to liquidate "prior unliquidated entries" in a WTO-consistent manner.
- U.S. argues that Section 129 is not the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB, pointing to Section 123 of the URAA ("Section 123").

¹³ Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan), para. 157.

¹⁴ Appellate Body Report, US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan), para. 157, quoting Appellate

Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC), para. 299.

¹⁵ Corus Staal BV v. United States, Court No. 07-00270, Slip Op. 07-140, pp. 17-18 (Ct. Int'l Trade Sept. 19, 2007) (Exhibit VN-36).

However, Section 123, by its terms, appears to apply only when a panel or the Appellate Body finds "that a regulation or practice of a department or agency of the United States is inconsistent with any of the Uruguay Round Agreements". In other words, it appears that on its face Section 123 is only relevant to the implementation of adverse DSB rulings with respect to a U.S. agency's "regulation or practice" itself and would not apply to rectification of WTO-inconsistent determinations of U.S. agencies in specific cases. Viet Nam claims that Section 129 provides the "exclusive authority" under U.S. law for the United States "to comply with adverse DSB rulings concerning its obligations under the WTO agreements where implementation can be achieved by a new administrative determination without the need for statutory or regulatory amendment". Accordingly, the existence of Section 123 does not seem to detract from the veracity of Viet Nam's claim. To the extent that the United States argues that Section 129 does not provide exclusive authority for it to comply with the DSB ruling on a particular administrative determination and Section 123 is available to rectify the deficiency of the determination not covered by Section 129, the United States must explain how Section 123 can address such deficiency in this case, the WTO inconsistency with respect to "prior unliquidated entries" that Viet Nam is concerned about.

15. Japan is also not fully convinced by the U.S. argument that Section 129 is not the exclusive authority under U.S. law to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB because the U.S. Congress could always "pass a new law that might have an impact on prior unliquidated entries". Japan does not believe this type of speculation is relevant to the Panel's consideration of Viet Nam's claim. The Appellate Body has explained that "allowing claims against measures, as such, serves the purpose of preventing future disputes by allowing the root of WTO-inconsistent behaviour to be eliminated". WTO Members always retain the ability to modify or abandon particular measures in the future, but that theoretical possibility does not preclude other Members from establishing that an existing law or practice is inconsistent, as such, with the covered agreements. Taken to extremes, the US argument will lead to all measures by virtue of being amendable will be WTO consistent. The U.S. argument to the contrary is flatly inconsistent with prior Appellate Body jurisprudence in this regard.

C. The Consistency of the USDOC's Sunset Review Determination with the Anti-Dumping Agreement

- 16. First, in relation to Viet Nam's claims regarding the consistency of the sunset review determination with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement, Japan believes that if the investigating authority relies on dumping margins that were calculated in a past investigation in order to determine the likelihood that dumping would continue or recur, those margins must be consistent with the Anti-Dumping Agreement. Accordingly, Japan agrees with the Appellate Body that if an investigating authority relies on margins calculated on the basis of zeroing in its likelihood of dumping determination, that determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.
- 17. The United States suggests, however, that it was not necessary for the USDOC to "rely" on WTO-inconsistent margins of dumping for its affirmative likelihood finding in this case because the USDOC's sunset review determination "is justified on the basis of factors other than WTO-inconsistent factors."
- 18. In relation to this argument, Japan agrees with the views expressed by the European Union in its third party submission. Namely, Japan believes that if the USDOC relied on margins calculated on the basis of zeroing in its likelihood of dumping determination, then this Panel should conclude that the sunset review determination is inconsistent with Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement on that basis alone. Japan does not believe it would be appropriate for this Panel to try to determine, based on a counterfactual analysis, whether the USDOC would have reached the same conclusion in the sunset review determination had it relied only on other WTO-consistent factors. In Japan's view, such an exercise would amount to an impermissible *de novo* review of the evidence before the investigating authority.
- 19. Second, Viet Nam claims that the USDOC's reliance on the decline in import volume in its sunset review determination was not unbiased and objective. Viet Nam maintains that the USDOC "fail[ed] to adequately examine or evaluate other factors affecting import volume", and thus failed

¹⁶ See Appellate Body Report, *US - Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 128.

to recognize that "changes in the volume of imports from Viet Nam do not support a conclusion that dumping is likely to continue or recur".

- 20. Japan agrees with the Appellate Body that "a firm evidentiary foundation is required in each case for a proper determination under Article 11.3 of the likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping", and that "[s]uch a determination cannot be based solely on the mechanistic application of presumptions". In relation to import volume in particular, the Appellate Body explained in *US Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review* that a decline in import volume could be "caused or reinforced by changes in the competitive conditions of the market-place or strategies of exporters, rather than by the imposition of the duty alone", such that "a case-specific analysis of the factors behind a cessation of imports or a decline in import volumes (when dumping is eliminated) will be necessary to determine that dumping will recur if the duty is terminated". 19
- 21. In its evaluation of Viet Nam's claim that the USDOC did not consider the decline in import volume in a manner that was unbiased and objective, Japan believes that the Panel should examine whether the USDOC engaged in a "a case-specific analysis of the factors behind [the] decline in import volumes". Japan agrees that such an analysis is necessary in order for an investigating authority's reliance on a decline in import volumes to be considered unbiased and objective under Article 11.3 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement.

¹⁸ Appellate Body Report, *US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 178.

¹⁹ Appellate Body Report, US – Corrosion Resistant Steel Sunset Review, para. 177.

ANNEX D-4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE THIRD PARTY ARGUMENTS OF NORWAY

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

- 1. In its first written submission, the United States refers to Article 17.6(ii) of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement (the AD Agreement)* and asserts that the Panel should find the measures at issue WTO-consistent if they rest on a permissible interpretation of the *AD Agreement*.¹
- 2. The first sentence of 17.6(ii) of the *AD Agreement* contains the general rule for the interpretation of the *AD Agreement*, while the second sentence refers to the situation where there are more than one permissible interpretation of one of the provisions in the Agreement. It is important to always bear in mind that the first sentence of Article 17.6 (ii) requires a panel to apply the rules of treaty interpretation of customary international law. This means to apply the interpretative rules of the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (the Vienna Convention)*², codifying customary rules of treaty interpretation.³
- 3. The second sentence of Article 17.6 (ii) only takes effect *after* all the principles of treaty interpretation of public international law have been exhausted. In US $Continued\ Zeroing$, the Appellate Body gave a thorough interpretation of Article 17.6(ii) of the $AD\ Agreement$ and its relationship with the $Vienna\ Convention$. Norway fully shares the interpretation and the approach laid down by the Appellate Body in this case.

II. THE ROLE OF PRECEDENT

- 4. Appellate Body reports adopted by the Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) are binding on the parties. However, adopted panel and Appellate Body Reports also play an important role in subsequent cases.⁶ The Appellate Body has repeatedly submitted that "following the Appellate Body's conclusions in earlier disputes is not only appropriate, but is what would be expected from panels, especially where issues are the same".⁷ Norway would add that following previous reports also ensures fewer disputes and preserves both the system and the systemic function of the Appellate Body.
- 5. Norway further considers that if it were permissible to depart from previous legal interpretations in adopted Appellate Body reports, it would create a situation where all cases could be perpetually reargued. Such a result would be contrary to the object and purpose of the dispute settlement system, as well as the object and purpose of a rule based multilateral trading system ensuring security and predictability for all economic actors. Norway recalls the importance given to the security and predictability of the system, as set out in Article 3.2 of the *Dispute Settlement Understanding (DSU)*.

III. ZEROING IS PROHIBITED UNDER THE AD AGREEMENT AND THE GATT 1994

- 6. In line with the Appellate Body's ruling in previous cases, Norway finds that the use of all forms of zeroing in all forms of proceedings under the *AD Agreement* is prohibited.
- 7. The point of departure for Norway is that there is but one definition of "dumping" in the *AD Agreement*, and that this definition is applicable to all proceedings under the *AD Agreement*.⁸

¹ US First Written Submission, paras. 58-63.

² Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 23 May 1969.

³ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 267.

⁴ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, paras. 271 and 272.

⁵ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, paras. 265-275.

⁶ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 362.

⁷ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 362. US – OCTG Sunset Reviews, WT/DS268/AB/R, para. 188.

⁸ There are five such instances where the authorities calculate dumping margins, those being (i) original proceedings, (ii) "assessment reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 9.3), (iii) "new shipper reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 9.3), (iiii) "new shipper reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 9.3), (iiiii) "new

The definition applicable to all calculations of dumping margins throughout the agreement can be found in Article 2.1 of the *AD Agreement*.

- 8. It is clear from the interpretation of the relevant provisions of the *AD Agreement* and the GATT 1994 that the margin of dumping must be calculated for the product under investigation as a whole in all proceedings under the *AD Agreement*.
- 9. The Appellate Body has in several rulings pointed out that the use of zeroing distorts the process of establishing dumping margins and inflates the dumping margin for the product as a whole. Norway holds that zeroing procedures in all forms and in all proceedings under the *AD Agreement* is contrary to the principle that the margin of dumping must be established for the product as a whole.

IV. RELIANCE ON WTO-INCONSISTENT FACTORS IN SUNSET REVIEWS

- 10. The reliance on anti-dumping duties calculated by the use of zeroing in sunset reviews is inconsistent with WTO law. Accordingly, a margin calculated with zeroing cannot be the foundation for a determination of the likelihood of continuation or recurrence of dumping.
- 11. In its first written submission, the United States asserts that where the investigating authority has relied on WTO-consistent factors, a sunset determination may be WTO-consistent even if the authority also considered WTO-inconsistent factors.¹⁰
- 12. The Appellate Body has stated that it would render a sunset review inconsistent with Article 11.3 if the investigating authority relied upon a WTO-inconsistent margin of dumping. In accordance with this, the Panel must thus assess whether the investigation authority *did* rely upon WTO-inconsistent margins, for instance by the use of zeroing, and not whether other factors may justify the determination.

V. INDIVIDUAL REVIEWS IN CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES

- 13. Article 11.2 of the *AD Agreement* states that the relevant authorities shall review the need for a continued imposition of the duty where warranted or, on certain conditions, upon request by any interested party.
- 14. Article 6.10 states that dumping margins, as the main rule, should be determined individually for each known exporter or producer concerned of the product under investigation. However, this provision also allows for derogations from the main rule where the number of exporters, producers, importers or type of products involved is so large as to make an individual determination impracticable. In these cases, the relevant authorities may limit their examination on certain conditions, so called "sampling".
- 15. When an interested party is in a position to submit positive information substantiating the need for a review and a reasonable period of time has passed since the imposition of the definitive anti-dumping duty, this party has a legitimate interest in a review. The language of Article 11.2 gives any interested party a right to a review, whether or not they have been individually investigated.
- 16. Thus, it is our view that there can be no automatic rejection of a request for review, even if the exception in Article 6.10 has been applied at a previous stage of the anti-dumping procedure. The cross-reference in Article 11.4 to Article 6 does not influence this interpretation. Furthermore, the overarching principle in Article 11.1 that anti-dumping duties shall not remain in force longer than necessary supports this view.

Article 9.5), (iv) "changed circumstances reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 11.2), and (v) "sunset reviews" (*AD Agreement* Article 11.3).

⁹ US – Continued Zeroing, WT/DS350/AB/R, para. 199.

¹⁰ United States, First Written Submission, para. 270.

¹¹ Article 11.4 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement sets out that the provisions of Article 6 "regarding evidence and procedure" shall apply to reviews carried out under Article 11.

VI. WTO-INCONSISTENT CONDUCT MUST CEASE BY THE END OF THE REASONABLE PERIOD OF TIME

- 17. In its first written submission, Viet Nam argues that Section 129 of the Uruguay Round Agreements Acts is as such inconsistent with a number of provisions in the *AD Agreement* and the GATT 1994. Viet Nam maintains that due to the retrospective system for assessing anti-dumping duties, this provision prohibits the United States from complying with adverse rulings and recommendations of the DSB.¹²
- 18. In accordance with Article 21.3 of the *DSU*, Members shall comply with the rulings and recommendations of the DSB immediately. If immediate compliance is impracticable, the Member shall have a reasonable period of time in which to comply.
- 19. Norway recalls that the Appellate Body has clarified that Members have an obligation to comply with the rulings and recommendations of the DSB no later than by the end of the reasonable period of time. In *US Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 Japan)*, the Appellate Body explicitly addressed the obligation to implement recommendations and rulings of the DSB in respect of conduct relating to imports that entered a Members territory prior to the expiration of the reasonable period of time. In this case, the Appellate Body stated that WTO-inconsistent conduct must cease completely by the end of the reasonable period of time, irrespective of the date on which the imports entered the territory of the implementing Member.¹³ Thus, WTO-inconsistent measures affecting imports that entered the implementing Member's territory prior to the expiration of the reasonable period of time must be rectified by the end of the reasonable period of time.

¹² Viet Nam, First Written Submission, paras. 211-212.

¹³ US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 - Japan), WT/DS322/AB/RW, paras. 160-161.

ANNEX D-5

THAILAND'S THIRD PARTY RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS FROM THE PANEL

1 GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

1. Can you please elaborate on the concept of "practice" (as opposed to other concepts such as "method", "methodology", "procedure" or "policy") as a measure which can be challenged in WTO dispute settlement?

2 CLAIMS CONCERNING ZEROING

2. Does the USDOC's zeroing methodology still exist as a measure which can be challenged "as such" in light of the fact that the USDOC modified its calculation methodology in administrative reviews in April 2012?

Response to Questions 1 and 2:

The Government of Thailand (the "GOT") would like to remind the Panel of the legal standard to be applied to the evidence before it. In the past, the Appellate Body found that the zeroing methodology, as it then existed, could be challenged in WTO dispute settlement proceedings on an "as such" basis because, even though "zeroing" was not found in the US anti-dumping law, the USDOC applied, in effect, the same zeroing methodology in every anti-dumping determination. For example, in its report in US – Zeroing (EC), the Appellate Body stated that "we believe that, in the specific circumstances of this case, the evidence before the Panel was sufficient to identify the precise content of the zeroing methodology; that the zeroing methodology is attributable to the United States, and that it does have general and prospective application. This evidence consisted of considerably more than a string of cases, or repeat action, based on which the Panel would have simply divined the existence of a measure in the abstract. We therefore cannot agree with the United States that the Panel's approach, in this case, would mean that when a Member does something in a particular instance, the Member's action results in a separate measure that may be subject to an "as such" challenge, at least if the Member repeats the action with some indeterminate frequency" (Appellate Body Report, US – Zeroing (EC), para. 204).

The legal issue facing the current Panel here seems to be whether the USDOC's "practice" of zeroing remains in effect as a measure of general and prospective application "which consist[s] of considerably more than a string of cases, or repeat action". If the Panel so finds, Thailand considers that "practice" in this dispute is equivalent to other concepts such as "method", "methodology", "procedure" or "policy" as a measure which can be challenged in WTO dispute settlement.

The GOT further notes that even if the zeroing methodology used prior to 2012 has changed and thus can no longer be challenged "as such" in dispute settlement proceedings, it is possible that the old methodology has now replaced by a new zeroing methodology that could, in itself, be challenged "as such" in dispute settlement proceedings. The Panel may also wish to consider whether, if it finds that the old practice or methodology no longer exists, there is a new practice or methodology that would separately meet the test for being susceptible to challenge on an "as such" basis.

3 CLAIMS CONCERNING THE "NON-MARKET ECONOMY-WIDE ENTITY" RATE

3. Do you agree with the United States that Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all others" rate, but rather permits an investigating authority to impose more than one such rate under this provision?

Response to Question 3: The GOT considers that Article 9.4 does not require that there be a single "all others" rate provided that "all others" rates are based on the different levels of cooperation established throughout the proceedings.

- 4. The United States maintains that this case can be distinguished from *EC Fasteners (China)*. Do you agree or disagree? Please explain.
- 5. The United States submits that "[a]t no time during the challenged proceedings did Vietnam, or any Vietnamese exporter, request Commerce to reconsider Vietnam's nonmarket economy status. [footnote omitted] This is an important distinction between this dispute and *EC Fasteners*" (United States' first written submission, para. 176). Do you agree that this is a relevant distinction? If so, what effect does this distinction have on Viet Nam's claims?
- 6. The European Union argues that it is permissible to apply a rate determined on the basis of facts available to "unknown" producers/exporters provided that the investigating authority makes some additional effort to notify these producers/exporters of the information required and the consequence of not providing it (see European Union's third-party submission, para. 23). Do you agree?

Response to Question 6: The GOT agrees with the European Union that it is permissible to apply different rates for different producers/exporters on the basis of facts available. Thailand considers that it is sufficient for the investigating authority to inform exporting Members of the initiation of the proceedings and to contact all those producers that are known to the authority. In the meantime, the authority is to make reasonable effort to notify "unknown" producers/exporters of the information required and consequence of non-cooperation. The authority should also encourage Members concerned to provide all relevant information and inform them the consequence of non-cooperation. This is important because the onus should remain on exporting producers to make themselves known to the authority within prescribed deadlines.

7. Do you agree with the Appellate Body's ruling in *EC – Fasteners (China)* that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 do not preclude treating several companies as a single exporter but that it is not permissible under these provisions to <u>presume</u> that the companies form a single entity? (See Appellate Body Report in *EC – Fasteners (China)*, paras. 364 and 376).

Response to Question 7: The GOT agrees with the Appellate Body's Ruling that Articles 6.10 and 9.2 do not preclude treating several companies as a single entity provided that it is not presumed but based on evidence available on the record of the investigation or the best information available in the absence of cooperation.

- 8. Considering the criteria used by the USDOC to determine absence of government control, both *de jure* and *de facto*, with respect to export activities (see Exhibit VN-24, Chapter 10 of USDOC Anti-Dumping Manual, p. 4). To what extent are these criteria similar/different from the criteria contained in Article 9(5) of the Basic AD Regulation under consideration in *EC Fasteners (China)*?
- 9. Are there any limitations on the use of facts available to determine the dumping margin of a single "exporter" constituted of several distinct legal entities? Do the disciplines on the use of facts available under the Anti-Dumping Agreement with respect to such an exporter differ from those applicable to other individually-examined producers or exporters? If so, please explain.

4 CLAIMS CONCERNING SECTION 129(C)(1) OF THE URAA

- 10. Do you agree with Viet Nam that Section 129(c)(1) can be challenged "as such"? If so, what is the relevance (if any) for Viet Nam's case of the other avenues for implementation identified by the United States (adoption of new legislation by Congress and/or action under Section 123 of the URAA)?
- 11. What does Viet Nam need to establish in order to succeed in claiming that Section 129(c)(1) is "as such" inconsistent with the US obligations? For instance, must Viet Nam establish that Section 129(c)(1) necessarily leads to WTO-inconsistent action in all instances? In answering, please discuss the continued relevance, if any, of the "mandatory/discretionary" distinction.
- 12. The United States argues that only provisions under the DSU, and not provisions under the Anti-Dumping Agreement, would be implicated by a violation of the obligation to bring WTO-inconsistent measures into conformity with DSB recommendations and rulings. Do you agree?

13. What are the implications, if any, for Viet Nam's "as such" claims of the Appellate Body statements indicating that the date of the assessment or liquidation of the duties, and not the date of importation, is the relevant date to determine compliance with the obligation to bring measures into conformity with DSB recommendations and rulings? (See Appellate Body Reports, US - Zeroing (EC) (Article 21.5 – EC), paras. 286-355; and US - Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan), paras. 153-197).

5 CLAIMS CONCERNING THE SUNSET REVIEW DETERMINATION

14. The United States argues that the USDOC relied not only on dumping margins that Viet Nam alleges were WTO-inconsistent, but on "multiple factors". Can a likelihood-of-dumping determination be found to be WTO-consistent in a case where part, but not all, of the investigating authority's analysis of relevant factors is found to be WTO-inconsistent?

Response to Question 14: The GOT is of the view that a likelihood-of-dumping determination can be found to be WTO-consistent when the investigating authority's consideration of relevant factors identified to support the determination is WTO-consistent.

6 CLAIMS CONCERNING COMPANY-SPECIFIC REVOCATIONS

- 15. Do you consider that, when interpreted in accordance with the Vienna Convention (including, as relevant, any preparatory work), Article 11.2 of the Anti-Dumping Agreement provides a right to seek company-specific revocations?
- 16. Please comment on the United States' argument (in, e.g., the United States' opening oral statement at the first substantive meeting, paras. 54-55) that the term "duty" in Article 11.2 should be interpreted, identically to the same term in Article 11.3, as a reference to the imposition of duties on an "product-specific", or "order-wider" basis.
- 17. What is the meaning to be given to the term "dumping" in Article 11.2? Does it refer to dumping by an interested party, for example an individual producer/exporter seeking a review, or does it have a broader meaning?

Response to Question 17: The GOT considers that Article 11.2 refers to a specific interested party as it addresses the issue of partial reviews whereas Article 11.3 governs the review of an overall proceeding covering both dumping and injuries involving all interested parties concerned.

- 18. In your view, to what extent do the detailed evidentiary and procedural requirements contained in Article 6, including but not limited to the limited examination exception under the second sentence of Article 6.10, apply in the context of Article 11.2 reviews?
- 19. To what extent is the US mechanism providing for revocation in the context of administrative reviews governed by the disciplines of Article 11.2?

ANNEX D-6

CHINA'S SUBMISSION ON THE UNITED STATES' REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY RULING

TABLE OF CASES

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
Brazil – Aircraft(AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft,</i> WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999
US – Customs Bond Directive(AB)	Appellate Body Report, United States – Customs Bond Directive for Merchandise Subject to Anti-Dumping/Countervailing Duties, WT/DS345/AB/R, adopted 1 August 2008
EC – Chicken Cuts(AB)	Appellate Body Report, European Communities – Customs Classification of Frozen Boneless Chicken Cuts, WT/DS269/AB/R,WT/DS286/AB/R, adopted 27 September 2005
US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5 – Japan)(AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measures Relating to Zeroing and Sunset Reviews((Article 21.5 – Japan)</i> , WT/DS322/AB/RW, adopted 31 August 2009
US – Continued Zeroing	Panel Report, United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology, WT/DS350/R, adopted 19 February 2009
US – Continued Zeroing(AB)	Appellate Body Report, United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology, WT/DS350/AB/R, adopted 19 February 2009
US – Upland Cotton(AB)	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005

I. INTRODUCTION

1. The People's Republic of China thanks the Panel for this opportunity to submit views on the Unite States' request for preliminary rulings. Whilst not taking a final position on the facts of this case, China would like to present views, in this third party submission, on a single issue raised in Section II of the US request for preliminary rulings, i.e. whether the sixth administrative review is within the Panel's terms of reference.

II. DISCUSSION

- 2. The United States argues that Viet Nam's panel request, by including the sixth administrative review, has both expanded the scope and changed the essence of its consultations request. In the US's view, the sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" under Article 4.4 of the *Dispute Settlement Understanding* (DSU) at the time of Viet Nam's request for consultations, because its final results were concluded and published after the consultations request. Consequently, as the sixth administrative review was not (and could not have been) subject to consultations, it is not within the Panel's terms of reference.¹
- 3. Viet Nam replies that the "essence" of the dispute has not changed from the consultations request to the panel request. In its view, it did identify the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue in the consultations request, through its identification of "ongoing" administrative reviews and "subsequent" reviews in page 1 and 3 of the consultation request, and the panel request merely provides greater precision on the measures at issue.²
- 4. In respect of this disagreement between the parties, China recalls that Article 7.1 of the DSU provides that a panel's terms of reference are governed by the panel request, and that Article 4 and 6 of the DSU do not require a "precise and exact identity" between the measures that were the subject of consultations and those identified in the panel request. The basic issue is whether the "scope of the dispute" has been expanded or the "essence" of the dispute has been changed between the two requests, which must be determined on a case-by-case basis. 4
- 5. It appears that both parties do not disagree on the above principles. However, the parties have different reading on the facts of this case and thus make different conclusion. The Viet Nam emphasizes that it has identified in its consultations request "ongoing" administrative reviews and "subsequent" reviews, which is said to include the sixth administrative review, and so argues the essence of the dispute has not changed. In contrast, the US focuses on another factual allegation that the then-ongoing sixth administrative review did not constitute a "measure" at the time of request for consultations and thus could not have been subject to consultations. The underlying logic of the US argument is that a panel request will expand the scope and change the essence of the dispute if it includes something which was not subject to consultations.⁵
- 6. Accordingly, the first question is whether and under what circumstances an ongoing action at the time of the request for consultations could constitute a measure subject to consultations. In this regard, China recalls that the Appellate Body has clarified that "measures enacted subsequent to the establishment of the panel may, in certain limited circumstances, fall within a panel's terms of reference". Specifically, the Appellate Body has determined that a periodic review "initiated at the time the matter was referred to the Panel and was due to be completed during the Article 21.5 proceedings" was within the panel's terms of reference. A panel also found that three "thenongoing" sunset reviews and one "then-ongoing" periodic review were within its terms of reference. Since an ongoing review at the time the matter was referred to the Panel could be a "measure" within the panel's terms of reference, it appears inappropriate to priori exclude that an ongoing review at the time of the request for consultations may, in certain circumstances, also constitute a "measure" subject to consultations.

¹ Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States of America, paras. 5-6.

² Viet Nam's Response to the United States' Request for Preliminary Rulings, paras. 9-11.

³ Brazil – Aircraft(AB), para. 132; US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

⁴ US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

⁵ Request for Preliminary Rulings by the United States of America, para. 5.

⁶ EC – Chicken Cuts (AB), para. 156.

⁷ US – Zeroing (Japan) (Article 21.5–Japan) (AB), paras. 124–127.

⁸ US – Continued Zeroing, para.7.11 and para.7.28.

- 7. And the second question is, assuming the then-ongoing sixth administrative review was indeed not subject to consultations as alleged by the US, whether this will lead to the conclusion that the six administrative review is not within the panel's terms of reference. This question concerns the significance that a consultations request may have on a panel's terms of reference. As a general rule, a panel's terms of reference can include measures not included in the consultations request, as long as a complaining party "does not expand the scope of the dispute" or change the "essence of the challenged measures". Specifically, the Appellate Body and the panel have addressed circumstances similar to this dispute in *US Continued Zeroing*.
- 8. In *US Continued Zeroing*, the European Communities added to the panel request 14 periodic reviews and sunset reviews that were not identified in the consultations request. The panel rejected the claim by the US that the EC had thereby expanded the scope of the dispute. The panel observed that the additional 14 measures and the original 38 measures "relate to the same products originating in the same countries" and "the legal nature of the EC's claims" regarding the two sets of measures "does not in any way differ". For this reason, the panel concluded that "the EC's consultations request and its panel request refer to the same subject matter, the same dispute." The Appellate Body upheld this finding of the panel, further confirming that the additional 14 measures and those explicitly listed in the consultations request are "successive stages subsequent to the issuance of the same anti-dumping duty orders", and "the legal basis of the claims raised is the same". ¹¹
- 9. Following the above reasoning of the Appellate Body and the panel, it appears unconvincing to conclude that the panel request expands the scope or change the essence of the dispute simply on the ground that the sixth administrative review was not subject to consultations. Rather, it should be examined whether the sixth administrative review relates to the same anti-dumping duty as other administrative reviews explicitly listed in the consultations request and whether the legal basis of the claims raised is the same.

III. CONCLUSION

10. As a third party, China does not take any specific position on the issue whether the sixth administrative review is within the Panel's terms of reference. However, since this issue raises systemic questions, i.e. under what circumstances an ongoing action could constitute a measure subject to consultations and the significance that a consultations request has on a panel's terms of reference, China respectfully requests the Panel to examine carefully the issue in light of the observations made in this submission.

⁹ US – Upland Cotton (AB), para. 293; US – Customs Bond Directive (AB), para. 293.

¹⁰ US – Continued Zeroing, para. 7.28.

¹¹ US – Continued Zeroing (AB), para. 228 and para. 231.

ANNEX D-7

EUROPEAN UNION COMMENTS ON THE US REQUEST FOR A PRELIMINARY RULING

TABLE OF CASES CITED

Short Title	Full Case Title and Citation
Brazil – Aircraft	Appellate Body Report, <i>Brazil – Export Financing Programme for Aircraft</i> , WT/DS46/AB/R, adopted 20 August 1999, DSR 1999:III, p. 1161
China – Raw Materials	Appellate Body Reports, <i>China – Measures Related to the Exportation of Various Raw Materials</i> , WT/DS394/AB/R / WT/DS395/AB/R / WT/DS398/AB/R, adopted 22 February 2012
Colombia – Ports of Entry	Panel Report, Colombia – Indicative Prices and Restrictions on Ports of Entry, WT/DS366/R and Corr.1, adopted 20 May 2009, DSR 2009:VI, p. 2535
Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US)	Appellate Body Report, Mexico – Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup (HFCS) from the United States – Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the United States, WT/DS132/AB/RW, adopted 21 November 2001, DSR 2001:XIII, p. 6675
US – Continued Zeroing	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Continued Existence and Application of Zeroing Methodology</i> , WT/DS350/AB/R, adopted 19 February 2009, DSR 2009:III, p. 1291
US – Gambling	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services</i> , WT/DS285/AB/R, adopted 20 April 2005, DSR 2005:XII, p. 5663 (Corr.1, DSR 2006:XII, p. 5475)
US – Upland Cotton	Appellate Body Report, <i>United States – Subsidies on Upland Cotton</i> , WT/DS267/AB/R, adopted 21 March 2005, DSR 2005:1, p. 3

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. The European Union refers to the Panel's communication of 6 August 2013, where the Panel invites the third parties to submit their views, if any, on the US request for preliminary rulings. The European Union welcomes and accepts such an invitation. In the European Union's view, panels should provide third parties with an opportunity to be heard on the preliminary issues before a communication (acceptance, rejection, deferral) is issued, in line with the requirements of Article 10 of the DSU. Otherwise, *de facto*, a third party would stand little if any chance of persuading a panel to change its mind. And, in any event, the panel would have lost the opportunity to reflect the views and arguments of third parties in perhaps more subtle ways in the reasoning of its preliminary ruling. This would inevitably mean that third party rights would, in effect, be diminished. In this respect, the European Union would point to the term "fully" in Article 10.1 of the DSU. The European Union considers that effectively diminishing third party rights (by hearing third parties only after a decision has been taken) would not be consistent with the requirement that the interests of third parties should be "fully" taken into account.
- 2. That being said, the European Union provides these comments on the US request for a preliminary ruling because of its systemic interest in the correct and consistent interpretation and application of the covered agreements and other relevant documents, and the multilateral nature of the obligations contained therein, in particular the *Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of the GATT 1994* (the *Anti-Dumping Agreement*) and the *Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes* (the DSU).

II. SUMMARY OF THE US PRELIMINARY RULING REQUEST

- 3. The United States requests a preliminary ruling on several issues.
- 4. First, the United States argues that Viet Nam's Panel Request improperly includes measures that were not the subject of Viet Nam's Consultation Request. In particular, the United States maintains that Viet Nam's Panel Request identifies the final results of the sixth administrative review as a measure at issue. However, at the time of Viet Nam's Consultation Request, there was no such final determination. According to the United States, a determination that is not yet final cannot be a "measure" under Article 4.4 of the DSU and, thus, could not be subject to consultations. Moreover, the United States observes that Viet Nam's Consultation Request did not challenge the use of zeroing in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and changed circumstances reviews. Accordingly, these measures included in Viet Nam's Panel Request are not within the Panel's terms of reference.¹
- 5. Second, the United States maintains that Viet Nam's Panel Request improperly includes a claim under the *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties* (VCLT). According to the United States, the VCLT is not a "covered agreement" as defined in the DSU and, thus, the DSU does not apply to it. The United States observes that, in any event, United States is not a party to the VCLT.²
- 6. Finally, the United States argues that Viet Nam's claim against the Statement of Administrative Action accompanying the Uruguay Round Agreements Act ("SAA") fails to satisfy the requirements of Article 6.2 of the DSU because it does not identify a "measure". The United States refers to the panel in *US Export Restraints* concluding that the SAA does not have any legal effect independent of a US statute or regulation. Consequently, the United States maintains that the SAA does not constitute a measure susceptible to dispute resolution.³
- 7. In view of the foregoing, the United States requests that the Panel find, before Viet Nam submits its first written submission, that certain measures and claims referenced in Viet Nam's Panel request are not properly within the Panel's terms of reference.⁴

III. SUMMARY OF VIET NAM'S RESPONSE

8. Viet Nam points out that the US request for a preliminary ruling is premature since many of the US concerns would have been alleviated upon receipt of Viet Nam's first written submission.

¹ US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 3 – 8.

² US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 9 – 10.

³ US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 11 – 16.

⁴ US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 17 – 19.

- 9. In this sense, first Viet Nam observes that Viet Nam is not challenging the use of zeroing, as applied broadly in original investigations, new shipper reviews, and certain changed circumstances reviews. Viet Nam clarifies that its Panel Request includes as applied claims against the use of zeroing in the fourth, fifth and sixth administrative reviews. Furthermore, Viet Nam confirms that the original investigation and the sunset review are relevant to the extent that zeroing affects the Panel's analysis on the claims that are particular to the sunset review. Finally, Viet Nam states that both its Consultation and Panel requests identify an as such claim with respect to the USDOC's zeroing practice.⁵
- 10. Second, Viet Nam confirms that it did not intend before and does not intend now to assert its claim pursuant to the VCLT. Viet Nam simply included a reference to the VCLT to make clear the importance of the object and purpose of the relevant agreement in the course of treaty interpretation.⁶
- 11. Third, Viet Nam also confirms that Viet Nam's Panel Request does not identify the SAA as a measure and that Viet Nam does not intend to challenge the SAA as a measure.⁷
- 12. Finally, Viet Nam maintains that the sixth administrative review is within the Panel's terms of reference, contrary to what the United States posits. According to Viet Nam, Viet Nam conveyed to the United States, by way of the language included in the consultation request, the understanding that the sixth administrative review was a measure at issue. The United States was placed on notice of this fact through Viet Nam's identification of "ongoing" administrative reviews. Thus, according to Viet Nam, the "essence" of the challenge has not changed from its Consultation Request to the Panel Request; rather, Viet Nam's Panel Request provides greater precision on the measures at issue.⁸

IV. OBSERVATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION

- 13. The European Union observes that Viet Nam appears to agree with most of the issues raised by the United States in its request for a preliminary ruling. In particular, Viet Nam confirms that (i) it is not challenging the use of zeroing broadly in several types of proceedings, but rather, the use of zeroing in the investigations involving certain shrimp from Viet Nam; (ii) it is not raising a claim under Article 31 of the VCLT; and (iii) it is not challenging the SAA as a measure. The only issue which appears to remain contested is whether the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 14. Before addressing whether the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference, the European Union notes that, notwithstanding the absence of disagreement between the parties, a panel has a basic obligation under Article 11 of the DSU to make an objective assessment of the matter before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case. Such assessment should include the facts, evidence and legal argument. A panel should therefore exercise particular care in this respect, particularly where, as in this case, the dispute touches on matters that the complaining party does not pursue. The Panel should particularly distinguish between finding that the Parties agree with respect to a particular fact, evidentiary matter or legal issue; and the Panel itself making such finding. Thus, the European Union invites the Panel to make an objective assessment of this matter by examining, in particular, Viet Nam's Consultation and Panel Requests.
- 15. That being said, the European Union considers that the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 16. The Appellate Body has found that Articles 4 and 6 of the DSU "set forth a process by which a complaining party must request consultations, and consultations must be held, before a matter may be referred to the DSB for the establishment of a panel". ¹⁰ Moreover, the Appellate

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, para. 3.

⁶ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, para. 4.

⁷ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, para. 5.

⁸ Viet Nam's Response to the US Preliminary Ruling Request, paras. 7 – 11.

⁹ Panel Report, *Colombia – Indicative Prices*, para. 181; and Appellate Body Report, *US – Gambling*, para. 281 ("[W]hen a panel rules on a claim in the absence of evidence and supporting arguments, it acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article 11 of the *DSU*").

¹⁰ Appellate Body Report, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 131.

Body has held that "consultations provide the parties an opportunity to define and delimit the scope of the dispute between them". 11 At the same time, the Appellate Body has also explained that Articles 4 and 6 do not "require a precise and exact identity between the specific measures that were the subject of consultations and the specific measures identified in the request for the establishment of a panel". 12 Rather, "[a]s long as the complaining party does not expand the scope of the dispute", the Appellate Body has said it would "hesitate to impose too rigid a standard for the 'precise and exact identity' between the scope of consultations and the request for the establishment of a panel, as this would substitute the request for consultations for the panel request". 13

- As previously explained by the Appellate Body, the relevant question in determining whether any additional measure identified in a panel request (such as the sixth administrative review) falls within the Panel's terms of reference, is whether the "scope of the dispute" was expanded as a result of its addition. It is not, as the United States posits, whether the measure "existed" in accordance with Article 4.4 of the DSU. A measure that closely relates to measures explicitly identified in a request for consultations may be in the process of being adopted when the request for consultation is submitted. However, the "existence" or the adoption of the measure should not be an obstacle for requesting consultations on a matter whose scope is precisely delimited and then identifying such an additional measure in a panel request. Thus, in the European Union's view, the Panel needs to examine the texts of the Consultation Request and the Panel Request in order to determine whether the scope of the dispute has been broadened. 14
- In the present case, Viet Nam confirms that it did not identify the sixth administrative review by name in its Consultation Request. However, Viet Nam's Consultation Request dated 22 February 2012 explicitly identified the fourth and fifth administrative reviews involving certain shrimp from Viet Nam, "any other ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews, and the preliminary and final results thereof, related to the imports of certain frozen warmwater shrimp from Viet Nam (DOC Case A-552-802)" as well as the final results of the First Five-year "Sunset" Review in the same proceeding. 15 Viet Nam's Panel Request includes the sixth administrative review which was concluded on 11 September 2012.
- The European Union considers that the language used by Viet Nam in its Consultation Request made it clear that it intended to include any "ongoing or future anti-dumping administrative reviews" concerning the same product originating in Viet Nam. Thus, the inclusion of the sixth administrative review, which took place between the date of Viet Nam's Consultation Request and Viet Nam's Panel Request, did not extend the scope of the matter.
- 20. The European Union observes that in US - Continued Zeroing, the Appellate Body ruled on a similar matter finding that 14 additional measures included in the EU's panel request (when compared to the EU's consultation request) fell within the panel's terms of reference:

As noted, the 14 additional measures and those explicitly listed in the consultations request relate to the same duties on the same products from the same countries imposed pursuant to the same authorities (that is, the relevant anti-dumping rules and regulations of the United States). In relation to each of the duties, the proceedings identified in both the consultations request and the panel request derive from the same underlying legal basis, that is, the anti-dumping duty orders issued pursuant to the original investigations in which dumping, material injury, and the causal link between the two were determined.¹⁶

In the case at hand, the sixth administrative review relates to the same anti-dumping duties on certain shrimp from Viet Nam, the case identified by number in Viet Nam's Consultation Request, and Viet Nam makes the same underlying legal claims.

¹¹ Appellate Body Report, *Mexico – Corn Syrup (Article 21.5 – US)*, para. 54.

¹² Appellate Body, *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 132.

Appellate Body Report, US – Upland Cotton, para. 293.
 Appellate Body Report, US – Continued Zeroing (EC), para. 224.

¹⁵ Viet Nam's Consultation Request (WT/DS426/1), pp. 1 and 2.

¹⁶ Appellate Body Report, US – Continued Zeroing (EC), para. 231.

- 22. Consequently, the European Union considers that the sixth administrative review falls within the Panel's terms of reference.
- 23. Finally, in view of the exchange between the parties and third parties on this matter, the European Union invites the Panel to issue its preliminary ruling as early as possible, following the Appellate Body's guidance in $China Raw\ Materials$.

¹⁷ Appellate Body Report, *China – Raw Materials*, para. 233.